Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture Climate Science Northwest Farmers Can Use

Building Resilience to Climate Change in Cereal Production Systems: agroecosystem components and integrative approaches







www.reacchpna.org



About REACCH

The work presented in the following articles was primarily supported by a large USDA CAP grant entitled "Regional Approaches to Climate Change (REACCH) in the Pacific Northwest" as well several collaborative grants funded by USDA and NSF-IGERT. The REACCH project is an interdisciplinary research effort that was developed across three states (Oregon, Washington, and Idaho), and between four institutions-the University of Idaho, Oregon State University, Washington State University, as well as the USDA Agricultural Research Service.

The REACCH project is designed to enhance the sustainability of cereal production systems in the inland PNW under ongoing and projected climate change, while contributing to climate change mitigation by reducing emissions of greenhouse gases. REACCH is a comprehensive response to the implications of climate change for the already challenging task of managing cereal production systems for long-term profitability. Scientists from many disciplines, including engineering, climate science, agronomy, sociology, and economics, are working together to ensure greater relevance of the information provided to regional cereal farmers and their associates. Our aim is to conduct the best agricultural science relevant to regional climate projections and the needs for adaptation and mitigation, and to extend this science to our diverse group of stakeholders.

More information at reacchpna.org

Contents

About this Research Topic2
Integrating Historic Agronomic and Policy Lessons with New Technologies to Drive Farmer Decisions for Farm and Climate: The Case of Inland Pacific Northwestern U.S. William L. Pan et al
Northwest U.S. Agriculture in a Changing Climate: Collaboratively Defined Research and Extension Priorities. Georgine G. Yorgey et al
Agro-Ecological Class Stability Decreases in Response to Climate Change Projections for the Pacific Northwest, USA Harsimran Kaur, David R. Huggins, Richard A. Rupp, John T. Abatzoglou, Claudio O. Stöckle and John P. Reganold
Impact of Climate Change Adaptation Strategies on Winter Wheat and Cropping System Performance across Precipitation Gradients in the Inland Pacific Northwest, USA. Tai M. Maaz et al
Winter Pea: Promising New Crop for Washington's Dryland Wheat-Fallow Region. William F. Schillinger
Comparison of Greenhouse Gas Offset Quantification Protocols for Nitrogen Management in Dryland Wheat Cropping Systems of the Pacific Northwest. Tabitha T. Brown, Carrie M. Lee, Chad E. Kruger, John P. Reganold and David R. Huggins
Soil Organic Carbon Pools as Early Indicators for Soil Organic Matter Stock Changes under Different Tillage Practices in Inland Pacific Northwest. Rakesh Awale, Micco A. Emeson and Stephen Machado
Assessment of Climate Change and Atmospheric CO ₂ Impact on Winter Wheat in the Pacific Northwest Using a Multimodel Ensemble. Mukhtar Ahmed , Claudio O. Stöckle, Roger Nelson and Stewart Higgins
Carbon and Water Budgets in Multiple Wheat-Based Cropping Systems in the Inland Pacific Northwest US: Comparison of CropSyst Simulations with Eddy Covariance Measurements. Jinshu Chi et al
Agroclimatology and Wheat Production: Coping with Climate Change. Jerry Hatfield and Christian Dold
Estimating the Impacts of Climate Change and Potential Adaptation Strategies on Cereal Grains in the United States. Chengcheng J. Fei, Bruce A. McCarl and Anastasia W. Thayer157
Design and Use of Representative Agricultural Pathways for Integrated Assessment of Climate Change in U.S. Pacific Northwest Cereal-Based Systems. John M. Antle et al169
Confronting Climate Change Challenges to Dryland Cereal Production: A Call for Collaborative, Transdisciplinary Research, and Producer Engagement. Sanford D. Eigenbrode, W. Patrick Binns and David R. Huggins

Building Resilience to Climate Change in Cereal Production Systems: Agroecosystem components and integrative approach

About this Research Topic

The dryland, cereal grain production systems of the inland Pacific Northwest (IPNW), serve as an important source of soft white and hard red winter wheat to the global grain market. A marked precipitation gradient exists across the wheat production zone within the IPNW with mean annual precipitation varying from 150 mm in the west to over 750 mm in the east. This gradient leads to differences in biophysical constraints to crop growth. Social and economic drivers also change across the gradient, impacting cropping systems and the adoption of conservation practices. Without major sources of irrigation over much of the region, warmer and drier summers predicted by global climate models will likely force growers to adapt their cropping systems to maintain economic viability. The complex issue of increasing yields to meet the demands of future global population growth while building resiliency to climate change requires cross-disciplinary approaches to understanding the biophysical and socio-economic drivers within these systems. In this special issue we highlight not only the results of integrated study of multiple IPNW agroecosystem components (crops, weeds, insects, stakeholders, etc.), but an overall approach to working on large-scale, cross-disciplinary agroecological and climate change projects. While our focus in on IPNW systems, the approach and data reported here will be broadly applicable to cereal production systems around the world.

The wide range of precipitation and temperature across this region provides a unique opportunity to identify thresholds where growers are currently modifying their cropping systems in response to biophysical, social and economic factors. Managing crop type, rotation and variety to take advantage of future markets, applying the appropriate residue and tillage management to conserve water and minimize erosion, prescribing optimal fertilizer, and applying targeted and timely pesticide applications to avoid widespread crop failure are all effected to some degree by climate change.

The complexity of climate forcing in these ecosystems requires solutions developed from diverse interdisciplinary teams. The work presented in these articles was primarily supported by a large USDA CAP grant entitled "Regional Approaches to Climate Change (REACCH) in the Pacific Northwest" as well several collaborative USDA and NSF-IGERT grants. The coordination of research through these major grants allowed for a very thorough and detailed look at strategies to build resilience to climate change in this complex cereal grain production region.

In this Research Topic, we welcome articles authored by interdisciplinary teams of scientists, which in turn provide a thorough understanding of some of the major recommended adaptation strategies across the region. In addition, we would like to focus on the social dimensions that will influence change within different climatic zones of the IPNW as well as studies of the general scientific approach taken within the region to study climate change and agriculture. This Research Topic will also offer a global context by the inclusion of articles focused on an international arid cereals conference hosted by the REACCH project.

Topic Editors: Erin Brooks <u>ebrooks@uidaho.edu</u> and Jodi Johnson-Maynard <u>imaynard@uidaho.edu</u>

Articles published in:

Frontiers in Environmental Science Agroecology and Land Use Systems

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution Agroecology and Land Use Systems

Frontiers in Plant Science Agroecology and Land Use Systems





Integrating Historic Agronomic and Policy Lessons with New Technologies to Drive Farmer Decisions for Farm and Climate: The Case of Inland Pacific Northwestern U.S.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Urs Feller, University of Bern, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Sileshi Gudeta Weldesemayat, EliSil Environmental Consultants, Zambia Edmundo Acevedo, Universidad de Chile, Chile

> ***Correspondence:** William L. Pan wlpan@wsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Environmental Science

> Received: 04 May 2017 Accepted: 30 October 2017 Published: 28 November 2017

Citation:

Pan WL, Schillinger WF, Young FL, Kirby EM, Yorgey GG, Borrelli KA, Brooks ES, McCracken VA, Maaz TM, Machado S, Madsen IJ, Johnson-Maynard JL, Port LE, Painter K, Huggins DR, Esser AD, Collins HP, Stockle CO and Eigenbrode SD (2017) Integrating Historic Agronomic and Policy Lessons with New Technologies to Drive Farmer Decisions for Farm and Climate: The Case of Inland Pacific Northwestern U.S. Front. Environ. Sci. 5:76. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00076 William L. Pan^{1*}, William F. Schillinger², Frank L. Young¹, Elizabeth M. Kirby³, Georgine G. Yorgey³, Kristy A. Borrelli⁴, Erin S. Brooks⁵, Vicki A. McCracken⁶, Tai M. Maaz¹, Stephen Machado⁷, Isaac J. Madsen¹, Jodi L. Johnson-Maynard⁵, Lauren E. Port¹, Kate Painter⁸, David R. Huggins⁹, Aaron D. Esser¹⁰, Harold P. Collins¹¹, Claudio O. Stockle¹² and Sanford D. Eigenbrode¹³

¹ Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ² Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Dryland Research Station, Washington State University, Lind, WA, United States, ³ Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Mt. Vernon, WA, United States, ⁴ NE-SARE, Pennsylvania State University, State College, PA, United States, ⁵ Department of Soil and Water Systems, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States, ⁶ School of Economic Sciences, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ⁷ Columbia Basin Agricultural Research Center, Oregon State University, Pendleton, OR, United States, ⁸ Boundary County Idaho Extension, University of Idaho, Bonners Ferrry, ID, United States, ⁹ Northwest Sustainable Agroecosystems Research Unit, Agricultural Research Service (USDA), Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ¹⁰ Adams County Extension, Washington State University, Ritzville, WA, United States, ¹¹ Grassland, Soil and Water Research Laboratory, Agricultural Research Service (USDA), Temple, TX, United States, ¹² Biological Systems Engineering, Washington State University, Pullman, Washington, DC, United States, ¹³ Department of Entomology, Plant Pathology and Nematology, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States

Climate-friendly best management practices for mitigating and adapting to climate change (cfBMPs) include changes in crop rotation, soil management and resource use. Determined largely by precipitation gradients, specific agroecological systems in the inland Pacific Northwestern U.S. (iPNW) feature different practices across the region. Historically, these farming systems have been economically productive, but at the cost of high soil erosion rates and organic matter depletion, making them win-lose situations. Agronomic, sociological, political and economic drivers all influence cropping system innovations. Integrated, holistic conservation systems also need to be identified to address climate change by integrating cfBMPs that provide win-win benefits for farmer and environment. We conclude that systems featuring short-term improvements in farm economics, market diversification, resource efficiency and soil health will be most readily adopted by farmers, thereby simultaneously addressing longer term challenges including climate change. Specific "win-win scenarios" are designed for different iPNW production zones delineated by water availability. The cfBMPs include reduced tillage and residue management, organic carbon (C) recycling, precision nitrogen (N) management and crop rotation diversification and intensification. Current plant breeding technologies have provided new cultivars of canola and pea that can diversify system agronomics

1

and markets. These agronomic improvements require associated shifts in prescriptive, precision N and weed management. The integrated cfBMP systems we describe have the potential for reducing system-wide greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by increasing soil C storage, N use efficiency (NUE) and by production of biofuels. Novel systems, even if they are economically competitive, can come with increased financial risk to producers, necessitating government support (e.g., subsidized crop insurance) to promote adoption. Other conservation- and climate change-targeted farm policies can also improve adoption. Ultimately, farmers must meet their economic and legacy goals to assure longer-term adoption of mature cfBMP for iPNW production systems.

Keywords: adaptation, mitigation, diversification, intensification, socioeconomic, policy, socioeconomic, win-win

INTRODUCTION

Agriculture is an important player in climate change. The contributions of global agriculture to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and climate change are well recognized (Reicosky et al., 2000; Snyder et al., 2009), setting the stage for agriculture to play a positive role in GHG mitigation through implementation of numerous agronomic practices (Smith et al., 2007; USDA-ERS, 2016). Furthermore, innovations are needed to increase resilience of agricultural systems to climate change and to exploit the opportunities that climate changes present (IPCC (International Panel on Climate Change), 2007a,b). The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) established goals for climate change mitigation and adaptation in its 2010-2014 and 2014-2018 strategic plans (USDA, 2010, 2014). Performance measures included tracking crop production, fertilizer use and conservation practices. The U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO) requires USDA to provide these performance measures to inform Congress and the general public about the USDA program progress. It has determined that USDA programs face major challenges in encouraging farmers to modify farming practices geared toward climate change adaptation and mitigation. A report to the Energy and Commerce Committee of the U.S. House of Representatives made the following recommendations: (i) translate, distill and deliver climate science research information in user-friendly formats and tools, (ii) provide financial incentives to encourage farmer adoption of what we will refer to as "climate-friendly Best Management Practices" (cfBMPs), and (iii) provide crop producers with farm level economic enterprise costs and returns of adapting cfBMPs, with the guiding principle of identifying systems that provide economically attractive pathways to advancing farm level climate change adaptation and mitigation (GAO, 2014). Addressing these recommendations has required detailed characterization and modeling of biophysical drivers associated with crop growth and production across different agroecological cropping zones. It has also required an understanding of the principle drivers of whole cropping patterns linked to changes in weather (Stöckle et al., 2017) and other drivers that influence farmer decision making.

The recommendation of the Energy and Commerce Committee will have different implications for specific crops and growing regions. This review focuses on wheat (*Triticum* *aestivum*)-based cropping systems of the Inland Pacific Northwest of the USA (iPNW), and has three objectives: (i) describe the historical evolution of iPNW wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) based cropping systems and efforts to achieve economic and environmental goals, (ii) review farm-level biophysical, socio-economic and agronomic decision drivers that include cfBMPs and potentially shape win-win scenarios across iPNW agroecological zones, and (iii) describe integrated cfBMPs' potential abilities to improve adaptability and flexibility of cropping systems that also contribute to system-wide GHG reductions. Its overall goal is to use historical lessons of multidisciplinary and integrated research, extension and stakeholder engagement to define pathways toward simultaneously achieving farm economic, legacy and climate change goals.

Win-win scenarios are defined herein as mature cropping systems with integrated cfBMPs that achieve shorter-term goals by improving farm profitability and building a stable farm legacy, while enabling longer-term GHG mitigation and flexible adaptability to annual weather and long term climate change. Synergistic impacts occur when multiple management strategies are integrated into whole cropping systems (Zentner et al., 2002), potentially creating these win-win cropping systems.

Developing and sustaining win-win scenarios relies on progressive farmers who are economically motivated to change and adapt new cfBMP integrated systems. These new systems must align with climate friendly iPNW farming goals (Kruger, 2004) by integrating agronomic management variables: conservation tillage and residue management, organic carbon (C) and nutrient recycling, refined N management, and crop diversification and intensification. All are well-recognized conservation management strategies and now they are also recognized for their potential to help dryland farmers achieve climate change adaptation and GHG mitigation (CGIAR, 2012).

HISTORICAL LESSONS ON MOVING TOWARD WIN-WIN CROPPING SYSTEMS

The history of iPNW wheat production is marked by a recurring theme of tradeoffs between farm profitability and the

deterioration of soil health, air and water quality, organic matter and nutrient depletion (**Table 1**). The region has been dominated by soil-erosive but profitable cereal-fallow farming with little crop diversification (Schillinger and Papendick, 2008), despite recognition of soil deterioration during the first generation of regional wheat farming (Spillman, 1906; Sievers and Holtz, 1922). A similar history of wheat farming and soil degradation has also been documented in the Canadian western prairies (Janzen, 2001). Balancing farm profits while reducing environmental degradation is a main challenge in identifying effective winwin strategies for the iPNW and similar wheat growing regions.

Recurring History of Economic and Environmental Tradeoffs

The history of soil management in the iPNW mirrors that of the rest of the U.S. Individual land ownership and management on American farms forced pioneer farmers to choose between economic survival and soil stewardship, since soil rebuilding was slow, costly and sometimes not achievable with the available resources. Early government programs only addressed farmers' economic concerns without prioritizing land stewardship (Gray et al., 1938). Further compounding the problem, the iPNW evolved toward the segregation of animal and cropping systems soon after settlement, with wheat farming displacing sheep, cattle

 TABLE 1 | Historical timeline of movements, events and principles established in

 the inland Pacific Northwestern US (iPNW) wheat-based agriculture, and resulting

 tradeoffs between short-term economics and long-term impacts on soil, air and

 water quality.

Date	Key movements, events, and established principles
1880's	- pioneer wheat farming
1890's–1940's	 early recognition of nutrient, erosion and SOM depletion, requiring fertilizers, manures, other crops wheat outcompetes livestock farming
1950's–1960's	 synthetic fertilizers, semi-dwarf wheat increase yields; nutrients replenished, but cover and green manure cropping diminished decline in soil productivity masked by fertilizers
1970's–1980's	 grain peas, oilseeds introduced record soil losses, declining water, air and soil quality farm bill supports commodity crops and increased conservation farmers, agribusiness and researchers spur development of no-till planting and fertilization equipment and BMPs
1990's	 decreased soil losses, improved NUE with rising fuel and fertilizer prices, conservation programs, environmental activism grass roots farmer organizations win-win scenarios vs. government regulations debated projections of climate change and global crop demand energy crisis, biofuel-commercialization of precision technology
2000's to present	 private, federal investments in climate change research year and decade of soil: commitment to soil quality soil carbon credits, societal carbon taxes proposed and debated. win-win scenarios encouraged by US GAO for implementing cfBMPs

This history sets the stage for a new generation of cropping systems that minimize the tradeoffs by achieving both economic and environmental goals.

and hog ranching (McGregor, 1982). This regional trend of crop-animal segregation reflected a broader global disruption of organic nutrient cycling and C inputs (Magdoff et al., 1997), which was further accelerated by the advent of inexpensive fertilizers and global grain marketing that made exclusive crop farming more profitable regionally (McGregor, 1982) and globally (Kirkegaard et al., 2011). Lack of organic inputs combined with accelerated soil erosion contributed to the rapid decline of soil organic matter (SOM), native fertility and overall soil health and productivity (Spillman, 1906; Albrecht, 1938). Early conservation principles were primarily focused on using fertilizers and lime to replace depleted soil nutrients that were removed from the crop-soil system by grain harvest (Fulmer and Heileman, 1899). Soil restorative practices such as integration of grass pastures and animal manure, and rotating with grain legumes and mustards were recognized (Spillman, 1906), but not widely adopted. As a result, SOM continued to decline in the iPNW, with soil erosion occurring at annual rates of 10 to more than 67 MT/ha (Kaiser et al., 1954; Schillinger and Papendick, 2008). Conventional tillage and fallowing have been the primary contributors to SOM decline in the iPNW (Machado, 2011). Gray et al. (1938) attributed the lack of significant progress in adopting soil conserving practices to a failure to address shortterm economic needs of farmers.

In 1975, iPNW research and extension programs, Solutions to Economic and Environmental Problems (USDA-funded STEEP, nd¹; Oldenstadt et al., 1982) followed by the USDA-funded Columbia Plateau PM10 (CP3) project were established with specific goals to develop and implement economically viable solutions to reduce water and wind erosion. Viable reduced-and no-tillage systems were the major research outcomes of these projects, followed by vigorous extension efforts to translate the research into grower-adaptable individual best management practices, principally outlined in compendiums of soil management guides (STEEP nd¹, Papendick et al., 1985). The projects fostered collaborations among researchers, farmers, crop advisors and agribusinesses. Significant gains in conservation farming were documented, but adoption was not universal (Kok et al., 2009).

The Need for Integrated Systems

Research focused on specific practices such as tillage, however successful, failed to address the system-wide changes and farm scale economic implications required to incentivize farmer adoption. In addition, specific economic drivers can distort system-wide management for sustainability. Through the 1980s, commodity-based subsidies and growing global markets had fostered the winter wheat dominated cropping system in the region without regard to pest problems and erosion (Young et al., 1994a). Up to the mid-1980s producers moldboardplowed their fields to bury residue and weed seeds prior to planting the following year's wheat crop. In addition,

¹STEEP (Solutions to Environmental and Economic Problems) nd. Advancing sustainable agriculture in the Pacific Northwest. Conservation Tillage Systems Information Resource. Pullman, WA: Washington State University Extension Service. Available at: http://pnwsteep.wsu.edu/tillagehandbook/index.htm (Accessed on April 10, 2017).

rotations with spring pea (*Pisum sativum*) improved wheat yields, but required eight tillage operations between wheat harvest to post plant spring pea. In 1985, the USDA-ARS initiated a field-size, long-term Integrated Pest Management (IPM) research project for conservation crop production in the PNW (Young et al., 1994a). This was the first farm scale, multi-and interdisciplinary cropping systems research project that focused on weed management integrated with conservation tillage in the iPNW. This project demonstrated that integrated cropping systems research could lead to less risky alternative cropping systems that could motivate farmer adoption (Young D. L. et al., 1994).

Cropping system comparisons of variable costs demonstrated that reduced fuel and number of field operations with direct seeding are somewhat offset by the increased herbicide costs associated with the practice. The cost tradeoffs coupled with direct seed grain yields result in similar economic returns in the intermediate zone of eastern Washington (Esser and Jones, 2013) and the drier grain-fallow regions of eastern Oregon (Machado et al., 2015) when compared to yields obtained with conventional tillage. Comparisons of conservation-till 4-year crop rotation systems and conventional-till 2-year wheat-fallow rotation systems also demonstrated a marked reduction in water runoff and soil erosion in the conservation-till systems (Williams et al., 2013). Similar results obtained in drier traditional iPNW wheat-fallow systems led Janosky et al. (2002) to conclude that since no "short- or long-term economic sacrifice" was required to shift to a minimum tillage system when using existing onfarm equipment, a neutral-win solution to soil erosion could be achieved when reduced-till and conventional-till wheat yields were comparable. Yet, strict no-till systems required fixed-cost investments in expensive, specialized direct seeding equipment, so these systems had only been moderately adopted (Kok et al., 2009). While projects like the USDA IPM project, described above, developed integrated strategies identified as essential for protecting soil and water quality by the USDA (Batie et al., 1993) and encouraged early adopting farmers to try direct seeding, they fell short in economically motivating farmers into universal adoption of these no-till systems that required new equipment. The economic advantages of directseeded wheat cropping systems combined with alternative crop sequences, tailored N and weed management were later demonstrated as potential win-win scenarios for direct-seeded dryland wheat systems in western Canada (Smith et al., 2006).

Conservation Farming Enables Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation

Now, new environmental challenges imposed by climate change require proactive changes in cropping systems, but history dictates that initial adoption may also require economic incentives. Well-recognized best management for protecting soil health, and air and water quality also have the ability to foster climate adaptive and GHG-mitigating systems, often by incorporating elements designed to conserve soil and nutrient resources. Furthermore, the same cropping strategies that focus on building soil, protecting air and water quality, and supplying crop nutrients have the ability to reduce costs associated nutrient inputs and losses. The US Government Accounting Office cited the USDA programming and performance goals on soil and water conservation and quality as examples of needed elements for USDA's current climate change strategic plan (GAO, 2014).

COMPLEX FACTORS DRIVING FARMERS' CROPPING SYSTEM DECISIONS

To translate climate change science into adoption of transformative systems, it is important to focus on decision drivers from a farmer's perspective (Reganold et al., 2011). The farmer's decision process involves information gathering from multiple sources (Figure 1). Historically, farmers have been challenged with seasonal fluctuations in weather, farm input prices, as well as local and global competition and markets (Coughenour and Chamala, 2000). They must assimilate massive amounts of information along all of these fronts in order to make appropriate agronomic management decisions with their foremost goals of sustaining a business, raising a family, supporting their community while enjoying farming life and building their farm legacies (Jonovic, 1997; Figure 1). There is a need for integrated efforts of researchers, extension advisors, environmental stakeholders, market end-users and policymakers to develop and drive cropping system solutions (Smit and Skinner, 2002) that are feasible for farmers to adopt at a local level (Caron et al., 2014). Farmers are familiar with the proven conservation strategies and affiliated government support policies. Many of these same practices are now recognized to provide climate change benefits, so current climate change research and extension can focus on improving and integrating these practices, rather than promoting substantial new changes that inherently come with greater risks and uncertainty. A focus on farmers' immediate concerns and priorities, with an emphasis on familiar conservation practices already supported by environmental stakeholders and policymakers, can help drive farm planning that includes agronomic management shifts that also provide tangential benefits to address climate change (Howden et al., 2007).

Biophysical Drivers of iPNW Alternative Cropping Systems

Farmers are very aware of seasonal weather variability and ways to deal with it. Furthermore, they generally acknowledge that weather patterns have recently shifted (Seamon et al., 2016). In support of these recently observed shifts, climate change models project temporal and spatial long-term shifts in temperature and precipitation means and extremes. In general, the iPNW is predicted to experience warmer, wetter winters; more frost-free days; drier, hotter summers; and more variability in temperature and precipitation (Stöckle et al., 2010; Abatzoglou et al., 2014). These projections suggest a need for flexible, diversified systems that enable nimble farm adaptability to



climate change, as well as mitigating GHG. For example, future systems that encourage greater water infiltration and soil water storage combined with greater frequency of rotational winter crops that feature earlier flowering and grain development will help farmers adapt to the projected hotter, drier summers (Kaur et al., 2017).

Socioeconomic Drivers of iPNW Alternative Cropping Systems

A prevalent sociological factor that drives farmers' pursuits of improved soil health and conservation relates to their commitment to their farm legacies (**Figure 1**). This commitment is rooted in the multi-generational family farms prevalent in the iPNW, many extending back four generations to the earliest settlers of the early 1880s (McGregor, 1982). A survey of Washington "centennial farms" was conducted in the late 1980's in which there were 400 applicants and 210 approved 100 year family farms (Lang and Flynn, 1989). These farm families stay committed to maintaining healthy and sustainable farms that can be passed down to the next generation. Farm legacy and economically-driven cropping systems can still feature climate change adaption and mitigation as by-products, since climate change concerns rank low among farmers' priorities and recognized benefits of alternative systems (Seamon et al., 2016). Specifically, most iPNW farmers still see no need to make major changes to farming operations and crop rotations to adapt to climate change or contribute to climate mitigation (Seamon et al., 2016). Yet they are open to adopting cfBMPs such as integrating canola (Brassica napus; Pan et al., 2016b) and legumes (Vandemark et al., 2014) into their rotations for achieving shorter-term economic and agronomic benefits.

Incentives for adopting BMPs in general, can come from policy or market forces. These policies must be sufficiently substantial for farmers to invest time and resources to change practices (Ribaudo et al., 2011). High startup costs and lower initial yields associated with new systems often necessitate government support (Dillman et al., 1987). Yet, subsidy payments provided by conservation compliance programs may be insufficient to pay for high start-up costs of alternative management adoption such as direct seeding, which incurs expensive fixed and variable costs (Young D. L. et al., 1994). Additional cost savings and profitability of alternative crop rotations are now necessary for these systems to be fully implemented (Figure 1).

Win-win cropping systems should also be adjustable to socioeconomic market shifts. Farmers are already challenged to improve sustainability while increasing crop productivity per land base and supporting changing demands for diversified crop products such as food, feed, fuel and fiber products (Graham-Rowe, 2011; Tilman et al., 2011; **Figure 1**). Currently, the iPNW cereal production largely meets the bulk commodity, export cereal grain markets fostered by regional grain commissions; about 90% of the wheat produced is marketed to Asian countries (Washington Grain Commission, 2016). However, current market trends point toward the expanding demand for diversified, more-sustainably produced, crop-based food protein, healthy grains and oils (Greene et al., 2017).

Farmer networks also help drive adoption of alternative cropping systems. Emerging markets for alternative crop products challenge farmers to develop innovative networks (Klerkx et al., 2010; Reardon et al., 2016). To help farmers navigate these market opportunities, grassroots grower associations have developed certification recognizing sustainable practices, share knowledge amongst farmers and communicate eco-friendly farming practices to consumers. These iPNW organizations are attempting to redesign historical win-lose scenarios associated with conventional wheat farming (**Table 1**) and move toward win-win approaches. They are responding to environmental pressures and emerging food markets, simultaneously addressing societal concerns for food, soil, water and air quality. Some organizations are also using food labeling to capture market attitudes toward genetically modified crops, and organically and sustainably produced food. These attitudes will continue to shape market driven choices that in turn, shape the diversification of regional cropping systems.

These grower-based organizations push dual C pathways toward emerging grain markets while improving organic C cycling and soil C sequestration (Figure 2). For example, Shepherd's Grain is a farmer-based company that serves regional markets demanding high-quality grain by adhering to sustainable management practices with no-till seeding as a cornerstone. Its grain products are Food Alliance certified (Banks, 2016). The Pacific Northwest Direct Seed Association (PNDSA), a grassroots, farmer-organization holds annual conferences focused on practical farming practices such as crop rotation, residue management and no-till systems that improve soil quality (Table 2; PNDSA, 2017). The PNDSA has also developed a certificate program, "Farmed Smart" that recognizes sustainable grain production practices and communicates to environmental groups that sustainability BMPs are practiced. Producing organically certified grain is difficult in the dryland iPNW given challenges associated with weed management and soil fertility (Borrelli et al., 2014; Tautges et al., 2016). Yet several farmers across the region (Lorent et al., 2016) have found means to overcome these barriers and are intent on enhancing soil health by storing more soil C (Figure 2) and reducing chemical inputs to meeting growing regional market demands for organic products.

Policy Drivers of iPNW Alternative Cropping Systems

State and federal policies provide financial and technical support to help initiate farmer adoption of new systems (**Figure 1**). For example, the USDA Conservation Compliance Program provides guidance, financial support and tools to farmers who participate in the program to control erosion on high risk land. Currently, farmers are required to implement and document a variety of conservation practices in order to qualify for most government programs such as conservation payments and crop insurance.

Some farm support programs have not been as successful at driving conservation adoption. A decade ago, C trading was initiated so that farmers might earn soil C sequestration credits to help balance the economic shortcomings of cfBMP adoption (Branosky, 2006). The relative costs and benefits of GHG emissions caps and N fertilizer taxing were debated (Avi-Yonah and Uhlmann, 2010).

These programs have had mixed success, as some farmers do not consider the financial support sufficient to compensate their costs and efforts of adoption (Conner et al., 2016). Nevertheless, the evolution of win-win cropping systems will potentially lessen farmer reliance on government support for achieving climate change adaptation and mitigation if these outcomes become byproducts and integral part of more profitable farming business plans. The full implementation of mitigation practices requires a system-wide accounting of the market and non-market costs



and benefits of alternative agricultural practices, which should become the basis of policy and programs (Tilman et al., 2002).

The crop residue management practices promoted by the USDA-NRCS are also supported by farmer-governed state soil and water conservation districts that provide financial and technical knowledge support (Figure 1). Qualified farmers are currently provided incentives through NRCS's Conservation Stewardship Program (USDA-NRCS, nd²). Such activities include cover cropping, integration of big-rooted oilseed crops for improved water management, crop residue management, notill practices, improved N management such as use of slowrelease fertilizers, site-specific N management and riparian zone management. State programs also foster conservation programs that are climate change proactive. Local, state soil and water conservation districts apply for federal and state grant funding to assist farmers in conservation education, planning and implementation of activities designed to enhance soil, water and air quality, manage nutrients, control erosion and increase energy efficiency (Boie, 2016).

The need for win-win scenarios to drive integrated cfBMP adoption is well illustrated by current levels of adoption of precision agriculture practices. The NRCS conservation farming programs currently support farmer use of technologies touted to improve N fertilizer management. These incentives may initially entice progressive, early adopting farmers to try new technologies, such as slow-release N fertilizers and spatial soil test mapping for guiding prescriptive variable rate N applicators, but regional farmer surveys suggested that the incentive levels are often insufficient to sustain practices that might not otherwise demonstrate to be consistently economically profitable (Weddell et al., 2017). In contrast, farmers have rapidly adopted tractor mounted-systems that guide seeding and chemical applications. This technology demonstrates more visible costs savings when field operation overlaps are avoided, resulting in obvious economic and resource use benefits to farmers (Weddell et al., 2017).

Crop insurance is one of the most important farm policy tools that has a potential role to play in incentivizing adoption of cfBMPs by providing risk protection of existing or novel systems. Federal programs have been created to provide a safety net for producers. The Federal Cropping Insurance Program was created in 1938 and expansion in the 1990s. The 2014 Farm Bill shifted compensation away from direct payments to crop insurance-and whole farm revenue based safety nets as the primary mechanism for providing economic stability to the agricultural industry.

With volatile markets and climatic conditions that are projected to become even more extreme, crop insurance will continue to play a vital role in the economic viability and sustainability of agricultural production in the region. The federal crop insurance program has been administered by the USDA-Farm Service Agency (FSA) through a joint public-private partnership with the USDA-Risk Management Agency (RMA). In 2015, roughly 85 percent of major crop area in the US was covered by crop insurance representing a total liability of \$102.4 billon (USDA-RMA, 2016). Crop insurance programs have offered yield and revenue based coverage options. From 2011 to 2015 the average annual indemnity payments from these multiple peril cropping insurance policies was \$11.1 billion per

²USDA-NRCS. (nd). Conservation stewardship program. Available at: https:// www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/national/programs/financial/csp/ (Accessed on March 20, 2017).

TABLE 2 Cropping system climate-friendly best management practic	ces
(cfBMPs) for integration into win-win scenarios that address farmers' s	short to
medium-term goals, and long-term climate change and sustainability g	goals.

Cropping System cfBMPs	Short-term Benefits to Farmers, Society (1–10 y)	Long-term Climate Change and Sustainability Benefits (40+ y)	
reduced tillage: +chemical fallow +undercutter +no-till seeding + standing stubble	-soil erosion +surface SOM +soil water holding, infiltration +nutrient storage	+SOM; soil C storage -CO ₂ emissions +soil quality	
recycle organic N byproducts, eg manure, biosolids as soil amendments	+SOM +soil quality - synthetic fertilizer requirements	+regional nutrient cycles -system GHG emissions	
prescription N fertilizer mgt: +refined recommendations +sensing and application technologies	-fertilizer costs -over-fertilization -contamination of surface, ground water	-+fertilizer based NUE -system-wide GHG emissions	
crop diversification and intensification: +legumes with advanced species and cultivars	+market diversification +flex rotation options -some pest cycles +biological N fixation + rotational NUE	-system GHG emissions + production of healthy plant based protein	
crop diversification and intensification: +oilseeds with advanced species and cultivars	+market diversification +flex rotation options -some pest cycles +soil structure, water +animal/crop integration	+canola based biodiesel –life cycle GHG emissions + crop residues +food oil, animal feed +value added industries	

year. The majority of these payouts were government subsidized with grower premium payments covering only 47% of the costs. Indemnity payments in Whitman County, Washington have been driven by market volatility and weather variability (e.g., heat, drought, flooding) with 82% of the claims focused on unexpected losses in wheat yield or revenue (**Figure 3**). In 2009 the largest payout was linked to a large decline in wheat prices, whereas excessive rain in 2010–2012, drought in 2014 and 2015, and extreme temperatures in 2016 resulted in large payments.

Government subsidies will continue to grow unless growers are encouraged to adopt more resilient and established win-win systems. Insurance premiums are currently set using a loss-cost method based on average historic losses for a particular county (Woodard et al., 2011). This method has been criticized as it encourages high-risk farming on poor ground with no incentives to minimize the risk of crop failure through building and restoring degraded soils (Wu, 1999; O'Conner, 2013). Insurance programs have been proposed where farmers' premiums are reduced based on measures of soil quality and health (O'Conner, 2013; Woodard, 2016). Such programs provide incentives for farmers to implement practices that build SOM and support a shift in C pathways toward more organic C sequestration and nutrient cycling (**Figure 2**). Crop diversification and nutrient



management strategies that reduce both market and crop loss risks have been further incentivized through reduction of insurance premiums. Management scenarios that may appear to be "break-even" on the short term, such as the adoption of no-tillage practices as described above, may become "winwin" if reduced insurance premiums make this practice more profitable.

Another way that state and federal policies can affect farming systems is through infrastructure support. As an example, the Washington State government supported infrastructure development to build markets for alternative crops (Lang, 2017). In 2006 Washington State created the Energy Freedom Program, which provided low-interest loans and grants to support the construction of oilseed crushers and other bioenergy-related facilities (O'Leary et al., 2013), thus creating a pull market for regionally produced oilseeds. Federal support for this program stemmed from the 2005 National Energy Policy Act (GPO Government Publishing Office, 2005) during a federal energy crisis, linked to turmoil and disruptions in international fuel supplies. State investments in biofuel crop production research and extension coordinated projects were then implemented (Sowers and Pan, 2012), in recognition that rapid and sustained adoption of canola in Australia and Canada occurred at the same time of increased financial investments in research and development (Maaz et al., in press). While these early investments were thought to be economically questionable on a biofuel basis (Young, 2009), today, Washington state has the processing infrastructure in place to supply increasing oilseed-based fuel, food and feed regional markets (Lang, 2017).

Diffusion of iPNW Cropping Systems Innovations

New iPNW agronomic systems have been initiated by innovators and early adopters, followed by early and late majorities and finally the latest adopters, referred to as laggards by the adoption theorists (Rogers, 1995). During historic integration of conservation farming and now cfBMPs for iPNW cereal-based

systems, there has been a distinct and influential population of early adopters (Dillman et al., 1987; Figure 4). Early pioneers and adopters of new equipment were mechanically innovative and skilled (Carlson and Dillman, 1988). Farmer innovators and early adopters of no-till seeding drills and fertilizer technologies also developed family businesses around these enterprises (McGregor, 1982), providing added income and motivation. Crop development and seed production enterprises spawn from technological advances in seed development, evaluation, demonstration and sales by international or regional businesses that are sometimes farmer owned (Sowers, 2017). Early adopters of innovative cropping systems and practices have been documented in case studies produced by university extension programs (Mallory et al., 2001; Sowers et al., 2011, 2012; Lorent et al., 2016; Yorgey et al., 2017a). They exhibit natural curiosity, embrace the challenge of trying to do things differently in order to improve their farms and environment, with an overall commitment to "do things right." They typically have worked closely with researchers, private and government agency crop advisers to implement systems and define how their innovations have changed their systems. Most have taken advantage of farm programs and financing that support conservation practices. The mature, well-vetted win-win scenarios that feature stable, economic profitability of integrated stable cfBMP-based systems, will provide the free-market economic driver necessary to enable late adopters to changeover and to sustain these practices across all adopters with minimal government support and intervention. Late adopters enter when the systems are sufficiently developed

and understood; some of the possible risks have been addressed, either through better management strategies or government support (**Figure 4**).

CLIMATE-FRIENDLY, BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES

Agronomic cfBMPs are reviewed herein: crop residue management, organic recycling, N management, crop diversification and crop intensification (**Table 2**). Alternative systems that integrate these agronomic strategies across the different iPNW subregions (**Figure 5**) have promise for achieving climate change mitigation and/or adaptation with integrated win-win strategies (**Figure 6**).

Reduced Tillage and Crop Residue Management

Climate-friendly crop residue management includes replacing plowing with reduced or no-tillage planting and growing alternative crops with greater quantity and quality of crop residue production. These options protect soil against erosional forces, increase SOM and C sequestration, while improving water soil water storage and yield potential, achieving a better balance of C flow toward SOM and food production (**Figure 2**).

Severe topsoil losses have occurred in fallowed fields seeded to winter wheat, burned stubble fields and wheat-seeded fields following crops such as spring peas (Kaiser et al., 1954). In



FIGURE 4 | Theoretical adoption curve modified from Rogers (1995) of relative numbers of adopters at different stages (blue line) and cumulative adopters (yellow line), applied to the adopter characteristics of the four major climate friendly best management practices (cfBMPs). Earliest inland Pacific Northwestern US (iPNW) innovators of no-till, organic amendment and new crop use, and precision agriculture technology have been farmers, businessmen, researchers and experimentalists. Early adopters took advantage of early innovators' knowledge and technology and government policy support. Late majority adopters responded to wider availability of knowledge and technology of stacked integrated cfBMPs. Latest adopters, coined "Laggards" by Rogers, convert systems when they are well established and economic and agronomic benefits are clearly demonstrated.



the iPNW, conservation tillage has reduced soil erosion and sediment loads (Kok et al., 2009; Brooks et al., 2010; Williams et al., 2014). Brown and Huggins (2012) reviewed 131 data sets from the iPNW and found that 75% of native ecosystems converted to agriculture lost at least 0.14-0.70 Mg C ha-1 year⁻¹ and that the conversion from conventional tillage to no-till practices was predicted to increase SOC from 0.12 to 0.21 Mg C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ for 75% of situations. By reducing erosion, protecting topsoil and maintaining SOM, conservation tillage practices also directly and indirectly affect soil health. In addition, nearly all measurable soil microorganisms, including bacteria, fungi and actinomycetes increase with no-tillage adoption (Stubbs et al., 2004). In addition, Johnson-Maynard et al. (2007) reported significantly higher earthworm densities in conservation tillage treatments as compared to conventional tillage in the annual cropping zone of the iPNW. Earthworms are important biological indicators of soil quality and can increase biodiversity and yields in managed systems (van Groenigen et al., 2014).

Maintaining surface crop residues before late summer planting of winter crops not only protects soil from eroding, but it also enhances snow capture and seedling establishment. No-till winter peas exhibited improved seedling vigor, reduced winter injury and increased grain yield compared to conventionallytilled peas (Huggins and Pan, 1991). Biomass production is critical for maintaining seed-zone soil moisture in notill fallow. Chen et al. (2006) demonstrated that tall stubble improved yields of winter lentil (*Lens culinaris*). Producers normally grow short, semi-dwarf varieties of winter wheat in this area, however, some farmers are starting to grow tricale (*×Triticale Wittmack*) which produces 50% more crop residue than semi-dwarf wheat in high residue farming systems (Port, 2016).

Brown and Huggins (2012) summarized long-term residue management experiments in iPNW and their conclusions showed a limited ability of reduced tillage and direct seeding of conventional crop rotations to maintain and increase SOM and soil C sequestration. Using these findings, Stöckle et al. (2012) projected that a 10% increase in no-till and reduced tillage in existing cropping systems could reduce GHG by >1,550,000 Mg CO_2e/y over the iPNW due to soil C accumulation over a decade, but some site-specific systems would come to equilibrium thereafter. These assessments assume tillage reductions within existing cropping systems. Further research is needed to determine what extent direct seeding in combination with other cfBMPs such as diversified crop rotations with more prolific roots and/or increased stable organic C inputs can more fully replenish and build SOC within the limitations imposed by climatic conditions. Recent developments in monitoring technologies have enabled the ability to assess system C balances between crops and soils while tracking CO₂ fluxes of managed fields to assess the effects of diversified crops, soils and fluctuating weather (Waldo et al., 2016; Chi et al., 2017).

Despite benefits of improving crop residue retention as soil C, there are immediate incentives for straw removal that include markets for mushroom and animal bedding, cellulose-based energy and paper-based packaging. Excess straw can cause difficulties in direct seed stand establishment, requiring field burning or straw harvesting. Site-specific straw removal is only recommended from areas of excessive straw production, and nutrient removal



win-neutral systems to current and aspirational win-win scenarios for achieving short-term economic profitability and long-term solutions to environmental quality, market and climate shifts of the twenty-first century. WW, winter wheat; WC, winter canola; WP, winter pea; WT, winter triticale; SW, spring wheat; SB, spring barley; SC, spring canola; F, summer fallow; SwC, sweet corn; CC, cover crops; POT, potato.

from the system needs to be replenished (Huggins et al., 2014).

Organic Resource Recycling

Recycling of available organic resources is considered a cfBMP for two reasons: (i) replacement of commercial fertilizers that have high GHG costs in production (Wood and Cowie, 2004; Brown et al., 2010) and (ii) their unique ability to sequester stable forms of soil C and supply nutrients (Bogner et al., 2007,

Table 2). Early recognition of the important role of organic amendments (Spillman, 1906) has been supported by long term trials that consistently demonstrate that animal manure and human biosolids are more effective than crop residues for building SOM, sequestering soil C, improving soil structure, water infiltration and retention, increasing nutrient availability and enhancing microbial activity, while reducing soil bulk density (Yorgey et al., 2017b). These amendments offer a valuable strategy in the winter wheat-fallow region, where reducing or eliminating tillage has been insufficient for re-building soil C levels, due to low productivity and the resulting low levels of C inputs in residues (Machado, 2011; Gollany et al., 2013).

Organic amendments can promote large increases in total soil organic C (SOC) storage (Machado, 2011) with significant buildup of stable C forms (Pan et al., 2017b), reducing CO₂ release that would occur if these waste products were otherwise incinerated or left to rot. Yet most of the region is spatially separated from animal and human population centers, so the utilization of many common amendments is presently limited by transportation costs into most of the dryland areas of the iPNW. Nevertheless, opportunities do exist for distribution of biosolids and manures on dryland areas with nearby urban centers and large animal operations.

Biosolids applications can build soil C while producing equivalent or better grain yields than typical applications of inorganic N in tilled and untilled wheat systems (Koenig et al., 2011; Barbarick et al., 2012). These increased yields are often attributed to the phosphorus, sulfur and micronutrients provided by the biosolids (Ippolito et al., 2007). Other possible factors include improved soil physical properties. While biosolids applications generally raise grain protein when applied during the fallow year (Cogger et al., 2013), practical experience suggests that this is generally not great enough to negatively impact prices for soft wheats that can have high protein penalties. Likewise, the risk of N and P losses after biosolids applications is most often relatively low in regional dryland cereal systems, especially for one-time applications (Ippolito et al., 2007; Barbarick et al., 2012; Cogger et al., 2013). These anaerobically digested biosolids were later shown to also build stable and more labile soil organic C and N, while supplying sufficient crop N to a wheat-fallow system (Pan et al., 2017b).

Access and costs of organic amendments is the biggest challenge to dryland farmers of the iPNW. Since biosolids are a by-product that must be managed by wastewater treatment facilities financed by sewage taxes, they are available at no cost or reduced cost to farmers. In some cases, municipalities charge transportation and application fees, or a fee equal to the N value of the biosolids (Sullivan et al., 2015). The question remains of whether a similar system is feasible for manure management of concentrated animal operations. Over-irrigation pushes nitrate through shallow root zones to groundwater, causing water quality problems in the aquifer (Brown et al., 2011). Manure related water quality problems are driving public opinion and litigation, as well as public policy. Central Washington irrigated systems support a large dairy industry that has limited land to upon which to recycle manure.

There is an opportunity to replicate the biosolids success story by transporting manure to dryland wheat farms. Improved onfarm separation and concentration of nutrient-rich solids should increase economically viable hauling distances (Yorgey et al., 2014; Frear et al., in press). In the iPNW, animal production is located in concentrated production facilities, spatially separated from the dryland wheat farms. In south-central Idaho, where dairy farms exist in combination with dryland fields on high plateaus, manure is used as a nutrient source in the production of organically certified wheat sold at prices that are 2–3 times those of commodity wheat and organic alfalfa hay (Lorent et al., 2016). Manures that have solids separated, aged, dried and sometimes composted primarily benefit overall soil health by increasing SOM, rather than serving as a primary source of crop available N. For example, compost improved cereal yields by successfully restoring organic matter on eroded Palouse hilltops, with yield improvements achieved after N immobilization was overcome with additional N fertilizer input (Cox et al., 2001). Likely mechanisms for the yield gains include improvements in nutrient and water holding capacity, soil structure and water infiltration.

Other materials that may recycle nutrients and C include biochar (a charcoal-like material that is generated when organic materials such as forestry wastes are heated in oxygen-limited environments) and black liquor (an organic by-product that results from paper-making). Application of 10 tons/acre or more of alkaline biochar (pH 10) derived from forest wastes had mild soil liming effects and improved wheat yields near Pendleton, Oregon (Machado and Pritchett, 2014). While these results are encouraging, separate analysis suggests that biochar is not economical if only the effects on pH are considered (Granatstein et al., 2009; Galinato et al., 2011). Crop residues from cereal and grass seed systems can be used for paper-making and the first new paper pulp mill to be built in the U.S., and the largest straw pulping mill in the world is now under construction (Erb, 2017). Straw fibers are typically alkali-pulped, producing black liquor, a lignin-rich soil amendment that can be returned to the land to increase soil C, biological activity and wet stable aggregates (Xiao et al., 2007a,b).

Cover crops are grasses or legumes that are used primarily to provide seasonal protection against soil erosion and an organic soil improvement (Unger et al., 2006) Compared to amendments, which need to be transported and spread, cover crops generate organic materials in place. However, water is a major limitation in the iPNW and existing research with single- and multi-species cover crops in eastern Washington and in semiarid eastern Colorado (Nielsen et al., 2015) has not found agronomic and economic benefits (Thompson and Carter, 2014; Roberts et al., 2016).

Nitrogen Management

The improvement of N use efficiency (NUE) of cropping systems is a critical cfBMP of win-win scenarios, since N is an expensive farm input and it greatly affects GHG emissions (Snyder et al., 2009). Wheat farming began in the iPNW in the 1870s. Native soil N declined by 22% during the first generation of farmers and replenishing it was a recognized prerequisite for increasing soil productivity (Fulmer and Heileman, 1899). This situation was greatly helped by the mid-twentieth century development of synthetic N fertilizers and N soil testing. Recent estimates of regional N balances suggest crop N removal is being replenished with N biological and fertilizer inputs, although P and K are still being depleted (Table 3). The International Plant Nutrition Institute (IPNI) recognizes that the region as a whole has achieved N balance with regard to N inputs offsetting N removal by grain harvest, after conducting an extensive data analysis of nutrient balances across each county of the U.S. (IPNI, 2012). Yet, documentation of inefficiencies and N losses in the region suggest

TABLE 3 | Nutrient supply and removal in harvested grain* across the mainwheat-producing counties of the inland Pacific Northwestern US (adapted fromBorrelli et al., 2017).

	Primary nutrient		
	N	Р	к
Nutrient source	Metric tons year ⁻¹		
Commercial**	143,570	16,406	22,721
Recovered manure***	1,377	797	4,701
Biologically fixed by legumes***	25,322	0	0
Nutrient quantity			
Total nutrient supply	170,269	17,202	2,7422
Crop removed***	171,203	25,072	7,7265
Balance (supply-removed)	-934	-7,870	-49,843
Removal ratio (removal/supply)	1.01	1.46	2.82

*Methods described in IPNI (2012). Nutrient quantities converted to elemental metric tons per year. N, nitrogen; P, phosphorus; K, potassium. **1997, 2002, 2007, 2010–12 County level data interpolated and summarized by International Plant Nutrition Institute (IPNI) from fertilizer sales data collected by the Association of American Plant Food Control Officials (AAPFCO). ***Farm census data from USDA National Agricultural Statistical Service (USDA-NASS) Census of Agriculture, summarized by IPNI.

that while there may be an overall balance of regional N inputs vs. grain N harvested, there are areas of over- and under-application of N fertilizers within fields, resulting in N leaching below the root zone, N runoff to local waterways (Keller et al., 2007) and N volatilization to the atmosphere (Venterea et al., 2012). Excess N is susceptible to nitrous oxide (N₂O) production (Snyder et al., 2009) and the release of this GHG can offset carbon sequestration benefits provided by conversion to reduced- or no-till (Stöckle et al., 2012).

Efforts to improve fertilizer N use efficiency in the iPNW (Huggins and Pan, 1993) paralleled the conservation farming movement of the late twentieth century. Several levels of technology adoption hold promise for improving regional NUE and thereby reduce system wide GHG emissions. The baseline opportunity is to increase adoption of soil N test-based N fertilizer recommendations that have existed since the 1950's (Pan et al., 2007). Accurate estimation of N fertilizer rate requirements is based on available water and soil N supplies (Pan et al., 2007, 2016a) with full root zone (0-180 cm) soil testing, but there are opportunities for increasing adoption of routine soil testing by regional farmers since a recent survey revealed that only two-thirds of regional farmers regularly take soil samples (Mahler et al., 2015). Recognition that a majority of crop N uptake comes from non-fertilizer sources (Sowers et al., 1995; Pan et al., 2016a) should provide farmers with ample motivation to take regular soil tests and collect other crop and soil information for optimizing their fertilizer use.

As alternative crops are adapted to the region, crop specific N requirements and recommendations need to be developed and evaluated for specific agroecological subregions. The basic 4R (four "rights") approach focuses on right fertilizer rate, placement, source and timing, which require adjustments for fertilizer management of alternative crops like canola (Norton, 2013). Canola differs in crop physiology from wheat, which

dictates changes in N placement, timing and source (Pan et al., 2017a).

Fertilizer recommendations will need to be integrated with predictions of water supply in a changing climate (Pan et al., 2016a). Overall, adopting farmers need to understand that typical wheat N management principles do not necessarily apply to newly introduced crops.

The potential of site-specific N management for improving within-field NUE was recognized for more than 20 years (Fiez et al., 1994; Pan et al., 1997), but it was also recognized that the N recommendations based on regionally developed algorithms would be insufficient to make landscape level N recommendations since unit N requirements (kg total N supply per kg grain) and NUEs varied across the landscape (Fiez et al., 1994; Hergert et al., 1997). Several biophysical stressors such as limited water availability and compacted soil layers negatively impact NUE across the variable landscapes (Pan and Hopkins, 1991; Fiez et al., 1994; Ibrahim and Huggins, 2011), locations and annual precipitation (Maaz et al., 2016).

Recent technological advances have provided opportunities to more accurately assess landscape specific soil N availability and root stressors that will lead toward better landscapespecific N management within farm fields. These technologies include remote sensor systems, robotics, GIS spatial mapping for prescriptive soil management and new technologies for yield mapping and protein monitoring (Weddell et al., 2017).

As decision support systems become available to help farmers utilize large datasets, there will be potential improvements in the use efficiencies of fertilizers and pesticides, along with improved grain yield and quality that may provide economic advantages of technology adoption without government support. The economic driver of efficient N management is illustrated during times of high N fertilizer prices, when farmers tend to reduce their N fertilizer use and improve their cropping system NUE (Nehring, 2016). Another example is evident in iPNW high protein wheat production, where the ratio of fertilizer price to grain protein price premiums for hard red wheats influence the economically optimal N recommendation and use (Baker et al., 2004). Higher ratios result in lower N input recommendations and improve N use efficiency. A complex of biophysical drivers and crop responses have led to the identification of landscape performance classes for gauging site-specific NUE parameters that link to site-tailored wheat N recommendations (Weddell et al., 2017).

Regional NUE can be improved with the integration of old conservation principles with new fertilizer management technologies, substitution of commercial fertilizer with legume expansion and organic byproduct recycling and adoption of site specific 4R N management utilizing advanced precision technologies. Greenhouse gas production occurs at the fertilizer plant (Wood and Cowie, 2004) and with field applications of N fertilizer (Shcherbak et al., 2014). A 10% overall improvement in regional fertilizer NUE based on annual N fertilizer use (**Table 3**) would reduce GHG emissions associated with the reduced synthetic N fertilizer use of 13,000 Mg fertilizer N/year.

Crop Diversification

Alternative crop rotation design is another major cfBMP category that has great potential for achieving win-win scenarios (**Table 2**). Crop diversification changes immediately require adjustments in the other rotation-wide management practices to optimize the cropping system's economic and environmental impacts. Examples of cfBMP integration into alternative cropping systems are described for each iPNW agroecological zone below.

Diversification of cereal systems with broadleaf grains (oilseeds and legumes) or cover crops is useful to optimize pest management, nutrient cycling, N use and water use efficiencies, soil building and potential GHG mitigation (Table 2). Advantages of these "break crops" in rotation with wheat has been shown to result in significant increases in wheat yields worldwide (Kirkegaard et al., 2008). Crop diversification also diversifies marketing options, reducing price risk for farming enterprises. Regional crop diversification opportunities are large, given that the iPNW largely produces to meet the bulk commodity, export cereal grain markets. The iPNW region supports the production of both spring and winter cereals and there are opportunities for integrating both spring and winter oilseeds and pulse crops in each agroecological zone. New crop options need to be integrated into sustainable cropping systems with a new set of cfBMPs (Table 2).

Crop rotation impact on GHG emissions is complex. Some affected variables include amount and source of N inputs and N_2O losses, net soil C sequestration, net energy balance of external fossil fuel inputs and biofuel outputs. Diversification with legumes and oilseeds shifts the rotational N cycling, residual N carryover and on-farm production of N through legume-facilitated biological N fixation, all of which will reduce reliance on fertilizer N for subsequent cereal crops (Maaz and Pan, 2017). Important agronomic metrics impacted by alternative crop rotation include rotational N use efficiency, soil C storage, biofuel displacement of fossil fuel use and non-food products that can be credited toward C sequestration.

Weed management is a primary driver of farmer adoption of new crops. While it has no direct impact on climate change mitigation, it has indirect impacts as alternative crop rotations are established and sustained. For example, the persistence of winter annual grassy weeds severely diminishes wheat yield and quality in the iPNW. Diversifying winter wheat sequences with spring crops or fall-seeded broadleaf crops allows incrop use of grass herbicides to reduce grassy weed populations and modifies the composition of weed populations (Burke et al., 2017). Well-established canola stands are competitive with weeds, providing a major driver in canola adoption (Long et al., 2016). Glyphosate-resistant spring canola provides opportunities for improved control of downy brome (Bromus tectorum), jointed goatgrass (Aegilops cylindrical), feral rye (Secale cereale), and Italian ryegrass (Lolium multiflorum) in annual crop systems (Young et al., 2016) and can reduce Italian ryegrass and broadleaf weed populations when used in place of spring non-glyphosate resistant legumes (Huggins and Painter, 2011). Winter wheat-fallow studies showed that diversifying with winter canola, along with split applications of quizalofop and glyphosate, controlled 90% of feral rye,

eliminated seed production of feral rye and increased canola yield more than 40%. Use of glyphosate-resistant winter canola in tandem with glyphosate application can also help control feral rye (Young et al., 2016). Conventional canola cultivars lacking herbicide resistance are highly sensitive to sulfonylurea and imadazolinone herbicides, but new herbicide resistant cultivars are now available for overcoming herbicide carryover.

Additionally, herbicide-tolerant or resistant varieties would allow farmers to plant in fields with a history of imidazolinone and sulfonylurea herbicides and an increased selection of grass herbicides would be available in conventional canola (Young et al., 2016). Because glyphosate is the most important grass herbicide in summer fallow, the various canola scenarios would allow farmers to use other groups of herbicides to control grass weeds, thereby reducing the use of glyphosate in canola and mitigating the development of resistance of grass weeds to glyphosate. It is just as important to rotate herbicides as it is to rotate crops to reduce overall loading rates of any one herbicide. In addition, reduction in herbicide application rates are now enabled by the advent of imaging-based precision herbicide technologies capable of targeting post-emergence weeds in fallow (Riar et al., 2011).

Rotational diversification can also support win-win scenarios by suppressing soilborne fungal pathogens and nematodes that cause wheat and barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) diseases. In general, the population density of a pathogen increases with the increasing frequency of a host crop in a rotation. Using a rotation to suppress disease is most effective when alternate, non-host crops are available, precipitation is not limiting and conditions promote rapid residue decomposition. For example, planting a non-host broadleaf crop in place of a cereal crop can reduce some pest populations such as Hessian fly, orange wheat blossom midge, mites, Cephalosporium stripe and cereal cyst nematode, while not reducing Rhizoctonia, Pythium, and rootlesion nematode species (Eigenbrode et al., 2017; Kirby et al., 2017a,b).

Integrating legume pulse crops diversifies market opportunities for cereal farmers (Vandemark et al., 2014) but requires market infrastructure. As an example, advancement of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*) storage, transportation and marketing in the region has greatly expanded iPNW chickpea production, driven by high prices (Maaz et al., in press). Similarly, the varietal development of edible winter dry peas promises to expand legume acreage into the drier agroecological zones, due to their greater yield potential and ability to survive harsh winters (Schillinger, 2017). Fall-sown dry peas and lentils are well-adapted for direct seeding into standing stubble and increasing demand for cover crop pea seed provides production incentive.

The need for oilseeds in iPNW wheat rotations was first published by Spillman (1906) for renovation of nutrient-mined, eroded soils. Recurring interest in oilseeds for a potential feedstock for biodiesel and jet fuel (Long et al., 2016) and a break crop in wheat rotations has been investigated for the last 50 years (Pan et al., 2016b). Efforts to push the regional adoption of canola based on agronomic benefits were unsuccessful until global markets for food oil improved, federal policies incentivized big rooted rotational crops and state government support for oilseed processing facilities began to pull grain through the supply chain (Lang, 2017).

Oilseed-based biodiesel has been assessed by U.S. EPA LCA to reduce system-wide GHG emissions by 50% when displacing conventional diesel (EPA, 2010) and perhaps higher GHG reductions occur in semiarid systems (Biswas et al., 2011; Kruger et al., 2015). Several factors help to moderate the negative impact on food production when inserting these oilseeds into rotation. Canola produces food oil as well as biofuels and a high protein animal meal by-product that contributes to the food chain (Long et al., 2016). Canola also has early maturing characteristics, its varieties offer unique options for weed control, thereby increasing subsequent wheat yield potential (Sowers et al., 2012; Pan et al., 2016b).

Recurring interests in regional energy production and crop diversification have focused efforts on canola food, feed and fuel production since the 1970s. Recently, over the past decade, there has been a four-fold increase in iPNW canola production due to a convergence of new regional processing facilities, improved global demand and competitive prices for canola, improved diversity of varieties and renewed extension and agronomic research efforts (Pan et al., 2016b). Winter and spring canola are being integrated into the iPNW cropping zones (**Figures 5, 6**). In addition, interest in developing cellulosic biofuels (Huggins et al., 2014) and paper products (Xiao et al., 2007b; Erb, 2017) can stimulate movement toward higher residue producing crops that could serve conservation compliance and/or emerging markets.

Alfalfa (Medicago sativa) is a viable crop diversification and intensification option for integration with annual crops (Koenig et al., 2009). USDA cropland data layers showed that alfalfa comprised about 5% of the crop acreage in both the annual crop and annual crop-fallow transition zones from 2007 to 2014 (Kirby et al., 2017a). Its potential for addressing climate change is attributed to its capacity to build soil and fix N. Organic alfalfa can be produced economically, stands can be maintained 5-10 years before transitioning back into annual crops, depending on fluctuating markets. This crop provides a transitional land management option prior to organic grain production (Fuerst et al., 2009). Production of organic crops is increasing in the iPNW, primarily in the irrigated zone (Kirby and Granatstein, 2017). Future expansion of organic alfalfa is most likely to occur as a rotational crop in irrigated and high rainfall zones, but markets will depend on the growth of the organic dairy sector in the region.

Crop Intensification

Intensification of crop rotation is another strategy for potentially developing win-win scenarios. It is defined as the increase in rotational land coverage with growing crops. Intensification can be achieved with (i) annual fallow replacement with a crop, (ii) increasing over-winter cropping with cover crops, (iii) substituting winter crops for spring crops, or (iv) replacing annual crops with perennial crops. Crop intensification can increase food production, utilize rising atmospheric CO₂ for photosynthesis and sequester more soil C. The major challenge

is the need to ensure that crop intensification is coupled with ecologically based management strategies such as conservation farming (Matson et al., 1997), as well as ensure short-term economic viability.

With sufficient available water, annual cropping maximizes biomass production and limits fallow periods between crops when soils are most vulnerable to erosion. Opportunities for intensification vary across the dryland iPNW with temperature and precipitation gradients, terrain and soil characteristics. Research in the annual crop-fallow transition and winter wheatfallow regions has focused on strategies such as flexible fallow replacement with annual cropping in wetter than average years, or replacing spring crops with fall-sown crops. While these strategies will intensify production, increase C fixation and seasonal soil surface coverage, they can also have negative impacts on farm economics and risk if practiced in drier than average seasons (Young et al., 2015). Profitability of intensive cropping was found to be more variable than for wheat-fallow in the Great Plains, U.S. (DeVuyst and Halvorson, 2004).

Replacing spring crop sequences with fall-sown winter hardy crops intensifies rotations by providing overwinter soil cover with increased yield potential (Schillinger, 2017; Stöckle et al., 2017). Fall-sown crops mature earlier than spring-sown crops, thereby avoiding heat stressors and water deficits that may occur later in the growing season. This advantage of winter over spring cropping may become more critical for future systems to be better adapted to predicted warmer, drier summers (Kaur et al., 2017). For example, replacing spring legumes with a fall-sown pea or lentil provides greater crop biomass, residue and biological N fixation; fall-sown peas can have double the seed yield compared to spring-planted cultivars (McGee, 2016).

INTEGRATED WIN-WIN SYSTEMS BY CROPPING ZONE

The iPNW agroecological zones are largely defined by temperature and moisture gradients. Classification of USDA cropland data layers allows the identification and area estimates of four major iPNW cereal cropping zones: annual crop, annual crop fallow transition, grain fallow and irrigated (**Figure 5**). The area of these zones are projected to shift with regional climate change (Karimi et al., 2017).

Effective integration of BMPs is production-zone dependent (Zentner et al., 2002). In terms of gauging short term economic "wins," farmers and economists have historically conducted single crop net return comparisons of substituting alternative crops for traditional crops. In recognition of the potential rotational benefits of alternative crops and management systems, rotational enterprise budgeting tools are being developed to for specific production zones to help farmers understand a more complete economic impacts of system redesigns within production zones (Connolly et al., 2015, 2016).

Crop–Fallow Zone

The crop-fallow zone has insufficient annual precipitation (<300 mm) to economically support annual cereal cropping

(Young et al., 2015). This zone occupies the greatest regional area, which is projected to reduce in size with climate change scenarios (Karimi et al., 2017). Tilled summer fallow is practiced in this zone for storing soil water to produce winter wheat every other year despite its erosive impacts (Lindstrom et al., 1974). While minimum tillage or chemical fallow, direct seeded wheat-fallow have reduced wind erosion in win-neutral scenarios (**Figure 6**), it has done little to build SOM and restore soil health (Gollany et al., 2013; Ghimire et al., 2017). Reduced-tillage of summer fallow using an undercutter cuts weeds without inverting the soil, maintains surface residue cover for reduced wind erodibility and has similar economic costs to summer fallow (Young and Schillinger, 2012). However, with no increases in subsequent wheat yields, only a neutral-win scenario was achievable by protecting soil, but not improving profitability.

Integration of tillage management with different crop rotations have been and will continue to be evaluated. Continuous no-till spring cereal cropping produced more residue which reduced wind erosion on susceptible soils by 95% compared to the traditional winter wheat-fallow system (Thorne et al., 2003). Yet, it also exhibited poor N balances (Pan et al., 2001) and it was found to be economically less viable than conventional wheat-fallow (Young et al., 2015), thus judged to be an overall lose-neutral scenario. These findings have led to evaluations of diversified crop rotations with winter canola and winter peas (Young et al., 2014; Schillinger, 2017) produced in concert with minimum or no-tillage (**Figure 6**).

Recent introduction of winter canola into this region has met with mixed success, requiring more research to determine residue production and management requirements for more stable plant establishment and winter survival (Young et al., 2014). Tall standing stubble has been shown to increase water use efficiency and grain yield compared to shorter stubble in the Canadian prairie (Cutforth and McConkey, 1997; Cutforth et al., 2011), but seed zone moisture during summer fallow was not examined.

Production of high residue crops such as tall wheats and triticale, in tandem with a stripper header type combine, has resulted in tall standing stubble that can trap more snow and keep surface soils moist and cool during late summer establishment for improved crop establishment of no-till winter canola (Port, 2016). Insertion of alternative crops can have positive or negative effects on subsequent wheat production and rotational enterprise budgets (Connolly et al., 2015). Better weed control, enabled by insertion of herbicide resistant canola into wheat monoculture, has resulted in positive improvements in pervasive weed control, wheat yield and quality (Young et al., 2016).

This is the dryland zone closest to the irrigated central basins of Washington and Oregon (**Figure 5**) that produces large quantities of manure from concentrated dairy farms. In addition, this zone is closest to dense urban populations in western Washington and Oregon. The close proximity offers opportunities for processed manure and biosolids to be imported into this fallow zone, which will reduce fertilizer nutrient requirements. This would also build up the low SOM levels as has been demonstrated in a long-term manure trials at Pendleton, OR (Machado, 2011) and biosolids trials near Okanogan, WA (Cogger et al., 2013; Pan et al., 2017b).

Annual Crop-Fallow Transition Zone

The annual crop-fallow region (Figure 5) has traditionally supported winter wheat, spring wheat and spring barley in >50% of the zone, fallow in 27% and spring legumes in 10% of the zone with more fallow during drier years (Pan et al., 2016b). In wetter than normal years, continuous crop rotations have been grown. There is potential for crop diversification and intensification with winter and spring oilseeds and peas in this zone. This "flex cropping" in this zone allows farmers to intensify cropping in years with favorable field conditions and markets. Plant-available soil water is the most reliable indicator of potential yield. Farmers may take advantage of ample overwinter precipitation storage in the soil to plant a spring crop, replacing a traditional fallow sequence. Flexible decisions on direct seeding spring broadleaf crops in this zone, to conserve moisture and reduce erosion, should be based on over-winter soil water storage to 120 cm rooting depth and weather predictions for in-season precipitation (Pan et al., 2016a).

More specifically, Lutcher et al. (2009) stated critical levels of over-winter soil water storage required to trigger spring crop plant-back. This intensification strategy in a win-win scenario is further enabled by integrating direct seeding and canola diversification. Such a strategy has demonstrated improved weed control and economically viability while diversifying market opportunities enabled by a nearby canola processing facility in this production zone (Esser and Jones, 2013). Future win-win scenarios for this zone (may include direct seeded winter wheat, canola or peas, followed by direct-seeded spring crops or early planted biennial forage-grain winter canola, Figure 6). Fall-sown direct-seeded facultative spring wheat is another flexible option to normal spring wheat recrop planting. It is more competitive with annual weeds, it is better for erosion control with earlier established ground cover and it can yield better than spring planted cereals in a recrop scenario by enabling earlier plant development for avoiding summer heat stress (Bewick et al., 2008; Sullivan et al., 2013).

Annual Crop Zone

The high precipitation annual crop zone (Figure 5) supports annual cropping, with winter wheat, spring wheat and spring barley grown over 60% of the cropping zone land area and cool season legumes (lentils and dry peas) account for only $\sim 18\%$ (Pan et al., 2016b). This zone is projected to increase with climate change scenarios (Karimi et al., 2017). Wheat-fallow in this region proved to be vulnerable to very high soil erosion rates, so continuous annual cropping of winter wheat, spring cereals and spring legumes was adopted, particularly with the advent of commercial fertilizers (Kaiser et al., 1954). Nevertheless, soil erosion rates were still very high when direct-seeding planters were first introduced into the existing crop rotations of the region (Papendick et al., 1985). A long-term study in this region, south of Moscow, Idaho, has shown that direct-seeded standard winter wheat-spring pea rotation has resulted in comparable yields while reducing erosion potential, compared to the same rotation that was conventionally tilled (Guy and Lauver, 2007).

The IPM project of the 1990s (introduced earlier) more fully integrated an economically viable crop rotation, weed

management and residue management while maintaining surface residues for conservation compliance and increasing soil moisture (Young et al., 1994a,b,c). Nevertheless, it has since been determined that direct-seeded winter wheat-spring cereal-spring legume eventually builds up pervasive annual grassy weeds, including Italian ryegrass (Young et al., 2016). Spring canola substitution for spring wheat and more profitable chickpeas in place of peas are options currently being implemented. Typically, there is insufficient soil moisture and growing degree days following crop harvest to establish and grow winter canola in this zone, so the focus has been on adapting spring canola (Pan et al., 2016b). In replacing spring wheat with spring canola, a directseeded crop sequence of spring canola-spring pea-winter wheat provides two sequential broadleaf crops that enable better control of pervasive grassy weeds such as Italian rye, that otherwise are difficult to control with a winter wheat-spring cereal sequence. Future direct-seeded cropping systems should have flexibility to have two spring broadleaf crop options (oilseed and legume) in rotation with winter wheat to achieve biological and market diversification for improved rotational economic returns, while sequestering C and controlling grassy weeds and soil erosion. Crop intensification by integration of alfalfa and animal/crop systems also provide potential win-win scenarios in this zone, depending on relative competitiveness of fluctuating animal vs. crop grain markets (Figure 6).

Irrigated Crop Zone

Located in the temperate desert of central Washington and Oregon (Figure 5), the irrigated crop zone supports annual row crop rotations that include potatoes and sweet corn that are considered susceptible to nitrate leaching. Previous studies in the Columbia Basin have shown that cover cropping can reduce leaching and recycle N in shallow-rooted potato crop sequences (Weinert et al., 2002; Collins et al., 2007). More recent research showed that integrated reduced tillage-cover cropping could increase the NUE and N export efficiency (NEE), while increasing season surface coverage, reducing wind erosion potential of a potato-wheat and corn-potato cropping sequence (Madsen, 2017). The NUE of the potatowheat cropping sequence increased significantly due to reduced tillage. In addition, the potato NEE increased significantly due to cover crop and reduced tillage. Additionally, cover crops reduced the amount of mineral N between 60 and 120 cm. The increase in NUE and NEE, without a decrease in yield demonstrates that integrated cover cropping and reduced tillage can be the basis of win-win irrigated cropping systems (Madsen, 2017). Soil N testing and predicted rapid N mineralization from cover crops in these agroecosystems will provide estimates of total soil N supply that can lead to reduced N fertilizer recommendations (Weinert et al., 2002). Cropping system modeling suggests that reducing tillage while controlling N fertilizer inputs in these irrigated systems has promise for reducing net GHG emissions (Stöckle et al., 2012).

Finally, the proximity of crop acreage in the irrigated and crop-fallow zones to concentrated livestock farming and western Washington and Oregon urban populations opens new opportunities for livestock grazing on crop residues (Yorgey et al., 2017c) and judicious use of manure and biosolids during cropping sequences. In return, these production systems provide food and fuel in completing the cycle with nutrient sources.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

Farm management practices have been adopted if they directly benefited farmers in improving their profitability and farm legacy while diversifying their markets. Historically these practices have often been adopted at the expense of soil, air and water quality. Wheat farmers and farmer networks in the iPNW over the past 40 years have recognized the need to minimize negative impacts on their surrounding air and water quality, while sustaining and building soil health. Now, they are also being challenged to meet climate change mitigation and adaptation goals. If conservation and climate friendly practices do not lead to short term gains in farm profitability, then government incentives have been required to foster adoption, and even these incentives have fallen short of implementing universal changes. Integrated coordination of agronomic research and extension with emerging market opportunities and technological advances, farmer attitudes, and public policy is required to drive cropping system changes (Smit and Skinner, 2002; Robertson and Swinton, 2005) that will meet farmers' priorities as well as address climate change.

Adoption and integration of new crop rotations with alternative management strategies for crop residues, organic recycling and N fertilizers into flexible farming systems promise to produce synergistic impacts on the overall farm economics and agroecological goals. Successful implementation will require the extension and implementation of old conservation principles with new technology. Many of the historically recognized conservation practices are now also recognized to improve soil health and system-wide climate change adaptation and mitigation.

Moving forward, win-win scenarios are being tailored for subregional crop production zones principally defined by available water in the iPNW. Coordinated public and private efforts need to be directed at refining, enabling and integrating best management practices into win-win scenarios to support farmers in their roles as producers, land and environmental stewards and climate change warriors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WP: Lead author responsible for writing team coordination, major text outline and writing, figure and table construction. WS: Dryland cropping systems contributions, including fallow management and winter pea production. FY: Dryland cropping and weed management, canola establishment sections. GY: Organic amendment first draft. EK: Crop rotation first draft. KB: Fertility section, overall editing. EB: policy related crop insurance summary. VM: Socioeconomic, policy section concepts, writing and editing. TM: Fertilizer management, NUE concepts, policy for crop adaptation. SM: Soil organic matter long term trends. JLJ-M: Earthworm, soil biota. IM: Irrigated crop zone cfBMPs. LP: Coordinator of overall cropping systems project and data collection. KP: Socioeconomic section writer, editor. DH: Residue management, precision farming concepts, regional SOM summary. AE: Contributor of cropping systems comparisons in transition zone. HC: Contributor of irrigated systems findings and concepts. CS: Contributor of modeling outcomes and references. SE: Overall REACCH project leader and manuscript editor.

REFERENCES

- Abatzoglou, J. T., Rupp, D. E., and Mote, P. W. (2014). Seasonal climate variability and change in the Pacific Northwest of the United States. J. Climate 33, 121–131. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-13-00218.1
- Albrecht, W. A. (1938). "Loss of soil organic matter and its restoration," in *Soils and Men, USDA Yearbook of Agriculture, House Document No. 38*, eds H. G. Knight, C. E. Kellog, M. A. McCall, A. L. Patrick, C. R. Enlow, E. N. Munns, C. P. Barnes, B. W. Allen, O. E. Barker, E. N. Bressnan, and G. Hambidge (Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office), 347–360.
- Avi-Yonah, R. S., and Uhlmann, D. M. (2010). Combating global climate change: why a carbon tax is a better response to global warming than cap and trade. *Stanford J* 28, 3–50.
- Baker, D. A., Young, D. L., Huggins, D. R., and Pan, W. L. (2004). Economically optimal nitrogen fertilizer for yield and protein in hard red spring wheat. *Agron. J.* 96, 116–123. doi: 10.2134/agronj2004.0116
- Banks, R. (2016). Shepherd's Grain: Bridges Built, Alliances Forged. myFarmlife.com, Summer 2016. Available online at: https://www.myfarmlife.com/features/ shepherds-grain-bridges-built-alliances-forged/ (Accessed on March 01, 2017)
- Barbarick, K. A., Ippolito, J. A., McDaniel, J., Hansen, N. C., and Peterson, G. A. (2012). Biosolids application to no-till dryland agroecosystems. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 150, 72–81. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2012.01.012
- Batie, S. S., Gilliam, J. W., Groffman, P. M., Hallberg, G. R., Hamilton, N. D., Larson, W. E., et al. (1993). Soil and Water Quality: An Agenda for Agriculture. National Academies Press. Available online at: http://www.nap.edu/catalog/ 2132.html (Accessed on December 05, 2016)
- Bewick, L. S., Young, F. L., Alldredge, J. R., and Young, D. L. (2008). Agronomics and economics of no-till facultative wheat in the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Crop Prot.* 27, 932–942. doi: 10.1016/j.cropro.2007.11.013
- Biswas, W. K., Barton, L., and Carter, D. (2011). Biodiesel production in a semiarid environment: a life cycle assessment approach. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 45, 3069–3074. doi: 10.1021/es1031807
- Bogner, J., Ahmed, M. A., Diaz, C., Faaij, A., Gao, Q., Hashimoto, S., et al. (2007).
 "Waste management," in *Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds B. Metz, O. R. Davidson, P. R. Bosch, R. Dave, L. A. Meyer (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 585–618.
- Boie, J. (2016). FY2017 Annual Work Plan. Palouse Conservation District. Available online at: http://scc.wa.gov/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/ Palouse-Conservation-District-Annual-Plan-FY2017_053116_submitted. pdf. (Accessed on March 30, 2017)
- Borrelli, K., Koenig, R., Burke, I., Gallagher, R. S., Pittmann, D., Snyder, A., et al. (2014). Transition cropping system impacts on organic wheat yield and quality. *Renew Agr. Food Syst.* 30, 461–472. doi: 10.1017/S1742170514000283
- Borrelli, K., Maaz, T., Pan, W. L., Carter, P., and Tao, H. (2017). "Soil fertility management," in *Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest*, eds G. Yorgey and C. Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Publication EM108–05), 237–282.
- Branosky, E. (2006). Agriculture and Climate Change: The Policy Context. WRI Policy Note No. 1. World Resource Institute. Available online at: http://www. wri.org/sites/default/files/pdf/policynote_agriculture_climate.pdf (Accessed on April 02, 2017)
- Brooks, E. S., Boll, J., Snyder, A. J., Ostrowski, K. M., Kane, S. L., Wulfhorst, J. D., et al. (2010). Long-term sediment loading trends in the Paradise Creek watershed. J. Soil Water Cons. 65, 331–341. doi: 10.2489/jswc.65.6.331

FUNDING

The authors thank the following sources of support: USDA-NIFA Award #2011-68002-30191 from the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture. National Science Foundation Award #0903714. Washington Oilseed Cropping Systems. USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture, Hatch project 1014527

- Brown, K. B., McIntosh, J. C., Rademacher, L. K., and Lohse, K. A. (2011). Impacts of agricultural irrigation recharge on groundwater quality in a basalt aquifer system (Washington, USA): a multi-tracer approach. *Hydrogeol. J.* 19, 1039–1051. doi: 10.1007/s10040-011-0736-z
- Brown, S., Beecher, N., and Carpenter, A. (2010). Calculator tool for determining greenhouse gas emissions from biosolids processing and end use. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 44, 9509–9515. doi: 10.1021/es101210k
- Brown, T. T., and Huggins, D. R. (2012). Soil carbon sequestration in the dryland cropping region of the Pacific Northwest. J. Soil Water Cons. 67, 406–416. doi: 10.2489/jswc.67.5.406
- Burke, I., Kahl, C. K., Tautges, N., and Young, F. L. (2017). "Integrated weed management," in Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest, eds G. Yorgey and C Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Publication EM108), 353–398.
- Carlson, J. E., and Dillman, D. A. (1988). The influence of farmers' mechanical skill on the development and adoption of a new agricultural practice. *J. Rural Soc.* 53, 235–245.
- Caron, P., Bienabe, E., and Hainzelin, E., (2014). Making transition towards ecological intensification of agriculture a reality: the gaps in and the role of scientific knowledge. *Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain.* 8, 44–52.
- CGIAR (2012). "Strategies for combating climate change in drylands agriculture," in *International Conference on Food Security in Dry Lands* (Doha). Available online at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/ 57a08a89e5274a31e000065c/Strategies_Combating_Climate_Change_Dry_ Areas.pdf (Accessed on February 05, 2017)
- Chen, C., Miller, P., Muehlbauer, F., Neill, K., Wichman, D., and McPhee, K. (2006). Winter pea and lentil response to seeding date and micro- and macroenvironments. *Agron. J.* 98, 1655–1663. doi: 10.2134/agronj2006.0085
- Chi, J., Maureira, F., Waldo, S., Pressley, S. N., Stöckle, C. O., O'Keeffe, P. T., et al. (2017). Carbon and water budgets in multiple wheat-based cropping systems in the Inland Pacific Northwest US: comparison of CropSyst simulations with eddy covariance measurements. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 5:50. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00050
- Cogger, C. G., Bary, A. I., Kennedy, A. C., and Fortuna, A.-M. (2013). Long-term crop and soil response to biosolids applications in dryland wheat. J. Environ. Qual. 42, 1872–1880. doi: 10.2134/jeq2013.05.0109
- Collins, H. P., Delgado, J. A., Alva, A. K., and Follett, R. F. (2007). Use of nitrogen-15 isotopic techniques to estimate nitrogen cycling from a mustard cover crop to potatoes. *Agron. J.* 99, 27–35. doi: 10.2134/agronj2005.0357
- Conner, D., Miller, J., Zia, A., Wang, Q., and Darby, H. (2016). Conjoint analysis of farmers' response to conservation incentives. *Sustain* 8:684.
- Connolly, J. R., McCracken, V. A., and Painter, K. M. (2015). Wheat and Canola Rotations in Eastern Washington Low Rainfall Regions (<12") (Oilseed Series). Pullman, WA: Washington State University Extension Technical Bulletin TB09E.
- Connolly, J. R., McCracken, V. A., and Painter, K. M. (2016). Enterprise Budgets: Wheat and Canola Rotations in Eastern Washington Intermediate Rainfall Regions 12" to 16" (Oilseed Series). Pullman, WA: Washington State University Extension Technical Bulletin TB010E.
- Coughenour, M., and Chamala, S. (2000). Conservation Tillage and Cropping Innovation: Constructing the New Culture of Agriculture. Ames, IA: Iowa State University. doi: 10.1002/9780470290149
- Cox, D., Bezdicek, D., and Fauci, M. (2001). Effects of compost, coal ash, and straw amendments on restoring the quality of eroded Palouse soil. *Biol. Fert. Soils* 33, 365–372. doi: 10.1007/s003740000335

18

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

- Pan et al.
- Cutforth, H. W., and McConkey, B. G. (1997). Stubble height effects on microclimate, yield and water use efficiency of spring wheat grown in a semiarid climate on the Canadian prairies. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 77, 359–366. doi: 10.4141/P96-153
- Cutforth, H., McConkey, B., Angadi, S., and Judiesch, D. (2011). Extra-tall stubble can increase crop yield in the semiarid Canadian prairie. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 91, 783–785. doi: 10.4141/cjps10168
- DeVuyst, E. A., and Halvorson, A. D. (2004). Economics of annual cropping versus crop-fallow in the Northern Great Plains as influenced by tillage and nitrogen. *Agron. J.* 96, 148–153. doi: 10.2134/agronj2004.0148
- Dillman, D. A., Beck, D. M., and Carlson, J. E. (1987). "Factors influencing the diffusion of no-till agriculture in the Pacific Northwest," in *STEEP-Soil Conservation Concepts and Accomplishments*, ed L. Elliot (Pullman, WA: Washington State University Press), 343–364.
- Eigenbrode, S. D., Bechinski, E. J., Bosque-Pérez, N. A., Crowder, D., Rashed, A., Rondon, S. J., et al. (2017). "Insect management strategies," in *Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest*, eds G. Yorgey and C. Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Publication EM108).
- EPA (2010). "EPA lifecycle analysis of greenhouse gas emissions from renewable fuels," in *Environmental Protection Agency Office of Transportation and Air Quality EPA-420-F-10-006*. Available at: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/ files/2015-08/documents/420f10006.pdf (Accessed on December 02, 2012)
- Erb, G. (2017). New Mill Will Turn E. Washington Wheat Straw from Waste to Resource. Seattle Times. Available online at: https://www.seattletimes.com/ business/new-mill-will-turn-e-washington-wheat-straw-from-waste-toresource/ (Accessed on August 28, 2017)
- Esser, A. D., and Jones, R. (2013). No-till and conventional tillage fallow winter wheat production comparison in the dryland cropping region of Eastern Washington. J. NACAA 6. Available online at: https://www.nacaa.com/journal/ index.php?jid=227
- Fiez, T. E., Miller, B. C., and Pan, W. L. (1994). Assessment of spatially variable nitrogen fertilizer management in winter wheat. J. Prod. Ag. 7, 86–93. doi: 10.2134/jpa1994.0086
- Frear, C. S., Ma, J., and Yorgey, G. G. (in press). Approaches to Nutrient Recovery from Dairy Manure. Pullman, WA: Washington State University Extension Publication.
- Fuerst, E. P., Koenig, R. T., Kugler, J., Painter, K., Stannard, M., and Goldberger, J. (2009). Organic Alfalfa Management Guide. Pullman, WA: Washington State University Extension EB2039E.
- Fulmer, E., and Heileman, W. H. (1899). Fertilizers. Part 1. Principles Underlying the Use of Fertilizers. Part II. Sources and Compositions of Fertilizers. Pullman, WA: Agricultural College Experiment Station; State College of Washington.
- GPO Government Publishing Office (2005). 109th Congress. Energy policy act of 2005. Public Law 109-58. Available online at: www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-109publ58/pdf/PLAW-109publ58.pdf (Accessed on January, 28 2017).
- Galinato, S. P., Yoder, J. K., and Granatstein, D. (2011). The economic value of biochar in crop production and carbon sequestration. *Energ. Policy* 39, 6344–6350. doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2011.07.035
- GAO (2014). USDA's Ongoing Efforts can be Enhanced with Better Metrics and More Relevant Information for Farmers. Washington DC: Government Accounting Office GAO-14–755.
- Ghimire, R., Machado, S., and Bista, P. (2017). Soil pH, soil organic matter, and crop yield in wheat-fallow systems. *Agron. J.* 109, 1–12. doi: 10.2134/agronj2016.08.0462
- Gollany, H. T., Fortuna, A.-M., Samuel, M. K., Young, F. L., Pan, W. L., and Pecharko, M. (2013). Estimated soil organic carbon accretion vs. sequestration using chemical and physical fractionation and the CQESTR model. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 77, 618–629. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2012.0303

Graham-Rowe, D. (2011). Agriculture: beyond food versus fuel. *Nature* 474, S6–S8. doi: 10.1038/474S06a

- Granatstein, D., Kruger, C. E., Collins, H., Galinato, S., Garcia-Perez, M., and Yoder, J. (2009). Use of Biochar from the Pyrolysis of Waste Organic Material as a Soil Amendment. Final project report, Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Wenatchee, WA, 168. Available online at: https://fortress.wa.gov/ecy/publications/publications/ 0907062.pdf (Accessed on November 21, 2016)
- Gray, L. C., Bennett, J. B., Kraemer, E., and Sparhawk, W. N. (1938). "The causes: traditional attitudes and institutions" in *Soils and Men: 1938 Yearbook of Agriculture*, eds H. G. Knight, C. E. Kellogg, C. P. Barnes, M. A. McCall, B. W. Allin, A. L. Patrick, O. E. Baker, C. R. Enlow, E. N. Bressman, E.

N. Munns, and G. Hambidge, House Document No. 38 (Washington, DC: United States Department of Agriculture, United States Government Printing Office), 111–136.

- Greene, C., Ferreira, G., Carlson, A., Cooke, B., and Hitaj, C. (2017). Growing Organic Demand Provides High-Value Opportunities for Many Types of Producers. Amber Waves. Washington DC: United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service. Available online at: https://www. ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2017/januaryfebruary/growing-organic-demandprovides-high-value-opportunities-for-many-types-of-producers/ (Accessed on February 27, 2017)
- Guy, S. O., and Lauver, M. A. (2007). No-till and conventional-till effects on spring wheat in the Palouse. *Crop. Manag.* 6. doi: 10.1094/CM-2007-0508-01-RS
- Hergert, G. W., Pan, W. L., Huggins, D. R., Grove, J. H., Peck, T. R., and Malzer, G. L. (1997). "The adequacy of current fertilizer recommendations for soil specific management," in *The State of Site-Specific Management for Agriculture*, eds F. J. Pierce and E. J. Sadler (Madison, WI: ASA, CSSA, SSSA), 283–300.
- Howden, S. M., Soussana, J.-F., Tubiello, F. N., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., and Meinke, H. (2007). Adapting agriculture to climate change. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S. A.* 104, 19691–19696.
- Huggins, D. R., Kruger, C. E., Painter, K. M., and Uberuaga, D. P. (2014). Sitespecific trade-offs of harvesting cereal residues as biofuel feedstocks in dryland annual cropping systems of the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Bioenerg. Res.* 7, 598–608. doi: 10.1007/s12155-014-9438-4
- Huggins, D. R., and Painter, K. (2011). Spring and Winter Canola Research at Cook Agronomy Farm. Washington Biofuels Cropping Systems Annual Report, Washington State University, Pullman, WA. Available online at: http://css.wsu. edu/oilseeds/production-information/ (Accessed on November 25, 2015)
- Huggins, D. R., and Pan, W. L. (1991). Wheat stubble management affects survival, growth and yield of winter legumes. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 55, 823–829. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1991.03615995005500030032x
- Huggins, D. R., and Pan, W. L. (1993). Component analysis of cropping system differences in nitrogen use efficiency. *Agron. J.* 85, 898–905. doi: 10.2134/agronj1993.00021962008500040022x
- Ibrahim, H. M., and Huggins, D. R. (2011). Spatio-temporal patterns of soil water storage under dryland agriculture at the watershed scale. J. Hydrol. 404, 186–197. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.04.029
- IPCC (International Panel on Climate Change) (2007a). "Climate change 2007: synthesis report," in Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds R. K. Pachauri and A. Reisinger (Geneva: IPCC).
- IPCC (International Panel on Climate Change) (2007b). "Climate change 2007: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability," in *Working Group II Contribution to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC*, eds M. L. Parry, O. F. Canziani, J. P. Palutikof, P. J. van der Linden, and C. E. Hansen (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- IPNI (2012). A Nutrient Use Information System (NuGIS) for the U.S. January 12, 2012. Norcross, GA: International Plant Nutrition Institute. Available online at: www.ipni.net/nugis (Accessed on November, 2016).
- Ippolito, J. A., Barbarick, K. A., and Norvell, K. L. (2007). Biosolids impact soil phosphorus accountability, fractionation, and potential environmental risk. J. Environ. Q. 36, 764–772. doi: 10.2134/jeq2006.0308
- Janosky, J. S., Young, D. L., and Schillinger, W. F. (2002). Economics of conservation tillage in a wheat-fallow rotation. *Agron. J.* 94, 527–531. doi: 10.2134/agronj2002.5270
- Janzen, H. H. (2001). Soil science on the Canadian prairies-peering into the future from a century ago. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 81, 489–503. doi: 10.4141/S00-054
- Johnson-Maynard, J. L., Umiker, K. J., and Guy, S. O. (2007). Earthworm dynamics and soil physical properties in the first three years of no-till management. *Soil Till Res* 94, 338–345. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2006.08.011
- Jonovic, D. J. (1997). The Ultimate Legacy: How Owners of Family and Closely Held Businesses Can Achieve their Real Purpose. Cleveland, OH: Jamieson Press.
- Kaiser, V. G., Pawson, W. W., Groeneveld, M. H. H., and Brough, O. L. Jr. (1954). Soil Losses on Wheat Farms in the Palouse Wheat-Pea Area. Pullman, WA: Washington Agricultural Experiments Station Circular 255, State College of Washington.
- Karimi, T., Stöckle, C. O., Higgins, S. S., Nelson, R. L., and Huggins, D. (2017). Projected dryland cropping system shifts in the Pacific Northwest in response to climate change. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00020
- Kaur, H., Huggins, D. R., Rupp, R. A., Abatzoglou, J. T., Stöckle, C. O., and Reganold, J. P. (2017). Agro-ecological class stability decreases in response to

climate change projections for the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 5:74. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00074

- Keller, C. K., Butchera, C. N., Smith, J. L., and Allen-King, R. M. (2007). Nitrate in tile drainage of the semiarid Palouse basin. J. Environ. Qual. 37, 353–361. doi: 10.2134/jeq2006.0515
- Kirby, E. M., Pan, W. L., Huggins, D. R., Painter, K. M., and Bista, P. (2017a). "Rotational diversification and intensification," in *Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest*, eds G. Yorgey and C. Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Publication EM108–05), 163–236.
- Kirby, E. M., Paulitz, T. C., Murray, T. D., Schroeder, K. L., and Chen, X. M. (2017b). "Disease management for wheat and barley," in *Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest*, eds G. Yorgey and C. Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Publication EM108–05), 399–468.
- Kirby, E., and Granatstein, D. (2017). Certified Organic Acreage and Sales in Washington State: 2007-2015. Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Publication TB43E.
- Kirkegaard, J. A., Peoples, M. B., Angus, J. F., and Unkovich, M. J. (2011). "Diversity and evolution of rainfed farming systems in Southern Australia," in *Rainfed Farming Systems*, eds P. Tow, I. Cooper, I. Partridge, and C. Birch (Dordrecht: Springer). doi: 10.1007/978-1-4020-9132-2_26
- Kirkegaard, J., Christen, O., Krupinsky, J., and Layzelld, D. (2008). Break crop benefits in temperate wheat production. *Field Crops Res.* 107, 185–195. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2008.02.010
- Klerkx, L., Aarts, N., and Leeuwis, C. (2010). Adaptive management in agricultural innovation systems: The interactions between innovation networks and their environment. Agric. Syst. 103, 390–400. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2010.03.012
- Koenig, R. T., Cogger, C. G., and Bary, A. I. (2011). Dryland winter wheat yield, grain protein, and soil nitrogen responses to fertilizer and biosolids applications. *Appl. Environ. Soil Sci.* 2011:925462. doi: 10.1155/2011/925462
- Koenig, R. T., Horneck, D. A., Platt, T., Petersen, P., Stevens, R., Fransen, S., et al. (2009). Nutrient Management Guide for Dryland and Irrigated Alfalfa in the Inland Northwest. Pullman, WA: Washington State Pacific Northwest Extension Publication.
- Kok, H., Papendick, R. I., and Saxton, K. E. (2009). STEEP: impact of long-term conservation farming research and education in Pacific Northwest wheatlands. *J. Soil Water Cons.* 64, 253–264. doi: 10.2489/jswc.64.4.253
- Kruger, C. (2004). Climate friendly farming moves into energy recovery. *Biocycle* 45, 56, 58–59.
- Kruger, C., Stockle, C., Shrestha, D., Painter, K., and Pan, B. (2015). "Life cycle assessment of Pacific Northwest canola-based biodiesel," in *Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Northwest Agriculture, Climate Science Northwest Farmers Can Use*, eds D. D. Laursen, S. Eigenbrode, B. Mahler, and B. Stokes (Moscow, ID: University of Idaho), 26–28.
- Lang, M. B. (2017). Oilseeds and biofuels in Washington state. Washington Oilseeds Cropping Systems. Washington Department of Agriculture. Available online at: http://css.wsu.edu/oilseeds/files/2017/03/WOCS-Lang-2017-Presentation-Handout-1.pdf (Accessed on April 03, 2017).
- Lang, M. B., and Flynn, V. (1989). Washington's Centennial Farms. Yesterday and Today. Olympia, WA: Washington State Department of Agriculture.
- Lindstrom, M. J., Koehler, F. E., and Papendick, R. I. (1974). Tillage effects on fallow water storage in eastern Washington dryland region. *Agron. J.* 66, 312–316. doi: 10.2134/agronj1974.00021962006600020036x
- Long, D., Young, F., Schillinger, W., Reardon, C., Williams, J., Allen, B., et al. (2016). Ongoing development of dryland oilseed production systems in northwestern region of the United States. *Bioenergy* 9, 412–429. doi: 10.1007/s12155-016-9719-1
- Lorent, L., Roberts, D., and Burke, I. (2016). Organic Small Grain Production in The Inland Pacific Northwest: A Collection of Case Studies. Pacific Northwest Publication 683. Pullman, WA: Washington State University.
- Lutcher, L. K., Wysocki, D. J., Corp, M. K., and Horneck, D. A. (2009). Agronomic Guidelines for Flexible Cropping Systems in Dryland Areas of Oregon. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University Extension Service EM 8999–E.
- Maaz, T. M., Wulfhorst, J. D., McCracken, V., Kirkegaard, J., Huggins, D. R., Roth, I., et al. (in press). Economic, policy, and social challenges of introducing oilseed and pulse crops into dryland wheat rotations. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.03.018
- Maaz, T., and Pan, W. L. (2017). Residual fertilizer, crop sequence, and water availability impact rotational nitrogen balances. *Agron. J.* 109, 2839–2862. doi: 10.2134/agronj2016.08.0457

- Maaz, T., Pan, W. L., and Hammac, A. H. (2016). Influence of soil nitrogen and water supply on canola nitrogen use efficiency of canola. *Agron. J.* 108, 2099–2109. doi: 10.2134/agronj2016.01.0008
- Machado, S. (2011). Soil organic carbon dynamics in the Pendleton long-term experiments: implications for biofuel production in Pacific Northwest. *Agron. J.* 103, 253–260. doi: 10.2134/agronj2010.0205s
- Machado, S., and Pritchett, L. (2014). "Biochar effects on wheat productivity in chemical fallow," in Poster Presentation Presented at the Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture Annual Meeting (Richland, WA).
- Machado, S., Pritchett, L., and Petrie, S. (2015). No-tillage cropping systems can replace traditional summer fallow in north-central Oregon. *Agron. J.* 107, 1863–1877. doi: 10.2134/agronj14.0511
- Madsen, I. (2017). Nitrogen-Plant-Soil-Interactions at the Root-Rhizosphere, Cropping System, and National Scales. Ph.D. dissertation, Washington State University, Pullman, WA.
- Magdoff, F., Lanyon, L., and Liebhardt, B. (1997). Nutrient cycling, transformations, and flows: implications for a more sustainable agriculture. *Adv. Agron.* 60, 1–73. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60600-8
- Mahler, B., Pan, B., and Wysocki, D. (2015). "The importance of soil fertility in crop production," in *Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Northwest Agriculture, Climate Science Northwest Farmers Can Use*, eds K. Borrelli, D. Daley Laursen, S. Eigenbrode, B. Mahler, and R. Pepper (Moscow, ID: University of Idaho).
- Mallory, E. B., Fiez, T., Veseth, V. J., Roe, R. D., and Wysocki, D. J. (2001). Direct Seeding Case Study Series for the Inland Northwest. Pullman WA: Pacific Northwest Extension Publications, Washington State University Cooperative Extension, Oregon State University Extension Service, University of Idaho Cooperative Extension System, and the U. S. Department of Agriculture.
- Matson, P. A., Parton, W. J., Power, A. G., and Swift, M. J. (1997). Agricultural intensification and ecosystem properties. *Science* 277, 504–509. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5325.504
- McGee, R. J. (2016). "Breeding fall planted pulse crops," in *Pacific Northwest Direct Seed Association Annual Conference*. Available online at: http://www.directseed.org/files/9514/5335/1350/Breeding_Fall_Planted_Pulse_Crops_Rebecca_McGee.pdf (Accessed on April 15, 2017).
- McGregor, A. C. (1982). Counting Sheep. From Open Range to Agribusiness on the Columbia Plateau. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press.
- Nehring, R. (2016). Fertilizer Use & Markets. United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service, Amber Waves. Available online at: https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/farm-practices-management/chemicalinputs/fertilizer-use-markets/ (Accessed on April 08, 2017)
- Nielsen, D. C., Lyon, D. W., Hergert, G. W., Higgins, R. K., Calderón, F. J., and Vigil, M. F. (2015). Cover crop mixtures do not use water differently than single-species plantings. *Agron. J.* 107, 1025–1038. doi: 10.2134/agronj14.0504
- Norton, R. (2013). "4R Canola nutrition guide, Canola Technology Update: Nutrient Management V1," in *International Plant Nutrition Institute*. Available online at: anz.ipni.net/beagle/ANZ-3176&f=Canola%204R%20Guide.pdf (Accessed on May 1, 2017).
- O'Conner, C. (2013). Soil Matters: How the Federal Crop Insurance Program Should be Reformed to Encourage Low-Risk Farming Methods with High-Reward Environmental Outcomes. NRDC Issue Paper, ip:13-04-a. Available online at: https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/soil-matters-IP.pdf (Accessed on March 25, 2017)
- Oldenstadt, D. L., Allan, R. E., Bruehl, G. W., Dillman, D. A., Michalson, E. L., Papendick, R. I., et al. (1982). Solutions to Environmental and Economic Problems (STEEP). *Science* 217, 904–909. doi: 10.1126/science.217.4563.904
- O'Leary, M., Usibelli, T., and Moulton, P. (2013). 2012 Energy Freedom Status Report: Funding Bioenergy and Clean Energy Development in Washington State. Olympia, WA: Washington State Department of Commerce. Available online at: https://www.digitalarchives.wa.gov/do/ 739075E9DE5F1E93161EEE1F88FBFF5A.pdf (Accessed on January 28, 2017).
- Pan, W., Schillinger, W., Huggins, D., Koenig, R., and Burns, J. (2007). "Fifty years of predicting wheat nitrogen requirements based on soil water, yield, protein and nitrogen efficiencies," in *Managing Crop Nitrogen for Weather*, ed T. Bruulsema (Norcross, GA: International Plant Nutrition Institute), 10-1–10-8.
- Pan, W. L., and Hopkins, A. G. (1991). Winter barley development, N and P use: responses to no-till and N management at slope positions of eroded toposequences. *Plant Soil* 135, 21–29.

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

- Pan, W. L., Huggins, D. R., Malzer, G. L., and Smith, J. L. (1997). "Variable soilplant relationships: implications for site-specific nitrogen management," in *The State of Site-Specific Management for Agriculture*, eds F. J. Pierce and E. J. Sadler (Madison, WI: ASA, CSSA, SSSA), 81–100.
- Pan, W. L., Maaz, T. M., Hammac, W. A., McCracken, V. A., and Koenig, R. T. (2016a). Mitscherlich-modeled, semi-arid canola nitrogen requirements influenced by soil nitrogen and water. *Agron. J.* 108, 884–894. doi: 10.2134/agronj2015.0378
- Pan, W. L., Maaz, T. M., Madsen, I. J., Reese, M., Hammac, W. A., Wysocki, D., et al. (2017a). 4R nitrogen management when integrating canola into semi-arid wheat. *Crops Soils* 50, 16–66. doi: 10.2134/cs2017.50.0309
- Pan, W. L., Port, L. E., Xiao, Y., Bary, A. I., and Cogger, C. G. (2017b). Soil carbon and nitrogen fraction accumulation with long-term biosolids applications. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 0. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2017.03.0075. [Epub ahead of print].
- Pan, W. L., Young, F. L., Hulbert, S. C., Huggins, D. R., and Maaz, T. M. (2016b). Canola Integration into semi-arid wheat cropping systems of the inland Pacific Northwestern USA. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 67, 253–265.
- Pan, W. L., Young, F. L., and Kidwell, K. K. (2001). "Carbon and nitrogen cycling in direct-seeded spring cereal alternatives to summer fallow," in *Proceedings of the Western Nutrient Management Conference*, Vol. 4, ed B. Brown (Brookings, SD: Potash and Phosphate Institute), 202–209.
- Papendick, R. I., Young, D. L., McCool, D. K., and Krauss, H. A. (1985). "Regional effects of soil erosion on crop productivity: the Palouse area of the Pacific Northwest (USA)," in *Soil Erosion and Crop Productivity*, eds R. F. Follett and B. A. Stewart (Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy), 305–320.
- PNDSA (2017). Pacific Northwest Direct Seed Association. Farming for the Future. Available online at: http://www.directseed.org/ (Accessed on March 01, 2017).
- Port, L. (2016). A Diversified High-Residue No-Till Cropping System for the Low Rainfall Zone. MS thesis, Washington State University, Pullman,WA.
- Reardon, T., Wesseler, J., and Zilberman, D. (2016). Strategic Perspectives on Innovation in Agrifood Business In Emerging Versus Developed Markets. April 19-21, 2016 University of California Berkeley International & Executive Programs Workshop Report. Available online at: https://iep.berkeley.edu/ content/strategic-perspectives-innovation-agrifood-supply-chains-2016. (Accessed on March 01, 2017).
- Reganold, J. P., Jackson-Smith, D., Batie, S. S., Harwood, R. R., Kornegay, J. L., Bucks, D., et al. (2011). Transforming U.S. Agriculture. *Science* 332, 670–671. doi: 10.1126/science.1202462
- Reicosky, D. C., Hatfield, J. L., and Sass, R. L. (2000). "Agricultural contributions to greenhouse gas emissions," in *Climate Change and Global Security*, eds K. R. Reddy and H. F. Hodges (Wallingford: CAB International), 37–56. doi: 10.1079/9780851994390.0037
- Riar, D. S., Ball, D. A., Yenish, J. P., and Burke, I. C. (2011). Light-activated sensorcontrolled sprayer provides effective postemergence control of broadleaf weeds in fallow. *Weed. Technol.* 25, 447–453. doi: 10.1614/WT-D-10-00013.1
- Ribaudo, M., Delgado, J., Hansen, L., Livingston, M., Mosheim, R., and Williamson, J. (2011). Nitrogen in Agricultural Systems: Implications for Conservation Policy. ERR-127. U.S. Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service September 2011. Available online at: https://www.ers.usda. gov/publications/pub-details/?pubid=44919 (Accessed on March 01, 2017).
- Roberts, D., Fleming, F. J., Gross, C., Rush, T., Warner, E., Laney, C., et al. (2016). "Cover cropping for the intermediate precipitation zone of dryland eastern Washington," in 2016 Dryland Field Day Abstracts (Moscow ID: University of Idaho, Oregon State University and Washington State University).

Robertson, G. P., and Swinton, S. M. (2005). Reconciling agricultural productivity and environmental integrity: a grand challenge for agriculture. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 3, 38–45.

Rogers, E. M. (1995). Diffusion of Innovations. New York, NY: Free Press.

- Schillinger, W. F. (2017). Winter pea: promising new crop for Washington's dryland wheat-fallow region. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 5:43.
- Schillinger, W. F., and Papendick, R. I. (2008). Then and now: 125 years of dryland wheat farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest. *Agron. J.* 100(Suppl. 3), S166–S182. doi: 10.2134/agronj2007.0027c
- Seamon, E., Roesch-McNally, G., McNamee, L., Roth, I., Wulfhorst, J. D., Eigenbrode, S. D., et al. (2016). *Producer Perceptions on Climate Change and Agriculture: A Statistical Atlas.* Moscow, ID: University of Idaho Agricultural Economics Extension Series 17–01.

- Shcherbak, I., Millar, N., and Robertson, G. P. (2014). Global metaanalysis of the nonlinear response of soil nitrous oxide (N2O) emissions to fertilizer nitrogen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 25, 9199–9204. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1322434111
- Sievers, F. J., and Holtz, H. F. (1922). The Silt Loam Soils of Eastern Washington and Their Management. Pullman, WA: State College of Washington Agricultural Experiment Station.
- Smit, B., and Skinner, M. W. (2002). Adaptation options in agriculture to climate change: a typology. *Mitig. Adapt. Strat. Glob. Chang.* 7, 85–114. Available online at: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.408.997& rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Smith, E. G., Upadhyay, B. M., Blackshaw, R. E., Beckie, H. J., Harker, K. N., and Clayton, G. W. (2006). Economic benefits of integrated weed management systems in field crops in the Dark Brown and Black soil zones of western Canada. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 86, 1273–1279. doi: 10.4141/P05-181
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., et al. (2007). "Agriculture," in: Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds B. Metz, O. R. Davidson, P. R. Bosch, R. Dave, and L. A. Meyer (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Snyder, C. S., Bruulsema, T. W., Jensen, T. L., and Fixen, P. E. (2009). Review of greenhouse gas emissions from crop production systems and fertilizer management effects. *Agri. Ecosyst. Environ.* 133, 247–266.
- Sowers, K. E. (2017). 2017 Spring Oilseed Suppliers in the PNW. Washington Oilseed Cropping Systems. Pullman, WA: Washington State University. Available online at: http://css.wsu.edu/oilseeds//files/2012/09/2017SpringOilseedSupplyfinal-1. pdf (Accessed on April 25, 2017).
- Sowers, K. E., and Pan, B. (2012). *Executive Summary*. Biofuels cropping system project 2012 annual progress report. Pullman, WA: Washington State University.
- Sowers, K. E., Pan, W. L., Miller, B. C., and Smith, J. L. (1995). Nitrogen use efficiency of split applications in soft white winter wheat. *Agron. J.* 86, 942–948. doi: 10.2134/agronj1994.00021962008600060004x
- Sowers, K. E., Roe, R. D., and Pan, W. L. (2011). Oilseed Production Case Studies in the Eastern Washington High Rainfall Zone. Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Manual EM037E.
- Sowers, K. E., Roe, R. D., and Pan, W. L. (2012). Oilseed Production Case Studies in the Eastern Washington Low to Intermediate High Rainfall Zone. Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Manual EM 048E.
- Spillman, W. J. (1906). Renovation of Worn Out Soils. Farmers Bulletin No. 245. USDA, Washington, DC: Washington Government Printing Office.
- Stöckle, C. S., Higgins, S., Kemanian, A., Nelson, R., Huggins, D., Marcos, J., et al. (2012). Carbon storage and nitrous oxide emissions of cropping systems in Washington: a simulation study. *J. Soil Water Cons.* 67, 365–377. doi: 10.2489/jswc.67.5.365
- Stöckle, C. O., Higgins, S., Nelson, R., Abatzoglou, J., Huggins, D., Pan, W., et al. (2017). Evaluating opportunities for an increased role of winter crops as adaptation to climate change in dryland cropping systems of the U.S. Inland Pacific Northwest. *Climate Change*. doi: 10.1007/s10584-017-1950-z. [Epub ahead of print].
- Stöckle, C. S., Nelson, R. L., Higgins, S., Brunner, J., Grove, G., Boydston, R., et al. (2010). Assessment of climate change impact on eastern Washington agriculture. *Clim. Change* 2010, 77–102. doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9851-4
- Stubbs, T. L., Kennedy, A. C., and Schillinger, W. F. (2004).. Soil ecosystem changes during the transition to no-till cropping. J. Crop Improv. 11, 105–135. doi: 10.1300/J411v11n01_06
- Sullivan, D. M., Cogger, C. G., and Bary, A. I. (2015). Fertilizing with Biosolids. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University Extension Service. A Pacific Northwest Extension Publication. PNW 508.
- Sullivan, L. S., Young, F. L., Smiley, R. W., and Alldredge, J. R. (2013). Weed and disease incidence in no-till, facultative wheat in the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Crop Prot.* 53, 132–138. doi: 10.1016/j.cropro.2013.06.013
- Tautges, N. E., Burke, I. C., Borrelli, K., and Fuerst, E. P. (2016). Competitive ability of rotational crops with weeds in dryland organic wheat production systems. *Renew. Ag. Food Syst.* 32, 57–68. doi: 10.1017/S1742170516000028
- Thompson, W. H., and Carter, P. G. (2014). "Cover crop water consumption in southeastern Washington palouse," in *Poster in ASA, CSSA and SSSA International Meeting.* Available online at: https://scisoc.confex.com/scisoc/ 2014am/webprogram/Paper84949.html (Accessed on September 01, 2017).

- Thorne, M. E., Young, F. L., Pan, W. L., Bafus, R., and Alldredge, J. R. (2003). No-till spring cereal cropping systems reduce wind erosion susceptibility in the wheat/fallow region of the Pacific Northwest. J. Soil Water Conserv. 58, 250–257. Available online at: https://naldc.nal.usda.gov/download/48775/PDF
- Tilman, D., Balzer, C., Hill, J., and Befort, B. L. (2011). Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 20260–20264. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1116437108
- Tilman, D., Cassman, K. G., Matson, P. A., Naylor, R., and Polasky, S. (2002). Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. *Nature* 418, 671–677. doi: 10.1038/nature01014
- Unger, P. W., Fryrear, D. W., and Lindstrom, M. J. (2006). "Soil conservation," in *Dryland Agriculture*, Agronomy Monograph 23, eds G. A. Peterson, P. W. Unger, and W. A. Payne (Madison, WI:ASA-CSSA-SSSA), 87–112.
- USDA (2010). U.S. Department of Agriculture Strategic Plan FY 2010-2015. Available online at: www.ocfo.usda.gov/usdasp/sp2010/sp2010.pdf (Accessed on March 01, 2017)
- USDA (2014). U.S. Department of Agriculture Climate Change Adaptation Plan. Available online at: www.ocfo.usda.gov/usdasp/usdasp.htm (Accessed on March 01, 2017)
- USDA-ERS (2016). Agricultural Production and Mitigation. Available online at: https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/natural-resources-environment/climatechange/agricultural-production-and-mitigation/ (Accessed on March 01, 2017)
- USDA-RMA (2016). United State Department of Agriculture Risk Management Agency. Available online at: https://www.rma.usda.gov/ (Accessed on February 15, 2017)
- van Groenigen, J. W., Lubbers, I. M., Vos, H. M., Brown, G. G., De Deyn, G. B., and van Groenigen, K. J. (2014). Earthworms increase plant production: a meta-analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 4:6365. doi: 10.1038/srep06365
- Vandemark, G. J., Brick, M. A., Osorno, J. M., Kelly, J. D., and Urrea, C. A. (2014). "Edible grain legumes," in *Yield Gains in Major U.S. Field Crops*, CSSA special publication 33, eds S. Smith, B. Diers, J. Specht, and B. Carver (Madison, WI: ASA, CSSA, and SSSA), 87–124.
- Venterea, R. T., Halvorson, A. D., Kitchen, N., Liebig, M. A., Cavigelli, M. A., Del Grosso, S. J., et al. (2012). Challenges and opportunities for mitigating nitrous oxide emissions from fertilized cropping systems. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 10, 562–570. doi: 10.1890/120062
- Waldo, S., Chi, J., Pressley, S. N., O'Keeffe, P., Pan, W. L., Brooks, E., et al. (2016). Assessing carbon dynamics at high and low rainfall agricultural sites in the inland Pacific Northwest US using the eddy covariance method. Agr. Forest Meteorol. 218–219, 25–36. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.11.018
- Washington Grain Commission (2016). All About Grains. Available online at: http://wagrains.org/all-about-wheat/varieties-of-wheat/ (Accessed on March 29, 2017)
- Weddell, B., Brown, T., and Borrelli, K. (2017). "Precision agriculture," in Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest, eds G. Yorgey and C. Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Publication EM108–05), 319–352.
- Weinert, T., Pan, W. L., Moneymaker, M. R., Santo, G. S., and Stevens, R. G. (2002). Nitrogen recycling by non-leguminous winter cover crops to reduce leaching in potato rotations. *Agron. J.* 94, 365–372.
- Williams, J. D., Gollany, H. T., Siemens, M. C., Wuest, S. B., and Long, D. S. (2013). Comparison of runoff, soil erosion, and winter wheat yields from no-till and inversion tillage production systems in northeastern Oregon. *J. Soil Water Cons.* 64, 43–52. doi: 10.2489/jswc.64.1.43
- Williams, J. D., Wuest, S. B., and Long, D. S. (2014). Soil and water conservation in the Pacific Northwest through no-tillage and intensified crop rotations. J. Soil Water Cons. 69, 495–504. doi: 10.2489/jswc.69.6.495
- Wood, S., and Cowie, A. (2004). A Review of Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors for Fertiliser Production. IEA Bioenergy Task 38. Available online at: http:// www.sciencetheearth.com/uploads/2/4/6/5/24658156/2004_wood_a_review_ of_greenhouse_gas_emission_factors.pdf (Accessed on February 01, 2012).
- Woodard, J. D. (2016). Integrating high resolution soil data into federal crop insurance policy: implications for policy and conservation. *Envir. Sci. Policy* 66, 93–100. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2016.08.011
- Woodard, J. D., Sherrick, B. J., and Schnitkey, G. D. (2011). Actuarial impacts of loss cost ratio ratemaking in U.S. crop insurance programs. *J. Agric. Res. Econ.* 36, 211–228. Available online at: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/6546457.pdf

- Wu, J. J. (1999). Crop insurance, acreage decisions, and nonpoint-source pollution. Am. J. Agr. Econ. 81, 305–320. doi: 10.2307/1244583
- Xiao, C., Bolton, R., Pan, W., L. (2007a). Lignin from rice straw kraft pulping: effects on soil aggregation and chemical properties. *Biores. Technol.* 98, 1482–1488. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2005.11.014
- Xiao, C., Stevens, R., Fauci, M., Bolton, R., Lewis, M., McKean, W. T., et al. (2007b). Soil microbial activity, aggregation and nutrient responses to straw pulping liquor in corn. *Biol. Fert. Soils* 43, 709–719. doi: 10.1007/s00374-006-0153-y
- Yorgey, G. G., Frear, C. S., Kruger, C. E., and Zimmerman, T. J. (2014). The Rationale for Recovery of Phosphorus and Nitrogen from Dairy Manure. Washington State Extension Publication FS136E. Pullman, WA: Washington State University.
- Yorgey, G., Pan, W. L., Awale, R., Machado, S., and Bary, A. (2017b). "Soil amendments," in *Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest*, eds G. Yorgey and C. Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State Extension Publication EM 108–07), 319–352.
- Yorgey, G., Borrelli, K. A., McGuire, and Painter, K. (2017c). Strip Tillage of Vegetables with Livestock Integration. Pullman, WA: Washington State University, CSANR. Available online at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= KU_9ikqtDVw&list=PLajA3BBVyv1z8zOtVWmznqGJ7ZCP-Xooa&index=14 (Accessed on May 01, 2017).
- Yorgey, G., Painter, K., Borrelli, K., Kantor, S., Davis, H., Bernacchi, L., et al. (2017a). Farmer-to-Farmer Case Study Series: Increasing Resilience among farmers in the Pacific Northwest. Moscow, ID: University of Idaho.
- Young, D. L. (2009). Biofuels: political/economic boondoggle or energy salvation for Western States? J. Agr. Res. Econ. 34, 383–394. Available online at: http:// citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.468.5301&rep=rep1& type=pdf
- Young, D. L., Kwon, T. J., and Young, F. L. (1994). Profit and risk for integrated conservation farming systems in the Palouse. J. Soil Water Cons. 6, 601–606.
- Young, D. L., and Schillinger, W. F. (2012). Wheat farmers adopt the undercutter fallow method to reduce wind erosion and sustain profitability. *Soil Till Res.* 124, 240–244. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2012.07.001
- Young, F. L., Alldredge, A. R., Pan, W. L., and Henning, C. (2015). Comparisons of annual no-till spring cereal cropping systems in the Pacific Northwest. Crop Forage Turf. Manage. doi: 10.2134/cftm2014.0089
- Young, F. L., Ogg, A. G. Jr., Boerboom, C. M., and Alldredge, J. R. (1994a). Integration of weed management and tillage practices in spring dry pea production. *Agron. J.* 86, 868–874.
- Young, F. L., Ogg, A. G. Jr., and Papendick, R. I. (1994b). Case studies of integrated-whole farm systems designs: field scale replicated IPM trials. Am. J. Altern. Agr. 9, 52–56.
- Young, F. L., Ogg, A. G. Jr., Papendick, R. I., Thill, D. C., and Alldredge, J. R. (1994c). Tillage and weed management affects winter wheat yield in an Integrated Pest Management System. *Agron. J.* 86, 149–154.
- Young, F. L., Whaley, D. K., Lawrence, D. W., and Burke, I. C. (2016). Feral rye (*Secale cereale*) control in winter canola in the Pacific Northwest. *Weed Tech.* 30, 163–170. doi: 10.1614/WT-D-15-00109.1
- Young, F. L., Whaley, D. K., Pan, W. L., Roe, R. D., and Alldredge, J. R. (2014). Introducing winter canola to the winter wheat-fallow region of the Pacific Northwest. *Crop Manage*. doi: 10.2134/CM-2013-0023-RS
- Zentner, R. P., Walla, D. D., Nagy, C. I. N., Smith, E. G., Young, D. L., Miller, P. R., et al. (2002). Economics of crop diversification and soil tillage opportunities in the Canadian Prairies. *Agron. J.* 94, 216–223. doi: 10.2134/agronj2002.0216

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Pan, Schillinger, Young, Kirby, Yorgey, Borrelli, Brooks, McCracken, Maaz, Machado, Madsen, Johnson-Maynard, Port, Painter, Huggins, Esser, Collins, Stockle and Eigenbrode. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org





Northwest U.S. Agriculture in a Changing Climate: Collaboratively Defined Research and Extension Priorities

Georgine G. Yorgey^{1*}, Sonia A. Hall², Elizabeth R. Allen³, Elizabeth M. Whitefield⁴, Nichole M. Embertson⁵, Vincent P. Jones⁶, Brooke R. Saari², Kirti Rajagopalan³, Gabrielle E. Roesch-McNally⁷, Beatrice Van Horne⁷, John T. Abatzoglou⁸, Harold P. Collins⁹, Laurie L. Houston¹⁰, Timothy W. Ewing¹¹ and Chad E. Kruger¹

¹ Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Mount Vernon, WA, United States,
 ² Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Wenatchee, WA, United States,
 ³ Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States,
 ⁴ Puyallup Research and Extension Center, Washington State University, Puyallup, WA, United States,
 ⁵ Mhatcom Conservation District, Lynden, WA, United States, ⁶ Department of Entomology, Tree Fruit Research and Extension Center, Washington State University, Puyallup, United States Department of Agriculture, Corvalis, OR, United States, ⁸ Department of Geography, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States,
 ⁹ Grassland, Soil and Water Research Laboratory, United States Department of Agriculture Agriculture Research Service, Temple, TX, United States, ¹⁰ Department of Applied Economics, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR, United States, ¹¹ Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Puyalup, WA, United States, ¹¹ Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Puyalup, WA, United States, ¹¹ Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Puyalup, WA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jodi Lynn Johnson-Maynard, University of Idaho, United States

Reviewed by:

Liming Ye, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences, China Fei Wang, Institute of Soil and Water Conservation (CAAS), China

> *Correspondence: Georgine G. Yorgey yorgey@wsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Environmental Science

> Received: 06 February 2017 Accepted: 04 August 2017 Published: 31 August 2017

Citation:

Yorgey GG, Hall SA, Allen ER, Whitefield EM, Embertson NM, Jones VP, Saari BR, Rajagopalan K, Roesch-McNally GE, Van Horne B, Abatzoglou JT, Collins HP, Houston LL, Ewing TW and Kruger CE (2017) Northwest U.S. Agriculture in a Changing Climate: Collaboratively Defined Research and Extension Priorities. Front. Environ. Sci. 5:52. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00052

In order for agricultural systems to successfully mitigate and adapt to climate change there is a need to coordinate and prioritize next steps for research and extension. This includes focusing on "win-win" management practices that simultaneously provide short-term benefits to farmers and improve the sustainability and resiliency of agricultural systems with respect to climate change. In the Northwest U.S., a collaborative process has been used to engage individuals spanning the research-practice continuum. This collaborative approach was utilized at a 2016 workshop titled "Agriculture in a Changing Climate," that included a broad range of participants including university faculty and students, crop and livestock producers, and individuals representing state, tribal and federal government agencies, industry, nonprofit organizations, and conservation districts. The Northwest U.S. encompasses a range of agro-ecological systems and diverse geographic and climatic contexts. Regional research and science communication efforts for climate change and agriculture have a strong history of engaging diverse stakeholders. These features of the Northwest U.S. provide a foundation for the collaborative research and extension prioritization presented here. We focus on identifying research and extension actions that can be taken over the next 5 years in four areas identified as important areas by conference organizers and participants: (1) cropping systems, (2) livestock systems, (3) decision support systems to support consideration of climate change in agricultural management decisions; and (4) partnerships among researchers and stakeholders. We couple insights from the workshop and a review of current literature to articulate current scientific understanding, and priorities recommended by workshop participants that target existing knowledge

1

gaps, challenges, and opportunities. Priorities defined at the Agriculture in a Changing Climate workshop highlight the need for ongoing investment in interdisciplinary research integrating social, economic, and biophysical sciences, strategic collaborations, and knowledge sharing to develop actionable science that can support informed decision-making in the agriculture sector as the climate changes.

Keywords: actionable science, climate services, knowledge coproduction, climate change, mitigation, adaptation, agriculture, stakeholders

INTRODUCTION

Research at the nexus of climate change and agricultural production in the United States has focused on two distinct but related pathways of mitigation and adaptation. Mitigation efforts have attempted to quantify the impacts of agricultural production on climate change while also assessing practices that can be used to mitigate greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions associated with agricultural production. Adaptation research efforts have sought to explore the way adaptive practices can reduce the risks associated with climate change and build on opportunities. Research has been conducted for well over a decade on both mitigation and adaptation (e.g., Consortium for Agricultural Soils Mitigation of Greenhouse Gases, Washington State University Climate Friendly Farming Project, Southeast Climate Consortium). Recently, there has been increased emphasis on research focused on adapting agricultural systems to a changing climate, which coincides with a growing recognition in the land and resource management communities of the inevitability of an atmospheric doubling of carbon dioxide (CO₂) (IPCC, 2014a,b,c). Federal programmatic focal areas and funding for research in the past 5 years, exemplified by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Regional Climate Hubs, reflect this intensified interest in agricultural adaptation (USDA NIFA, 2016; USDA, 2017). Additionally, there is increasing awareness that opportunities exist for "win-win" solutions that will improve farm economics while also making agricultural systems more resilient to a changing climate and lowering carbon footprints (Rosenzweig and Tubiello, 2007; Pretty, 2008; Power, 2010; Smith and Olesen, 2010; Duguma et al., 2014; Yorgey and Kruger, 2017).

The appeal of an approach that incorporates adaptation, mitigation, and profits is clear because it could provide a wealth of co-benefits to agriculture-and diverse stakeholders have articulated an interest in more research to evaluate the efficacy of potential management strategies across geographic regions and in multiple agroecosystems (Prokopy et al., 2015a; Allen et al., 2017). However, several intersecting factors make it difficult in practice to prioritize amongst management strategies across agro-ecosystems. First, many of these strategies have impacts that are spatially and temporally variable. This makes it difficult to make accurate projections of the costs and benefits for particular farmers. For example, building soil organic carbon (SOC) can enhance resilience by increasing soil water holding capacity, improving farmers' ability to withstand higher summer temperatures. It can also provide mitigation benefits by drawing carbon out of the atmosphere. However, the amount of SOC

stored on an individual field or farm varies considerably. Factors including soil type and series, precipitation, and initial soil carbon levels can, in some cases, be even more important than management (e.g., reduction or elimination of tillage, cover crops, amendments) in determining the magnitude of soil carbon storage or loss (Paustian et al., 1997; Kemanian and Stöckle, 2010).

Second, the research and policy-making communities have limited understanding of how producers make management decisions, which makes it more difficult to identify and test realistic strategies that producers might choose to use. Agricultural producers must make resource management and investment decisions on the basis of highly complex and uncertain information from multiple sources. Thus, it is difficult to assess what information will be most relevant and useful to producers (Lemos et al., 2012; McNie, 2012; Weaver et al., 2013).

Third, there are limitations in climate scientists' ability to project the degree and rate of change of future climate, project impacts for specific cropping systems, and forecast the extent to which current crops and agroecosystems will be viable (Abatzoglou et al., 2014; Antle et al., 2016; Cammarano et al., 2016). For instance, to what extent can a producer increase soil carbon storage to retain more water within an existing crop or cropping system, before needing to change crops or fundamentally redesign the cropping system in response to climate change? Limitations in our ability to fully understand the nature of future climate change complicate efforts to evaluate agricultural adaptation and mitigation strategies, despite ongoing improvements in the usability of climate change projections for agricultural decision-makers (Antle et al., 2016; Parker and Abatzoglou, 2016; Rupp et al., 2016).

Given the potential for severe climate change impacts on agriculture and limits on time and financial resources, there is a need for a strategic approach to prioritizing near-term investments in research and extension to improve adaptive capacity, even in the face of these challenges and uncertainties. The Northwest United States is a good test-bed for evaluating opportunities for adaptation and mitigation, and is well-situated to test a collaborative approach to setting research and extension priorities.

From a biophysical perspective, the region is geographically and climatically heterogeneous, with a diversity of agroecological systems. Dryland and irrigated cropland produces over 250 commercially important crops, including nationally significant production of apples, pears, cherries, berries, and wheat (USDA NASS, 2015). The region encompasses a marked precipitation gradient with mean annual precipitation ranging from 150 mm to over 750 mm, leading to variation in grain crop varietals, cultivation strategies, and economic opportunities and challenges for farmers (Schillinger et al., 2010). Livestock are also important, with nationally significant production of milk, cheese, cattle and calves, and livestock forage (USDA ERS, 2015; USDA NASS, 2015). In 2012, the value of crop and livestock agricultural production in Washington, Oregon and Idaho was over \$21.8 billion (USDA, 2012). The heterogeneity of the region's agricultural systems and ongoing work across the region has the potential to highlight key differences among systems, generating information that could provide a benchmark that is helpful to other agricultural production regions.

From a social perspective, the agricultural research and extension communities have long collaborated with farmer and industry networks and advisory groups, including in the realm of climate change. Comprehensive, interdisciplinary research and extension programming in the climate change and agriculture nexus has been occurring in the region for nearly 15 years, leading to substantial knowledge development, technology transfers and management adaptations (**Table 1**). In addition, the public sector has become increasingly vocal in supporting longterm investments in adaptation capacity and infrastructure, such as new irrigation water supply infrastructure, which is necessary to maintain a viable, if changing, agricultural resource base.

However, the level of complexity and uncertainty associated with climate change impacts and potential responses suggests the need for reinvigorating and advancing these long-standing partnerships in new ways. Important enhancements include the participation of a broad group of decision-makers at multiple organizational levels, such as crop advisors, irrigation districts, state and federal agencies, and private sector technology, and service providers (Bizikova et al., 2014; Prokopy et al., 2015b; Allen et al., 2017). There is also a need to more actively facilitate a feedback loop between researchers and stakeholders, as the applications of climate science to agricultural decision-making may not be as straight-forward as the application of new crop variety testing, innovations in machinery, or other similarly applied areas of science (Prokopy et al., 2015a). In an effort to prioritize and catalyze future regional research and extension efforts, a workshop titled "Agriculture in a Changing Climate" was held on March 9–11, 2016 (AgCC, 2016), a first step toward reinvigorating those partnerships. The workshop's 82 participants spanned the research-practice continuum, including university faculty and students, crop and livestock producers, and individuals representing state, tribal, and federal government agencies, industry, nonprofit organizations, and conservation districts (**Figure 1**). They included many representatives of research teams and boundary entities involved in studies to inform adaptation and mitigation in agriculture in the region. Participants worked together to synthesize recent research findings and identify priorities related to climate mitigation and adaptation in the Northwest, with a particular focus on actions for the next 5 years (AgCC, 2016).

This article documents insights and priorities from the workshop, and expands the synthesis of recent research findings through a more systematic review of the literature on agriculture and climate change in the Northwest U.S. The findings of the literature review summarize the state of the science on climate impacts and mitigation, vulnerabilities, and opportunities to adapt, and help articulate the knowledge gaps and challenges. The research and extension priorities proposed for the next 5 years are based on the outcomes of the workshop and target identified gaps, challenges, and opportunities. Priorities are discussed in four topic areas identified by conference organizers and participants: (1) cropping systems, (2) livestock systems, (3) decision support systems to help producers and others incorporate climate change considerations into longerterm decisions (e.g., land transactions, perennial crop plantings, irrigation system investments); and (4) efforts to foster effective partnerships and communication between researchers and stakeholders (AgCC, 2016). Effective, sustainable mitigation and adaptation solutions will require addressing these interrelated topic areas in coordination with one another.

While the priorities discussed here are specific to the tri-state region of Oregon, Washington, and Idaho, many of these recommendations are also relevant in other regions of

TABLE 1 | Major climate change and agriculture-related efforts in the Pacific Northwest from 2003 to 2016.

Project title	Description
Climate Friendly Farming Project (http://csanr.wsu.edu/program-areas/climate- friendly-farming/climate-friendly-farming-final-report/, Kruger et al., 2010)	Research and assessment of the potential for improved management and technology deployment to reduce agricultural greenhouse gas emissions in the Pacific Northwest
Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture (REACCH) (reacchpna.org)	Enhance sustainability of PNW cereal systems and contribute to climate change mitigation
BioEarth (http://bioearth.wsu.edu/, Adam et al., 2015)	Regional earth systems modeling to improve understanding of the interactions among carbon, nitrogen, and water at the regional scale, in the context of global change
OFoot (https://ofoot.wsu.edu/ and http://csanr.wsu.edu/organic-farming-footprints/)	Estimating carbon footprints for organic cropping systems
Site Specific Climate Friendly Farming Project (Brown et al., 2015)	Precision N use in dryland cropping systems
US Dairy Adoption of Anaerobic Digestion Systems Integrating Multiple Emerging Clean Technologies (http://csanr.wsu.edu/anaerobic-digestion-systems/)	Enhancing anaerobic digestion in dairy systems through advancement of add-on technologies
Animal Agriculture in a Changing Climate (national project with a western region) (http://articles.extension.org/pages/60702/animal-agriculture-and-climate-change)	Fosters animal production practices that are environmentally sound, economically viable, and that create resiliency for animal producers and their partners
Watershed Integrated Systems Dynamics Modeling (WISDM) (http://wisdm.wsu.edu/)	Improve understanding of interactions between water resources, water quality, climate change, and human behavior in agricultural and urban environments



the U.S. with similar environmental conditions—for example, other irrigated cropping regions of the Western U.S. In addition, universal challenges are explored related to the development of climate-related decision support systems and effective partnerships along the full research-extension-practice continuum. Nationally, there has been a rise in the number and influence of institutions focused on coordinating efforts to support agricultural sustainability and resilience, such as the U.S. Department of Interior's Landscape Conservation Cooperatives and the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Climate Hubs. This article contributes to the ongoing discussion about how best to integrate mitigation and adaptation research and extension priorities, and demonstrates of the relevance of supporting researcher-stakeholder partnerships across the country.

CROPPING SYSTEMS IN A CHANGING CLIMATE

Climate Impacts and Vulnerabilities

Climate change in the Pacific Northwest is projected to lead to warmer temperatures, especially in summer; more frostfree days; wetter winters, and more variability in temperature and precipitation (Mote et al., 2013; Abatzoglou et al., 2014). Projected effects of climate change on agriculture in the temperate climate of the Northwest U.S., tend to be less severe than impacts projected for subtropical and tropical regions of the world (Parry et al., 2005; Schlenker and Roberts, 2009). The region's relatively cool climate also means that projected warming may be less detrimental than in other regions for some crops, and potentially beneficial for others. Because historical interannual variability is high, many cropping systems also have a significant amount of climate resilience built in, insulating them from some impacts of climate change. Taken in combination, these effects may lead to some benefits for the Northwest, when markets are national, or even global. However, projected climate change effects depend on the specific agricultural sector, geographic location, global climate models, and greenhouse gas concentration pathways considered (Eigenbrode et al., 2013).

Existing literature provides insights into crop yield and water availability vulnerabilities in multiple regional crop production systems. Increasing atmospheric CO₂ levels are expected to contribute to CO2 fertilization and greater water use efficiency for dryland cereals, leading to stable or increased Northwest dryland wheat yields until mid-century (Tubiello et al., 2007; Hatfield et al., 2011; Karimi et al., 2017; Stöckle et al., 2017). By later in the century, projected further annual average warming of up to 3.3- $4.4^{\circ}C$ (6–8°F) in a high emission scenario may overwhelm the positive yield impacts of CO2 fertilization by accelerating wheat senescence, reducing grain-filling, and grain shriveling (Ferris et al., 1998; Ortiz et al., 2008; Stöckle et al., 2010; Cammarano et al., 2016). Some recent research also indicates that warmer, drier summers may lead to increased fallowing throughout this century for rainfed areas that are currently cropped on an annual basis (Kaur et al., 2017). This could reduce overall yields, accelerate erosion, and decrease carbon sequestration compared to current conditions, increasing sustainability challenges.

For irrigated crops, a range of crop-specific impacts on potential yields are projected, assuming the absence of water, nutrient, or other stressors. Impacts depend on the relative importance of positive carbon dioxide effects and generally negative warming effects for each specific crop (Rajagopalan, 2016). Pastures and grasses are an important exception because these crops take advantage of a longer available growing season and are benefited by carbon dioxide fertilization, and thus see relatively larger increases in potential yields (Rajagopalan, 2016). Warming generally affects annuals negatively, as the positive carbon dioxide fertilization effects are outweighed by negative effects from a shortened growth season. In terms of irrigation demands, warming may allow for earlier planting (once spring soil wetness is considered) and accelerated crop development rates, leading to greater early irrigation demand for some crops (Rajagopalan, 2016).

Meanwhile, in Washington, some watersheds are expected to have reduced summer water supply (Hall et al., 2016). In combination with changes in demand, this creates an increase in the likelihood of water shortages (Hall et al., 2016) and curtailment of water use (Vano et al., 2010; Rajagopalan, 2016), but with reduced crop yields still within historical ranges (Rajagopalan, 2016). Because drought severity and frequency are expected to increase, drought will remain a key vulnerability for irrigated crops. More work is needed to identify the specific management challenges likely to arise for Northwest agricultural systems.

Climate change may also contribute to crop quality issues, particularly important for the many speciality crops produced in the Northwest. Warming trends could lead to insufficient chilling for some fruit and nut crops to develop, leading to reduced crop quality and yields (Luedeling et al., 2011). There are also indications that warming leads to decreased quality for potatoes (Alva et al., 2002; Timlin et al., 2006) and some current Northwest grape varieties (Jones, 2007; Diffenbaugh et al., 2011) and warming combined with drought stress may be implicated in the presence of diseases in vegetable seed crops. At the same time, warming trends may allow some species and varieties of tree fruit, nuts and grape varietals that are cold sensitive to be grown successfully in the region (Jones, 2007; Diffenbaugh et al., 2011; Luedeling et al., 2011; Parker and Abatzoglou, 2016). We do not yet know enough about the specific types of climate change impacts on crop quality to evaluate the usefulness of particular practices for diverse crops.

The same trends in climate will also contribute to changing ranges and behavior of plant pests (weeds, insects, and diseases), as well as beneficials (e.g., pollinators). Existing evidence suggests that individual pests, and the various biotic factors that regulate them, will respond differently to a changing climate, with both positive and negative impacts. As with the impacts on crop quality, we do not yet know enough about the impacts on specific pests and on particular crops to inform pest management practices, or to make projections of combined overall effects (Eigenbrode et al., 2017; Kirby et al., 2017). In addition, climate change and increased global commerce increase the possibility of invasive species, which can drastically change pest management regionally, nationally, or internationally (Lee et al., 2011; Leskey et al., 2012). Climate change is also projected to lead to warmer spring temperatures that will accelerate the timing of flowering, which could lead to a mismatch between flowering and

availability of pollinators, thus impacting fruit setting (Houston et al., 2017).

Climate Mitigation Opportunities

Croplands emit and sequester multiple GHGs, including carbon dioxide (CO₂), nitrous oxide (N₂O), and small amounts of methane (CH₄). Soils across much of the region have lost carbon under cultivation. For example, dryland soils in the inland Northwest have lost an estimated 20-70% of their SOC since agricultural conversion (Puraskayastha et al., 2008; Brown and Huggins, 2012; Ghimire et al., 2015), a pattern seen elsewhere in the U.S. as well (Lal, 2004). The Columbia Basin is one important exception to this pattern, where irrigation and the associated increased plant productivity have contributed to higher total soil carbon under cultivation (Cochran et al., 2007). In both dryland and irrigated cropping systems, there is an opportunity for agricultural soils to sequester carbon by either reducing tillage or burning, or by increasing carbon inputs through crop residues, cover crops, or amendments (Paustian et al., 1997; Johnson et al., 2006).

Over the last 20 years, efforts to build SOC across much of the region have focused on encouraging the adoption of conservation tillage. These efforts have generated very important soil erosion reductions and soil health benefits (e.g., reduced bulk density, improved soil aggregation, water infiltration, and water holding capacity) over time, but experimental and modeling analyses suggest the potential climate mitigation impact is relatively modest (Brown and Huggins, 2012; Stöckle et al., 2012; Gollany et al., 2013; AgCC, 2016). Opportunities to store carbon are mostly from conversion to no-tillage in areas with greater precipitation, where productivity, and thus crop residue inputs, are higher. Stöckle et al. (2012) projected a change in SOC due to tillage of 0.26–0.49 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ over the first 30 years in the top 30 cm of soil from conversion to no-tillage in Pullman, Washington, an annual cropping area, with much smaller gains expected in drier and irrigated areas, or from conversion to reduced tillage.

In comparison, on a per-acre basis, the use of manures, biosolids, composts, and biochar may have greater potential for increasing SOC in the Northwest (Lazzeri et al., 2010; Cogger et al., 2013; AgCC, 2016), providing climate benefits as well as agronomic benefits. In a field experiment in eastern Washington State, biosolids application to a dryland grain-fallow system increased total soil carbon from 0.94 to 1.64% over 20 years (Cogger et al., 2013), while cover cropping in an irrigated system every other year raised soil organic matter from 0.6 to 1.2% over 13 years (Lazzeri et al., 2010). Biochar (a carbonrich solid formed by pyrolysis of biomass) has garnered interest for a potential role in mitigating climate change (Woolf et al., 2010), and applications in corn in eastern Washington State have increased SOC (e.g., Bera et al., 2016), and raised pH (Streubel et al., 2011; Awale et al., 2017), an intriguing possibility given issues with soil acidification in some areas of the Northwest. However, costs, logistics of application, and other barriers such as pathogen concerns are sizeable (Galinato et al., 2011; AgCC, 2016), impacting the use of such soil amendments.

In addition to the carbon-based emissions, cropland soils (including those associated with livestock and poultry feed production) emit N_2O as a byproduct of the transformation of nitrogen carried out by soil microbes (Wrage et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2013). Nitrous oxide emissions represent a significant challenge in the Northwest and elsewhere, as nitrogen is added to most cropland soils in fertilizers or manures, and negligible losses from an agronomic perspective can have a substantial impact from a GHG perspective (Post et al., 2012; Stöckle et al., 2012; Venterea et al., 2012). Because warmer, wetter soils are associated with high levels of N_2O emissions, there is a concern that emissions from agricultural soils may increase in the future (Venterea et al., 2012).

Despite ongoing advances (e.g., Waldo, 2016), measurement of N_2O emissions remains a methodological and scientific challenge (Henault et al., 2012; Venterea et al., 2012; Nicolini et al., 2013). Some existing experimental and modeling studies in eastern Washington State and southwest Montana have found N_2O emissions, as a percentage of nitrogen applied, that are lower than the current Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) benchmark of 1% (0.1–0.9%; Cochran et al., 1981; Dusenbury et al., 2008; Haile-Mariam et al., 2008; Engel et al., 2010). However, other inland Northwest studies suggest emissions are more in line with, or even notably above, the IPCC benchmark (1.1–4.4%; Halvorson, 2010; Stöckle et al., 2012; Waldo, 2016).

Even with these methodological challenges, wider use of variable rate nitrogen application and of stabilized nitrogen fertilizers would likely reduce losses of reactive nitrogen, as existing research from other regions suggests that both can reduce N₂O emissions, including in semi-arid irrigated systems (Shoji et al., 2001; Sehy et al., 2003; Akiyama et al., 2010; Halvorson et al., 2011; Venterea et al., 2012). Both these practices aim to better match available nitrogen with crop needs, allowing for reductions in N-fertilizer inputs without negative impacts on crop yields. However, both practices tend to incur higher costs than traditional methods of nitrogen fertilization. Their broad-scale adoption, therefore, is dependent on the benefits to farmers outweighing increased costs.

Continuing improvements in process-based models (Stockle et al., 1994, 2003; Adam et al., 2015; Malek et al., 2016) and experimental work (Haile-Mariam et al., 2008; Brown and Huggins, 2012; Chi et al., 2016; Waldo et al., 2016) provide important insights and the capability to produce regionally-relevant estimates of mitigation potential of agricultural GHG reduction strategies. However, published estimates of the GHG reduction potential of the region are still incomplete due to the heterogeneity of the region's agroecosystems. For instance, there is very limited knowledge of the GHG impacts of the region's tree fruit, small fruit, and nursery, production systems; three cropping systems of significant geographic scale and economic impact.

Priorities for Adaptation and Mitigation in Cropland Agriculture

Based on the research and extension gaps that were identified during discussions at the Agriculture in a Changing Climate Workshop, the following priorities were identified for cropland agriculture in the Northwest U.S. over the next 5 years. These priorities are supported by a review of the current literature on remaining challenges and opportunities for climate change mitigation and adaptation in cropland agriculture. Each priority that emerged from the workshop is followed by a brief description of the supporting rationale and literature.

Cropping Priority A. Quantify vulnerabilities associated with the timing, amount, and inter-annual variability in water supply to support water-management decisions at multiple spatial and time scales.

Climate change is projected to lead to reduced snowpack and changes in timing of water availability, and is also expected to increase drought frequency, increasing water-related vulnerabilities. While changes in temperatures could also lead to new opportunities for individual farmers who have secure (senior) water rights, farmers' and water managers' water use decisions will affect junior water-right holders in the context of increased scarcity (Dang et al., 2016; Konar et al., 2016). In the Columbia River Basin, water use for pastures and hay has a large impact on aggregate water use and thus on shaping patterns of, and responses to, shortages (Rajagopalan, 2016). Development of adaptation strategies that can be used by individuals or irrigation districts is likely to be important. Such strategies may include improved irrigation efficiency, managed aquifer recharge and storage, micro-storage of irrigation water, use of reclaimed wastewater, and structures that facilitate water transfers to highest value uses during times of shortages. The effectiveness of different approaches may depend on the magnitude and timing of water supply vulnerabilities. As their implementation will require multiple years in some cases, quantifying potential water deficiencies and savings is an urgent need. Research and extension can also support development or improvement of tools that provide specific data and information for waterrelated decision-making, helping to promote more cost-efficient allocation of water (Dang et al., 2016).

Adaptations to climate change may also affect water demand through shifts in the crops and varieties grown, or through cover cropping or double cropping that takes advantage of lengthened growing seasons (Hall et al., 2016; Parker and Abatzoglou, 2016; Rajagopalan, 2016). Improved understanding of the effect these strategies have on water-related climate vulnerabilities will be important for the long-term profitability of irrigated crops generally the higher-value products—in the region.

Cropping Priority B. Quantify expected climate change impacts on crop quality and crop pests (weeds, diseases, and insects), and evaluate strategies to address them, to support efforts to maintain quality of production.

To date, agricultural climate impact assessment research in the region has primarily focused on yield (quantity) effects. Workshop participants recognized a need to complement this with more information regarding the implications of climate change for crop quality (AgCC, 2016). Climaterelated thresholds (e.g., consecutive days above important heat thresholds, accumulated chilling degree days, first and last frost dates) affect crop quality, either through direct impacts on the crop itself, or indirectly through influence on pests. These crop quality impacts should be investigated. A need exists to assess climate change effects on pest pressure and to test control strategies for diverse locations throughout the Northwest. This will be challenging because species-specific pest and disease responses must be assessed for each crop of interest (AgCC, 2016). This need is particularly pressing for specialty crops, where crop protection costs are high and thresholds for effects are low.

Cropping Priority C. Establish credible estimates of carbon and nitrogen fluxes for Northwest agricultural systems to support innovation in and adoption of GHG reduction strategies.

Understanding current carbon and nitrogen fluxes and their variability can support GHG emissions reductions strategies. For example, in the Northwest, an extension of an analysis by Brown (2015) indicates that quantifying N₂O emissions is important to determining whether or not mitigation efforts could be accelerated through incentive mechanisms. The monetary incentive provided through existing GHG offset protocols is likely to not be large enough to induce changes in management if the lower end of the range of experimental emissions rates is used. However, if higher experimental measurements are used the incentive increases (e.g., 0.42-0.96 per hectare at an emissions factor of 0.2% vs. 2.50-5.89 per hectare at 2.9%, at a price of 550 per Mg CO₂ equivalent), especially when viewed in combination with the savings from reduced fertilizer expenses (Brown et al., this issue).

Cropping Priority D. Develop technical or other approaches to overcome existing barriers to increasing organic inputs in cropping systems, to support adoption of practices with substantial potential to increase carbon sequestration across the region.

Organic inputs to cropping systems can be increased through a variety of strategies, including increasing residues through choice of crop or variety, use of organic amendments, and integration of grazing livestock into cropping systems. Better understanding of the barriers that limit the use of organic soil amendments in different locations and types of cropping systems in the Northwest, and development of strategies to overcome these barriers (e.g., engineering biochar to add value through nutrients) could lead to more widespread use, increasing soil carbon sequestration and providing additional soil health benefits, even in the absence of a carbon market. Meanwhile, while integration of cropping and grazing systems is currently limited in the Northwest, an increasing number of innovative producers are grazing cover crops in both irrigated and dryland systems (Yorgey et al., 2017a,b).

Efforts to quantify the benefits provided by amendments through improved SOC (e.g., in the form of improved water holding capacity) could address these adoption barriers by providing motivation to farmers to invest in SOC-building strategies, especially in light of the recent emphasis on soil health by NRCS and other public and private agricultural advisors (AgCC, 2016). Understanding whether and under what conditions amendments may increase N₂O emissions is also a need as existing data have shown that this may sometimes occur (Collins et al., 2011; AgCC, 2016).

Cropping Priority E. Quantify under what conditions variable rate application and stabilized nitrogen fertilizers are most likely to decrease overall nitrogen use, and where that reduction is enough to offset increased costs, to support adoption of effective nitrogen management practices.

Variable rate nitrogen application and the use of stabilized nitrogen fertilizers were identified as priorities because of the likelihood that in some cases they can also provide shortterm financial benefits to farmers, thus representing a win-win strategy. Variable rate nitrogen application, which aims to match fertilizer application to crop nitrogen needs as they vary within fields, has had variable impacts on overall nitrogen use. Based on experimental data (Mulla et al., 1992; Fiez et al., 1994; Huggins, 2010; Taylor, 2016) researchers have suggested that reductions of 10–35 kg ha⁻¹ are achievable in low yielding areas of some but not all dryland cropping systems depending on the type of wheat grown, with low yielding areas varying, but in some cases representing 30% of field area (Brown et al., this issue). In addition to further research, extension efforts are also needed to support management of these technologies and assist farmers in evaluating performance (AgCC, 2016).

Enhanced efficiency nitrogen fertilizers reduce nutrient losses and better match availability with plant needs either by slowing release or by including additives that affect soil enzymatic or microbial processes. Price premiums (in the range of 10– 40% in the late 2000s, Olson-Rutz et al., 2011) have been an important barrier to use of advanced fertilizer formulations in the Northwest and elsewhere. Prices had dropped significantly by early 2016, due to expiring patents and other factors, a change that makes these technologies more likely to be economically beneficial to producers (AgCC, 2016). Anecdotal evidence suggests that there is a need for decision-support to help farmers use them effectively (AgCC, 2016).

LIVESTOCK SYSTEMS IN A CHANGING CLIMATE

Climate Impacts and Vulnerabilities

While there have not been as many regional analyses of likely climate change-related impacts on livestock as for crops, existing studies suggest that higher temperatures projected for the twentyfirst century are likely to cause heat stress for livestock, which will affect reproductive health, milk production, and can cause mortality (Key et al., 2014; Mauger et al., 2015). However, climate change impacts in the Northwest may be less detrimental than other regions of the country. Thus there are reasons to expect that the region may produce an increasing proportion of the nation's dairy and beef products in the future. For example, an economic analysis of the effects of climate change on milk production estimated that Washington State would experience a 0.4% loss in milk production from climate change by the end of the century, compared to Florida's projected 25% loss (Mauger et al., 2015). There may be opportunities to expand use of many heat stress reduction practices that are already implemented in the Northwest U.S. and other regions (e.g., Pressman, 2010; Brush et al., 2011; Key et al., 2014).

Historically, livestock production in the Northwest has benefited from a diversity of alternative forage resources, and from fewer and less severe droughts than other rangeland regions in the United States. However, it is important to recognize that drought risks may change in the future (Luce et al., 2016). Rangelands are particularly vulnerable to climate change because of their large land extent, sensitive ecology, inaccessibility to mechanical equipment, and relative low economic value. Climate change affects forage growth cycles and is likely to make spring grass available for grazing earlier in the season and ending earlier. Recent analysis suggests that Washington, Oregon, and Idaho are all likely to exhibit higher levels of rangelands vulnerability by 2060 (and beyond), among the higher for rangeland areas of the United States (Reeves et al., 2017). In addition, increased variability is expected to add significant challenges to implementing responsive grazing management plans and adapting effectively (Neibergs et al., 2017). Such planning could be important because, though strategies exist for coping with expected impacts and taking advantage of potential opportunities, their relative effectiveness in Northwest livestock systems will likely be system specific.

Mitigation Opportunities

In 2014, enteric fermentation in domestic livestock accounted for 22.5% of total U.S. CH_4 emissions, while manure management accounted for 8.4% of CH_4 emissions and 4.4% of N_2O emissions (EPA, 2014). Global research suggests that production system characteristics may affect GHG emissions (Eckard et al., 2010; Cottle et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2014), but the potential for such reductions in the Northwest remain uncertain.

Regular collection of manure prevents the significant GHG emissions that can result from anaerobic conditions developing within piles in the barn or feedlot pad (Sommer et al., 2007, 2013). However, only limited research has sought to quantify such GHG emissions in the Northwest (e.g., Brown et al., 2008). A review by Brown et al. (2008) suggested that improving manure management technology through improved composting, lagooning (manure storage in lagoons), and anaerobic digestion has significant potential to reduce livestock emissions. Composting can reduce GHG emissions, odors, and other air quality issues (Pattey et al., 2005). Liquid storage with a covered or aerated lagoon can have similar reductions in GHGs (Westerman and Zhang, 1997; VanderZaag et al., 2008). Application of manure to fields that is timed to coincide with crop or grass growth under mild temperatures and with minimum precipitation reduces GHG emissions and other air and water quality impacts (Ribaudo et al., 2003; Webb et al., 2010). Livestock producers adopting these and other mitigation practices to reduce emissions face challenges associated with determining which strategies are most effective for their unique system and are most likely to lead to net economic benefits over the long term.

Anaerobic digestion of livestock manure reduces GHG emissions and generates renewable energy by capturing CH₄ and CO₂ (Clemens et al., 2006; Holm-Nielsen et al., 2009; Mitchell et al., 2015). Recovery of nutrients from the resulting effluent further reduces the potential for nitrogen release as N₂O when applying the liquid to fields (Zeng and Li, 2006; Greaves et al., 2010), as well as for nitrogen (and

other nutrients) to be released into water bodies. However, adoption of anaerobic digestion technologies has been slow across the U.S., despite their benefits. Contributing factors include unfavorable economics in light of current energy prices, ongoing regulatory uncertainty, and the fact that anaerobic digestion technology alone does not successfully alleviate nutrient-related concerns which are a higher priority for most dairies.

Follett et al. (2001) estimated that as much as 110 million metric tons of carbon could be sequestered per year on designated grazing land in the United States. Although, inland Northwest rangelands are generally arid, with low productivity, and susceptible to disturbance (and associated carbon loss) particularly as the climate changes (DiTomaso, 2000; Bradley et al., 2006; Neibergs et al., 2017), small changes to improve grazing management across millions of acres have the potential to increase or decrease total stored carbon in the region (Follett et al., 2001; Schuman et al., 2002; Booker et al., 2013; AgCC, 2016; Teague et al., 2016). In addition, applications of soil amendments (as discussed earlier in cropping systems) could increase carbon storage (Brown and Kurtz, 2010; Ryals and Silver, 2013), though questions remain about the economic feasibility of using soil amendments to increase SOC on Northwest rangelands. Experimental research on carbon sequestration in rangelands has been limited in the region (Briske et al., 2008), and the potential that such changes have to impact carbon sequestration in Northwest rangelands has yet to be quantified.

Priorities for Mitigation and Adaptation in Livestock Systems

Livestock Priority A. Share information on flexible drought management planning and on the effectiveness and cost of shortand long-term strategies for coping with heat and water stress to support adaptation.

Adapting livestock production to future climatic conditions will likely result from a combination of changes in planning (long-term) and changes in specific practices (both shortand long-term). Drought management plans may become increasingly important. This may entail a planned grazing process with high-density, short-duration grazing. This approach would allow for additional forage production during dry periods and would help producers to decide earlier whether they will need to sell animals if feed supply is insufficient (Kachergis et al., 2014). Selecting drought-tolerant feed species may also be an important adaptation strategy to reduce the impact of drought.

Short term adaptation strategies for heat stress include carefully monitoring ventilation systems, monitoring animal behavior for signs of heat stress, improving protocols for feeding animals in extreme weather, and adding more watering locations, shade structures, or other heat abatement systems (Pressman, 2010; Brush et al., 2011; Key et al., 2014). Many of these short-term adaptation strategies mentioned are already implemented on farms. Some producers are also making longterm investments in animal genetics, selecting breeds that respond relatively well to the dry and hot conditions, which are projected by climate models to occur more frequently (Place and Mitloehner, 2010).

Livestock Priority B. Increase adoption of strategies that build soil health and maintain ecosystem resilience to support adaptation of rangelands and other livestock systems to a changing climate.

Improved soil health across rangeland regions is critical to successful adaptation, and would also provide a mitigation benefit, even in the absence of incentive mechanisms. Current research suggests that much of the rangeland forage use in the Northwest is sub-optimal because of fixed turn-out and grazing end dates required by state and federal leases, leading to an inability to change grazing prescriptions in response to dynamic rangeland conditions (Neibergs et al., 2017). Thus, there is an opportunity to improve carbon storage and ecosystem function through improved technology-assisted matching of grazing to available forage resources (AgCC, 2016). Better matching of grazing management to forage resources in a dynamic planned grazing system could reduce the degradation of forage resources-associated with increased disturbance and carbon loss-increase productivity, and sequester carbon. The development and implementation of such strategies is critical given expected increases in rangeland vulnerability in the future.

The development of additional economically feasible models for integrated cropping and grazing systems provide another opportunity to support soil health in the region, with combined benefits for adaptation and mitigation. In integrated systems, ruminants increase SOC, biodiversity, and soil quality, which improves soil resilience during extreme wet and dry periods (Teague et al., 2016). In the areas of Washington and Oregon west of the Cascade mountains, growing cover crops for feed in rotation with annual crops such as corn silage (currently done on less than half of the acres in western Washington State), may significantly boost both local feed production and carbon sequestration (Olson et al., 2014; Poeplau and Don, 2015). Research to better understand barriers to integrating cropping and livestock systems in the Northwest, and collaborative efforts to develop practical integrated systems that overcome those barriers, would be beneficial (AgCC, 2016).

Livestock Priority C. Quantify GHG emissions associated with specific types of livestock operations, and evaluate animal production system characteristics that lead to reduced emissions in the Northwest, to facilitate their adoption.

Some of the most effective strategies for reducing the GHG emissions of livestock agriculture involve changes to the characteristics of animal production systems. Current research efforts are investigating choice of species and species mixing, and genetically-determined feed conversion and animal fertility rates (Eckard et al., 2010; Cottle et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2014) but there is a need to evaluate which of these strategies may be most relevant and feasible for the Northwest U.S. There is also potential for productivity improvements based on diet by switching to feed crops grown with minimal agricultural inputs (and therefore a smaller carbon footprint) and harvested in a manner that supports soil carbon storage (Beauchemin et al., 2009; Martin et al., 2010; Grainger and Beauchemin, 2011). Such strategies are likely to provide cost reductions for producers and facilitate adoption, even in the absence of carbon incentives.

Livestock Priority D. Update and share regional recommendations and decision support tools that support the appropriate use of existing technologies to plan and manage manure nutrients, reduce GHG emissions, and limit nutrient losses to soil, water, and air.

Limiting nutrient release from livestock systems, and the resulting negative soil, water and air quality impacts is a priority in several local areas of the Northwest with high concentrations of livestock (Mitchell et al., 2005; Baldwin et al., 2006; Leytem and Bjorneberg, 2009; USEPA, 2012). A robust manure nutrient management plan is an essential first step to reducing nutrient releases, and simultaneously reducing GHG emissions (Steed and Hashimoto, 1994; Van Horn et al., 1994; Rico et al., 2007; AgCC, 2016). In addition, manure management for intensive livestock systems will need to adapt to climate change in several ways. Adaptations to projected changes in timing, intensity, and frequency of rainfall events include increasing manure storage capacity and adjusting the timing of manure application (AgCC, 2016). Application setback distances may also play a role, though understanding is currently poor (e.g., Giddings, 1993). Timing of manure or fertilizer application may need to be adjusted to accommodate changes in timing of crop growth resulting from climate change. This points to a need for flexible regulation of the timing of manure application. Producers also require upto-date recommendations about agronomic rates, potential risks and advantages of building new manure or water storage vessels, and redesigning outdoor pens to handle wetter early spring conditions.

Livestock Priority E. Develop cost reduction strategies and added value products that improve the economics for anaerobic digestion and manure nutrient recovery systems to support their adoption.

Continued research efforts are needed to improve the economic viability of anaerobic digestion systems by reducing costs and developing added-value products (Nasir et al., 2012; Mitchell et al., 2015; AgCC, 2016). Further development of emerging add-on technologies may also increase adoption rates by addressing producers' high priority concerns, such as nutrient recovery technologies that reduce impacts of high nutrient loads on water, air and other resources (Chen et al., 2005; Yorgey et al., 2014). Research should assess economic and non-economic benefits and challenges of these technologies at different scales across the Northwest. Improved, un-biased extension information about emerging technologies will also support industry and producer decision-making as external pressures change over time (AgCC, 2016).

DECISION SUPPORT SYSTEMS

Existing Use of Decision Support Systems and Their Potential

Agricultural decision-makers need targeted cropping and livestock system information that is easily integrated at the appropriate time and location to be useful. Decision support systems (DSS) are becoming a vehicle of choice to provide information in complex situations (Magarey et al., 2002; Samietz et al., 2007; Jones et al., 2010). Many existing agricultural decision support systems are aimed at dealing with time-sensitive information—such as forecasting when pests and diseases require various management interventions to prevent crop loss—and are often paired with short-range weather forecasts to enable users to respond. Data visualization tools can complement these DSS, allowing users to peruse weather and climate information, and in some cases also include derivative variables of particular importance to agriculture (e.g., growing degree days, chilling hours).

With this ongoing attention to DSS, there has been interest in using decision support systems to help producers adapt to climate change (**Table 2**). For the purpose of this paper, we refer to such DSS as climate change-related DSS. Climate change-related DSS need to incorporate insights learned from other types of DSS in order to be successful. For example, investing in validation of DSS outputs through testing model projections against empirical data is critical to ensuring credibility of results. This is important because producers have a long memory, and lack of validation and subsequent model failure would set back adoption of the system dramatically (AgCC, 2016).

Like non-climate related DSS, climate change-related DSS requires a collaborative and interdisciplinary approach to account for the complexity of solutions and to provide a suite of options. Non-climate related DSS are often developed for a relatively narrow purpose; for example, forecasting some part of the life history of an insect important for management, or predicting an epizootic for a particular plant disease. The users of these DSS are generally trying to deal with a complex set of problems that may occur at similar or different times of the year. Therefore, from the user perspective, it is important for the models included in the DSS to interact in some fashion. Experience has shown that for a DSS to be deemed usable and adopted by decision-makers, it must incorporate a significant number of models so that users come to the DSS over a significant fraction of the growing season (Jones et al., 2010). This sort of DSS essentially opens a new communication channel that allows a more efficient transfer of general (e.g., pest management guidance) as well as specific (model-based) information.

Development of climate change-related DSS has some distinct challenges. While many non-climate related DSS use information from weather forecasts, most ignore the inherent uncertainty and focus on a single result (e.g., forecasted high for tomorrow of 72°F). By contrast, seasonal climate forecasts (e.g., outlooks for the next several months) often involve a range of possible outcomes and uncertainty that a user of the climate changerelated DSS may incorporate into their decision-making process. Likewise, longer-term climate change projections involve a large amount of data that should not be distilled into a single result, but instead should be viewed probabilistically, with uncertainties relating to climate change projections clearly communicated to the user (Wright-Morton et al., 2017). The construction of these tools is made more complex due to the greater diversity of potential clientele, ranging from agricultural producers to government agency users and researchers, as well as the varied time-scales of user interest.

Ongoing maintenance is essential to the long-term success of any DSS, including climate change-related DSS. This challenge requires creative and intentional planning to be successful. Funding agencies are generally eager to fund tool development, but much less willing to fund the maintenance of a tool or system. Existing successful DSS in the Northwest such as WSU-DAS or AIRPACT (Air-quality forecasting for the Pacific Northwest, lar.wsu.edu/airpact) have generally relied on multiple funding sources for ongoing programming and maintenance, including institutional support (e.g., from the hosting university or agency users), user fees, and support of the existing system made possible through ongoing expansion (AgCC, 2016). Other approaches that have been taken include voluntary support from users (so far unsuccessful to our knowledge), and selling advertising space (so far unsuccessful, but with potential). Partnerships with industry may also be relevant for accessing data and ensuring financial

Tool Description COMET-Farm (http://cometfarm.nrel.colostate.edu/) and COMET-Planner A carbon and GHG accounting system for whole farms and ranches in the US. Planner (http://www.comet-planner.com/) enables users to evaluate potential carbon sequestration and greenhouse gas reductions from adopting NRCS conservation practices AgBiz Climate and suite of AgBizLogic tools (http://www.agbizlogic.com) Economic, financial, and environmental decision tools for businesses that grow, harvest, package, add value, and sell agricultural products WSU-Decision Aid System (DAS) for tree fruits Integrates horticultural, insect and disease models to provide current management recommendations to Washington State tree fruit growers (http://www.decisionaid.systems) Synthesizes agriculturally relevant recent and projected climate information, allows Northwest Climate Toolbox (https://climatetoolbox.org/) users to query specific locations, climate scenarios, models and time horizons Cattle heat stress alert and forecast (https://www.ars.usda.gov/plains-area/ Uses National Weather Service 7-day forecast information to forecast animal heat stress clav-center-ne/marc/docs/heat-stress/cattle-heat-stress-forecast/) Dairy CropSyst A whole farm emissions and nutrient fate modeling tool that can support dairy decision (http://modeling.bsyse.wsu.edu/rnelson/Dairy-CropSyst/index.html) making, with a focus on manure management A calculator for estimating the carbon footprint of organic farms OFoot (https://ofoot.wsu.edu/)

TABLE 2 Examples of existing and developing DSS relevant to the Northwest that include a climate or climate change aspect or have potential to include these aspects.

Some are developed specifically for the Northwest, while others are national in scope. The USDA Northwest Climate Hub (https://www.climatehubs.oce.usda.gov/northwest), provides links to many of these tools, and will be updated over time.

10
sustainability, though issues related to proprietary information and transparency of data collection and use need to be addressed. Diversifying and customizing the DSS to a range of end-users may be an important strategy, as it opens up the potential for multiple complimentary revenue streams.

Depending on their purposes, specific tools within a DSS may require weather or climate data at various spatial and temporal resolutions. Existing climate and non-climate related DSS cope with a variety of challenges related to use of individual datasets (including data quality, spatial and temporal coverage, resolution, and data biases). Implementing quality control procedures and managing these challenges is a key ongoing cost of managing DSS over time. Even with recent improvements, there are challenges in maintaining seamless flow of real-time data and forecasts, and some level of continual maintenance is required.

For this and other reasons, collaboration and centralized infrastructure may also be a key strategy for keeping development and maintenance costs low over time. Expansion to new geographic areas or commodities would be most cost-effective if it takes advantage of a wide variety of existing infrastructure, including environmental/forecasting subsystems, routines for setting up user profiles, data display and manipulation, access to management recommendations, and ancillary databases for miscellaneous purposes. Successful collaboration and maintenance lowers programming costs, allowing for more efficient focus on development of specific models that provide the decision-support outputs.

Priorities for Decision Support Systems to Inform Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation

As described above, lessons learned in developing and using traditional decision support systems must be incorporated into the development of climate change-related DSS to be successful. The priorities for such development described below arose from discussions of those lessons in the literature and during the Agriculture in a Changing Climate Workshop.

DSS Priority A. Integrate climate change-related DSS with existing DSS tools and integrate financial planning components, so producers can evaluate the economics of potential management actions and investments.

A holistic approach is vitally important when developing climate change-related DSS. Developers of climate changerelated decision support systems should consider incorporating multiple models to improve the tool's ability to walk producers through a variety of factors that may be affected by climate change (e.g., crop phenology, insect maturation, disease risk). Developers of climate change-related DSS should consider collaborating with providers of traditional DSS that producers already know and use. There is value in providing users with climate change-related information at online locations where they already go for decision support, such as pest management DSS (McNie, 2012; Kirchhoff et al., 2013). Integrating climate change-related DSS with other agricultural DSS creates opportunities to engage users who may not seek out climate change-related tools on their own, or who are skeptical about climate change (Feldman and Ingram, 2009; Akerlof et al., 2012). Integrated tools enable producers to consider climate as one of many risks that they need to plan for and manage (Howden et al., 2007; McNie, 2012; Kirchhoff et al., 2013).

The utility of climate change-related DSS would be enhanced by including models that evaluate the economics of different management strategies in addition to modeling agronomic impacts. Climate change-related DSS could thereby help producers incorporate climate change considerations into investment decisions, such as perennial crop plantings, equipment purchases, land purchases, and long-term leases (Allen et al., 2017; Capalbo et al., 2017; Kanter et al., in press), by helping them analyze costs, outcomes, and tradeoffs of alternative decisions. It is important that producers have access to climate-related DSS that allow them to make more efficient use of capital as well as inputs, as in many cases investment decisions have longer-term outcomes, and thus incorporating climate considerations is likely to improve readiness for future changes.

DSS Priority B. Develop multi-scale climate change-related decision support systems that focus on aggregate-scale as well as individual (farm-scale) decision-making, to help decision-makers at broader scales incorporate climate change.

Many of the available agricultural DSS are focused on individual producer-level decisions. These systems generally need data that have the highest spatial resolution and relatively short forecast duration (e.g., 2–4 weeks) to help make decisions regarding different management options. However, decisions are also made at larger scales, including irrigation district, watershed, or other political boundaries. Decisions made at each scale are conditional on those made at other scales and affect each other through feedbacks.

There are considerably fewer users at the aggregate scales, primarily regulators, or policy makers. However, the effects of poor decisions by this group can be extensive, and may result in serious economic impacts to individual producers or managers. There will also likely be higher development and support costs per user for aggregate-scale DSS, both because of fewer users, and because of the higher complexity of aggregate models. Yet these users tend to have access to more significant financial resources. Targeting these aggregate-scale decision-makers as users of climate-related DSS could lead to broader incorporation of climate change considerations in larger scale planning activities. Multi-scale tools may also help the aggregate-scale decisionmakers visualize and evaluate the farm-scale impacts of their broader scale decisions (and vice versa).

DSS Priority C. Develop a centralized, quality-controlled source of input weather and climate data at multiple temporal scales so DSS developers can focus on the decision support aspect to directly inform adaptation decisions.

The majority of currently available climate projections are aggregated to a time-scale that has limited utility for supporting farm management decisions (Lemos et al., 2012; Weaver et al., 2013; Newsom et al., 2016). Many climate change projections are focused on a 20–30 year time-scale that are useful for policy and infrastructural investment purposes, but not for most farm management and investment decisions, which typically require shorter (2–10 year, or even seasonal) forecasts (Allen et al., 2017). In addition, climate change projections often focus on changes in average conditions, rather than extremes (e.g., heat waves, drought) that tend to more directly impact agricultural production (Lemos et al., 2012; Kirchhoff et al., 2013; Weaver et al., 2013). If ongoing scientific advances enable reliable seasonal forecasts and decadal climate prediction, as well as projections of changes in the frequency and intensity of extreme events, then their incorporation into climate-related DSS would likely make them more valuable to producers for farm-level planning and management (AgCC, 2016), especially if climate change makes it more difficult for producers to rely on experience to inform their expectations.

The development of climate change-related DSS would be greatly accelerated and considerably cheaper if there were a centralized source of quality-controlled weather data and climate forecasts. A central repository would also improve DSS quality by improving access to independent datasets for filling in missing data and for validation efforts. To illustrate the potential cost savings, it is estimated that 70% of the effort required to expand the Washington State University-Decision Aid System (WSU-DAS) for tree fruits from Washington State to British Columbia will be the development of the environmental monitoring/forecast system, with only 30% of effort for adapting the DSS to the management differences (AgCC, 2016). Achieving consistency and integration between one or more weather and climate datasets that are of interest within a climate changerelated DSS can add to these challenges, as datasets will likely combine historical observations and multiple climate change projections.

Data should be available with a simple interface that would allow users to quickly access the desired climatic parameters for a particular location and time period (both historical and forecast), as well as automated collection of the data by webbased DSS. Users (DSS developers) should also be provided with explanations that would help them understand the limitations of the data and assumptions. For example, in climate projection data sets, changes in temperature are typically more pronounced than changes in precipitation, which needs to be considered when DSS developers are using the data as inputs to run biological models, or for deriving other variables.

PARTNERSHIPS AND COMMUNICATION AMONG RESEARCHERS AND DECISION-MAKERS

Existing Partnerships and Their Value

Recent decades have seen rapidly expanding efforts to conduct research that directly informs policies and the decisions made by agricultural producers, yet significant barriers remain in the pursuit of usable science focused on climate change and agriculture (Lemos et al., 2012; Kirchhoff et al., 2013; Wibeck, 2014). Active partnerships already exist in the Northwest U.S. among individuals working at many points along the researchextension-practice continuum on specific topics, in particular geographies, or on specific crops or production systems (AgCC,

2016). There is a need for the research and extension community to continue developing strategies for effective collaboration and communication with stakeholders, who have diverse needs and expertise (Moser and Ekstrom, 2010; Akerlof et al., 2012; Wibeck, 2014; AgCC, 2016). Existing literature suggests effective mechanisms for researchers to engage with agricultural decisionmakers, and for building the necessary extension capacityincluding that of conservation district staff, private-sector technical service providers, and others-to deliver actionable climate change information (McNie, 2012; Kirchhoff et al., 2013; Wibeck, 2014; Prokopy et al., 2015a; Roesch-McNally et al., 2017). In order to produce relevant tools and research, scientists need to be well-versed in the concerns and challenges that regional producers are facing and how those producers make decisions (McNie, 2012; Kirchhoff et al., 2013; Weaver et al., 2013; Allen et al., 2017).

Agricultural producers already manage multiple riskseconomic, production-based, environmental, weather-however, managing for climate change-related risks is uniquely challenging because impacts are uncertain, variable over space and time, and often perceived as being only of concern in the distant future (Moser and Ekstrom, 2010; Leiserowitz et al., 2011; Akerlof et al., 2012). In some cases, discussions of climate change with agricultural producers has been complicated both by the politicized nature of the discussion (McCright and Dunlap, 2011), and because decision-makers may discount climate science as political rhetoric (Leiserowitz et al., 2011). These complications pose added obstacles for moving toward proactive, purposeful responses to long-term climate change risks, balancing the trade-offs and finding approaches for which the benefits outweigh the costs, for both individual producers and society.

Fortunately, there are increasing opportunities in the Northwest for effective collaboration among climate and agriculture researchers, agricultural professionals, producers, and other decision-makers who can use research results and decision support systems to inform their decisions. Northwest agricultural professionals recognize the effects of climate change as a priority research area (Zimmerman et al., 2014; AgCC, 2016). Interest in the results of agriculture and climate change research may also be growing in response to unprecedented regional climate patterns from 2014 through 2016 (AgCC, 2016). Workshop participants from different backgrounds-including researchers, agricultural professionals, industry representatives, and producers-voiced a sense of readiness in the Northwest to communicate openly to address climate change impacts through science, management, and policy channels (AgCC, 2016). There is also clear interest among scientists, producers and policy makers in working collaboratively across institutions to develop new technologies to monitor and manage agricultural systems (AgCC, 2016). Regional priorities for research and extension partnerships and communication in the Northwest U.S. are consistent with a nationwide trend to increasingly value and emphasize knowledge co-production and actionable climate science for natural resource decision-makers (Sarewitz and Pielke, 2007; McNie, 2012; Kirchhoff et al., 2013; Weaver et al., 2013).

Priorities for Partnerships and Communication Among Researchers and Decision-Makers

Specific recommendations for fostering the necessary collaboration and co-production of agriculture and climate change research in the Northwest U.S. emerged from discussions at the Agriculture in a Changing Climate Workshop, and are articulated in the following priorities.

Partnerships Priority A. Continue to build a robust network of diverse agriculture professionals and researchers that collaboratively identify research priorities and managementrelevant questions, and integrate results into useful decision support systems.

The state of knowledge about climate change impacts and mitigation is rapidly evolving, and new concerns and information needs continue to emerge among agricultural decision-makers. In addition, producers' trusted sources of information are rapidly diversifying, including family, friends, neighbors, crop consultants, and input suppliers (Haigh et al., 2015; Prokopy et al., 2015a; Wright-Morton et al., 2016), as well as a growing use of web-based resources. Ongoing collaborations among researchers and stakeholders are therefore essential in order to (a) conduct relevant research and to develop effective climate change-related decision support systems, and (b) to make them available to users through the right channels, and (c) with appropriate training and support to facilitate their effective use. A clearinghouse for agriculture and climate change research, tools, and news would meet the need for such ongoing collaboration. The growing Agriculture Climate Network and its cornerstone website (www.agclimate.net) that shares and discusses agriculture and climate change research topics and resources in the Northwest U.S. represents one effort to foster such a robust network. This network is supported by organizations and programs that also provide additional climate science and tools, such as the Northwest Climate Hub (https://www.climatehubs.oce.usda.gov/northwest) and the Pacific Northwest Climate Impacts Research Consortium (http:// pnwcirc.org/circ).

Partnerships Priority B. Partner along the research-extensionpractice continuum to demonstrate the overall economic and environmental costs and benefits of climate change adaptation and mitigation strategies, to accurately inform individual adoption decisions.

Agricultural systems are complex, and producers are generally experienced in integrating many different considerations into a single decision (Mase and Prokopy, 2014). Often, a focus on short-term improvements and regulatory actions can have unintended negative impacts on other parts of the production system or the environment. Quantifying a holistic array of environmental and economic costs and benefits (which requires better incorporation of economic and social sciences) is one important strategy for improving research at the intersection of management and decision-making.

It is not realistic to expect producers to be motivated by mitigation strategies that have an overall cost. Costs and benefits of adaptation and mitigation strategies should be assessed and demonstrated at short-, mid-, and long-term time scales, and across the diverse agricultural systems of the Northwest. This will allow stakeholders to identify and consider those strategies that will be beneficial to them. In addition, producers may decide not to follow an adaptation or mitigation approach not because of a lack of scientific support, but because they are uncertain about the economic implications or the logistical burden of changing their operations. Ultimately, on-the ground demonstration of practice effectiveness is often needed before a producer is willing risk new methods or make significant investments on their farm (AgCC, 2016).

Partnerships Priority C. Communicate the limits of farmlevel adaptation strategies, as well as important thresholds or tipping points at which climate change impacts may become more detrimental, to help decision-makers understand vulnerabilities.

A balanced approach is needed in communicating the potential effects of climate change. This approach should acknowledge the potential for opportunities for Northwest agricultural producers, and research indicating that individual farm-level adaptation may be adequate for many crops. However, it should also acknowledge that uncertainty still exists in terms of the magnitude of change in climatic variables, and that climate change may proceed more quickly than indicated by the scenarios currently used in many existing climate impacts studies for agriculture. In addition, vulnerabilities still exist, particularly due to impact of extreme events such as droughts, floods, and heat waves.

There are few published studies that examine the effectiveness and limits of individual farm-level adaptation strategies, such as changing varieties, selecting alternative crops, or building soil carbon storage (Stöckle et al., 2010). For some climate changerelated risks (e.g., water shortages, flooding), effective responses may be required beyond the farm level. There is a need to ensure that—at a minimum—management and policy decisions implemented in the near term do not undermine farmers' ability to cope with more severe climate change impacts in the future (Howden et al., 2007; Roesch-McNally et al., 2017).

CONCLUSION

Climate change impacts on agriculture in the Northwest are projected to be generally milder than in many other agricultural regions of the country and the world given that the region's historical climate is relatively cool. Thus for some crops, moderate warming may be beneficial. Additionally, the region's cropping systems have a significant amount of resiliency built in to address historical inter-annual climate variability. This relative level of "regional climate change insulation" may lead to improved global market opportunities for some Northwest producers in the future.

Climate change, however, will likely create additional sustainability challenges for agriculture in the Northwest. For example, increased reliance on Northwest dairies for the United States' national milk production could exacerbate issues of water availability and manure management in some areas of the region. It could also increase the need to import feed, with associated import of nutrients to the region, contributing further to nutrient-related air and water quality concerns. Another significant concern is that climate change may cause farmers to increase fallowing as a risk mitigation strategy in the dryland crop production areas of the inland Northwest. This could threaten decades of progress made in reducing soil erosion, and make maintaining SOC more challenging (Kaur et al., 2017; Morrow et al., 2017). Similarly, some strategies to limit emissions of N₂O could increase losses of nitrogen as ammonia or nitrate. Investing in the necessary research and extension to understand these sustainability challenges, quantify trade-offs, and test and evaluate the cost and effectiveness of potential responses will provide the scientific foundation to inform producer responses as well as policies and incentives that support sustainable agricultural production over the long term.

Other agricultural regions in the United States may face more severe impacts from a changing climate, which may pose different challenges and raise different environmental concerns to those that are the focus in the Northwest. However, as climate change progresses, it is important to understand thresholds in environmental sustainability, the limits of farmlevel adaptation, and the points beyond which easily accessible adaptation strategies will no longer be effective in each production region. Building from the example above on soil erosion, previously effective strategies in the Northwest and elsewhere—such as adoption of no-till farming—may not be sufficient to overcome the new challenges posed by a changing climate, requiring transformative thinking and the development of new management approaches or genetic improvements not yet envisioned.

We have synthesized the perspectives shared at the Agriculture in a Changing Climate Workshop (AgCC, 2016) and have provided specifics about research and extension priorities based on a review of agriculture and climate change-focused literature. Knowledge gaps, remaining challenges, and existing opportunities have guided the definition of research and extension priorities that are expected to help the Northwest's agricultural sector adapt to current and future climate change and contribute to mitigation efforts.

Multiple, interrelated challenges exist for funding entities, researchers, extension professionals, and agricultural advisors pursuing these priorities. Agricultural systems in the region are highly variable, so adaptation or mitigation practices that are successful for one location or production system may not be successful in another. Different decision-makers-from policy-makers to producers-require information at different scales. Also, efforts to address these priorities require an understanding of the complexity and interconnected nature of climate systems, agroecosystems, and society. Where possible, this article anticipates these challenges and suggests effective strategies that would lead to research that informs agricultural decision-making at multiple levels. The specific research results obtained by pursuing these priorities will be most directly informative within the Northwest region and its specific production systems, however, there are many lessons that can be applied elsewhere related to effective approaches to inform climate change adaptation and mitigation in agricultural systems.

There are many challenges to the viability and sustainability of agricultural systems in the Northwest U.S., including changing national and global trade opportunities, labor issues, and competing land use priorities (Allen et al., 2017). Climate change impacts intersect with these existing challenges in multiple ways. Managing agricultural systems to mitigate and adapt to climate change presents new and complex issues for agricultural decision-makers, yet there are good reasons to be cautiously optimistic about the potential for increasingly sustainable and resilient agricultural systems in this region. The agricultural industry is experienced at adapting to climatic variability and managing multiple risks. This experience in risk management, coupled with the relatively moderate impacts expected in the Northwest, suggest that proactive and informed producers can likely adapt to future changes and continue to sustainably provide agricultural products to the region and the country. The efforts of producers must be supported by the work of agriculture and climate change researchers from diverse disciplines (and their supporting and funding institutions). These research and extension priorities provide a roadmap for continuing to invest strategically in collaboration and knowledge-sharing designed to produce actionable science, to build capacity and facilitate the use of such science. By pursuing these priorities we can move toward implementing key adaptation and mitigation strategies appropriate to the unique production systems of the Northwest.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GY: Lead author responsible for conference planning/design of collaborative process, major text outline and writing, coordination and editing of manuscript. SH: condensing cropping systems contributions, major manuscript editing. EA: Partnerships contributions, coordination of livestock systems section, major manuscript editing. EW and NE: Conference planning committee, livestock contributions. VJ: Key conference planner decision support systems contributions. BS: Primary conference organizer and coordinator, key conference planner/design of collaborative process, text contributions. KR and JA: Decision support systems contributions. GR: partnerships contributions. BV: Conference planning committee. HC: Conference committee, cropping systems contributions. planning LH: Conference planning committee, economics/decision support contributions. TE: Livestock contributions. CK: Key conference planner/design of collaborative process, major manuscript editing. All: manuscript review and editing.

FUNDING

This material is based upon work that was supported by the U.S. Department of Agriculture Northwest Climate Hub under award number 15JV11261954075, and the U.S. Department of Agriculture, National Institute of Food and Agriculture, under award numbers 2016-67007-24889, Catalyzing and Coordinating Northwest Agricultural Research and Extension Efforts for Food Security in a Changing Climate, and 2011-68002-30191, Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture (REACCH-PNA).

REFERENCES

- Abatzoglou, J. T., Rupp, D. E., and Mote, P. W. (2014). Seasonal climate variability and change in the Pacific Northwest of the United States. *J. Clim.* 33, 121–131. doi: 10.1002/joc.3413
- Adam, J. C., Stephens, J. C., Chung, S. H., Brady, M. P., Evans, R. D., Kruger, C. E., et al. (2015). BioEarth: envisioning and developing a new regional earth system model to inform natural and agricultural resource management. *Clim. Change* 129, 555–571. doi: 10.1007/s10584-014-1115-2
- AgCC (2016). "Agriculture in a changing climate: implications for educators, industry, and producers," in *Conference Organized by the Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources* (Kennewick, WA: Washington State University). Available online at: http://csanr.wsu.edu/ag-in-a-changingclimate/
- Akerlof, K., Rowan, K. E., Fitzgerald, D., and Cedeno, A. Y. (2012). Communication of climate projections in US media amid politicization of model science. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 2, 648–654. doi: 10.1038/ nclimate1542
- Akiyama, H., Yan, X., and Yagi, K. (2010). Evaluation of effectiveness of enhanced-efficiency fertilizers as mitigation options for N₂O and NO emissions from agricultural soils: meta-analysis. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 16, 1837–1846. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02031.x
- Allen, E., Kruger, C., Stephens, J., Yorgey, G., Ahamed, S., and Adam, J. (2017). Climate science information needs among natural resource decisionmakers in the Northwest US. *Clim. Serv.* 5, 11–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cliser.2017. 03.002
- Alva, A. K., Hodges, T., Boydston, R. A., and Collins, H. P. (2002). Effects of irrigation and tillage practices on yield of potato under high production conditions in the Pacific Northwest. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 33, 1451–1460. doi: 10.1081/CSS-120004293
- Antle, J. M., Basso, B. O., Conant, R. T., Godfray, H. C. J., Jones, J. W., Wheeler, M., et al. (2016). Towards a new generation of agricultural system data, models and knowledge products: design and improvement. *Agric. Syst.* 155, 255–268. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2016.10.002
- Awale, R., Machado, S., Ghimire, R., and Bista, P. (2017). "Soil health," in Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest, eds G. Yorgey and C. Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State University Extension Publication EM 108-08), 47–98.
- Baldwin, J., Winter, G., and Dai, X. (2006). 2005 update. Thousand springs area of the Eastern Snake River Plain, Idaho. Idaho Department of Environmental Quality Ground Water Technical Report No. 27, Boise, ID.
- Beauchemin, K. A., McAllister, T. A., and McGinn, S. M. (2009). Dietary mitigation of enteric methane from cattle. *CAB Rev.* 4, 1–18. doi: 10.1079/PAVSNNR20094035
- Bera, T., Collins, H. P., Alva, A. K., Purakayastha, T. J., and Patra, A. K. (2016). Biochar and manure effluent effects on soil biochemical properties under corn production. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 107, 360–367. doi: 10.1016/j.apsoil.2016. 07.011
- Bizikova, L., Crawford, E., Nijnik, M., and Swart, R. (2014). Climate change adaptation planning in agriculture: processes, experiences and lessons learned from early adapters. *Mitig. Adapt. Strategies Glob. Chang.* 19, 411–430. doi: 10.1007/s11027-012-9440-0
- Booker, K., Huntsinger, L., Bartolome, J. W., Sayre, N. F., and Stewart, W. (2013). What can ecological science tell us about opportunities for carbon sequestration on arid rangelands in the United States? *Glob. Environ. Change* 23, 240–251. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.10.001
- Bradley, B. A., Houghton, R. A., Mustard, J. F., and Hamburg, S. P. (2006). Invasive grass reduces aboveground carbon stocks in shrublands of the Western U.S. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 12, 1815–1822. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006. 01232.x

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the contributions and collaborative work of the conference participants toward identifying regional priorities for research and extension.

- Briske, D. D., Derner, J. D., Brown, J. R., Fuhlendorf, S. D., Teague, W. R., Havstad, K. M., et al. (2008). Rotational grazing on rangelands: reconciliation of perception and experimental evidence. *Rangeland Ecol. Manag.* 61, 3–17. doi: 10.2111/06-159R.1
- Brown, D. J., Brooks, E. S., Eitel, J., Huggins, D. R., Painter, K., Rupp, R., et al. (2015). "Site-specific climate friendly farming," in *Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture, February 15, 2014 – February* 14, 2015, eds K. Borrelli, D. D., Laursen, S. Eigenbrode, B. Mahler, and R. Pepper (University of Idaho), 124–125.
- Brown, S., and Kurtz, K. (2010). Organic Waste to Resources Research and Pilot Project Report: Land Application– A True Path to Zero Waste? Washington Department of Ecology, Publication No. 09-07-059.
- Brown, S., Kruger, C., and Subler, S. (2008). Greenhouse gas balance for composting operations. J. Environ. Qual. 37, 1396–1410. doi: 10.2134/jeq2007.0453
- Brown, T. T. (2015). Variable Rate Nitrogen and Seeding to Improve Nitrogen Use Efficiency. Ph.D. dissertation, Washington State University, Pullman, WA. Available online at: https://research.libraries.wsu.edu/xmlui/handle/2376/6244 (verified 11 September 2016).
- Brown, T. T., and Huggins, D. (2012). Soil carbon sequestration in the dryland cropping region of the Pacific Northwest. J. Soil Water Conserv. 67, 406–415. doi: 10.2489/jswc.67.5.406
- Brush, A., Masanet, E., and Worrell, E. (2011). Energy Efficiency Improvement and Cost Saving Opportunities for the Dairy Processing Industry. Publication No. LBNL-6261E. Available online at: http://escholarship.org/uc/item/3pb7n796
- Cammarano, D., Rötter, R. P., Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Wallach, D., Martre, P., et al. (2016). Uncertainty of wheat water use: simulated patterns and sensitivity to temperature and CO₂. *Field Crops Res.* 198, 80–92. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2016.08.015
- Capalbo, S., Seavert, C., Antle, J., Way, J., and Houston, L. (2017). Understanding Tradeoffs in the Context of Farm-Scale and Regional Impacts: An Application of Decision-Support Tools for Assessing Climate Smart Agriculture. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Chen, S., Wen, Z., Liao, W., Liu, C., Kincaid, R. L., Harrison, J. H., et al. (2005). Studies into using manure in a biorefinery concept. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 124, 0999–1016. doi: 10.1007/978-1-59259-991-2_85
- Chi, J., Waldo, S., Pressley, S., O'Keeffe, P., Huggins, D., Stöckle, C., et al. (2016). Assessing carbon and water dynamics of no-till and conventional tillage cropping systems in the inland Pacific Northwest US using the eddy covariance method. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 218–219, 37–49. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.11.019
- Clemens, J., Trimborn, M., Weiland, P., and Amon, B. (2006). Mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions by anaerobic digestion of cattle slurry. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 112, 171–177. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2005.08.016
- Cochran, R. L., Collins, H. P., Kennedy, A., and Bezdicek, D. F. (2007). Soil carbon pools and fluxes after land conversion in a semiarid shrubsteppe ecosystem. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 43, 479–489. doi: 10.1007/s00374-006-0126-1
- Cochran, V. L., Elliott, L. F., and Papendick, R. I. (1981). Nitrous oxide emissions from a fallow field fertilized with anhydrous ammonia. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am.* 45, 307–310. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1981.03615995004500020016x
- Cogger, C. G., Bary, A. I., Kennedy, A. C., and Fortuna, A. M. (2013). Long-term crop and soil response to biosolids applications in dryland wheat. J. Environ. Qual. 42, 1872–1880. doi: 10.2134/jeq2013.05.0109
- Collins, H. P., Alva, A. K., Streubel, J. D., Fransen, S. F., Frear, C., Chen, S., et al. (2011). Greenhouse gas emissions from an irrigated silt loam soil amended with anaerobically digested dairy manure. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am.* 75, 2206–2216. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2010.0360
- Cottle, D. J., Nolan, J. V., and Wiedemann, S. G. (2011). Ruminant enteric methane mitigation: a review. *Anim. Prod. Sci.* 51:491. doi: 10.1071/AN10163

- Dang, Q., Konar, M., Reimer, J., Di Baldassarre, G., Lin, X., and Zeng, R. (2016). A theoretical model of water and trade. *Adv. Water Resour.* 89, 32–41. doi: 10.1016/j.advwatres.2015.12.016
- Diffenbaugh, N. S., White, M. A., Jones, G. V., and Ashfaq, M. (2011). Climate adaptation wedges: a case study of premium wine in the Western United States. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 6:024024. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/6/2/024024
- DiTomaso, J. M. (2000). Invasive weeds in rangelands: species, impacts, and management. Weed Sci. 48, 255–265. doi: 10.1614/0043-1745(2000)048[0255:IWIRSI]2.0.CO;2
- Duguma, L. A., Minang, P. A., and Van Noordwijk, M. (2014). Climate change mitigation and adaptation in the land use sector: from complementarity to synergy. *Environ. Manage.* 54, 420–432. doi: 10.1007/s00267-014-0331-x
- Dusenbury, M. P., Engel, R. E., Miller, P. R., Lemke, R. L., and Wallander, R. (2008). Nitrous oxide emissions from a Northern Great Plains Soil as influenced by nitrogen management and cropping systems. *J. Environ. Qual.* 37, 542. doi: 10.2134/jeq2006.0395
- Eckard, R. J., Grainger, C., and de Klein, C. A. M. (2010). Options for the abatement of methane and nitrous oxide from ruminant production: a review. *Livest. Sci.* 130, 47–56. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2010.02.010
- Eigenbrode, S. D., Bechinski, E., Bosque-Perez, N., Crowder, D., Rashed, A., Rondon, S., et al. (2017). "Insect management strategies," in *Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest*, eds G. Yorgey and C. Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State University Extension Publication EM 108-08), 469–536.
- Eigenbrode, S. D., Capalbo, S. M., Houston, L. L., Johnson-Maynard, J., Kruger, C., and Olen, B. (2013). "Agriculture: impacts, adaptation and mitigation," in *Climate Change in the Northwest*, eds M. M. Dalton and P. W. Mote (Washington, DC: Island Press), 149–180. doi: 10.5822/978-1-61091-512-0_6
- Engel, R., Liang, D. L., Wallander, R., and Bembenek, A. (2010). Influence of urea fertilizer placement on nitrous oxide production from a silt loam soil. J. Environ. Qual. 39, 115–125. doi: 10.2134/jeq2009.0130
- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (2014). Inventory of US Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2014. EPA 430-R-11-005. Available online at: https:// www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-04/documents/us-ghg-inventory-2016-main-text.pdf
- Feldman, D. L., and Ingram, H. M. (2009). Making science useful to decision makers: climate forecasts, water management, and knowledge networks. *Weat. Clim. Soc.* 1, 9–21. doi: 10.1175/2009WCAS1007.1
- Ferris, R., Ellis, R. H., Wheeler, T. R., and Hadley, P. (1998). Effect of high temperature stress at anthesis on grain yield and biomass of field-grown crops of wheat. Ann. Bot. 82, 631–639. doi: 10.1006/anbo.1998.0740
- Fiez, T., Miller, B., and Pan, W. (1994). Assessment of spatially variable nitrogen fertilizer management in winter wheat. J. Prod. Agric. 7, 86–93. doi: 10.2134/jpa1994.0086
- Follett, R. F., Kimble, J. M., and Lal, R. (2001). *The Potential of U.S. Grazing Lands* to Sequester Carbon and Mitigate the Greenhouse Effect. Boca Raton, FL: Lewis Publishers.
- Galinato, S. P., Yoder, J. K., and Granatstein, D. (2011). The economic value of biochar in crop production and carbon sequestration. *Energy Policy* 39, 6344–6350. doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2011.07.035
- Ghimire, R., Machado, S., and Rhinhart, K. (2015). Long-term crop residue and nitrogen management effects on soil profile carbon and nitrogen in wheat-fallow systems. *Agron. J.* 107:2230. doi: 10.2134/agronj 14.0601
- Giddings, T. V. (1993). Nonpoint Source Pollution from Agricultural Runoff: An Analysis of Problems, Solutions, and the Remedial Action Plan Process for the St. Louis River Basin. Theses and Major Papers, University of Rhode Island. Available online at: http://digitalcommons.uri.edu/ma_etds/385
- Gollany, H. T., Fortuna, A. M., Samuel, M. K., Young, F. L., Pan, W. L., and Pecharko, M. (2013). Soil organic carbon accretion vs. sequestration using physicochemical fractionation and CQESTR simulation. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am.* 77:618. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2012.0303
- Grainger, C., and Beauchemin, K. A. (2011). Can enteric methane emissions from ruminants be lowered without lowering their production? *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 166–167, 308–320. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011. 04.021

- Greaves, J., Hobbs, P., Chadwick, D., and Haygarth, P. (2010). Prospects for the recovery of phosphorus from animal manures: a review. *Environ. Technol.* 20, 697–708. doi: 10.1080/09593332008616864
- Haigh, T., Morton, L. W., Lemos, M. C., Knutson, C., Prokopy, L. S., Lo, Y. J., et al. (2015). Agricultural advisors as climate information intermediaries: exploring differences in capacity to communicate climate. *Weat. Clim. Soc.* 7, 83–93. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-14-00015.1
- Haile-Mariam, S., Collins, H. P., and Higgins, S. S. (2008). Greenhouse gas fluxes from an irrigated sweet corn (*Zea mays L.*)-potato (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) rotation. *J. Environ. Qual.* 37, 759–771. doi: 10.2134/jeq2007.0400
- Hall, S. A., Adam, J. C., Barik, M., Yoder, J., Brady, M. P., Haller, D., et al. (2016). Washington State Legislative Report. Columbia River Basin Long-Term Water Supply and Demand Forecast. Publication No. 16-12-001. Olympia, WA: Washington Department of Ecology.
- Halvorson, A. D. (2010). "The effect of enhanced-efficiency fertilizers on nitrous oxide emissions from various cropping systems" in *International Conference on Enhanced-Efficiency Fertilizers* (Miami, FL).
- Halvorson, A. D., Del Grosso, S. J., and Pozzi Jantalia, C. (2011). Nitrogen source effects on nitrous oxide emissions from strip- till corn. J. Environ. Qual. 40, 1775–1786. doi: 10.2134/jeq2011.0194
- Hatfield, J. L., Boote, K. J., Kimball, B. A., Ziska, L. H., Izaurralde, R. C., Ort, D., et al. (2011). Climate impacts on agriculture: implications for crop production. *Agron. J.* 103, 351–370. doi: 10.2134/agronj2010.0303
- Henault, C., Grossel, A., Mary, B., Roussel, M., and Léonard, J. (2012). Nitrous oxide emission by agricultural soils: a review of spatial and temporal variability for mitigation. *Pedosphere* 22, 426–433. doi: 10.1016/S1002-0160(12)60 029-0
- Holm-Nielsen, J. B., Al Seadi, T., and Oleskowicz-Popiel, P. (2009). The future of anaerobic digestion and biogas utilization. *Bioresour. Technol.* 100, 5478–5484. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2008.12.046
- Houston, L., Capalbo, S., Seavert, C., Dalton, M., Bryla, D., and Sagili, R. (2017). Specialty fruit production in the Pacific Northwest: adaptation strategies for a changing climate. *Clim. Change* 1–13. (Special Issue on 'Vulnerability Assessment of US Agriculture and Forests developed by the USDA Climate Hubs' edited by J. L. Hatfield, R. Steele, B. van Horne, and W. Gould). doi: 10.1007/s10584-017-1951-y
- Howden, S. M., Soussana, J. F., Tubiello, F. N., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., and Meinke, H. (2007). Adapting agriculture to climate change. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 19691–19696. doi: 10.1073/pnas.07018 90104
- Huggins (2010). "Site-specific N management for direct-seed cropping systems," in 2010. Climate Friendly Farming: Improving the Carbon Footprint of Agriculture in the Pacific Northwest. CSANR Research Report 2010-001, eds C. Kruger, G. Yorgey, S. Chen, H. Collins, C. Feise, C. Frear, D. Granatstein, S. Higgins, D. Huggins, C. MacConnell, K. Painter, and C. Stöckle (Washington State University). Available online at: http://csanr.wsu.edu/pages/Climate_Friendly_ Farming_Final_Report/ (Accessed September 10, 2013).
- IPCC (2014a). "Climate change 2014: Synthesis report," Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds R. K. Pachauri, L. A. Meyer, and Core Writing Team (Geneva: IPCC), 151.
- IPCC (2014b). "Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability, part a: global and sectoral aspects," *Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds C. B. Field, V. R. Barros, D. J. Dokken, K. J. Mach, M. D. Mastrandrea, T. E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K. L. Ebi, Y. O. Estrada, R. C. Genova, B. Girma, E. S. Kissel, A. N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P. R. Mastrandrea, and L. L. White (Cambridge, UK; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 1132.
- IPCC (2014c). "Climate change 2014: mitigation of climate change," in Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlomer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel, and J. C. Minx (Cambridge, UK; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press).
- Johnson, J. M. F., Allmaras, R. R., and Reicosky, D. C. (2006). Estimating source carbon from crop residues, roots and rhizodeposits using the

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

national grain-yield database. Agron. J. 98, 622-636. doi: 10.2134/agronj 2005.0179

- Jones, G. V. (2007). Climate Change: Observations, Projections, and General Implications for Viti- Culture and Wine Production. Practical Winery and Vineyard July/August, 44–64.
- Jones, V. P., Brunner, J. F., Grove, G. G., Petit, B., Tangren, G. V., and Jones, W. E. (2010). A web-based decision support system to enhance IPM programs in Washington tree fruits. *Pest Manag. Sci.* 66, 587–595. doi: 10.1002/ ps.1913
- Kachergis, E., Derner, J. D., Cutts, B. B., Roche, L. M., Eviner, V. T., Lubell, M. N., et al. (2014). Increasing flexibility in rangeland management during drought. *Ecosphere* 5, 1–14. doi: 10.1890/ES13-00402.1
- Kanter, D. R., Musumba, M., Wood, S. L. R., Palm, C., Antle, J., Balvanera, P., et al. (in press). Evaluating agricultural trade-offs in the age of sustainable development. *Agric. Syst.* doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2016. 09.010
- Karimi, T., Stöckle, C. O., Higgins, S. S., Nelson, R. L., and Huggins, D. (2017). Projected dryland cropping system shifts in the Pacific Northwest in response to climate change. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017. 00020
- Kaur, H., Huggins, D. R., Rupp, R. A., Abatzoglou, J. T., Stöckle, C. O., and Reganold, J. P. (2017). Agro-ecological class stability decreases in response to climate change projections for the Pacific Northwest, U.S.A. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:74. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00074
- Kemanian, A. R., and Stöckle, C. O. (2010). C-Farm: a simple model to evaluate the carbon balance of soil profiles. *Eur. J. Agron.* 32, 22–29. doi: 10.1016/j.eja.2009.08.003
- Key, N., Sneeringer, S., and Marquardt, D. (2014). *Climate Change, Heat Stress, and* U.S. Dairy Production, ERR-175. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.
- Kirby, E., Paulitz, T., Murray, T., Schroeder, K., and, Chen, X. (2017). "Disease management for wheat and barley," in *Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest*, eds G. Yorgey and C. Kruger (Pullman, WA: Washington State University Extension Publication EM 108-08), 399–468.
- Kirchhoff, C. J., Lemos, M. C., and Dessai, S. (2013). Actionable knowledge for environmental decision making: broadening the usability of climate science. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 38:393. doi: 10.1146/annurev-environ-022112-112828
- Konar, M., Reimer, J., Hussein, Z., and Hanasaki, N. (2016). The water footprint of staple crop trade under climate and policy scenarios. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 11, 1–15. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/11/3/035006
- Kruger, C. E., Yorgey, G. G., Chen, S., Collins, H. P., Frear, C. S., Feise, C. F., et al. (2010). Climate Friendly Farming: Improving the Carbon Footprint of Agriculture in the Pacific Northwest. Research Report 2010-001. Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Wenatchee, WA. Available online at: http://csanr.wsu.edu/ publications/researchreports/cffreport.html
- Lal, R. (2004). Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. *Science* 304, 1623–1627. doi: 10.1126/science. 1097396
- Lazzeri, L., D'Avino, L., and Gies, D. (2010). "Additional benefits of the efficacy in containing soilborne pest and pathogens with biofumigant plants and materials, "in *Proceedings of the VIIth International Symposium on Chemical and Non-chemical Soil and Substrate Disinfestation: Leuven, Belgium, September* 13-18, 2009, Series: Acta horticulturae, no. 883, eds A. Gamliel, J. Coosemans, A. Vanachter, and J. Katan (Leuven: International Society for Horticultural Science), 323–330.
- Lee, J. C., Bruck, D. J., Dreves, A. J., Ioriatti, C., Vogt, H., and Baufeld, P. (2011). In focus: spotted wing drosophia, *Drosophila suzukii*, across perspectives. *Pest Manage. Sci.* 67, 1349–1351. doi: 10.1002/ps.2271
- Leiserowitz, A., Maibach, E., Roser-Renouf, C., and Smith, N. (2011). *Global Warming's Six Americas, May 2011*. Yale University and George Mason University.
- Lemos, M. C., Kirchhoff, C. J., and Ramprasad, V. (2012). Narrowing the climate information usability gap. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 2, 789–794 doi: 10.1038/nclimate1614

- Leskey, T. C., Hamilton, G. C., Nielsen, A. L., Polk, D. F., Rodriguez-Saona, C., Bergh, J. C., et al. (2012). Pest status of the brown marmorated stinkbug, Halyomorpha halys in the US. *Outlooks Pest Manage*. 23, 218–226. doi: 10.1564/23oct07
- Leytem, A. B., and Bjorneberg, D. L. (2009). Changes in soil test phosphorus and phosphorus in runoff from calcerous soils receiving manure, compost, and fertilizer application with and without alum. *Soil Sci.* 174, 445–455. doi: 10.1097/SS.0b013e3181b0eac5
- Luce, C. H., Pederson, N., Campbell, J., Millar, C., Kormos, P., Vose, J. M., et al. (2016). "Characterizing drought for forested landscapes and streams," in *Effects* of Drought on Forests and Rangelands in the United States: A Comprehensive Science Synthesis, eds J. M. Vose, J. S. Clark, C. H. Luce, and T. Patel-Weynand (United States Forest Service General Technical Report Gen. Tech. Report WO-93b), 13–48.
- Luedeling, E., Girvetz, E. H., Semenov, M. A., and Brown, P. H. (2011). Climate change affects winter chill for temperate fruit and nut trees. *PLoS ONE* 6:e20155. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020155
- Magarey, R. D., Travis, J. W., Russo, J. M., Seem, R. C., and Magarey, P. A. (2002). Decision support systems: quenching the thirst. *Plant Dis.* 86, 4–14. doi: 10.1094/PDIS.2002.86.1.4
- Malek, K., Stockle, C., Chinnayakanahalli, K., Nelson, R., Liu, M., Rajagopalan, K., et al. (2016). VIC-CropSyst: a regional-scale modeling platform to simulate the nexus of climate, hydrology, cropping systems, and human decisions. *Geosci. Model Dev. Discuss.* doi: 10.5194/gmd-2016-294
- Martin, C., Morgavi, D. P., and Doreau, M. (2010). Methane mitigation in ruminants: from microbe to the farm scale. *Animal* 4, 351-365. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109990620
- Mase, A. S., and Prokopy, L. S. (2014). Unrealized potential: a review of perceptions and use of weather and climate information in agricultural decision making. *Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 6, 47–61. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-12-00062.1
- Mauger, G., Bauman, Y., Nennich, T., and Salathé, E. (2015). Impacts of climate change on milk production in the United States. *Prof. Geogr.* 67, 121–131. doi: 10.1080/00330124.2014.921017
- McCright, A. M., and Dunlap, R. E. (2011). The politicization of climate change and polarization in the American public's views of global warming, 2001-2010. Sociol. Q. 52, 155–194. doi: 10.1111/j.1533-8525.2011. 01198.x
- McNie, E. C. (2012). Delivering climate services: organizational strategies and approaches for producing useful climate-science information. *Weather Clim.* Soc. 5, 14–26. doi: 10.1175/WCAS-D-11-00034.1
- Mitchell, R. J., Babcock, R. S., Hirsch, H., McKee, L., Matthews, A., and Vandersypen, J. (2005). *Water Quality: Abbotsford-Sumas Final Report*. Bellingham, WA: Western Washington University.
- Mitchell, S. M., Kennedy, N., Ma, J., Yorgey, G., Kruger, C., Ullman, J. L., and Frear, C. (2015). Anaerobic Digestion Effluents and Processes: the Basics. Washington State University Fact Sheet FS171E. Pullman, WA: Washington State University. Available online at: http://cru.cahe.wsu.edu/CEPublications/ FS171E/FS171E.pdf
- Morrow, J. G., Huggins, D. R., and Reganold, J. P. (2017). Climate change predicted to negatively influence surface soil organic matter of dryland cropping systems in the inland Pacific Northwest, U.S.A. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:10. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00010
- Moser, S. C., and Ekstrom, J. A. (2010). A framework to diagnose barriers to climate change adaptation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 22026–22031. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1007887107
- Mote, P. W., Abatzoglou, J. T., and Kunkel, K. E. (2013). "Climate: variability and change in the past and the future" in *Climate Change in the Northwest: Implications for Our Landscapes, Waters, and Communities*, eds M. M. Dalton, P. W. Mote, and A. K. Snover (Washington, DC: Island Press), 25–40.
- Mulla, D. J., Bhatti, A. U., Hammond, M. W., and Benson, J. A. (1992). A comparison of winter wheat yield and quality under uniform versus spatially variable fertilizer management. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 38, 301–311.
- Nasir, I. M., Mohd Ghazi, T. I., and Omar, R. (2012). Anaerobic digestion technology in livestock manure treatment for biogas production: a review. *Eng. Life Sci.* 12, 258–269. doi: 10.1002/elsc.201100150

- Neibergs, J. S., Hudson, T. D., Kruger, C. E., and Hamel-Rieken, K. (2017). Climate change effects on grazing management and beef cattle production in the Pacific Northwest. *Clim. Change* 1–13. (Special Issue on 'Vulnerability Assessment of US Agriculture and Forests developed by the USDA Climate Hubs' edited by J. L. Hatfield, R. Steele, B. van Horne, and W. Gould). doi: 10.1007/s10584-017-2014-0
- Newsom, E. R., Fassbender, A. J., Maloney, A. E., and Bushinsky, S. M. (2016). Increasing the usability of climate science in political decision-making. *Elementa* 4:000127. doi: 10.12952/journal.elementa.000127
- Nicolini, G., Castaldi, S., Fratini, G., and Valentini, R. (2013). A literature overview of micrometeorological CH₄ and N₂O flux measurements in terrestrial ecosystems. *Atmos. Environ.* 81, 311–319. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013. 09.030
- Olson, K., Ebelhar, S. A., and Lang, J. M. (2014). Long-term effects of cover crops on crop yields, soil organic carbon stocks and sequestration. *Open J. Soil Sci.* 4, 284–292. doi: 10.4236/ojss.2014.48030
- Olson-Rutz, K., Jones, C., and Pariera Dinkins, C. (2011). Enhanced Efficiency Fertilizers. Bozeman, MT: Montana State University. Available online at: http:// landresources.montana.edu/soilfertility/documents/PDF/pub/EEFEB0188.pdf
- Ortiz, R., Sayre, K. D., Govaerts, B., Gupta, R., Subbarao, G. V., Ban, T., et al. (2008). Climate change: can wheat beat the heat? *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 126, 46–58. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2008.01.019
- Parker, L. E., and Abatzoglou, J. T. (2016). Projected changes in cold hardiness zones and suitable overwinter ranges of perennial crops over the United States. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 11:034001. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/11/3/ 034001
- Parry, M., Rosenzweig, C., and Livermore, M. (2005). Climate change, global food supply and risk of hunger. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Ser. B* 360, 2125–2138. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2005.1751
- Pattey, E., Trzcinski, M. K., and Desjardins, R. L. (2005). Quantifying the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions as a result of composting dairy and beef cattle manure. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 72, 173–187. doi: 10.1007/s10705-005-1268-5
- Paustian, K. H., Collins, H. P., and Paul, E. A. (1997). "Management controls on soil carbon," Soil Organic Matter in Temperate Agroecosystems: Long-Term Experiments in North America, eds E. A. Paul, E. T. Elliott, and C. V. Cole (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press), 15–49.
- Place, S. E., and Mitloehner, F. M. (2010). Contemporary environmental issues: a review of the dairy industry's role in climate change and air quality and the potential of mitigation through improved production efficiency. J. Dairy Sci. 93, 3407–3416. doi: 10.3168/jds.200 9-2719
- Poeplau, C., and Don, A. (2015). Carbon sequestration in agricultural soils via cultivation of cover crops–A meta-analysis. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 200, 33–41. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2014.10.024
- Post, W. M., Izaurralde, R. C., West, T. O., Liebig, M. A., and King, A. W. (2012). Management opportunities for enhancing terrestrial carbon dioxide sinks. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 10, 554–561. doi: 10.1890/120065
- Power, A. G. (2010). Ecosystem services and agriculture: tradeoffs and synergies. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 365, 2959–2971. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0143
- Pressman, A. (2010). Dairy Farm Energy Efficiency. ATTRA Publication #IP355. National Sustainable Agriculture Information Service. Available online at: www. attra.ncat.org/attra-pub/PDF/dairyenergy.pdf
- Pretty, J. (2008). Agricultural sustainability: concepts, principles and evidence. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 363, 447–465. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2163
- Prokopy, L. S., Carlton, J. S., Arbuckle, J. G. Jr., Haigh, T., Lemos, M. C., Mase, A. S., et al. (2015a). Extension's role in disseminating information about climate change to agricultural stakeholders in the United States. *Clim. Change* 130, 261–272. doi: 10.1007/s10584-015-1339-9
- Prokopy, L. S., Morton, L. W., Arbuckle, J. G. Jr., Mase, A. S., and Wilke, A. K. (2015b). Agricultural stakeholder views on climate change: implications for conducting research and outreach. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 96, 181–190. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-13-00172.1
- Puraskayastha, T. J., Huggins, D., and Smith, J. L. (2008). Carbon sequestration in native prairie, perennial grass, no-till, and cultivated Palouse silt loam. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 72, 534–540. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2005. 0369

- Rajagopalan, K. (2016). Food for Thought: Agricultural Production in the Columbia River Basin Under Global Change. Ph.D. dissertation, Washington State University, Pullman WA.
- Reeves, M. C., Bagne, K. E., and Tanaka, J. (2017). Potential climate change impacts on four biophysical indicators of cattle production from Western US rangelands. *Rangeland Ecol. Manage.* 70, 529–539. doi: 10.1016/j.rama.2017.02.005
- Ribaudo, M., Kaplan, J. D., Christensen, L. A., Gollehon, N., Johansson, R., Breneman, V. E., et al. (2003). Manure Management for Water Quality: Costs to Animal Feeding Operations of Applying Manure Nutrients to Land. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.
- Rico, J. L., García, H., Rico, C., and Tejero, I. (2007). Characterization of solid and liquid fractions of dairy manure with regard to their component distribution and methane production. *Bioresour. Technol.* 98, 971–979. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2006.04.032
- Roesch-McNally, G. E., Arbuckle, J. G., and Tyndall, J. C. (2017). What would farmers do? Adaptation intentions under a Corn Belt climate change scenario. *Agric. Human Values* 34, 333–346. doi: 10.1007/s10460-01 6-9719-y
- Rosenzweig, C., and Tubiello, F. N. (2007). Adaptation and mitigation strategies in agriculture: an analysis of potential synergies. *Mitig. Adapt. Strategies Glob. Chang.* 12, 855–873. doi: 10.1007/s11027-007-9103-8
- Rupp, D. E., Abatzoglou, J. T., and Mote, P. W. (2016). Projections of 21st century climate of the Columbia River Basin. *Clim. Dyn.* doi: 10.1007/s00382-016-3418-7
- Ryals, R., and Silver, W. L. (2013). Effects of organic matter amendments on net primary productivity and greenhouse gas emissions in annual grasslands. *Ecol. Appl.* 23, 46–59. doi: 10.1890/12-0620.1
- Samietz, J., Graf, B., Hohn, H., Schaub, L., and Hopli, H. U. (2007). Phenology modelling of major insects in fruit orchards from biological basics to decision support: the forecasting tool SOPRA. *Bull. OEPP/EPPO* 37, 255–260. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2338.2007.01121.x
- Sarewitz, D., and Pielke, R. A. (2007). The neglected heart of science policy: reconciling supply of and demand for science. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 10, 5–16. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2006.10.001
- Schillinger, W. F., Papendick, R. I., and McCool, D. K. (2010). "Soil and water challenges for Pacific Northwest agriculture," in *Soil and Water Conservation Advances in the United States*, eds T. M. Zobeck and W. F. Schillinger (Madison, WI: Soil Science Society of America), 47–79.
- Schlenker, W., and Roberts, M. J. (2009). Nonlinear Temperature effects indicate severe damages to U.S. crop yields under climate change. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 15594–15598. doi: 10.1073/pnas.09068 65106
- Schuman, G. E., Janzen, H. H., and Herrick, J. E. (2002). Soil carbon dynamics and potential carbon sequestration by rangelands. *Environ. Pollut.* 116, 391–396. doi: 10.1016/S0269-7491(01)00215-9
- Sehy, U., Ruser, R., and Munch, J. C. (2003). Nitrous oxide fluxes from maize fields: relationship to yield, site-specific fertilization, and soil conditions. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 99, 97–111. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8809(03) 00139-7
- Shoji, S., Delgado, J., Mosier, A., and Miura, Y. (2001). Use of control release fertilizers and nitrification inhibitors to increase nitrogen use efficiency and to conserve air and water quality. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 32, 1051–1057. doi: 10.1081/CSS-100104103
- Smith, P., Bustamante, M., Ahammad, H., Clark, H., Dong, H., Elsiddig, E. A., et al. (2014). "Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU)," in *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel, and J. C. Minx (Cambridge, UK; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press).
- Smith, P., and Olesen, J. E. (2010). Synergies between the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change in agriculture. J. Agric. Sci. 148, 543–552. doi: 10.1017/S0021859610000341
- Sommer, S. G., Clough, T. J., Chadwick, D., and Petersen, S. O. (2013). "Greenhouse gas emissions from animal manures and technologies for their

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

reduction," in Animal Manure Recycling: Treatment and Management, eds S. G. Sommer, M. L. Christensen, T. Schmidt, and L. S. Jensen (Chichester: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd), 177–194. doi: 10.1002/9781118676677.ch10

- Sommer, S. G., Petersen, S. O., Sørensen, P., Poulsen, H. D., and Møller, H. B. (2007). Methane and carbon dioxide emissions and nitrogen turnover during liquid manure storage. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 78, 27–36. doi: 10.1007/s10705-006-9072-4
- Steed, J., and Hashimoto, A. G. (1994). Methane emissions from typical manure management systems. *Bioresour. Technol.* 50, 123–130. doi: 10.1016/0960-8524(94)90064-7
- Stöckle, C., Higgins, S., Kemanian, A., Nelson, R., Huggins, D., Marcos, J., et al. (2012). Carbon storage and nitrous oxide emissions of cropping systems in eastern Washington: a simulation study. J. Soil Water Conserv. 67, 365–377. doi: 10.2489/jswc.67.5.365
- Stockle, C. O., Donatelli, M., and Nelson, R. (2003). CropSyst, a cropping systems simulation model. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 289–307. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00109-0
- Stockle, C. O., Martin, S., and Campbell, G. S. (1994). CropSyst, a cropping systems simulation model: water/nitrogen budgets and crop yield. Agric. Syst. 46, 335–359. doi: 10.1016/0308-521X(94)90006-2
- Stöckle, C. O., Nelson, R. L., Higgins, S., Brunner, J., Grove, G., Boydston, R., et al. (2010). Assessment of climate change impact on Eastern Washington agriculture. *Clim. Change* 102, 77–102. doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9851-4
- Stöckle, C. O., Higgins, S., Nelson, R., Abatzoglou, J., Huggins, D., Pan, W., et al. (2017). Evaluating opportunities for an increased role of winter crops as adaptation to climate change in dryland cropping systems of the U.S. Inland Pacific Northwest. *Clim. Change.* doi: 10.1007/s10584-017-1950-z. [Epub ahead of print].
- Streubel, J. D., Collins, H. P., Garcia-Perez, M., Tarara, J., Granatstein, D., and Kruger, C. E. (2011). Influence of contrasting biochar types on five soils at increasing rates of application. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am.* 75:1402. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2010.0325
- Taylor, S. E. (2016). Precision Nitrogen Management: Evaluating and Creating Management Zones Using Winter Wheat Performance. M.S. Thesis. Washington State University, Pullman, WA.
- Teague, W. R., Apfelbaum, S., Lal, R., Kreuter, U. P., Rowntree, J., Davies, C. A., et al. (2016). The role of ruminants in reducing agriculture's carbon footprint in North America. J. Soil Water Conserv. 71, 156–164. doi: 10.2489/jswc.71. 2.156
- Timlin, D., Rahman, S. M. L., Baker, J., Reddy, V. R., Fleisher, D., and Quebedeaux, B. (2006). Whole plant photosynthesis, development, and carbon partitioning in potato as a function of temperature. *Agron. J.* 98, 1195–1203. doi: 10.2134/agronj2005.0260
- Tubiello, F. N., Soussana, J. F., and Howden, S. M. (2007). Crop and pasture response to climate change. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 19686–19690. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0701728104
- US Department of Agriculture (USDA) (2012). Census of Agriculture, 2012. Census Volume 1, Chapter 2: State Level Data. Available online at: https://www. agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Full_Report/Volume_1,_Chapter_2_ US_State_Level/
- US Department of Agriculture (USDA) (2016). USDA Building Blocks for Climate Smart Agriculture and Forestry, Implementation Plan and Progress Report. Available online at: http://www.usda.gov/documents/building-blocksimplementation-plan-progress-report.pdf
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) (2017). USDA Regional Climate Hubs Mission and Vision. Available online at: https://www.climatehubs.oce. usda.gov/content/mission-and-vision (Accessed January 18, 2017).
- US Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service (USDA ERS) (2015). *Dairy Data*. Available online at: http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/dairydata.aspx
- US Department of Agriculture National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS) (2015). *Statistics by State*. Available online at: https://www.nass.usda.gov/Statistics_by_State/
- US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) (2012). Relation between Nitrate in Water Wells and Potential Sources in the Lower Yakima Valley, Washington. Preliminary report. United States Department of Environmental Protection Administration, Region 10, Seattle, WA.

- Van Horn, H. H., Wilkie, A. C., Powers, W. J., and Nordstedt, R. A. (1994). Components of dairy manure management systems. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2008–2030. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77147-2
- VanderZaag, A. C., Gordon, R. J., Glass, V. M., and Jamieson, R. C. (2008). Floating covers to reduce gas emissions from liquid manure storages: a review. *Appl. Eng. Agric.* 24, 657–671. doi: 10.13031/2013. 25273
- Vano, J. A., Scott, M. J., Voisin, N., Stöckle, C. O., Hamlet, A. F., Mickelson, K. E. B., et al. (2010). Climate change impacts on water management and irrigated agriculture in the Yakima River Basin, Washington, USA. *Clim. Change* 102, 287–317. doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9856-z
- Venterea, R. T., Halvorson, A. D., Kitchen, N., Liebig, M. A., Cavigelli, M. A., Del Grosso, S. J., et al. (2012). Challenges and opportunities for mitigating nitrous oxide emissions from fertilized cropping systems. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 10, 562–570. doi: 10.1890/120062
- Waldo, S. (2016). Using Micrometeorological Methods and Modeling to Ddetermine Greenhouse Gas Budgets Over Agricultural Systems in the Inland Pacific Northwest. Ph.D. Dissertation, Washington State University, Pullman, WA.
- Waldo, S., Chi, J., Pressley, S. N., O'Keeffe, P., Pan, W. L., Brooks, E. S., et al. (2016). Assessing carbon dynamics at high and low rainfall agricultural sites in the inland Pacific Northwest US using the eddy covariance method. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 218–219, 25–36. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015. 11.018
- Weaver, C. P., Lempert, R. J., Brown, C., Hall, J. A., Revell, D., and Sarewitz, D. (2013). Improving the contribution of climate model information to decisionmaking: the value and demands of robust decision frameworks. *Wiley Interdisc. Rev.* 4, 39–60. doi: 10.1002/wcc.202
- Webb, J., Pain, B., Bittman, S., and Morgan, J. (2010). The impacts of manure application methods on emissions of ammonia, nitrous oxide and on crop response—a review. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 137, 39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2010.01.001
- Westerman, P. W., and Zhang, R. H. (1997). Aeration of livestock manure slurry and lagoon liquid for odor control: a review. *Appl. Eng. Agric.* 13, 245–249. doi: 10.13031/2013.21596
- Wibeck, V. (2014). Enhancing learning, communication and public engagement about climate change-some lessons from recent literature. *Environ. Educ. Res.* 20, 387–411. doi: 10.1080/13504622.2013. 812720
- Woolf, D., Amonette, J. E., Street-Perrott, F. A., Lehmann, J., and Joseph, S. (2010). Sustainable biochar to mitigate global climate change. *Nat. Commun.* 1:56. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1053
- Wrage, N., Velthof, G. L., van Beusichem, M. L., and Oenema, O. (2001). Role of nitrifier denitrification in the production of nitrous oxide. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 33, 1723–1732. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(01) 00096-7
- Wright-Morton, L., Prokopy, L. S., Arbuckle, J. G. Jr., Ingels, C., Thelen, M., Bellm, R., et al. (2016). Climate Change and Agricultural Extension; Building Capacity for Land Grant Extension Services to Address the Agricultural Impacts of Climate Change and the Adaptive Management Needs of Agricultural Stakeholders. Technical Report Series: Findings and Recommendations of the Climate Cropping Systems Coordinated Agricultural Project, Vol. 3 of 5. CSCAP Publication no. CSCAP-0192-2016.
- Wright-Morton, L., Roesch-McNally, G. E., and Wilke, A. (2017). Upper midwest farmer perceptions: too much uncertainty about impacts of climate change to justify changing current agricultural practices. J. Soil Water Conserv. 72, 215–225. doi: 10.2489/jswc.72.3.215
- Yorgey, G. G., Borrelli, K., McGuire, A., and Painter, K. (2017a). Video. Strip Tillage of Vegetables with Livestock Integration: Eric Williamson. (Farmer to Farmer Case Study Video Series). College of Agricultural, Human, and Natural Resource Sciences, Pullman, WA.
- Yorgey, G. G., Borrelli, K., and Painter, K. (2017b). *Video. Grazed Cover Cropping: Drew Leitch (Farmer to Farmer Case Study Video Series)*. College of Agricultural, Human, and Natural Resource Sciences, Pullman, WA.
- Yorgey, G. G., Frear, C. S., Kruger, C. E., and Zimmerman, T. J. (2014). *The Rationale for Recovery of Phosphorus and Nitrogen from Dairy Manure.* Washington State University Extension Publication FS136E. Washington State University, Pullman, WA.

- Yorgey, G. G., and Kruger, C. E. (eds.). (2017). Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest. Washington State University Extension Publication EM108. Washington State University, Pullman, WA.
- Zeng, L., and Li, X. (2006). Nutrient removal from anaerobically digested cattle manure by struvite precipitation. *J. Environ. Eng. Sci.* 5, 285–294. doi: 10.1139/ s05-027
- Zhu, X., Burger, M., Doane, T. A., and Horwath, W. R. (2013). Ammonia oxidation pathways and nitrifier denitrification are significant sources of N₂O and NO under low oxygen availability. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 6328–6333. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1219993110
- Zimmerman, T., Kruger, C. E., Benedict, C., and Van Vleet, S. (2014). Survey Results from the Sustainable Agriculture Research and Education (SARE) Professional Development Program (PDP) Survey in Washington. Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Wenatchee, WA. Available online at: http://csanr.wsu.edu/csanr-grants/sarepdp/

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling Editor declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with one of the authors JA, and the handling Editor states that the process met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Yorgey, Hall, Allen, Whitefield, Embertson, Jones, Saari, Rajagopalan, Roesch-McNally, Van Horne, Abatzoglou, Collins, Houston, Ewing and Kruger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Agro-Ecological Class Stability Decreases in Response to Climate Change Projections for the Pacific Northwest, USA

Harsimran Kaur¹, David R. Huggins^{2*}, Richard A. Rupp¹, John T. Abatzoglou³, Claudio O. Stöckle⁴ and John P. Reganold¹

¹ Department of Crop and Soil Science, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ² Northwest Sustainable Agroecosystems Research Unit, United States Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service (USDA-ARS), Pullman, WA, United States, ³ Department of Geography, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States, ⁴ Department of Biological Systems Engineering, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jodi Lynn Johnson-Maynard, University of Idaho, United States

Reviewed by:

Fernando José Cebola Lidon, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Portugal Sotirios Archontoulis, Iowa State University, United States

> ***Correspondence:** David R. Huggins dhuggins@wsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 01 March 2017 Accepted: 23 June 2017 Published: 11 July 2017

Citation:

Kaur H, Huggins DR, Rupp RA, Abatzoglou JT, Stöckle CO and Reganold JP (2017) Agro-Ecological Class Stability Decreases in Response to Climate Change Projections for the Pacific Northwest, USA. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5:74. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00074 Climate change will impact bioclimatic drivers that regulate the geospatial distribution of dryland agro-ecological classes (AECs). Characterizing the geospatial relationship between present AECs and their bioclimatic controls will provide insights into potential future shifts in AECs as climate changes. The major objectives of this study are to quantify empirical relationships between bioclimatic variables and the current geospatial distribution of six dryland AECs of the inland Pacific Northwest (iPNW) of the United States; and apply bioclimatic projections from downscaled climate models to assess geospatial shifts of AECs under current production practices. Two Random Forest variable selection algorithms, VarSeIRF and Boruta, were used to identify relevant bioclimatic variables. Three bioclimatic variables were identified by VarSeIRF as useful for predictive Random Forest modeling of six AECs: (1) Holdridge evapotranspiration index; (2) spring precipitation (March, April, and May); and (3) precipitation of the warmest 4-month season (June, July, August, and September). Super-imposing future climate scenarios onto current agricultural production systems resulted in significant geospatial shifts in AECs. The Random Forest model projected a 58 and 63% increase in area under dynamic annual crop-fallow-transition (AC-T) and dynamic grain-fallow (GF) AECs, respectively. By contrast, a 46% decrease in area was projected for stable AC-T and dynamic annual crop (AC) AECs across all future time periods for Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) 8.5. For the same scenarios, the stable AC and GF AECs showed the least declines in area (8 and 13%, respectively), compared to other AECs. Future spatial shifts from stable to dynamic AECs, particularly to dynamic AC-T and dynamic GF AECs would result in more use of fallow, a greater hazard for soil erosion, greater cropping system uncertainty, and potentially less cropping system flexibility. These projections are counter to cropping system goals of increasing intensification, diversification, and productivity.

Keywords: climate change, bioclimatic variables, cropping systems, fallow, agro-ecosystem

INTRODUCTION

Changing climatic conditions have resulted in substantial shifts in the geographic range of plant and animal species in natural ecosystems (Gonzalez, 2001; Wilson et al., 2005; Pauli et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2011) and are predicted to continue in the future (Schrag et al., 2008; Lawler et al., 2009; Monadjem et al., 2013). Likewise, single or multiple crop agro-ecosystems within a biophysical and socio-economic context have been affected by changing climatic variables (Kumar et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013). It follows that shifts in the geographic suitability of crop species/systems would occur in response to a changing climate (Evangelista et al., 2013; Ovalle-Rivera et al., 2015).

Assessing potential impacts of climate change on agroecosystems would benefit from classification systems that are dynamic and reflective of differences in the spatial distribution of land use/cover over time. Considering this goal, a new agroecosystem classification system, identified as dynamic agroecological classes (AECs) was developed for the dryland cropping region of the inland Pacific Northwest (iPNW; Huggins et al., 2014b). The AECs deviate from existing frameworks that classify agro-ecosystems based strictly on environmental drivers (e.g., soil, climate, and physiography) with relatively static boundaries, such as agro-climatic zones (Douglas et al., 1992), Ecoregions (US-EPA, Omernik and Griffith, 2014), and Major Land Resource Areas (USDA-NRCS, 2006). The AECs are based on the actual annual land use/cover derived from the Cropland data layer (USDA-NASS, 2008-2015). This classification approach for defining AECs provides the opportunity to quantify and test hypotheses regarding the drivers of spatio-temporal changes in cropping systems.

Currently, dryland cropping systems of the iPNW are fundamentally influenced by climatic gradients of temperature and precipitation (Schillinger et al., 2006). The dominant rotation practiced in regions with the lowest annual precipitation and highest annual temperatures is winter wheat-summer fallow which corresponds to the grain fallow class of AECs (Huggins et al., 2014b). This 2-year rotation includes a year of fallow to increase stored soil water that further ensures successful production of winter wheat. Grain-fallow systems become less prevalent in wetter portions of the iPNW where annual cropping systems dominate. Consequently, cropping system intensification progresses from the grain-fallow AEC with >40% annual fallow to the annual crop-fallow transition AEC (>10 to \leq 40% annual fallow) and the annual cropping AEC (≤10% annual fallow). As climatic gradients influence crop choices and the use of fallow across the iPNW, we hypothesize that bioclimatic variables may explain significant geographic variations in AECs. In turn, a geospatial model of AECs based on bioclimatic variables may be used to project potential shifts in regional AECs under future climate scenarios.

Ecological studies that have assessed species distribution and projected changes in response to future climates often use and compare a variety of methods. These methods include generalized additive models (Estes et al., 2013), generalized linear models (Pompe et al., 2008), Artificial Neural Networks (Rasztovits et al., 2012), Random Forest (Schrag et al., 2008; Lawler et al., 2009; Chang et al., 2014; Langdon and Lawler, 2015), and maximum entropy modeling (MaxEnt; Monadjem et al., 2013; Clark et al., 2014; Ren et al., 2016). Here we use Random Forest modeling to assess potential regional shifts in AECs for the iPNW.

Our objectives are the following: (1) identify bioclimatic predictors which can discriminate among current AECs using two different Random Forest variable selection methods; (2) assess the predictive capacity of the geospatial models for current AECs using bioclimatic variables; (3) use future climate scenarios to predict changes in identified bioclimatic variables; (4) model regional shifts in AECs that would result if future climate scenarios were imposed on current agricultural systems; and (5) interpret the relevance of any AEC shifts in terms of sustainable agricultural intensification, vulnerability to resource degradation, and priorities for agricultural research.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Current Climate, Bioclimatic Variables, and AECs

The iPNW study region covering the lower elevations across eastern and central Washington, north-central Oregon, and northern Idaho has an extent of 9.4 million ha and is comprised of three dryland agroecosystem classes (AECs): (1) annual crop (AC); (2) annual crop-fallow-transition (AC-T); and (3) grain fallow (GF; Huggins et al., 2014b). The climate is generally Mediterranean-like (Schillinger et al., 2006), with cold, wet winters and warm to hot, dry summers. Annual average precipitation varies across the region with around 150 mm in lee of the Cascade Range in central Washington to more than 1,400 mm across the eastern portion of the study region in northern Idaho. Bioclimatic variables are derivatives of temperature and precipitation and variables considered biologically important for Mediterranean climates have been identified (Peinado et al., 2012). Here, we use 44 previously identified bioclimatic variables for empirical modeling (Table 1). Not included are potential future effects of elevated atmospheric CO₂ levels on bioclimatic variables.

Cropland data layer derived AECs for dryland annual crop, annual crop-grain fallow-transition and grain fallow in raster layers (30×30 m resolution) were used for each of the years 2007–2014 (Huggins et al., 2015). The rasterized AEC information from 8 years were further combined into one map layer by categorizing each dryland AEC into two subclasses using the raster calculator tool in ArcGIS (version 10.3.1, ESRI, 2011): (1) stable dryland AECs, where pixels were consistently the same dryland class for 2007–2014 and; (2) dynamic dryland AECs, where pixels changed classes during the 8-year period (Huggins et al., 2015). Identifying stable and dynamic AEC subclasses resulted in the development of a classification comprised of six AECs. The resultant AEC layer was then brought to a coarser scale of 4×4 km, using the zonal statistics and cell statistics tool in ArcGIS (Figure 1).

Gridded climate data from years 1981–2010 was obtained from Abatzoglou (2013). Daily maximum temperature,

TABLE 1	Bioclimatic	variables	derived	from	climate	data
		vanabios	acrivea	nonn	omnato	aute

Name	Units	Bioclimatic variable description
ARI	Unitless	Aridity index (ARI = TEV/P)
BIOT	°C	Holdridge annual biotemperature
COI	°C	Continentality Index (COI = Tmax - Tmin)
HBIO	Unitless	Holdridge evapotranspiration index (HBIO =HEV/P)
HEV	mm	Holdridge potential yearly evapotranspiration
Hm	mm	Humid months; months in which $P \ge 2T$
Μ	°C	Average maximum temperature of the coldest month
m	°C	Average minimum temperature of the coldest month
OEI	Unitless	Ombro-Evapotranspiration Index ($OEI = 10$ (Pp/TEV))
OTI	mm/°C	Ombrothermal index (OTI = Pp/Tp)
OTI ₂	mm/°C	Ombrothermal index of the two driest consecutive months of the year
OTI ₃	mm/°C	Ombrothermal index of the three driest consecutive months of the year
OTI2w	mm/°C	Ombrothermal index of the two warmest consecutive months of the year
Р	mm	Yearly average precipitation
Pau	mm	Autumn precipitation (September + October + November)
%Pau	%	Percentage autumn precipitation
Pcm1	mm	Precipitation of the warmest four months in the year
%Pcm1	%	Percentage precipitation of the warmest four months
Pcm2	mm	Precipitation of the four months before Pcm1
%Pcm2	%	Percentage precipitation of the four months before Pcm1
Pcm3	mm	Precipitation of the four months after Pcm1
%Pcm3	%	Percentage precipitation of the four months after Pcm1
Phm	mm	Total precipitation for the humid months
%Phm	%	Percentage precipitation of the humid months
%Pj-s	%	Percentage precipitation from June to September
Рр	mm	Positive precipitation; total precipitation of those months whose mean temperature is higher than $0^{\circ}C$
Ps2	mm	Precipitation of the two warmest consecutive months of the year
Psp	mm	Spring precipitation (March + April + May)
%Psp	%	Percentage spring precipitation
Psu	mm	Summer precipitation (June + July + August)
%Psu	%	Percentage summer precipitation
Pwi	mm	Winter precipitation (December + January + February)
%Pwi	%	Percentage winter precipitation
SEPI	Unitless	Seasonal precipitation index (SEPI = (%Pwi + %Psp)/(%Psu + %Pau))
Т	°C	Mean yearly temperature
TEV	mm	Thornthwaite yearly evapotranspiration
THI	°C	Thermicity Index (THI = 10 (T + m + M))
Tmax	°C	Mean temperature of the warmest month
Tmin	°C	Mean temperature of the coldest month

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Name	Units	Bioclimatic variable description
Tn	°C	Negative temperature; sum of the mean monthly temperatures of those months whose mean temperature is lower than 0°C
Тр	°C	Positive temperature; sum of the mean monthly temperatures of those months whose mean temperature is higher than 0°C
Ts2	°C	Mean temperature of the two warmest consecutive months of the year
Tsu	°C	Summer mean temperature (June + July + August)
GDD	Degree day	Growing degree days from Jan 1st to May 31st

minimum temperature, and accumulated precipitation at a 4×4 km resolution were aggregated to monthly time scales. We also extracted downscaled climate projections from 17 global climate models participating in the Fifth Coupled Model Inter-comparison Project (CMIP5) that have been evaluated for credibly simulating characteristics of regional climate (Rupp et al., 2013). Climate projections were downscaled using the Multivariate Adaptive Constructed Analogs approach (Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012) using the baseline training dataset of Abatzoglou (2013) to provide compatibility between current and future climate data. The 17 GCMs considered in evaluating predictive model performance were: bcc-csm1-1, BNU-ESM, CanESM2, CCSM4, CNRM-CM5, CSIRO-Mk3-6-0, GFDL-ESM2G, GFDL-ESM2M, inmcm4, IPSL-CM5A-LR, IPSL-CM5A-MR, IPSL-CM5B-LR, MIROC5, MIROC-ESM, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, MRI-CGCM3, and NorESM1-M. Climate network common data form (netcdf) layers (4×4 km resolution) were brought into ArcGIS and converted to raster layer using "Make netcdf to raster" tool and then to point dataset using "raster to point" tool. Conversion to point layer facilitated generation of latitude and longitude for each point, at the center of 4×4 km pixel, thus aiding the extraction of AEC information for each point in ArcGIS and extraction of present and future climate netcdfs of precipitation, maximum, and minimum temperature data in R (R Core Team, 2015).

A total of 44 bioclimatic variables (Table 1) were calculated using actual historical climate data (1981-2010) for precipitation, maximum, and minimum temperature. In addition, annual historical climate data derived from 17 Global climate models (GCM) for years 1981-2005 (Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012; Taylor et al., 2012) were used to calculate the same bioclimatic variables (Table 1). Reducing the data dimensionality from 44 to a few key variables was accomplished using two different wrapper variable selection algorithms: VarSelRF (Variable Selection using Random Forests; Diaz-Uriarte, 2014) and Boruta (Kursa and Rudnicki, 2010). VarSelRF, a minimal optimal approach, performs selection by retaining a compact subset of variables with improved classification performance based on "Out of Bag" (OOB) error and also allows computation of variable importance (VarSelRF R package, R Core Team, 2015). Boruta, an all relevant variable selection approach, identifies all relevant variables, and



models them collectively to examine any underlying mechanisms in addition to being a predictive model (Boruta R package, R Core Team, 2015).

Observed bioclimatic variables and AECs (**Figure 1**) were used as input to R for variable selection using Boruta and VarSelRF algorithms and the process was repeated 30 times on split: training (70%) and test (30%) data sets, with different seed sets for each run. This step is based on the procedure used in the evaluation process of feature/gene selection (Fortino et al., 2014; Guo et al., 2014). The goal was to identify the variables that contributed the most to model performance in the selection process, which were selected repeatedly during 30 iterations. The motive behind partitioning the data as training (70%) and test (30%) was to understand the effect of selecting random subsets of data (training) on the ranking of variables and, as important variables were identified, the test set also provided an opportunity to independently quantify model performance.

Selection algorithms were used with their default parameters. The Boruta and VarSelRF algorithms facilitated selection of different sets of variables using performance metrics of zscore (which only identifies a variable as "important" or "unimportant") and accuracy (estimated using OOB error),

respectively. The variables selected by the two methods were then used to model AECs using Random Forest. The Random Forest predictive models were built using the "train" function available in the "caret" package of R and performance statistics such as overall accuracy and kappa were determined for the test dataset during 30 iterations by training the model on a different training set (70%) each time, as well as on the full dataset with 10-fold five times cross validation. Performance statistics (overall accuracy and kappa) of predictive models were also estimated using historical GCM data (1981 through 2005). The Kruskal-Wallis-Test, non-parametric, was conducted using the "kruskal" function in R (package "agricolae"; de Mendiburu, 2015) to statistically compare selected Random Forest models and the selected variables of the final Random Forest model trained on all six dryland AECs. The performance of predictive Random Forest models was further evaluated for each AEC by computing confusion matrix statistics (accuracy and reliability) for each AEC. The same methods of variable selection using VarSelRF model training and evaluation were repeated to produce separate, reduced variable Random Forest models for each of the three main dryland AECs. Here, the stable and dynamic subclasses of each AEC were combined into one AEC to produce three main AECs.

Global Climate Models, Prediction of Future Bioclimatic Variables, and AEC Shifts

Future climate data were derived from 17 GCMs for time periods 2030 (2015–2045), 2050 (2035–2065), and 2070 (2055–2085) and for two Representative Concentration Pathway (RCP) scenarios (RCP-4.5 and RCP-8.5). Downscaled climate data were used to calculate bioclimatic variables identified as important for discriminating among current AECs. Using the current spatial structure of each AEC, spatial average and coefficient of variation (%) of the identified bioclimatic variables were computed under present (1981–2010) as well as future time periods and scenarios (2070 for RCP 4.5 and 8.5).

The selected Random Forest predictive models, trained on current distributions for all six AECs and separately for each of the three main AECs, were used to determine changes in dryland AECs for different climate change time periods and RCP scenarios. This step was conducted in "R" using the "predict" function available in the "caret" package (Kuhn, 2015). Here, future climate scenarios were superimposed on current AEC production outcomes to assess how climate projections would impact the current aerial extent and spatial distribution of AECs. The 17 GCMs resulted in 17 AEC prediction outcomes for each latitude-longitude which were then consolidated into one value by selecting the AEC which had been predicted the maximum number of times.

RESULTS

Modeling AECs

Selection of Bioclimatic Variables and Random Forest Modeling of Current AECs

The Boruta algorithm selected all 44 bioclimatic variables as important for Random Forest modeling of AECs and the resultant model had an overall accuracy using present meteorological data of 76% (Table 2). In contrast, the VarSelRF method indicated that three bioclimatic variables, (Holdridge evapotranspiration index (HBIO), spring (Mar-May) precipitation (Psp), and precipitation of the warmest 4-months, Jun-Sep (Pcm1), modeled all six current AECs with an accuracy of 67% compared to 75% when using all 44 variables (Data not shown). Cross validation performance statistics of the Random Forest model using 44 variables had a slight but significantly greater overall accuracy and kappa for the historical GCM data compared to the reduced model of the VarSelRF method (Table 2). Models of the six current AECs using historical GCM data had an overall accuracy and kappa that were lower than models using present meteorological data (Table 2).

The performance of reduced predictive Random Forest models for each of the three major AECs was superior to the all- and three-variable predictive models for the six AECs (**Table 2**). Cross validation performance statistics were greatest for the GF AEC where the overall accuracy for the Random

Forest model using present data was 93%, followed closely by AC (91%) and AC-T (89%) (**Table 2**). In order of importance, the bioclimatic variables selected by Random Forest modeling of the AC AEC were (1) Holdridge evapotranspiration index, (2) autumn precipitation (Sep–Nov) (Pau), and (3) Aridity Index; for the AC-T AEC, (1) precipitation of the warmest 4-months, Jun–Sep (Pcm1), (2) Holdridge evapotranspiration index, (3) Aridity Index, and (4) precipitation of the 4-month season before Pcm1 (Feb–May) (Pcm2); and for the GF AEC, (1) Holdridge evapotranspiration index, (2) precipitation of the warmest 4-months, Jun–Sep, and (3) Aridity Index (**Table 2**). The performance metrics of the individual three variable predictive Random Forest models using historical GCM data did not deviate substantially from those using present meteorological data (**Table 2**).

Cross validation accuracy and reliability of Random Forest modeling for the six AECs were higher using all bioclimatic variables compared to the three variable Random Forest model (Table 3). Accuracy of a class is the percent of correctly classified pixels out of the actual number of pixels, whereas reliability of a class is the percent of correctly classified pixels out of the predicted number of pixels. Accuracy and reliability ranged from 48 to 89% and were generally greater for stable than dynamic AECs for the six AEC models. Irrespective of the Random Forest model used for all six AECs, predictive accuracy and reliability were highest for the stable GF class averaging 86% and lowest for the dynamic AC-T averaging 55% (Table 3). The accuracy and reliability of the Random Forest models for each of the three individual AECs were notably greater than that of the six AEC Random Forest models and averaged 89% for AC, 87% for AC-T, and 93% for GF (Table 3).

Currently, stable AECs are 59% and dynamic AECs 41% of the total geographical distribution of dryland cropping systems (Table 3). The GF AEC currently has the largest area at 42%, followed by AC-T at 30% and AC at 28%. Spatially, dynamic AECs occur at the boundary of stable AECs (Figure 1). Here, non-parametric one-way ANOVA (Krushkal Wallis) showed significant differences in HBIO, Psp, and Pcm1 among all six AECs, except stable and dynamic AC-T (Table 4). HBIO means ranged from a low of 0.89 for dynamic AC-T to a high of 2.13 for stable GF. The stable GF had the lowest and dynamic AC-T the highest Psp and Pcm1. In addition, bioclimatic variability (CV) was higher for variables in dynamic compared to stable AECs (Table 4). Geospatial contours of HBIO, one of the most useful predictors, and current AECs showed similar patterns with division between AC and AC-T occurring about where HBIO was 1, while division between AC-T and GF occurred where HBIO was 1.5 (Figure 2).

Projected Changes in Bioclimatic Variables and Modeled Shifts in Current AECs

Increases in HBIO are projected under RCP 4.5 and 8.5 by 2070 (**Table 4**, **Figure 2**). Projected increases in Psp and declines in Pcm1 are anticipated across the iPNW. Both HBIO and ARI (different methods of calculating evapotranspiration and then dividing by precipitation) are predicted to increase and were selected as important for

Variable selection algorithm	Variables † (variable importance)	AECs [‡]	Present [§] overall accuracy (%)	Present I kappa	Historical [¶] GCM overall accuracy (%)	Historical GCM kappa
Models for all six sta	ole and dynamic AECs					
Boruta	All 44 variables	All	76	0.70	69a*	0.62a*
VarselRF	HBIO (99.2) + Psp (92.2) + Pcm1 (76.6)	All	69	0.62	64b	0.56b
RF models for each o	f the three major AECs					
VarseIRF	HBIO (84.7) + Pau (43.9) + ARI (33.1)	AC	91	0.79	90	0.75
	Pcm1 (47.8) + HBIO (41.6) + ARI (35.1) + Pcm2 (34.0)	AC-T	89	0.74	86	0.67
	HBIO (55.4) + Pcm1 (36.6) + ARI (26.6)	GF	93	0.86	91	0.83

*Numbers in columns with different letters are statistically different at p <0.05 level of significance using non parametric one-way ANOVA (Krushkal Wallis) test.

¹ HBIO, Holdridge evapotranspiration index (unitless); Psp = spring precipitation (March-May), mm; Pcm1 = precipitation of the warmest four-month season in the year (June-September), mm; Pau = autumn precipitation (September-November), mm; ARI = Aridity index (unitless); Pcm2 = precipitation of the four-month season before Pcm1 (February-May), mm. [‡]All = six stable and dynamic AECs; AC, stable and dynamic annual crop AECs; AC-T, stable and dynamic annual crop-fallow transition AECs; GF, stable and dynamic grain-fallow

AECs.

§Meteorological data from 1981 to 2010.

[¶]Meteorological simulations generated by 17 GCMs (Global Climate Models) from 1981 to 2005.

 TABLE 3 | Agro-ecological classes (AECs) in present time period and cross validation accuracy and reliability of full and reduced variable Random Forest (RF) models for six and three AECs.

		Annual crop	Annual crop-fallow- transition	Grain fallow
Current AECs (number of 4 x 4 km pixels)	Stable	276	271	455
	Dynamic	205	235	262
Full (44 variable)	RF model for	six AECs		
Accuracy [†] (%)	Stable	78	75	84
	Dynamic	78	62	66
Reliability [‡] (%)	Stable	86	77	89
	Dynamic	68	57	62
Reduced (three v	ariable) RF me	odel for six	AECs	
Accuracy (%)	Stable	76	69	88
	Dynamic	59	48	55
Reliability (%)	Stable	68	66	84
	Dynamic	69	54	59
Reduced (three o	r four variable	es) RF mode	els for each	
of the three majo	r AECs			
Actual classified pixels (number)	Presence	481	506	717
	Absence	1223	1198	987
Accuracy (%)	Presence	85	80	91
	Absence	94	93	95
Reliability (%)	Presence	85	82	92
	Absence	94	92	94

[†]Accuracy of a class is defined as the percent of correctly classified pixels of that class out of its total actual/true number of pixels.

[‡]Reliability of a class is defined as the percent of correctly classified pixels of that class out of its total pixels in the predicted classification. individual Random Forest modeling of the three major AECs, although HBIO showed greater predicted responses to climate change than ARI (**Table 4**). Increases in seasonal precipitation were predicted for AC and AC-T; Pcm2 increases were particularly important in AC-T, while Pau increased modestly for AC. In contrast, decreased Pcm1 was predicted for GF (**Table 4**).

A 46% decrease in area for dynamic AC and stable AC-T occurs if future climate scenarios of RCP 8.5 were imposed upon current production systems using the six AEC model (**Table 5**). Areas of stable AC and GF would decline more modestly (8 and 13%, respectively). In contrast, area would increase by 58 and 63%, respectively, for dynamic AC-T and GF. These results are depicted spatially in **Figure 3** for 2070, RCP 8.5, and in comparison with present AECs (**Figure 1**), show dynamic AC-T and GF replacing dynamic AC and stable AC-T, GF, and AC. Coefficients of variation (CVs) of projected areas tended to be higher for dynamic compared to stable AECs and, with a few exceptions (stable AC-T, under RCP 4.5 and 8.5), generally increased as the twenty-first century progressed (**Table 5**).

In general, predictions for the main three AECs followed the same trends as the six AEC models, with the area under AC declining by 17%, AC-T increasing modestly (2%), and with more substantial area increases predicted for GF (15%) across all time periods of RCP 8.5 (**Table 5**). Here, CVs were generally lower under all future climate scenarios than for the six AEC models and did not have a strong tendency to increase with time. Spatial representations of the three main AEC Random Forest models for present day and a future scenario (2070 and RCP 8.5) generally indicate future areas under AC-T encroaching on present day AC while GF replaces AC-T (**Figure 4**).

6

TABLE 4 | Spatial average and coefficient of variation (CV%) of bioclimatic variables used with Random Forest (RF) models for present time period (1981–2010) and their future (2070) predictions under two representative concentration pathway (RCP- 4.5 and 8.5) scenarios derived from 17 global climate models.

Variables † (Units)	\mathbf{RCP}^{\ddagger}	Time period	Annua	al crop	Annual crop-fa	allow-transition	Grain	fallow
			Stable (CV%)	Dynamic (CV%)	Stable (CV%)	Dynamic (CV%)	Stable (CV%)	Dynamic (CV%)
RF modeling of all	six AEC	s						
HBIO (unitless)	n.a. §	Present	0.95d* (19)	0.89e (27)	1.28c (14)	1.31c (22)	2.13a (17)	1.86b (22)
	4.5	2070	1.16 (17)	1.10 (25)	1.53 (13)	1.57 (20)	2.48 (16)	2.19 (21)
	8.5	2070	1.25 (17)	1.20 (23)	1.64 (12)	1.68 (19)	2.61 (15)	2.30 (21)
Psp (mm)	n.a.	Present	162b (16)	176a (17)	126c (20)	133c (26)	74e (19)	100d (26)
	4.5	2070	175 (16)	191 (18)	136 (19)	143 (27)	79 (19)	105 (26)
	8.5	2070	183 (16)	199 (18)	142 (19)	149 (27)	82 (19)	110 (26)
Pcm1 (mm)	n.a.	Present	104b (15)	124a (19)	81c (22)	87c (39)	48e (17)	59d (25)
	4.5	2070	100 (15)	120 (19)	78 (22)	83 (39)	46 (18)	56 (25)
	8.5	2070	102 (14)	122 (19)	80 (22)	85 (38)	47 (18)	57 (26)
			Presence (CV%)	Absence (CV%)	Presence (CV%)	Absence (CV%)	Presence (CV%)	Absence (CV%)

RF modeling of ea	hch of th	ne three major A	ECs					
HBIO (unitless)	n.a.	Present	0.93 (22)	1.73 (29)	1.30 (18)	1.59 (40)	2.03 (20)	1.12 (26)
	4.5	2070	1.13 (21)	2.03 (27)	1.55 (17)	1.88 (38)	2.38 (19)	1.35 (24)
	8.5	2070	1.23 (20)	2.15 (26)	1.65 (16)	1.99 (37)	2.50 (18)	1.45 (23)
ARI (unitless)	n.a.	Present	1.08 (19)	1.90 (27)	1.45 (16)	1.76 (37)	2.21 (19)	1.27 (23)
	4.5	2070	1.17 (19)	2.05 (27)	1.57 (16)	1.90 (37)	2.39 (18)	1.38 (22)
	8.5	2070	1.22 (19)	2.13 (27)	1.64 (16)	1.98 (37)	2.48 (18)	1.44 (22)
Pcm1 (mm)	n.a.	Present	n.a.	n.a.	84 (32)	76 (45)	52 (24)	98 (29)
	4.5	2070	n.a.	n.a.	81 (32)	73 (45)	50 (24)	94 (29)
	8.5	2070	n.a.	n.a.	82 (31)	75 (45)	51 (24)	96 (28)
Pcm2 (mm)	n.a.	Present	n.a.	n.a.	166 (20)	152 (40)	n.a.	n.a.
	4.5	2070	n.a.	n.a.	182 (20)	168 (40)	n.a.	n.a.
	8.5	2070	n.a.	n.a.	190 (20)	175 (40)	n.a.	n.a.
Pau (mm)	n.a.	Present	142 (18)	90 (25)	109 (15)	102 (37)	n.a.	n.a.
	4.5	2070	146 (17)	95 (24)	114 (13)	107 (35)	n.a.	n.a.
	8.5	2070	147 (17)	98 (22)	117 (13)	109 (34)	n.a.	n.a.

*Numbers with different letters are statistically different at p<0.05 level of significance using non parametric one-way ANOVA (Krushkal Wallis) test.

¹ HBIO, Holdridge evapotranspiration index, unitless; Psp = spring precipitation (March-May), mm; Pcm1, Precipitation of the warmest four months (Jun-Sept), mm; ARI, Aridity index, unitless; Pcm2, Precipitation of the four months before Pcm1 (Feb-May), mm; Pau, Autumn precipitation (Sept-Nov), mm.

[‡]RCP, Representative concentration pathway.

§n.a., Not applicable.

DISCUSSION

Identification of Bioclimatic Predictors Useful for Discriminating among Current AECs

Our study emphasizes the use of bioclimatic variables as they contribute to the geographic distributions of species and are used in modeling species occurrence (Watling et al., 2012). The HBIO was identified as an important bioclimatic variable for AEC modeling and prediction of all six dryland AECs as well as each of the three main AECs. Computationally, HBIO is an annual average of monthly temperatures within a range of $0-30^{\circ}$ C, which is multiplied by a constant (58.93; Holdridge, 1967) to give Holdridge evapotranspiration (ET) and then divided by annual precipitation. HBIO, an important variable in the Holdridge life zone classification, is defined as potential evapotranspiration

ratio and as mentioned, is dependent on annual precipitation and annual bio-temperature, the other two important variables used in the classification. The Holdridge life zone classification model represents the relation between climate and vegetation pattern and has been used in climate change studies to investigate the impact of changing climate on species distributions in different ecosystems (Cameron and Scheel, 2001; Enquist, 2002). Values of HBIO < 1 indicates conditions of water sufficiency while HBIO > 1 suggests conditions of water insufficiency or deficiency for all plant and animal life forms (Savage, 2002). In the present study, the average HBIO of stable and dynamic AC AECs were <1, while the remaining AECs, which all rely on fallow, had an HBIO > 1 (**Table 4**). Thus, empirically, HBIO emerged as an important bioclimatic variable for driving future changes in the extent and spatial distribution of AECs (Figures 1-3). Similarly, when considering 44 bioclimatic variables for each



FIGURE 2 | Geo-spatial depiction of current Agro-ecological classes (AECs) and Holdridge Evapotranspiration index (HBIO) in present (1981–2010) and future climate scenario (2070, Representative Concentration Pathway, RCP-8.5).

of the three major AECs, ET indices, namely HBIO, and ARI (Thornthwaite ET index; defined as ratio of Thornthwaite ET to annual precipitation), were identified as the most important driving variables for AEC modeling.

Our analyses do not consider potential beneficial effects of rising carbon dioxide (CO₂) levels on crop physiology including increases in water-use efficiency (WUE) and overall crop yield (Stöckle et al., 2010). Ramírez and Finnerty (1996) reported decreased potential evapotranspiration (PET) under elevated CO₂ conditions and a resultant increase in WUE. Therefore, HBIO, although a bio-temperature based estimate of PET, could decrease with greater levels of atmospheric CO₂, potentially compensating for increased HBIO resulting from warming. Significant increases in soil water availability (via reduced stomatal conductance) under elevated CO2 levels (Lu et al., 2016) could also compensate for negative impacts reported here, particularly the use of annual fallow. Palmquist et al. (2016), however, projected increases in actual evapotranspiration, dry days, and large reductions in available soil water during summer due to climate change for the western U.S. including our study region. Here, potential ameliorating effects of elevated

 CO_2 levels were not considered. Nonetheless, offsets of positive influences of elevated CO_2 levels due to negative effects of increased temperatures on crop physiology and growth have also been reported (Reddy et al., 2002; Zavaleta et al., 2003). Ko et al. (2012) simulated that negative effects of increased temperature would dominate the positive effects of rising CO_2 levels on crop yields in dryland cereal-based rotations of the U.S. Central Great Plains. Consequently, a thorough understanding of positive and negative feedback mechanisms from climatevegetation interactions including CO_2 levels remains elusive.

Previous studies have used annual precipitation as an important delineator to classify dryland cropping systems of the iPNW (Douglas et al., 1988, 1992). In the present study, however, spring precipitation (Psp) and precipitation during the warmest 4 months (Pcm1) were identified as more important empirical predictors of AECs than annual precipitation. From a crop production and soil water storage perspective, most of the annual precipitation occurs from November to May and is important for all dryland AECs of the iPNW (Schillinger et al., 2008). Also relevant, however, are quantities of spring and early summer rainfall (April–Jun) which coincide with

TABLE 5 | Agro-ecological class (AEC) (number of 4 × 4 km pixels) for present time period and predicted number, average and coefficient of variation (CV%), under three future time periods and two representative concentration pathway (RCP-4.5 and 8.5) scenarios derived from 17 global climate models using Random Forest (RF) models for six and three AECs.

Time period	Annua	Il crop	Annual crop-fa	Illow-transition	Grain	fallow
	Stable (CV%)	Dynamic (CV%)	Stable (CV%)	Dynamic (CV%)	Stable (CV%)	Dynamic (CV%)
RF model for si	x AECs					
Present	276	205	271	235	455	262
RCP-4.5						
2030	258 (23)	138 (38)	213 (25)	298 (50)	466 (11)	331 (43)
2050	259 (28)	116 (49)	164 (38)	344 (48)	443 (19)	377 (42)
2070	272 (18)	108 (54)	138 (41)	382 (40)	393 (28)	412 (47)
RCP-8.5						
2030	230 (35)	141 (51)	182 (32)	328 (46)	467 (18)	356 (48)
2050	269 (22)	101 (60)	141 (45)	363 (48)	388 (28)	443 (46)
2070	264 (22)	92 (70)	118 (49)	423 (49)	328 (32)	480 (52)
	Presence (CV%)	Absence (CV%)	Presence (CV%)	Absence (CV%)	Presence (CV%)	Absence (CV%)
Separate RF m	odels for each of the thr	ee major AECs				
Present	481	1223	506	1198	717	987
RCP-4.5						
2030	436 (20)	1268 (7)	495 (21)	1209 (9)	799 (16)	905 (14)
2050	439 (20)	1265 (7)	488 (20)	1216 (8)	816 (16)	888 (15)
2070	420 (21)	1284 (7)	502 (19)	1202 (8)	805 (18)	899 (16)
RCP-8.5						
2030	392 (18)	1312 (6)	494 (22)	1210 (9)	800 (19)	904 (17)
2050	386 (31)	1318 (9)	497 (23)	1207 (9)	842 (19)	862 (18)
2070	415 (32)	1289 (10)	557 (26)	1147 (12)	832 (26)	872 (24)

anthesis and grain filling of winter and spring crops (Schillinger et al., 2008). Our study indicates that seasonal precipitation and temperature significantly contributed toward differentiating among AECs. These results have production relevance as decisions regarding spring flex-cropping options (whether to produce a spring crop or to fallow) would be based on winter precipitation rather than spring and summer rainfall. Consequently, more uncertainty would be associated with flexcropping options, potentially promoting the use of annual fallow.

Predictive Capacity of AEC Models

There are numerous empirical approaches available to understand species distributions and analyze climate-species relations. In the present study, we used "Random Forest," reported as a higher performance algorithm than other empirical approaches (Cutler et al., 2007; Schrag et al., 2008). Watling et al. (2012) did not report significant differences in prediction results using Random Forest with two different sets of variables (bioclimatic and monthly variables). Similarly, with our dataset, using Random Forest to predict current AECs resulted in comparable overall accuracy and kappa with cross validation on different sets of selected variables using two different variable selection methods. Elsewhere, the Random Forest approach has been successfully applied in various fields of research ranging from micro-array data analysis (Díaz-Uriarte and Alvarez de Andrés, 2006), hyper-spectral data analysis (Adam et al., 2012; Poona and Ismail, 2014), current species distribution studies, as well as in predicting distributions with changing future climate (Schrag et al., 2008; Watling et al., 2012; Langdon and Lawler, 2015). Random Forest belongs to the algorithmic modeling culture (Breiman, 2001) in statistical modeling where the data mechanisms are complex and not known. Therefore, Random Forest modeling results can be difficult to interpret and to identify underlying causal mechanisms. Nonetheless, Random Forest is gaining popularity over other empirical approaches for the following reasons: (1) it is non-parametric in nature and does not assume data distribution; (2) it is an ensemble classifier, its results are aggregated over the number of classification trees built/defined in the algorithm, and it avoids overfitting; and (3) the Random Forest algorithm is computationally more efficient and deals well with correlation and high-order interactions between input variables. For many datasets, utilizing Random Forest has proved to be highly accurate compared to other classifiers (Fernández-Delgado et al., 2014).

Performance of Random Forest as a predictive model was comparable with present meteorological as well as GCM data even with the reduction from 44 to 3 variables, which corroborated the high performance of the Random Forest



algorithm (Table 2). The only limitation of using the reduced Random Forest model with three variables was that this might decrease the possible combinations which would otherwise be used by Random Forest to improve AEC classification accuracy. In predictive modeling, however, a less complex and parsimonious model that uses a few important and relevant variables with high explanatory power is easier to interpret than a model with many variables as long as overall accuracy is not too impaired and the less complex model is also able to capture the intricacies of the patterns and distributions modeled (Evans et al., 2011). In our research, the 44 (all variables) Random Forest model had greater accuracy and reliability than the three variable model, but there was little loss in performance by reducing the number of variables from 44 to 3 (Table 2). Therefore, we proceeded with the VarSelRF selection method to reduce model dimensionality as well as redundancy to facilitate interpretation (Murphy et al., 2010) for all subsequent Random Forest modeling of AECs, and also to avoid model overfitting, which occurs in complex models with increased model variance (Hastie et al., 2009; Table 3).

The range in accuracy and reliability for the three variable Random Forest model was much greater for stable than dynamic

AECs (Table 3) indicating more uncertainty would occur in prediction of dynamic AECs when imposing future predicted changes in bioclimatic drivers. Contributing to the uncertainty of dynamic AEC prediction was the scattered spatial distribution (e.g., Thuiller et al., 2003) of dynamic AECs compared to the more compact distribution of stable AECs (Figures 1, 4). In turn, this contributed to higher CVs of selected bioclimatic variables within dynamic compared to stable AECs (Table 4). The relatively poor Random Forest model performance of the dynamic AECs led to modeling each of the three major AECs where stable and dynamic AECs were combined. Here, Random Forest modeling of the three major AECs separately improved overall Random Forest model accuracy from 69% to up to more than 93% (Table 2) and further identified the difficulty in using only bioclimatic variables in one Random Forest model to differentiate between stable and dynamic subclasses of major AECs. Thus, modeling three major AECs separately highlighted the role of bioclimatic variables and identified the need to include additional variables (e.g., soil, seasonal weather, and economic) if greater AEC model accuracy is required. The overall high accuracy (89-93%) of Random Forest modeling of the major AECs using only a few (3-4) bioclimatic





variables was surprising as other socio-economic and biophysical factors contribute to current AEC outcomes (**Figures 1**, **4**). It is important to recognize that the current AECs are derived from the Cropland datalayer (USDA-NASS, 2008–2015) and represents the land use/cover derived from the integration of biophysical and socio-economic factors. Our results, however, emphasize the fundamental importance of climatic variables in driving AEC outcomes and the potential for climate change to shape future AECs.

Regional Shifts in Current AECs under Future Climate Scenarios

It is important to recognize that our analyses simply impose future projections of relevant bioclimatic variables in modeling geo-spatial shifts of AECs under current production factors, including existing levels of atmospheric CO_2 . The modeled changes in AECs indicate that cropping systems would be less stable and employ more annual fallow, thereby decreasing cropping system intensification. Currently, the GF AEC is the least flexible and diverse cropping system with few economic options with respect to crop choice, consisting primarily of winter wheat followed by annual fallow in short, 2-year rotations. Consequently, the GF AEC is the most vulnerable to extremes in weather or variations in markets, farm input costs, government policies and other sources of uncertainty. In contrast, the AC AEC has the most crop diversity and is relatively less vulnerable to future uncertainties, although improvements would be beneficial (Huggins et al., 2015).

Collectively, these results suggest a reduction in cropping intensity, potentially reduced yields (more fallow) and diversity, and increased area where cropping systems are less stable under climate change. These conclusions contrast sharply with results reported for the same region using process-oriented cropping system modeling that includes increasing future levels of CO2 (Karimi et al., 2017; Stöckle et al., 2017). Here, crop yields are simulated to increase under the same climate change scenarios presented here with the conclusion that there will be less annual fallow. Challenges of biophysical modeling of cropping systems, however, include determining what factors determine the geospatial extent and location of a given cropping system. This challenge becomes more acute if cropping systems are projected to become more dynamic as in our study. Many factors other than crop yield, such as social-economic, yield stability and risk, disease, weed and pest pressure, are not fully integrated into crop models to determine the cropping system that would be used by producers. Here, projected yield increases may not necessarily result in less fallow and could actually be associated with more fallow to aid the stability of higher yields. Furthermore, if higher yields are associated with more area under annual fallow, then the overall crop yields of the region could decline. Our analyses use the cropping systems derived from the Cropland data-layer (USDA-NASS, 2008-2015) which are geo-spatial outcomes of producer decisions resulting from the integration of all contributing bio-physical and socioeconomic factors. We contend, therefore, that future research will need to explore and develop production systems that promote intensification and diversification in the face of adverse climate change.

Relevance of AEC Shifts for Sustainable Agriculture

Processes affecting soil resources in dryland cropping systems of the iPNW include soil erosion through the action of wind, water, and tillage (McCool et al., 1998; Saxton et al., 2000; Sharratt et al., 2012), declining levels of soil organic matter (SOM; Rasmussen et al., 1989; Purakayastha et al., 2008), increasing soil acidification (Mahler et al., 1985; Brown et al., 2008), and decreasing soil biological activity and diversity (Elliott and Lynch, 1994). Currently, these degradation processes threaten the sustainability of the region's dryland cropping systems (McCool et al., 2001). Winter wheat following annual fallow combined with conventional tillage that leaves little protective surface crop or residue cover is particularly prone to soil erosion. Potential increases in HBIO and shifts toward more annual fallow due to climate change (**Table 5**) could increase the regional hazard of soil erosion. This could occur despite potential off-setting factors, such as increased crop biomass production due to CO_2 fertilization effects (Sharratt et al., 2015). Annual soil losses due to soil erosion by wind and water currently range from 1 to 50 Mg ha⁻¹ (Nagle and Ritchie, 2004; Kok et al., 2008; Sharratt et al., 2012). Rates of soil erosion below established USDA annual soil loss tolerance limits of 2.2–11.2 Mg ha⁻¹ (Renard et al., 1997) are likely required to meet agricultural sustainability goals (Montgomery, 2007) and could be achieved with continuous no-tillage under annual or perennial cropping systems that limit annual fallow (Huggins and Reganold, 2008; Huggins et al., 2014a).

Negative impacts of annual fallow on SOM, primarily due to decreased crop inputs, factors enhancing biological decomposition (e.g., tillage, water, and temperature), and increased vulnerability to soil erosion, are well-documented (Campbell et al., 1999; Liebig et al., 2006; Gan et al., 2012). Declining SOM associated with increasing regional climate ratios as projected by future climate change in the iPNW (Morrow et al., 2017) would further promote soil degradation processes by negatively impacting aggregate stability and microbial communities and their functions (Allen et al., 2011; Maestre et al., 2015). Annual fallow has been reported to adversely influence microbial biomass and activity (Steenwerth et al., 2002; Pankhurst et al., 2005) as well as obligatory symbiotic organisms such as arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Thompson, 1987; Pankhurst et al., 2005). The primary objective of annual fallow is to stabilize crop yields under conditions of low or widely varying precipitation (Greb et al., 1974). Annual fallow has been widely practiced across agricultural areas of the western United States and Prairie Provinces of Canada (Nielson and Calderon, 2011). In the iPNW, 2-year winter wheat-annual fallow rotations have dominated low annual precipitation areas with dryland cropping since the 1890s as this rotation is less risky and more profitable (Schillinger et al., 2006). Therefore, overcoming projected increases in annual fallow that would further threaten the regions agricultural sustainability under climate change will likely require diverse strategies that engage socio-economic as well as biophysical dimensions (Peterson et al., 1996; Pan et al., 2016; Maaz et al., in press).

Agricultural strategies to reduce or eliminate annual fallow and its adverse effects include: (1) conservation tillage practices; (2) intensification and diversification of cropping systems; (3) elimination of crop residue removal via residue burning or harvest; (4) use of soil amendments such as manures and biosolids; and (5) policies that enhance the short-term economics of alternative crops and fallow replacement. Precipitation-use efficiency, under cropping systems with annual fallow, ranges from 10 to 40% (Peterson et al., 1996; Farahani et al., 1998). Reviewing the literature, Hatfield et al. (2001) concluded that increases in WUE of 25-40% could be achieved through conservation tillage and cropping system intensification in semiarid environments. Peterson et al. (1996), however, stated that despite improvements in WUE or environmental factors, adoption of intensified cropping systems depended more on favorable economic outcomes and government programs. In the iPNW, various alternative crop and opportunity (flex)

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

crop options have been explored such as canola (Pan et al., 2016; Maaz et al., in press), facultative wheat (Bewick et al., 2008), and fallow replacement with no-till spring wheat (Thorne et al., 2003). Maaz et al. (in press) concluded, however, given the economic competitiveness of wheat in the iPNW, that (1) economic approaches should be broadened to allow crop rotational rather than single commodity assessments; (2) crop insurance policies should consider more support of whole farm risk management options; and (3) additional multi-commodity groups with an interest in market-driven crop diversification should be established.

CONCLUSIONS

Bioclimatic variables were useful for discriminating among iPNW AECs using Random Forest models. In particular, potential evapotranspiration based indices proved to be more relevant predictors of present iPNW AECs than annual precipitation which is commonly used to describe agricultural zones. Super-imposing future climate scenarios onto current agricultural production systems resulted in significant geospatial shifts in AECs. Dynamic and fallow-based AECs increased in area while stable AECs and annual cropping AECs decreased. Increasing annual fallow is counter to cropping system objectives of increasing intensification, diversification, and productivity. Furthermore, more annual fallow would aggravate soil degradation processes by increasing vulnerability to soil erosion and adversely impacting soil organic matter and biological activity. Our model results do not integrate important future influences including technological and scientific advances, changing agricultural markets, and economies and rising atmospheric CO₂ levels. Integrative, transdisciplinary research that includes genetic, environmental, management, and

REFERENCES

- Abatzoglou, J. T. (2013). Development of gridded surface meteorological data for ecological applications and modelling. *Int. J. Climatol.* 33, 121–131. doi: 10.1002/joc.3413
- Abatzoglou, J. T., and Brown, T. J. (2012). A comparison of statistical downscaling methods suited for wildfire applications. *Int. J. Climatol.* 32, 772–780. doi: 10.1002/joc.2312
- Adam, E. M., Mutanga, O., Rugege, D., and Ismail, R. (2012). Discriminating the papyrus vegetation (*Cyperus papyrus* L.) and its co-existent species using random forest and hyperspectral data resampled to HYMAP. *Int. J. Remote Sen.* 33, 552–569. doi: 10.1080/01431161.2010.543182
- Allen, D. E., Singh, B. P., and Dalal, R. C. (2011). "Soil health indicators under climate change: a review of current knowledge" in *Soil Health and Climate Change*, eds B. P. Singh, A. L. Cowie, and K. Y. Chan (Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer), 25–45.
- Bewick, L. S., Young, F. L., Alldredge, J. R., and Young, D. L. (2008). Agronomics and economics of no-till facultative wheat in the Pacific Northwest. *Crop. Prot.* 27, 932–942. doi: 10.1016/j.cropro.2007.11.013
- Breiman, L. (2001). Statistical modeling: the two cultures. *Statist. Sci.* 16, 199–231. doi: 10.1214/ss/1009213726
- Brown, T. T., Koenig, R. T., Huggins, D. R., Harsh, J. B., and Rossi, R. E. (2008). Lime effects on soil acidity, crop yield, and aluminum chemistry in direct-seeded cropping systems. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 72, 634–640. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2007.0061

social-economic dimensions will be required if sustainable agricultural systems are to be developed to address future uncertainties including climate change.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DH, RR, JA, CS, and JR have served on HK's Ph.D. research committee and aided the development of research objectives, methods, and discussion. HK: Worked with the climate and AEC data in ArcGIS and R, developed methods with the help of all committee members to run the empirical analysis. DH: Corresponding author and PI of the project, has made substantial contribution to this study, provided his time in discussion, advising, guiding, and funding to conduct the study and as well as provided immense help in organizing, writing and editing the manuscript. RR has made significant contribution in providing guidance on all the ArcGIS methods applied in this study, provided his time in discussion and answering queries related to ArcGIS. JA has made good amount of contribution by helping answering queries related to accessing climate data during the course of study and provided helpful edits on the manuscript. CS: Provided suggestions during the course of the study which were helpful in improving the study and as well as suggestions on the manuscript. JR: Provided suggestions during the course of the study which were helpful in improving the study and as well as suggestions and edits on the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study is part of the project "Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture," funded through award #2011-68002-30191 from the USDA-National Institute for Food and Agriculture.

- Cameron, G. N., and Scheel, D. (2001). Getting warmer: effect of global climate change on distribution of rodents in texas. J. Mammal. 82, 652–680. doi: 10.1644/1545-1542(2001)082<0652:GWEOGC>2.0.CO;2
- Campbell, C. A., Biederbeck, V. O., McConkey, B. G., Curtin, D., and Zentner, R. P. (1999). Soil organic matter quality as influenced by tillage and fallow frequency in a silt loam in southwestern Saskatchewan. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 31, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(97)00212-5
- Chang, T., Hansen, A. J., and Piekielek, N. (2014). Patterns and variability of projected bioclimatic habitat for *Pinus albicaulis* in the greater yellowstone area. *PLoS ONE* 9:e111669. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0111669
- Chen, I.-C., Hill, J. K., Ohlemüller, R., Roy, D. B., and Thomas, C. D. (2011). Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. *Science* 333, 1024. doi: 10.1126/science.1206432
- Clark, J., Wang, Y., and August, P. V. (2014). Assessing current and projected suitable habitats for tree-of-heaven along the Appalachian Trail. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 369:20130192. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0192
- Cutler, D. R., Edwards, T. C., Beard, K. H., Cutler, A., Hess, K. T., Gibson, J., et al. (2007). Random forests for classification in ecology. *Ecology* 88, 2783–2792. doi: 10.1890/07-0539.1
- de Mendiburu, F. (2015). Agricolae: Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research. R package version 1.2-3. Available online at: http://CRAN.R-project.org/ package=agricolae
- Diaz-Uriarte, R. (2014). varSelRF: Variable Selection using Random Forests. R package version 0.7-5. Available online at: http://CRAN.R-project.org/ package=varSelRF

- Díaz-Uriarte, R., and Alvarez de Andrés, S. (2006). Gene selection and classification of microarray data using random forest. *BMC Bioinform.* 7:3. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-7-3
- Douglas, C. L. Jr., Rickman, R. W., Klepper, B. L., and Zuzel, J. F. (1992). Agroclimatic zones for dryland winter wheat producing areas of Idaho, Washington and Oregon. Northwest Sci. 66, 26–34.
- Douglas, C. L. Jr., Rickman, R. W., Zuzel, J. F., and Klepper, B. L. (1988). Criteria for delineation of agronomic zones in the Pacific North-west. J. Soil Water Conserv. 43, 415–418.
- Elliott, L. F., and Lynch, J. M. (1994). "Biodiversity and soil resilience," in Soil Resilience and Sustainable Land Use, eds D. J. Greenland, and I. Szaboles (Wallingford, UK: CAB International), 353–364.
- Enquist, C. A. F. (2002). Predicted regional impacts of climate change on the geographical distribution and diversity of tropical forests in Costa Rica. J. Biogeogr. 29, 519–534. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2699.2002.00695.x
- ESRI (2011). ArcGIS Desktop: 10.3.1. Redlands, CA: ESRI. Available online at: http://www.esri.com/index.html
- Estes, L. D., Beukes, H., Bradley, B. A., Debats, S. R., Oppenheimer, M., Ruane, A. C., et al. (2013). Projected climate impacts to South African maize and wheat production in 2055: a comparison of empirical and mechanistic modeling approaches. *Global Change Biol.* 19, 3762–3774. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12325
- Evangelista, P., Young, N., and Burnett, J. (2013). How will climate change spatially affect agriculture production in Ethiopia? Case studies of important cereal crops. *Clim. Change* 119, 855–873. doi: 10.1007/s10584-013-0776-6
- Evans, J. S., Murphy, M. A., Holden, Z. A., and Cushman, S. A. (2011). "Modeling species distribution and change using random forest," in *Predictive Species and Habitat Modeling in Landscape Ecology*, eds C. A. Drew, Y. F. Wiersma, and F. Huettmann (New York, NY: Springer), 139–159.
- Farahani, H. J., Peterson, G. A., Westfall, D. G., Sherrod, L. A., and Ahuja, L. R. (1998). Soil water storage in dryland cropping systems: the significance of cropping intensification. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 62, 984–991. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1998.03615995006200040020x
- Fernández-Delgado, M., Cernadas, E., Barro, S., and Amorim, D. (2014). Do we need hundreds of classifiers to solve real world classification problems? J. Mach. Learn. Res. 15, 3133–3181.
- Fortino, V., Kinaret, P., Fyhrquist, N., Alenius, H., and Greco, D. (2014). A robust and accurate method for feature selection and prioritization from multi-class OMICs data. PLoS ONE 9:e107801. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107801
- Gan, Y., Liang, C., Campbell, C. A., Zentner, R. P., Lemke, R. L., Wang, H., et al. (2012). Carbon footprint of spring wheat in response to fallow frequency and soil carbon changes over 25 years on the semiarid Canadian prairie. *Eur. J. Agron.* 43, 175–184. doi: 10.1016/j.eja.2012.07.004
- Gonzalez, P. (2001). Desertification and a shift of forest species in the West African Sahel. *Clim. Res.* 17, 217–228. doi: 10.3354/cr017217
- Greb, B. W., Smika, D. E., Woodruff, N. P., and Whitfield, C.J. (1974). "Summer fallow in the central Great Plains," in USDA-ARS Conserv. Res. Rep. No. 17. (Washington, DC: U.S. Gov. Print. Office), 51–85.
- Guo, P., Zhang, Q., Zhu, Z., Huang, Z., and Li, K. (2014). Mining gene expression data of multiple sclerosis. *PLoS ONE* 9:e100052. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100052
- Hastie, T., Tibshirani, R., and Friedman, J. (2009). *The Elements of Statistical Learning:Data Mining, Inference, and Prediction, 2nd Edn.* New York, NY: Springer.
- Hatfield, J. L., Sauer, T. J., and Prueger, J. H. (2001). Managing soils to achieve greater water use efficiency. *Agron. J.* 93, 271–280. doi: 10.2134/agronj2001.932271x
- Holdridge, L. R. (1967). Life Zone Ecology. San Jose, CA: Tropical Science Center.
- Huggins, D. R., and Reganold, J. P. (2008). No-till: the quiet revolution. *Sci. Am.* 299, 70–77. doi: 10.1038/scientificamerican0708-70
- Huggins, D. R., Kruger, C. E., Painter, K. M., and Uberuaga, D. P. (2014a). Sitespecific trade-offs of harvesting cereal residues as biofuel feedstocks in dryland annual cropping systems of the pacific northwest, U.S.A. *BioEnergy Res.* 7, 598–608. doi: 10.1007/s12155-014-9438-4
- Huggins, D. R., Rupp, R., Kaur, H., and Eigenbrode, S. (2014b). "Defining agroecological classes for assessing land use dynamics," in *Regional Approaches* to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture, eds K. Borrelli, D. Daley-Laursen, S. Eigenbrode, B. Mahler, and B. Stokes (Moscow: University of Idaho), 4–7.
- Huggins, D., Pan, W., Schillinger, W., Young, F., Machado, S., and Painter, K. (2015). "Crop diversity and intensity in Pacific Northwest dryland cropping

systems," in *Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest*, eds K. Borrelli, D. Daley-Laursen, S. Eigenbrode, B. Mahler, and R. Pepper (Moscow: University of Idaho), 38–41.

- Karimi, T., Stöckle, C. O., Higgins, S., Nelson, R. L., and Huggins, D. R. (2017). Projected dryland cropping system shifts in the Pacific Northwest in response to climate change. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017. 00020
- Ko, J., Ahuja, L. R., Saseendran, S. A., Green, T. R., Ma, L., Nielsen, D. C., et al. (2012). Climate change impacts on dryland cropping systems in the Central Great Plains, U. S. A. *Clim. Change* 111, 445–472. doi: 10.1007/s10584-011-0175-9
- Kok, H., Papendick, R. I., and Saxton, K. E. (2008). STEEP: impact of long-term conservation farming research and education in Pacific Northwest wheatlands. J. Soil Water Conserv. 64, 253–264. doi: 10.2489/jswc.64.4.253
- Kuhn, M. (2015). Caret: Classification and Regression Training. R Package, v515. Available online at: http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/caret/
- Kumar, S., Merwade, V., Rao, P. S. C., and Pijanowski, B. C. (2013). Characterizing long-term land use/cover change in the united states from 1850 to 2000 using a nonlinear bi-analytical model. *Ambio* 42, 285–297. doi: 10.1007/s13280-012-0354-6
- Kursa, M. B., and Rudnicki, W. R. (2010). Feature selection with the Boruta package. J. Stat. Softw. 36, 1–13. doi: 10.18637/jss.v036.i11
- Langdon, J. G. R., and Lawler, J. J. (2015). Assessing the impacts of projected climate change on biodiversity in the protected areas of western North America. *Ecosphere* 6, 1–14. doi: 10.1890/ES14-00400.1
- Lawler, J. J., Shafer, S. L., White, D., Kareiva, P., Maurer, E. P., Blaustein, A. R., et al. (2009). Projected climate-induced faunal change in the Western Hemisphere. *Ecology* 90, 588–597. doi: 10.1890/08-0823.1
- Liebig, M., Carpenter-Boggs, L., Johnson, J. M. F., Wright, S., and Barbour, N. (2006). Cropping system effects on soil biological characteristics in the Great Plains. *Renew. Agr. Food Syst.* 21, 36–48. doi: 10.1079/RAF2005124
- Lu, X., Wang, L., and McCabe, M. F. (2016). Elevated CO₂ as a driver of global dryland greening. *Sci. Rep.* 6:20716. doi: 10.1038/srep20716
- Maaz, T., Wulfhorst, J. D., McCracken, V., Kirkegaard, J., Huggins, D. R., Roth, I., et al. (in press). Economic, policy, and social trends and challenges of introducing oilseed and pulse crops into dryland wheat rotations. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.03.018
- Maestre, F. T., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Jeffries, T. C., Eldridge, D. J., Ochoa, V., Gozalo, B., et al. (2015). Increasing aridity reduces soil microbial diversity and abundance in global drylands. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 15684–15689. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1516684112
- Mahler, R. L., Halvorson, A. R., and Koehler, F. E. (1985). Long-term acidification of farmland in northern Idaho and Eastern Washington. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plan.* 16, 83–95. doi: 10.1080/00103628509367589
- McCool, D. K., Huggins, D. R., Saxton, K. E., and Kennedy, A. C. (2001). "Factors affecting agricultural sustainability in the Pacific Northwest, USA: an overview," in Sustaining the Global Farm, 255-260, Selected Papers from the 10th International Soil Conservation Organization Meeting held May 24–29, 1999, eds D. E. Stott, R. H. Mohtar, and G. C. Steinhardt (West Lafayette: Purdue University and the USDA-ARS National Soil Erosion Research Laboratory).
- McCool, D. K., Montgomery, J. A., Busacca, A. J., and Frazier, B. E. (1998). "Soil degradation by tillage movement," in *International Soil Conservation* Organization Conference Proceedings: Advances in GeoEcology (West Lafayette: Catena-Verlag), 327–332.
- Monadjem, A., Virani, M. Z., Jackson, C., and Reside, A. (2013). Rapid decline and shift in the future distribution predicted for the endangered Sokoke Scops Owl Otus ireneae due to climate change. Bird Conserv. Int. 23, 247–258. doi: 10.1017/S0959270912000330
- Montgomery, D. R. (2007). Soil erosion and agricultural sustainability. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 13268–13272. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0611508104
- Morrow, J. G., Huggins, D. R., and Reganold, J. P. (2017). Climate change predicted to negatively influence surface soil organic matter of dryland cropping systems in the inland Pacific Northwest, U. S. A. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5:10. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00010
- Murphy, M. A., Evans, J. S., and Storfer, A. (2010). Quantifying Bufo boreas connectivity in Yellowstone National Park with landscape genetics. *Ecology* 91, 252–261. doi: 10.1890/08-0879.1
- Nagle, G. N., and Ritchie, J. C. (2004). Wheat field erosion rates and channel bottom sediment sources in an intensively cropped northeastern Oregon drainage basin. *Land Degrad. Dev.* 15, 15–26. doi: 10.1002/ldr.587

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

- Nielson, D. C., and Calderon, F. J. (2011). "Fallow effects on soil," in Soil Management: Building a Stable Base for Agriculture, eds J. L. Hatfield and T. J. Sauer (Madison, WI: ACSESS Publications: Soil Science Society of America), 287–300.
- Omernik, J., and Griffith, G. (2014). Ecoregions of the conterminous united states: evolution of a hierarchical spatial framework. *Environ. Manag.* 54, 1249–1266. doi: 10.1007/s00267-014-0364-1
- Ovalle-Rivera, O., Läderach, P., Bunn, C., Obersteiner, M., and Schroth, G. (2015). Projected Shifts in *Coffea arabica* Suitability among major global producing regions due to climate change. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0124155. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0124155
- Palmquist, K. A., Schlaepfer, D. R., Bradford, J. B., and Lauenroth, W. K. (2016). Spatial and ecological variation in dryland ecohydrological responses to climate change: implications for management. *Ecosphere* 7:e01590. doi: 10.1002/ecs2.1590
- Pan, W. L., Young, F. L., Maaz, T. M., and Huggins, D. R. (2016). Canola integration into semi-arid wheat cropping systems of the inland Pacific Northwestern, U.S.A. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 67, 253–265. doi: 10.1071/CP15217
- Pankhurst, C. E., Stirling, G. R., Magarey, R. C., Blair, B. L., Holt, J. A., Bell, M. J., et al. (2005). Quantification of the effects of rotation breaks on soil biological properties and their impact on yield decline in sugarcane. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 37, 1121–1130. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.11.011
- Pauli, H., Gottfried, M., Reiter, K., Klettner, C., and Grabherr, G. (2007). Signals of range expansions and contractions of vascular plants in the high Alps: observations (1994–2004) at the GLORIA* master site Schrankogel, Tyrol, Austria. *Global Change Biol.* 13, 147–156. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01282.x
- Peinado, M., Díaz, G., Delgadillo, J., Ocaña-Peinado, F. M., Macías, M. A., Aguirre, J. L., et al. (2012). Bioclimate-vegetation interrelations along the pacific rim of North America. Am. J. Plant Sci. 3, 1430–1450. doi: 10.4236/ajps.2012.310173
- Peterson, G. A., Schlegel, A. J., Tanaka, D. L., and Jones, O. R. (1996). Precipitation use efficiency as affected by cropping and tillage systems. J. Prod. Agric. 8, 180–186. doi: 10.2134/jpa1996.0180
- Pompe, S., Hanspach, J., Badeck, F., Klotz, S., Thuiller, W., and Kühn, I. (2008). Climate and land use change impacts on plant distributions in Germany. *Biol. Lett.* 4, 564–567. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2008.0231
- Poona, N. K., and Ismail, R. (2014). Using boruta-selected spectroscopic wavebands for the asymptomatic detection of *Fusarium circinatum* stress. *IEEE J. Sel. Topics Appl. Earth Observ. in Remote Sens.* 7, 3764–3772. doi: 10.1109/JSTARS.2014.2329763
- Purakayastha, T. J., Rudrappa, L., Singh, D., Swarup, A., and Bhadraray, S. (2008). Long-term impact of fertilizers on soil organic carbon pools and sequestration rates in maize-wheat-cowpea cropping system. *Geoderma* 144, 370–378. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2007.12.006
- R Core Team (2015). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available online at: https:// www.R-project.org/
- Ramírez, J. A., and Finnerty, B. (1996). CO₂ and temperature effects on evapotranspiration and irrigated agriculture. ASCE J. Irrig. Drain. Eng. 122, 155–163. doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9437(1996)122:3(155)
- Rasmussen, P. E., Collins, H. P., and Smiley, R. W. (1989). "Long-term management effects on soil productivity and crop yield in semi-arid regions of Eastern Oregon," in *Agricultural Experiment Station, Bulletin No.* 675 (Pendleton, OR: Oregon State University).
- Rasztovits, E., Moricz, N., Berki, I., Potzelsberger, E., and Matyas, C. (2012). Evaluating the performance of stochastic distribution models for European beech at low-elevation xeric limits. *Q. J. Hungarian Meteorol. Serv.* 116, 173–194.
- Reddy, K. R., Doma, P. R., Mearns, L. O., Boone, M. Y. L., Hodges, H. F., Richardson, A. G., et al. (2002). Simulating the impacts of climate change on cotton production in the Mississippi Delta. *Clim Res.* 22, 271–281. doi: 10.3354/cr022271
- Ren, Z., Wang, D., Ma, A., Hwang, J., Bennett, A., Sturrock, H. J. W., et al. (2016). Predicting malaria vector distribution under climate change scenarios in China: challenges for malaria elimination. *Sci. Rep.* 6:20604. doi: 10.1038/srep20604
- Renard, K. G., Foster, G. R., Weesies, G. A., McCool, D. K., and Yoder, D. C. (1997). Predicting Soil Erosion by Water: A Guide to Conservation Planning

with the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE). Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office, USDA.

- Rupp, D. E., Abatzoglou, J. T., Hegewisch, K. C., and Mote, P. W. (2013). Evaluation of CMIP5 20th century climate simulations for the Pacific Northwest, U. S. A. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 118, 10884–10906. doi: 10.1002/jgrd.50843
- Savage, J. M. (2002). The Amphibians and Reptiles of Costa Rica: A Herpetofauna between Two Continents, between Two Seas. Chicago, IL; London: University of Chicago Press.
- Saxton, K., D., Chandler, L., Stetler, B., Lamb, C., Claiborn, B., and Lee, H. (2000). Wind erosion and fugitive dust fluxes on agricultural lands in the pacific northwest. *T. ASAE* 43, 631–640. doi: 10.13031/2013. 2743
- Schillinger, W. F., Papendick, R. I., Guy, S. O., Rasmussen, P. E., and van Kessel, C., (2006). "Dryland Cropping in the Western United States," in Agronomy Monograph No. 23, Dryland Agriculture, eds G. A. Peterson, P. W. Unger, and W. A. Payne (Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America), 365–393.
- Schillinger, W. F., Schofstoll, S. E., and Alldredge, J. R. (2008). Available water and wheat grain yield relations in a Mediterranean climate. *Field Crop. Res.* 109, 45–49. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2008.06.008
- Schrag, A. M., Bunn, A. G., and Graumlich, L. J. (2008). Influence of bioclimatic variables on tree-line conifer distribution in the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem: implications for species of conservation concern. J. Biogeogr. 35, 698–710. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2007.01815.x
- Sharratt, B. S., Tatarko, J., Abatzoglou, J. T., Fox, F. A., and Huggins, D. (2015). Implications of climate change on wind erosion of agricultural lands in the Columbia plateau. *Weather Clim. Extremes* 10, 20–31. doi: 10.1016/j.wace.2015.06.001
- Sharratt, B. S., Wendling, L., and Feng, G. (2012).Surface characteristics of a wind blown soil altered by tillage intensity during summer fallow. *Aeol. Res.* 5, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.aeolia.2012.02.002
- Steenwerth, K. L., Jackson, L. E., Calderón, F. J., Stromberg, M. R., and Scow, K. M. (2002). Soil microbial community composition and land use history in cultivated and grassland ecosystems of coastal California. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34, 1599–1611. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(02) 00144-X
- Stöckle, C. O., Higgins, S., Nelson, R., Abatzoglou, J., Huggins, D., Pan, W., et al. (2017). Evaluating opportunities for an increased role of winter crops as adaptation to climate change in dryland cropping systems of the U.S. Inland Pacific Northwest. *Clim. Change.* 1–15 doi: 10.1007/s10584-017-1950-z
- Stöckle, C. O., Nelson, R. L., Higgins, S., Brunner, J., Grove, G., Boydston, R., et al. (2010). Assessment of climate change impact on Eastern Washington agriculture. *Clim. Change* 102, 77–102. doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9851-4
- Taylor, K. E., Stouffer, R. J., and Meehl, G. A. (2012). An overview of CMIP5 and the experiment design. Bull. Am. Meteor. Soc. 93, 485–498. doi: 10.1175/BAMS-D-11-00094.1
- Thompson, J. P. (1987). Decline of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae in long fallow disorder of field crops and its expression in phosphorus deficiency of sunflower. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 38, 847–867. doi: 10.1071/AR9870847
- Thorne, M. E., Young, F. L., Pan, W. L., Bafus, R., and Alldredge, J. R. (2003). No-till spring cereal cropping systems reduce wind erosion susceptibility in the wheat/fallow region of the Pacific Northwest. J. Soil Water Conserv. 58, 250–257.
- Thuiller, W., Araújo, M. B., and Lavorel, S. (2003). Generalized models vs. classification tree analysis: predicting spatial distributions of plant species at different scales. J. Veg. Sci. 14, 669–680. doi: 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2003.tb02199.x
- USDA-NASS (2008–2015). US Department of Agriculture National Agricultural Statistics Service Cropland Data Layer published during 2008 to 2015. Available online at: https://nassgeodata.gmu.edu/CropScape/
- USDA-NRCS (2006). United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service: Land Resource Regions and Major Land Resource Areas of the United States, the Caribbean, and the Pacific Basin, U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook, 296.

- Watling, J. I., Roma-ach, S. S., Bucklin, D. N., Speroterra, C., Brandt, L. A., Pearlstine, L. G., et al. (2012). Do bioclimate variables improve performance of climate envelope models? *Ecol. Model.* 246, 79–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2012.07.018
- Wilson, R. J., Gutiérrez, D., Gutiérrez, J., Martínez, D., Agudo, R., and Monserrat, V. J. (2005). Changes to the elevational limits and extent of species ranges associated with climate change. *Ecol. Lett.* 8, 1138–1146. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00824.x
- Zavaleta, E. S., Thomas, B. D., Chiariello, N. R., Asner, G. P., Shaw, M. R., and Field, C. B. (2003). Plants reverse warming effect on ecosystem water balance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 9892–9893. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1732012100
- Zhang, G., Dong, J., Zhou, C., Xu, X., Wang, M., Ouyang, H., et al. (2013). Increasing cropping intensity in response to climate warming in Tibetan Plateau, China. *Field Crop. Res.* 142, 36–46. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2012. 11.021

Conflict of Interest Statement: The handling Editor declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with one of the authors JA and states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Kaur, Huggins, Rupp, Abatzoglou, Stöckle and Reganold. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Impact of Climate Change Adaptation Strategies on Winter Wheat and Cropping System Performance across Precipitation Gradients in the Inland Pacific Northwest, USA

Tai M. Maaz^{1*}, William F. Schillinger², Stephen Machado³, Erin Brooks⁴, Jodi L. Johnson-Maynard⁵, Lauren E. Young⁶, Frank L. Young⁷, Ian Leslie⁷, Ayana Glover⁴, Isaac J. Madsen¹, Aaron Esser⁸, Harold P. Collins⁹ and William L. Pan¹

¹ Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ² Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Lind Dryland Research Station, Washington State University, Lind, WA, United States, ³ Columbia Basin Agricultural Research Center, Adams, OR, United States, ⁴ Biological Engineering, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States, ⁵ Department of Plant, Soil and Entomological Sciences, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States, ⁶ Washington State Crop Improvement Association, Pullman, WA, United States, ⁷ Northwest Sustainable Agroecosystems Research (USDA ARS), Pullman, WA, United States, ⁸ Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Lind Research Station, Washington State University Extension, Ritzville, WA, United States, ⁹ Grassland, Soil and Water Research Laboratory (USDA ARS), Temple, TX, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luuk Fleskens, Wageningen University and Research Centre, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Saeedeh Nazari Nooghabi, Tarbiat Modares University, Iran Ana Iglesias, Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, Spain

> *Correspondence: Tai M. Maaz tai.mcclellan@wsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Environmental Science

> **Received:** 01 March 2017 **Accepted:** 01 May 2017 **Published:** 29 May 2017

Citation:

Maaz TM, Schillinger WF, Machado S, Brooks E, Johnson-Maynard JL, Young LE, Young FL, Leslie I, Glover A, Madsen IJ, Esser A, Collins HP and Pan WL (2017) Impact of Climate Change Adaptation Strategies on Winter Wheat and Cropping System Performance across Precipitation Gradients in the Inland Pacific Northwest, USA. Front. Environ. Sci. 5:23. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00023

Ecological instability and low resource use efficiencies are concerns for the long-term productivity of conventional cereal monoculture systems, particularly those threatened by projected climate change. Crop intensification, diversification, reduced tillage, and variable N management are among strategies proposed to mitigate and adapt to climate shifts in the inland Pacific Northwest (iPNW). Our objectives were to assess these strategies across iPNW agroecological zones and time for their impacts on (1) winter wheat (WW) (Triticum aestivum L.) productivity, (2) crop sequence productivity, and (3) N fertilizer use efficiency. Region-wide analysis indicated that WW yields increased with increasing annual precipitation, prior to maximizing at 520 mm yr⁻¹ and subsequently declining when annual precipitation was not adjusted for available soil water holding capacity. While fallow periods were effective at mitigating low nitrogen (N) fertilization efficiencies under low precipitation, efficiencies declined as annual precipitation exceeded 500 mm yr⁻¹. Variability in the response of WW yields to annual precipitation and N fertilization among locations and within sites supports precision N management implementation across the region. In years receiving <350 mm precipitation yr⁻¹, WW yields declined when preceded by crops rather than summer fallow. Nevertheless, WW yields were greater when preceded by pulses and oilseeds rather than wheat across a range of yield potentials, and when under conservation tillage practices at low yield potentials. Despite the yield penalty associated with eliminating fallow prior to WW, cropping system level productivity was not affected by intensification, diversification, or conservation tillage. However, increased fertilizer N inputs, lower fertilizer N use efficiencies, and more yield variance may offset and limit the economic feasibility of intensified and diversified cropping systems.

Keywords: intensification, diversification, fallow, precipitation, iPNW USA, cropping systems, conservation tillage

1

INTRODUCTION

Ecological instability, high demand for inputs, and low resource use efficiencies are concerns for the long-term productivity of conventional cereal monoculture systems (Matson et al., 1997; Tilman, 1999). Crop intensification, diversification, reduced tillage, and variable N management are among the strategies proposed to mitigate and adapt monocultures to projected climate shifts (Burney et al., 2010; Smith and Olesen, 2010; Tilman et al., 2011; Powlson et al., 2014; Ponisio et al., 2015). Diversifying crop options may increase the resiliency of agroecosystems (Lin, 2011) and stabilize cropping systems vulnerable to a changing climate (Altieri et al., 2015) through agronomic (Johnston et al., 2005; Kirkegaard et al., 2008; Hansen et al., 2012; Seymour et al., 2012; Cutforth et al., 2013; Angus et al., 2015), economic (Entz et al., 2002; Zentner et al., 2002b, 2004), and environmental (Zentner et al., 2004; Gan et al., 2011; Davis et al., 2012) benefits. In the summer-dominate precipitation region of the North American Great Plains, soil conservation practices have enabled crop intensification through fallow replacement (Lafond et al., 1992; Anderson et al., 2003), which has increased opportunities to diversify crops (Halvorson et al., 1999; Zentner et al., 2002b; Tanaka et al., 2005; Roberts and Johnston, 2007), enhance N and water use efficiencies (Pikul et al., 2012). In addition to conserving soil water, the reduction or elimination of tillage is a strategy to combat water and wind erosion (Singh et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2014) in combination with continuous annual cropping (Thorne et al., 2003; Feng et al., 2011). Heterogeneous topography also challenges nutrient management due to significant variability in plant-soil-nutrient interactions and crop performance (Fiez et al., 1994, 1995) with opportunities for site specific N fertilizer management to mitigate differences in water and N use efficiencies across the landscape (Miao et al., 2011). A combination of these alternative cropping system strategies may increase productivity and economic returns (Tanaka et al., 2002; Alam et al., 2015; Babu et al., 2016), and multiple strategies may be needed (Kirkegaard and Hunt, 2010; Snapp et al., 2010).

The wheat producing region of the iPNW includes a steep precipitation gradient, making it an ideal area to study the influence of climate and management practices on wheat production. The iPNW is a highly productive wheat growing region that encompasses over 3 million ha in Washington, Idaho, and Oregon. The area is characterized by a Mediterranean-like climate, and 80% cropland largely relies on stored soil water to support dryland grain production (Pan et al., 2016b). A steep annual precipitation and temperature gradient, combined with complex topography, contributes to large-scale heterogenetic edaphic, and climatic conditions that delineate the region into three distinct classes of agroecological systems. Continuous, annual cropping systems predominate in cooler, wetter conditions in areas receiving 450–600 mm of annual precipitation, whereas a 2-year grain-fallow rotation

dominates under drier, warmer conditions with <330 mm (Pan et al., 2016b). The frequency of fallow decreases as dry and warm conditions become wetter and cooler, and growers may fallow once every 3 years in the fallow-transition systems in areas receiving between 300 and 450 mm (Schillinger and Papendick, 2008; Pan et al., 2016b). In the driest region, grain production requires irrigation. Wheat predominates in these dryland systems, which makes up 98% of crops grown in the grain-fallow systems, 89% in fallow transition, and 70% in the annual systems (Maaz et al., in press).

Over the last decade, average annual temperature in the Pacific Northwest has increased by 0.7°C (Mote et al., 2014), while the coldest winter night has risen by almost 2°C (Abatzoglou et al., 2015). Snowfall has also declined during this time period, with a decreasing proportion of total precipitation as snow (Kunkel et al., 2009). Assuming no changes in greenhouse gas emissions, climate models forecast a 5-15% increase in regional annual precipitation (Mote et al., 2014) with an increasing proportion occurring in winter and spring months and drier summers (Mote et al., 2014). Annual temperatures are also predicted to increase by 3-6°C by mid to late twenty-first century (Walden, 2014) with a greater degree of warming in the summer months (Abatzoglou et al., 2015). Warmer and drier summer conditions may have negative impacts on wheat productivity depending upon the extent of nutrient, heat, and water stress during critical growth stages (Rosenzweig et al., 2014; Asseng et al., 2015), although CO2 fertilization may counteract such stresses with some uncertainty (Erda et al., 2005; Guo et al., 2010; McGrath and Lobell, 2013). Given the potential impact of climate change, coordinated efforts are required to understand patterns in productivity and the potential for improving yields and resource use efficiency within these systems to ensure longterm resiliency.

The first objective of our study was to characterize WW productivity across the different cropping system zones of the iPNW. The second objective was to provide an initial assessment of the potential to improve WW and cropping system productivity and efficiencies across the iPNW upon (1) fallow reduction, (2) increasing crop diversity, and (3) adopting soil conservation practices, with a particular focus on responses in low-precipitation conditions. Our first hypothesis was that yields would increase with increasing annual precipitation before reaching a maximum prior and then declining. Our second hypothesis was that intensification through the reduction of fallow in the drier zones will reduce WW productivity and rotational yields, as well as increase variability. We anticipated that crop diversification would enhance productivity as WW yield potential increases, and we expected soil conservation practices, such as direct seeding and chemical (i.e., no-till) fallow, would improve crop productivity, particularly under low-precipitation conditions. Because of the reductions in WW yields in intensified rotations, we expected cropping system level productivity to offset any gains due to continuous cropping in intensified and diversified systems utilizing soil conservation practices.

Abbreviations: CV, coefficient of variation; iPNW, inland Pacific Northwest; SD, standard deviation; SW, spring wheat; WW, winter wheat.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data from 11 sites and 8 independent studies conducted across the iPNW (**Table 1**) were utilized to determine trends in WW yields and the potential impacts of intensification, diversification, improved use efficiencies, and soil conservation. All soils were classified as silt loams; however, the available water holding capacity was lowest at the location with the highest precipitation due to the presence of dense, subsurface clay layers.

Ralston, WA

The Ralston study is located at the long-term research plots located southwest of Ritzville, WA, which was utilized to assess effects of soil conservation and fertilizer efficiencies. The long-term annual precipitation for the study site is 280 mm yr⁻¹. Information about previous crop rotations and site characterization were published by Young et al. (2015). In 2012 and 2013, the study contained four cropping systems, each replicated four times in a randomized complete block design. There were two complete sets of plots with fallow and crops present in any given year. Individual plots were 7.9 \times 152 m. Cropping systems included standard-height (i.e., tall) WW (cv. Farnum) following conservation tillage fallow harvested with a cutter bar header, tall WW following no-till chemical fallow harvested with a stripper header, winter triticale (Triticosecale hexaploid L. cv. Trimark 099) following no-till chemical fallow harvested with a cutter bar, and winter triticale following no-till chemical fallow harvested with a stripper header.

Moro, OR

A long-term experiment was initiated in 2003 at the Oregon State University Sherman Station near Moro, OR, to evaluate traditional winter wheat-summer fallow cropping system under conservation tillage, intensified, and diversified cropping systems using no-till practices (Machado et al., 2015). Average annual precipitation at the site is 289 mm. The experimental area consisted of 42 plots, each 15 by 105 m, with 14 treatments of eight crop rotations in a randomized complete block design with three replications. In addition to WW-summer fallow, WW-no-till chemical fallow, WW-spring barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.)-chemical fallow, WW-winter pea, and continuous WW were evaluated. All phases of the rotations were present every year. Details on management are reported by Machado et al. (2015).

Ritzville, WA

A long term experiment was initiated in 1997 on the Ronald Jirava farm near Ritzville, WA, to evaluate diverse cropping systems using no-till and conservation-till management (Schillinger et al., 2007; Schillinger and Paulitz, 2014). Average annual precipitation at the site is 292 mm. The experiment consisted of 56 plots of 9 by 150 m, six crop rotation treatments with all phases of all rotations present each year in a randomized complete block design with four replications. The traditional rotation was WW-summer fallow. Alternative rotations were WW-spring wheat (SW)-summer fallow, WW-safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.)-summer fallow, and

no-till SW-spring barley. Further details on treatments and management of the experiment are reported by Schillinger and Paulitz (2014).

Davenport, WA

Three- and four-year rotational field experiments were initiated at Davenport, WA, in 2011 to evaluate intensive cropping systems under no-till practices diversified with oilseeds and pulses. Average annual precipitation for the site is 353 mm yr⁻¹. Field plots, measuring 3.7×15 m, were established in a randomized complete block designed with four replications with each phase of the rotation present each year, with 96 plots and 5 treatments. Data were collected following the initiation of the rotations in 2011.

Pullman, WA and Davenport, WA

Three-year field experiments were initiated at Pullman, WA and Davenport, WA, following wheat in 2011 and 2012 (Pan et al., 2016a) to determine the rotational effect of pulses on WW. The long-term average annual precipitation at Pullman is 517 mm yr⁻¹. Field plots, measuring 2 by 15 m, were established in a randomized complete block designed with four replications and seeded to spring canola (*Brassica napus* L.). In the following spring after canola, plots were split longitudinally (1 by 15 m) and were randomly seeded with inoculated dry field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) or SW. In the third year, WW was direct-seeded across the existing split-plot design following spring pea or SW harvest.

In 2013, a subsequent 2-year field experiment was initiated at Pullman, WA and Davenport, WA, to determine the effect of oilseed vs. pulses vs. SW on following WW yields. Field plots, measuring 2 by 15 m, were established in a randomized complete block designed with four replications and seeded to spring canola, spring pea, and spring wheat. In the following year, WW (cv. Madsen at Pullman and Otto at Davenport) was direct-seeded across the existing plot design following spring crops.

Kambitsch Farm, ID

A long-term experiment at the University of Idaho Kambitsch farm, north of Genesee, ID, was established in 2000 to study the impact of conservation tillage on WW (Johnson-Maynard et al., 2007). The average annual precipitation at the farm is 695 mm yr⁻¹. Prior to 2000 the land was managed using conventional methods. Tillage treatments (chisel plow and no-till, each with plots 20 × 80 m) were replicated four times across a hillslope running east to west (across the slope). Each tillage treatment was split into three crop zones planted to either pea/chickpea (*Ciser arietinum* L.), spring barley/wheat, or winter wheat. Tillage plots were 18 × 80 m. Crop subplots are 6 × 80 m (1.2 m alley between tillage strips).

Colfax, WA, Genesee, ID, Troy, ID, and Leland, ID

A site-specific, precision agriculture study was initiated in 2011 southwest of Colfax, WA, southeast of Troy, ID, southeast of Genesee, ID and in Leland, ID. The project focused using

Location	Latitude, Longitude	30 year average precipitation	Soil description	Soil water holding capacity	Rotations	Data analysis
Ralston, WA	46°54′52.8″N, 118°23′40.4″W	280	Ritzville sitt Ioam (Coarse-sitty, mixed, superactive, mesic Calcidic Haploxerolls)	0.20	Traditional: Winter wheat-reduced till fallow Conservation: Winter wheat-chemical fallow Atternative: Winter triticale-chemical fallow	Figures 1, 2, 3, 4, 8
Moro, OR	45° 29'5.7''N and 120° 43'5.4" W	289	Walla Walla siit Ioam (coarse, siity, mixed, superactive, mesic Typic Haploxeroll)	0.19	Traditional: Winter wheat-summer fallow Conservation: Winter wheat-chemical fallow Alternatives: Winter wheat-spring barley-chemical fallow Winter wheat-winter pea Continuous winter wheat	Figures 1–8
Ritzville, WA	46°54'48.3"/N, 118°23'49.4"W	29.2	Ritzville sit loam	0.20	Traditional: Winter wheat-summer fallow Alternatives: Winter wheat-spring wheat-summer fallow Winter wheat-safflower-summer fallow Triticale-spring wheat-chemical fallow Continuous spring wheat Spring wheat-spring barley	Figures 1–8
Davenport, WA	47°39'10.0″N, 118°7'19.6″W	353	Broadax silt loam (Fine-silty, mixed, superactive, mesic Calcic Argixerolls)	0 1	Traditional/Conservation: No till fallow-winter wheat-spring wheat Alternatives: No till fallow-winter wheat-spring canola Spring wheat-winter wheat-spring wheat Winter wheat-spring wheat-spring canelina Winter wheat-spring canola-spring pea Winter wheat-spring canola-spring wheat	Figures 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8
Colfax, WA	46°47'22.8″N, 117°26'23.6″W	484	Palouse sitt loam (Fine-sitty, mixed, superactive, mesic Pachic Ultic Haploxerolls)	0.19	Winter wheat-spring wheat-spring wheat	Figures 1, 2, 3, 8
Pullman, WA	46°45′36.5″N, 117°11′58.1″W	517	Palouse sitt loam	0.20	Winter wheat-spring canola-spring pea Winter wheat-spring canola-spring wheat	Figures 1, 2, 3, 5, 8
Genesee, ID	46°30'43.2″N, 116°49'43.4″W	602	Naff silt loam (Fine-silty, mixed, superactive, mesic Typic Argixerolls) -Palouse complex	0.18	Spring barley-spring canola-winter wheat	Figures 1, 2, 3, 8
Тюу, ID	46°40′33.6″N, 116°46′29.3″W	675	Southwick slitt loam (Fine-slity, mixed, superactive, mesic Oxyaquic Argixerolls) and Larkin slitt loam (Fine-slity, mixed, superactive, mesic Ultic Argixerolls)	0.18	Winter wheat-spring garbanzos-winter wheat	Figures 1, 2, 3
Kambitsch Farm, ID	46°35′1.1″N, 116°56′50.8″W	695	Palouse sitt loam	0.20	Winter wheat-spring wheat/barley-spring pea/garbanzos	Figures 1, 2, 3, 4, 8
Leland, ID	46°34'43.8″N, 116°35'45.0″W	721	Naff-Palouse complex	0.13	Winter wheat-spring wheat-spring garbanzo	Figures 1, 2, 3, 8
Prosser, WA	46°15′8.6′′N, 119°44′16.6′′W	227	Warden silt loam (Coarse-silty, mixed, superactive, mesic Xeric Haplocambids)	0.19	Corn-potato-winter wheat	Figures 1, 2, 3, 4

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 1 | Descriptions of sites included in the study and associated data analyses.

4

May 2017 | Volume 5 | Article 23



remote and proximal sensing to characterize and manage fieldscale variability in soil water, N, and crop response across the landscape rather than plot-based research. Average annual precipitation is 484 mm yr⁻¹ at Colfax; 602 mm yr⁻¹, Genesee; 675 mm yr^{-1} , Troy; and 721 mm yr⁻¹, Leland. Within each farm, two catchments were selected such that the entire drainage area was captured within a single field. At each farm, one of these catchments were selected for intensive automated and manual monitoring. Each site was equipped with 12 spatially representative subsites which serve as the primary sampling locations within the watershed. A second catchment was reserved for validation purposes and was only monitored over the last 2 years of the project.

Prosser, WA

A 3-year field study was initiated in Prosser, WA, following wheat 2011 to assess conservation tillage and cover cropping effects on irrigated WW. Average annual precipitation at Prosser is 227 mm yr⁻¹. The cropping sequence was corn (*Zea mays*)-potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum*)-winter wheat. Winter wheat was irrigated with 458 mm in the spring and summer. Field plots measuring 4.9 by 15 m, were established in a randomized complete block design with four replicates. The treatments were reduced tillage, reduced tillage winter cover crop, conventional tillage, and conventional tillage winter cover crop. Winter cover following sweet corn was triticale (× *Triticolescale*) and following potatoes was mustard

(*Brassica hirta*). The conventional tillage treatments were chisel disked prior to planting and post harvesting of every crop. The reduced tillage sequence was only chisel disked prior to planting potatoes and following potato harvest.

Soil and Plant Sample Processing

At Ritzville and Davenport, WA, composite soil samples from three replicates were taken every 30 cm down to 120 cm (or to an impermeable layer) with a giddings probe after harvest. At Moro, WA, soil samples were collected to a depth of 30 cm and composited. Ammonium and nitrate N were analyzed following KCl extraction and measured colorimetrically with a Quickchem 8000 Series FIA+ system and AutoSampler (Lachat Instruments, Hach Company, Loveland, CO). Total C and N of composted soil samples collected in the first year of each study were measured by combustion in a CN analyzer.

At Prosser, Moro, Ritzville, Ralston, Davenport, Pullman, and Kambitsch, grain was harvested using commercial plot combines. Total above ground biomass was sampled from 1 m^2 area at maturity and prior to determining harvest index to calculate residue biomass and N yields. Biomass samples were dried at 45–60°C for 48 h, weighed, and threshed with a Vogel Stationary Grain Thresher, from which seeds, chaff, and stems were collected. Seeds were weighed to determine the harvest index. Seeds were ground with a Cyclone Sample Mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ) for C and N analysis with a C/N











autoanalyzer (LECO Corp, St. Joseph, MI) at all sites except for Moro, in which grain protein was measured using the Inframatic 9200 (Perten Instruments, Hägersten, Sweden). Residue yields were calculated from the combined seed yields by applying the harvest index. Residue samples were ground with a Thomas Wiley mill (Thomas Scientific, Swedesboro, NJ) prior to C and N analysis (for all sites except Moro) by combustion using a Truspec Carbon and Nitrogen Analyzer (LECO Corporation, St. Joseph, MI). At Colfax, Genesee, Troy, and Leland locations, total above-ground biomass was determined at each of the 12 locations at harvest by hand-harvesting four 1 m² plots at each site, and total grain yield within each 1 m² locations was determined by threshing. All grain samples were analyzed for protein using Infratec 1241 Grain Analyzer (Foss, Hillerod, Denmark). Total nitrogen in the above ground residue was determined using a Truspec machine (LECO Corporation, St. Joseph, MI).

Calculations and Statistical Analyses

The mean, standard deviation (SD), and coefficient of variation (CV) were assessed for WW yields within and across all site locations. An analysis was conducted to assess variation in yields from traditional rotations (**Table 1**), in which fallow periods preceding WW when annual precipitation was <350 mm yr⁻¹, under both conventional and conservation tillage. Annual precipitation was calculated on a crop-year basis from September to August. In a separate analysis, variance was assessed for WW in alternative rotations when annual precipitation was <350 mm yr⁻¹ in which the fallow frequency was reduced to once every 3 years or WW (i.e., no fallow) followed crops. An analysis of variance was conducted with location as the fixed effect and annual precipitation, cropping sequence, and replicates as the random effects using the lme package in R (R Core Team, 2016).

To determine the effect of fallowing prior to WW, the response of WW yields to increasing annual precipitation were best fitted with a quadratic function, and two yield response curves were derived, including WW following crops vs. fallow when annual precipitation was $<350 \text{ mm yr}^{-1}$. To determine the efficiency of fertilization across the region in all systems,

the relationship between annual precipitation and N fertilization rate, as well as grain N accumulation, was also best fitted with quadratic equations. These relationships were reassessed after annual precipitation was adjusted for the available water holding capacity of the soil, using data obtained from USDA NRCS Web Soil Survey (Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service and United States Department of Agriculture, 2016). The regression-based predicted yields following fallow vs. recrop, as well as grain N accumulation vs. N fertilizer rate, were assessed by differencing the definite integrals (to calculate the areas underneath the curve) for precipitation ranges of 200–350, 350–500, and 500–650 mm yr⁻¹.

The comparative effects of cropping sequence on WW yields (WW after fallow vs. cereals/pulses/oilseeds), and WW following wheat vs. other cereals/pulses/oilseeds) were assessed using data collected in the iPNW described above relative to data obtained from a literature survey (Appendix 1). The literature survey included, but were not limited to, references provided by Angus et al. (2015) with a particular focus on wheat-fallow. The effect of tillage on wheat yields was also assessed for the iPNW. Winter wheat yields following break crops (i.e., non-wheat cereals, pulses, or oilseeds) were regressed against WW yields after fallow or SW/WW. Break crops included other cereal crops (barley and triticale), oilseeds [including canola, rapeseed, and camelina (Camelina sativa L. Crantz)], and pulse crops [including field pea, lentil (Len culinaris L.), garbanzo beans (Cicer arietinum L.), and lupin (Lupinus L.)]. In addition to the data collected in the present study, WW yields following break crops vs. wheat were compiled from iPNW data presented (Guy, 2013). For tillage comparisons, WW yields under conservation tillage were regressed against WW yields under conventional tillage for selected sites.

Linear regressions were used to assess the relationships among yields, fertilizer N, plant N, and grain N for WW after fallow (only when annual precipitation was $<350 \text{ mm yr}^{-1}$) vs. recropped WW for all sites. An analysis of covariance was conducted to determine interaction of cropping sequence with N responses, specifically the relationships between yield vs. fertilizer, grain N vs. fertilizer N, yield vs. grain N, and grain N vs. plant N using the stats package in R (R Core Team, 2016).

For cropping system level comparisons, energy outputs, total fertilizer inputs, and total grain N exports were summed over 3-4 years of observations. Annualized values were calculated to account for differences in the years of observations. Energy was calculated by multiplying grain yields by a conversion factor: legumes and cereals, by 15 MJ kg⁻¹, and oilseed, by 25 $MJ kg^{-1}$ (Zentner et al., 2004; Farine et al., 2010; Unakitan et al., 2010; Mousavi-Avval et al., 2011; Keshavarz-Afshar and Chen, 2015). The variance of annualized energy outputs, fertilization, and grain N export was compared across increasingly intensified cropping systems at Moro, OR, Ritzville, WA, and Davenport, WA, all of which received <350 mm yr⁻¹ within the study period. Finally, an analysis of covariance was conducted to determine interaction of cropping sequence with rotational N responses, specifically the relationships between total energy output vs. total fertilizer input, total grain N export vs. total fertilizer input, total energy output



oilseeds (B), and pulses (C) (y-axis) vs. wheat following wheat (x-axis).



vs. total grain N, and total grain N export vs. total plant N uptake using the stats package in R (R Core Team, 2016).

At Moro, Ritzville and Davenport, multi-year cropping system N budgets were constructed. Inputs included pre-plant inorganic N summed in the 120-cm soil profile (or 30-cm at Moro),



total N fertilizer applied, and estimated N mineralized based on soil organic matter (described by Pan et al., 2016a). Outputs included total crop N uptake and post-harvest inorganic N in the 120-cm soil profile. Nitrogen balance was determined by subtracting N outputs from N inputs. The fertilizer N balance was calculated by subtracting rotational grain N from total fertilizer N inputs.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Winter Wheat Productivity along a Precipitation Gradient

In the iPNW, water is the most limiting resource in crop production due the region's semi-arid Mediterranean-like climate and steep rainfall gradient within the rain shadow of the Cascade Mountains (Schillinger and Papendick, 2008). As a result, yield potential of WW varies along the regional gradient in annual precipitation (Cook, 1986). Schillinger et al. (2008) determined that modern wheat cultivars can reproduce (e.g., yield grain) with 61 mm of available water in the iPNW, and WW yields improved by almost 20 kg ha⁻¹ for every millimeter gain in available water as available soil water increased from 60 to 350 mm. However, a regional assessment of WW grain yield along the full extent of the annual precipitation gradient in the iPNW is lacking.

We found that WW yields varied considerably across and within the 11 locations (**Figure 1A**) with annual precipitation ranging from 220 to 650 mm yr⁻¹, with an overall mean of WW in traditional rotations of ~6,000 kg ha⁻¹ and a CV of 31% (**Figure 1B**, **Table 2**). The regional variability in WW yields was consistent from 2012 to 2015 (**Figure 1D**). Annual precipitation and field position (plot or replicate) contributed similarly to the variability in WW within sites (**Table 2**). Winter wheat yield means were similar to or higher in the traditional fallow rotations than intensified, alternative rotations (**Figure 1C**), and the stability of WW yields declined, as indicated by the increase in CV, in intensified rotations (**Table 2**).

Winter wheat yields responded significantly to annual precipitation (**Figure 2A**). Summer fallowing prior to WW reduced the yield response to annual precipitation in comparison with intensified WW production following cereal, oilseeds, and pulse crops substituting summer fallow. As a result, annual precipitation explained more of the variation in the WW yields when following crops ($R^2 = 0.53$) than fallow ($R^2 = 0.31$). While the fallow frequency (every other year vs. once every 3 years) did not affect the yield response, foregoing fallow prior to WW resulted in an integrated loss of 263 Mt of WW yield ha⁻¹ when annual precipitation ranged from 200 to 350 mm yr⁻¹. Ultimately, WW production in the fallow cropping system is restricted by stored soil water plus April, May, and June



FIGURE 8 | Rotational nitrogen use efficiency of cropping systems in the inland PNW from 2011 to 2016, including (A) the response of rotational energy outputs to total fertilizer N additions, (B) the rotational utilization efficiency of grain N to produce energy, (C) ratio of rotational grain N export to total fertilizer N additions, and (D) rotational N harvest index. Traditional rotations include WW-summer fallow and WW-CF rotations at Ralston, Moro, and Ritzville, and WW-SW-CF at Davenport and all rotations listed in Table 2. Alternative rotations replaced WW-F through a reduction or elimination of fallow when precipitation was <350 mm yr⁻¹. Broken line represents the 1:1 relationship.

rainfall; overwinter stored soil water dependent upon soil depth. Furthermore, previous studies have shown that the precipitation storage efficiency of fallowing in the iPNW is generally around 30% (Wuest and Schillinger, 2011).

As annual precipitation increases, the topography becomes increasingly sloping, and soil biology changes. Earthworms may be observed above 330-370 mm of mean annual precipitation (Walsh and Johnson-Maynard, 2016), and soil organic matter increases in the topsoil (Morrow et al., 2017). We determined that WW yields reached a maximum of $6,800 \text{ kg ha}^{-1}$ at 520 mm yr^{-1} , within the annual cropping region where precipitation is adequate to economically support crops every year (Figure 2A). The decline in WW yields after reaching the maximum may be due to various factors that contribute to an increase in the actual yield gap under more favorable conditions, such as increasing incidences of pests, disease, crop lodging, and nutrient deficiencies (Cook, 1986). Furthermore, topographic complexity varies across the region leading to differences in soil properties (Horner et al., 1957). As precipitation increases, the presence of finer-textured silty-clay and clay-loam soils with dense (~1.65 Mg m⁻³) argillic and fragipan horizons at depths from 0.2 to 1.2 m below the soil surface can restrict vertical drainage and root penetration leading to the development of seasonal perched water tables (McDaniel et al., 2001; Brooks et al., 2012). These argillic and fragipan soils are generally found where mean annual precipitation exceeds 600 mm and have a limited soil water holding capacity due to the presence of dense subsurface

clays (Brooks et al., 2012). In the Paradise Creek Watershed of North Idaho, which receives 650 mm annual precipitation yr^{-1} , precipitation use efficiency is reduced by both restrictive layers, as well as winter runoff when soils saturate and frozen soils reduce infiltration (Brooks et al., 2010). Timely May and June precipitation is particularly critical in wheat production across the iPNW (Schillinger et al., 2008). Therefore, the soil constraints in the highest precipitation zone add additional risk to annual cropping as these shallow argillic and fragipan soils dry out faster and experience more water stress without adequate precipitation in May and June. The constraint of available soil water in the highest precipitation zones is evident when annual precipitation is adjusted for available water holding capacity (**Figure 2B**), and yields attain a plateau with the range of observed data rather than declining.

Winter Wheat Response to Fertilizer along a Precipitation Gradient

The interaction between WW yields and N fertilizer use efficiency has also never been examined across the extent of the iPNW's precipitation gradient. However, the regional soil and climatic properties have also served as the basis for the hypothesized interaction between N use efficiency and annual precipitation outlined by Pan et al. (2007). As precipitation increases in the region, root growth and yields become less limited by drought conditions, and N use efficiency increases as plants recover increasing amounts of fertilizer N from the topsoil. Therefore,
Location	Years of observation	Avg. precipitation	Winter whea	at yields in t	radition	al rotations	Winter whea	at yields in a	Iternativ	e rotations
			Mean (kg/ha)	SD (kg/ha)	CV%	n	Mean (kg/ha)	SD (kg/ha)	CV%	n
Ralston, WA	2012-2013	288	3,991	487	12	8				
Ritzville, WA	2012-2014	294	4,298	669	16	12	4,471	972	22	12
Moro, OR	2011-2015	305	4,030	1,017	25	10	2,944	1,096	37	16
Davenport, WA	2012-2014	334	4,449	2,248	50	20	3,364	2,162	64	89
Colfax, WA	2012, 2015	478	5,213	1,376	26	36				
Pullman, WA	2013-2014	526	8,780	1,405	16	24				
Genesee, ID	2015	575	7,537	1,773	24	24				
Troy, ID	2013, 2015	598	6,124	1,334	22	36				
Kambitsch Farm, ID	2012-2014	591	5,553	706	13	30				
Leland, ID	2013, 2016	658	5,707	1,089	19	32				
Prosser, WA	2013	152+ 458 irrigated	7,333	1,450	16	48				
		Total	6,120	1,909	31	280	3,394	1,980	58	116
	2012	591	5,726	1,893	33	48	2,636	993	38	10
	2013	530	6,545	1,824	28	79	5,181	1,419	27	49
	2014	508	5,941	2,329	39	56	1,837	1,034	56	51
	2015	598	6,173	1,794	29	75	2,399	680	28	3

TABLE 2 | Mean and variance of winter wheat produced at 11 site locations in the inland Pacific Northwest region.

	Traditional rotations	Alternative rotations
Fixed effect	p-v	value
Site	**	NS
Random effects		SD
Annual precipitation	969 kg ha ⁻¹	1402 kg ha ⁻¹
Sequence	0.30 kg ha ⁻¹	710 kg ha ⁻¹
Field/Plot/Replicate	1195 kg ha ⁻¹	720 kg ha ⁻¹
Residual	45 kg ha ⁻¹	366 kg ha ⁻¹

Rotations are listed in **Table 1**. When annual precipitation was $<350 \text{ mm yr}^{-1}$, rotations were differentiated as traditional WW-F at Ritzville and Moro and WW-SW-F at Davenport. Alternative rotations were characterized by a reduction or elimination of fallow at these particular sites.

fallow periods are practiced to mitigate inefficiencies. A decline in N use efficiency was predicted by Pan et al. (2007) under increasingly high precipitation due to expected N losses in runoff, leaching, and denitrification pathways, in addition to limitations in rooting depth due to the presence of restrictive subsoil clay layers.

Our findings support these hypothesized interactions. First, annual precipitation explained most of the variance in fertilizer N rates ($R^2 = 0.67$), and 39% of the variance in the accumulation of grain N (**Figure 2C**). Grain N increased with annual precipitation, prior to reaching a maximum at 480 mm yr⁻¹ before declining. Similar to yield trends, the decline in grain yield at high levels of precipitation was moderated by adjusting for available soil water holding capacity (**Figure 2D**). The regression analyses predicted similar amounts of N were applied as fertilizer and exported in grain when annual precipitation ranged from 200 to 350 mm, corresponding with grain N to fertilizer ratios were >1. These high fertilization efficiencies were the result of residual N carryover and the recycling of mineralized N, particularly for WW after fallow. As a result, fallow periods were not

only instrumental in maintaining high yields through soil water storage, but also to reducing N deficiencies, as discussed by Pan et al. (2016a). High efficiencies of fertilization were also observed between 350 and 500 mm yr^{-1} , in which the integrated grain N export exceeded fertilizer N by 2,000 kg N ha⁻¹. However, fertilization inefficiencies declined when annual precipitation exceeded 480 mm. The regressions predicted greater amounts of fertilizer were applied than removed in grain, with an integrated fertilizer N deficit of 2,650 kg N ha⁻¹ from 500 to 650 mm yr⁻¹. As fertilization increased beyond this maximum (120-150 kg N ha⁻¹), the grain N to fertilizer ratios were <1. Fall and spring applications of fertilizer are recommended under high precipitation, but current extension guides suggest splitting a predetermined N fertilization rate rather than fine-tuning fertilizer management through tactical in-season applications or variable rates based on crop performance indicators (Mahler, 2007). Furthermore, these findings highlight the opportunity to investigate the utilization of nitrification inhibitors in soils of the inland Pacific Northwest with high risks of nitrate leaching or denitrification (Abalos et al., 2014).

Opportunities for Site–Specific N Management

In addition to regional variability, we observed a considerable amount of within-site variability in WW productivity (Table 2), even at a field or plot scale. While a portion of this variability was teased out by differences in year-to-year precipitation, other environmental, genetic, and management factors contribute to within-site variability, such as landscape elevation, slope, aspect (Mulla et al., 1992; Fiez et al., 1994; Yang et al., 1998), subsoil constraints (Robertson et al., 2016), spring rainfall (Schillinger et al., 2008), crop rotation (Hammel, 1995), nutrient availability (Fiez et al., 1995), onset of drought and temperature stress (Gizaw et al., 2016), and crop genetics (Schillinger et al., 2008). Despite the heterogeneity of the landscape, iPNW growers still commonly apply single rates of fertilizer, particularly in the higher precipitation areas (Mahler et al., 2014). The need for sitespecific N management across the entire region is warranted, as evidenced by N fertilizer rate explaining only 35% of WW yield (Figure 3A) and 28% of grain N variability (Figure 3C) when WW followed crops, and 21% of the variation in yield and 11% of grain N accumulation when WW followed fallow when precipitation was $<350 \text{ mm yr}^{-1}$.

In contrast, our analysis indicated that crop N was a consistent and reliable indicator of yield and grain protein, and may be a useful evaluation tool for site-specific N management in the iPNW. Across all data, grain N accumulation was closely correlated with the synthesis grain biomass (Figure 3B) and total above-ground plant N (Figure 3D) across all data, regardless of location, years, fertilizer rate, and previous crop, with R^2 values ranging from 0.80 to 0.98. Magney et al. (2016a) demonstrated that in-season canopy monitoring using daily Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) data could be used to explain 83% of yield variance and 80% of grain N accumulation. Total N in the biomass and grain has also been shown to be highly correlated to vegetation indices, particularly using red-edge bands, acquired from high resolution (5 \times 5 m) satellite imagery (Magney et al., 2016b). Therefore, precision agriculture based on plant-based sensing opportunities may be used in combination with tactical nutrient management to optimize wheat performance. Ultimately, these data can be utilized by decision support tools emerging for the region which allow growers to systematically evaluate their site specific N management practices based on performance criteria, and to diagnose conditions that contribute to suboptimal performance (Brown et al., 2015).

Winter Wheat Productivity under Alternative Practices

The traditional WW-summer fallow system was developed as an economically feasible strategy to accumulate water and N, manage weeds, and mitigate risk associated in low precipitation areas of the iPNW (Leggett et al., 1974; Bolton and Glenn, 1983). Crop diversity is largely lacking in the iPNW and fallow periods remain common in the low and intermediate precipitation cropping systems, and a decrease in species richness has also been reported along the diminishing mean annual

precipitation gradient in other Mediterranean-like, semi-arid regions (Koocheki et al., 2008). The lack of crop diversity may be contrasted with other major wheat belts, such as the dryland systems of Canada and Australia (Cook et al., 2002; Zentner et al., 2002b; Conley et al., 2004; Kirkegaard et al., 2008). For instance, in the semi-arid region of Canada, the prevalence of fallow has decreased from 50 to 15% since the 1970s, coinciding with the development of chemical weed management and the adoption of direct seeding practices (Zentner et al., 2002a). The intensification of crop rotations enabled the expansion of pulse crops in semi-arid Canada (McVicar et al., 2000), which performed well in water-stressed environments of the Canadian prairies dominated by summer rainfall (Angadi et al., 2008; Cutforth et al., 2009; Bueckert and Clarke, 2013). Furthermore, the shallower rooting depth of pulse crops compared to cereals left behind deep residual water to support subsequent cereal and oilseed crops (Gan et al., 2009). By the late 1990s, research on pulse crops highlighted the rotational benefits of pulses to cereals (Miller et al., 2003) as a means to economically intensify crop rotations in Canada's semi-arid zone. These developments provide the rationale for assessing the effects of reduced tillage, crop diversity, and intensified of wheat-based systems in the iPNW.

Conservation Tillage

The adoption of conservation tillage practices was instrumental in intensifying and diversifying cropping systems in the Northern Great Plains (Zentner et al., 2002a). Across five locations in the iPNW, the adoption of conservation tillage practices was tightly correlated with WW productivity under conventional tillage practices (**Figure 4**). We found that conservation tillage increased WW yields at lower yield potentials, which diminished as yield potential increased (y-intercept of 725 ± 257 kg ha⁻¹ with a regression slope of 0.85). However, conservation tillage practices were not effective at mediated the WW yield loss associated with fallow elimination. Similarly, Williams and Robertson (2016) at an 430 mm annual precipitation site reported that WW yields, as well as precipitation use efficiency, were not affected by tillage practice in long-term plots, whereas WW following crops had significantly lower yields and precipitation use efficiency.

Crop Diversity

In a review of the literature, Angus et al. (2015) reported that fallow periods were instrumental in increasing wheat yields at low yield potentials, whereas break crops were more effective at enhancing wheat yields at higher yield potentials (>1,700 kg ha⁻¹) relative to wheat following wheat. In our survey of the literature (Appendix 1), wheat yields were enhanced to a greater extent following oilseed (**Figure 5B**) and pulse (**Figure 5C**) break crops than cereals (**Figure 5A**) even at low yield potentials, which increased with greater yields (y-intercept > 0 and slope > 1) (**Table 3**). In comparison, the advantage of wheat following other cereal break crops rather than wheat was only observed at high yield potentials. In the iPNW, the effect of break crops were within the range reported in the literature (**Figure 5**), and the response of WW following pulses was greater than oilseeds and cereal crops, particularly due to influential observations pulse and oilseed crops at high and low yield potentials.

Crop Intensification

There were two means of intensifying crop rotations in this study. The first strategy was to eliminate fallow altogether, and continuous cropping practiced instead, whereas the second was to reduce the frequency of fallow from every other year to once every 3 years. In this scenario, WW is grown after fallow, while a spring crop follows WW. The effect of fallow elimination prior to WW reduced yields in the iPNW, which is within the range reported in the literature (Figure 6). However, within our dataset, differences in trends between the iPNW and the literature were observed. The substitution of summer fallow in the iPNW led to reductions in WW yield potential regardless of break crop (cereal vs. oilseed vs. pulse), as indicated by the negative y-intercepts and regression slopes of <1.0 (Table 4). In contrast, the intensification with cereals led to the greatest reduction in wheat yields reported in the literature (Figure 6A), particularly at higher yield potentials with a regression slope of 0.76 (Table 4). Yet, when wheat followed oilseeds (Figure 6B) and pulses (Figure 6C) rather than fallow, wheat yields reported in the literature were reduced to a lesser extent across a range of yield potentials-approximately 600 kg ha⁻¹ following oilseeds

TABLE 3 | Regression parameters for the linear relationship between winter wheat yield following other cereals, oilseeds, or pulses and wheat following wheat.

	R ²	Slope	Intercept	n
LITERATURE S	URVEY			
Wheat-cereal	0.94	$1.15 \pm 0.08^{***}$	$-85\pm158~\mathrm{NS}$	18
Wheat-oilseed	0.87	$1.10 \pm 0.04^{***}$	$303 \pm 147^{*}$	105
Wheat-pulse	0.75	$1.20 \pm 0.06^{***}$	$362 \pm 98^{**}$	162
PNW				
Wheat-cereal	0.92	$1.39 \pm 0.12^{***}$	$-692\pm349~\mathrm{NS}$	14
Wheat-oilseed	0.49	1.01 ± 0.17***	$849\pm624~\mathrm{NS}$	39
Wheat-pulse	0.80	$1.09 \pm 0.09^{***}$	$927\pm 380^{*}$	40

*, **, ***, indicates significance at a p < 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001 level. NS, Not significant.

TABLE 4 | Regression parameters for the linear relationship between winter wheat yield following other cereals, oilseeds, or pulses and wheat following fallow.

	R ²	Slope	Intercept	n
LITERATURE SU	JRVEY			
Wheat-cereal	0.76	$0.77 \pm 0.04^{***}$	$-332 \pm 131^{**}$	99
Wheat-oilseed	0.89	$1.10 \pm 0.05^{***}$	$-593 \pm 174^{**}$	69
Wheat-pulse	0.75	$0.97\pm0.05^{***}$	$-325\pm126~\mathrm{NS}$	138
PNW				
Wheat-cereal	0.98	$0.79 \pm 0.06^{***}$	$-695\pm247~\mathrm{NS}$	12
Wheat-oilseed	0.73	0.87 ± 0.17***	$-109\pm840~\text{NS}$	5
Wheat-pulse	0.66	$0.80\pm0.33~\text{NS}$	$-475\pm1,302~\text{NS}$	5

, *, indicates significance at a p < 0.01, 0.001 level. NS, Not significant.

in place of fallow, and 325 kg ha^{-1} following pulses (as indicated by the negative y-intercepts and regression slopes of 0.97–1.10, **Table 4**).

These trends illustrate that break crops could not replace fallow without penalizing WW yields in the iPNW, unlike effects reported elsewhere. These results may be attributed to systematic differences between the iPNW and other regions, such as the Northern Great Plains. Despite similarities in soils and water holding capacity, the Great Plains is characterized by summerdominated rainfall (Pan et al., 2016b). Spring crops dominate in the Northern Great Plains, whereas WW is predominant in the iPNW due to its winter-dominant precipitation patterns, moderate winter temperatures, and drought and heat stress frequently encountered during the flowering and grain-fill period with spring crops. In the iPNW, WW yields greatly exceed those for SW, due to their more efficient utilization of winter precipitation and earlier grain filling (Schillinger et al., 2008). Together, these conditions make WW production more economic but also highly reliant on stored precipitation for both crop establishment and in-season growth. While our study indicated that conservation tillage practices have benefits compared to traditional tillage on WW yields at lower yield potentials, chemical fallow may not provide advantages observed in the Northern Great Plains. In particular, chemical fallow does not provide gains in soil water storage efficiency (Schillinger and Bolton, 1993) over conservation-tillage fallow. Nevertheless, chemical fallow has been reported to be, overall, just as efficient as tilled fallow in retaining soil moisture throughout the 13 month fallow period in areas receiving more than 290 mm annual precipitation (Schillinger, unpublished; Machado et al., 2015). Previous research in the region has also demonstrated that conservation practices can be more profitable if weeds are properly managed, and conservation production systems may incorporate multi-faceted approaches to manage weeds in the low precipitation zone (Young, 2004).

Importantly, we found that the timing and frequency of fallow was an important consideration for the region. In particular, a reduction of fallow frequency could be practiced under lowprecipitation conditions without penalizing WW yields as long as fallow preceded WW. Our results also support previous results at individual sites in Moro, OR (Machado et al., 2015) and Lind, WA (Schillinger, 2016), who determined that intensified rotations were agronomically competitive to a traditional WWfallow rotation which practiced fallow every 3 years but prior to WW.

Cropping System Productivity in Continuous Cropping

Despite the yield penalty on WW in continuous cropping systems under low precipitation conditions, continuous cropping may be agronomically feasible on an annualized basis of whole rotations. From 2012 to 2014/2015, intensification of cropping systems through the reduction of fallow frequency or elimination of fallow periods did not affect annualized energy outputs or grain N export (**Figure 7**), though more intensified systems received more fertilizer inputs at Moro,

	1. Initial soil inorganic N	2. Total N mineralization	3. Total fertilizer N inputs	4. Total grain N	5. Final soil inorganic N	Total inputs	Total outputs	Fertilizer N balance	Rotational N balance
			kg N ha ⁻¹			1+2+3	4+5	3–4	(1+2+3)-(4+5)
MORO, OR									
ww-sf	66	59	95	154	92	220	246	-59	-26
ww-cf	58	78	75	173	96	211	269	-98	-58
ww-sb-cf	76	62	129	157	84	266	241	-29	25
SW-SW	53	59	111	144	80	223	224	-33	-1
sb-sb	45	55	166	167	116	266	283	-1	-17
WW-WW	9	73	148	151	53	230	204	-3	26
RITZVILLE,	AW								
ww-tf	156	65	98	166	54	319	220	-68	100
ww-sw-tf	20	73	129	148	30	221	178	-19	43
trit-sw-cf	16	73	101	137	60	190	197	-36	-7
SW-SW	18	79	135	143	57	231	199	-8	32
sw-sb	18	83	135	149	42	236	191	-14	45
DAVENPOR	T, WA								
cf-ww-sw	85	110	155	146	139	350	284	10	66
cf-ww-can	85	110	139	158	74	333	232	-19	101
SW-WW-SW	85	110	232	184	86	427	270	48	157
can-ww-sw	85	110	215	194	138	410	332	21	78
cam-ww-sw	85	110	215	179	151	410	330	37	80

TABLE 5 | Rotational fertilizer and total N balance for Moro, Ritzville, and Davenport from 2012 to 2014.

Fertilizer N balance represented the deficit between fertilizer added and grain N exported. Rotational N balance was calculated as the difference between estimated total N supply and grain N export and final residual soil N. Crop residue N was omitted from the N balance. www, winter wheat; sf, summer fallow; sb, spring barley; cf, no-till chemical fallow; sw, spring wheat; trit, winter tricticale; can, spring canola; cam, spring camelina.

OR, Ritzville, WA, and Davenport, WA. Alternative cropping systems also did not differ significantly in rotational fertilizer use efficiency patterns from traditional rotations. In particularly, the relationship between fertilizer N and annualized energy production (Figure 8A) and grain N accumulation (Figure 8C) did not differ whether wheat followed fallow or crops when annual precipitation was <350 mm yr⁻¹. Nitrogen fertilization increased energy yields and grain N accumulation, but explained only 13% of the variation in energy outputs (Figure 8A) and 21% of grain N accumulation (Figure 8C) in traditional systems. In comparison, 17% of energy outputs and 25% of grain N variability were explained by N fertilization rates in alternative rotations with the reduction or elimination of fallow. Like WW, plant N was tightly regulated to produce grain (Figure 8B) and synthesis grain protein (Figure 8D) across all data, explaining 82-97%. Importantly, no differences among relationships were observed due to reduction or elimination of fallow when annual precipitation was $<350 \text{ mm yr}^{-1}$.

Researchers in other Mediterranean climates have also reported agronomically viable intensified rotations, despite lower wheat yields upon the elimination of fallow (Christiansen et al., 2015). Cropping systems research in Canada have indicated that intensified rotations were agronomically feasible (Zentner et al., 2003), and fallow timing (e.g., wheat following fallow or recrop) predominately influenced annual wheat productivity in intensified rotations even though annualized grain yields increased with cropping intensity (Campbell et al., 2004). Continuous cropping of wheat rotated with legumes reduced the fertilizer requirements of a wheat-fallow rotation, and economics were dependent on commodity prices (Zentner et al., 2001). However, despite greater economic returns, financial risk increased with continuous wheat (Zentner et al., 2006).

In the iPNW, research has indicated that continuous spring cropping may be agronomically feasible (Schillinger et al., 2007; Bewick et al., 2008), even with less precipitation than we observed in our study (Machado et al., 2015). However, in six cropping seasons previously conducted at Ralston, the wheat-fallow system yielded 25% more than continuous spring wheat (Young et al., 2015). Furthermore, observations taken from a only few years, such as in the present study, may not be consistent over decades (Nielsen and Vigil, 2014). Previous research has also found that the profitability diminishes relative to WW-fallow rotations in the low precipitation zone due to high year-to-year yield variability and associated economic risk (Juergens et al., 2004; Schillinger and Young, 2004; Schillinger et al., 2007; Bewick et al., 2008). This finding may be due to differential pricing of alternative spring crops, increased costs associated with N fertilizers, changes in weed pressure (Sullivan et al., 2013), and grain yields in continuous cropping systems that average only 50-60% of WW following fallow.

Lastly, we developed N budgets at Moro, Ritzville, and Davenport to determine the effect of crop intensification in fertilizer N balances and unaccounted for N over multiple years (**Table 5**). At all locations, the fertilizer N balance was

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

greater (fertilizer N exceeded grain N) for all continuous cropping systems with spring wheat, barley, camelina, or canola implementing conservation practices than the traditional fallow rotations. However, the total N balance had no discernible trends according to intensification. Earlier examination of N fertilizer balances at the Ralston site also revealed that the WW-summer fallow conventional system, when fertilized during the fallow period, had the highest fertilizer N efficiency (grain N/fertilizer N = 76.8%) compared to spring wheat-chemical fallow (64%), due to deeper rooting and efficient soil N extraction by winter wheat down to 150 cm (Pan et al., 2001). Similar to the latter rotation, continuous no-till spring cereal cropping also had a lower fertilizer N efficiency (grain N/fertilizer N = 61.7%) and water extraction, as evidenced by nitrate movement below 90 cm. It is notable that although conventional WW is fertilized during fallow nearly a year before the accelerated N uptake phase of winter wheat, the grain N to fertilizer index is surprisingly high in this low rainfall zone. While mineralized N accumulates during the fallow period in addition to the fertilizer application, soil tests indicate minimal overwinter nitrate leaching beyond the 150 cm root profile. The pre-plant N application during fallow allows growers to spread their workloads, and for the ammonia to nitrify and move into the middle of the winter wheat root zone, at 60-90 cm soil depths. Similarly, high N fertilizer efficiencies of WW-summer fallow grown in the northern iPNW near Okanogan, WA, has been observed, with 79% of fallowapplied ammonia over 20 years accounted for in harvested grain, and the remainder was accountable in an increase in soil organic N over that period (Pan et al., in review). This fertilizer N recovery was higher than the biosolids N recovery (24-37%) WW-summer fallow, when biosolids were applied once every 4 years at 3 different rates. However, biosolids significantly made greater contributions to the build-up of soil organic N, leading to the conclusion that while the synthetic fertilizer mainly fed the wheat grain, the biosolids fed both the wheat grain and the soil organic matter build-up. Nevertheless, the biosolids applications resulted in more net unaccounted for N than the ammonia.

CONCLUSION

Our region-wide assessment examined the performance of WW across the regional precipitation gradient. We observed that WW yields increased with increasing annual precipitation before maximizing at 520 mm yr⁻¹ and subsequently declining. While fallow periods were effective at mitigating low N fertilization efficiencies under low precipitation, fertilization efficiencies decreased as annual precipitation exceeded 500 mm yr⁻¹.

REFERENCES

Abalos, D., Jeffery, S., Sanz-Cobena, A., Guardia, G., and Vallejo, A. (2014). Meta-analysis of the effect of urease and nitrification inhibitors on crop productivity and nitrogen use efficiency. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 189, 136–144. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2014. 03.036 Reduction in WW yields in the highest precipitation zones were partially explained by decline in the overall soil water holding capacity in the argillic and fragipan soils in this region. We also observed considerable between-site and within-site variability in WW yields in response to annual precipitation and N fertilization. These results indicate that other soil, climatic, and management factors other than annual precipitation and fertilizer N rate have a large influence on WW yields. These results provide a rationale that precision N management is needed across the region and not limited to regions with risks of leaching or denitrification losses or areas with high topographic complexity.

Although, WW yields seem to increase following pulses and oilseeds rather than spring wheat across a range of yield potentials and when under conservation tillage practices at low yield potential sites, WW yields declined when following crops rather than fallow when annual precipitation was <350 mm yr^{-1} . The variance in WW yields also increased in alternative rotations. Nevertheless, WW yields were not affected when the frequency of fallow was reduced to once every 3 years, as long as fallow preceded the WW. Despite the yield penalty associated with eliminating fallow prior to WW, cropping system level productivity under the low annual precipitation (<350 mm yr⁻¹) was not affected by intensification, diversification, or conservation tillage. Nevertheless, multiyear N balances did not reveal any consistent benefit of intensified and diversified cropping in reducing unaccounted for N, whereas fertilizer N balance (fertilizer N > grain N) increased with intensification. Therefore, increased fertilizer N inputs and lower fertilizer efficiencies may offset and limit the economic feasibility of intensified and diversified cropping systems.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WP conceptualized, initiated, and organized the study; TM drafted the manuscript and performed data analyses; WS, SM, EB, FY, and JJ provided data, proposed analytical analyses, conceptualized individual site research, revised the manuscript; LY, IL, AG, IM collected, managed, and provided data and site information; AE, HC helped organize the study and managed individual site research.

FUNDING

This research was funded through Award #2011-68002-30191 from USDA National Institute for Food and Agriculture.

- Abatzoglou, J., Rupp, R., and Mote, P. (2015). *Asymmetrical Warming Projections for the Inland Pacific Northwest*. Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest.
- Alam, M. M., Ladha, J. K., Faisal, M. W., Sharma, S., Saha, A., Noor, S., et al. (2015). Improvement of cereal-based cropping systems following the principles of conservation agriculture under changing agricultural scenarios in Bangladesh. *Field Crops Res.* 175, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2014.12.015

- Altieri, M. A., Nicholls, C. I., Henao, A., and Lana, M. A. (2015). Agroecology and the design of climate change-resilient farming systems. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 35, 869–890. doi: 10.1007/s13593-015-0285-2
- Anderson, R. L., Tanaka, D. L., and Merrill, S. D. (2003). Yield and water use of broadleaf crops in a semiarid climate. *Agric. Water Manage*. 58, 255–266. doi: 10.1016/S0378-3774(02)00085-9
- Angadi, S., McConkey, B. G., Cutforth, H. W., Miller, P. R., Ulrich, D., Selles, F., et al. (2008). Adaptation of alternative pulse and oilseed crops to the semiarid Canadian Prairie: seed yield and water use efficiency. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 88, 425–438. doi: 10.4141/CJPS07078
- Angus, J. F., Kirkegaard, J. A., Hunt, J. R., Ryan, M. H., Ohlander, L., and Peoples, M. B. (2015). Break crops and rotations for wheat. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 66, 523–552. doi: 10.1071/CP14252
- Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Martre, P., Rötter, R. P., Lobell, D. B., Cammarano, D., et al. (2015). Rising temperatures reduce global wheat production. *Nat. Clim. Change* 5, 143–147. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2470
- Babu, S., Singh, R., Avasthe, R. K., Yadav, G. S., and Rajkhowa, D. J. (2016). Intensification of maize (*Zea mays*) -based cropping sequence in rainfed ecosystem of Sikkim Himalayas for improving system productivity, profitability, employment generation and energy-use efficiency under organic management condition. *Indian J. Agric. Sci.* 86, 778–784. Available online at: http://epubs.icar.org.in/ejournal/index.php/IJAgS/article/view/58980
- Bewick, L. S., Young, F. L., Alldredge, J. R., and Young, D. L. (2008). Agronomics and economics of no-till facultative wheat in the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Crop Prot.* 27, 932–942. doi: 10.1016/j.cropro.2007.11.013
- Bolton, F. E., and Glenn, D. M. (1983). Fallow-Cropping Systems in the Pacific Northwest. Corvallis, OR: Oregon State University Agriculture Experiment Station.
- Brandt, S. A., and Zentner, R. P. (1995). Crop production under alternate rotations on a Dark Brown Chernozemic soil at Scott, Saskatchewan. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 75, 789–794. doi: 10.4141/cjps95-133
- Bremer, E., Janzen, H. H., Ellert, B. H., and McKenzie, R. H. (2011). Carbon, nitrogen, and greenhouse gas balances in an 18-Year cropping system study on the Northern Great Plains. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 75, 1493–1502. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2010.0326
- Brooks, E. S., Boll, J., and McDaniel, P. A. (2012). "Chapter 10 Hydropedology in seasonally dry landscapes: the Palouse region of the Pacific Northwest USA," in *Hydropedology*, ed H. Lin (Boston, MA: Academic Press), 329–350.
- Brooks, E. S., Boll, J., Snyder, A. J., Ostrowski, K. M., Kane, S. L., Wulfhorst, J. D., et al. (2010). Long-term sediment loading trends in the Paradise Creek watershed. J. Soil Water Conserv. 65, 331–341. doi: 10.2489/jswc.65.6.331
- Brown, T., Huggins, D. R., and Kruger, C. (2015). *Performance Criteria for Evaluating Site-Specific Nitrogen Management*. Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest.
- Bueckert, R. A., and Clarke, J. M. (2013). Review: annual crop adaptation to abiotic stress on the Canadian prairies: six case studies. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 93, 375–385. doi: 10.4141/cjps2012-184
- Burney, J. A., Davis, S. J., and Lobell, D. B. (2010). Greenhouse gas mitigation by agricultural intensification. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 12052–12057. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0914216107
- Campbell, C. A., Lafond, G. P., VandenBygaart, A. J., Zentner, R. P., Lemke, R., May, W. E., et al. (2011). Effect of crop rotation, fertilizer and tillage management on spring wheat grain yield and N and P content in a thin Black Chernozem: a long-term study. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 91, 467–483. doi: 10.4141/cjps10032
- Campbell, C. A., Zentner, R. P., Selles, F., Biederbeck, V. O., McConkey, B. G., Lemke, R., et al. (2004). Cropping frequency effects on yield of grain, straw, plant N, N balance and annual production of spring wheat in the semiarid prairie. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 84, 487–501. doi: 10.4141/ P03-078
- Chen, C., Neill, K., Burgess, M., and Bekkerman, A. (2012). Agronomic benefit and economic potential of introducing fall-seeded pea and lentil into conventional wheat-based crop rotations. *Agron. J.* 104, 215–224. doi: 10.2134/agronj2011.0126
- Christiansen, S., Ryan, J., Singh, M., Ates, S., Bahhady, F., Mohamed, K., et al. (2015). Potential legume alternatives to fallow and wheat

monoculture for Mediterranean environments. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 66, 113–121. doi: 10.1071/CP14063

- Conley, S. P., Bordovsky, D., Rife, C., and Wiebold, W. J. (2004). Winter canola survival and yield response to nitrogen and fall phosphorus. *CM* 3. doi: 10.1094/CM-2004-0901-01-RS
- Cook, R. J. (1986). Wheat management systems in the Pacific Northwest. *Plant Dis.* 70:894. doi: 10.1094/PD-70-894
- Cook, R. J., Schillinger, W. F., and Christensen, N. W. (2002). Rhizoctonia root rot and take-all of wheat in diverse direct-seed spring cropping systems. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* 24, 349–358. doi: 10.1080/07060660209507020
- Cutforth, H. W., Angadi, S. V., McConkey, B. G., Entz, M. H., Ulrich, D., Volkmar, K. M., et al. (2009). Comparing plant water relations for wheat with alternative pulse and oilseed crops grown in the semiarid Canadian prairie. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 89, 823–835. doi: 10.4141/CJPS08138
- Cutforth, H. W., Angadi, S. V., McConkey, B. G., Miller, P. R., Ulrich, D., Gulden, R., et al. (2013). Comparing rooting characteristics and soil water withdrawal patterns of wheat with alternative oilseed and pulse crops grown in the semiarid Canadian prairie. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 93, 147–160. doi: 10.4141/cjss2012-081
- Davis, A. S., Hill, J. D., Chase, C. A., Johanns, A. M., and Liebman, M. (2012). Increasing cropping system diversity balances productivity, profitability and environmental health. *PLoS ONE* 7:e47149. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047149
- Entz, M. H., Baron, V. S., Carr, P. M., Meyer, D. W., Smith, S. R., and McCaughey, W. P. (2002). Potential of forages to diversify cropping systems in the northern Great Plains. *Agron. J.* 94, 240–250. doi: 10.2134/agronj2002.0240
- Erda, L., Wei, X., Hui, J., Yinlong, X., Yue, L., Liping, B., et al. (2005). Climate change impacts on crop yield and quality with CO₂ fertilization in China. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 360, 2149–2154. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2005.1743
- Farine, D. R., O'Connell, D. A., Grant, T., and Poole, M. L. (2010). Opportunities for energy efficiency and biofuel production in Australian wheat farming systems. *Biofuels* 1, 547–561. doi: 10.4155/bfs.10.29
- Felton, W. L., Marcellos, H., Alston, C., Martin, R. J., Backhouse, D., Burgess, L. W., et al. (1998). Chickpea in wheat-based cropping systems of northern New South Wales. II. Influence on biomass, grain yield, and crown rot in the following wheat crop. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 49, 401–408. doi: 10.1071/A97067
- Feng, G., Sharratt, B., and Young, F. (2011). Soil properties governing soil erosion affected by cropping systems in the U.S. Pacific Northwest. *Soil Tillage Res.* 111, 168–174. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2010.09.008
- Fiez, T. E., Miller, B. C., and Pan, W. L. (1994). Winter wheat yield and grain protein across varied landscape positions. *Agron. J.* 86, 1026. doi: 10.2134/agronj1994.00021962008600060018x
- Fiez, T. E., Pan, W. L., and Miller, B. C. (1995). Nitrogen use efficiency of winter wheat among landscape positions. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 59, 1666–1671. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1995.03615995005900060023x
- Gan, Y., Campbell, C. A., Liu, L., Basnyat, P., and McDonald, C. L. (2009). Water use and distribution profile under pulse and oilseed crops in semiarid northern high latitude areas. *Agric. Water Manag.* 96, 337–348. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2008.08.012
- Gan, Y., Hamel, C., O'Donovan, J. T., Cutforth, H., Zentner, R. P., Campbell, C. A., et al. (2015). Diversifying crop rotations with pulses enhances system productivity. *Sci. Rep.* 5:14625. doi: 10.1038/srep14625
- Gan, Y., Liang, C., Wang, X., and McConkey, B. (2011). Lowering carbon footprint of durum wheat by diversifying cropping systems. *Field Crops Res.* 122, 199–206. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2011.03.020
- Gardner, P. A., Angus, J. F., Wong, P. T. W., Pitson, G. D., Gardner, P. A., Angus, J. F., et al. (1998). A comparison of six methods to control take-all in wheat. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 49, 1225–1240. doi: 10.1071/A98050
- Garrido, R. J. L.-B., and López-Bellido, L. (2001). Effects of crop rotation and nitrogen fertilization on soil nitrate and wheat yield under rainfed Mediterranean conditions. *Agronomie* 21, 509–516. doi: 10.1051/agro: 2001140
- Gizaw, S. A., Garland-Campbell, K., and Carter, A. H. (2016). Evaluation of agronomic traits and spectral reflectance in Pacific Northwest winter wheat under rain-fed and irrigated conditions. *Field Crops Res.* 196, 168–179. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2016.06.018
- Gregory, P. J., and Gregory, P. J. (1997). Alternative crops for duplex soils: growth and water use of some cereal, legume, and oilseed crops, and pastures. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 49, 21–32.

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

- Guo, R., Lin, Z., Mo, X., and Yang, C. (2010). Responses of crop yield and water use efficiency to climate change in the North China Plain. *Agric. Water Manag.* 97, 1185–1194. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2009.07.006
- Guy, S. O. (2013). Rotational Influence of Brassica Biofuel and Other Crops on Winter Wheat. Washington State University. Available online at: http://css.wsu.edu/biofuels/reports/
- Halvorson, A. D., Black, A. L., Krupinsky, J. M., Merrill, S. D., and Tanaka, D. L. (1999). Sunflower response to tillage and nitrogen fertilization under intensive cropping in a wheat rotation. *Agron. J.* 91, 637–642. doi: 10.2134/agronj1999. 914637x
- Hammel, J. (1995). Long-term tillage and crop-rotation effects on winterwheat production. Agron. J. 87, 16–22. doi: 10.2134/agronj1995. 00021962008700010004x
- Hansen, N. C., Allen, B. L., Baumhardt, R. L., and Lyon, D. J. (2012). Research achievements and adoption of no-till, dryland cropping in the semi-arid U.S. Great Plains. *Field Crops Res.* 132, 196–203. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2012.02.021
- Holford, I. C. R., Crocker, G. J., Holford, I. C. R., and Crocker, G. J. (1997). A comparison of chickpeas and pasture legumes for sustaining yields and nitrogen status of subsequent wheat. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 48, 305–316. doi: 10.1071/A96072
- Horner, G. M., Starr, W. A., and Patterson, J. K. (1957). "The Pacific Northwest wheat region," in *The Yearbook of Agriculture* (Washington, DC: US Department of Agriculture), 475–481.
- Johnson-Maynard, J. L., Umiker, K. J., and Guy, S. O. (2007). Earthworm dynamics and soil physical properties in the first three years of no-till management. *Soil Tillage Res.* 94, 338–345. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2006.08.011
- Johnston, A. M., Kutcher, H. R., and Bailey, K. L. (2005). Impact of crop sequence decisions in the Saskatchewan Parkland. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 85, 95–102. doi: 10.4141/P04-090
- Juergens, L. A., Young, D. L., Schillinger, W. F., and Hinman, H. R. (2004). Economics of alternative no-till spring crop rotations in Washington's wheat– fallow region. *Agron. J.* 96, 154–158. doi: 10.2134/agronj2004.0154
- Keshavarz-Afshar, R., and Chen, C. (2015). Intensification of dryland cropping systems for bio-feedstock production: energy analysis of camelina. *Bioenergy Res.* 8, 1877–1884. doi: 10.1007/s12155-015-9644-8
- Kirkegaard, J., Christen, O., Krupinsky, J., and Layzell, D. (2008). Break crop benefits in temperate wheat production. *Field Crops Res.* 107, 185–195. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2008.02.010
- Kirkegaard, J. A., and Hunt, J. R. (2010). Increasing productivity by matching farming system management and genotype in water-limited environments. J. Exp. Bot. 61, 4129–4143. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erq245
- Kirkegaard, J. A., Sarwar, M., Wong, P. T. W., and Newell, M. (2000). Field studies on the biofumigation of take-all by Brassica break crops. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 51, 445–456. doi: 10.1071/AR99106
- Kirkegaard, J. A., Simpfendorfer, S., Holland, J., Bambach, R., Moore, K. J., and Rebetzke, G. J. (2004). Effect of previous crops on crown rot and yield of durum and bread wheat in northern NSW. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 55, 321–334. doi: 10.1071/AR03178
- Kollmorgen, J. F., Griffiths, J. B., and Walsgott, D. N. (1983). The effects of various crops on the survival and carry-over of the wheat take-all fungus *Gaeumannomyces graminis* var. *tritici. Plant Pathol.* 32, 73–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3059.1983.tb01303.x
- Koocheki, A., Nassiri, M., Gliessman, S. R., and Zarea, A. (2008). Agrobiodiversity of field crops: a case study for Iran. J. Sustain. Agric. 32, 95–122. doi: 10.1080/10440040802121445
- Kunkel, K. E., Palecki, M., Ensor, L., Hubbard, K. G., Robinson, D., Redmond, K., et al. (2009). Trends in twentieth-century U.S. snowfall using a quality-controlled dataset. J. Atmos. Ocean. Technol. 26, 33–44. doi: 10.1175/2008JTECHA1138.1
- Lafond, G. P., Loeppky, H., and Derksen, D. A. (1992). The effects of tillage systems and crop rotations on soil water conservation, seedling establishment and crop yield. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 72, 103–115. doi: 10.4141/cjps92-011
- Leggett, G. E., Ramig, R. E., Johnson, L. C., and Masse, T. W. (1974). Summer Fallow in the Northwest. Washington, DC: ARS-USDA.
- Lenssen, A. W., Waddell, J. T., Johnson, G. D., and Carlson, G. R. (2007). Diversified cropping systems in semiarid Montana: nitrogen use during drought. Soil Tillage Res. 94, 362–375. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2006. 08.012

- Lin, B. B. (2011). Resilience in agriculture through crop diversification: adaptive management for environmental change. *Bioscience* 61, 183–193. doi: 10.1525/bio.2011.61.3.4
- López-Bellido, L., López-Bellido, R. J., Castillo, J. E., and López-Bellido, F. J. (2000). Effects of tillage, crop rotation, and nitrogen fertilization on wheat under rainfed mediterranean conditions. *Agron. J.* 92, 1054–1063. doi: 10.2134/agronj2000.9261054x
- Maaz, T., Wulfhorst, J. D., McCracken, V., Kirkegaard, J. A., Huggins, D. R., Roth, I., et al. (in press). Economic, policy, and social trends and challenges of introducing oilseed and pulse crops into dryland wheat cropping systems. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.03.018
- Machado, S., Pritchett, L., and Petrie, S. (2015). No-tillage cropping systems can replace traditional summer fallow in North-Central Oregon. *Agron. J.* 107, 1863–1877. doi: 10.2134/agronj14.0511
- Magney, T. S., Eitel, J. U. H., Huggins, D. R., and Vierling, L. A. (2016a). Proximal NDVI derived phenology improves in-season predictions of wheat quantity and quality. Agric. For. Meteorol. 217, 46–60. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.11.009
- Magney, T. S., Eitel, J. U. H., and Vierling, L. A. (2016b). Mapping wheat nitrogen uptake from RapidEye vegetation indices. *Precis. Agric.* 1–23. doi: 10.1007/s11119-016-9463-8
- Mahler, R. L. (2007). Winter Wheat Northern Idaho Fertilizer Guide. Moscow, ID: University of Idaho Extension.
- Mahler, R. L., Wilson, S., and Shafii, B. (2014). The adoption of new technologies in dryland farming regions of Idaho, Washington, and Oregon. *Nat. Sci. Educ.* 43, 102–108. doi: 10.4195/nse2013.03.0006
- Malik, R. S., Seymour, M., French, R. J., Kirkegaard, J. A., Lawes, R. A., and Liebig, M. A. (2015). Dynamic crop sequencing in Western Australian cropping systems. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 66, 594–609. doi: 10.1071/CP14097
- Matson, P. A., Parton, W. J., Power, A. G., and Swift, M. J. (1997). Agricultural Intensification and Ecosystem Properties. Science 277, 504–509. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5325.504
- McDaniel, P. A., Gabehart, R. W., Falen, A. L., Hammel, J. E., and Reuter, R. J. (2001). Perched water tables on argixeroll and fragixeralf hillslopes. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 65, 805–810. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2001.653805x
- McGrath, J. M., and Lobell, D. B. (2013). Regional disparities in the CO₂ fertilization effect and implications for crop yields. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 8:014054. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/014054
- McVicar, R., Slinkard, A. E., Vandenberg, A., and Clancey, B. (2000). "Trends in pulse crop diversification in western Canada and effects on world trade," in *Linking Research and Marketing Opportunities for Pulses in the 21st Century Current Plant Science and Biotechnology in Agriculture*, ed R. Knight (Springer Netherlands), 243–249.
- Miao, Y., Stewart, B. A., and Zhang, F. (2011). Long-term experiments for sustainable nutrient management in China. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 31, 397–414. doi: 10.1051/agro/2010034
- Miller, P. R., Gan, Y., McConkey, B. G., and McDonald, C. L. (2003). Pulse crops for the northern Great Plains: II. Cropping sequence effects on cereal, oilseed, and pulse crops. Agron. J. 95, 980–986. doi: 10.2134/agronj2003.0980
- Miller, P. R., and Holmes, J. A. (2005). Cropping sequence effects of four broadleaf crops on four cereal crops in the Northern Great Plains. *Agron. J.* 97, 189–200. doi: 10.2134/agronj2005.0189
- Morrow, J. G., Huggins, D. R., and Reganold, J. P. (2017). Climate change predicted to negatively influence surface soil organic matter of dryland cropping systems in the Inland Pacific Northwest, USA. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:10. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00010
- Mote, P. W., Snover, A. K., Capalbo, S., Eigenbrode, S., Glick, P., Littel, J., et al. (2014). "Northwest," in *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment* (U.S. Global Change Research Program), 487–513. Available online at: http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/downloads (Accessed January 31, 2017).
- Mousavi-Avval, S. H., Rafiee, S., Jafari, A., and Mohammadi, A. (2011). Energy flow modeling and sensitivity analysis of inputs for canola production in Iran. J. Clean. Prod. 19, 1464–1470. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2011. 04.013
- Mulla, D. J., Bhatti, A. U., Hammond, M. W., and Benson, J. A. (1992). A comparison of winter wheat yield and quality under uniform versus spatially variable fertilizer management. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 38, 301–311. doi: 10.1016/0167-8809(92)90152-2

- Nielsen, D. C., and Vigil, M. F. (2014). Searching for synergism in dryland cropping systems in the central Great Plains. *Field Crops Res.* 158, 34–42. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2013.12.020
- Owen, K. J., Clewett, T. G., and Thompson, J. P. (2010). Pre-cropping with canola decreased *Pratylenchus thornei* populations, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, and yield of wheat. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 61, 399–410. doi: 10.1071/CP09345
- Pan, W. L., McClellan Maaz, T., Hammac, W. A., McCracken, V. A., and Koenig, R. T. (2016a). Mitscherlich-modeled, semi-arid Canola nitrogen requirements influenced by soil nitrogen and water. *Agron. J.* 108, 884–894. doi: 10.2134/agronj2015.0378
- Pan, W. L., Schillinger, W., Huggins, D. R., Koenig, R., and Burns, J. (2007). "Fifty years of predicting wheat nitrogen requirements based on soil water, yield, protein, and nitrogen efficiencies," in *Proceedings of the Soil Science Society of America Symposium Integrating Weather Variability into Nitrogen Recommendations* (Indianapolis, IN).
- Pan, W. L., Young, F., and Kidwell, K. K. (2001). "Carbon and nitrogen cycling in direct-seeded spring cereal alternatives to summer fallow," in *Proceedings of the Western Nutrient Management Conference* 4, ed B. Brown (Brookings, SD: Potash and Phosphate Institute), 202–209.
- Pan, W. L., Young, F. L., Maaz, T. M., and Huggins, D. R. (2016b). Canola integration into semi-arid wheat cropping systems of the inland Pacific Northwestern USA. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 67, 253–265. doi: 10.1071/CP15217
- Pikul, J. L., Osborne, S. L., and Riedell, W. E. (2012). Corn yield and nitrogenand water-use under no-tillage rotations. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 43, 2722–2734. doi: 10.1080/00103624.2012.719980
- Pilbeam, C. J., Wood, M., Harris, H. C., and Tuladhar, J. (1998). Productivity and nitrogen use of three different wheat-based rotations in North West Syria. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 49, 451–458. doi: 10.1071/A97015
- Ponisio, L. C., M'Gonigle, L. K., Mace, K. C., Palomino, J., de Valpine, P., and Kremen, C. (2015). Diversification practices reduce organic to conventional yield gap. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 282:20141396. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.1396
- Powlson, D. S., Stirling, C. M., Jat, M. L., Gerard, B. G., Palm, C. A., Sanchez, P. A., et al. (2014). Limited potential of no-till agriculture for climate change mitigation. *Nat. Clim. Change* 4, 678–683. doi: 10.1038/nclimate,2292
- R Core Team (2016). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation Statistical Computing. Available online at: http://www.R-project.org/
- Roberts, T. L., and Johnston, A. M. (2007). "Tillage intensity, crop rotation, and fertilizer technology for sustainable wheat production North American experience," in *Wheat Production in Stressed Environments. Developments in Plant Breeding*, Vol. 12, eds H. T. Buck, J. E. Nisi, and N. Salomón (Dordrecht: Springer), 175–187.
- Robertson, M., Kirkegaard, J., Peake, A., Creelman, Z., Bell, L., Lilley, J., et al. (2016). Trends in grain production and yield gaps in the high-rainfall zone of southern Australia. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 67, 921–937. doi: 10.1071/ CP16153
- Rosenzweig, C., Elliott, J., Deryng, D., Ruane, A. C., Müller, C., Arneth, A., et al. (2014). Assessing agricultural risks of climate change in the 21st century in a global gridded crop model intercomparison. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 3268–3273. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1222463110
- Ryan, J., Singh, M., and Pala, M. (2008). "Long-term cereal-based rotation trials in the Mediterranean region: Implications for cropping sustainability," in *Advances in Agronomy* (Academic Press), 273–319. Available online at: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0065211307000077 (Accessed December 10, 2016).
- Ryan, M. H., Norton, R. M., Kirkegaard, J. A., McCormick, K. M., Knights, S. E., Angus, J. F., et al. (2002). Increasing mycorrhizal colonisation does not improve growth and nutrition of wheat on Vertosols in south-eastern Australia. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 53, 1173–1181. doi: 10.1071/AR02005
- Schillinger, W. F. (2016). Seven rainfed wheat rotation systems in a drought-prone Mediterranean climate. *Field Crops Res.* 191, 123–130. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2016.02.023
- Schillinger, W. F., and Bolton, F. E. (1993). Fallow water storage in tilled vs. untilled soils in the Pacific Northwest. J. Prod. Agric. 6, 267–269. doi: 10.2134/jpa1993.0267
- Schillinger, W. F., Kennedy, A. C., and Young, D. L. (2007). Eight years of annual no-till cropping in Washington's winter wheat-summer fallow region. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 120, 345–358. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2006.10.017

- Schillinger, W. F., and Papendick, R. I. (2008). Then and now: 125 years of dryland wheat farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest. *Agron. J.* 100, S166–S182. doi: 10.2134/agronj2007.0027c
- Schillinger, W. F., and Paulitz, T. C. (2014). Natural suppression of rhizoctonia bare patch in a long-term no-till cropping systems experiment. *Plant Dis.* 98, 389–394. doi: 10.1094/PDIS-04-13-0420-RE
- Schillinger, W. F., Schofstoll, S. E., and Alldredge, J. R. (2008). Available water and wheat grain yield relations in a Mediterranean climate. *Field Crops Res.* 109, 45–49. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2008.06.008
- Schillinger, W. F., and Young, D. L. (2004). Cropping systems research in the world's driest rainfed wheat region. *Agron. J.* 96, 1182–1187. doi: 10.2134/agronj2004.1182
- Seymour, M., Kirkegaard, J. A., Peoples, M. B., White, P. F., and French, R. J. (2012). Break-crop benefits to wheat in Western Australia – insights from over three decades of research. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 63, 1–16. doi: 10.1071/CP11320
- Singh, P., Sharratt, B., and Schillinger, W. F. (2012). Wind erosion and PM10 emission affected by tillage systems in the world's driest rainfed wheat region. *Soil Tillage Res.* 124, 219–225. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2012.06.009
- Smith, P., and Olesen, J. E. (2010). Synergies between the mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change in agriculture. J. Agric. Sci. 148, 543–552. doi: 10.1017/S0021859610000341
- Snapp, S. S., Gentry, L. E., and Harwood, R. (2010). Management intensity - not biodiversity - the driver of ecosystem services in a long-term row crop experiment. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 138, 242–248. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2010.05.005
- Soon, Y. K., and Arshad, M. A. (2004). Contribution of di-nitrogen fixation by pea to the productivity and N budget of a wheat-based cropping system. J. Agric. Sci. 142, 629–637. doi: 10.1017/S002185960500482X
- Sullivan, L. S., Young, F. L., Smiley, R. W., and Alldredge, J. R. (2013). Weed and disease incidence in no-till facultative wheat in the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Crop Prot.* 53, 132–138. doi: 10.1016/j.cropro.2013.06.013
- Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service and United States Department of Agriculture (2016). *Web Soil Survey*. Available online at: https://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/ (Accessed February 22, 2017).
- Tanaka, D. L., Anderson, R. L., and Rao, S. C. (2005). Crop sequencing to improve use of precipitation and synergize crop growth. *Agron. J.* 97, 385–390. doi: 10.2134/agronj2005.0385
- Tanaka, D. L., Krupinsky, J. M., Liebig, M. A., Merrill, S. D., Ries, R. E., Hendrickson, J. R., et al. (2002). Dynamic cropping systems. Agron. J. 94, 957–961. doi: 10.2134/agronj2002.0957
- Thorne, M. E., Young, F. L., Pan, W. L., Bafus, R., and Alldredge, J. R. (2003). No-till spring cereal cropping systems reduce wind erosion susceptibility in the wheat/fallow region of the pacific northwest. J. Soil Water Conserv. 58, 250–257. Available online at: https://naldc.nal.usda.gov/download/48775/PDF
- Tilman, D. (1999). Global environmental impacts of agricultural expansion: the need for sustainable and efficient practices. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 5995–6000. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.11.5995
- Tilman, D., Balzer, C., Hill, J., and Befort, B. L. (2011). Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 20260–20264. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1116437108
- Unakitan, G., Hurma, H., and Yilmaz, F. (2010). An analysis of energy use efficiency of canola production in Turkey. *Energy* 35, 3623–3627. doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2010.05.005
- Walden, V. (2014). *Weather, Climate, and Agriculture*. Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest.
- Walsh, C. L., and Johnson-Maynard, J. L. (2016). Earthworm distribution and density across a climatic gradient within the Inland Pacific Northwest cereal production region. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 104, 104–110. doi: 10.1016/j.apsoil.2015.12.010
- Williams, J. D., and Robertson, D. S. (2016). Soil water in small drainages farmed with no-tillage and inversion tillage in northeastern Oregon. J. Soil Water Conserv. 71, 503–511. doi: 10.2489/jswc.71.6.503
- Williams, J. D., Wuest, S. B., and Long, D. S. (2014). Soil and water conservation in the Pacific Northwest through no-tillage and intensified crop rotations. J. Soil Water Conserv. 69, 495–504. doi: 10.2489/jswc.69.6.495
- Wuest, S. B., and Schillinger, W. F. (2011). Evaporation from high residue no-till versus tilled fallow in a dry summer climate. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 75, 1513–1519. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2010.0368

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

- Yang, C., Subtropical, A. R. C., Peterson, C. L., Shropshire, G. J., and Otawa, T. (1998). Spatial variability of field topography and wheat yield in the Palouse region of the Pacific Northwest. *Trans. ASAE* 41, 17–27.
- Young, F. L. (2004). Long-term weed management studies in the Pacific Northwest. *Weed Sci.* 52, 897–903. doi: 10.1614/WS-04-014R
- Young, F. L., Alldredge, J. R., Pan, W. L., and Hennings, C. (2015). Comparisons of annual no-till spring cereal cropping systems in the Pacific Northwest. *Crop Forage Turfgrass Manag.* 1, 1–7. doi: 10.2134/cftm2014.0089
- Zentner, R. P., and Campbell, C. A. (1988). First 18 Years of a long-term crop rotation study in southwestern Saskatchewan – Yields, grain protein, and economic performance. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 68, 1–21. doi: 10.4141/cjps88-001
- Zentner, R. P., Campbell, C. A., Biederbeck, V. O., Miller, P. R., Selles, F., and Fernandez, M. R. (2001). In search of a sustainable cropping system for the semiarid Canadian Prairies. J. Sustain. Agric. 18, 117–136. doi: 10.1300/J064v18n02_10
- Zentner, R. P., Campbell, C. A., Selles, F., Jefferson, P. G., Lemke, R., McConkey, B. G., et al. (2006). Effect of fallow frequency, flexible rotations, legume green manure, and wheat class on the economics of wheat production in the Brown soil zone. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 86, 413–423. doi: 10.4141/ P05-081
- Zentner, R. P., Campbell, C. A., Selles, F., McConkey, B. G., Jefferson, P. G., and Lemke, R. (2003). Cropping frequency, wheat classes and flexible rotations: effects on production, nitrogen economy, and water use in a Brown Chernozem. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 83, 667–680. doi: 10.4141/P02-160

- Zentner, R. P., Lafond, G. P., Derksen, D. A., and Campbell, C. A. (2002a). Tillage method and crop diversification: effect on economic returns and riskiness of cropping systems in a Thin Black Chernozem of the Canadian Prairies. *Soil Tillage Res.* 67, 9–21. doi: 10.1016/S0167-1987(02)00028-4
- Zentner, R. P., Lafond, G. P., Derksen, D. A., Nagy, C. N., Wall, D. D., and May, W. E. (2004). Effects of tillage method and crop rotation on non-renewable energy use efficiency for a thin Black Chernozem in the Canadian Prairies. *Soil Tillage Res.* 77, 125–136. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2003.11.002
- Zentner, R. P., Wall, D. D., Nagy, C. N., Smith, E. G., Young, D. L., Miller, P. R., et al. (2002b). Economics of crop diversification and soil tillage opportunities in the Canadian prairies. *Agron. J.* 94, 216–230. doi: 10.2134/agronj 2002.0216

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Maaz, Schillinger, Machado, Brooks, Johnson-Maynard, Young, Young, Leslie, Glover, Madsen, Esser, Collins and Pan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX 1

Location	Comparisons	Angus et al., 2015	Citation
AUSTRALIA			
Formartin, Eastern Australia	Wheat, barley, canola, chickpea, fababean, fallow	Yes	Owen et al., 2010
Tamworth, Eastern Australia	Wheat, chickpea, fallow	Yes	Holford et al., 1997
N NSW, Eastern Australia	Wheat, barley, canola, mustard, chickpea	Yes	Kirkegaard et al., 2004
N NSW, Eastern Australia	Wheat, chickpea	Yes	Felton et al., 1998
Walpeup, Southeastern Australia	Wheat, barley, oats, canola, pea, lupin, fallow	Yes	Kollmorgen et al., 1983
NSW and Vic. Southeastern Australia	Wheat, canola, mustard, flax, pea, fallow	Yes	Ryan et al., 2002
S. NSW, Southeastern	Wheat, canola, mustard, fallow	Yes	Gardner et al., 1998
S. NSW, Southeastern Australia	Wheat, canola, flax, pea, fallow	Yes	Kirkegaard et al., 2000
Kantannig, Western Australia	Wheat, barley, oats, canola, pea, lupin, fallow	No	Malik et al., 2015
Beverley, Western Australia	Wheat, barley, canola, mustard, flax, fababean, lupin, fallow	Yes	Gregory and Gregory, 1997
NORTHERN GREAT PLAINS	, NORTH AMERICA		
Swift Current, SK, Canada	Wheat, flax, fallow	Yes	Zentner and Campbell, 1988
Swift Current, SK, Canada	"Cereal," pea, lentil, fallow	No	Gan et al., 2015
Stewart Valley and Swift	Wheat, pea, lentil, chickpea, fallow	Yes	Miller et al., 2003
Current, SK, Canada	· ·		
Indian Head, SK, Canada	Wheat, "legume," fallow	No	Campbell et al., 2011
Scott, SK, Canada	Wheat, canola, fallow	Yes	Brandt and Zentner, 1995
Indian Head, SK, Canada	Wheat, flax, pea, fallow	Yes	Lafond et al., 1992
Bow Island, AB, Canada	Wheat, flax/mustard, pea, fallow	No	Bremer et al., 2011
Beaverlodge, AB, Canada	Wheat, oilseed rape, pea	No	Soon and Arshad, 2004
Havre, MT, USA	Mustard, pea, lentil, chickpea, fallow	No	Lenssen et al., 2007
Moccasin, MT, USA	Wheat, pea, lentil, fallow	No	Chen et al., 2012
Amsterdam, Bozeman, Denton, Dutton, and Havre,	Wheat, flax, pea, chickpea, fallow	Yes	Miller and Holmes, 2005
MT, USA			
WEST ASIA	***1 . 1		
Khamishly, Syria	Wheat, lentil, fallow	No	Christiansen et al., 2015
Tel Hayda, Syria	Wheat, pea, lentil, fallow	Yes	Ryan et al., 2008
Tel Hayda, Syria	Wheat, chickpea, fallow	No	Pilbeam et al., 1998
WESTERN EUROPE			X (D 111 1 1
Cordoba, Spain	Wheat, sunflower, chickpea, faba bean, fallow	No	Lopez-Bellido et al., 2000
Cordoba, Spain	Wheat, sunflower, chickpea, faba bean, fallow	No	Garrido and López-Bellido, 2001





Winter Pea: Promising New Crop for Washington's Dryland Wheat-Fallow Region

William F. Schillinger*

Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Washington State University, Dryland Research Station, Lind, WA, USA

A 2-year tillage-based winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)-summer fallow (WW-SF) rotation has been practiced by the vast majority of farmers in the low-precipitation (<300 mm annual) rainfed cropping region of east-central Washington and north-central Oregon for 140 years. Until recently, alternative crops (i.e., those other than WW) so far tested have not been as economically viable or stable as WW-SF. A 6-year field study was conducted near Ritzville, WA (292 mm avg. annual precipitation) to determine the yield and rotation benefits of winter pea (Pisum sativum L.) (WP). Two 3-year rotations were evaluated: WP-spring wheat (SW)-SF vs. WW-SW-SF. Winter pea yields averaged 2,443 vs. 4,878 kg/ha for WW. No fertilizer was applied to WP whereas 56 kg N and 11 kg S/ha were applied to WW. Winter pea used significantly less soil water than WW. Over the winter months, a lesser percentage of precipitation was stored in the soil following WP compared to WW because: (i) very little WP residue remained on the soil surface after harvest compared to WW, and (ii) the drier the soil, the more precipitation is stored in the soil over winter. However, soil water content in the spring was still greater following WP vs. WW. Soil residual N in the spring (7 months after the harvest of WP and WW) was greater in WP plots despite not applying fertilizer to produce WP. Spring wheat grown after both WP and WW received the identical quantity of N, P, and S fertilizer each year. Average yield of SW was 2,298 and 2,011 kg/ha following WP and WW, respectively (P < 0.01). Adjusted gross economic returns for these two rotation systems were similar. Based partially on the results of this study, numerous farmers in the dry WW-SF region have shown keen interest in WP and acreage planted WP in east-central Washington has grown exponentially since 2013. This paper provides the first report of the potential for WP in the typical WW-SF region of the inland Pacific Northwest (PNW).

Keywords: winter pea, Inland Pacific Northwest USA, dryland cropping systems, winter wheat-summer fallow, crop diversification

INTRODUCTION

A monoculture WW-SF rotation is the dominant cropping system practiced by farmers on 1.5 million cropland hectares in east-central Washington and north-central Oregon. Researchers and farmers have experimented with numerous crops and rotations over many decades, but none have been found to be as stable, reliable, and profitable as WW-SF (Juergens et al., 2004). Grassy weeds, mostly downy brome (*Bromus tectorum* L.) and jointed goatgrass (*Aegilops cylindrica* Host.), are a huge problem with monoculture WW-SF. Many farmers have resorted to the "Clearfield"TM system

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Klaus Birkhofer, Lund University, Sweden

Reviewed by:

José Manuel Mirás-Avalos, Centro de Edafología y Biología Aplicada del Segura (CSIC), Spain Fernando José Cebola Lidon, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Portugal

> ***Correspondence:** William F. Schillinger

william.schillinger@wsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 18 February 2017 Accepted: 21 April 2017 Published: 10 May 2017

Citation:

Schillinger WF (2017) Winter Pea: Promising New Crop for Washington's Dryland Wheat-Fallow Region. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5:43. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00043

1

for WW production that depends on use of the long soil-residual imazamax herbicide to control grassy weeds. A viable, stable, and profitable broadleaf crop is much needed for crop diversity and grassy weed control without the use of soil-residual herbicides.

Pulse crops are cool-season annual grain legumes mostly grown in the northern tier states of North Dakota and Montana, the high-precipitation (>450 mm average annual) Palouse region of Washington and Idaho (NASS, 2017), and the Canadian provinces of Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba (Statistics Canada, 2017). During the past 20 years, pulse crops have become an integral component of diversified and profitable dryland cropping systems in the Canadian and US northern Great Plains (Miller et al., 2003, 2015; Chen et al., 2006; Long et al., 2014).

In the PNW Palouse region, dry edible spring pea is commonly grown in rotation with wheat, with 48,000 ha of this crop harvested in 2016 (NASS, 2017). However, very little spring pea is produced in PNW areas that receive <450 mm annual precipitation. Experience in east-central Washington has demonstrated that water and heat stresses during flowering and pod fill limits yield potential of spring pea whereas WP better avoids such abiotic stresses by reaching physiological maturity before the onset of high air temperatures (Nelson, 2017).

Chen et al. (2006) reported that fall-planted WP in the highprecipitation Palouse of the PNW yielded as much as 1,830 kg/ha more than spring-planted pea cultivars. This (Chen et al., 2006) is the only published paper of such nature on WP in the PNW. Such observations of higher yield potential with WP compared to spring pea are not in general agreement with the much more comprehensive data sets from the Canadian and US northern Great Plains where winter temperatures are considerably colder than in the PNW. Chen et al. (2006) found that WP cultivars did not have a vield advantage over spring pea in central and south-central Montana. Similarly Strydhorst et al. (2015) recommended that farmers consider WP over spring pea only in the southernmost locations in Alberta. Although edible dry pea was harvested on 206,000 ha in Montana in 2016 (NASS, 2017) only about one percent of this was WP (P.R. Miller, personal communication).

Essentially no edible WP was produced anywhere in the PNW, (including the typical WW-SF region that receives <300 mm average annual precipitation, prior to 2012. Field research (this study) conducted since 2010 near Ritzville, WA (292 mm annual average precipitation) has demonstrated that WP is well-suited for the low-precipitation drylands. Winter pea plantings in the WW-SF region have gone from basically zero to 2,730 hectares from 2013 to 2017 (Howard Nelson, personal communication). Although the land area planted to WP currently is still small, the annual increase in planted hectares has been exponential during this 5-year period. The objective of the 6-year study reported here was to determine the yield potential and yield stability of WP and associated rotation benefits to the subsequent crop compared to WW in the low-precipitation WW-SF region of east-central Washington.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A long-term WP cropping systems experiment was initiated at the Ronald Jirava farm near Ritzville, WA (47.16394,-118.473225) in August 2010. The WP cultivar "Windham" (McPhee et al., 2007) was selected for inclusion in the experiment based on the experience and recommendation of Howard Nelson of Central Washington Grain Growers. Windham is a yellow pea with mottled seed coat; with an average 100-seed weight of 13.8 g. Windham can withstand ambient air temperatures as low as -18° C without undue damage to plant stands (Nelson, 2017). This cultivar has an average mature plant height of 44 cm with upright growth habit that allows for direct combining at harvest with a conventional header (i.e., swathing and/or a pick-up header not required).

Precipitation was measured on site during all years of the study by the Washington State University (WSU) AgWeatherNet (http://weather.wsu.edu/) with a Campbell Scientific CR-1000 logger and associated hardware. The soil at the site is a Ritzville silt loam (coarse-silty, mixed, superactive, mesic, Calcidic Haploxerolls; Soil Survey Staff, 2010). The soil is more than 2 meters deep to underlying basalt bedrock with uniform texture throughout the profile and with no rocks or restrictive layers. Slope is <1%. Long-term (100-year) annual precipitation at/near the site averages 292 mm. Annual crop-year (Sept. 1–Aug. 31) precipitation during the study period ranged from 207 to 370 mm and averaged 277 mm.

Treatments and Field Operations

Throughout the 6-year experiment, glyphosate herbicide was applied at a rate of 0.48 kg acid equivalent (ae)/ha in March to control weeds in the undisturbed residue of the WP, WW, and SW plots that had been harvested the previous July or August. The two 3-year crop rotations in the experiment were (i) WP-SW-SF vs. (ii) WW-SW-SF. Experimental design was a randomized complete block with four replicates. All phases of both rotations were present every year for a total of 24 individual plots. Size of individual plots was 5×30 m.

During the fallow year, conservation primary spring tillage was conducted with a HaybusterTM undercutter implement in mid-to-late May at a depth of 10 cm. For the WW-SW-SF treatment, 56 kg/ha aqua NH₃-N + 11 kg/ha thiosol S fertilizer was injected with the undercutter implement during primary spring tillage. No fertilizer was applied to the WP-SW-SF treatment with the undercutter during primary spring tillage. Summer fallow in both treatments was rodweeded once in July at a depth of 8 cm to control broadleaf weeds.

Winter pea (cv. Windham) and WW (cv. Xerpha) were planted at the same time and depth each year in either the last week of August or first week of September with a deep-furrow drill with 43 cm spacing between rows. Seed was inoculated with powdered rhizobium bacteria at time of planting to facilitate root nodulation and fixation of atmospheric nitrogen. Seeding rate for WP was 100 kg/ha (70 seeds/m²) and for WW 56 kg/ha (160 seeds/m²). An average of 10 cm of soil covered the seeds. Excellent stands of both WP and WW were achieved every year.

Abbreviations: PNW, inland Pacific Northwest; SF, summer fallow; SW, spring wheat; WP, winter pea; WW, winter wheat.

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

Winter Pea in the Pacific Northwest Drylands

Spring wheat (cv. Louise) was planted and fertilized in late March in one-pass directly into the undisturbed soil and residue left from the previous WP or WW crop. A no-till hoe-opener drill was used to place seed in paired rows 10-cm apart with 30 cm spacing between openers. Fertilizer was placed in a band between and 3 cm below the paired rows. Seeding rate for SW was 78 kg/ha (225 seeds/m²) and soil covering the seed averaged 2 cm. Prior to SW planting and fertilization, soil samples were obtained from 2,014 to 2,106 in 30-cm increments from the middle of each plot to a depth of 120 cm in all four replicates, then combined to make one sample for each treatment per depth increment, where the previous crop was WP or WW. Soil samples were then analyzed for N, P, K, S, and other nutrients at a commercial soiltesting laboratory (Soil Test Farm Consultants, Inc., Moses Lake, WA). Fertilizer rate for SW was based on soil test residual soil fertility, available soil water, and perceived grain yield potential. Potassium fertilizer was not required as soils contain naturally adequate quantities of this nutrient. Although soil fertility values following WP vs. WW differed somewhat (Table 1), SW after either WP or WW always received the same fertilizer application rate each year. Solution 32 (NH₄NO₃ + urea) provided the liquid fertilizer base to supply an average of 38 kg N, 7 kg P (aqueous solution of $NH_4H_2PO_4$), and 10 kg S [aqueous solution of (NH₄)₂S₂O₃]/ha. Excellent stands of SW were achieved every year.

Crop yields were determined in early-to-mid July (WP) and early August (WW and SW) by harvesting a 1.5-m swath through the center of each 30-m-long plot with a HegeTM 140 plot combine. After grain harvest with the plot combine, the remaining standing crops in the experiment were harvested with a commercial-size combine.

In-Crop and Post-Harvest Weed Control with Herbicides

When WP reached the three-leaf (or four-node) stage of growth in April, 1.1 kg active ingredient (ai)/ha sodium salt of bentazon broadleaf-weed herbicide was tank mixed with 0.1 kg ai/ha quizalofop P-ethyl grass-weed herbicide and applied. Bentazon and MCPA Amine are currently the only non-soil-residual broadleaf-weed herbicides labeled for use in WP. The major grass weeds of concern in the region are downy brome and jointed goatgrass. Both these grass weeds are winter annuals with growth cycles similar to WW and are particularly problematic in the 2-year WW-SF rotation (Young and Thorne, 2004).

Herbicides used to control broadleaf weeds in WW were either 2,4-D ester at a rate of 0.84 kg acid equivalent (ae)/ha or 0.56 kg ai/ha bromoxynil applied in April after WW had four tillers but before the "jointing" stage of WW growth development. In-crop broadleaf herbicides used for SW were 0.56 kg ai/ha bromoxynil or 0.45 kg ai/ha bromoxynil + 0.02 L ai/ha thifensulfuron applied in May.

Glyphosate was applied at a rate of 0.90 kg ae/ha following the harvest of SW in August of 2014 and 2015 (the two driest crop years) to control Russian thistle (Salsola tragus L.). Post-harvest herbicide application was not required for WP or WW in any year.

TABLE 1 | Soil nitrate-N, Olsen-P, sulfate-S, and soil organic matter (SOM) in late March during 3 years after either winter pea or winter wheat and prior to planting spring wheat.

	Nitrate (mg/kg/120 cm)	Phosphorus (mg/kg/30 cm)	Sulfate (mg/kg/90 cm)	SOM (30 cm, %)
2013				
Winter wheat	24	53	39	1.7
Winter pea	30	52	45	1.5
2014				
Winter wheat	16	35	17	1.8
Winter pea	22	38	17	1.6
2016				
Winter wheat	17	45	16	1.4
Winter pea	24	43	13	1.6

Soil Water

Soil water was measured to a depth of 180 cm three times each year: (i) in early August immediately after WP, WW, and SW grain harvest (16 plots); (ii) at the end of fallow in late August for the SF plots (8 plots); and (iii) in mid-March (all 24 plots). Volumetric soil water content in the 0–30-cm depth was determined from two 15-cm core samples with gravimetric procedures (Topp and Ferre, 2002) using known soil bulk density values for these depths. Soil volumetric water content in the 30– 180-cm depth was measured in 15-cm increments by neutron thermalization (Hignett and Evett, 2002).

Market Price, Gross Returns, and Adjusted Gross Returns

Gross returns for WP and WW per hectare were calculated based on the yield results for each year of the study. Edible WP grown by farmers in eastern Washington was sold through a "market pool" operated by Central Washington Grain Growers in Wilbur, WA. Market streams for WP through the years included seed for cover crops, US government food aid, export for food to Asia, and for pet food. Winter pea marketing pool prices ranged from 160 to 339 US\$/metric ton (MT).

Soft white wheat market price used was the price offered during the first week of September for each year of the study at Ritzville Warehouse, Ritzville, WA. Ritzville Warehouse accepts WW and WP for storage and is the closest commercial elevator delivery site for the study. Gross returns per hectare for both WP and WW were calculated by multiplying yields obtained from the study by the market prices for each year. Adjusted gross returns were then calculated for both rotations by tabulating for each year the cost of N and S used for WW (but not for WP) and any differences in SW yields.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses using a randomized complete block design analysis of variance (ANOVA) were conducted for: (i) water use of WP vs. WW as well as overwinter storage of precipitation in the soil following these two crops averaged over 5 years, and; (ii) within-year and 5-year average differences in SW grain yield following either WP or WW. A split-plot in time ANOVA was used for the 5-year average soil water data and the 5-year average SW yield data with treatment as the fixed effect factor and year as the random effect factor. The least significant difference test was used to detect statistical differences in treatment means. All ANOVA tests were done at the 5% level of significance.

RESULTS

Soil Water

Averaged over the years, WP used an average of 30 mm less soil water than WW (P < 0.001, **Table 2**). The majority of this water savings with WP occurred at soils depths below 100 cm (**Figure 1**) as WP roots do not reach this depth. These data on soil water use by WP agree closely with those reported by Miller and Holmes (2012) in Montana and Merrill et al. (2004) in North Dakota. However, by late March, WP plots had only 13 mm more soil water than WW plots (**Table 2**) because: (i) the greater the surface residue cover, the more water will be stored in the soil (e.g., WP produces little residue compared to WW); and (ii) the drier the soil, the more overwinter precipitation will be stored in the soil (Kok et al., 2009).

The overwinter precipitation storage efficiency (PSE) in the soil averaged 55 and 69% for WP and WW plots, respectively (**Table 2**). Similar overwinter PSE-values were reported following spring lentil (*Lens culinaris* L.) vs. following SW in a 21-year study in Saskatchewan (Campbell et al., 2007). This increase in overwinter PSE for WW over WP plots occurred within the first 100 cm of the soil profile whereas the relative difference in spatial water distribution at the 100–180-cm depths remained about the same for WP and WW plots (**Figure 1**). The end result, however, was that when SW was planted in late March, average overwinter soil water content was 290 and 277 mm following WP and WW, respectively (**Table 1**).

Soil Nitrate-N

When measured in late March, soil nitrate-N-values trended higher after a crop of WP compared to WW, despite the fact that zero N was applied for WP and 56 kg of N/ha was applied for WW (**Table 1**). This can be explained by the fact that WP is a legume that fixes atmospheric nitrogen. Although statistical analysis was not possible (soil samples were pooled from the four replicates), nitrate-N-values were 25–41% greater following WP vs. WW.

Grain Yield

Yield of WP ranged from 1,696 to 3,158 kg/ha and averaged 2,443 kg/ha over 5 years (**Table 3**). Winter pea was killed by -21° C air temperatures with no snow cover in 2014 and was replaced by spring pea (cv. Banner) which yielded 870 kg/ha. Winter wheat grain yield ranged from 3,372 to 5,841 kg/ha for an average of 4,878 kg/ha over 6 years (**Table 3**).

Spring wheat grain yield was significantly greater following WP vs. following WW in 2013 and 2015. The 5-year average SW grain yield of 2,298 kg/ha following WP was significantly different from 2,122 kg/ha following WW (**Table 3**).

TABLE 2 | (i) Soil water content to a depth of 180 cm measured after harvest of winter pea and winter wheat and again in late March following these two crops; (ii) overwinter gain in soil water, and; (iii) overwinter precipitation storage efficiency in the soil (PSE).

	Beginning (late Aug.)	Spring (late Mar.)	Overwinter gain	PSE (%)
Soil water con	itent (mm)			
Winter pea	180	290	110	55
Winter wheat	150	277	127	69
P-value	< 0.001	ns	0.001	

Data are averaged over 5 years. Average overwinter precipitation was 164 mm.



August after harvest of winter pea and winter wheat (red lines on left) and overwinter soil water recharge following these two crops measured in late March (blue lines on right). Data are averaged over 5 years.

Market Price, Gross Returns, and Adjusted Gross Returns

Gross returns for WW exceeded that for WP in most years (**Table 4**). However, cost of 56 kg/ha aqua NH₃-N + 11 kg/ha thiosol S fertilizer for WW (where none was used for WP) ranged from \$66 to \$97/ha and averaged \$86/ha over the 6 years (actual costs paid for the fertilizer each year). Also, SW yield after WP vs. WW from 2012 to 2016 ranged from -143 to +589 kg/ha and averaged +176 kg/ha (**Table 3**). Using the commodity market prices shown in **Table 4**, SW after WP generated from -\$35 to +\$85/ha and averaged +\$39/ha more return than SW after WW. Thus, the fertilizer savings plus the greater SW grain yield revenue provided in the WP rotation should be considered rather than just the gross returns shown in **Table 4**.

DISCUSSION

Winter wheat-summer fallow has been the dominant cropping system practiced throughout the low-precipitation dryland cropping region of east-central Washington and north-central Oregon for well-over 100 years. Despite long-term and ongoing

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 3 | Yield of winter pea (WP) and winter wheat (WW) as well as the subsequent yield of spring wheat (SW) following both WP and WW over a 6-year period at Ritzville, WA.

			Grai	n yield (kg/ha)		
	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	Avg.
WINTER CRO)P						
Winter pea	2,193	3,158	2,336	*	1,696	2,833	2,443**
Winter wheat	5,180	5,729	5,841	3,372	4,211	4,932	4,878
SPRING CRC	P***						
SW after WP		2,010	2,992 a	1,043	2,293 a	3,151	2,298 a
SW after WW		2,153	2,700 b	965	1,704 b	3,086	2,122 b
Crop-year pr	ecipitati	on (mm)					
	330	294	254	207	208	370	277

Values at the bottom show crop-year (Sept. 1–Aug. 31) precipitation at the site.

^{*}WP was winterkilled in 2014 and replanted to Banner edible spring pea, which yielded 870 kg/ha.

**Winter pea average yield is for 5 years (i.e., 2014 not included).

 *** ANOVA is for SW only. Within-column means followed by a different letter are significantly different at P<0.05.

TABLE 4 | Ritzville soft white wheat market prices during the first week of September and winter pea market pool price as well as gross return for these crops based on the yield results of the experiment from 2011 to 2016.

	Commodity	market price (US\$/MT)*	Gross returns	(US\$/hectare)**
	Soft white wheat	Winter pea	Soft white wheat	Winter pea
2011	198	291	1,245	776
2012	242	289	1,680	1,112
2013	202	339	1,433	963
2014	172	No pool, winterkill	701	
2015	145	377	746	778
2016	123	160	731	674

*Soft white wheat price data from Ritzville Warehouse, Ritzville, WA. Winter pea market pool price data from Howard Nelson, Central Washington Grain Growers, Wilbur, WA. **Gross return values shown here to not account for cost of N and S used for WW (but not used for WP) or the additional revenue from greater SW yield after WP vs. WW (see Results section).

efforts, farmers and scientists have not yet identified any springplanted crop, including SW spring barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.), and numerous others, that can provide the yield stability and economic viability of WW-SF.

A big benefit of growing WP in wheat-based cropping systems is the opportunity for in-crop control of winter-annual grass weeds such as downy brome and jointed goatgrass. These two grass weeds have growth cycles similar to WW and infestations are frequently heavy and troublesome (Appleby and Morrow, 1990), especially in the 2-year WW-SF rotation.

Another benefit of WP is its large seed size and strong "push" by the elongating hypocotyl which enables it to emerge from deep planting depths. For optimum grain yield potential, farmers in east-central Washington seed WW into SF as deep as 20 cm below the soil surface with deep-furrow drills to reach adequate soil moisture in late August-early September, and WW seedlings need to emerge through as much as 15 cm of dry soil cover. Data from planting-date experiments in east-central Washington suggest that late August-early September is also the best planting time for optimum yield potential of WP (Rebecca McGee, personal communication). Experience of farmers and scientists strongly demonstrates that WP seedlings can emerge from even deeper planting depths than WW. In addition, WP seedlings easily emerge through surface soil that has been crusted by rain showers whereas WW seedlings cannot do so.

A new yellow WP cultivar "Blaze" (ProGene Plant Research, Othello, WA) is presently under seed multiplication and will be available to farmers in 2018. Compared to Windham in regional trials, Blaze has (i) 13% higher yield, (ii) 18 cm taller plant height at maturity, 22% larger seed, and (iii) better cold tolerance (Nelson, 2017). For example, during a cold event of -18° C with no snow cover in 2014, Windham was winterkilled at regional locations whereas, at these same locations, Blaze survived (Nelson, 2017). It is estimated that Blaze has similar cold tolerance as regionally-adopted WW cultivars. Additionally, three advanced WP numbered lines in the USDA-Agricultural Research Service legume breeding program in Pullman, WA show excellent potential and are expected to be released soon. These numbered WP lines have better cold tolerance than Windham in addition to smooth seed coat, clear hilum, and large seed size that are deemed highly desirable for food markets (Rebecca McGee, personal communication).

A soil management concern about growing WP is the fact that they produce very little durable residue. Wind erosion and dust emission from agricultural soils is a major environmental and air quality concern in east-central Washington (Sharratt and Vaddella, 2012). Wind tunnel studies during the fallow year after the oilseed crops camelina (*Camelina sativa L.* Crantz) and safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius L.*) showed up to 250% greater blowing dust emissions even using best management practices for tillage-based SF compared to after WW (Sharratt and Schillinger, 2014). Personal observation suggests that WP residue decomposes at about the same rate as residue of camelina and safflower. In a practical sense, this means that farmers must be especially judicious in protecting the soil after WP by either (i) recropping to the spring crop (as done in this study), or (ii) conducting no tillage during the 13-month SF cycle.

There are currently few effective in-crop broadleaf herbicide options for WP. Bentazon herbicide (used every year in WP in the study) provides little control for tumble mustard (*Sisymbrium altissimum* L.) or tansy mustard (*Descurainia pinnata* L.). Although considered minor weeds that are easily controlled with herbicides in WW, both were present in minor to moderate levels in WP. The soil residual imazamox herbicide can be used in WP and is used by many farmers who practice the ClearfieldTM method for WW production. However, many farmers are reluctant to use soil-residual herbicides due to limitations imposed on rotation to other crops or to WW cultivars that are not tolerant of this herbicide. Russian thistle, by far the most troublesome broadleaf weed in the region, was not a problem in WP to provide canopy

closure relatively early in the spring before this weed can establish.

The potential impact of increased pulse crop production on greenhouse gas emissions deserves some discussion. Lemke et al. (2007) and Cutforth et al. (2007) wrote review articles about the impact of pulse crop production on climate change in the Canadian and US northern Great Plains and the contribution of pulse crops to the balance of greenhouse gases. Authors of these papers agreed that rotations which include pulse crops will likely have lower nitrous oxide emissions compared to rotations that do not contain a pulse because legumes fix atmospheric N compared to rotations that rely solely on fertilizer N. Lemke et al. (2007) and Cutforth et al. (2007) further agreed that replacing a cereal with a pulse crop will likely result in the same or slightly smaller carbon dioxide emissions in direct relation to reduction in fertilizer N usage.

CONCLUSION

This study showed that WP has excellent production potential in the typical WW-SF region of east-central Washington. Although gross returns for WW were greater than for WP during most years, adjusted gross returns for the two rotations were equivalent. Winter pea has unsurpassed seedling emergence from deep planting depths, even when surface soils have been crusted by rain showers before emergence. Excellent WP plant stands were consistently achieved that effectively competed against Russian thistle. New WP cultivars will be available to farmers

REFERENCES

- Appleby, A. P., and Morrow, L. A. (1990). "The Pacific Northwest," in Systems of Weed Control in North America. WSSA Monogr, Vol. 6. ed W. W. Donald (Champaign, IL: WSSA), 200–232.
- Campbell, C. A., Zentner, R. P., Basnyat, P., Wang, H., Selles, F., McConkey, B. G., et al. (2007). Water use efficiency and water and nitrate distribution in soil in the semiarid prairie: effect of crop type over 21 years. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 87, 815–827. doi: 10.4141/CJPS06034
- Chen, C., Miller, P., Muehlbauer, F., Neill, K., Wichman, D., and McPhee, K. (2006). Winter pea and lentil response to seeding date and microand macro-environments. *Agron. J.* 98, 1655–1663. doi: 10.2134/agronj200 6.0085
- Cutforth, H. W., McGinn, S. M., McPhee, K. E., and Miller, P. R. (2007). Adaptation of pulse crops in the changing climate of the northern Great Plains. *Agron. J.* 99, 1684–1699. doi: 10.2134/agronj2006.0310s
- Hignett, C., and Evett, S. R. (2002). "Methods for measurement of soil water content: neutron thermalization," in *Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 4—Physical Methods*, eds J. H. Dane and G. C. Topp (Madison, WI: SSSA), 501–521.
- Juergens, L. A., Young, D. L., Schillinger, W. F., and Hinman, H. R. (2004). Economics of alternative no-till spring crop rotations in Washington's wheatfallow region. *Agron. J.* 96, 154–158. doi: 10.2134/agronj2004.0154
- Kok, H., Papendick, R. I., and Saxton, K. E. (2009). STEEP: impact of long-term conservation farming research and education in Pacific Northwest wheatlands. *J. Soil Water Cons.* 64, 253–264. doi: 10.2489/jswc.64.4.253
- Lemke, R. L., Zhong, Z., Campbell, C. A., and Zentner, R. (2007). Can pulse crops play a role in mitigating greenhouse gases from North American agriculture? *Agron. J.* 99, 1719–1725. doi: 10.2134/agronj2006.0327s
- Long, J. A., Lawrence, R. L., Miller, P. R., and Marshall, L. A. (2014). Changes in field-level cropping sequences: indicators of shifting agricultural

in 2018 that have cold tolerance similar to that of WW, greater yield potential than cv. Windham, and better quality traits that will fetch higher prices in regional, national, and international markets.

Land area planted of WP in the PNW drylands is still minor, but farmers and scientists are excited about this crop and planted acreage has increased exponentially every year since 2013. This paper provides the first report in the literature on WP production in the typical WW-SF region of the PNW.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Contributions to this article were made by WS and he is accountable for the content of the work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author gratefully acknowledges the cooperation and support of Ronald Jirava on whose farm the research was conducted. Excellent field and office support was provided by John Jacobsen, Steve Schofstoll, and Samantha Crow located at the WSU Lind Dryland Research Station. Much appreciation is extended to Howard Nelson and Kurt Braunwart for sharing their knowledge about producing and marketing WP. Funding was provided by the WSU Agricultural Research Center through Hatch Project 0250, the USDA-NIFA through the REACCH Project, and by ProGene Plant Research.

practices. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 189, 11-20. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2014. 03.015

- McPhee, K. E., Chen, C. C., Wichman, D. M., and Muehlbauer, F. J. (2007). Registration of "Windham" winter feed pea. J. Plant Regist. 1, 117–118. doi: 10.3198/jpr2006.12.0828crc
- Merrill, S. D., Tanaka, D. L., Krupinsky, J. M., and Ries, R. E. (2004). Water use and depletion by diverse crop species on Haplustoll soil in the northern Great Plains. J. Soil Water Conserv. 59, 176–183.
- Miller, P. R., Bekkerman, A., Jones, C. A., Burgess, M. H., Holmes, J. A., and Engel, R. E. (2015). Pea in rotation with wheat reduced uncertainty of economic returns in southwest Montana. *Agron. J.* 107, 541–550. doi: 10.2134/agronj14.0185
- Miller, P. R., Gan, Y., McConkey, B. G., and McDonald, C. L. (2003). Pulse crops for the Northern Great Plains: II. Cropping sequence effects on cereal, oilseed, and pulse crops. *Agron. J.* 95, 980–986. doi: 10.2134/agronj20 03.0980
- Miller, P. R., and Holmes, J. A. (2012). Comparative soil water use by annual crops at a semiarid site in Montana. *Can. J. Plant Sci.* 92, 803–807. doi: 10.4141/cjps2011-191
- NASS (2017). Northwest Regional Field Office. National Agricultural Statistics Service. Washington, DC: USDA. Available online at: https://www.nass.usda.gov/Statistics_by_State/Washington/index.php
- Nelson, H. (2017). Central Washington Grain Growers 2016 Test Plot Results. Available online at: http://www.cwgg.net/images/603/2016 TestPlotResults.pdf (Accessed Feb 17, 2017).
- Sharratt, B., and Schillinger, W. F. (2014). Windblown dust potential from oilseed cropping systems in the Pacific Northwest United States. Agron. J. 106, 1147–1152. doi: 10.2134/agronj13.0384
- Sharratt, B. S., and Vaddella, V. K. (2012). Threshold friction velocity of soils within the Columbia Plateau. Aeolian Res. 6, 13–20. doi: 10.1016/j.aeolia.2012.06.002

Statistics Canada (2017). Ottawa. Available online at: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/start

- Strydhorst, S., Olson, M. A., Vasanthan, T., McPhee, K. E., McKenzie, R. H., Henriques, B., et al. (2015). Adaptability and quality of winter pea and lentil in Alberta. Agron. J. 107, 2431–2448. doi: 10.2134/agronj15-0092
- Soil Survey Staff (2010). *Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 11th Edn.* Washington, DC: USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service.
- Topp, G. C., and Ferre, P. A. (2002). "Methods for measurement of soil water content: Thermogravimetric using convective oven-drying," in *Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 4—Physical Methods. SSSA Book Series: 5*, eds J. H. Dane and G. C.Topp (Madison, WI: Soil Science Society of America), 422–424.
- Young, F. L., and Thorne, M. E. (2004). Weed-species dynamics and management in no-till and reduced-till fallow cropping systems for the semi-arid

agricultural region of the Pacific Northwest, USA. Crop Prot. 23, 1097–1110. doi: 10.1016/j.cropro.2004.03.018

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Schillinger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Comparison of Greenhouse Gas Offset Quantification Protocols for Nitrogen Management in Dryland Wheat Cropping Systems of the Pacific Northwest

Tabitha T. Brown^{1*}, Carrie M. Lee², Chad E. Kruger^{3,4}, John P. Reganold¹ and David R. Huggins⁵

¹ Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ² U.S. Center, Stockholm Environment Institute, Seattle, WA, United States, ³ WSU Mount Vernon Northwest Washington Research & Extension Center, Mt. Vernon, WA, United States, ⁴ Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Puyallup, WA, United States, ⁵ Northwest Sustainable Agroecosystems Research, United States Department of Agriculture-Agricultural Research Service, Pullman, WA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jodi Lynn Johnson-Maynard, University of Idaho, United States

Reviewed by:

Mukhtar Ahmed, Pir Mehr Ali Shah Arid Agriculture University, Pakistan Fernando José Cebola Lidon, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Portugal Safdar Bashir, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

> *Correspondence: Tabitha T. Brown tabitha_brown@wsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Environmental Science

> Received: 08 February 2017 Accepted: 13 October 2017 Published: 06 November 2017

Citation:

Brown TT, Lee CM, Kruger CE, Reganold JP and Huggins DR (2017) Comparison of Greenhouse Gas Offset Quantification Protocols for Nitrogen Management in Dryland Wheat Cropping Systems of the Pacific Northwest. Front. Environ. Sci. 5:72. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00072 In the carbon market, greenhouse gas (GHG) offset protocols need to ensure that emission reductions are of high quality, quantifiable, and real. Lack of consistency across protocols for quantifying emission reductions compromise the credibility of offsets generated. Thus, protocol quantification methodologies need to be periodically reviewed to ensure emission offsets are credited accurately and updated to support practical climate policy solutions. Current GHG emission offset credits generated by agricultural nitrogen (N) management activities are based on reducing the annual N fertilizer application rate for a given crop without reducing yield. We performed a "road test" of agricultural N management protocols to evaluate differences among protocol components and quantify nitrous oxide (N₂O) emission reductions under sample projects relevant to N management in dryland, wheat-based cropping systems of the inland Pacific Northwest (iPNW). We evaluated five agricultural N management offset protocols applicable to North America: two methodologies of American Carbon Registry (ACR1 and ACR2), Verified Carbon Standard (VCS), Climate Action Reserve (CAR), and Alberta Offset Credit System (Alberta). We found that only two protocols, ACR2 and VCS, were suitable for this study, in which four sample projects were developed representing feasible N fertilizer rate reduction activities. The ACR2 and VCS protocols had identical baseline and project emission quantification methodologies resulting in identical emission reduction values. Reducing N fertilizer application rate by switching to variable rate N (sample projects 1-3) or split N application (sample project 4) management resulted in a N_2O emission reduction ranging from 0.07 to 0.16, and 0.26 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹, respectively. Across the range of C prices considered (\$5, \$10, and \$50 per metric ton of CO2 equivalent), we concluded that the N₂O emission offset payment alone (\$0.35-\$13.0ha-1) was unlikely to encourage a change in fertilizer N management; however, the fertilizer cost savings from adopting variable or split N management would incentivize

1

adopting these practices. Therefore, the monetary incentive of adopting agricultural N management BMPs for reducing N₂O emission should be tied to other co-benefits and existing conservation programs to encourage N rate reductions that do not limit yield, crop quality, or economic stability.

Keywords: agriculture, wheat, nitrous oxide, greenhouse gas, nitrogen, offset

INTRODUCTION

There is growing concern over rising atmospheric concentrations of nitrous oxide (N₂O), a greenhouse gas (GHG) 310 times more potent than carbon dioxide (CO₂) (Robertson and Vitousek, 2009; United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2013). GHG concerns are coupled with negative environmental consequences associated with accelerated rates of reactive N entering and cycling through ecosystems (Vitousek et al., 1997; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). The agricultural sector is the largest contributor to rising N2O emissions in the US with 69% of N2O emissions from agricultural soil management (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2013) (Figure 1). Increased N2O emissions from agricultural soil management result from application of synthetic N fertilizer, manure additions, and drainage and cultivation of organic soils (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2013). Therefore, reducing N rate has been targeted as an opportunity to reduce GHG emissions and achieve other co-benefits, such as reducing N in runoff. However, under GHG offset programs, N fertilizer rate reductions must not result in substantial yield reductions (American Carbon Registry, 2010, 2012; Climate Action Reserve, 2012; Verified Carbon Standard, 2013) as an increasing world population will demand greater agricultural productivity from cropping systems that are currently reliant on synthetic N fertilizers to achieve high yields. This has placed considerable pressure on agriculture to reduce hydrologic or gaseous losses of N without compromising yield which supports increased N use efficiency that may or may not result in N rate reductions (Robertson and Vitousek, 2009).

One policy tool to incentivize N fertilizer rate reductions is carbon offsets. Carbon offsets, also known as GHG offsets, are emission reductions achieved at sources outside of a capped sector that result in offset credits. Offset programs provide a mechanism where covered entities can offset their emissions by purchasing emission reduction credits. Offset protocol methodologies have been developed to ensure that GHG emission reductions are actually achieved (i.e., real and verifiable) and beyond what would have occurred without the incentive of the offset program payment (i.e., additional to business as usual) (Broekhoff and Zyla, 2008). The protocol methodology for quantifying emission reductions are the standard for accurate accounting of emission reductions and offset credits generated by project activities. Offset quantification protocols are therefore critical for establishing credibility in emission reductions and offset markets (Kollmuss et al., 2010; Lazarus et al., 2010).

Fertilizer N rate reductions have been targeted in offset programs because the addition of N increases the amount of available soil N for processes that produce N_2O emissions from agricultural soils (mainly nitrification and denitrification)



(Smith et al., 2008) and are relatively easy to monitor and verify (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2006). Furthermore, fertilizer N rate can be used as an integrator of several management practices that can be adopted alone or simultaneously to reduce N₂O emissions. This might include adopting crop rotations with an N capturing component, improving prediction of N requirement, and employing the principles of precision N management of right place, right time, right source, and right rate (Smith et al., 2008; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). Offset protocols for agricultural N management encourage practices that better predict crop N demand and increase N-use efficiency (Robertson and Vitousek, 2009; Millar et al., 2012) and can allow for reduced N fertilization rates while also meeting crop N demand. Precision N management practices that reduce N fertilizer application rates without reducing crop yield therefore offer one potential management strategy to reduce agricultural N₂O emissions, generate GHG offsets, and decrease the amount of reactive N entering the environment.

Currently, N fertilizer rate recommendations for wheat are based on an expected yield goal and the unit N requirement (UNR). The UNR is the amount of nitrogen needed to produce one unit of grain (e.g., a bushel or kilogram). In the iPNW, where wheat is the dominant and most profitable crop for farmers, the UNR is generally determined by wheat class across a given region and reported in regional fertilizer guides (e.g., Koenig, 2005; Mahler and Guy, 2007). Yield goal and UNR are often assumed to be uniform across a given field and are used to calculate a uniform N application rate for a given field. However, variability in wheat yield and N requirement has been observed across agricultural fields within the Palouse region of the iPNW (Mulla et al., 1992; Fiez et al., 1994a,b; Huggins, 2010). For example, Fiez et al. (1994a) reported soft white winter wheat grain yield to vary by up to 63% and the UNR to vary by up to 70% in the Palouse. Sowers et al. (1994) observed split N applications in winter wheat to produce similar grain yield with 25-40% less N. This indicates that variable rate and/or split N fertilizer application have the potential to reduce overall N rate without decreasing yield.

Our focus was to improve understanding of methodologies for quantifying GHG offset credits generated under current

offset programs with agricultural N management protocols. Quantification of offset credits was applied to sample projects developed from a literature review of precision N management for dryland wheat cropping systems of the iPNW. Offset quantification under sample project scenarios was used to evaluate the relevance of existing offset programs quantification protocol methodologies for iPNW and agroecosystems. A road test of agricultural N management protocols was performed following the approach of Lee et al. (2013) and Lazarus et al. (2010) to provide a framework for comparing N-based GHG offset programs for iPNW dryland wheat agriculture. The objectives of this project were to (i) review and assess the current components of agricultural N management protocols for relevance to the iPNW; (ii) road-test quantification approaches for N2O emission reductions under applicable protocols using sample projects; (iii) investigate the impact of quantification approaches on the magnitude of offsets generated; and (iv) assess the role of agricultural N management offset credits as incentive for changing N management strategies for PNW wheat-based cropping systems.

METHODS

Offset Quantification Methodologies for iPNW Agricultural N Management Eligibility Requirements

We identified four voluntary GHG reduction programs applicable to North America with agricultural N management protocols: the American Carbon Registry (ACR), Verified Carbon Standard (VCS), Climate Action Reserve (CAR), and Alberta Offset Credit System (Alberta) (**Table 1**). The ACR and VCS offset programs have international applicability. The CAR program is applicable to project locations within the US and the Alberta program is applicable in the Canadian province of Alberta. All programs are associated with an offset registry system where verified emission reductions from approved project activities are transparently serialized and tracked. Within the four GHG reduction programs, five agricultural N management

·····	- 3			
Offset program/Protocol component	Alberta offset system (Alberta)	American Carbon Registry (ACR)	Climate Action Reserve (CAR)	Verified Carbon Standard (VCS)
Regional scope of protocol	Canadian province of Alberta	International	U.S.	International
Start of program	2007	1996	Unknown	2005
Relative market share of offset credits [†]	118,355,719	81,401,214	87,327,828	200,676,374
Protocol version and date [‡]	October 2010. Version 1.0.	ACR1-November 2010; and ACR2-July 2012. Version 1.	January 2013. Version 1.1.	March 2013. Version 1.0.

[†] Total offset credits issued in metric ton of carbon dioxide equivalents (note 1 Mg is \approx 1 metric ton). Data from online registries accessed online on 1/31/2017 for: ACR, http://americancarbonregistry.org/carbon-registry; CAR, http://www.climateactionreserve.org;

VCS, http://www.v-c-s.org; and Alberta, http://carbonoffsetsolutions.climatechangecentral.com/offset-registry.

TABLE 1 Greenhouse day offset programs and agricultural nitrogen management protocols for North America

[‡] Protocol titles are: **Alberta**, Quantification Protocol for Agricultural Nitrous Oxide Emissions Reductions; **ACR1**, The American Carbon Registry Methodology for N₂O Emission Reductions through Changes in Fertilizer Management; **ACR2**, Methodology for Quantifying Nitrous Oxide (N₂O) Emissions Reductions through Reduced Use of Nitrogen Fertilizer on Agricultural Crops; **CAR**, Nitrogen Management Project Protocol.; and **VCS**, Quantifying N₂O Emissions Reductions in Agricultural Crops through Nitrogen Fertilizer Rate Reduction.

3

protocols with approved methodologies for quantifying N_2O emission reductions from adoption of approved N management practice were identified (Table 1).

Programs and protocols whose eligible project locations included the iPNW (i.e., Washington, Idaho, Oregon) were considered currently applicable to iPNW wheat-based cropping systems. Based on the regional scope of each program, only three of the five quantification protocols for agricultural N₂O emission offsets could be used to quantify voluntary offsets for the iPNW (Table 1). Projects are accepted on land worldwide under the ACR1 (American Carbon Registry, 2010) and ACR2 (American Carbon Registry, 2012) protocols. The VCS protocol is applicable for offset projects occurring within the US (Verified Carbon Standard, 2013). Sites throughout the US were eligible under the CAR program but the only agricultural N management protocol currently approved by CAR was specific to corn crops grown in the North Central Region of the US (Climate Action Reserve, 2012). Therefore, the ACR and VCS protocols are currently the only three protocols applicable to the iPNW based on eligible project location. Though not applicable to the iPNW, the Alberta and CAR protocols were reviewed as their general features and quantification approaches could inform the future development of an agricultural N management GHG offset protocol for iPNW wheat-based agricultural systems.

In addition to eligible project locations, quantification protocols also include general eligibility conditions such as project start date, eligible crops, additionality, and regulatory surplus requirements that once satisfied did not appear to factor into the quantification of offsets generated (**Table 2**). The project start date indicated the earliest date that project activities could be credited for offsets generated. All fertilized agricultural crops requiring external N inputs to achieve high production of food, fiber, or fodder were accepted under the protocols except for CAR in which only corn crops can be credited. Regulatory surplus is an additionality test, generally requiring project activities to be in addition to the requirement of current laws and regulations.

Eligible N Sources and Management Activities

Sources of N inputs into a cropping system during any given crop year might include manure, synthetic N fertilizer, crop residue N, soil organic matter N mineralization, and biological N fixation (Table 2). The ACR1 protocol accepts a broad range of fertilizer management activities to reduce N rate (i.e., change in fertilizer rate, type, placement, timing, use of timerelease fertilizers, and use of nitrification inhibitors). The ACR2 and VCS protocols require adherence to regionally adapted N fertilizer best management practices (BMPs), which include N fertilizer source, timing of N application, and method of N fertilizer application. Under ACR2 and VCS, project developers are referred to state specific resources for detailed N fertilizer BMPs (e.g., USDA-NRCS). The Alberta quantification protocol, distinct from the other protocols, requires project participants to adopt an increased level of N management within the "Consistent 4R Nitrogen Stewardship Plan," which is an integrated set of management practices (Alberta Environment, 2010). The CAR protocol does not specify eligible practices but requires that project N application rates must decrease below baseline.

Baseline and Project Emission Calculation

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are expressed as carbon dioxide equivalents (CO₂e) and reported in megagram (metric ton) increments (Mg CO₂e). Carbon dioxide equivalents are a global warming potential weighting that is based on radiative forcing over a 100-year time scale and resulting from the release of 1 kg of a substance as compared to 1 kg of CO₂ (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2006). Under all of the protocols reviewed, a global warming potential of 310 was used for N₂O-N emission conversions to CO₂e. Baseline N₂O emissions represent the emissions that would have occurred absent the offset market incentive. Project N₂O emissions represent the emissions that occur under the project scenario. The general equation for calculating N₂O emission reduction from project activities was based on the difference between the baseline and project emissions as follows:

ERMtCO2e per yr = BMtCO2e per yr - PMtCO2e per yr.(1)

Where ERMtCO₂e yr^{-1} are emissions reductions from the project; BMtCO₂e yr^{-1} are baseline emissions; and PMtCO₂e yr^{-1} are project emissions.

Sources and Sinks Included in Emission Quantification

The assessment boundary specifies the GHG sources and sinks to be included in the quantification of baseline and project emissions. The assessment boundary does not necessarily represent a physical boundary, but instead represent the quantification boundary for including/excluding GHG sources and sinks. The emission sources and sinks included or excluded varies by protocol. The direct and indirect emissions associated with baseline and project N management for each protocol are shown in Table 3. Direct emissions are included in the emissions of N2O from N fertilizer addition to the project lands for enhancing crop productivity. The indirect emissions are included in the N₂O emissions that occur beyond the project site but are the result of N fertilizer applied at the project field site. Indirect N₂O emissions result from the re-deposition of volatilized ammonia, leaching of N from the soil, and N runoff to surface waters (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2006). Depending on the protocol, the boundary may also include combustion emission sources and sinks from fertilizer manufacture, fertilizer distribution, or N application to the field.

Additionality

Additionality for these protocols was based on a performance standard of reducing the N fertilizer application rate on project lands, and subsequently N_2O emissions, below that of the baseline. It is important that protocol quantification methodologies assure offsets generated by a project are real, not a result of inaccurate quantification, and exceed common practice. The ACR2 and VCS baseline N_2O emission calculation used the same number of historical crop years and depend on

Protocol component	ACR1	ACR2	VCS	Alberta	CAR
Eligible project locations	Global	Global	N. N.	Canadian province of Alberta	North Central Region of U.S. [†]
Eligible project start date	On or after 11/1/1997. Case-by-case prior.	On or after 01/1/2002.	On or after 03/1/2008. Possibly as early as 01/01/2002.	On or after 01/1/2002.	Within 6 months of the 1st day of new cultivation cycle ^{\pm} .
Eligible crop(s)	Fertilized agricultural crops.	Fertilized agricultural crops.	Fertilized agricultural crops.	Fertilized agricultural crops.	Corn
N INPUT SOURCES CH	REDITED				
Inorganic N fertilizers	~	~	~	~	~
Organic N fertilizers	~	~	~	~	Z
Crop residue N	Ċ	z	z	~	Z
Approved practices	May include changes in fertilizer rate, type, placement, timing, use of timed-release fertilizers, and use of nitrification inhibitors.	Adherence to regionally adapted fertilizer N best management practices (BMPs).	Adherence to BMPs related to application of synthetic and organic N fertilizers (right source-rate-time-place).	Integrated set of N best management practices-Consistent 4R Nitrogen Stewardship Plan.	Must decrease synthetic and/or organic N applied. Only synthetic N credited for emission reductions.
Regulatory surplus	Must exceed existing laws, regulatic other regulatory frameworks that dir emissions associated with project a	ons, statutes, legal rulings, or ectly or indirectly affect GHG ction.	No mandatory law requiring reduced N input rate below BAU.	Emissions must not be required by law.	Must exceed federal, state, or local regulations or other legal mandates.
Other specifications pertinent to quantification	If project activity area non-homogeneous, must stratify.	Eligible crops must have been cultivated from at least 5 years prior to start date.	Encourages adoption of economically optimum N fertilizer rate.	All fields must be under project activities (4R). Accounts for all forms of N.	Encourages use of variable rate technology and other adaptive management strategies.

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

November 2017 | Volume 5 | Article 72

	Physical boundary and emissions sources or sinks included	Gas	ACR1	ACR2	VCS	Alberta	CAR
Baseline activity	Direct emissions from fertilizer application	CO ₂	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
		CH_4	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
		N ₂ O	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Indirect emissions from fertilizer application (Re-deposition of	CO ₂	Ν	Ν	N	Ν	Ν
	volatilized ammonia, N leaching, and N runoff)	CH ₄	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
		N ₂ O	Y [†]	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Emissions from fossil fuel combustion on-site as a result of N	CO ₂	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y
	management	CH_4	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
		N ₂ O	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
	Emissions from fertilizer production and distribution	CO ₂	Y‡	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
	Soil crop dynamics [§]	CO ₂	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
		N ₂ O	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
Project activity	Direct emissions from fertilizer application	CO ₂	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N
		CH_4	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
		N ₂ O	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Indirect emissions from fertilizer application (Re-deposition of	CO ₂	N	Ν	N	N	Ν
	volatilized ammonia, N leaching, and N runoff)	CH ₄	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
		N ₂ O	Y†	Y	Y	Y	Y
	Emissions from fossil fuel combustion on-site as a result of N	CO ₂	Y	Ν	N	Y	Y
	management	CH ₄	Y	Ν	Ν	N	Ν
		N ₂ O	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
	Emissions from fertilizer production and distribution	CO ₂	Y [†]	Ν	Ν	N	Ν
	Soil crop dynamics [§]	CO ₂	N	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν
		N ₂ O	Ν	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν

TABLE 3 | Emission sources and sinks included in quantification of baseline and project N₂O emissions by protocol.

[†]The ACR1 protocol does not include N₂O emissions from runoff for quantification of indirect N₂O emissions.

 $^\pm$ In ACR1, emissions from fertilizer production included in quantification but emissions from fertilizer distribution are not included.

§ Soil Crop Dynamics includes the emissions of CO₂ and N₂O from the cycling of soil and plant N. This includes N deposition in plant tissue (residue), decomposition of crop residues, and stabilization in organic matter.

the crop rotation (**Table 4**). The number of crop years ranges from 2 to 5 years. The ACR1 protocol specifies five and Alberta three previous crop years. Under CAR, at least three and up to five previous crop years can be used to calculate the baseline N fertilizer rate and N_2O emissions.

Description of Sample Projects

Annual N fertilizer additions are a function of the current crop N demand, N credits from soil-residue N cycling, and inorganic N content in the soil before planting (Koenig, 2005). For this road test, existing N management literature values as well as field specific crop and N management data from the Cook Agronomy Farm Long-Term Agroecosystem Research site (CAF-LTAR), near Pullman, WA were used to develop four sample projects and quantify N_2O emission reductions under existing agricultural N management protocols. The CAF-LTAR is under annual cropping and has been direct-seeded since 1998. The soil, agronomic, and field conditions are representative of a "typical" eastern Washington Palouse landscape. The CAF-LTAR receives an average of 550-mm of precipitation and has been under various 3-year dryland cereal crop rotations. The winter wheat—spring wheat—spring legume crop rotation was used for the

sample projects, and represents a typical rotation for the eastern WA region of the iPNW (Papendick, 1996; Rasmussen et al., 1998).

Emission reductions were quantified on a crop event basis and offset credits were only generated for each year the credited crop was grown and managed under project conditions. Hard red winter wheat (HRWW) and hard red spring wheat (HRSW) classes were grown in the rotation during the first 10 years of crop production at the CAF-LTAR (2001-2009) followed by soft white winter wheat (SWWW) and soft white spring wheat (2010-2017). For the field specific hard red wheat data, average yield and N fertilizer rates were calculated from the 9 years of data at CAF-LTAR. Field specific SWWW data from a 2010-2012 study at CAF-LTAR was used for SWWW calculations (Brown, 2015). The sample projects were designed to represent feasible agricultural N practices for achieving both high grain yield and optimum protein concentration under dryland conditions in southeastern Washington. It is recognized that these sample project activities represent science-based and commercially viable N fertilizer rate reduction strategies but may not represent the entire range of project circumstances that might arise in practice. To improve the general applicability of this

Protocol parameter	ACR1	ACR2	VCS	Alberta	CAR
BASELINE EMISSIONS					
Baseline N ₂ O emission calculation	Baseline emissions calculated using pre-project fertilizer management with DNDC [†] model	Business as usual N management. Determined from: 1. Site-specific records or 2. Derived from county-level yield data and N fertilizer guides	Business as usual N management. Determined from: 1. Site-specific records or 2. Derived from county-level yield data and N fertilizer guides	Site-specific average N Rate prior to starting project activities	Annual N rate from field records for eligible crop years
Crop Years used in baseline N rate Determination	Previous 5 years of specified crop	Monoculture: 5 years 2 year Rotation: 3 cycles (6 years) 3 Year Rotation: 2 cycles (6 years)	Monoculture: 5 years 2 year Rotation: 3 cycles (6 years) 3 Year Rotation: 2 cycles (6 years)	Previous 3 years of each crop	At least 3 and up to 5 years
Baseline data source	Unclear	Field-specific or state/county data	Field-specific or state/county data	Field specific	Field specific
PROJECT EMISSIONS					
Project N2 O emissions	Project emissions calculated using DNDC model	Reduction in N rate from business as usual on same crop as baseline	Reduction in N rate from business as usual on same crop as baseline	Emission reduction under basic, intermediate or advanced level of 4R Consistent Plan. Crop by Crop basis	Reduce N rate, emissions based on MSU-EPRI methodology
Leakage [‡]	Considered zero as long as: Yield does not decline more than 5% on project lands; No increase in N fertilizer use on lands outside project boundary	Leakage considered negligible for project activities [§]	Leakage considered negligible for project activities ⁸	Must account for increased emissions from project activities that increase trips across field (e.g., split N)	If yields significantly reduced on project land, must account for N ₂ O, CO ₂ , and CH ₄ emission increases from shifted production on non-project lands
^{t} DNDC is the Decomposition a ^{t} Leakage is when a project act	nd Denitrification biogeochemical pr ion results in an increase in GHG em	cess model (Li, 2000). Ission or decrease in sequestration outsi	de of the protect boundary but as a result of	Droiect activities.	

7

November 2017 | Volume 5 | Article 72

project, the N_2O emission results were reported on a land area basis (i.e., per hectare basis).

Sample Projects 1 through 3: Switch from Uniform to Variable Rate N Application

For SWWW under sample project 1, we assumed that site specific N management could, on average, result in a 25 kg N ha⁻¹ decrease in N fertilizer rate compared to uniform N management without decreasing yield (Mulla et al., 1992; Fiez et al., 1994a; Huggins, 2010; Taylor, 2016). For HRWW and HRSW under sample projects 2 and 3, we assumed that site specific N management could, on average, result in a 10 and 20 kg N ha-1 decrease in N fertilizer rate compared to uniform N management without decreasing yield or grain protein concentration, respectively (Huggins, 2010). The mean N rate reduction under all wheat classes in sample project 1 were considered a realistic N rate decrease that could be achieved by variable rate (VR) N management and also likely acceptable to farmers. However, these N rate decreases were likely to be most appropriate and less risky only in low-yield management zones only rather than the entire field (Huggins, 2010; Taylor, 2016). Increased N rates in high-yielding zones were not expected to negate N rate reductions in low-yielding zones as greater N mineralization under favorable conditions would likely supply greater N to meet a higher crop N demand under this circumstance. Low-yielding areas were assumed to cover \sim 30% of a field to allow for scaling GHG offsets to the fieldscale (i.e., 30% of the 37 ha CAF-LTAR). This number could be adjusted to match field-specific knowledge or historical yield data.

Sample Project 4: N Rate Reductions from Split N Application

Under sample project 2, we assumed that split N application in SWWW could reduce overall N rates by 40 kg N ha⁻¹ compared to all fall N application without decreasing yield (Sowers et al., 1994; Huggins, 2010). To date, no consistent N rate reductions have been observed under split N application for HRSW, though in 1 year an N savings of 19 kg N ha⁻¹ was observed by Huggins (2010). There was concern that the mean N rate reduction under sample project 4 may be greater than what would be acceptable to farmers but the N rate decrease from split N application was considered applicable across the entire field rather than just the low-yielding areas as in sample projects 1 through 3.

Summary of Sample Projects

Sample Project 1 (SWWW-VR):

Wheat Class—soft white winter wheat. N Management Activity—switch from uniform N to variable rate N fertilizer application. Project N Fertilizer Rate Reduction Compared to Baseline— 25 kg N ha^{-1}

Sample Project 2 (HRWW-VR):

Wheat Class-hard red winter wheat

N Management Activity—switch from uniform N to variable rate N fertilizer application.

Project N Fertilizer Rate Reduction Compared to Baseline -10 kg N ha^{-1}

Sample Project 3 (HRSW-VR):

Wheat Class-hard red spring wheat.

N Management Activity—switch from uniform N to variable rate N fertilizer application.

Project N Fertilizer Rate Reduction Compared to Baseline—20 kg N ha^{-1}

Sample Project 4 (SWWW-Split N):

Wheat Class-soft white winter wheat.

N Management Activity—switch from an all fall N fertilizer application to split applying N fertilizer between the fall and spring.

Project N Fertilizer Rate Reduction Compared to Baseline — 40 kg N ha^{-1}

Evaluating Quantification Approaches Impact of Data Source for Baseline Emissions

Offset quantification methodologies also specify approved data sources for calculating baseline emissions. Field specific data is required under the Alberta and CAR quantification methodologies. The ACR2 and VCS protocols provide the option of using field specific data or county level data to determine the baseline N rate contributing to baseline N₂O emissions. Baseline fertilizer N rates calculated from county level data required a yield goal estimate calculated from county level yield records available from the USDA-National Agricultural Statistics Service (USDA-NASS, 2007-2010) and yield-goal based N recommendations obtained from regional fertilizer guides (e.g., Koenig, 2005). Two years of county level yield data for winter wheat were obtained from 2007 to 2010 and for spring wheat from 2008 to 2011 yield data (Brown, 2015). The winter and spring wheat years for county level data were chosen to reflect the two most recent years that those crops were grown in the rotation used at CAF-LTAR for sample project scenarios as specified in ACR (American Carbon Registry, 2012). We compare the implications of each data source on the overall emission reduction estimate.

Impact of Emission Factor for Direct N₂O Emissions

The default direct and indirect emission factors for calculating N_2O emissions from fertilizer N application to a project field are specified in each offset protocol (**Table 5**). Generally, direct emission factors are determined by geographic location, crop, and the level of existing peer-reviewed literature available. Where regional peer-reviewed data is lacking for a crop or cropping system, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) methodology is the default for estimating N_2O emissions (Tier I). The IPCC default emission factor is that 1% of N fertilizer applied is lost as direct N_2O emissions from the field. The IPCC default indirect N_2O emission factors for volatilization and leaching are 0.1 and 0.75%, respectively (**Table 5**). Limited regional data

TABLE 5 | Comparison of approaches for calculating direct[†] and indirect N₂O emissions.

Emission source/sink	ACR1	ACR2 [‡]	VCS§
DIRECT N ₂ O FROM FERTILIZER			
Method 1	DNDC	1- MSU-EPRI eqn.	1- 0.01 IPCC Tier I
Method 2		2- 0.01 IPCC Tier I	2- MSU-EPRI eqn.
Method 3		3- IPCC Tier II	
Indirect N ₂ O Emissions		2006 IPCC guidelines	
VOLATILIZATION WITH SUBSEQUENT RE-DEPOSITION			
Fraction of synthetic N fertilizer volatilized		0.10	
Emission factor for N_2O emission from atmospheric deposition of volatilized N on soil and water surfaces		0.01	
LEACHING AND RUNOFF			
Fraction of synthetic N fertilizer leached		0.30	
Emission factor for $N_2 O$ emission from N leaching and runoff		0.0075	

[†] Direct N₂O emission factors are used to quantify the amount of N₂O emitted as a result of the amount of N fertilizer applied to a project field. Methods differ by protocol but IPCC Tier Il considered a generally accepted and Tier II an empirically derived emission factor.

[‡] For ACR2 (2010), The ACR2 has three project categories for specifying the direct N₂O emission factor to be used. Method one uses a Tier II direct emission factor equation (MSU-EPRI equation, Millar et al., 2010) that is specific to the corn crop portion of a row crop system located in the 12 North Central Region states of the USA (Category 1). Method two uses a Tier I direct emission factor applied to fertilized agricultural crops worldwide and must be demonstrated as conservative (Category 2). Method three applies to all non-corn fertilized crops worldwide and uses project-specific Tier II direct emission factors from peer-reviewed sources that must be conservative and approved by ACR experts (Category 3).

[§]For Verified Carbon Standard (2013), Direct emission factor depends on US state where project activity occurs and other cropping system requirements. Method 1 uses a Tier I emission factor for all fertilized crops within the US. Method 2 applies to corn in row crop systems within the 12 North Central Region states.

DNDC, Denitrification and Decomposition model (DNDC) derived emissions (Li, 2000).

showed that the direct emission factor for PNW cropping systems may be much lower than the 1% emission factor used under IPCC Tier I methodology. A Tier II approach was evaluated using a direct emission factor of 0.2% for the PNW (Cochran et al., 1981; Yorgey and Kruger, 2015) and compared to the Tier I factor of 1% across the four sample projects to highlight how regional values would impact the magnitude of mitigation potential for the iPNW.

RESULTS

PNW Relevant Protocols for Agricultural N Management Offset Credits

Based on the regional scope of each program, only three of the five quantification protocols for agricultural N2O emission offsets could be used to quantify voluntary offsets for the PNW (Table 1). Those were ACR1, ACR2, and VCS. However, the ACR1 specified use of the Denitrification and Decomposition (DNDC) model for quantification of baseline and project emissions and was not used as the expertise needed to complete the model N₂O emission quantification was found to be outside the scope of this project (Li, 2000). Emission reductions were quantified for the sample projects using only the ACR2 and VCS protocols as they were found to be the most applicable and appropriate for PNW wheat-based agriculture. No GHG offset projects for agricultural N management had been registered under ACR, CAR, or VCS at the time this research was completed (Table 1). However, VCS had the largest number of other GHG projects registered (1,409 projects; ~200 million metric tons CO₂e offsets issued) followed by CAR (479 projects; \sim 87 million

metric tons CO₂e offsets issued), Alberta (229 projects, \sim 118 million metric tons CO₂e offsets issued), and ACR (216 projects; \sim 81 million metric tons CO₂e offsets issued) (**Table 1**).

Sources and Sinks Included in Emission Quantification

There were differences among the protocols as to the N fertilizer sources credited under the offset quantification methodology (Table 2). The ACR, VCS, and Alberta protocols issue emission offset credits for N rate reductions from both inorganic and organic N sources. Under CAR, the N rate reduction included both synthetic and organic N sources but only synthetic N fertilizer source reductions could be credited for N_2O emission reductions. The Alberta protocol was unique in that quantification of N inputs from crop residue decomposition were included (Table 2). Approved N management practices in the N₂O offset protocols reviewed differed among protocols but generally appeared to encourage adoption of precision agriculture principles and use of N fertilizer stabilizer technology (e.g., nitrification inhibitors) (Table 2). Differences in eligible project start dates may have implications for driving innovation and adoption of GHG reduction techniques or technologies but did not appear to impact offset quantification. There were also some differences in regulatory surplus requirements among protocols. However, our projects were not designed to focus on these parameters.

The emission sources included in calculating N_2O emission reductions from project activities differed among protocols (**Table 3**). On-site fossil fuel emissions were included in the ACR1, Alberta, and CAR protocols. The ACR2 and



FIGURE 2 | Baseline, Project, and Offset (Reduction) Emissions by American Carbon Registry (ACR2) and Verified Carbon Standard (VCS) Protocols. For quantification used field scale data from Cook Agronomy Long-term Agroecosystem Research Farm, IPCC Tier I direct emission factors, and IPCC default indirect emission factors to determine N₂O emission reductions from management changes for: SWWW-VR, soft white winter wheat uniform to variable rate N (Sample Project 1); HRWW-VR, hard red winter wheat uniform to variable rate N (Sample Project 2); HRSW-VR, hard red spring wheat uniform to variable rate N (Sample Project 3); and SWWW-Split N from all fall to split N application between fall and spring (Sample Project 4).

VCS quantification methodologies did not include any fossil fuel combustion emissions from N management, fertilizer production and distribution, or soil crop dynamics. The ACR1 protocol included CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O from on-site fossil fuel combustion. The Alberta protocol included CO2 and N2O from on-site fossil fuel combustion during N management as well as the inclusion of CO2 and N2O emissions from soil crop dynamics. The CAR protocol included only CO₂ from fossil fuel combustion. The ACR1 protocol was the only methodology to include CO₂ emissions from N fertilizer production though it did not include N fertilizer distribution emissions. Another difference among protocol quantification methodologies was the exclusion of indirect N2O emissions from runoff in the ACR1 protocol. The other four protocols included indirect N2O from N runoff as well as N2O emissions from re-deposition of volatilized N and N leaching.

Additional to Business as Usual

Overall, the protocols differed slightly in the number of years of historical crop data used to calculate the baseline N fertilizer rate (**Table 4**). In our study, we used three historical crop years for baseline quantification given the 3-year crop rotation at CAF-LTAR, as specified in the ACR2 and VCS protocols (**Table 4**). However, the number of crop years to calculate baseline N fertilizer rate and N₂O emissions ranged among the protocols from 2 to 5 years (**Table 4**). The ACR1 protocol specified 5 and Alberta 3 previous crop years. Under CAR, at least 3 and up to 5 previous crop years could be used to calculate baseline N fertilizer rate and subsequent baseline N₂O emissions.

Differences in the approved data sources for calculating baseline N_2O emissions were also observed (Table 4). Field

specific data was required under the Alberta and CAR quantification methodologies. For ACR2 and VCS, baseline N fertilizer rate can be calculated using one of two approaches. One approach relied on field specific N application records from the project field for the specified number of crop years prior to the project (**Table 4**). The other approach utilized county level data to estimate N application rates for the specified number of crop year data for calculating the average yield goal for the county level estimate of baseline emissions was the two most recent years since the project scenarios were developed assuming a three-year crop rotation (**Table 4**).

N_2O Emissions by Protocol and Baseline Approach

The ACR2 and VCS protocols had identical baseline and project emission quantification methodologies (e.g., using the same default factors for direct and indirect emissions). This resulted in the same baseline, project, and emission reduction values under the two protocols for all four sample projects (Figure 2) with no differences observed between these protocols for the sample projects considered. Reducing N fertilizer application rate by switching to variable rate N (sample projects 1-3) or split N application (sample project 4) management resulted in an estimated N₂O emission reduction of 0.16, 0.07, 0.14, and 0.26 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ for SWWW-VR, HRWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and SWWW-Split N sample projects, respectively. Variable rate N management for HRWW (sample project 2) resulted in the least amount of emission offsets compared to variable rate N under SWWW or HRSW (Figure 3). The highest N₂O emission reduction from N management project activities was observed



under split N application in SWWW. The highest emission reductions occurred where the greatest N rate reductions were estimated from the literature and decreased by sample project accordingly: SWWW-Split N (40 kg N ha⁻¹ reduction) > SWWW-VR (25 kg N ha⁻¹ reduction) > HRSW-VR (20 kg N ha⁻¹ reduction) > HRWW-VR (10 kg N ha⁻¹ reduction) (**Table 6**).

Approaches for Quantifying Baseline N₂O Emissions

The approach used in determining baseline N_2O emissions impacted the quantity of baseline emissions and hence relative magnitude of N_2O emission reductions from project activities (**Figure 3**). The difference in baseline N_2O was more pronounced for the sample projects with SWWW compared to the sample projects with HRWW and HRSW. Using county level yield data to estimate the baseline N fertilizer application for SWWW in sample projects SWWW-VR and SWWW-Split N resulted in baseline emissions of 0.90 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ compared to 0.76 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ using historical field N application records. The county level estimated N fertilizer rate resulted in HRWW baseline emissions of 1.07 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ and HRSW of 1.13 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ compared to 1.23 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ using historical field N application records (**Figure 3**). This was due to using 2 years of county level data for a yield goal based N fertilizer recommendation rate that resulted in a higher baseline N fertilizer rate for the SWWW in sample projects SWWW-VR and SWWW-Split N (0.139 Mg N ha⁻¹) and a lower baseline N fertilizer rate for sample projects HRWW-VR and HRSW-VR of 0.166 and 0.175 Mg N ha⁻¹, respectively (**Table 6**). This was compared to historic field specific N rates of 0.118, 0.191, 0.191, and 0.118 Mg N ha⁻¹ for the different wheat in sample projects SWWW-VR, HRWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and SWWW-Split N, respectively (**Figure 3**).

N₂O Emissions Using Tier I vs. Tier II Direct Emission Factors

All four of the protocols reviewed did not have N_2O emission factors specific to iPNW wheat-based cropping systems. The ACR2 and VCS protocols specify a Tier II emission factor equation to be used for direct N_2O emissions from N fertilizer additions to corn crops in row crop agriculture within the 12 North Central Region states (Millar et al., 2010), with remaining agricultural crops defaulting to the IPCC Tier I emission factor (**Table 5**). This means that IPCC Tier I default factors must be used to calculate emission reductions from sample project activities (i.e., 1% of nitrogen fertilizer rate lost as N_2O) since no other Tier II equations have been accepted for other crops. However, limited regional data showed that the direct emission factor for iPNW cropping systems may TABLE 6 Direct and indirect emissions for baseline and project conditions under different baseline and direct N₂O emissions quantification methodologies.

Quantification				Sample p	project [†]				
	SWWW-VR	HRWW-VR	HRSW-VR	SWWW-Split	SWWW-VR	HRWW-VR	HRSW-VR	SWWW-Split	
			NITRO	GEN FERTILIZER	RATE, Mg N ha⁻	⁻¹ yr ⁻¹			
		Field specif	ic N rate data		Co	ounty level yield	goal based N ra	ate	
Baseline N rate	0.118	0.191	0.191	0.118	0.139	0.166	0.175	0.139	
Project N rate	0.093	0.180	0.170	0.077	0.114	0.156	0.155	0.099	
N rate reduction	0.025	0.010	0.020	0.040	0.025	0.010	0.020	0.040	
	EMISSIONS REDUCTION RATE [‡] , Mg CO ₂ e ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹								
		Tier I emis	ssion factor			Tier II emis	sion factor		
BASELINE EMISSIONS									
Direct	0.57	0.93	0.93	0.57	0.11	0.19	0.19	0.11	
Indirect	0.19	0.30	0.30	0.19	0.19	0.30	0.30	0.19	
Baseline total	0.76	1.23	1.23	0.76	0.30	0.19	0.19	0.30	
PROJECT EMISSIONS									
Direct	0.45	0.88	0.83	0.38	0.09	0.18	0.17	0.08	
Indirect	0.15	0.28	0.27	0.12	0.15	0.28	0.27	0.12	
Project total	0.60	1.16	1.10	0.50	0.24	0.46	0.43	0.20	
N ₂ O emissions reduction	0.16	0.07	0.14	0.26	0.06	0.03	0.05	0.10	

[†] Sample Projects represent emission reductions using field specific N application data for SWWW-VR: soft white winter wheat uniform to variable rate N (Sample Project 1); HRWW-VR: hard red spring wheat uniform to variable rate N (Sample Project 2); HRSW-VR: hard red spring wheat uniform to variable rate N (Sample Project 2); HRSW-VR: hard red spring wheat uniform to variable rate N (Sample Project 3); and SWWW-Split N from all fall to split N application between fall and spring (Sample Project 4).

[‡]A megagram (Mg) is equivalent to a metric ton (t).

be much lower than the IPCC Tier I methodology default (Cochran et al., 1981; Yorgey and Kruger, 2015). Using a Tier II approach and assuming a direct emission factor of 0.2% of the N fertilization rate for wheat resulted in the generation of offset credits that were 2.3-2.8 times lower compared to the Tier I emission factor (Figure 4). Emission reductions using the Tier I direct emission factor of 1% resulted in a 0.16, 0.07, 0.14, and 0.26 MgCO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ emission reductions for SWWW-VR, HRWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and SWWW-Split N sample projects, respectively. In comparison, Tier II emission reductions using a direct emission factor of 0.2% resulted in a 0.06, 0.03, 0.05, and 0.10 Mg $\rm CO_2e~ha^{-1}~yr^{-1}$ reduction in N2O emissions for sample projects SWWW-VR, HRWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and SWWW-Split N, respectively. Interestingly, for this analysis only the direct emissions changed and the default indirect emissions remained the same for each sample project (Table 6).

Market Size for Washington State

Field-scale emission reductions in this study, using the CAF-LTAR, were 1.18, 0.71, 1.42, and 9.55 Mg CO₂e yr⁻¹ under Tier I as compared to 0.70, 0.31, 0.59, and 3.88 Mg CO₂e yr⁻¹ under Tier II for sample projects SWWW-VR, HRWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and SWWW-Split N, respectively (**Table 7**). The potential revenue that could be generated per hectare from reducing N₂O emissions through agricultural N management offset projects in the higher precipitation zone of the dryland PNW are shown in **Table** 7. Sample project four, SWWW-Split N, had the highest per hectare payment incentive followed by sample projects SWWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and HRWW-VR (**Table** 7). At a carbon price of \$10 per MgCO₂e, offset credits generated would be worth \$1.60, \$0.70. \$1.30, and \$2.60 ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for sample projects SWWW-VR, HRWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and SWWW-Split N, respectively.

The monetary incentive was substantially increased when the cost savings on N fertilizer was included with the offset payment incentive (**Table 8**). At average anhydrous ammonia prices for 2006–2011, the N fertilizer cost savings that could be added to the GHG offset credit incentive was \$21, \$9, \$18, and \$35 ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ for sample projects SWWW-VR, HRWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and SWWW-Split N, respectively (**Table 8**). This creates a payment incentive that ranges from \$9 to \$48 ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ under Tier I and \$9 to \$40 ha⁻¹ under Tier II methodologies across all carbon prices. Though still relatively small, the direct N₂O emission factor had a considerable effect on the overall monetary incentive from N₂O emission reduction offset credits.

In 2011, there were ~630,000 hectares of SWWW, 86,000 hectares of HRWW, and 124,000 hectares of HRSW grown in WA State (United States Department of Agriculture, National Agricultural Statistics Service (USDA-NASS), 2011). This would result in an estimated potential annual carbon offset market size of 10.1, 0.6, 1.6, and 16.4 Gg CO₂e yr⁻¹ for SWWW-VR, HRWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and SWWW-Split N sample projects,



FIGURE 4 | Offset Credits for Project Activities under Tier I and Tier II Direct N₂O Emission Factors. The IPCC Tier I default of 1% (blue) and potential Tier II emission factor of 0.2% (orange) of N fertilizer applied. The IPCC default indirect emission factors were used. Data represent field specific N application data from CAF-LTAR for sample projects. The American Carbon Registry Quantification Methodology was used to determine N₂O emission reductions from management changes for: SWWW-VR, soft white winter wheat uniform to variable rate N (Sample Project 1); HRWW-VR, hard red winter wheat uniform to variable rate N (Sample Project 3); and SWWW-Split N from all fall to split N application between fall and spring (Sample Project 4).

TABLE 7 | Nitrous oxide emission reduction potential and offset credit incentive for the agricultural N management sample projects[†].

Sample project scenario by direct emission factor	$\rm N_2O$ emission reduction $\hfill Total area^{\ddagger}$ rate †		Total potential emissions reduction	Per area monetary incentive for N ₂ O emission reductions by offset price			
	Mg CO ₂ e ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	ha	Mg CO₂e yr ^{−1}	\$ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹			
				Pi	rice per Mg CC	₂ e	
				\$5	\$10	\$50	
TIER I DEFAULT (1%)§							
1: SWWW-VR	0.16	11	1.18	0.80	1.60	8.00	
2: HRWW-VR	0.07	11	0.71	0.35	0.70	3.50	
3: HRSW-VR	0.14	11	1.42	0.65	1.30	6.50	
4: SWWW-Split N	0.26	37	9.55	1.30	2.60	13.00	
TIER II REGIONAL (0.2%)							
1: SWWW-VR	0.06	11	0.70	0.30	0.60	3.00	
2: HRWW-VR	0.03	11	0.31	0.15	0.30	1.50	
3: HRSW-VR	0.06	11	0.59	0.30	0.60	3.00	
4: SWWW-split N	0.10	37	3.88	0.50	1.00	5.00	

[‡]Emission reductions calculated using field specific N fertilization data and the total area (37 ha) from the Cook Agronomy Farm Long-term Agroecosystem Cropping System Research (LTAR). A megagram (Mg) is equivalent to a metric ton (t).

[‡]N rate reductions from variable rate for projects 1 through 3 are only expected in low yielding areas which represent 30% of the total field area (i.e., 30% of 37 ha=11 ha). [§]Tier 1 direct emission factor is 1% and regional emission factor is 0.2% of N fertilizer applied to agricultural soil is lost as N₂O.

* Her T direct emission factor is 1% and regional emission factor is 0.2% of N fertilizer applied to agricultural solitis lost as N_2 C

respectively, if 10% of the crop land acreage for the market class was under the sample project N management (**Table 9**). Greater emission reductions could be achieved with greater adoption of sample project N management with as much as 82 Gg CO_2e yr⁻¹ generated by sample project SWWW-Split N under a fifty percent adoption on soft white winter wheat acreage.

DISCUSSION

Review of Agricultural N Management Protocols: Components and Relevance to iPNW

Consistency across GHG protocols for quantifying voluntary offset credits is needed to provide high quality offset credits

Sample project scenario by direct emission factor	N_2O emission reduction rate [†]	Monetary incentive for N ₂ O emission reductions \$ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹ Price per Mg CO ₂ e		tive for N ₂ O ductions	Average expected fertilizer cost saving $\!\!\!^{\ddagger}$	Total Monetary incentive (N ₂ O offset Credit + N fertilizer cost savings) [§] \$ ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹ Price per Mg CO ₂ e		
	Mg CO ₂ e ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹			yr ⁻¹	\$ ha ⁻¹			
				lg CO ₂ e				
		\$5	\$10	\$50		\$5	\$10	\$50
TIER I DEFAULT (1%) [¶]								
1: SWWW-VR	0.16	0.80	1.60	8.00	21	22	23	29
2: HRWW-VR	0.07	0.35	0.70	3.50	9	9	9	12
3: HRSW-VR	0.14	0.65	1.30	6.50	18	18	19	24
4: SWWW-Split N	0.26	1.30	2.60	13.00	35	36	38	48
Tier II REGIONAL (0.2%)								
1: SWWW-VR	0.06	0.30	0.60	3.00	21	22	22	24
2: HRWW-VR	0.03	0.15	0.30	1.50	9	9	9	10
3: HRSW-VR	0.06	0.30	0.60	3.00	18	18	18	21
4: SWWW-Split N	0.1	0.50	1.00	5.00	35	36	36	40

TABLE 8 | Including the fertilizer cost savings for calculating the offset credit incentive for the agricultural N management sample projects that reduce N₂O emissions.

[†]N rate reductions from variable rate for projects 1 through 3 are only expected in low yielding areas which represent 30% of the total field area (i.e., 30% of 37 ha). [‡]Based on average anhydrous ammonia costs from 2006 to 2011 of \$763 tor⁻¹ or \$0.87 ha⁻¹ (Brown, 2015).

[§]Data from Enterprise budgets developed by Painter for 2009, 2011, and 2012 crop years.

^{II}Tier 1 direct emission factor is 1% and regional emission factor is 0.2% of N fertilizer applied to agricultural soil is lost as N₂O.

TABLE 9 | Total potential annual emission reductions for Washington state under different n management adoption scenarios for each sample project using 2011 Washington Wheat Facts (Washington Wheat Commission, 2011).

Sample project	Emission reduction	Total area in wheat for WA in 2011	Total potential emissions reduction	Emission reduction for WA state under adoption scenarios on total hectares, Mg CO ₂ e yr ⁻¹			
	Mg CO ₂ e ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹	ha	Mg CO ₂ e yr ⁻¹	% of	area adopting N	management	
				10	25	50	
1: SWWW-VR	0.16	630,059	100,809	10,081	25,202	50,405	
2: HRWW-VR	0.07	86,346	6,044	604	1,511	3,022	
3: HRSW-VR	0.13	123,991	16,119	1,612	4,030	8,059	
4: SWWW-Split N	0.26	630,059	163,815	16,382	40,954	81,908	

and develop large-scale offset markets that support practical climate policy solutions (Kollmuss et al., 2010; Erikson and Lazarus, 2013; Lee et al., 2013). Methodologies for quantifying N2O emissions reductions have been developed for agricultural N management, but key elements within available protocols need to be reviewed periodically. Evaluating existing protocols for GHG emission reductions from agricultural N management applicable to iPNW wheat cropping systems illustrated differences in policy and technical approaches to quantifying N₂O emission reductions. Differences in eligible conditions, boundaries for baseline, project and leakage activities, and the data and default values for emission reduction quantification observed across the five agricultural N management protocols in this study have been observed in protocol reviews for other project types (Kollmuss et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2013). Identifying the nature of GHG program or protocol differences will be critical to developing appropriate policy tools and ensuring consistency in the quantity and quality of each offset ton generated by a project and entering the carbon market (Erikson and Lazarus, 2013; Lee et al., 2013).

Overall, the eligible N management practices required to achieve the performance levels in the ACR1, ACR2, VCS, Alberta, and CAR protocols aligned with implementing the principles of precision agriculture including improved prediction of crop N demand and enhanced N use efficiency. Precision N fertilizer management (otherwise known as variable rate) has been considered one of the most practical strategies for improving agricultural N-use efficiency and reducing N loss to unintended portions of the environment (Cassman et al., 2002; Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). Adoption of precision N management has been slow in the US (Cassman et al., 2002) and especially in the iPNW (Pan et al., 2007; Huggins, 2010). Participation in carbon markets could enhance adoption of innovative precision N management that is practical, economically feasible, and capable of feeding a growing world population. One insight from this review was inconsistency in specifying approved N management practices. From a policy standpoint, protocols that refer project developers to state best management practices (i.e., ACR2 and VCS) were less clear on approved N management

practices compared to other protocols that specified N fertilizer rate reducing actions. However, there appeared to be sufficient performance outcome specificity (i.e., reduce N rate below baseline) that less defined management practices might be critical in supporting grower driven on-farm innovations in reducing N fertilizer rates.

Another key finding from this research was that the fossil fuel emissions, excluded in the ACR2 and VCS protocols, could be an important, but relatively small source of GHG emissions under currently approved project activities if N fertilizer management changes result in increased fossil fuel consumption (e.g., more trips across the field for split application of N). Exclusion of emissions from fertilizer production and distribution under ACR2 and VCS protocols were also noted and could potentially be a large source of GHG emissions. However, such source or sink exclusions in the ACR2 and VCS methodologies could be justified as increasing the conservativeness of the project. These exclusions would be expected to create differences in the quantity and quality of offsets generated across protocols. Carbon sequestration was not included in any of the protocols reviewed because N fertilizer rate reductions were not expected to impact soil C stocks and would further increase the conservativeness of the N₂O offset quantification (American Carbon Registry, 2012; Millar et al., 2012).

Differences in the approved data sources for calculating baseline N2O emissions observed could result in different baseline N2O emissions which impact the magnitude of offsets generated by a project. Differences in the number of pre-project crop years used to quantify baseline N2O emissions would be expected to result in different emission reductions among the five protocols. Currently relevant protocols (ACR2 and VCS) did not have emission factors specific to iPNW wheat cropping systems. We also observed that using IPCC Tier I default methodology may dramatically over-estimate gross N2O emissions. The ACR2 and VCS protocols generated identical emission reduction offsets limiting the ability to determine the impact of differences in quantification methodologies. However, the lack of consistency across sources and sinks and in default factors across all five protocols could contribute to inequities in offset credits generated under the different programs. Ensuring each "ton is a ton" across offset programs requires better congruency among quantification approaches in approved protocols (Lee et al., 2013). This could be investigated in future efforts by relaxing location eligibilities and running the road test on all existing agricultural N management protocols (e.g., Alberta protocol).

Quantify N₂O Emission Reductions under Applicable Protocols using Sample Projects

The emission reductions in this road test, ranging from 0.07–0.26 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, were at the lower end reported by Eagle et al. (2012) but similar to those reported by Millar et al. (2010) for Midwest corn using linear direct emission factors. Nitrous oxide emission reductions from agricultural N management have been estimated to potentially provide voluntary GHG offsets on the order of 0.2–0.6 and 0.09–0.15 Mg CO₂e ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in Eagle

et al. (2012) and Millar et al. (2010), respectively. In this study, project N rate reductions of 21, 6, 11, and 35% of the baseline for SWWW-VR, HRWW-VR, HRSW-VR, and SWWW-Split N sample projects, respectively, were considered feasible N rate reductions as generated from the literature for variable or split as compared to uniform or all fall N management. Specifically, the N rate reduction at this level seemed appropriate without contributing to a reduction in crop yields (CAST, 2004; Millar et al., 2010; Eagle et al., 2012).

Impact of Quantification Approaches on Offsets Generated

Quantification of sample project emissions in this study, following the work of Lazarus et al. (2010) and Lee et al. (2013), improved understanding of the differences in agricultural N management protocols and subsequent implications in the generation of GHG offsets for the carbon market. The results of this study highlighted the value of regionally applicable protocols for quantifying emissions and emission reductions. Historical and current research show that the direct emission factor for Washington cropping systems may be much lower than 1% of N fertilizer additions used under IPCC Tier I methodology. The IPCC methodology recognizes that the 1% of N fertilizer rate emission factor for direct N2O emissions may be good for global inventories but not for quantifying regional N2O emissions (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2006). In addition, an earlier study in the iPNW showed that N₂O emissions were not a linear function of N rate as is assumed using IPCC Tier I methodology (Cochran et al., 1981). Under the IPCC methodology, the direct and indirect emissions from application of N fertilizer to agricultural soils are calculated according to a three tier approach (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2006). As quantification methods move from a Tier I to Tier III emission factor approach, the uncertainty in the emission quantification is reduced (i.e., improved accuracy). This is a result of better accounting for regional differences in environmental conditions and management practices (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2006). However, determination of emission factors under the Tier II and Tier III approaches are more complex and expensive to determine (Bracmort, 2011).

The review and road test of current agricultural N management protocols showed that some improvements could be made to ensure quantification approaches are applicable to more regions, and in particular for the iPNW dryland wheat-based cropping systems. Development of an iPNW focused agricultural N management protocol should utilize an agroecological zone approach (Huggins et al., 2014) in developing regional emission factors and evaluating GHG emission reductions from project activities to better reflect local conditions and management practices. This could be informed by the Ecodistrict approach used in the Alberta protocol (Alberta Environment, 2010). In addition, the Alberta protocol offered three performance levels within the Consistent 4R Nitrogen Stewardship Plan: basic, intermediate, and advanced with a greater amount of field variability addressed and more complex BMPs adopted as a participant moves to the intermediate and advanced levels. New N management protocols can be submitted to these programs to improve applicability to regional or cropping system specific conditions. New protocols must be reviewed and approved before they can be used under a program. Nevertheless, as discussed here, given the relatively small economic incentive offsets are likely to provide iPNW wheat farmers, further protocol revisions may not seem worthwhile. However, for other practice-based incentives these iPNW-specific quantification approaches, as well as some parameters from the offset protocols, could serve as the basis for payments or proactive accounting of ecosystem services provided by agricultural BMPs.

The accuracy of emission reductions for the iPNW could also be improved through development of regional emission factors (Tier II or Tier III) and might be achieved through field measurements or employing existing biophysical models, such as CropSyst (Stockle et al., 2012), and assessment frameworks, such as BioEarth (Adam et al., 2014). However, lower input models (e.g., COMET-Farm) rather than high input process-based models (e.g., CropSyst, DNDC) would likely reduce transaction costs associated with project development and verification (Li, 2000; Stockle et al., 2012). In particular, the relationship between N rate and N₂O emissions should be considered in developing accurate emission factors if quantification methodologies continue to estimate N₂O emissions based on N fertilization rate.

An N2O emission reduction protocol for the iPNW would be strengthened by including additional performance metrics such as the nitrogen-use efficiency metric used in the CAR (Climate Action Reserve, 2012) protocol [Removed to Applied (RTA) = N removed/N applied]. This may be added as a monitoring requirement only or implemented as a performance standard in addition to N fertilizer rate reduction. The performance could require an improvement in nitrogen-use efficiency over the baseline nitrogen-use efficiency. This would also improve the ability of project developers and climate policy to avoid crop yield reductions in more efficient agroecosystems and thus reduce leakage of emissions from these type of management efforts (Eagle et al., 2012). In addition, decision support to understand the conditions under which precision N management actually reduces N rate without reducing yield is needed. This is especially important for managing the economic risk of underapplying N.

Are Offset Payments Enough to Impact N Management Decisions?

The potential revenue farmers could earn by participating in the carbon market were examined to understand the relative importance of the incentive for encouraging adoption of improved N management. In general, the offset credit incentive payment alone did not appear to be enough to impact N management changes to participate in GHG offset markets at offset prices of \$5, \$10, or even \$50 per MgCO₂e. Though the incentive becomes more appealing at \$50 per MgCO₂e, the cost to implement variable or split N rate as well as costs for project development and verification are likely to outweigh the incentive payment. Adding the N fertilizer cost savings increased the incentive payment to a point that is more comparable with the potential return from the management changes of the sample projects. The incentive for switching from uniform to variable N management or from all fall N application to splitting the N fertilizer between fall and spring would have to be similar or greater than the cost to adopt these changes or risk to under applying N in order to stimulate adoption.

Precision agriculture techniques make use of fertilizer N rate, timing, placement, and formulation to match N supply with crop demand (Robertson and Vitousek, 2009). An overall N rate decrease can often, but not always, be realized by applying one or more of these principles (Huggins, 2010). In evaluating the potential to generate GHG offset credits from agricultural N management for a particular region, it is important to consider the tradeoffs and what level or type of incentive is needed to influence N management decisions. Adoption of precision agriculture techniques within the iPNW generally lacks sufficient decision support (Pan et al., 1997; Huggins, 2010) and monetary incentives. Furthermore, managing N in cropping systems involves consideration of the total N supply needed for not only supporting crop growth but also achieving grain yield and quality (Huggins and Pan, 2003). Therefore, N fertilizer rate reductions will likely be seen as economically risky and require a monetary incentive that compensates for the risk of under applying N (Robertson and Vitousek, 2009; Huggins, 2010).

Leakage provisions in agricultural N management protocols specify that N rate reductions must not result in a decrease in yield. Though not addressed in current protocols, it should be noted that farm economics would also require any N rate reductions to not come at the expense of yield quality (e.g., protein concentration specifications for the wheat market class). Maintained yield with less N is believed to be possible because typical yield-goal based N fertilizer recommendations tend to overestimate N requirements (Millar et al., 2012). This could be especially true for winter wheat crops in the PNW because it is difficult to accurately estimate yield goal at the time of planting and N fertilizer application. For dryland winter wheat, a majority of N fertilizer is applied in the fall when N demand is the lowest. Yield may also be maintained with less N in situations where N is applied in excess of the N requirement to minimize economic risk if growing conditions are exceptional. Insurance applications of N as a means to manage the economic risk of under applying N should not be dismissed. Especially considering that decision support and other incentives are generally lacking for managing the site-specific N requirement. An additional monetary incentive may be needed to cover insurance N fertilizer applications.

Offsets from agricultural N management do not appear to be the best tool for GHG mitigation and reducing additions of reactive N to the environment. The monetary incentive for agricultural N management for N_2O emission reductions could be tied to existing conservation programs such as the USDA-NRCS Conservation Stewardship Program to improve the return on investing in GHG emissions reduction activities. There may be co-benefits to encouraging a reduction in N application rate beyond generating GHG emission reductions, such as avoided acidification of soils and water bodies, limiting N leaching impacts on ground and surface water quality, avoided ozone destruction, and reducing the cost of production. Furthermore, the offset credits generated from N_2O emission reductions from reducing N fertilizer rate are irreversible. An avoided N_2O emission cannot be reversed as is the case for carbon sequestration projects. This means no future obligation for farmers enrolled in a project making them more attractive to offset purchasers.

CONCLUSIONS

Differences observed across the five agricultural N management protocols in this study highlighted inconsistencies among protocols. The implications are that there could potentially be discrepancies in the quantity and quality of GHG offsets generated across the different programs. This impacts credibility of carbon markets and limits the ability to offer GHG credits in larger-scale national or global carbon markets. In order to support the participation of iPNW farmers in offset credit markets for N2O reductions, one or more of the existing protocols should be adapted for the region. At least a Tier II direct emission factor will need to be determined or modeled (Tier III) to accurately reflect baseline, project, and overall emissions reductions. However, our assessment found that the financial incentive from the carbon offset credit alone was not likely to encourage any management changes. Nitrogen fertilizer cost savings will be one of the most practical incentives for a farmer to adopt the N management proposed in the sample projects. Therefore, stacking of offset credit revenue, along with

REFERENCES

- Adam, J. C., Stephens, S. H., Chung, M. P., Brady, R. D., Evans, C. E., Kruger, B. K., et al. (2014). BioEarth: a regional biosphere-relevant earth system model to inform agricultural and natural resource management decisions. *Clim. Change* 129, 555–571. doi: 10.1007/s10584-014-1115-2
- Alberta Environment. (2010). *Quantification Protocol for Agricultural Nitrous Oxide Emissions Reductions*. Specified gas emitter's regulation. Her Majesty the Queen in right of the Province of Alberta.
- American Carbon Registry. (2010). American Carbon Registry Methodology for N2O Emission Reductions through Changes in Fertilizer Management. Arkansas, KS: Winrock International, Little Rock.
- American Carbon Registry. (2012). Methodology for Quantifying Nitrous Oxide (N2O) Emissions Reductions from Reduced Use of Nitrogen Fertilizer on Agricultural Crops. Arkansas, KS: Winrock International, Little Rock.
- Bracmort, K. (2011). Nitrous Oxide from Agricultural Sources: Potential Role in Greenhouse Gas Emission Reduction and Ozone Recovery. Congressional Research Report R40874. Washington Printing Office.
- Broekhoff, D., and Zyla, K. (2008). Outside the Cap: Opportunities and Limitations of Greenhouse Gas Offsets, Climate and Energy Policy Series. Washington, DC: World Resources Institute.
- Brown, T. (2015). Variable Rate Nitrogen and Seeding to Improve Nitrogen Use Efficiency. dissertation. Washington State University, Pullman, W. A.
- CAST. (2004). Climate Change and Greenhouse Gas Mitigation: Challenges and Opportunities for Agriculture. Task Force Report No. 141. Council for Agricultural Science and Technology, Ames, IA.

other incentive-based approaches, is likely to be required in order to realize N_2O emissions reductions in the region that are economically feasible.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TB performed the offset protocol literature review with guidance from CL, both authors contributed to the writing of this manuscript. TB contributed a majority of the writing. CL provided extensive review of early versions of the analysis and writing for the manuscript. CK provided guidance on policy aspects and manuscript review. DH and JR provided extensive editorial review of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The authors would like to thank the National Science Foundation funded Nitrogen Systems Policy-Oriented Integrated Research and Education-Integrated Graduate Education and Research Traineeship at Washington State University (NSPIRE-IGERT, 0903714) and the National Institute of Food and Agriculture funded Regional Approaches to Climate Change (REACCH, 2011-68002-30191) program for funding.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the US Center of the Stockholm Environment Institute (SEI) for in-kind support and expertise critical to the project. The authors would also like to acknowledge that the protocol reviews and a separate "road test" were originally reported in the dissertation of Brown (2015).

- Cassman, K. G., Dobermann, A., and Walters, D. T. (2002). Agroecosystems, nitrogen-use efficiency, and nitrogen management. *Ambio* 31, 132–140. doi: 10.1579/0044-7447-31.2.132
- Climate Action Reserve. (2012). Nitrogen Management Project Protocol. Version 1.0. Climate Action Reserve, Los Angeles, CA.
- Cochran, V. L., Elliott, L. F., and Papendick, R. I. (1981). Nitrous oxide emissions from a fallow field fertilized with anhydrous ammonia. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 45, 307–310. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1981.03615995004500020016x
- Eagle, A., Olander, L., Henry, L. R., Haugen-Kozyra, K., Millar, N., and Robertson, G. P. (2012). Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Potential of Agricultural Land Management in the United States: A Synthesis of the Literature. Report NI R 10-04, 3rd Edn. Durham, NC: Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions, Duke University.
- Erikson, P. A., and Lazarus, M. (2013). Implications of international GHG offsets on global climate change mitigation. *Climate Policy* 13, 433–450. doi: 10.1080/14693062.2013.777632
- Fiez, T. E., Miller, B. C., and Pan, W. L. (1994a). Assessment of spatially variable nitrogen fertilizer management in winter wheat. J. Prod. Agric. 7, 86–93. doi: 10.2134/jpa1994.0086
- Fiez, T. E., Miller, B. C., and Pan, W. L. (1994b). Winter wheat yield and grain protein across varied landscape positions. *Agron. J.* 86, 1026–1032. doi: 10.2134/agronj1994.000219620086000 60018x
- Huggins, D. R., and Pan, W. L. (2003). Key indicators for assessing nitrogen use efficiency in cereal-based agroecosystems. J. Crop Prod. 8, 157–186. doi: 10.1300/J144v08n01_07

17

Frontiers in Environmental Science | www.frontiersin.org

- Huggins, D. R. (2010). "Site-specific n management for direct-seed cropping systems," in Friendly Farming: Improving the Carbon Footprint of Agriculture in the Pacific Northwest, eds C. G. Kruger, S. Yorgey, H. Chen, C. Collins, C. Feise, D. Frear, S. Higgins, D. Huggins, C. MacConnell, K. Painter, and C. Stöckle. Climate CSANR Research Report 2010-001. Washington State University. (Accessed 09/10/2013) at http://csanr.wsu.edu/pages/Climate_ Friendly_Farming_Final_Report/
- Huggins, D., Rupp, R., Kaur, H., and Eigenbrode, S. (2014). "Defining agroecological classes for assessing land use dynamics," in *Regional Approaches* to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture. Climate Science Northwest Farmers Can Use, eds K. Borrelli, D. Daily Laursen, S. Eigenbrode, B. Mahler, and B. Stokes) (Moscow, ID: University of Idaho). Available online at: https:// www.reacchpna.org/
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2006). "Agriculture, forestry and other land use. N₂O emissions from managed soils, and CO₂ emissions from lime and urea application," in 2006 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Chapter 11, Vol. 4, eds C. De Klein, R. S. A. Novoa, S. Ogle, K. A. Smith, P. Rochette, and T. C. Wirth, B. G. McConkey, A. Mosier, and K. Rypdal (Hayama: IGES, Institute for Global Environmental Strategies).
- Koenig, R. (2005). Eastern Washington Nutrient Management Guide. Dryland Winter Wheat. EB1987. WSU Extension Publishing and Printing.
- Kollmuss, A., Lazarus, M., Lee, C., Lefranc, M., and Polycarp, C. (2010). *Handbook of Carbon Offset Programs: Trading Systems*. Stockholm: Funds, Protocols and Standards; Earthscan.
- Lazarus, M., Lee, C., and Smith, G. (2010). "Road-testing offset protocols for landfill, manure, and afforestation/reforestation projects, " in *Stockholm Environment Institute Working Paper. WP-US-0904. Version 2.1.* Somerville, MA: Stockholm Environment Institute.
- Lee, C. M., Lazarus, M., Smith, G. R., Todd, K., and Weitz, M. (2013). A ton is not always a ton: a road-test of landfill, manure, and afforestation/reforestation offset protocols in the U. S. carbon market. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 33, 53–62. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2013.05.002
- Li, C. (2000). Modeling trace gas emissions from agricultural ecosystems. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosys.* 58, 259–276. doi: 10.1023/A:1009859006242
- Mahler, R. L., and Guy, S. O. (2007). Northern Idaho Fertilizer Guide. Soft White Spring Wheat. CIS 1101.
- Millar, N., Robertson, G. P., Diamant, A., Gehl, R. J., Grace, P. R., and Hoben, J. P. (2012). Methodology for Quantifying Nitrous Oxide (N2O) Emissions Reductions by Reducing Nitrogen Fertilizer use on Agricultural Crops. Arkansas, KS: American Carbon Registry, Winrock International, Little Rock.
- Millar, N., Robertson, G. P., Grace, P. R., Gehl, R. J., and Hoben, J. P. (2010). Nitrogen fertilizer management for nitrous oxide (N2O) mitigation in intensive corn (Maize) production: an emissions reduction protocol for US Midwest agriculture. *Mitig. Adapt Strateg. Glob Change* 15, 185–204. doi: 10.1007/s11027-010-9212-7
- Mulla, D. J., Bhatti, A. U., Hammond, M. W., and Benson, J. A. (1992). A comparison of winter wheat yield and quality under uniform versus spatially variable fertilizer management. *Agric. Ecosys. Environ.* 38, 301–311. doi: 10.1016/0167-8809(92)90152-2
- Painter, K. (2009). 2009 Enterprise Budgets: District 1 Wheat Rotations Under Conventional Tillage. Available online at http://web.cals.uidaho.edu/ idahoagbiz/enterprise-budgets/ (Accessed 10/11/2013).
- Painter, K. (2011). 2011 Enterprise Budgets: District 1 Wheat Rotations Under Conventional Tillage. Available online at http://web.cals.uidaho.edu/ idahoagbiz/enterprise-budgets/ (Accessed 08/01/2013).
- Painter, K. (2012). 2012 Enterprise Budgets: District 1 Wheat Rotations Under Conventional Tillage. Personal Communication.

- Pan, W. L., Huggins, D. R., Malzer, G. L., Douglas, C. L. Jr., and Smith, J. L. (1997). "Field heterogeneity in soil-plant nitrogen relationships: implications for sitespecific management," in *The State of Site-specific Management for Agriculture*, eds F. J. Pierce and E. J. Sadlers (Madison, WI: ASA, CSSA, and SSSA), 81–99.
- Pan, W. L., Schillinger, W., Huggins, D., Koenig, R., and Burns, J. (2007). Fifty years of Predicting Wheat Nitrogen Requirements in the Pacific Northwest, USA.
- Papendick, R. I. (1996). Farming Systems and conservation needs in the Northwest Wheat Region. Am. J. Alt. Agric. 11, 52–57. doi: 10.1017/S0889189300006767
- Rasmussen, P. E., Albrecht, S. L., and Smiley, R. W. (1998). Soil C and N changes under tillage and cropping systems in semi-arid Pacific Northwest agriculture. *Soil Tillage Res.* 47, 197–205. doi: 10.1016/S0167-1987(98)00106-8
- Robertson, G. P., and Vitousek, P. M. (2009). Nitrogen in agriculture: balancing the cost of an essential resource. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 34, 29. doi: 10.1146/annurev.environ.032108.105046
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., and Gwary, D. (2008). Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B.* 363, 789–813. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2184
- Sowers, K. E., and Miller, and. Pan, W. L. (1994). Optimizing yield and grain protein in soft white winter wheat with split nitrogen applications. *Agron. J.* 86, 1020–1025. doi: 10.2134/agronj1994.00021962008600 060017x
- Stockle, C., Higgins, S., Kemanian, A., Nelson, R., Huggins, D., Marcos, J., et al. (2012). Carbon storage and nitrous oxide emissions of cropping systems in eastern Washington: a simulation study. *J. Soil Water Conserv.* 67, 365–377. doi: 10.2489/jswc.67.5.365
- Taylor, S. (2016). Precision Nitrogen Management: Evaluating and Creating Management Zones Using Winter Wheat Performance. M.S. Thesis, Washington State University, Pullman, WA.
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, USEPA (2013). Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1999–2011. EPA 430-R-13-001.
- United States Department of Agriculture, National Agricultural Statistics Service (USDA-NASS) (2011). Quick Stats. Washington, DC. Available online at https://quickstats.nass.usda.gov/. (Accessed 1/31/2017).
- Verified Carbon Standard (2013). Quantifying N2O Emissions Reductions in Agricultural Crops Through Nitrogen Fertilizer Rate Reduction. Lansing, MI: Michigan State University.
- Washington Wheat Commission (2011). Washington Wheat Facts. 2011–2012. Available online at http://www.evergreen-implement.com/webres/File/2011-12WF4Web.pdf (Accessed 2/6/2017).
- Vitousek, P. M., Aber, J. D., Howarth, R. W., Likens, G. E., Matson, P. A., Schindler, D. W., et al. (1997). Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: sources and consequences. *Ecol. Appl.* 7, 737–750. doi: 10.1890/1051-0761(1997)007[0737:HAOTGN]2.0.CO;2
- Yorgey, G., and Kruger, C. (2015). "Nitrous oxide in the inland Pacific Northwest," in *Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture Year 4 Annual report*, eds. K. Borrelli, D. Laursen, S. Eigenbrode, B. Mahler, and R. Pepper, 60–61. Available online at: https://www.reacchpna.org/sites/default/ files/REACCHreportYr4.pdf

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Brown, Lee, Kruger, Reganold and Huggins. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Soil Organic Carbon Pools as Early Indicators for Soil Organic Matter Stock Changes under Different Tillage Practices in Inland Pacific Northwest

Rakesh Awale^{1*}, Micco A. Emeson² and Stephen Machado¹

¹ Columbia Basin Agricultural Research Center, Oregon State University, Adams, OR, United States, ² Department of Biological and Ecological Engineering, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR, United States

Soil organic matter (SOM) is essential for sustaining soil health and crop productivity. However, changes in SOM stocks in response to agronomic practices are slow and show years later when it is too late for adjustments in management. Identifying early indicators of SOM dynamics will allow early management decisions and quick remedial action. The objectives of this study were to evaluate long-term effects of tillage intensity and timing on SOM pools and determine the most responsive SOM pools to tillage practice. Soil from a long-term (53 years) winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)-spring pea (Pisum sativum L.) rotation and undisturbed grass pasture (GP) in inland Pacific Northwest (iPNW) was sampled to evaluate the effect of four tillage systems [no-till (NT), disk/chisel (DT/CT), spring plow (SP), and fall plow (FP)] on soil organic carbon (SOC, proxy for SOM), total nitrogen (TN), particulate organic matter carbon (POM-C) and nitrogen (POM-N), permanganate oxidizable carbon (POXC), water extractable organic carbon (WEOC), total dissolved nitrogen (TDN), KCI-extractable nitrogen (KEN), microbial biomass carbon (MBC) and nitrogen (MBN), basal respiration (BR), carbon mineralization (Cmin), and metabolic quotient (qCO₂). GP had higher levels of SOC pools than cultivated treatments. On average, tillage significantly decreased SOC and TN by 28 and 26%, respectively, compared to GP. Among the cultivated soils, tillage had no significant effect on SOC and TN, except for DT/CT that had slightly higher SOC than FP (P = 0.08). On the contrary, NT and DT/CT significantly (P < 0.05) increased levels of POM-C, POM-N, POXC, WEOC, MBC, BR, Cmin, and qCO₂ over FP or SP. However, tillage did not affect TDN, MBN, and KEN. The C-pools (POM-C, POXC, MBC, WEOC, BR, and Cmin) were more strongly correlated with SOM than the N-pools (TDN, MBN, and KEN), with an exception to POM-N. Under wheat-pea rotation in the iPNW, reduced tillage systems (NT and DT/CT) have a potential to maintain or increase SOM, which can be assessed early through its physical (POM), chemical (POXC, WEOC), and microbiological (MBC, BR, Cmin) indicators. POXC and WEOC were the most sensitive indicators of tillage-induced changes in SOM dynamics.

Keywords: carbon sequestration, dissolved organic matter (DOM), labile carbon pools, microbial biomass, particulate organic matter, permanganate oxidizable carbon, soil organic matter, tillage

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jodi Lynn Johnson-Maynard, University of Idaho, United States

Reviewed by:

Mukhtar Ahmed, Pir Mehr Ali Shah Arid Agriculture University, Pakistan Andrey S. Zaitsev, Justus Liebig Universität Gießen, Germanv

> *Correspondence: Rakesh Awale awaler@oregonstate.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 20 February 2017 Accepted: 31 July 2017 Published: 15 August 2017

Citation:

Awale R, Emeson MA and Machado S (2017) Soil Organic Carbon Pools as Early Indicators for Soil Organic Matter Stock Changes under Different Tillage Practices in Inland Pacific Northwest. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5:96. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00096

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

1
INTRODUCTION

Anthropogenic loading of atmospheric CO₂, a greenhouse gas, could be partially offset or mitigated by sequestering carbon into soil organic matter (SOM) through increasing net primary productivity of cropping systems (Lal, 2004). Accumulation of SOM is also crucial for soil fertility, water retention, and maintaining crop productivity (Machado et al., 2008; Machado, 2011). Over the long-term, the magnitude of SOM storage depends on land-use and management practices (West and Post, 2002). Usually, SOM tends to decline when native ecosystems are converted to cropping systems (Machado et al., 2006), but the effect of different management practices on SOM dynamics in dryland cropping systems varies and is site-specific (Ghimire et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017).

Winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.)-summer fallow cropping systems (WW-SF) dominate the inland Pacific Northwest (iPNW), an ecoregion receiving relatively low precipitation (<400 mm) and most (70%) of which is received during winter months (Purakayastha et al., 2008; Machado, 2011). To this end, fallowing is widely practiced as a means to store soil water for the next crop. Tillage is used to control weeds and facilitate water storage by breaking surface- and sub-soil pore continuum during fallow (Fuentes et al., 2004). In addition, tillage also facilitates seeding operations by removing surface residues and reducing weed germination by burying weed seeds (Young et al., 2014). Although reliable in terms of grain yield, WW-SF exacerbated soil erosion (Feng et al., 2011; Machado et al., 2015) and has depleted more than 50% of the original SOM in Walla Walla silt loam soil (0-60 cm) near Pendleton, Oregon (Ghimire et al., 2015). In response to high soil erosion rates and depletion of SOM, adoption of reduced tillage systems, including delaying tillage until crop seeding, minimum tillage, and no-till (NT), has increased in recent years (Machado, 2011; Machado et al., 2015). Erosion rates have dramatically decreased under conservation tillage systems but SOM build up has been slow (Williams et al., 2009; Machado, 2011; Ghimire et al., 2017).

Storage of SOM in cropping systems depends on the balance between C-additions primarily from crop residues and Closses through SOM decomposition (Machado et al., 2006; Awale et al., 2013). Therefore, the degree to which a tillage technique influences SOM turnover is generally determined by the frequency and timing of soil disturbance, depth of soil disturbance, and degree of soil-residue mixing (Cookson et al., 2008; Dou et al., 2008; Machado, 2011). Usually, inversion tillage buries almost all residues and enhances their decomposition by increasing soil-residue contact. Tillage also enhances microbial decay of SOM by regulating soil temperature, introducing oxygen, and disintegrating soil aggregates (Six et al., 2000). Furthermore, tillage induced alterations on soil edaphic properties can significantly influence crop productivity and ultimately the quantity of residue input in soils (Payne et al., 2000). On the contrary, delaying residue incorporation or leaving it on soil surface may provide a steady substrate for microbial community (Balota et al., 2003; Machado et al., 2006).

Nevertheless, changes in SOM stocks in response to tillage management may be difficult to detect due to soil's inherent variability (Cookson et al., 2008). More importantly, due to the slow recovery of SOM stocks, it may take several years to observe significant changes in SOM, often leading to late decision making and delayed remedial actions (West and Post, 2002). It took more than 30 years to measure a significant decrease in SOM in a WW-SF long-term experiment near Pendleton, Oregon (Ghimire et al., 2015). Besides, other studies have also indicated that the magnitude and direction of tillage-induced changes are often site-specific (Purakayastha et al., 2008; Morrow et al., 2016). Recently, microbiological properties and readily decomposable pools of SOM, such as particulate organic matter (POM), permanganate oxidizable C (POXC), water extractable organic matter (WEOM), microbial biomass C (MBC) and N (MBN), and microbial respiration, have received more attention due to their sensitivity to management practices than bulk SOM (Dou et al., 2008; Awale et al., 2013; Culman et al., 2013; Morrow et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017). These physical, chemical, and microbiological pools constitute relatively small fractions of SOM but have rapid turnover rates of weeks to months or few years compared with more recalcitrant bulk SOM pools (Havnes, 2005). Identifying early indicators of SOM dynamics would allow early interventions before significant SOM loss (Purakayastha et al., 2008).

SOM pools can represent a multitude of interrelated soil processes and functions (Awale et al., 2013). For instance, POM plays major roles in soil aggregation and production of WEOM, and serves as an energy source for soil microbial biomass (Gregorich et al., 2000; Six et al., 2000; Zotarelli et al., 2007). The WEOM includes C-substrates as well as other associated nutrients (such as N, P, and S), and therefore its turnover is crucial in nutrient cycling (Gregorich et al., 2006). Soil microbes are responsible for transforming organic matter and nutrients within soil (Mooshammer et al., 2014). Basal respiration (BR) and C-mineralization are adequate indicators of microbial activity, which is dependent on substrate availability and the soil edaphic environment (Balota et al., 2003). A build-up of POXC in soil indicates long-term SOM stabilization (Culman et al., 2012, 2013; Hurisso et al., 2016). To this end, analyzing SOM pools and characterizing their interrelationships could improve our understanding of management effects on SOM dynamics in the iPNW. The objectives of this study were to (i) evaluate the effects of tillage intensity and timing on SOM pools and (ii) determine the most responsive SOM pools to tillage under winter wheat-spring pea (Pisum sativum L.) rotation in the iPNW.

Abbreviations: BR, basal respiration; C, carbon; C:N, carbon-to-nitrogen ratio; CBARC, Columbia Basin Agricultural Research Center; Cmin, carbon mineralization; CO₂, carbon dioxide; DT/CT, disk/chisel tillage; FP, fall plow; GP, grass pasture; KEN, KCI-extractable nitrogen; MBC, microbial biomass carbon; MBN, microbial biomass nitrogen; N, nitrogen; NT, no-till; PNW, Pacific Northwest; POM, particulate organic matter; POM-C, particulate organic matter carbon; POM-N, particulate organic matter; POXC, permanganate oxidizable carbon; *q*CO₂, metabolic quotient; SOC, soil organic carbon; SOM, soil organic matter; WEOC, water extractable organic carbon; WEOC, water extractable organic matter; WHC, water holding capacity; WP-LTE, wheat-pea long-term experiment; WW-SF, winter wheat-summer fallow.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Site Description and Experimental

This study was conducted on an ongoing wheat-pea long-term rotation experiment (WP-LTE) located at the Columbia Basin Agricultural Research Center (CBARC) near Pendleton, Oregon $(45^{\circ}42'N, 118^{\circ}35'W)$. The WP-LTE was initiated in 1963 on a nearly-level (0–1% slope) Walla Walla silt loam soil (coarse-silty, mixed, mesic Typic Haploxeroll) (Soil Survey Staff, 2014). The site is characterized by a semiarid climate with cool wet winters and hot dry summers. Long-term (1930–2015) average annual temperature is 8°C, and annual precipitation is 418 mm, 70% of which falls between September and April (CBARC, 2016).

The WP-LTE consisted of a 2-year winter wheat-spring pea rotation, with each phase of the rotation present every year in order to facilitate yearly data collection for both crops. The experimental design was a split-plot arrangement with crop phases (wheat and pea) as whole-plot factors and tillage systems as sub-plot factors and replicated four times. Each sub-plot measured 7.3 m wide by 36.5 m long. Semi-dwarf soft white winter wheat was planted in early October using a double disk drill with 18-cm row spacing and harvested in late July of the following year. Spring pea was sown in late March or early April and harvested in June or July of the same year. After 28 years of growing green peas, dry peas were introduced in 1991. For the last 20 years, all wheat plots received 90 kg N ha⁻¹ as urea ammonium nitrate (32-0-0) shanked 12 cm deep before planting, while ammonium sulfate (21-0-0-24) or ammonium phosphate sulfate (16-20-0-14) was broadcast applied at the rate of 22 kg N ha⁻¹ in pea. Payne et al. (2000) and Machado et al. (2008) reported further details on crop management prior to 1995. The WP-LTE consisted of four tillage treatments as follows:

- (i) Fall plow (FP): The plots were moldboard-plowed (20-25 cm deep) after wheat harvest in fall, followed by one to three times of spring cultivation (15 cm deep) before planting pea. Pea vines were moldboard plowed in summer after pea harvest and cultivated twice (10 cm deep) before planting wheat in the fall.
- (ii) Spring plow (SP): This treatment was identical to FP treatment, except that the plots were moldboard-plowed in spring before planting pea.
- (iii) Disk/chisel (DT/CT): The plots were disked twice to a depth of 10 cm after wheat harvest in the fall, followed by sweep-cultivation (5 cm) in spring before planting pea. After pea harvest, the plots were chisel-plowed (20 cm) and sweep-cultivated before seeding wheat.
- (iv) No-till (NT): No tillage was implemented in 1995 and weeds were controlled by herbicides. In earlier years (1963–1995), minimum tillage had been implemented in these plots, which included skew-treading (2.5 cm deep) once or twice after wheat harvest in fall followed by sweep-cultivation (5 cm deep) before planting pea, and skew-treading two to three times in summer after pea harvest. A skew-treader consists of tined wheels on two angled ganged shafts that break and uniformly distribute residues to improve drill performance during seeding.

An undisturbed grass pasture (GP) served as a reference for comparisons of changes in SOM dynamics in the WP-LTE. The GP plot (45 m wide by 108 m long) is in proximity to the WP-LTE at CBARC and is maintained under native vegetation (since 1931) that is predominantly tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea* Scheeber) with lesser amounts of bulbous bluegrass (*Poa bulbosa* L.), green foxtail (*Setaria viridis* L.), and yellow foxtail [*S. pumila* (Poiret) Roemer and Schult]. The GP plot was divided into four transverse sections and represented four sub-plots.

Soil Sampling and Analyses

In June 2016, two soil cores (3.8 cm diameter) were collected from 0- to 15-cm surface layer within each sub-plot and composited. Samples were taken between crop rows after clearing surface residues. Soils were air-dried in a greenhouse for 72 h and finely ground in a mechanical grinder to pass through a 2-mm sieve after removing visible pieces of plant materials. To determine bulk density, three separate soil cores (1.84 cm diameter and 0–15 cm deep each) were also taken within 0.5 m radius of initially collected soil cores. These soil cores were oven dried at 105°C for 24 h and bulk density was computed by dividing oven dried soil mass with soil volume (Blake and Hartge, 1986).

Approximately 10 g subsamples of air-dried soils (<2 mm) were finely ground (<0.05 mm) in a Shatter Box 8530 ball mill (Spex Sample Prep., Metuchen, New Jersey, USA) for 3 min, and then analyzed for total C and N concentrations by dry combustion method (Purakayastha et al., 2008) at 950°C using a LECO CN628 analyzer (LECO Corp., St. Joseph, Michigan, USA). Previous investigations have confirmed the absence of inorganic carbon at 0-15 cm layer within the experimental site, and therefore, total C measured for all soils is safely assumed to be soil organic carbon (SOC) (Ghimire et al., 2015). This was confirmed by pH-values measuring below 6.7 in all soils (Table 1). Soil bulk density was used to convert SOC concentration (g kg⁻¹) to SOC stock per area (Mg ha^{-1}) to remove confounding effects of compaction when comparing all treatments. Soil pH of extracts from 5 g air-dried soils (<0.05 mm) in 10 mL of 0.01 M CaCl₂ was measured electrometrically using an Orion Star A215 pH/conductivity bench top meter (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Beverly, MA, USA) (Ghimire et al., 2015). Water holding capacity (WHC) of air-dried soil (<2 mm) was determined as described by Awale and Chatterjee (2015). Briefly, 10g air-dried soil was saturated with deionized water in a conical funnel with a filter paper (Whatman no. 42) and WHC was determined as the water retained in soil after draining excess water for 1 h.

Particulate organic matter carbon (POM-C) and nitrogen (POM-N) were assessed by following the procedure of Sollins et al. (1999). A 10 g air-dried soil sample (<2 mm) was dispersed in 30 mL of 5 g L⁻¹ sodium hexametaphosphate and shook for 18 h on a reciprocal shaker (240 strokes per min). The mixture was then passed through a 53-µm sieve by rinsing several times with deionized water. The material retained on the sieve was dried in an oven at 105°C for 24 h, weighed, finely ground using mortar and pestle, and analyzed for C and N by dry combustion as described above. POM-C or POM-N (g kg⁻¹) was TABLE 1 | Treatment effects on bulk soil characteristics in 0- to 15-cm Walla-Walla silt loam near Pendleton, Oregon.

Treatments								
	SOC (g kg ⁻¹)	TN (g kg ⁻¹)	C:N	SOC (Mg ha ⁻¹)	TN (Mg ha ⁻¹)	Bulk density (g cm ⁻³)	pН	Water content (g kg ⁻¹)
Grass pasture	24.2a [‡]	1.78a	13.5a	40.1a	2.96a	1.11a	6.35a	193a
No-till	17.9b	1.33b	13.5a	34.7b	2.59b	1.30b	5.02b	95b
Disk/Chisel	18.2b	1.36b	13.3ab	34.3b	2.57b	1.28b	5.29b	100b
Spring plow	17.2b	1.33b	12.9b	33.9b	2.64b	1.32b	5.33b	89b
Fall plow	16.3b	1.26b	12.9b	31.8b	2.45b	1.30b	5.28b	85b
SE§	1.06	0.06	0.3	1.9	0.12	0.03	0.22	11

[†]Soil properties are SOC, soil organic carbon; TN, total nitrogen; C:N, SOC/TN ratio.

[‡]Means followed by different lower case letters within a column are significantly different ($P \leq 0.05$).

§ Standard error (SE) values of least square mean differences provided at $\alpha = 0.05$.

then computed from the following equation:

$$POM - C \text{ or } POM - N = Cs \text{ or } Ns \times Ws \times 10$$

where, Cs or Ns is % C or % N of sand fraction, and Ws is dry mass of sand fraction (g g^{-1}).

Potassium permanganate oxidizable carbon (POXC) was determined as proposed by Weil et al. (2003) with a slight modification as discussed in Culman et al. (2012). A 2.5 g airdried soil sample (<2 mm) was mixed with 20 mL of 0.02 *M* KMnO₄ in a 50-mL polypropylene conical centrifuge tube. The mixture was vigorously shaken for 2 min on a reciprocal shaker (240 strokes per min) and allowed to settle for 10 min. Following settling, 0.5 mL of the supernatant from the upper 1 cm of the suspension was transferred into another 50-mL centrifuge tube and mixed with 49.5 mL of deionized water. Three subsamples from each diluted solution were measured for absorbance in a GENESYS 10S UV-VIS spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Madison, Wisconsin, USA) at 550 nm. POXC in a soil sample was calculated using the following equation:

 $POXC(mg kg^{-1}soil) = [0.02 mol L^{-1} - (a + b \times absorbance)] \times (9,000 mg Cmol^{-1}) \times (0.02 L solution/0.0025 kg soil).$

where, 0.02 mol L⁻¹ is the initial solution concentration, *a* is the intercept and *b* is the slope of the standard curve, 9,000 is mg C oxidized by 1 mol of MnO₄ changing from Mn⁷⁺ to Mn⁴⁺, 0.02 L is the volume of KMnO₄ solution reacted, and 0.0025 is the kg of soil used.

Soil inorganic nitrogen or KCl extractable-N (KEN) content (NH₄⁺-N plus NO₃⁻-N) was measured in duplicates according to Maynard et al. (2008). Briefly, 5 g air-dried soil (<2 mm) was mixed with 25 mL of 2 *M* KCl, shaken in a reciprocal shaker for 30 min, and the mixture was filtered through a Whatman no. 42 filter paper. The extract was analyzed for NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ concentrations colorimetrically using a phenol-nitroferricyanide method and a cadmium reduction method, respectively, in an automated micro-segmented flow Astoria analyzer (Astoria-Pacific Inc., Clackamas, Oregon, USA).

Water extractable organic carbon (WEOC) and total dissolved nitrogen (TDN) were determined by extraction of 10 g air-dried

soil (<2 mm) using 40 mL deionized water (Cookson et al., 2008). The soil-water mixture was shaken in a reciprocal shaker for 1 h and then filtered through a Whatman no. 42 filter paper. The extract was frozen until analyzed for WEOC and TDN using a high-temperature combustion Torch TOC/TN analyzer (Teledyne Tekmar, Mason, OH, USA).

Carbon mineralization (Cmin) was estimated using a shortterm incubation method following Sherrod et al. (2012), and Awale and Chatterjee (2017). Briefly, 100 g air-dried soil (<2 mm) was moistened to 60% WHC with de-ionized water using a pipette in a 1-L mason jar. The mason jar was closed with airtight screw-cap lid, fitted with a gas sampling port (butyl rubber septum) at the center, and was incubated at constant temperature of 25°C for 30 d. Soil moisture content was maintained at 60% throughout the incubation by monitoring the weight changes of the mason jar and adding deionized water as needed. Headspace air samples were collected from the jar on 1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 10, 13, 16, 22, and 30 d after incubation. At every sampling day, headspace air in the jar was mixed by withdrawing and injecting twice using a polypropylene syringe fitted with a 21-gauge needle and finally 30-mL air sample was collected into the syringe. The mason jar lid was then opened for at least 5-10 min to replenish with fresh air and to add deionized water (if necessary), sealed again, and returned to the incubator until 30-d. Triplicate subsamples of 7-mL air from each syringe were analyzed for CO₂ concentrations within 2 h of their collection using a LI-820 CO₂ analyzer (LICOR Inc., Lincoln, Nebraska, USA). Assuming ideal gas relations, the measured CO₂ concentrations were then converted into mass units, expressed as mg CO₂-C d⁻¹ kg⁻¹ soil. Cumulative CO₂-C mineralized in 30 d (Cmin) was computed by summing all the CO2-C evolved at each time period.

Microbial biomass carbon (MBC) and nitrogen (MBN) were determined using chloroform fumigation-incubation method (Jenkinson and Powlson, 1976). Duplicate 10 g air-dried soils (<2 mm) were weighed into 60-mL French Square bottles, adjusted to 60% WHC by adding de-ionized water, and incubated at 25°C for 7 d. A set of empty bottles without soil was also incubated and processed similarly as those with soil. Following 7 d pre-incubation, one set of soils was fumigated with ethanol-free chloroform (CHCl₃) in a vacuum chamber in the dark for 24 h

while the other set was not and remained incubated (nonfumigated). Both the non-fumigated and fumigated soils (in bottles) were then placed inside 1-L mason jars consisting 2-mL of de-ionized water at the bottom (to maintain humidity). The mason jars were sealed with lids fitted with gas sampling ports and further incubated at 25°C for 10 d. Approximately, 30mL gas samples were collected from the mason jars through the sampling ports, and analyzed for CO₂ using infrared gas analyzer as described above. Soil MBC was calculated by dividing the difference of CO2-C produced between fumigated and nonfumigated samples by a correction factor (k_c) of 0.41 (Collins et al., 1992). The measurement of CO₂ evolved from the nonfumigated control following pre-incubation was considered as basal respiration (mg CO₂-C kg⁻¹ soil d⁻¹), and metabolic quotient (qCO₂) was calculated by dividing basal respiration with MBC (mg CO₂-C g⁻¹ MBC d⁻¹). For MBN, the fumigatedincubated sample at 10 d was extracted with 50 ml of 2 M K₂SO₄ for 30 min and mineral N concentrations were determined colorimetrically as described above. Soil MBN was calculated by dividing the flush of mineral-N $(NH_4^+-N + NO_3^-)$ released during fumigation-incubation using a correction factor (k_n) of 0.40 (Collins et al., 1992).

Data Analysis

Data were subjected to analysis of variance for a split-plot arrangement in a randomized block design using Proc Mixed of SAS (version 9.2, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, North Carolina) assuming fixed crop and tillage effects and random replication term. We created dummy variables of GP data to conform to WP-LTE design for statistical comparisons. Treatment (tillage) means were compared using Fisher's least significant difference test when there was a significant treatment effect at 0.05 level of probability, unless otherwise stated. Univariate Pearson's correlation coefficients were used to evaluate relationships between SOM pools. Stepwise multiple linear regression analyses were conducted using Proc Reg of SAS with backward elimination to explore the relative importance of SOM pools in predicting SOC.

RESULTS

Bulk Soil Characteristics

GP had significantly (P < 0.05) higher levels of SOC and total nitrogen (TN) concentrations as well as stocks than all cultivated treatments in the WP-LTE (Table 1). Compared to GP, on average, cultivated soils had 28 and 26% less SOC and TN concentrations and had 16 and 13% less SOC and TN stocks, respectively. Within WP-LTE, there were no significant differences in SOC and TN levels among tillage treatments. However, DT/CT had slightly higher SOC concentration than FP (P = 0.08). Soil C:N under GP, NT, and DT/CT were similar, but both SP and FP had lower C:N than GP and NT. Soil bulk density did not differ among cultivated treatments, and averaged 1.30 g/cm³, which was significantly higher than that of GP soil (Table 1). On the other hand, all cultivated treatments had significantly lower soil pH-values than GP (Table 1). Among the cultivated treatments, soil pH under NT was generally lower than other tillage practices (P < 0.10). Gravimetric water content was higher under GP than under cultivated treatments (Table 1).

Physical and Chemical Pools of SOM

Treatments significantly affected POM-C, POM-N, POXC, and WEOC (**Table 2**). In general, GP had the highest levels of physical and chemical C- and N-pools, which decreased with increasing tillage intensity. POM-C and POM-N were significantly lower under FP and SP than under either GP, NT, or DT/CT, which were not different among each other. On average, POM-C and POM-N were each 18% greater under reduced tillage systems (NT and DT/CT combined) than plowing (FP and SP combined). POXC and WEOC were the highest under GP. Among the cultivated treatments, POXC was similar between NT and DT/CT, but both had higher POXC than under FP. Under SP, POXC was intermediate between DT/CT and FP, but was significantly lower than NT. WEOC did not differ between NT and DT/CT soils, and averaged 182 mg kg⁻¹, which was significantly higher (14%) than WEOC of FP and SP soils. There were no significant

Physical pools[†] Chemical pools[†] Treatments POM-C (g kg⁻¹) POM-N (g kg⁻¹) POM-C:POM-N POXC (mg kg⁻¹) WEOC (mg kg⁻¹) TDN (mg kg⁻¹) WEOC:TDN KEN (mg kg⁻¹) $(mg kg^{-1})$ 4.85a[‡] Grass pasture 0.27a 17.9a 706a 223a 42.3a 9.30a 31.2a No-till 4 48a 0.26a 17.0a 676b 181b 22 1a 9.61a 11.4a Disk/Chisel 4.56a 0.25ab 18.1a 659bc 183b 25.0a 9.24a 14.1a Spring plow 3.67b 0.21b 17.3a 648cd 159c 21.0a 8.80a 12.2a Fall plow 3.72b 0.21b 17.7a 633d 153c 28.6a 7.28a 19.2a SE§ 0.37 0.02 0.8 12 12 10.3 1.91 10.2

TABLE 2 | Treatment effects on physical and chemical pools of SOM in surface 0- to 15-cm Walla Walla silt loam near Pendleton, Oregon.

[†] Pools are POM-C, particulate organic matter carbon; POM-N, particulate organic matter nitrogen; POXC, permanganate oxidizable carbon; WEOC, water extractable organic carbon; TDN, water extractable total dissolved nitrogen; KEN, KCI extractable total inorganic (NH⁴₄ + NO³₃) nitrogen.

^{*t*} Means followed by different lower case letters within a column are significantly different ($P \le 0.05$).

§Standard error (SE) values of least square mean differences provided at $\alpha = 0.05$.

5

effects of treatments on POM-C:N, TDN, WEOC:TDN, and KEN.

Microbiological Pools of SOM

Soil microbial biomass values for C and N showed significant variation among treatments (**Table 3**). The greatest MBC was found under GP and the lowest under FP. Compared to GP, MBC was lower on average by 21% under NT, DT/CT, and SP soils. MBC among these latter three treatments was not significantly different. However, NT and DT/CT increased MBC by 27 and 36%, respectively, when compared to FP. Similar to MBC, soil MBN was the greatest under GP. On average, cultivated soils had about 55% less MBN relative to GP soil. There were no significant differences in MBN-values among cultivated treatments. The net result of the variations in soil MBC and MBN among treatments is that the ratio of microbial biomass C to N (MBC:MBN) was generally lower for GP soil than cultivated soils, in which the plow-tillage treatments exhibited slightly lower values compared to NT and DT/CT.

The values of basal respiration (BR) showed significant variation among treatments (**Table 3**). GP had the highest BR among all treatments. DT/CT and SP had similar BR and both treatments had greater BR compared to FP. Basal respiration under NT did not differ from other cultivated treatments. qCO_2 was higher under SP than under NT (by 17%) and FP (by 21%), with no statistical difference between the latter two. However, FP had lower qCO_2 compared to both GP and DT/CT treatments.

Similar to BR, mineralized CO₂-C differed significantly among treatments for all incubation sampling time periods, except for the initial 1 d of incubation (**Figure 1**, **Table 3**). However, the temporal pattern of CO₂-C mineralized among treatments generally remained similar throughout the incubation period. The values for CO₂-C mineralized were consistently highest and lowest under GP and FP, respectively, while NT, DT/CT, and SP were intermediate between them. At the end of 30 d, cumulative CO₂-C (Cmin) produced under DT/CT and SP soils were similar and averaged 637 mg CO₂-C kg⁻¹, which was 20% lower than GP but 26% higher than FP. Cmin under NT was not statistically different from any other cultivated treatments, but was about 29% lower than that of GP.

Fractions of SOM Pools

Proportions of labile C and N pools in SOM showed variation among treatments, with significant differences observed for POXC/SOC, Cmin/SOC, and POM-N/TN (**Table 4**). POXC/SOC was lower under GP than under cultivated treatments. Cmin/SOC was significantly lower under FP than under DT/CT and SP treatments, while GP and NT had intermediate levels of Cmin/SOC. POM-N/TN was higher under NT and DT/CT treatments compared to plow-tillage treatments and GP. In general, POM-C/SOC and MBC/SOC were lower, while N-pools in TN were higher under GP than under cultivated treatments, although such differences were not statistically significant (P > 0.05). On average, SOC had 22.8% POM-C, 3.6% POXC, 0.9% WEOC, 2.9% MBC, and 3.3% Cmin. Similarly, TN constituted about 17.1% PON, 1.9% TDN, 4.9% MBN, and 1.1% KEN.

Relationships of SOM Pools

The values of univariate correlation coefficients (r) between the SOM pools are shown in Table 5. Across the study, the highest correlation coefficient value (r = 0.95) was observed between SOC and TN. Significant positive correlations were found for all SOM pools with SOC and TN, except for soil C:N, POM-C:N, and WEOC:TDN. In general, SOM pools were also correlated among each other. Nevertheless, the C-pools (POM-C, POXC, WEOC, and MBC) were more strongly correlated with SOM than the N-pools (TDN, MBN, and KEN). Among all the SOM pools, POXC and WEOC pools demonstrated the highest correlations with both SOC and TN. Stepwise multiple regression of all the tillage-responsive SOM pools on SOC showed that POXC and WEOC pools were the best predictors of SOC stock (Table 6). POXC and WEOC pools, in combination, could explain nearly 70% of the total variability in the model. Bulk density was generally negatively related to SOM pools, while both pH and gravimetric water content and SOM pools had positive relationships.

DISCUSSION

Cultivation of native grasslands has led to depletion of SOC and TN levels from the 0–15 cm soil depth profile due to reduced

TABLE 3 | Treatment effects on microbiological pools of SOM in surface 0- to 15-cm Walla Walla silt loam near Pendleton, Oregon.

Treatments				Microbiological poo	ols [†]	
	MBC (mg kg ⁻¹)	MBN (mg kg ⁻¹)	MBC:MBN	BR (mg CO ₂ -C kg ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	<i>q</i> CO ₂ (μg g ⁻¹ MBC d ⁻¹)	Cmin (0–30 d) (mg CO ₂ -C kg ⁻¹)
Grass pasture	678a [‡]	135a	7.9a	32.7a	46.5ab	796a
No-till	531b	45b	15.7a	21.2bc	41.7bc	565bc
Disk/Chisel	570b	54b	15.3a	26.1b	45.3ab	661b
Spring plow	509bc	74b	12.3a	25.5b	50.4a	612b
Fall plow	418c	63b	13.6a	16.3c	39.8c	472c
SE§	50	32	3.6	6.1	4.9	55

[†]Microbiological pools are MBC, microbial biomass carbon; MBN, microbial biomass nitrogen; BR, basal respiration; qCO₂, metabolic quotient; Cmin, cumulative CO₂-C mineralized in 30-d.

[‡]Means followed by different lower case letters within a column are significantly different ($P \leq 0.05$).

Standard error (SE) values of least square mean differences provided at $\alpha = 0.05$.



FIGURE 1 | Carbon mineralization from soils under grass pasture (GP), no-till (NT), disk/chisel tillage (DT/CT), spring plow (SP), and fall plow (FP) in 30 days of incubation. Error bars are standard error (SE) values of least square mean differences for individual days. *Indicates significant ($P \le 0.05$) treatment differences for that day.

biomass inputs, increased exposure of physically protected SOM to microbial decomposition, and accelerated residue decay from tillage induced aeration, increased soil temperature, and depletion of water content (Six et al., 2000; Purakayastha et al., 2008). For the current study site, the mean aboveground plant biomass inputs from GP and wheat-pea systems were estimated to be about 7 and 5 mg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, respectively (Machado, 2011; Ghimire et al., 2015). Researchers have also asserted that undisturbed grasslands usually contain greater root density than cultivated systems (Gregorich et al., 2000; Beniston et al., 2014). Furthermore, legume-based (wheat-pea) cropping systems should result in residues that are more readily degraded than those in the GP system, which mostly consisted of annual and perennial grasses (Haynes, 2000). As a consequence of higher SOM levels, GP soil had lower bulk density and higher soil water retention (Franzluebbers et al., 1995).

Nevertheless, most studies claim that losses of SOM under arable systems can be minimized, at least within 0-15 cm top soil, by adopting reduced or conservation tillage systems (Machado et al., 2006; Dou et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2009; Awale et al., 2013). Such assertion was corroborated by our finding that DT/CT, a reduced tillage practice, tended to increase SOC content over FP. In fact, relative to GP, FP exhibited the highest reduction in SOC (33%) and TN (29%) levels, among all tillage systems. Crop residues accumulate at soil surface under reduced tillage systems, whereas intensive tillage such as FP buries crop residues and promotes their decomposition. Intensive tillage also disintegrates soil aggregates, introduces oxygen, increases soil temperature, and reduces soil water content-conditions favorable for rapid mineralization of residues and SOM (Zotarelli et al., 2007). In addition, the values of soil C:N for NT and DT/CT which were comparable to GP but higher than plow-treatments (SP and FP) further suggest that reduced tillage systems have potential

to accumulate SOM and their adoption would lead to healthier soils.

NT and DT/CT increased POM-C and POM-N in soils over plow-treatments. Our results are in agreement with earlier studies that have also noticed higher POM pools with reduced tillage systems than more intensive tillage practices (Dou et al., 2008; Awale et al., 2013; Wang and Sainju, 2014). POM consists primarily of plant residues (Gregorich et al., 2006), physically protected within aggregates. Tillage breaks down these aggregates and exposes the protected POM to increased microbial consumption (Six et al., 2000; Zotarelli et al., 2007). Consequently, intensive tillage practices result in relatively less stabilization of POM than do reduced tillage systems. This is further supported by higher POM-C/SOC and POM-N/TNvalues associated with reduced tillage systems than with plowtreatments. On the other hand, slightly greater assimilation of POM-N into MBN (MBN/TN) (Table 3) under plow-treatments might have also reduced POM-N/TN. Although weak, POM-N was significantly correlated (r = 0.45, P < 0.05) with MBN (Table 5). The greatest proportions of SOC and TN were found in POM-C and POM-N pools, respectively (Table 4). Purakayastha et al. (2008) found that POM-C was about 12.6-31% of SOC in eastern Washington with soils and management similar to this study. However, there were no significant differences in POM quality (POM-C:POM-N) among treatments because tillage induced changes in POM-C were closely matched by changes in POM-N, as demonstrated by significant correlation between POM-C and -N (Table 5). Higher values of C:N measured for POM (17.0-18.1) than bulk soil C:N (12.9-13.5) probably relates to the fact that POM is comprised of decomposing organic matter, often of recent origin (Gregorich et al., 2006).

The proportions of POXC in SOC measured in this study are higher than the reported range of 1.49-2.04% for soils across the iPNW by Morrow et al. (2016). Higher POXC-values obtained in this study could partly be explained by longer duration (53 years) of this study that allowed for more production of this pool when compared to shorter study periods of 3-31 years, as reported in Morrow et al. (2016). In addition, we sampled more soil (0-15 cm) compared to Morrow et al. (2016) who sampled less soil (0-10 cm). POXC levels can vary with soil depth in relation to concentration of roots and their exudation at different soil layers (Wang et al., 2017). Nevertheless, in our study, NT and DT/CT generally had more POXC compared to plow-treatments. This is in line with earlier findings that have also found higher POXC levels with reduced tillage systems than intensive tillage systems (Dou et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2009; Awale et al., 2013; Morrow et al., 2016). The POXC fraction of SOC is characterized based on its susceptibility to oxidation with weak potassium permanganate (KMnO₄) solution, and thereby simulates microbial oxidation (Weil et al., 2003). According to Culman et al. (2012) and Hurisso et al. (2016), POXC reflects a more stabilized fraction of SOC and reduced tillage promotes POXC in soils compared to intensive tillage because the latter increases microbial oxidation of POXC. High correlations of POXC with MBC (r = 0.76) and with microbial activity (r = 0.67) corroborate this assertion. Also, POXC demonstrated strong correlation with POM (r = 0.73) and

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 4 | Proportions of SOM pools in soil organic carbon (SOC) and total nitrogen (TN) in treatments at surface 0- to 15-cm Walla Walla silt loam near Pendleton, Oregon.

Treatments	its % of SOC [†]					% of TN [†]					
	POM-C	POXC	WEOC	MBC	Cmin (0–30 d)	POM-N	TDN	MBN	KEN		
Grass pasture	19.7a [‡]	2.98a	0.92a	2.84a	3.27ab	14.8b	2.23a	7.10a	1.56a		
No-till	25.4a	3.81b	1.00a	3.07a	3.20ab	19.9a	1.66a	3.26a	0.83a		
Disk/Chisel	24.7a	3.65b	1.03a	3.12a	3.58a	18.2a	1.85a	3.91a	1.05a		
Spring plow	21.4a	3.79b	0.94a	2.96a	3.56a	15.9b	1.55a	5.41a	0.89a		
Fall plow	22.7a	3.90b	0.93a	2.91a	2.89b	16.6b	2.20a	4.70a	1.46a		
SE§	2.4	0.15	0.05	0.21	0.23	1.41	0.56	1.64	0.56		

[†]Pools are POM-C, particulate organic matter carbon; POXC, permanganate oxidizable carbon; WEOC, water extractable organic carbon; MBC, microbial biomass carbon; Cmin, Cumulative CO₂-C mineralized in 30-d; POM-N, particulate organic matter nitrogen; TDN, water extractable total dissolved nitrogen; MBN, microbial biomass nitrogen; KEN, KCl extractable total inorganic (NH⁺₄ + NO⁻₃) nitrogen.

[‡]Means followed by different lower case letters within a column are significantly different ($P \leq 0.05$).

[§]Standard error (SE) values of least square mean differences provided at $\alpha = 0.05$.

TABLE 5 Pearson correlation coefficients $(r)^{\dagger}$ of soil parameters across the study.

Parameters [‡]	SOC	ΤN	Soil C:N	POM- C	POM- N	POM- C:N	POXC	WEOC	TDN	WEOM C:N	- MBC	MBN	MB-C:N	Cmin	BR	qCO ₂	KEN	Bulk density	pН
TN	0.95																		
Soil C:N	0.51	ns																	
POM-C	0.69	0.61	0.53																
POM-N	0.71	0.68	0.39	0.90															
POM-C:N	0.34	ns	0.50	0.69	0.31 [§]														
POXC	0.78	0.72	0.51	0.73	0.70	0.42													
WEOC	0.78	0.71	0.53	0.78	0.73	0.47	0.79												
TDN	0.51	0.60	ns	0.35	0.47	ns	ns	0.32 [§]											
WEOM-C:N	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	-0.75										
MBC	0.70	0.66	0.40	0.77	0.68	0.53	0.76	0.67	ns	ns									
MBN	0.51	0.64	ns	0.35	0.45	ns	0.32	0.37	0.80	-0.49	ns								
MB-C:N	-0.31 [§]	-0.39	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	-0.28 [§]	-0.43	0.30†	ns	-0.56							
Cmin	0.69	0.61	0.50	0.79	0.62	0.68	0.70	0.77	ns	0.29 [§]	0.73	ns	ns						
BR	0.66	0.62	0.40	0.75	0.58	0.66	0.67	0.70	ns	0.32 [§]	0.73	ns	ns	0.93					
qCO ₂	0.32 [§]	0.30 [§]	ns	0.40	ns	0.49	0.31 [§]	0.42	ns	0.30 [§]	ns	ns	ns	0.71	0.80				
KEN	0.45	0.56	ns	0.28 [§]	0.41	ns	ns	ns	0.99	-0.75	ns	0.81	-0.44	ns	ns	ns			
Bulk density	-0.67	-0.66	ns	ns	ns	ns	-0.44	-0.45	-0.34	ns	-0.45	-0.34	0.34	-0.36	-0.37	ns	-0.31 [§]		
рН	0.47	0.49	ns	ns	ns	0.31 [§]	ns	ns	ns	ns	0.43	0.30 [§]	0.28 [§]	0.34	0.36	ns	ns	-0.42	
Water content	0.64	0.64	ns	ns	ns	ns	0.52	0.46	ns	ns	0.59	ns	ns	0.39	0.44	ns	ns	-0.67	0.55

[†]Correlations significant at $P \leq 0.05$, except §significant at $P \leq 0.10$; ns, non-significant.

[‡] SOC, soil organic carbon; TN, total nitrogen; C:N, carbon/nitrogen ratio; POM-C, particulate organic matter carbon; POM-N, particulate organic matter nitrogen; POM-C:N, particulate organic matter carbon/nitrogen ratio; POXC, permanganate oxidizable carbon; WEOC, water extractable organic carbon; TDN, water extractable total dissolved nitrogen; WEOM-C:N, water extractable organic carbon; TDN, water extractable total dissolved nitrogen; WEOM-C:N, water extractable organic carbon; TDN, water extractable organic carbon/total dissolved nitrogen ratio; MBC, microbial biomass carbon; MBN, microbial biomass nitrogen; MB-C:N, microbial biomass carbon/nitrogen ratio; Cmin, cumulative CO₂-C mineralized in 30-d; BR, basal respiration; qCO₂, metabolic quotient; KEN, KCI extractable inorganic (NO₃⁻ + NH₄⁺) nitrogen.

WEOC (r = 0.79). To this end, relative enrichment of POXC under reduced tillage systems over plow-treatments suggests greater accumulation and stabilization of SOM under the former. Accordingly, POXC pool can serve as a useful early indicator of SOC dynamics. Nevertheless, all cultivated treatments resulted in higher POXC/SOC as compared to GP. Greater microbial biomass and activity under GP could have rapidly oxidized or converted compounds within the POXC pools into more stabilized SOC forms (Wang et al., 2017).

Lower levels of WEOC and TDN were observed under cultivated treatments than under GP, mostly due to depletion of SOM levels with soil cultivation (Gregorich et al., 2000; Haynes, 2000). WEOM reflects the equilibrium between soluble and solid phases of SOM, whereby the amounts of native SOM primarily determines the production and concentration of WEOM (Flessa et al., 2000; Gregorich et al., 2000). Higher WEOM pools under GP could also be attributed to several other factors including higher soil water content and pH that increase the solubility of SOM (Table 1; Chantigny, 2003). Within the cultivated treatments, NT and DT/CT had significantly higher WEOC levels than plow-treatments. This is in accordance with earlier findings of Dou et al. (2008) and Carrillo-Gonzalez et al. (2013), where intensive tillage depleted WEOC levels by 41 and 37%, respectively, compared to NT. Intensive soil mixing breaks down soil macroaggregates and exposes microaggregate protected WEOC to microbial decomposition (Six et al., 2000; Dou et al., 2008). Studies have suggested that recent additions of SOM from residues can also contribute to WEOM, apart from native and more stabilized SOM pools (Flessa et al., 2000). This could be supported by strong and significant correlation of WEOC with POM-C (r = 0.78, P < 0.001), comparable to those found with bulk SOC (r = 0.78) or POXC (r = 0.79). Moreover, the production of WEOM is also believed to be microbially mediated (Gregorich et al., 2000), which is corroborated by the observed significant correlation between WEOC and MBC (r = 0.67). To this end, increases in WEOC with reduced tillage systems could be attributed to greater levels of POXC, POM-C, and microbial pools. Nevertheless, despite such evidence, relative contributions of native and recent SOM to WEOM pools may be clearly distinguished using advanced technologies, such as C isotope, which deserves further investigation.

No significant tillage induced changes in TDN or KEN were found, probably suggesting similar N-cycling rates across tillage gradients. The net result of significant variation in WEOC and no effect in TDN was that the values of WEOC:TDN were generally higher under reduced tillage than plow-tillage treatments, following a trend similar to MBC:MBN (discussed below). The WEOC:TDN ratio provides a hint of the quality of WEOM where the decline in WEOC:TDN ratio is usually associated with increased bioavailability of WEOM (Cookson et al., 2008). In the present study, the values of WEOC:TDN ranged from 7.28 to 9.30, lower than the reported range of 16 \pm 4 for a able soils by Christou et al. (2005). Concentrations of WEOC and TDN may differ depending upon the type of extracting solution used, presenting a challenge when comparing WEOM pools across studies (Carrillo-Gonzalez et al., 2013). In addition, lower ratios observed in this study could be due to inclusion of soluble inorganic N in the computation of WEOM, as opposed to using only soluble organic N-pool. The values for WEOC/SOC and TDN/TN measured in this study are greater than the reported ranges of 0.05-0.40% for WEOC/SOC and 0.15–0.19% for TDN/TN in agricultural soils by Haynes (2005), probably due to variations in soil type and management.

As expected, GP soil contained highest C- and N-values in microbial biomass compared to cultivated soils because GP had greater SOM content. Among the cultivated treatments, the increase in MBC under reduced tillage systems compared to FP is attributed to greater C source availability (POM-C, POXC, and WEOC) and favorable soil environmental conditions for microbial activity (Wardle, 1992; Purakayastha et al., 2009). Crop residue accumulation at the soil surface not only provided organic C substrates for microbial biomass, but reduced soil disturbance likely favored the formation of stable soil aggregates that protected microbial biomass against soil temperature and water fluctuations (Collins et al., 1992; Franzluebbers et al., 1995; Balota et al., 2003). Nevertheless, SP exhibited intermediate MBC between reduced tillage systems and FP. Under FP, residue was plowed down immediately after crop harvest in the fall, while residue was incorporated only at seeding in the following spring under SP. Therefore, delaying residue incorporation under SP provided greater C-substrate availability for microbial biomass than FP. However, soil mixing of residue under SP accelerated residue decomposition and resulted in less C-substrate availability for microbes than reduced tillage systems, where residue left at soil surface provided steady C-source to microbes.

Although not significant, soil microbial N was higher under FP and SP than under NT and DT/CT, probably due to slightly greater assimilation of N from POM-N and WEOM with plowtreatments. Similarly, no significant changes were observed on both MBC/SOC- and MBN/TN-values among treatments. Consequently, it appeared that plow-tillage systems tended to have slightly lower MBC/SOC but higher MBN/TN than corresponding values under reduced tillage treatments. In fact, the percentage of SOM as MBC and MBN followed patterns similar to the absolute values for microbial biomass among the cultivated soils. Our results follow the trend reported by Balota et al. (2003), where plowing resulted in lower MBC and MBC/SOC levels than those measured under NT. Changes in proportions of microbial biomass C and N in SOM mainly arise due to differences in organic matter inputs (both quality and amount), and their availability to microorganisms (Anderson and Domsch, 1989). Using isotopic technology, other researchers have corroborated that C and N of microbial biomass are more closely associated with C and N of added residue than bulk soil C and N, suggesting that residue provide most of the microbial energy and nutrient requirements (Flessa et al., 2000; Gregorich et al., 2000). Soil mixing of residues under plowtreatments increases accessibility and availability of substrates to soil microbes and thereby enhances residue decomposition. However, low C but high N levels assimilated by soil microbes under plow-treatments would relate to more losses of C from soil via microbial respiration and greater risk of N leakage out of the soil system. Conversely, greater conversion efficiency of C into microbial biomass but with low N assimilation under reduced tillage treatments would imply more stabilization of organic C and slow release of N in soil. Overall, soil microbes are sustained for longer periods under reduced tillage with steady supply of substrates. Nevertheless, GP generally had low MBC/SOC but high MBN/TN-values compared to cultivated treatments. Wheat-pea residues in cultivated systems are likely more biodegradable compared to residues in GP. Addition of C-rich residues (high C:N) in soil would reduce microbial utilization efficiency of C, while increasing microbial N use efficiency and retention (Mooshammer et al., 2014). In our study, MBC represented 2.84-3.12% of total SOC, and MBN represented 3.3-5.3% of TN. Comparable values were reported for the same site in an earlier study (Collins et al., 1992), and for similar soils and management systems in eastern Washington (Purakayastha et al., 2008).

The trend observed for microbial biomass proportions in bulk SOM among treatments was further reflected in corresponding TABLE 6 | F-statistic and total variability (R²) of the best stepwise multiple linear regression model for predicting soil organic carbon (SOC).

Response variable	Full mo	del			Final model	
	Predictors [†]	F-statistic	R ²	Predictors [†]	F-statistic	R ²
SOC	POM-C, POM-N, POXC, WEOC, MBC, BR, Cmin, <i>q</i> CO ₂	9.7	0.74	POXC, WEOC	34.9	0.69

[†] Predictors are POM-C, particulate organic matter carbon; POM-N, particulate organic matter nitrogen; POXC, permanganate oxidizable carbon; WEOC, water extractable organic carbon; MBC, microbial biomass carbon; BR, basal respiration; Cmin, cumulative carbon mineralized in 30-d; qCO₂, metabolic quotient.

MBC:MBN-values. The values of microbial biomass C:N were generally higher under NT and DT/CT than under SP and FP. Similar results were observed by Balota et al. (2004), where increased tillage disturbance reduced microbial biomass C:Nvalues. Microbial biomass C:N ratio has been frequently used to define microbial community structure. A decline in microbial C:N is correlated with a gradual shift from fungal to bacterial predominance in microbial biomass because fungi have relatively higher C-demand than bacteria, whereas bacteria are more constrained by nutrient ratios (Cleveland and Liptzin, 2007). Fungal predominance in soils would lead to increased soil aggregation, greater accumulation, and stabilization of SOM, and improved nutrient cycling (Cookson et al., 2008).

The values of basal respiration (BR) and Cmin were highly correlated and had similar trends in all treatments (**Table 5**). It is worth noting that the relationships of BR with Cmin generally improved with increasing Cmin incubation time (data not shown). This could be due to the 7-d pre-incubation used before determining BR. Cmin was computed without accounting for such pre-incubation period. In addition, other studies have indicated that disturbances during soil sampling and processing could artificially stimulate and thereby overestimate values of C mineralization by exposing protected SOM in soils, especially under reduced tillage systems (Franzluebbers et al., 1995; Balota et al., 2004). However, the amounts of CO₂-C evolution under plow-tillage treatments should reflect the field conditions.

Nevertheless, cultivated treatments had lower BR and Cmin than GP, which could be attributed to greater C availability and microbial biomass under GP (Fernandes et al., 2005). Higher pH, lower bulk density, and greater available water content of GP soils could have also favored greater soil microbial biomass and activity (Table 1; Franzluebbers, 1995; Jensen et al., 1997). Accordingly, among cultivated treatments, the lowest values of BR and Cmin under FP could be related to low MBC and C-availability (POXC, POM-C, WEOC) in this treatment. A similar result was observed for Cmin/SOC proportion, where FP exhibited the least value. Residue under FP was plowed under soon after crop harvest compared to SP treatment where residue was plowed down in spring of following year. Residues start decomposing immediately after incorporation under FP resulting in less C-substrate in this treatment compared to SP (Machado et al., 2006). On the other hand, higher microbial activity under reduced tillage systems can be attributed to more residues and MBC in the top soil compared to FP. Microbial activity was, however, comparable between reduced tillage treatments and SP. Recent mixing of residues under SP could have resulted in the flush of microbial activity (Franzluebbers, 1995; Franzluebbers

et al., 1995). In general, high microbial activity in soil is regarded as improvement in soil health. However, studies have also suggested that the values of BR and Cmin can either provide an estimate of soil microbial index associated with the availability of large pools of C substrates, or relate to an ecological disorder (Aziz et al., 2013). Soil microbial index is considered a proxy for organic carbon cycling and its associated nutrients such as N, P, and S, indicating that higher microbial activity reflected greater soil productivity and vice-versa (Fernandes et al., 2005). Conversely, soils under ecophysiological disorder may also increase microbial respiration, as a mechanism to meet energy demand for cell integrity and maintenance by microbial biomass. Therefore, relating microbial activity with corresponding microbial biomass size (soil respiration per unit MBC or qCO_2) may explain if a particular system is aggrading or degrading SOM (Fernandes et al., 2005).

Metabolic quotient (qCO₂) showed significant variation among treatments, with FP and SP measuring lowest and highest rates, respectively, and intermediate rates under GP, NT, and DT/CT. qCO₂ represents microbial utilization efficiency of soil C or C energy usage for maintaining metabolic activity (respiration) in relation to microbial growth. Therefore, lowest qCO2 rate under FP could be related to reduced microbial biomass (MBC) and its corresponding low microbial activity, as a result of Csubstrate limitation from fall-plowing of residue (Balota et al., 2003). Such observation indicates that FP treatment would result in the lowest SOC accumulation. Compared to FP, qCO2 rate increased slightly under NT, but significantly under other treatments and this was attributed to corresponding increases in both microbial biomass and activity. Soil microbial activity (BR and Cmin) demonstrated positive correlation with MBC (Table 5). But interestingly, SP had the highest qCO_2 rate among the treatments and that was significantly so when compared to qCO₂ under NT. These results imply that during the metabolism of available SOM, SP would have greater proportion of CO2-C respiration losses and lower C assimilation into microbial biomass as compared to NT. Conversely, reduced tillage systems would likely increase SOM storage and improve nutrient cycling compared to spring plowing (Balota et al., 2003; Mooshammer et al., 2014).

It is also worth noting that neither microbial biomass nor its activity (BR, Cmin, qCO_2) had any correlation with labile N-pools, including TDN, KEN, WEON, and MBN. Instead, these microbiological pools demonstrated significant correlations with SOC pools. These results suggested that microbial activity was primarily regulated by the availability of C-substrates across tillage gradients. Accordingly, relatively higher C-availability in NT treatment could have counter-balanced low soil pH effects on microbial biomass and its activity.

Overall, the study demonstrated that differences in bulk SOM (SOC and TN) of surface 0-15 cm soil was influenced by land use practices (GP vs. cultivated soils). However, no significant changes in bulk SOM levels were observed among cultivated treatments (tillage systems) within WP-LTE. Conversely, almost all SOC pools responded to tillage as well as to land-use. TN pools, with the exception of POM-N, were not influenced by tillage. These results suggested that tillage induced changes were probably associated more with long-term SOC sequestration than N-availability in soil under wheat-pea rotation. The SOM pools showed significant relationships among each other and with SOC and TN. These results are in accordance with those reported by Morrow et al. (2016), who observed that POXC, WEOC, WEON, MBC, MBN, Cmin (24-d), N-mineralization, acid hydrolysable, and non-hydrolysable C- and -N, SOC, and TN were all positively correlated with each other across soils under diverse agroecosystems within the iPNW. Similarly, significant interrelationships among SOM pools have also been reported in other arable soils in different agroecoregions (Cookson et al., 2008; Dou et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2009; Culman et al., 2012; Awale et al., 2013; Hurisso et al., 2016). Nevertheless, in the present study, C-pools were more strongly correlated with SOM compared to N-pools. These results corroborate previous findings that physical (POM), chemical (POXC and WEOC), and microbiological (MBC, BR, Cmin, and qCO₂) pools of SOM are relatively more sensitive to tillage disturbance than total SOC and TN (Balota et al., 2003; Cookson et al., 2008; Awale et al., 2013). Among these sensitive SOC pools, POXC and WEOC exhibited highest correlations with SOC and TN. In addition, among all the sensitive SOM pools, stepwise regression analyses selected the combination of POXC and WEOC pools as the best predictors of SOC. These results identified POXC and WEOC pools as the most sensitive SOM pools to tillage under the wheat-pea cropping system near Pendleton, Oregon.

CONCLUSIONS

Our study demonstrated that physical (POM), chemical (POXC and WEOC), and microbiological (MBC, BR, Cmin, and

REFERENCES

- Anderson, T., and Domsch, K. H. (1989). Ratios of microbial biomass carbon to total organic carbon in arable soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 21, 471–479. doi: 10.1016/0038-0717(89)90117-X
- Awale, R., and Chatterjee, A. (2015). Soil moisture controls the denitrification loss of urea nitrogen from silty clay soil. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 46, 2100–2110. doi: 10.1080/00103624.2015.1069317
- Awale, R., and Chatterjee, A. (2017). Enhanced efficiency nitrogen products influence ammonia volatilization and nitrous oxide emission from two contrasting soils. *Agron. J.* 109, 47–57. doi: 10.2134/agronj2016.04.0219
- Awale, R., Chatterjee, A., and Franzen, D. (2013). Tillage and N-fertilizer influences on selected organic carbon fractions in a North Dakota silty clay soil. *Soil Till. Res.* 134, 213–222. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2013.08.006

qCO₂) pools of SOM were more sensitive to long-term tillage management practices than bulk SOC and TN under a wheatpea rotation. However, microbial measurements can exhibit seasonal variation due to changes in soil water content and temperature, and caution should be taken when extrapolating the results of this study to other situations (Collins et al., 1992; Fernandes et al., 2005). Analysis of microbiological SOM pools at different times during the season should provide more information needed for management decisions. Chemical pools of SOM were more sensitive than microbiological and physical indicators of tillage induced SOM dynamics. Therefore, given the complexity and time required to determine microbial pools, we recommend use of POXC or WEOC in the early detection of SOM trends for the purposes of adjusting management practices to enhance SOC accretion and improving soil health. From the perspective of long-term SOM storage, fall-plowing (FP) would likely contribute the least among all tillage systems studied. Differences in SOM storage between NT and reduced tillage (DT/CT) management are likely to continue to be negligible, reflecting the minimum disturbance nature of DT/CT. While these reduced tillage systems exhibit superiority over FP and SP in building up SOM, delaying tillage until spring (SP) sequestered more C than FP. Overall, adoption of reduced tillage systems (NT and DT/CT) should increase SOM storage under wheat-pea cropping system overtime in the iPNW.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RA and SM: Conceived and designed the experiment. RA and ME: Performed the experiment. RA and SM: Analyzed data and wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This paper is based on work that is supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture, U.S. Department of Agriculture, under award no. 2011-68002-30191 and additional support from the Columbia Basin Agricultural Research Center. We are thankful to Larry Pritchett and Rodney Miller for assistance with laboratory analyses.

- Aziz, I., Mahmood, T., and Islam, K. R. (2013). Effect of long term no-till and conventional tillage practices on soil quality. *Soil Till. Res.* 131, 28–35. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2013.03.002
- Balota, E. L., Filho, A. C., Andrade, D. S., and Dick, R. P. (2003). Microbial biomass in soils under different tillage and crop rotation systems. *Biol. Fert. Soils* 38, 15–20. doi: 10.1007/s00374-003-0590-9
- Balota, E. L., Filho, A. C., Andrade, D. S., and Dick, R. P. (2004). Long-term tillage and crop rotation effects on microbial biomass and C and N mineralization in a Brazilian Oxisol. *Soil Till. Res.* 77, 137–145. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2003. 12.003
- Beniston, J. W., DuPont, S. T., Glover, J. D., Lal, R., and Dungait, J. A. J. (2014). Soil organic carbon dynamics 75 years after land-use change in perennial grassland and annual wheat agricultural systems. *Biogeochemistry* 120, 37–49. doi: 10.1007/s10533-014-9980-3

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

11

- Blake, G. R., and Hartge, K. H. (1986). "Bulk density," in *Methods of Soil Analysis*, *Part 1: Physical and Mineralogical Methods*, ed A. Klute (Madison, WI: ASA, Inc. & SSSA, Inc.), 363–367.
- Carrillo-Gonzalez, R., Gonzalez-Chavez, M. C. A., Aitkenhead-Peterson, J. A., Hons, F. M., and Loeppert, R. H. (2013). Extractable, DOC, and DON from a dry-land long-term rotation and cropping system in Texas, USA. *Geoderma* 197–198, 79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2012. 12.019
- Chantigny, M. H. (2003). Dissolved and water-extractable organic matter in soils: a review on the influence of land use and management practices. *Geoderma* 113, 357–380. doi: 10.1016/S0016-7061(02)00370-1
- Chen, H., Hou, R., Gong, Y., Li, H., Fan, M., and Kuzyakov, Y. (2009). Effects of 11 years of conservation tillage on soil organic matter fractions in wheat monoculture in Loess Plateau of China. *Soil Till. Res.* 106, 85–94. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2009.09.009
- Christou, M., Avramides, E. J., Roberts, J. P., and Jones, D. L. (2005). Dissolved organic nitrogen in contrasting agricultural ecosystems. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 37, 1560–1563. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.01.025
- Cleveland, C. C., and Liptzin, D. (2007). C:N:P stoichiometry in soil: is there a "Redfield ratio" for the microbial biomass. *Biogeochemistry* 85, 235–252. doi: 10.1007/s10533-007-9132-0

Collins, H. P., Rasmussen, P. E., and Douglas C. L. Jr. (1992). Crop rotation and residue management effects on soil carbon and microbial dynamics. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 56, 783–788. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1992.03615995005600030018x

- (CBARC) (2016). *Data from: CBARC-Pendleton Coop Weather Data*. Available online at: http://cbarc.aes.oregonstate.edu/
- Cookson, W. R., Murphy, D. V., and Roper, M. M. (2008). Characterizing the relationships between soil organic matter components and microbial function and composition along a tillage disturbance gradient. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 40, 763–777. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.10.011
- Culman, S. W., Snapp, S. S., Freeman, M. A., Schipanski, M. E., Beniston, J., Lal, R., et al. (2012). Permanganate oxidizable carbon reflects a processed soil fraction that is sensitive to management. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 76, 494–504. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2011.0286
- Culman, S. W., Snapp, S. S., Green, J. M., and Gentry, L. E. (2013). Short- and long-term labile soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics reflect management and predict corn agronomic performance. *Agron. J.* 105, 493–502. doi: 10.2134/agronj2012.0382
- Dou, F., Wright, A. L., and Hons, F. M. (2008). Sensitivity of labile soil organic carbon to tillage in wheat-based cropping systems. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 72, 1445–1453. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2007.0230
- Feng, G., Sharratt, B., and Yound, F. (2011). Soil properties governing soil erosion affected by cropping systems in the U.S. Pacific Northwest. *Soil Till. Res.* 111, 168–174. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2010.09.008
- Fernandes, S. A. P., Bettiol, W., and Cerri, C. C. (2005). Effect of sewage sludge on microbial biomass, basal respiration, metabolic quotient and soil enzymatic activity. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 30, 65–77. doi: 10.1016/j.apsoil.2004.03.008
- Flessa, H., Ludwig, B., Heil, B., and Merbach, M. (2000). The origin of soil organic C, dissolved organic C and respiration in a long-term maize experiment in Halle, Germany, determined by 13C natural abundance. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* 163, 157–163. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1522-2624(200004)163:2<157::AID-JPLN157>3.0.CO;2-9
- Franzluebbers, A. J. (1995). Potential C and N mineralization and microbial biomass from intact and increasingly disturbed soils of varying texture. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 31, 1083–1090. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(99)00022-X
- Franzluebbers, A. J., Hons, F. M., and Zuberer, D. A. (1995). Tillage and crop effects on seasonal dynamics of soil CO₂ evolution, water content, temperature, and bulk density. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 2, 95–109. doi: 10.1016/0929-1393(94)00044-8
- Fuentes, J. P., Flury, M., and Bezdicek, D. F. (2004). Hydraulic properties in a silt loam soil under natural prairie, conventional till, and no-till. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am.* J. 68, 1679–1688. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2004.1679
- Ghimire, R., Machado, S., and Bista, P. (2017). Soil pH, soil organic matter, and crop yields in winter wheat-summer fallow systems. *Agron. J.* 109, 1–12. doi: 10.2134/agronj2016.08.0462
- Ghimire, R., Machado, S., and Rhinhart, K. (2015). Long-term crop residue and nitrogen management effects on soil profile carbon and nitrogen in wheat-fallow systems. *Agron. J.* 107, 2230–2240. doi: 10.2134/agronj14.0601

- Gregorich, E. G., Beare, M. H., McKim, U. F., and Skjemstad, J. O. (2006). Chemical and biological characteristics of physically uncomplexed organic matter. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 70, 975–985. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2005.0116
- Gregorich, E. G., Liang, B. C., Drury, C. F., Mackenzie, A. F., and McGill, W. B. (2000). Elucidation of the source and turnover of water soluble and microbial biomass carbon in agricultural soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 32, 581–587. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(99)00146-7
- Haynes, R. J. (2000). Labile organic matter as an indicator of organic matter quality in arable and pastoral soils in New Zealand. Soil Biol. Biochem. 32, 211–219. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(99)00148-0
- Haynes, R. J. (2005). Labile organic matter fractions as central components of the quality of agricultural components of the quality of agricultural soils: an overview. Adv. Agron. 85, 221–268. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2113(04)85005-3
- Hurisso, T. T., Culman, S. W., Howarth, W. R., Wade, J., Cass, D., Beniston, J. W., et al. (2016). Comparison of permanganate-oxidizable carbon and mineralizable carbon for assessment of organic matter stabilization and mineralization. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 80, 1352–1364. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2016.04.0106
- Jenkinson, D. S., and Powlson, D. S. (1976). The effects of biocidal treatment on metabolism in soil. V. A method for measuring soil biomass. Soil Biol. Biochem. 8, 209–213. doi: 10.1016/0038-0717(76)90005-5
- Jensen, L. S., Mueller, T., Magid, J., and Nielsen, N. E. (1997). Temporal variation of C and N mineralization, microbial biomass and extractable organic pools in soil after oilseed rape straw incorporation in the field. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 29, 1043–1055. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(97)00014-X
- Lal, R. (2004). Carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change. *Geoderma* 123, 1–22. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2004.01.032
- Machado, S. (2011). Soil organic carbon dynamics in the pendleton long-term experiments: implications for biofuel production in Pacific Northwest. *Agron. J.* 103, 253–260. doi: 10.2134/agronj2010.0205s
- Machado, S., Petrie, S., Rhinhart, K., and Ramig, R. E. (2008). Tillage effects on water use and grain yield of winter wheat and green pea in rotation. *Agron. J.* 100, 165–162. doi: 10.2134/agrojnl2006.0218
- Machado, S., Pritchett, L., and Petrie, S. (2015). No-tillage cropping systems can replace traditional summer fallow in north-central Oregon. *Agron. J.* 107, 1863–1877. doi: 10.2134/agronj14.0511
- Machado, S., Rhinhart, K., and Petrie, S. (2006). Long-term cropping system effects on carbon sequestration in eastern Oregon. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1548–1553. doi: 10.2134/jeq2005.0201
- Maynard, D. G., Kalra, Y. P., and Crumbaugh, J. A. (2008). "Nitrate and exchangeable ammonium nitrogen," in *Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis*, eds M. R. Carter and E. G. Gregorich (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press), 71–80.
- Mooshammer, M., Wanek, W., Hammerle, I., Fuchsluegger, L., Hofhansl, F., Knoltsch, A., et al. (2014). Adjustment of microbial nitrogen use efficiency to carbon:nitrogen imbalances regulates soil nitrogen cycling. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 3694. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4694
- Morrow, J. G., Huggins, D. R., Carpenter-Boggs, L. A., and Reganold, J. P. (2016). Evaluating measures to assess soil health in long-term agroecosystem trials. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 80, 450–462. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2015.08.0308
- Payne, W. A., Rasmussen, P. E., Chen, C., Goller, R., and Ramig, R. E. (2000). Precipitation, temperature and tillage effects upon productivity of a winter wheat-dry pea rotation. *Agron. J.* 92, 933–937. doi: 10.2134/agronj2000.925933x
- Purakayastha, T. J., Huggins, D. R., and Smith, J. L. (2008). Carbon sequestration in native prairie, perennial grass, no-till and cultivated Palouse silt loam. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 72, 534–540. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2005.0369
- Purakayastha, T. J., Smith, J. L., and Huggins, D. R. (2009). Microbial biomass and N cycling under native prairie, conservation reserve and no-tillage in Palouse soils. *Geoderma* 152, 283–289. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2009.06.013
- Sherrod, L. A., Reeder, J. D., Hunter, W., and Ahuja, L. R. (2012). Rapid and costeffective method for soil carbon mineralization in static laboratory incubations. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plan.* 43, 958–972. doi: 10.1080/00103624.2012.653031
- Six, J., Elliott, E. T., and Paustian, K. (2000). Soil macroaggregate turnover and microaggregate formation: a mechanism for C sequestration under no-tillage agriculture. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 32, 2099–2103. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00179-6
- Soil Survey Staff (2014). *Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 12th Edn.* Washington, DC: USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service.

- Sollins, P., Glassman, C., Paul, E. A., Swanston, C., Lajtha, K., Heil, J. W., et al. (1999). "Soil carbon and nitrogen: pools and fractions," in *Standard Soil Methods for Long-Term Ecological Research*, eds G. P. Robertson, D. C. Coleman, C. S. Bledsoe, and P. Sollins (New York, NY: Oxford University Press, Inc.), 89–105.
- Wang, F., Weil, R. R., and Nan, X. (2017). Total and permanganate-oxidizable organic carbon in the corn rooting zone of US Coastal Plain soil as affected by forage radish cover crops and N fertilizer. *Soil Till. Res.* 165, 247–257. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2016.08.022
- Wang, J., and Sainju, U. M. (2014). Soil carbon and nitrogen fractions and crop yields affected by residue placement and crop types. *PLoS ONE* 9:e105039. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0105039
- Wardle, D. A. (1992). A comparative assessment of factors which influence microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen levels in soil. *Biol. Rev.* 67, 321–358. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-185X.1992.tb00728.x
- Weil, R. R., Islam, K. R., Stine, M. A., Gruver, J. B., and Samson-Liebig, S. E. (2003). Estimating active carbon for soil quality assessment: a simplified method for laboratory and field use. *Am. J. Altern. Agr.* 18, 3–17. doi: 10.1079/AJAA2003003
- West, T. O., and Post, W. M. (2002). Soil organic carbon sequestration rates by tillage and crop rotation: a global data analysis. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 66, 1963–1946. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2002.1930

- Williams, J. D., Gollany, H. T., Siemens, M. C., Wuest, S. B., and Long, D. S. (2009). Comparison of runoff, soil erosion, and winter wheat yields from no-till and inversion tillage production systems in northeastern Oregon. *J. Soil Water Conserv.* 64, 43–52. doi: 10.2489/jswc.64.1.43
- Young, F. L., Ogg, A. G. Jr., and Alldredge, J. R. (2014). Postharvest tillage reduces downy brome (*Bromus tectorum* L.) infestations in winter wheat. *Weed Technol.* 28, 418–425. doi: 10.1614/WT-D-13-00151.1
- Zotarelli, L., Alves, B. J. R., Urquiaga, S., Boddey, R. M., and Six, J. (2007). Impact of tillage and crop rotation on light fraction and intra-aggregate soil organic matter in two oxisols. *Soil Till. Res.* 95, 196–206. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2007. 01.002

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Awale, Emeson and Machado. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Assessment of Climate Change and Atmospheric CO₂ Impact on Winter Wheat in the Pacific Northwest Using a Multimodel Ensemble

Mukhtar Ahmed^{1,2}, Claudio O. Stöckle^{1*}, Roger Nelson¹ and Stewart Higgins¹

¹ Biological Systems Engineering, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ² Department of Agronomy, Pir Mehr Ali Shah Arid Agriculture University, Rawalpindi, Pakistan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Urs Feller, University of Bern, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Henry Allen Walker, Environmental Protection Agency, United States Qingwu Xue, Texas A&M Agrilife Research, United States

> *Correspondence: Claudio O. Stöckle stockle@wsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 20 January 2017 Accepted: 08 May 2017 Published: 29 May 2017

Citation:

Ahmed M, Stöckle CO, Nelson R and Higgins S (2017) Assessment of Climate Change and Atmospheric CO₂ Impact on Winter Wheat in the Pacific Northwest Using a Multimodel Ensemble. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5:51. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00051 Simulations of crop yields under climate change are subject to uncertainties whose quantification is important for effective use of projected results for adaptation and mitigation strategies. In the US Pacific Northwest (PNW), studies based on single crop models and weather projections downscaled from a few general circulation models (GCM) have indicated mostly beneficial effects of climate change on winter wheat production for most of the twenty-first century. In this study we evaluated the uncertainty in the projection of winter wheat yields at seven sites in the PNW using five crop growth simulation models (CropSyst, APSIM, DSSAT, STICS, and EPIC) and daily weather data downscaled from 14 GCMs for 2 representative concentration pathways (RCP) of atmospheric CO₂ (RCP4.5 and 8.5). All crop models were calibrated for high, medium, and low precipitation dryland sites and one irrigated site using 1979-2010 as the baseline period. All five models were run from years 2000 to 2100 to evaluate the effect of future conditions (precipitation, temperature and atmospheric CO_2) on winter wheat grain yield. Simulations of future climatic conditions and impacts were organized into three 31-year periods centered around the years 2030, 2050, and 2070. All models predicted a decrease of the growing season length and crop transpiration, and increase in transpiration-use efficiency, biomass production, and yields, but with substantial variation that increased from the 2030s to 2070s. Most of the uncertainty (up to 85%) associated with predictions of yield was due to variation among the crop models. Maximum uncertainty due to GCMs was 15% which was less than the maximum uncertainty associated with the interaction between the crop model effect and GCM effect (25%). Large uncertainty associated with the interaction between crop models and GCMs indicated that the effect of GCM on yield varied among the five models. The mean of the ensemble of all crop models and GCMs provided a robust indication of positive effects of future environmental conditions on winter wheat yield during this century at all sites studied, with greater beneficial effect under water stressed conditions than under well-watered conditions, and under RCP8.5 than RCP4.5.

Keywords: climate change, CO_2 fertilization, crop-climate models, multimodel ensemble, uncertainty, winter wheat

INTRODUCTION

Climate change is a major concern for crop productivity. The chief elements of climate change include rising temperature, modified frequency, and severity of extreme events, and elevated atmospheric concentration of CO2 (Rosenzweig and Tubiello, 2007). Concentrations of CO_2 are now significantly higher than in earlier years and they have been increasing continuously and rapidly (Siegenthaler et al., 2005). Agriculture is one of the sensitive sectors to climate variability and change (Slingo et al., 2005; Osborne et al., 2013). Climate change has affected crop growth, development and yield over the past few decades across the globe directly or indirectly (Nicholls, 1997; Lobell and Asner, 2003; Challinor and Wheeler, 2008a; Teixeira et al., 2013). Direct effects are due to increased CO_2 fertilization which leads to higher photosynthetic rate and water use efficiency (Challinor and Wheeler, 2008b). Indirect effects include crop responses to variability in temperature and precipitation. Higher seasonal temperature increases the risk of water stress, limits photosynthesis, and reduces light interception by accelerating crop phenological development (Tubiello et al., 2007).

Wheat is the third largest crop globally, which has shown particular sensitivity to climate change (Porter and Semenov, 2005), yet increased wheat yield has also been reported for some regions of the world because of increased growth rates and a shift of the grain filling period to a wetter part of the season (Xiao et al., 2010).

Mechanistic process-based crop models are common tools for assessing the impact of climate change on crop productivity, incorporating physiological responses of crop growth and development to environmental and management variables. Different crop models have been used to study climate change impact on crop production across the globe but with mixed results (Lobell and Burke, 2010). The assessment of climate change impacts on agriculture often has been conducted using

TABLE 1 | Modeling approaches of five models used for a study of climate change effects on crop performance in the Pacific Northwest.

Model characteristic	Crop model									
	CropSyst	APSIM	DSSAT	EPIC	STICS					
Crop phenology ^a	f (TPV)	f (TPVW)	f (TPV)	f (TPV)	f (TPVO)					
Leaf area development and Light interception ^b	S	D	D	S	D					
Light utilization/Biomass production ^c	TE /RUE	RUE/TE	RUE	RUE	RUE					
Biomass partitioning ^d	None	PCD	PCD	None	PCD					
Yield formation ^e	B, HI	Prt, B, Gn, LHI	B, Gn, HI	B, HI	B, Gn, HI					
Root distribution over depth ^f	LIN	EXPO	EXPO	EXPO	SIG					
Stresses ^g	WNH	WAH	WN	WNO	WNH					
Water stress type ^h	Е	S	E	E	S					
Heat stress type ⁱ	VR	V	-	V	VR					
Water dynamics ^j	С	С	С	С	С					
Water relation ^k	S	D	D	S	D					
Plant N budget ^l	S	D	D	S	D					
Evapotranspiration ^m	PM	PT	PM	PM	PT					
Soil CN model ⁿ	CNP(1)	CNP(3)B	CNP(4)B	CNP(5)	CNP(3)B					
CO ₂ effects ^o	RUE/TE/T	RUE/TE	RUE/TE	RUE/TE	RUE					
Model relative ^p	CRS	С	С	С	С					
Model typeq	Ρ	Р	Р	PG	Р					

^aCrop phenology is a function (f) of: T, temperature; P, photoperiod; V, vernalization; W, water stress; O, other water stress or nutrient stress.

^bLeaf area development and Light Interception: S, simple; D, detailed approach.

^cLight Utilization/Biomass Production: RUE, radiation use efficiency; TE, transpiration-use efficiency.

^dBiomass partitioning: PCD, detailed partitioning coefficients and more organs.

^e Yield Formation: B, total above ground biomass; HI, fixed harvest index; Prt, partitioning during reproductive stages; LHI, linear increase in harvest index; Gn, grain number. ^f Root distribution over depth: LIN, linear; EXPO, exponential; SIG, sigmoidal.

^g Stresses: W, water; N, nitrogen; H, heat; A, air (Oxygen); O, others (e.g. EPIC model considers stresses for both above ground (water, temperature, nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium stresses) and below ground growth [Bulk density, aluminum tolerance (Soil acidity), salinity, temperature and soil aeration)].

^hWater stress type: E, Eta/Etp; S, soil available water in root zone.

ⁱHeat stress type: V, vegetative (source); R, reproductive (sink).

^jWater Dynamics: C, Tipping bucket capacity approach.

^kWater relation: S, simple approach includes linear increase in root depth; D, detailed approach includes root growth and water absorption.

¹Plant N budget: S, simple from nitrogen dilution curve; D, detailed concentration curves for different organs over growth period.

^mEvapotranspiration: PM, Penman-Monteith; PT, Priestley-Taylor.

ⁿSoil CN model: N, nitrogen mode; P(x), x number of organic matter pools; B, microbial biomass pool.

^oCO₂ effects: RUE, radiation use efficiency; TE, transpiration efficiency; T, stomatal conductance.

^pModel relative: CRS, CropSyst; C, CERES

^qModel type: P, point model (site specific); G, global or regional model.

2

a combination of weather downloaded from general circulation models (GCM) and crop responses evaluated with cropping systems models (CSM), often one crop model and a few GCM projections. This approach has been applied to the US Pacific Northwest (PNW) with projections suggesting mostly beneficial effects of climate change on wheat production, especially winter varieties (Thomson et al., 2002; Stöckle et al., 2010). However, recent studies (e.g., Asseng et al., 2013; Martre et al., 2015; Ruane et al., 2016) have shown large variation in both GCM and CSM projections, which can introduce significant uncertainty in assessments of climate change impact on agriculture.

Based on results of a 27-wheat model comparison study, Asseng et al. (2013) reported that crop models were able to produce acceptable yield estimates compared to observations from single-year experiments for four diverse sites when properly calibrated. However, when changes in precipitation combined with increases in temperature and atmospheric CO₂ concentration were imposed on the same sites, a large variation in yield projections was obtained. Thus, Asseng et al. (2013) recommended the use of crop model ensembles, particularly when limited information about the crops and cropping systems involved is available, suggesting that at least five models should be used for reliable assessment of yield impacts for temperature increases up to 3°C and 540 ppm of CO₂, with fewer models needed for lower temperature increases and vice versa. Similar results have been reported for maize models (Bassu et al., 2014) and rice models (Li et al., 2015), where model ensembles appeared to perform better than individual models when compared with observations. Martre et al. (2015) concluded that there was no additional advantage of a model ensemble including more than 10 models. Bassu et al. (2014), in a study involving 23 maize models, concluded that a single model may not be able to simulate well absolute yields while an ensemble of 8-10 models is more likely to perform better if a small amount of information is available for calibration. Li et al. (2015) evaluated

13 rice models against experimental information and found that individual models were not consistent in reproducing observed yields, but an ensemble of five models properly calibrated was able to approximate measured yields within the uncertainty of well-controlled experiments.

Studies such as those of Asseng et al. (2013), Bassu et al. (2014), and Li et al. (2015) that include a large number of crop models for a given crop species are possible by the direct involvement of modelers and user groups. The customary use of large crop model ensembles as a standard practice in climate change assessments would be time consuming and costly (at least for now), and will require significant cooperation. In the meantime, securing adequate information on some key crop characteristics such as crop phenology, canopy cover [e.g., maximum leaf area index (LAI)], and rooting depth along with the use of a few models, well-documented and tested under a large range of conditions around the world, appears to be a reasonable approach.

With the interest of corroborating or disputing previous findings regarding climate change impacts on wheat production in the PNW, USA, in this study we evaluated the uncertainties in yield projections related to crop-climate models using 5 CSMs and 14 GCMs. Our primary focus was on the usefulness of applying a multimodel ensemble in the examination of future climate change in the IPNW. Toward this end, we excluded consideration of rotational effects and other effects related to farm management decisions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The impacts on winter wheat productivity at six dryland and one irrigated sites were evaluated using five well-established CSM (CropSyst, APSIM-Wheat, DSSAT CERES Wheat, EPIC, and STIC) and downscaled weather projections from 14 GCMs and 2 RCPs (RCP4.5 and 8.5).

TABLE 2 | General circulation models used to study dryland crop response to future climate change in the Inland Pacific Northwest.

General Circulation Model	Source	References
BCC-CSM1.1	Beijing Climate Center	Wu et al., 2014
BNU-ESM	Beijing Normal University Earth System Model	Ji et al., 2014
CanESM2	Canadian Centre for Climate Modeling and Analysis	Chylek et al., 2011.
CNRM-CM5	Centre National de Recherches Me'te'orologiques—Groupe d'e'tudes de l'Atmosphe're Me'te'orologique and Centre Europe'en de Recherche et de Formation Avance'e	Voldoire et al., 2013
CSIRO-Mk3-6-0	Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation and Queensland Climate Change Centre of Excellence	Jeffrey et al., 2013
GFDL-ESM2G	Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory Earth System Models	Dunne et al., 2013
GFDL-ESM2M	Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory Earth System Models	Delworth et al., 2006
HadGEM2-CC	Hadley Global Environment Model 2—Carbon Cycle	Martin et al., 2011
HadGEM2-ES	Hadley Global Environment Model 2—Earth System	Martin et al., 2011
INMCM4	Institute for Numerical Mathematics, Moscow, Russia	Voldin et al., 2010
MIROC5	Model for Interdisciplinary Research on Climate	Watanabe et al., 2010
MIROC-ESM	Model for Interdisciplinary Research on Climate, Earth System Model	Watanabe et al., 2011
MIROC-ESM-CHEM	Model for Interdisciplinary Research on Climate, Earth System Model	Watanabe et al., 2011
MRI-CGCM3	Meteorologcical Research Institute	Yukimoto et al., 2012

두
ō
z
<u>i</u>
<u>.</u>
Ъа
e
÷
Ē
е
2
a
E
ē
P
<u>a</u>
9
5
ç
0
ŝ
ě
eff
ð
ğ
ar
등
ø
at
<u> </u>
Ö
ę
ž
Р
st
a
2
Ŧ
ě
ns
s
fe
0
÷
Ę
ŝ
e
Š
ő
ę
ŝ
Ę
Ľ.
tel
S
ars
ų
0
8
щ
В
N
-

<i>v</i> ,

4

Soil name

Aridisol

Aridisol

Aridisol

Mollisol

Mollisol

Mollisol

Mollisol

May 2017 | Volume 5 | Article 51

Characteristics				Study site			
	Pullman	Kambitsch	Wilke	St. John	Lind	Moro	Moses Lake (irrigated)
Position atitude/longitude/altitude	46° 78′/—117° 09′/ 796.75	46°58'/116°95'/ 848.86	47°65′/—118°14′/ 743.71	47°09′/-117°58′/ 598.00	47° 00'/-118°56'/ 505.35	45°48'/-120°72'/ 566.92	47°31'/119°54'/ 389.00
n.a.s.r Average annual precipitation mm year ⁻¹)	590.3	685.2	354.7	437.4	261.1	296.3	205.0
Simulation period orecipitation (mm)	474.7	561.6	323.0	407.6	216.1	229.5	192.7
Average annual temperature ° C)	7.2	6.9	5.5	6.6	7.1	7.1	8.7
Soil texture	Silty Clay Loam	Silty Clay Loam	Coarse Silt Loam	Coarse Silt Loam	Coarse Silt Loam	Coarse Silt Loam	Sandy Loam
Sand (%)	12.0	7.6	11.0	11.0	21.7	14.2	48.9
Silt (%)	69.3	63.6	68.6	68.6	70.8	71.8	21.1
Clay (%)	18.7	28.7	20.4	20.4	7.5	14.0	30.0
Bulk density (g cm $^{-3}$)	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.4	1.4
Soil water at field capacity in he root zone $(m^3 m^{-3})$	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3
Soil water at wilting point in the root zone (m ³ m ⁻³)	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1

Study site	Crop trait				Predicted		
		Target range	APSIM	CropSyst	DSSAT	EPIC	STICS
Pullman	Emergence (DOY) [†]	295	295	295	295	295	295
	Anthesis time (DOY)	162	160	162	162	-	160
	Maturity time (DOY)	215	214	216	215	215	214
	LAI_{max}^{\dagger}	4.5-6.0	4.5-6.9	2.2-6.3	3.5-6.5	4.8-5.4	4.5-6.2
	Biomass at harvest (t ha $^{-1}$)	11.2-16.0	10.0-16.3	6.3–17.6	8.8–16.3	12.9–15.0	9.4–15.9
	Grain yield (t ha ⁻¹)	4.5-7.2	3.5-7.8	2.6-7.8	3.1–7.5	5.4-6.2	5.0-7.5
	HI [†]	0.40-0.45	0.35–0.45	0.41-0.44	0.36-0.45	0.40-0.42	0.35–0.46
Wilke	Emergence (DOY)	260	260	260	260	260	260
	Anthesis time (DOY)	150	149	150	150	-	150
	Maturity time (DOY)	200	199	200	200	200	200
	LAI _{max}	3.5-5.0	2.1-5.0	3.0-5.7	2.5-6.0	3.3-4.2	3.2-5.4
	Biomass at harvest (t ha $^{-1}$)	9.0-12.0	8.0-15.2	5.4-14.3	8.1–15.5	5.3-13.8	8.5-12.5
	Grain yield (t ha ⁻¹)	3.3-5.00	2.69-7.2	2.2-6.2	2.5-7.2	2.1-5.8	3.5–7.0
	HI	0.38–0.43	0.30-0.49	0.41-0.44	0.30-0.46	0.40-0.42	0.39–0.44
Lind	Emergence (DOY)	251	251	250	251	251	251
	Anthesis time (DOY)	143	143	143	143	143	143
	Maturity time (DOY)	191	191	191	191	191	191
	LAI _{max}	2.5-3.5	1.6-3.4	2.5-3.5	2.5-3.0	2.5-3.8	2.5–3.3
	Biomass at harvest (t ha $^{-1}$)	2.6-8.0	1.7-9.5	2.1-9.0	2.1-8.5	2.4-11.9	2.7-8.9
	Grain yield (t ha ⁻¹)	1.0-3.5	0.7-4.0	1.0-4.0	0.8–3.6	0.9–5.0	1.1-4.0
	HI	0.38–0.43	0.38-0.46	0.40-0.43	0.39–0.42	0.38-0.42	0.38–0.44
Moses Lake	Emergence (DOY)	251	251	251	251	251	251
	Anthesis time (DOY)	143	143	143	143	-	143
	Maturity time (DOY)	191	191	191	191	191	192
	LAI _{max}	6.0-7.0	4.5-6.5	4.9-7.0	5.5-6.5	4.6-5.3	5.9–7.0
	Biomass at harvest (t ha $^{-1}$)	16.5–20.0	14.4-22.2	14.5-21.7	12.3-21.9	14.2-21.0	16.0–20.6
	Grain yield (t ha ⁻¹)	7.5–9.5	6.0-9.0	6.5-11.4	5.0-10.6	6.0-8.9	7.1–8.2
	HI	0.45–0.48	0.35–0.45	0.44-0.45	0.38-0.48	0.41-0.42	0.37-0.49

TABLE 4 Target results for a series of five cropping system models used in a study of climate change effects on crop performance at several locations
in the Pacific Northwest.

[†] DOY, day of year; LAI_{max}, maximum leaf area index; HI, harvest index.

Crop Models

CropSyst

CropSyst is a multi-year, multi-crop, daily time-step cropping system model developed as an analytical tool to study the effect of climate, soil, and management on the productivity and environmental impact of cropping systems (Stöckle et al., 2003). The model can simulate crop development, growth and yield in response to weather, atmospheric CO₂ concentration, and management (crop rotations, fertilization, irrigation, tillage), and soil processes such as soil water dynamics, nitrogen budgets, soil erosion by water, and salinity. Details on the use, parametrization and execution of CropSyst are given on the website (http:// modeling.bsyse.wsu.edu/CS_Suite_4/CropSyst/index.html).

APSIM

The APSIM (Agricultural Production Systems Simulator) is a modeling framework developed by the Agricultural Production Systems Research Unit (APSRU) in Australia (Keating et al., 2003). APSIM was developed to simulate biophysical processes in farming systems, in particular where there is interest in the economic and ecological outcomes of management practice in the face of climatic risk (Keating et al., 2003). It was constructed on a modular modeling framework based on biophysical processes in farming systems with many plant, soil and management modules for a diverse range of crops, pastures and trees, soil processes including water balance, nitrogen and phosphorus transformations, soil pH, erosion, and a full range of management controls. Details of the model are included on the APSIM web site (https://www.apsim.info/Documentation.aspx). The APSIM-Wheat model version 6.1 (Wang et al., 2002; Keating et al., 2003) was used in this study.

DSSAT_CERES_Wheat

The CERES wheat model included in the DSSAT (Decision Support System for Agrotechnology Transfer) family of models is a complex model used to integrate knowledge about crops, soil, climate, and management for making appropriate decisions under a wide range of climatic conditions. It can be used to design TABLE 5 | Performance of five crop models under historical weather conditions (1979–2010) in simulating mean maximum leaf area index (LAI_{max}), above-ground biomass, grain yield and harvest index (HI) with standard deviation and coefficient of variation at three sites not used for model calibration in the Pacific Northwest.

Study site	Crop trait	APSIM			CropSyst		DSSAT		EPIC			STICS				
		Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	CV	Mean	SD	с٧
Kambitsch	LAI _{max} (m ² m ⁻²)	5.8	0.4	0.1	6.0	0.3	0.1	5.5	2.3	0.4	5.8	1.1	0.2	5.5	1.2	0.2
	Biomass (t ha ⁻¹)	13.9	2.5	0.2	16.4	2.1	0.1	13.6	3.2	0.2	14.0	2.7	0.2	14.6	2.1	0.2
	Yield (t ha ⁻¹)	5.8	1.2	0.2	7.2	1.0	0.1	6.0	1.2	0.2	5.7	1.1	0.2	6.6	1.0	0.2
	HI	0.42	0.04	0.10	0.44	0.01	0.02	0.45	0.05	0.11	0.40	0.01	0.02	0.46	0.06	0.13
Moro	LAI _{max} (m ² m ⁻²)	2.9	0.4	0.2	3.5	1.5	0.4	2.7	2.4	0.9	3.2	0.4	0.1	3.3	1.4	0.4
	Biomass (t ha ⁻¹)	6.5	1.6	0.3	6.2	2.6	0.4	6.7	3.3	0.5	6.7	2.6	0.4	6.3	2.6	0.4
	Yield (t ha ⁻¹)	2.7	0.7	0.3	2.6	1.1	0.4	2.8	1.5	0.5	2.8	1.1	0.4	2.9	1.6	0.6
	HI	0.42	0.02	0.04	0.42	0.01	0.02	0.42	0.05	0.12	0.42	0.05	0.11	0.47	0.19	0.40
St. John	LAI_{max} (m ² m ⁻²)	5.0	0.9	0.2	4.9	1.0	0.2	4.5	1.3	0.3	4.6	0.7	0.2	4.7	0.8	0.2
	Biomass (t ha ⁻¹)	15.2	1.4	0.1	11.0	2.7	0.3	12.0	2.6	0.2	10.4	2.3	0.2	11.7	1.4	0.1
	Yield (t ha ⁻¹)	6.2	1.1	0.2	4.7	1.2	0.3	5.3	1.3	0.2	4.3	1.0	0.2	4.7	0.8	0.2
	HI	0.41	0.04	0.10	0.43	0.01	0.03	0.45	0.08	0.18	0.41	0.01	0.02	0.40	0.04	0.10

optimum crop management practices, precision agriculture, and pest management. Similarly, it can be used to quantify responses to climate change and variability impacts on crop yield and to study long term sustainability, environmental pollution and genomics (Hoogenboom et al., 2012; http://dssat.net/).

EPIC

The EPIC (Environmental Policy Integrated Climate) model is a field scale soil and crop model originally designed to quantify the effects of erosion on soil productivity (Williams et al., 1984). It is a complete agroecosystem model that can simulate crop growth under different rotations while simulating detailed soil management operations. EPIC version 0810 was used in this study. Additional information on the EPIC model can be found at http://epicapex.tamu.edu/epic/.

STICS

The STICS crop growth model was developed by INRA, France (Brisson et al., 2003). The model can simulate carbon, water and nitrogen dynamics as well as a number of different environmental and agricultural variables in response to weather, soil, crop, and management practices. STICS is a generic model that can simulate various kinds of crops and environmental conditions. Options for plant parameters associated with detailed ecophysiological characteristics are adjusted to define a specific crop. Additional parameters are used to simulate physical and biological processes occurring in the soil-crop system and define soils, crop management and climate. In this work, we used STICS version v8.4. The detailed description of all parameters used in the model is available in the document freely downloadable with the model from http://www6.paca.inra.fr/ stics_eng/.

A general description of the approaches used by each of the five crop models is presented in **Table 1**.

General Circulation Models (GCMs)

Many GCMs have been evaluated for use in climate change studies (Randall et al., 2007; Flato et al., 2013). The fourteen GCMs listed in **Table 2** were used in this study due to their suitability for use in North America (Rupp et al., 2013; Sheffield et al., 2013). The methodology used for generation of the weather data for these GCMs is found in Abatzoglou (2013) and Abatzoglou and Brown (2012). Specific datasets are available at http://thredds.northwestknowledge.net:8080/thredds/reacch_climate_MET_catalog.html.

Emission Scenarios

Representative concentration pathways (RCP) are climate change research scenarios that contain trajectories of emissions, GHG concentrations and land-use patterns based on alternative responses of future socio-economic, technological, energy use, and emissions patterns (Van Vuuren et al., 2011). Four RCPs have been developed that provide distinct trajectories of radiative forcing and GHG concentrations (Moss et al., 2010). For this research, we used RCP4.5 which stabilizes at a radiative forcing of 4.5 W m⁻² and 650 ppm CO_2 -equiv in the year 2100, and RCP8.5 which develops a radiative forcing of 8.5 W m^{-2} and 1,370 ppm CO₂-equiv at 2100 (Moss et al., 2010). RCP4.5 is characterized by policies that, among other things, reduce energy use, reduce fossil fuel use, increase renewable and nuclear energy, employ CO₂ capture and storage, expand forests, and reduce beef consumption by a world population of 8.7 billion in 2100 (Thomson et al., 2011). RCP8.5 is characterized by minimal climate change policies, global population of 12 billion in 2100, slow income growth, high energy demand mostly from fossil fuels and declines in forested area (Riahi et al., 2011).

Study Sites

Seven diverse agro-ecological sites were selected for CSM and GCM models ensemble study. These sites are in the main



winter wheat production region in the IPNW. Average annual precipitation ranges from 125 to 700 mm on moving from west to east (Schillinger et al., 2010). Basic features of the study sites are summarized in **Table 3**.

Model Simulation Targets

To establish reasonable historical baselines for all five CSMs, four study sites were selected: Pullman (high precipitation), Wilke (intermediate precipitation), Lind (low precipitation), and Moses Lake (irrigated). Baseline simulations (1979–2010) were conducted for all models to meet targets for crop phenology (emergence, anthesis, and maturity dates), maximum LAI,

biomass at maturity, and yield derived from literature and extension reports focused on winter wheat in the study region (Papendick, 1996; Schillinger et al., 2006; Schillinger, personal communication; WSU Extension variety trials). The model parameters used were as suggested for winter wheat by the respective models, with adjustments to phenology, and minor adjustments to leaf area development and biomass production parameters within the range provided by each model so as to conform to the targets, with the same set of parameters (except for phenology) used in all sites.

Although, winter wheat in the region is rotated with other cereals and legumes, to avoid adding complexity to



ensembles of crop models at low rainfall site Lind. Symbols on curves are at the curve's inflection point and represent the most probable yield change.

the comparison of models and to focus on the simulated responses of wheat to climate variation and atmospheric CO₂, continuous winter wheat was simulated. The profile soil water content was reset to a set low value at the end of the summer each year, so that cumulative effects were not a factor. To focus our concern only on CSM and GCM, we removed the confounding effects of crop rotation and carryover. **Table 4** shows targets and baseline results after parameter adjustments.

Simulations and Analysis

In total, 140 simulations were generated for each study site (14 GCMs \times 5 crop models \times 2 RCPs), with outputs separated into three time periods (2030s, 2015–2045; 2050s, 2035–2065; and 2070s, 2055–2085). PROC ANOVA in SAS, Version 9.2 (SAS Institute Inc., 2010), was used to obtain the sums of squares for targeted effects, and an Uncertainty Index (UI) was calculated by dividing the treatment sums of squares by the total sums of squares (Holzkämper et al., 2015). The resulting UI is a measure



and 2070, relative to the baseline period (1979–2010) under two representative concentration pathways (RCP4.5 and 8.5) and five crop models with ensembles of crop models at an irrigated site, Moses Lake, WA. Symbols on curves are at the curve's inflection point and represent the most probable yield change.

of the proportion of the total variation explained by the effect of interest.

The cumulative probability distributions (CPDs) for yield changes (see Section Results) were generated using a multi-step process. First the average yield was calculated for the historic period within location for each CSM. Then the average yield over all GCMs was calculated within location, CSM and year. The percentage change between this average projected yield (within location, CSM, and year) and its respective baseline yield was calculated, [percent change = ((future yield/baseline yield)–1) \times 100]. This last calculation resulted in 41 percentage yield changes, one for each year within a given time period, location and CSM. The mean and standard deviation of these 41 values were used to generate the normal density distribution for the values and the CPD by applying the NORMDIST function in Microsoft Excel. The maximum value on the normal density distribution thus represents the percentage yield change with the highest probability of occurrence and

Study site	Response variable	Crop model						
		CropSyst	DSSAT	APSIM	STICS	EPIC		
		(Percentage change from baseline)						
Lind	Length of growing season	-34.8	-16.9	-20.6	-30.9	-33.6		
	LAI_{max}^{\dagger}	1.8	44.0	6.9	21.7	5.9		
	Transpiration	-7.2	-2.3	-6.8	-2.2	-8.6		
	Biomass	34.4	49.2	44.1	52.2	53.4		
	Transpiration-use efficiency	41.8	46.8	39.8	33.0	36.3		
Pullman	Length of growing season	-21.0	-15.7	-13.6	-20.2	-17.5		
	LAI_{max}^{\dagger}	2.8	11.6	5.6	16.9	9.9		
	Transpiration	-2.1	-5.3	-4.6	-5.7	-0.4		
	Biomass	20.0	24.1	4.2	32.1	21.2		
	Transpiration-use efficiency	25.0	25.6	20.9	23.0	18.3		
Moses Lake	Length of growing season	-6.6	-12.6	-21.8	-12.7	-5.5		
	LAI [†]	13.1	9.8	11.1	4.8	3.5		
	Transpiration	-7.5	-10.8	-8.9	-2.1	-7.2		
	Biomass	15.7	23.8	17.8	6.5	19.2		
	Transpiration-use efficiency	18.4	22.8	16.5	10.8	16.6		

TABLE 6 | Percent changes with respect to baseline (1979–2009) values of selected process components contributing to changes in winter wheat yield during the 2070 period (2055–2085) and representative concentration pathway 8.5.

[†] LAI_{max}, maximum leaf area index.

corresponds to the inflection point on the CPD. Rather than present both the normal and cumulative curves, we present only the cumulative curve with its inflection point identified.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Baseline Period (1979–2010)

Three sites, Kambitsch, Moro and St. John, were not used for parameter adjustments/calibration. The relative performance of the five crop models using historical weather at these three sites is shown in **Table 5**. The results showed that the simulated LAI fluctuated within a relatively narrow range, while biomass and grain yields showed more variation among the models, except at the driest site, Moro, where better agreement existed. Nevertheless, most models were still within a narrow range of biomass and yield values at Kambitsch and St. John.

Probability Distribution of Crop-Climate Model Projections

The CPD of future winter wheat yield changes projected by the 14 GCMs for the five CSMs and three sites (Pullman, Lind, and Moses Lake) are presented in **Figures 1–3**, where the thicker line is the mean of the CSMs ensemble. All CSMs projected a positive impact of climate change and atmospheric CO_2 concentration on future winter wheat yields, but with significant variation. This variation was larger for RCP8.5 (more warming and higher atmospheric CO_2) than RCP4.5, and increased significantly with increasing time periods. The most probable yield change for the

CSMs in Pullman (**Figure 1**), identified by the inflection point on the curves, ranged from 19 to 26% (RCP4.5) and from 17 to 28% (RCP8.5) for the 2030s, with the range increasing to 28 to 39% (RCP4.5) and 27 to 49% (RCP8.5) for the 2070s. The range of yield increases spanned by the CPD curves tended to increase from the 2030s to the 2070s, indicating increasing spread among GCM projections later in the century. The most probable yield change of the ensemble of all CSMs and CGMs indicated a 23% (2030s), 30% (2050s), and 41% (2070s) increase in projected vs. baseline yields for RCP8.5 (**Figure 1**). A similar pattern of increasing yield gains was obtained for RCP4.5.

Figure 2 shows the CPDs for Lind, the site with the lowest precipitation. Inflection points ranged from 25 to 34% yield increase for RCP4.5 in the 2030s, and from 21 to 27% for RCP8.5 in the 2030s. By the 2070s, the range had increased to 45-62% under RCP4.5 and 61-66% under RCP8.5. The tighter clustering of models under RCP8.5 late in the century in Lind was probably due to the dominant effect of water stress, and the high percent yield increase was likely due to the direct effect of CO₂ having a higher relative impact under more limited water supply. The crop-climate model ensemble at Lind projected increased yield under both RCPs but the effect was greater under RCP8.5 than RCP4.5 (**Figure 2**). The percentage yield increase under RCP8.5 was substantial, jumping from 23% in the 2030s to 64% in the 2070s (**Figure 2**).

At the wettest site, Moses Lake, the ensemble of all crop model and GCMs projected a wheat yield increase for both RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 (**Figure 3**) but the increase was not as large as at the

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 7 | Uncertainty Index (UI) for projected winter wheat yield at seven sites in the Pacific Northwest modeled under 14 general circulation models (GCMs) averaged over 2 representative concentrations pathways in each of 5 cropping system models (CSMs).

Study site	Source of variation	Time period				
		2030 (UI)	2050 (UI)	2070 (UI)		
Lind	GCMs	0.091	0.063	0.050		
	CSMs	0.509	0.684	0.630		
	GCMs*CSMs	0.223	0.075	0.046		
Moro	GCMs	0.127	0.077	0.089		
	CSMs	0.549	0.510	0.351		
	GCMs*CSMs	0.175	0.161	0.183		
Wilke	GCMs	0.073	0.064	0.126		
	CSMs	0.530	0.652	0.564		
	GCMs*CSMs	0.302	0.194	0.165		
St. John	GCMs	0.034	0.067	0.107		
	CSMs	0.791	0.662	0.576		
	GCMs*CSMs	0.141	0.207	0.217		
Pullman	GCMs	0.011	0.021	0.048		
	CSMs	0.858	0.792	0.710		
	GCMs*CSMs	0.086	0.105	0.116		
Kambitsch	GCMs	0.029	0.053	0.101		
	CSMs	0.695	0.625	0.520		
	GCMs*CSMs	0.203	0.201	0.192		
Moses Lake	GCMs	0.050	0.130	0.155		
	CSMs	0.733	0.550	0.381		
	GCMs*CSMs	0.135	0.180	0.252		

Results are presented for three 31-year time periods, centered on 2030, 2050, or 2070.

rainfed sites. The ensemble yield change under RCP8.5 went from 15% in the 2030s to 24% in the 2070s. This smaller increase was due to a lower direct effect of CO2 when water was not a limiting factor. The effect of the different CO₂ responses among models is perhaps evident in these responses under irrigation. Free-Air CO₂ Enrichment (FACE) experiments have demonstrated well-watered wheat yield increases of 7-9% when CO2 was elevated from 350 to 550 ppm (Tubiello et al., 1999), and ~10% when CO₂ was elevated from 365 to 645 ppm (Manderscheid and Weigel, 2007). Photosynthetic response to CO₂ follows a typical saturation response, and biomass gain of wheat shows a similar response saturating (plateau response) at about 25% gain (compared to 370 ppm) when CO₂ exceeds 1,000 ppm (Reuveni and Bugbee, 1997). For the conditions during the 2070s and RCP8.5, atmospheric CO₂ concentration fluctuated from 570 to 801 ppm, while baseline conditions were set at 360 ppm. Thus, it is unlikely that yield gains greater than \sim 15% should be obtained with these CO_2 concentrations for the 2070s, particularly when the effect of warming is considered. However, the 50% CPD of most models and the ensemble exceeded this figure, implying that not only differences in temperature responses but also in CO_2 responses contribute to the spread of projections among CSMs.

In all crop-climate model ensembles, the most probable yield increase was shifted rightward with time, indicating a high probability of yield increase. Although results for only the wettest (Moses Lake, Pullman), and the driest (Lind) sites are presented here, all seven sites evaluated showed similar responses, modulated mainly by the extent of water limitations. Overall, the behavior of all CSMs was similar in terms of direction of change in process components leading to yield estimations but with variations in magnitude, as shown in Table 6 for the 2070s period and RCP8.5 compared to baseline values. The growing season was shorter during the 2070s at all sites as predicted by all CSMs, with the percentage reduction being largest at Lind and smallest under irrigation at Moses Lake. These differences reflect the different magnitude of projected temperature changes in these contrasting environments. All CSMs predicted increased biomass at all sites late in the century under RCP8.5. This increase was due in part to the CO₂ fertilization effect and to the warmer winter temperatures. Not surprisingly, with more biomass, all CSMs predicted higher LAI at all locations (Table 6). As expected under higher atmospheric CO₂ concentrations (Ainsworth and Rogers, 2007) and warmer temperatures (shorter growing season), all CSMs projected a decrease in transpiration, fluctuating from 0.4 to 11%. On the other hand, consistent with increased biomass and decreased transpiration, transpiration use efficiency increased at all locations and with all CSMs (Table 6), being greatest in the driest location, Lind, and least in the wettest.

Partitioning of Projection Uncertainties

Substantial uncertainty/variation was found among GCM and CSM projections. We present here results of the uncertainty analysis for yield only (Table 7). The UI revealed that the uncertainty attributable to CSMs was substantially larger than that from GCMs at all study sites during all three time periods. This is in agreement with previous finding by Asseng et al. (2013). The maximum UI for CSM was over 0.85 during the 2030s at Pullman whereas the maximum UI for GCM was 0.15 during the 2070s at Moses Lake. At a majority of locations, the UI associated with GCM tended to increase with time, but the UI for CSM tended to decrease with time at most locations (Table 7). Although the largest proportion of uncertainty was associated with CSM, the relatively large UI associated with the interaction of GCM and CSM indicated that the amount of uncertainty associated with GCM depended on which of the five models was under consideration.

Model (CSM and GCM) Ensemble Projection of Winter Wheat Biomass Production and Yield

An ensemble of all GCMs and CSMs showed a consistent trend of beneficial effects of climate change on biomass production and wheat yields in all sites studied under the two RCP scenarios (**Figure 4**). The model ensemble depicted increasing trends for biomass and grain yields under RCP4.5 at the seven study sites, but the increasing trend was more prominent at low



rainfall sites (Lind and Moro) than at the wetter sites, Pullman, Kambitsch, and Moses Lake. A somewhat steeper increasing trend was observed under RCP8.5 for all sites. Over the twenty-first century, the benefit to yield of climate change appeared to be positively correlated to water stress. The driest site, Lind, saw a benefit of over 3 t ha^{-1} under RCP 8.5 whereas the least water-stressed sites, Pullman, Kambitsch and Moses Lake, experienced yield increases of at most about 2 t ha^{-1} (**Figure 4**). Also, there was a trend for biomass and yields to plateau toward the end of the century, more so for wetter sites.

There is certainly large uncertainty (**Table 7**) associated with each trajectory in **Figure 4**, implying many possible pathways toward future crop performance in the region. But the overall beneficial trend resulting from the combination of climate change and elevated CO_2 appears strong and in agreement with previous studies conducted in the region (Thomson et al., 2002; Stöckle et al., 2010). Overall, positive effects have been also projected for the northern Great Plains of the US (Izaurralde et al., 2003). Similar findings indicating increased suitability for wheat production under climate change of high northern Europe latitudes have been reported (Eckersten et al., 2001; Richter and Semenov, 2005; Balkovič et al., 2014). The winter wheat producing region of China is also expected to move northward (Sun et al., 2015).

Many additional factors will affect crop production in the future. Weeds, insect pests and diseases (Rosenzweig and Tubiello, 1996; Scott et al., 2014; Junk et al., 2016) will all influence crops, and these influences will all be impacted one way or another by climate change. Additionally, management decisions made by farmers in response to climate change will certainly affect future crop production.

CONCLUSIONS

In this study we assessed climate change impacts on winter wheat crop yield in the PNW using five CSMs and 14

GCMs. It was found that the uncertainty due to the variability of GCM and CSM projections can be substantial with the uncertainty attributed to CSMs being larger than that attributed to GCMs. Nevertheless, despite substantial variations, all CSMs consistently projected decrease in growing season length and transpiration and increase in transpiration-use efficiency, biomass, and yields. Overall, the mean of the ensemble of all CSMs and GCMs provided a robust indication of positive effects of future environmental conditions on winter wheat yield during this century at all sites studied, with greater beneficial effect under water stressed conditions.

REFERENCES

- Abatzoglou, J. T. (2013). Development of gridded surface meteorological data for ecological applications and modelling. *Int. J. Climatol.* 33, 121–131. doi: 10.1002/joc.3413
- Abatzoglou, J. T., and Brown, T. J. (2012). A comparison of statistical downscaling methods suited for wildfire applications. *Int. J. Climatol.* 32, 772–780. doi: 10.1002/joc.2312
- Ainsworth, E. A., and Rogers, A. (2007). The response of photosynthesis and stomatal conductance to rising [CO2]: mechanisms and environmental interactions. *Plant Cell Environ.* 30, 258–270. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3040.2007.01641.x
- Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Rosenzweig, C., Jones, J. W., Hatfield, J. L., Ruane, A. C., et al. (2013). Uncertainty in simulating wheat yields under climate change. *Nat. Clim. Change* 3, 827–832. doi: 10.1038/ nclimate1916
- Balkovič, J., van der Velde, M., Skalský, R., Xiong, W., Folberth, C., Khabarov, N., et al. (2014). Global wheat production potentials and management flexibility under the representative concentration pathways. *Global Planet. Change* 122, 107–121. doi: 10.1016/j.gloplacha.2014. 08.010
- Bassu, S., Brisson, N., Durand, J.-L., Boote, K., Lizaso, J., Jones, J. W., et al. (2014). How do various maize crop models vary in their responses to climate change factors? *Global Change Biol.* 20, 2301–2320. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12520
- Brisson, N., Gary, C., Justes, E., Roche, R., Mary, B., Ripoche, D., et al. (2003). An overview of the crop model stics. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 309–332. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00110-7
- Challinor, A. J., and Wheeler, T. R. (2008a). Crop yield reduction in the tropics under climate change: processes and uncertainties. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 148, 343–356. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2007.09.015
- Challinor, A. J., and Wheeler, T. R. (2008b). Use of a crop model ensemble to quantify CO2 stimulation of water-stressed and well-watered crops. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 148, 1062–1077. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2008.02.006
- Chylek, P., Li, J., Dibey, M. K., Wang, M., and Lesins, G. (2011). Observed and model simulated 20th century arctic temperature variability: Canadian Earth System Model Can ESM2. *Atmos. Chem. Phys. Discuss.* 11, 22893–22907. doi: 10.5194/acpd-11-22893-2011
- Delworth, T. L., Broccoli, A. J., Rosati, A., Stouffer, R. J., Balaji, V., Beesley, J. A., et al. (2006). GFDL's CM2 global coupled climate models. Part I: formulation and simulation characteristics. *J. Clim.* 19, 643–674. doi: 10.1175/JCLI 3629.1
- Dunne, J. P., John, J. G., Shevliakova, E., Stouffer, R. J., Krasting, J. P., Malyshev, S. L., et al. (2013). GFDL's ESM2 global coupled climate-carbon earth system models. Part II: carbon system formulation and baseline simulation characteristics. J. Clim. 26, 2247–2267. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-12-00150.1
- Eckersten, H., Blombäck, K., Kätterer, T., and Nyman, P. (2001). Modelling CN water and heat dynamics in winter wheat under climate

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MA conduct simulations, data reduction, draft manuscript; CS project conception and supervision, manuscript revision, RN programming, project realization; SH advise analyses, manuscript revision.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by the United States Department of Agriculture's National Institute of Food and Agriculture, Award #2011-68002-30191, Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture.

change in southern Sweden. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 86, 221–235. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8809(00)00284-X

- Flato, G. J., Marotzke, B., Abiodun, P., Braconnot, S. C., Chou, W., Collins, P., et al. (2013). "Evaluation of climate models," in *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, G. K. Plattner, M. M. B. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung et al. (Cambridge; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press).
- Holzkämper, A., Calanca, P., Honti, M., and Fuhrer, J. (2015). Projecting climate change impacts on grain maize based on three different crop model approaches. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 214–215, 219–230. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.08.263
- Hoogenboom, G., Jones, J. W., Wilkens, P. W., Porter, C. H., Boote, K. J., Hunt, L. A., et al. (2012). Decision Support System for Agrotechnology Transfer (DSSAT) Version 4.5. University of Hawaii, Honolulu.
- Izaurralde, R. C., Rosenberg, J. J., Brown, R. A., and Thomson, A. M. (2003). Integrated assessment of Hadley Center (HadCM2) climate-change impacts on agricultural productivity and irrigation water supply in the conterminous United States Part II. Regional agricultural production in 2030 and 2095. Agric. Forest Meteorol. 117, 97–122. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1923(03) 00024-8
- Jeffrey, S. L., Rotstayn, M., Collier, S., Dravitzki, C., Hamalainen, C., Moeseneder, K., et al. (2013). Australia's CMIP5 submission using the SCIRO-Mk3.6 model. Aust. Meteorol. Oceanogr. J. 63, 1–13. doi: 10.22499/2. 6301.001
- Ji, D. L., Wang, J., Feng, Q., Wu, H., Chang, Q., Zhang, J., et al. (2014). Description and basic evaluation of Beijing Normal University Earth System Model (BNU-ESM) version 1. *Geosci. Model Dev.* 7, 2039–2064. doi: 10.5194/gmd-7-2039-2014
- Junk, J., Kouadio, L., Delfosse, P., and El Jarroudi, M. (2016). Effects of regional climate change on brown rust disease in winter wheat. *Clim. Change* 135:439–451. doi: 10.1007/s10584-015-1587-8
- Keating, B. A., Carberry, P. S., Hammer, G. L., Probert, M. E., Robertson, M. J., Holzworth, D., et al. (2003). An overview of APSIM, a model designed for farming systems simulation. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 267–288. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00108-9
- Li, T., Hasegawa, T., Yin, X., Zhu, Y., Boote, K., Adam, M., et al. (2015). Uncertainties in predicting rice yield by current crop models under a wide range of climatic conditions. *Glob. Change Biol.* 21, 1328–1341. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12758
- Lobell, D. B., and Asner, G. P. (2003). Climate and management contributions to recent trends in U.S. Agric. Yields Sci. 299, 1032. doi: 10.1126/science. 1077838
- Lobell, D. B., and Burke, M. B. (2010). On the use of statistical models to predict crop yield responses to climate change. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 150, 1443–1452. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2010.07.008
- Manderscheid, R., and Weigel, H. J. (2007). Drought stress effects on wheat are mitigated by atmospheric CO2 enrichment. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 27, 79–87. doi: 10.1051/agro:2006035

13

- Martin, G. M., Bellouin, N., Collins, W. J., Culverwell, I. D., Halloran, P. R., Hardiman, S. C., et al. (2011). The HadGEM2 family of Met Office Unified Model climate configurations. *Geosci. Model Dev.* 4, 723–757. doi: 10.5194/gmd-4-723-2011
- Martre, P., Wallach, D., Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Jones, J. W., Rötter, R. P., et al. (2015). Multimodel ensembles of wheat growth: many models are better than one. *Glob. Change Biol.* 21, 911–925. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12768
- Moss, R. H., Edmonds, J. A., Hibbard, K. A., Manning, M. R., Rose, S. K., van Vuuren, D. P., et al. (2010). The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment. *Nature* 463, 747–756. doi: 10.1038/nature 08823
- Nicholls, N. (1997). Increased Australian wheat yield due to recent climate trends. *Nature* 387, 484–485. doi: 10.1038/387484a0
- Osborne, T., Rose, G., and Wheeler, T. (2013). Variation in the globalscale impacts of climate change on crop productivity due to climate model uncertainty and adaptation. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 170, 183–194. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.07.006
- Papendick, R. I. (1996). Farming systems and conservation needs in the Northwest Wheat Region. Am. J. Alternative Agric. 11, 52–57. doi: 10.1017/S0889189300006767
- Porter, J. R., and Semenov, M. A. (2005). Crop responses to climatic variation. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 360, 2021–2035. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2005. 1752
- Randall, D. A., Wood, R. A., Bony, S., Colman, R., Fichefet, T., Fyfe, J., et al. (2007). "Cilmate models and their evaluation," in *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds S. Solomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K. B. Averyt, et al. (Cambridge; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press).
- Reuveni, J., and Bugbee, A. (1997). Very high CO2 reduces photosynthesis, dark respiration, and yield in wheat. Ann. Bot. Lond. 80, 539–546. doi: 10.1006/anbo.1997.0489
- Riahi, K., Rao, S., Krey, V., Cho, C., Chirkov, V., Fischer, G., et al. (2011). RCP8.5 A scenario of comparatively high greenhouse gas emissions. *Clim. Change* 109, 33–57. doi: 10.1007/s10584-011-0149-y
- Richter, G. M., and Semenov, M. A. (2005). Modelling impacts of climate change on wheat yields in England and Wales: assessing drought risks. *Agric. Syst.* 84, 77–97. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2004.06.011
- Rosenzweig, C., and Tubiello, F. (2007). Adaptation and mitigation strategies in agriculture: an analysis of potential synergies. *Mitig. Adapt. Strat. Glob. Change* 12, 855–873. doi: 10.1007/s11027-007-9103-8
- Rosenzweig, C., and Tubiello, F. N. (1996). Effects of changes in minimum and maximum temperature on wheat yields in the central USA simulation study. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 80, 215–230. doi: 10.1016/0168-1923(95) 02299-6
- Ruane, A. C., Hudson, N. I., Asseng, S., Camarrano, D., Ewert, F., Martre, P., et al. (2016). Multi-wheat-model ensemble responses to interannual climate variability. *Environ. Modell. Softw.* 81, 86–101. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2016.03.008
- Rupp, D. E., Abatzoglou, J. T., Hegewisch, K. C., and Mote, P. W. (2013). Evaluation of CMIP5 20th century climate simulations for the Pacific Northwest USA. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 118, 10884–10906. doi: 10.1002/jgrd.50843
- SAS Institute Inc. (2010). SAS/STAT[®] 9.22 User's Guide. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Schillinger, W. F., Papendick, R. I., Guy, S. O., Rasmussen, P. E., and Van Kessel, C. (2006). "Chapter 11: Dryland cropping in the Western United States," in *Dryland Agriculture, 2nd Edn.*, Agronomy Monograph No. 23, eds G. A. Petersen, P. W. Unger, and A. Payne (Madison, WI: ASA/CSSA/SSSA), 365–393.
- Schillinger, W. F., Papendick, R. I., and McCool, D. K. (2010). "Soil and water challenges for Pacific Northwest agriculture," in *Soil and Water Conservation Advances in the United States*, eds T. M. Zobeck and W. F. Schillinger (Madison, WI: SSSA), 47–79.
- Scott, J. K., B. L., Webber, H., Murphy, N., Ota, K. J., and Driticos, and, B., Loechel (2014). AdaptNRM Weeds and Climate Change: Supporting Weed Management Adaptation. Available at: www.AdaptNRM.org

- Sheffield, J., Barrett, A. P., Colle, B., Fernando, D. N., Fu, R., Geil, K. L., et al. (2013). North American climate in CMIP5 experiments. Part I: evaluation of historical simulations of continental and regional climatology. J. Clim. 26, 9209–9245. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-12-00592.1
- Siegenthaler, U., Stocker, T. F., Monnin, E., Lüthi, D., Schwander, J., Stauffer, B., et al. (2005). Stable carbon cycle–climate relationship during the late pleistocene. *Science* 310, 1313–1317. doi: 10.1126/science.1120130
- Slingo, J. M., Challinor, A. J., Hoskins, B. J., and Wheeler, T. R. (2005). Introduction: food crops in a changing climate. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B* 360, 1983–1989. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2005.1755
- Stöckle, C. O., Donatelli, M., and Nelson, R. (2003). CropSyst, a cropping systems simulation model. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 289–307. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00109-0
- Stöckle, C. O., Nelson, R. L., Higgins, S., Brunner, J., Grove, G., Boydston, R., et al. (2010). Assessment of climate change impact on eastern Washington agriculture. *Clim. Change* 102, 77–102. doi: 10.1007/s10584-010-9851-4
- Sun, Z., Jia, S. F., Lv, A. F., Yang, K. J., Svensson, J., and Gao, Y. C. (2015). Impacts of climate change on growth period and planting boundaries of winter wheat in China under RCP 4.5 scenario. *Earth Syst. Dynam. Discuss.* 6, 2181–2210. doi: 10.5194/esdd-6-2181-2015
- Teixeira, E. I., Fischer, G., van Velthuizen, H., Walter, C., and Ewert, F. (2013). Global hot-spots of heat stress on agricultural crops due to climate change. *Agric. Forest Meteorol.* 170, 206–215. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2011. 09.002
- Thomson, A. M., Brown, R. A., Ghan, S. J., Izaurralde, R. C., Rosenberg, N. J., and Leung, L. R. (2002). Elevation dependence of winter wheat production in Eastern Washington State with climate change: a methodological study. *Clim. Change* 54, 141–164. doi: 10.1023/A:1015743411557
- Thomson, A. M., Calvin, K. V., Smith, S. J., Kyle, G. P., Volke, A., Patel, P., et al. (2011). RCP4.5: a pathway for stabilization of radiative forcing by 2100. *Clim. Change* 109, 77–94. doi: 10.1007/s10584-011-0151-4
- Tubiello, F. N., Rosenzweig, C., Kimball, B. A., Pinter, P. J., Wall, G. W., Hunsaker, D. J., et al. (1999). Testing CERES-Wheat with freeair carbon dioxide enrichment (FACE) experiment data: CO2 and water interactions. *Agron. J.* 91, 247–255. doi: 10.2134/agronj1999.0002196200910002 0012x
- Tubiello, F. N., Soussana, J.-F., and Howden, S. M. (2007). Crop and pasture response to climate change. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 19686–19690. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0701728104
- Van Vuuren, D. P., Edmonds, J., Kainuma, M., Riahi, K., Thomson, A., Hibbard, K., et al. (2011). The representative concentration pathways: an overview. *Clim. Change* 109:5–31. doi: 10.1007/s10584-011-0148-z
- Voldin, E. M., Dianskii, N. A., and Gusev, A. V. (2010). Simulating presentday climate with the INMCM4.0 coupled model of the atmospheric and oceanic general circulations. *Atmos. Ocean. Phys.* 46, 414–431. doi: 10.1134/S000143381004002X
- Voldoire, A., Sanchez-Gomez, E., Salas y Mélia, D., Decharme, B., Cassou, C., Sénési, S., et al. (2013). The CNRM-CM5.1 global climate model: description and basic evaluation. *Clim. Dyn.* 40, 2091–2121. doi: 10.1007/s00382-011-1259-y
- Wang, E., Robertson, M. J., Hammer, G. L., Carberry, P. S., Holzworth, D., Meinke, H., et al. (2002). Development of a generic crop model template in the cropping system model APSIM. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 121–140. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00100-4
- Watanabe, M., Suzuki, T., O'ishi, R., Komuro, Y., Watanabe, S., Emori, S., et al. (2010). Improved climate simulation by MIROC5: mean states, variability, and climate sensitivity. *J. Clim.* 23, 6312–6335. doi: 10.1175/2010JCLI3679.1
- Watanabe, S., Hajima, T., Sudo, K., Nagashima, T., Takemura, T., Okajima, H., et al. (2011). MIROC-ESM 2010: model description and basic results of CMIP5-20c3m experiments. *Geosci. Model Dev.* 4, 845–872. doi: 10.5194/gmd-4-845-2011
- Williams, J. R., Jones, C. A., and Dyke, P. T. (1984). A modeling approach to determining the relationship between erosion and soil productivity. *Trans.* ASAE 27, 129–144. doi: 10.13031/2013.32748
- Wu, T., Song, L., Li, W., Wang, Z., Zhang, H., Xin, X., et al. (2014). An overview of BCC climate system model development and application for

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

14

climate change studies. J. Meteor. Res 28, 34–56. doi: 10.1007/s13351-014-3041-7

- Xiao, G., Zhang, Q., Li, Y., Wang, R., Yao, Y., Zhao, H., et al. (2010). Impact of temperature increase on the yield of winter wheat at low and high altitudes in semiarid northwestern China. *Agric. Water Manage*. 97, 1360–1364. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2010.04.002
- Yukimoto, S., Adachi, Y., Hosaka, M., Sakami, T., Yoshimura, H., Hirabara, M., et al. (2012). A new global climate model of the Meteorological Research Institute: MRI-CGCM3 – Model description and basic performance. *J. Meteorol. Soc. Japan* 90A, 23–64. doi: 10.2151/jmsj.2012-A02

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Ahmed, Stöckle, Nelson and Higgins. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Carbon and Water Budgets in Multiple Wheat-Based Cropping Systems in the Inland Pacific Northwest US: Comparison of CropSyst Simulations with Eddy Covariance Measurements

Patrick T. O'Keeffe¹, William L. Pan⁴, Erin S. Brooks⁵, Dave R. Huggins⁶ and

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Bernd Lennartz, University of Rostock, Germany

Reviewed by:

Bogachan Benli, European Investment Bank, Luxembourg Ilias Travlos, Agricultural University of Athens, Greece

*Correspondence:

Jinshu Chi jinshu.chi@slu.se

[†]**Present Address:** Sarah Waldo, US Environmental Protection Agency,

JS Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, OH, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 01 March 2017 Accepted: 08 May 2017 Published: 23 May 2017

Citation:

Chi J, Maureira F, Waldo S, Pressley SN, Stöckle CO, O'Keeffe PT, Pan WL, Brooks ES, Huggins DR and Lamb BK (2017) Carbon and Water Budgets in Multiple Wheat-Based Cropping Systems in the Inland Pacific Northwest US: Comparison of CropSyst Simulations with Eddy Covariance Measurements. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5:50. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00050 Brian K. Lamb¹ ¹ Laboratory for Atmospheric Research, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ² Department of Forest Ecology and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå, Sweden, ³ Department of Biological Systems Engineering, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States,

Jinshu Chi^{1,2*}, Fidel Maureira³, Sarah Waldo^{1†}, Shelley N. Pressley¹, Claudio O. Stöckle³,

⁴ Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ⁵ Department of Biological and Agricultural Engineering, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States, ⁶ Land Management and Water Conservation Research Unit (ARS-USDA), Pullman, WA, United States

Accurate carbon and water flux simulations for croplands are greatly dependent on high quality representation of management practices and meteorological conditions, which are key drivers of the surface-atmosphere exchange processes. Fourteen site-years of carbon and water fluxes were simulated using the CropSyst model over four agricultural sites in the inland Pacific Northwest (iPNW) US from October 1, 2011 to September 30, 2015. Model performance for field-scale net ecosystem exchange of CO₂ (NEE) and evapotranspiration (ET) was evaluated by comparing simulations with long-term eddy covariance measurements. The model captured the temporal variations of NEE and ET reasonably well with an overall r of 0.78 and 0.80, and a low RMSE of 1.82 g C m⁻² d⁻¹ and 0.84 mm d⁻¹ for NEE and ET, respectively. The model slightly underestimated NEE and ET by 0.51 g C m⁻² d⁻¹ and 0.09 mm d⁻¹, respectively. ET simulations showed better agreement with eddy covariance measurements than NEE. The model performed much better for the sites with detailed initial conditions (e.g., SOC content) and management practice information (e.g., tillage type). The CropSyst results showed that the winter wheat fields could be annual net carbon sinks or close to neutral with the net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) ranging from 92 to $-17 \,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{C}\,\mathrm{m}^{-2}$, while the spring crop fields were net carbon sources or neutral with an annual NECB of -327 to -3 g C m⁻². Simulations for the paired tillage sites showed that the no-till site resulted in lower CO₂ emissions for the crop rotations of winter wheat-spring garbanzo, but had higher carbon loss into the atmosphere for spring canola compared to the conventional tillage site. Water budgets did not differ significantly between the two tillage systems. Winter wheat in the high-rainfall area had higher crop yields and water use efficiency but emitted larger amounts of CO₂ into the atmosphere than in the low-rainfall area. Based on model evaluations in this study, CropSyst appears promising as a tool to simulate field-scale carbon and water budgets and assess the effects of different management practices and local meteorological conditions for the wheat-based cropping systems in this region.

Keywords: CropSyst, eddy covariance, tillage practices, rainfall, fallow, carbon and water budgets

INTRODUCTION

Carbon and water cycles are two critical biophysical processes within the biosphere-atmosphere exchanges (Law et al., 2002) and agriculture plays an important role in global carbon and water dynamics (Bondeau et al., 2007; Running, 2012). CO2 is one of the major greenhouse gases in the atmosphere affecting the processes of global warming. CO₂ emissions from agricultural soils are estimated to be 13 Pg C per year globally, accounting for 13% of total soil respiration (Bond-Lamberty and Thomson, 2010). Agricultural systems have also been considered as potential net carbon sinks to mitigate CO2 in the atmosphere resulting from photosynthesis. Examining the contribution of carbon budgets by agriculture systems is crucial to understand the global carbon cycle with respect to climate change (Sauerbeck, 2001). Agricultural carbon and water cycles are greatly affected by local meteorological conditions and management practices (Bernacchi et al., 2005; Aubinet et al., 2009; Vuichard et al., 2016). Meteorological variables, such as photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) and air temperature, play vital roles in photosynthesis and respiration processes (Rabinowitch, 1951; Lloyd and Taylor, 1994). In addition, local meteorological conditions also influence farming practices. For example, in dry cropping areas where rainfall is insufficient, crop-fallow is one management practice used to increase productivity (Schillinger, 2001). Farming activities can also alter carbon and water dynamics; for example, tillage practices can change soil structure and aggregation which eventually changes soil bulk density, soil water retention capacity, and hydraulic conductivity of soil, as well as accelerate soil organic carbon (SOC) decomposition (e.g., Ball et al., 1999; West and Post, 2002; Regina and Alakukku, 2010). As a result, there is a critical need to quantify the effects of different climatic conditions and management practices on agricultural carbon and water cycles to better understand how the underlying biophysical processes, and thus carbon and water dynamics, respond to a changing environment.

Cropping system simulation models have been widely used to predict the effects of weather conditions, crop rotations, site characteristics, and management practices on crop growth as well as water and nutrient dynamics in agro-ecosystems (Benli et al., 2007). Through crop simulations under different scenarios, the models can be utilized as a practical tool to help improve the efficacy of decision making for agriculture not only under the current conditions but also for the future changing climate. CropSyst is a cropping system simulation model that is structured in modular systems (Stöckle et al., 1994, 2003). It has been used to provide a better understanding of ecological interactions to help guide relevant areas of research in a wide range of crops (Donatelli et al., 1997; Confalonieri et al., 2009), management practices (Jalota et al., 2012; Marsal and Stockle, 2012), climatic scenarios, (Tubiello et al., 2000; Lehmann et al., 2013), and simulation scales (Stöckle et al., 2014). However, the simulation of real ground conditions is a challenge for cropping system models due to the spatial complexity and variability of factors that are difficult to capture in initial conditions (Holzworth et al., 2015).

On the other hand, methods, such as the eddy covariance technique have been widely used to directly measure agricultural carbon and water budgets over the field-scale but have their own limitations. The eddy covariance method measures net exchanges of water and carbon between the surface and the atmosphere (Baldocchi, 2003), and uses models to partition these net fluxes into different components (Reichstein et al., 2005; Lasslop et al., 2010). Furthermore, the uncertainties due to random measurement errors and data-processing procedures can be large for annual or multi-year cumulative carbon or water budgets determined via eddy covariance. From a practical standpoint, long-term field scale eddy covariance measurements can be expensive and it is not feasible to deploy eddy covariance towers in every ecosystem, while cropping models can provide scenario analysis and field-scale simulations for cropping systems under various conditions. Therefore, it is beneficial to combine both modeling and measurement methods to first evaluate model performance and then apply the model to assess the agricultural carbon and water dynamics under different scenario conditions.

In this study, carbon and water fluxes were simulated using the CropSyst model at four agricultural sites in the inland Pacific Northwest (iPNW) region of the United States. To evaluate the model performance, net ecosystem exchange of CO₂ (NEE) and evapotranspiration (ET) were measured using eddy covariance flux towers. The iPNW region is a major wheat production area in the US and covers several agro-ecological classes (AECs) classified by integrating different biophysical (e.g., climate, soils, and terrain) and socioeconomic factors (e.g., commodity prices) (Douglas et al., 1992; Huggins et al., 2011). Traversing from the west to the east of the iPNW region, the AECs include dynamic- and stable- irrigated, crop-fallow, annual crop-fallow transition, and annual crop zones (https://www.reacchpna.org). Thus, the iPNW region is a unique study area to investigate the performance of wheat-based cropping systems under different water regimes and management practices. Consequently, the primary goal for this paper is to apply the CropSyst model to assess carbon and water dynamics at selected sites in the iPNW. Specific objectives are to (1) evaluate the CropSyst model performance with corresponding eddy covariance NEE and ET measurements, (2) determine the seasonal and inter-annual variability of carbon and water budgets in wheat-based cropping systems, and (3) discuss the implications of management practices and local meteorology on carbon and water budgets.

METHODS

Site Description

The four study sites are located in the iPNW region across a precipitation gradient of 250-600 mm and a variety of agricultural management practices (Table 1). Briefly, LIND is situated in a low-rainfall, crop-fallow area. Two paired sites are located in the high-rainfall zone (550 mm annually), with the same crop rotation and similar meteorological conditions but different tillage types. One site has been in continuous no-till management (CAF-NT) since 1998 while the other site has been under conventional tillage practice (CAF-CT) over the same period. MMTN is located in a higher rainfall zone (>600 mm annually), 10 km southeast of CAF-NT and CAF-CT.

Field Measurements

....

Each site has identical eddy covariance flux tower setups, including a 3D sonic anemometer (CSAT3A, Campbell Scientific, Inc.), an open-path infrared gas analyzer (IRGA, EC 150, Campbell Scientific, Inc.), net radiometer (NR-Lite2, Kipp&Zonen), air temperature and humidity sensor (HMP155A, Vaisala Inc.), PAR sensor (LI190SB, LI-COR Biosciences), wind vane (034B Windset, Met One Instruments), and soil temperature and moisture probes (5TM, Decagon Devices). Crop phenology is monitored using a time-lapse camera (WCT-00122, Wingscapes). Carbon content in the above-ground biomass is determined from the bi-weekly collected biomass samples using a TruSpec Carbon/Nitrogen Determinator (630-100-100, Leco Corporation), based on the method described in Law et al. (2008). The eddy covariance technique directly measures NEE and ET between the atmosphere and the surface. Uncertainties due to random measurement errors and

gap-filling in annual sums of NEE and ET are estimated based on the method described in Richardson and Hollinger (2007). Full details of instrumentation, flux computation, quality assurance and quality control, data gap-filling, and uncertainty analysis are presented in Waldo et al. (2016) and Chi et al. (2016). The eddy covariance systems measure exchange over a homogeneous but fluctuating area, typically 1.5-2.5 ha, depending on wind direction and speed as well as atmospheric stability.

Cropsyst Model

At each of the four sites, the CropSyst model simulated carbon and water flux components in daily time step and field-scale spatial resolutions. Similar to the eddy covariance assumption, within the modeling domain (approximately 1.0 ha), it was assumed to have homogeneous soil, crop, meteorological and management conditions at the field-scale, although the "rolling hill" area in the iPNW is heterogeneous at the landscape scale. The CropSyst model simulates potential and actual ET partitioned into transpiration (T) and soil water evaporation (E) components, and based on transpiration-use efficiency determines biomass accumulation, which is partitioned into straw and grain yield (Stöckle et al., 2003). In addition, the model simulates CO2 emissions from SOC oxidation and residue decomposition. Using daily biomass production simulated by CropSyst, crop respiration (R_a) , including growth and maintenance components, gross primary productivity (GPP) can be obtained as discussed below, which is the sum of biomass and R_a . Total ecosystem respiration (R_{eco}) is the sum of R_a plus soil and residue respiration (R_h) associated with microbial decomposition activity. NEE is calculated as the difference between GPP and Reco. Based on Chapin et al. (2006), net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) is determined by combining NEE and the exported harvest biomass carbon content (EXP). In

TABLE 1 Site characteristics, local meteorology, and management practices at each site.							
Site	LIND	CAF-NT	CAF-CT	MMTN			
Latitude	46°59′N	46°47′N	46°46′N	46°45′N			
Longitude	118°35′W	117°04′W	117°04′W	116°56′W			
Elevation (masl)	475	807	799	817			
Date tower installed	10/18/2011	8/19/2011	6/27/2012	7/11/2012			
Soil type ^a	Mollisols	Mollisols	Mollisols	Mollisols			
Soil texture ^a	Silt loam (Shano and Ritzville Series)	Silt loam (Naff, Thatuna and Palouse Series)	Silt loam (Naff, Thatuna and Palouse Series)	Silt loam (Latahco-Thatuna complex, Southwick, and Larkin Series)			
Annual temperature (°C) ^b	10	9	9	9			
Annual precipitation (mm) ^b	280	550	550	680			
Crop rotation ^c	TF-WW-TF-WW	WW-SG-WW-SC	WW-SG-WW-SC	SB-SP-WW			
Tillage practices ^d	RT	NT	CT	СТ			
Nearby weather station ^e	LIND, AgWeatherNet	Pullman NE, AgWeatherNet	Pullman NE, AgWeatherNet	Crumarine Creek, University of Idaho			

^aSoil types and textures were from Soil Survey Staff (1999) and Web Soil Survey (2013).

^bAnnual temperature and precipitation were averaged based on historical records from 1981 to 2010, National Centers for Environmental Information, NOAA.

^cTF (Tillage fallow), WW (winter wheat), SG (spring garbanzo), SC (spring canola), SB (spring barley), SP (spring pea).

^dRT (reduced tillage), NT (no-till), CT (conventional tillage).

^eNearby weather stations are the AgWeatherNet stations (AgWeatherNet, 2016).

this study, we used the sign convention that positive carbon fluxes indicate carbon loss from the ecosystem, and *vice versa*.

Model input includes hourly or daily local meteorological data, such as air temperature, precipitation, vapor pressure deficit (VPD), PAR, solar radiation, wind speed, as well as agricultural management information, such as tillage, fertilization and irrigation. Daily meteorological data are from nearby weather stations in the AgweatherNet network which provides access to current and historical weather data measured at 177 automated weather stations (AgWeatherNet, 2016). The weather data are filtered with a range test (Estévez et al., 2011). Gaps in the weather data are filled by averaging data over a period of adjacent 5 days. Parameters used to define each crop species are taken from the CropSyst default values based on Stöckle et al. (2012) (Appendix I in Supplementary Material) and thermal time accumulation is used to determine different crop phenological stages, which are based on observations by time-lapse cameras in the field (Bater et al., 2011). All the simulations are initialized in the fall of 2,000, providing 12 years to make the simulations independent of initial conditions before the period of comparisons with eddy covariance flux measurements. However, the crop history during the 12 years was not available and was assumed similar to the crop rotation during the period of measurements.

Crop Growth and Transpiration

To simulate crop growth, the CropSyst model incorporates crop phenology, canopy development, potential transpiration and biomass production (assuming no stress), factors of stress, and partitioning of the actual biomass (leaves, stems, grain, and roots). Crop phenology is determined by a thermal time scale, which is also adjusted for water stress (Stöckle et al., 2003). The daily potential biomass production is determined under unstressed conditions as the minimum of potential transpirationdependent and PAR-dependent biomass gain (Monteith, 1977; Sinclair et al., 1984). The actual biomass gain is then determined by the most limiting of two stress factors: water and nitrogen. The reference and potential evapotranspiration is calculated using the Penman-Monteith equation (Monteith, 1965). Potential transpiration is part of the potential evapotranspiration adjusted by the fraction of solar radiation intercepted by the crop canopy. Root biomass and density are simulated by layer, which are used to determine the actual water and nitrogen uptake from soil layers. Partitioning of the tissues (leaves, stems, and root biomass) is determined by dynamic partitioning coefficients (Table 2). Crop yield is a function of the harvest index at maturity stage. Crop growth and transpiration are set to zero during the periods including (1) prior to seeding, (2) post-harvest, and (3) fallow.

Crop Respiration

Crop respiration, or autotrophic respiration (R_a), is the sum of maintenance (R_m) and growth (R_g) respiration (Thornley, 1970; Penning de Vries, 1974; Amthor, 2000; Cannell and Thornley, 2000). R_m is the amount of CO₂ released due to maintenance per unit of existing biomass per time and R_g is the amount of CO₂ released due to biomass growth per unit time. According to Amthor (2000); Penning de Vries (1974), and van Iersel and Seymour (2000), R_m and R_g (g CO₂ m⁻²) are calculated using the

biomass data and respiration coefficients (**Table 2**), as presented in Equations (1) and (2):

$$R_m = WC_m \tag{1}$$

where W is the existing biomass (g B m⁻²) which is equal to the cumulative biomass by tissue (see Section Crop Growth and Transpiration); and C_m (g CO₂ g B⁻¹) is the maintenance respiration coefficient, which is determined using a Q₁₀ value of 1.8 for each 10°C increase in tissue temperature (Confalonieri et al., 2009). Daily mean air temperature is used as an approximation of the tissue temperature.

$$R_g = WC_g$$

$$C_g = \frac{1 - Y_g}{Y_g}$$
(2)

where C_g (g CO₂ g B⁻¹) is the growth respiration coefficient and Y_g (g CO₂ g B⁻¹) represents the units of carbon appearing in new biomass per unit of glucose carbon utilized for growth (Thornley, 1970).

Soil and Residue Respiration

In order to simulate heterotrophic respiration (R_h) , the CropSyst model apportions residue carbon into three fractions (fastand slow-cycling, and lignified fractions) with distinctive decomposition rates; and SOC into either single (Kemanian and Stöckle, 2010) or multiple (Stöckle et al., 2012) pools. Residue pools are initialized with the estimated contents of surface, root and residues from previous crops, while the SOC pool (singlepool model) is initialized based on the observed soil organic matter (Table 3). The pools are updated each day with a specified potential decomposition rate (d^{-1}) , adjusted as a function of soil temperature and moisture in each soil layer. Tillage effects on the decomposition rates are determined based on a soil conditioning index (USDA-NRCS, 2002), which describes the soil disturbance levels. Different soil disturbance levels as a result of tillage practices and clay content are used to determine tillage factors that adjust the SOC oxidation rate in the SOC pool (Kemanian and Stöckle, 2010). Soil and residue respiration is determined as the amount of CO₂ released to the atmosphere via SOC oxidation and decomposition of residue carbon pools.

Model Evaluation

We used the Willmott index of agreement (*d*) (Willmott, 1982) to evaluate the CropSyt performance for simulating cumulative above-ground biomass, daily NEE and ET by comparing with the field measurements at four sites. As defined in Equation (3), *d* ranges from 0 to 1 where a value of 1 indicates perfect agreement.

$$d = 1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (CS_i - EC_i)^2}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} (|CS_i| + |EC_i|)^2}$$
(3)

where CS_i and EC_i are the CropSyst simulations and the field measurements, respectively. *N* is the total number of data points. In addition, correlation coefficient (*r*), root mean square error (RMSE), and bias are also calculated to estimate the degree of TABLE 2 | Coefficients of maintenance respiration (C_m) and growth respiration (C_g) of vegetative organs at a temperature of 20°C (adapted from Penning de Vries et al., 1989).

	C _m (g CO ₂	g B ⁻¹)	C _g (g CO ₂ g B ⁻¹)		
	Non-legume	Legume	Non-legume	Legume	
Leaves	0.016	0.019	0.461	0.790	
Stems and storage	0.010	0.020	0.406	0.540	
Roots	0.015	0.017	0.406	0.537	

TABLE 3 | Organic matter (%) at different depths used for initial conditions at each site (adapted from Purakayastha et al., 2008).

Depth (m)	LIND	CAF-NT	CAF-CT	MMTN
0.05	0.7	3.8	2.8	0.5
0.1	0.7	3.2	2.8	1.8
0.2	0.7	2.7	2.8	1.6
0.3	0.5	2.5	1.8	1.1
0.4	0.3	1.5	1.5	1.0
0.5	0.1	1.3	1.3	0.8
0.6–2	0.1	0.4–0.1	0.4-0.1	0.5

association and the average differences between simulations and measurements.

The annual period, or one water year, is defined from October 1 to September 30. According to Schmidt et al. (2012), the main growing season (MGS) is defined as the period when the measured NEE is less than the median NEE during each water year, with the remainder of the annual period defined as the offmain growing season (oMGS). The way of defining the MGS in this study, rather than from seeding to harvest, emphasizes the period where photosynthesis is significant and excludes the wintertime where little carbon uptake by winter wheat occurred.

RESULTS

Evaluation of Modeled Above-Ground Biomass

As the core engine for modeling carbon and water budgets heavily relies on biomass simulations in CropSyst, accuracy in the CropSyst biomass results directly affects the model performance. The overall Willmott index of agreement (d) between biomass simulations and measurements was 0.98 for all 12 site-years (not including the two fallow years), indicating good agreement between CropSyst simulations and field measurements. Other statistical evaluation results also suggested good model performance for biomass simulations, illustrated by the relatively low bias and RMSE, as well as correlation coefficient (r) and slope close to 1 (Table 4). CropSyst performed best at CAF-CT, followed by CAF-NT, MMTN, and LIND (Figures 1A-D). The magnitudes of RMSE and bias ranged from 44 to 88 g C m⁻² and -40 to 57 g C m⁻², respectively, with CAF-CT and LIND having a relatively smaller magnitude compared to CAF-NT and MMTN.

TABLE 4 | Evaluation of modeled cumulative above-ground biomass, daily net ecosystem exchange of CO₂ (NEE), and evapotranspiration (ET) for all 14 site-years.

	Slope	r	RMSE ^a	Bias ^b	d	
Above-ground biomass	0.90	0.92	82	25	0.98	
NEE	0.69	0.78	1.82	0.51	0.87	
ET	0.98	0.80	0.84	-0.09	0.93	

^{a,b}Units for RMSE bias of above-ground biomass are in g C m⁻². Units for RMSE and bias of NEE and ET are in g C m⁻² d^{-1} and mm d^{-1} , respectively.

For each site-year, the simulated above-ground biomass generally agreed well with the observed biomass data (**Figure 2**). CropSyst results captured the above-ground biomass accumulation rates reasonably well for all the crop species at both no-till and conventional tillage sites (CAF-NT 2012–2015 and CAF-CT 2013–2015), winter wheat at the low-rainfall site during 2013 (LIND 2013), and the spring barely field (MMTN 2013). At LIND, the model slightly overestimated the above-ground biomass by 50–120 g C m⁻² during the early growth stages in 2015 (**Figure 2A**). While at MMTN, CropSyst overestimated the above-ground biomass of spring pea by 50–80 g C m⁻² during the MGS of 2013 and underestimated winter wheat biomass by 10–130 g C m⁻² during the MGS of 2015 (**Figure 2D**).

Evaluation of Modeled NEE and ET Overall Accuracy

Compared to the eddy covariance measurements for the four sites, the modeled daily NEE and ET agreed well with a high agreement index of 0.87 and 0.93, respectively, indicating a slightly better performance for ET simulations than NEE (**Table 4**). Statistical evaluation also showed a high correlation coefficient of 0.78 and 0.80, as well as a low RMSE of 1.82 g C m⁻² d⁻¹ and 0.84 mm d⁻¹ for NEE and ET, respectively. Overall, the model resulted in less negative NEE (bias = 0.51 g C m⁻² d⁻¹) and slightly underestimated ET (bias = -0.09 mm d^{-1}).

Evaluation of NEE and ET by Site

Focusing on each site individually, the highest agreement index for NEE simulations was found at CAF-CT (d = 0.92), accompanied by a high correlation coefficient (r = 0.86), a small RMSE (1.59 g C m⁻² d⁻¹), and a low bias (0.36 g C $m^{-2} d^{-1}$) (Figure 1G). At CAF-CT, the modeled NEE captured the NEE peak values during each MGS and showed very good agreement for the growing seasons of winter wheat and spring canola in 2014 and 2015, respectively (Figure 3C). NEE simulations at CAF-NT were also in good agreement with the eddy covariance measurements, followed by MMTN and LIND (Figures 1E-H, 3A,B,D). The largest RMSE (2.18 g C m⁻² d⁻¹) was found at MMTN and was primarily attributed to the large discrepancies during each MGS, where the model underestimated the carbon sink strength of spring barley, spring pea, and winter wheat by 100-185 g C m⁻² month⁻¹ (Figure 3D). Even though LIND had the lowest RMSE (1.40 g C $m^{-2} d^{-1}$), the other evaluation parameters, such as slope and correlation coefficient indicated fair performance (Figure 1E),



therefore further in-depth comparisons (e.g., by site-year) are still needed to better evaluate the model performance for determining annual or MGS carbon sink or source for all sites.

For ET simulations, the model had very good agreement with the measured ET at each site, particularly at the three highrainfall sites (**Figures 3E–H**), with d > 0.85 and r ranging from 0.64 to 0.85 (Figures 1I-L). The highest agreement index was found at CAF-NT and CAF-CT throughout the entire evaluation period. At MMTN, the model also captured the particular ET seasonal patterns during 2013 and 2014, where two ET peak periods occurred during both early spring and the MGS (Figure 3H). During these two ET peak periods, the simulated ET was slightly lower compared to the measurements for the first peak, but simulated the measurements well for the second peak period. In contrast, at LIND, even though the simulated ET values were comparable to the corresponding measured ET on average, the correlation coefficient (r = 0.64) was still relatively small compared to the three high-rainfall sites (Figure 1I). The lower r at LIND was most likely attributed to the slightly underestimated ET values over the winter wheat field during 2013 (Figure 3E).

Evaluation of Annual and MGS Cumulative NEE and ET by Site-Year

Two site-years (CAF-CT 2013 and MMTN 2014) had very comparable annual NEE magnitudes between simulations and

measurements, with differences of only 6 and 38 g C m^{-2} for CAF-CT and MMTN, respectively. For the remaining 12 site-years, CropSyst underestimated the CO₂ sink strength or overestimated the CO₂ source amount by an annual difference of 63–461 g C m^{-2} (Figure 4A). This annual difference range was greater than the uncertainties in the measured annual NEE (6-47 g C m⁻² year⁻¹). In terms of determining if a site was a net CO₂ sink, source, or neutral over an annual basis, the modeled results were consistent with the measurements for 8 out of 14 site-years. However, CropSyst did a better job on estimating the MGS cumulative NEE than the annual NEE (Figure 4B). The differences in the MGS-cumulative NEE between CropSyst and eddy covariance were 95-303 g C m⁻² and the model showed agreement with the measurements for all the growing seasons, where both simulations and measurements indicated these sites were all net CO₂ sinks during the MGS (Figure 4B).

With respect to simulating the annual ET, the model performed well for 10 out of 14 site years with a small difference (2–7%) between the CropSyst simulations and the eddy covariance measurements (**Figure 4C**). A relatively greater annual ET difference (10–24%) was found at MMTN for all 3 years and at LIND during 2015. Differences in the MGS-cumulative ET between simulations and measurements varied greatly with sites and crops, and ranging between 1% and 31%.



Simulations for the MGS-cumulative ET had better agreement (1–6% difference) with the measurements for the winter wheat fields at CAF-NT and CAF-CT, as well as the spring canola field at CAF-CT. While for the remaining 8 site-years, the modeled MGS-cumulative ET was smaller than the measured values by a MGS difference of 13–27%. Uncertainties due to random measurement errors and gap-filling uncertainty in the measured annual ET were around 2 mm year⁻¹, accounting for a very small portion of annual ET (<1%).

Seasonal and Inter-Annual Variabilities of Modeled Carbon and Water Fluxes

CropSyst was also used to simulate other flux components to assess the seasonal and inter-annual variabilities of carbon and water budgets at each site. The simulated carbon (NEE, R_{eco} , and GPP) and water (ET, *E*, and *T*) fluxes showed a typical seasonal pattern of larger magnitudes during the MGS and lower fluxes during the oMGS at each site (e.g., **Figures 5**, **6**). As a result of CropSyst stomatal-related flux components (GPP and *T*) being set to zero prior to seeding, after harvest, and during fallow, NEE and ET were equivalent to the non-stomatal parameters, R_{eco} (or R_{h}) and *E*, and all sites were small net CO₂ sources and water was lost into the atmosphere directly during these periods. During the MGS, NEE (or ET) was affected by both GPP (or *T*) and R_{eco} (or *E*) at all sites with GPP (or *T*) contributing the most (e.g., **Figures 5**, **6**). By averaging all the non-fallow years, 96% of GPP and 99% of *T* occurred during

the MGS. For R_{eco} and E, the MSG fractions were 67% and 22%, respectively.

The inter-annual variabilities of carbon and water fluxes were greatly dependent on crop rotations and water availability at each site. The crops grown at the four sites encompassed typical crop rotations for the iPNW region: winter wheat-spring crops and winter wheat-tillage fallow (**Table 1**). Winter wheat generally had larger flux magnitudes compared to the spring crops (i.e., canola, garbanzo, barely, and pea; e.g., **Figures 5**, **6**). Due to the different annual rainfall amounts, the high-rainfall sites (CAF-NT, CAF-CT, and MMTN) always had relatively larger magnitudes of carbon and water fluxes compared to the low-rainfall site (LIND), regardless of crop species (e.g., **Figures 7**, **8**).

Among the 14 site-years of carbon flux simulations, the CropSyst model showed that all the spring crop fields and the tillage fallow years were net carbon sources or close to carbon neutral over an annual basis, with an annual NECB ranging from -327 to -3 g C m⁻² (**Table 5**). The annual NECB for the winter wheat fields ranged from 92 to -17 g C m⁻², suggesting either net carbon sinks or near carbon neutral annually. As the ratio of *T*/ET is one index indicating the proportion of water utilized for crop growth, the CropSyst water budgets implied that less water was utilized by crops than directly lost into the atmosphere at the high-rainfall spring crop fields and the low-rainfall site, with the annual *T*/ET less than or close to 0.5. While for the high-rainfall winter wheat fields, their annual *T*/ET values were >0.6 (**Table 5**).

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org



```
2011 to September 2015.
```

Carbon and Water Budgets at No-Till and Conventional Tillage Sites

The simulated annual NECB suggested that the no-till site was a slightly smaller net carbon source over the spring garbanzo field $(-132 \text{ vs.} -201 \text{ g C m}^{-2})$ but was a stronger carbon source over the spring canola field (-327 vs. -104 g s)

C m⁻²), compared to the conventional tillage site (**Table 5**). For winter wheat field, the no-till site was a net carbon sink (61 g C m⁻²) while the tilled site was close to carbon neutral (-17 g C m⁻²). Over the three water years, the average annual NECB differed by 25 g C m⁻² between the two sites.



Comparing the carbon simulations between the two sites (CAF-NT and CAF-CT), major differences in their carbon budgets were attributed to the oMGS Reco and the MGS GPP (Figure 5). The CropSyst results showed that the no-till site had comparable annual Reco during the 2013 spring garbanzo year, 55 g C m⁻² lower annual R_{eco} during 2014 (winter wheat), and 152 g C m⁻² greater annual R_{eco} during 2015 (spring canola), compared to the conventional tillage site (Figure 5E, Table 5). Respiration simulations over the spring garbanzo field showed that the no-till management practice resulted in an increased amount of R_a but a comparable reduced amount of $R_{\rm h}$ compared to the conventional tillage scenario runs. For winter wheat, the no-till site had both smaller R_a and R_h compared to the conventional tillage site by an annual difference of 23 and 32 g C m⁻², respectively (Table 5). While for spring canola, the modeled results suggested that the notill practice enhanced Reco with larger contributions by Rh rather than Ra. Due to the large Reco difference over the spring canola fields, the mean annual Reco only differed by $32 \text{ g Cm}^{-2} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ (5%) between CAF-NT and CAF-CT over a 3-year crop rotation of spring garbanzo-winter wheat-spring canola. Based on the paired *t*-test, R_{eco} and R_{h} were significantly different (p < 0.05) during 2015 over the spring canola field (Table 5).

Differences in the modeled GPP and EXP varied with crop rotations. During the 2013 spring garbanzo year, the modeled GPP did not differ much between the two sites and CAF-NT had 41 g C m⁻² lower EXP compared to CAF-CT. During 2014 and 2015, the conventional tillage site had more negative GPP throughout the two growing seasons and eventually had 66 and 79 g C m⁻² more carbon uptake and 89 and 8 g C m⁻² greater EXP relative to the no-till site for winter wheat and spring canola, respectively (Figures 5C,F, Table 5). The GPP and EXP differences in winter wheat and spring canola between the two tillage practices were also noticeable in the biomass measurements (Figure 2). During the end of the growing seasons for spring garbanzo and spring canola, CAF-NT was harvested 1-to-2 weeks later than CAF-CT and therefore resulted in a slightly longer growing simulation period compared to CAF-CT (Figure 5C).

The simulated ET, *E*, and *T* was not significantly different (p > 0.05) between CAF-NT and CAF-CT over the three water years (**Table 5**). For spring garbanzo and winter wheat, the modeled annual sums of ET, *T*, and *E* were similar at the two sites (**Figure 6**). While during 2015 (spring canola), CAF-CT had 36 mm greater annual ET than CAF-NT, primarily a result of the higher annual *T* (**Table 5**, **Figures 6D–E**). As a result, CAF-NT and CAF-CT had very similar *T*/ET ratios for spring
Oct-1

Date



LIND and MMTN, respectively, with an annual T difference contributing the most (Table 5). From October 2014 to March 2015, the cumulative ET did not vary much between the two sites

CAF-CT Tair -30 10/1/12 4/1/13 10/1/13 4/1/14 10/1/14 4/1/15 10/1/15 Date FIGURE 5 | CropSyst daily (A-C) and cumulative (D-F) net ecosystem exchange CO2 (NEE), total ecosystem respiration (Reco), and gross primary productivity (GPP) at the no-till (CAF-NT) and the conventional tillage (CAF-CT) sites from October 1, 2012 to September 30, 2015. Daily mean air temperature (T_{air}) was only plotted for CAF-NT to represent the general temperature conditions at CAF. garbanzo and winter wheat and CAF-CT had a slightly greater by the low air temperature during this period. While during the ratio for spring canola. Even though the annual water budgets did not vary much between the two sites, there were some subtle differences in each water flux component illustrated in the daily step simulations (Figure 6). For instance, CAF-CT had greater E compared to CAF-NT during some of the oMGS rainfall events (Figure 6B). Several small differences in T were mostly seen during the winter wheat growing season; for example, T at CAF-CT was higher than CAF-NT during the early growth stages,

Carbon and Water Budgets at Low- and **High-Rainfall Winter Wheat Fields**

differences in T also corresponded with the GPP patterns.

but slightly lower during the later MGS (Figure 6C). These small

Winter wheat was grown at both high- and low-rainfall sites (MMTN and LIND) during 2015. All CropSyst carbon and water flux components differed greatly between MMTN and LIND, with R_{eco} , GPP, ET, and T significantly different (p < 0.05) between the two sites (Table 5). Limited by the water availability, the magnitude of Reco was much smaller at LIND compared to MMTN over the entire water year (Figures 7B,E), thus resulting in 492 g C m⁻² lower annual R_{eco} relative to MMTN (**Table 5**). The rainfall influence on the simulated R_{eco} was relatively small during the oMGS, as respiration rates were primarily inhibited MGS, the modeled R_{eco} at LIND was <30% of the R_{eco} at MMTN, which was mostly attributed to the different rainfall amounts at the two sites, even though the majority of the rainfall occurred during the oMGS (Figures 7B, 8B). Similar to the Reco patterns at the two sites, MMTN annual GPP $(-887 \text{ g C m}^{-2})$ was estimated to be much greater in magnitude compared to LIND (-317 g)C m⁻²). LIND also had a shorter growing season compared to MMTN due to the influence of rainfall (Figure 7C). In CropSyst, winter wheat at LIND began growing earlier and faster than MMTN during March and April, due to the warmer weather conditions and the stored soil water content from the previous





conventional tillage (CAF-CT) sites from October 1, 2012 to September 30, 2015. Daily precipitation measurements were only plotted for CAF-NT to rep general precipitation conditions at CAF.

and the slightly higher ET at MMTN was primarily attributed to the relatively higher *E* flux component (**Figures 8D,E**). Starting in April 2015, *T* increased quickly at LIND as a result of earlier crop growth compared to MMTN and therefore resulted in a comparable cumulative ET to MMTN in May 2015 (**Figure 8D**). However, starting in June, both cumulative *T* and *E* started increasing at MMTN, while water fluxes at LIND remained nearly constant due to the dry conditions and the short growing season. The estimated *T*/ET ratio was 0.34 and 0.61 for LIND and MMTN, respectively, with a higher fraction of water directly evaporating into the atmosphere at LIND.

DISCUSSION

Model Performance and Evaluation

Through model evaluations for all 14 site-years, we found that CropSyst performed well for simulating biomass and water budgets, as well as determining if a site was an annual carbon sink or source. Therefore, CropSyst can provide reliable daily, annual, and long-term simulations for agricultural carbon and water dynamics over a field-scale.

Overall, the model had better performance for CAF-NT and CAF-CT sites, compared to LIND and MMTN. Both CAF-NT and CAF-CT are located at the research site operated by Washington State University (WSU), vs. the LIND and MMTN sites that are managed by local growers cooperating with WSU. As a result, the more detailed site-specific management practices, such as seeding and harvest dates, tillage types and depths, and fertilization types and rates, were available at CAF-NT and CAF-CT compared to the other two sites. These management practices greatly affected the carbon and water budgets, as the interannual variability of carbon and water fluxes is mainly driven by these indirect effects (e.g., the altered soil microbial community by tillage), rather than the direct effects from the shortterm environmental forcing, such as temperature and moisture (Chu et al., 2016). Additional conditions that may contribute to reduced model performance include site history, which is critical for setting the model initial conditions (e.g., soil organic matter and residue contents). This model input information should ideally be based on specific field measurements, which was partially available at CAF-NT and CAF-CT in this study. Uncertainties in the initial SOC and residue conditions affected the R_h simulations and thus carbon budget simulations in CropSyst.

Because CropSyst does not provide R_a simulations directly, R_a was estimated based on simulated biomass production and coefficients of growth and maintenance respiration per unit of biomass produced. Therefore, R_a simulations are sensitive to the values chosen for the respiration coefficients. Due to the lack of specific crop variety information, crop parameters were set



identically for the same crop species at all sites. For example, crop parameters for winter wheat were the same for CAF and MMTN, resulting in earlier simulated maturity of winter wheat at MMTN and insufficient accumulation of biomass at harvest compared to the measurements. Adequate information for crop model parameterization reduces sources of modeling uncertainty (Confalonieri and Bechini, 2004; Singh et al., 2013). One known weakness of this work is the lack of CropSyst simulations of weed growth during the oMGS or the fallow periods at all sites, which contributed to an underestimated carbon sink strength during these periods. Particularly during the fallow years, there was an important amount of carbon uptake by weeds with an annual GPP of -519 ± 21 g C m⁻² (Waldo et al., 2016).

Uncertainty related to the input parameters may be even larger for some crops that have not been well studied (e.g., spring garbanzo or canola), but this can be improved by model validation and calibration using more measurement data over multiple cropping systems. On the other hand, uncertainties in the eddy covariance measurements may also affect the model performance evaluation, such as gap-filling uncertainties and uncertainties during stable and calm nighttime conditions.

Tillage Practice Effects on Annual Cropping Area

CropSyst was used to assess the tillage effects on carbon and water budgets in this study. The simulations for the paired till and no-till sites had identical model inputs (e.g., crop species, meteorological variables, and seeding rates) with the exceptions of soil conditioning indices and initial conditions for soil organic matter. The different settings for soil conditions were used to account for the tillage effects within CropSyst (Stöckle et al., 2012). As few monitoring studies have been done to investigate the long-term tillage effects on carbon and water budgets, the CropSyst simulations provide an insight of the feasibility of implementing a certain tillage practice over different crop species. The modeled results showed that the difference in the mean annual NECB between CAF-NT and CAF-CT was relatively small and within the uncertainty range of both model simulations and eddy covariance measurements over agricultural ecosystems. The measurement uncertainty in annual carbon budgets is in the range of $18-50 \text{ g C m}^{-2}$ (e.g., Béziat et al., 2009; Schmidt et al., 2012; Chi et al., 2016; Waldo et al., 2016) and the modeling uncertainty is even larger, 50- 110 g C m^{-2} in annual carbon budget or 10-15% in grain yields (Rotter et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2015). Therefore, differences in the long-term averaged carbon budgets between no-till and conventional tillage practices may become less significant under the crop rotations of winter wheat-spring crops in the long run.

By investigating the tillage effects on each carbon flux component over different crops, CropSyst showed greater crop yields for spring garbanzo, winter wheat, and spring canola associated with the conventional tillage practice, most likely resulting from precipitation interception by the residue cover in



FIGURE 8 | CropSyst daily (A–C) and cumulative (D–F) evapotranspiration (ET), soil water evaporation (*E*), and crop transpiration (*T*) at the low-rainfall (LIND) and high-rainfall (MMTN) winter wheat fields during the water year of 2015. Daily precipitation data were only plotted for LIND.

				•				
	Cuemeric	ammunal an	when a set of a	ZI	and water (امديدها (مصرمص	make few 44	alta waawa
IADLE 3	Groosvsr	annuai ca	roon ia u	- m -	and water i	mmi bua	ders for 14	sne-vears.
				/			90.0.0.	0.10

	2	012		20	13		2014			2015				
	LIND	CAF-NT	LIND	CAF-NT	CAF-CT	MMTN	LIND	CAF-NT	CAF-CT	MMTN	LIND	CAF-NT	CAF-CT	MMTN
	(TF)	(WW)	(WW)	(SG)	(SG)	(SB)	(TF)	(WW)	(WW)	(SP)	(WW)	(SC)	(SC)	(WW)
R _{eco}	142	734	314	445	446	552	119	821	876	361	218 ^b	749 ^a	597 ^a	710 ^b
Ra	0	464	195	181	154	186	0	441	464	182	122 ^b	227	210	383 ^b
R _h	142	270	119	264	292	366	119	380	412	179	96 ^b	522 ^a	387 ^a	327 ^b
GPP	-1	-1190	-470	-361	-334	-513	-1	-1108	-1174	-438	-317 ^b	-498	-577	-887 ^b
NEE	141	-456	-156	84	112	39	118	-287	-298	-77	-99	251 ^a	20 ^a	-177
EXP	0	364	80	48	89	192	0	226	315	80	39	76	84	114
NECB	-141	92	76	-132	-201	-231	-118	61	-17	-3	60	-327	-104	63
ET	223	580	316	394	391	381	171	515	518	386	229 ^b	406	442	475 ^b
Т	0	357	126	134	134	166	0	312	323	172	77 ^b	190	225	288 ^b
E	223	223	190	260	257	215	171	203	162	214	152	216	217	187
Precip	250	496	278	539	539	584	175	455	455	536	208	467	467	793
T/ET	0	0.62	0.40	0.34	0.34	0.44	0	0.61	0.62	0.45	0.34	0.47	0.51	0.61

 a significant difference between CAF-NT and CAF-CT (p < 0.05).

 $^{\rm b}{\rm significant}$ difference between LIND and MMTN (p < 0.05).

TF, tillage fallow; WW, winter wheat; SG, spring garbanzo; SB, spring barley; SP, spring pea; SC, spring canola. NT, no-till; CT, conventional tillage. EXP, carbon content in the exported harvest materials. Precip, precipitation.

no-till practice, decreasing the amount of water reaching the soil. Similar results were also found in other studies (Dalrymple et al., 1993; Rasmussen et al., 1997; Kettler et al., 2000; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2000; Rieger et al., 2008; Ogle et al., 2012). The no-till benefits of reduced $R_{\rm eco}$ and $R_{\rm h}$ over the spring garbanzo and the winter wheat fields was primarily due to the fact that no-till practice reduces soil-residue contact, and slows down SOC oxidation and residue decomposition (Kessavalou

13

et al., 1998; Koga et al., 2003; Dong et al., 2008; Li et al., 2010; Chang et al., 2013; Gollany, 2016; Hu et al., 2016; Lu et al., 2016). Comparing CropSyst to the DayCENT model showed that over the winter wheat field, the $R_{\rm h}$ difference between the two sites in CropSyst is comparable to the DayCENT model simulations as reported by Chang et al. (2013). However, CropSyst results showed that no-till management practice resulted in increased $R_{\rm eco}$ for spring canola and almost identical $R_{\rm eco}$ for spring garbanzo, indicating that crop rotations also affected agricultural CO₂ emissions, especially during the growing season (Omonode et al., 2007). As there were very few studies in the literature review related to tillage impacts on CO₂ emissions from the spring garbanzo and the spring canola fields, the only available comparison was with Reco modeled based on corresponding eddy covariance NEE and other data. The Reco derived from the measurements showed that the no-till site had a significant lower annual R_{eco} compared to the conventional tillage over the spring garbanzo field (Chi et al., 2016) and the spring canola field. Therefore, more studies on tillage impacts on R_{eco} over spring crops are needed to validate the modeling results. In summary, the modeled results suggested that no-till can either increase or decrease R_{eco}, greatly depending on crop species. As the increased $R_{\rm eco}$ by no-till practice for spring crops offset the reduced $R_{\rm eco}$ over winter wheat field, the model showed the mean annual $R_{\rm eco}$ did not vary much between the two tillage sites over the three water years. A similar finding was also reported in Campos et al. (2011) where they found no significant difference in annual average CO₂ emissions between tilled and no-till systems.

Comparing the simulated daily R_{eco} between the two sites over the course of three water years, the R_{eco} at the conventional tillage site reacted more intensely to the rainfall events, which was presumably due to the "Birch Effects", where rainfall events after a drought period can induce respiration pulses (Birch, 1958). This was also found in other studies, such as Fierer and Schimel (2003), Jarvis et al. (2007), Unger et al. (2010), and Ma et al. (2012). The impact of rainfall events under no-till management is somewhat reduced due to residue interception of rainfall, particularly with infrequent and low amount rainfall events. Higher R_{eco} at the conventional tillage site after each seeding event was attributed to the enhanced R_h under the warmer and tilled soil conditions, which was also observed in other studies (Dwyer et al., 1995, 1996; Ben Moussa-Machraoui et al., 2010; Derpsch et al., 2010; Aziz et al., 2013).

The similar modeled water budgets at the two sites suggested that tillage practices had insignificant effects on ET, which has also been found over different crop fields, such as winter wheat, spring garbanzo, canola, corns, and soybean (Borstlap and Entz, 1994; Tan et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013; Guan et al., 2015; Chi et al., 2016). Daily *E* differences between the two sites were a good indicator of how the different soil conditions affect the direct water losses from the soil surfaces. Similar to the previous studies, we found that during the oMGS rainfall events, the simulated *E* was suppressed by the residue cover layer at the no-till site compared to the bare and disturbed soils at the conventional tillage site (Salado-Navarro and Sinclair, 2009; van Donk and Klocke, 2012; Wang et al., 2014). This amount of reduced *E* at CAF-NT was mostly affected by rainfall frequency

rather than rainfall amounts, which was also supported by van Donk et al. (2010) where they found the different magnitude in E between residue-covered and bare soils increased during the infrequent and light rainfall events. One example of this is the September 2015 rain events on the 6, 17, and 18th (10.2, 1.5, and 4.6 mm rainfall, respectively) that resulted in the largest difference in simulated E between CAF-NT and CAF-CT (**Figure 6B**). The simulated daily T was only influenced by tillage practices during the winter wheat growing season and the difference between CAF-NT and CAF-CT was consistent with the finding in Guan et al. (2015) where they concluded that ET (mostly T during MGS) under tilled conditions was greater than ET under no-till from seeding to flowering stages, but smaller at the ripening stage.

Rainfall Effects on Winter Wheat Fields

In 2015, winter wheat was grown at the low- and high-rainfall sites (LIND and MMTN), and comparing the CropSyst results between these two sites provided a direct comparison of carbon and water budgets between different rainfall zones in the iPNW region during the same year. Through validating the model performance for assessing the rainfall effects, CropSyst can be applied to study the impacts of future climatic conditions on the field-scale carbon and water cycling. As expected, the high-rainfall area had greater winter wheat crop yield and the limited rainfall in the crop-fallow area greatly restricted crop productivity (Musick et al., 1994; Lindwall et al., 1995). Large rainfall amounts and frequent rainfall events increased the simulated R_{eco} by enhancing R_h during the oMGS and R_a during the MGS at MMTN. The frequent rainfall events during the oMGS greatly enhanced soil microbial activity under the disturbed soil conditions at MMTN, which was also observed by Calderon and Jackson (2002); Zhou et al. (2006); Jiang et al. (2013), and Gong et al. (2015). In addition, MMTN had sufficient water for winter wheat growth, therefore R_a was also much higher compared to LIND where both crop growth and crop respiration were limited by the dry summer. On an annual basis, both sites were net carbon sinks with a comparable NECB magnitude. Higher yields at MMTN enhanced GPP, but larger soil (higher SOC content) and crop (higher biomass) respiration offset GPP and resulted in a relative smaller NEE compared to other high-rainfall winter wheat fields. However, the larger amount of residues produced at MMTN maintained a larger SOC stock.

Based on Liu et al. (2002), the average total water consumption for winter wheat is approximately 450 mm assuming no water stress conditions. The amount of water available at LIND during 2015 was only half of this, even though LIND stored some soil water content from the previous fallow year. According to the CropSyst results, winter wheat was growing under water stress conditions at LIND during 2015, therefore resulting in a much smaller annual ET compared to MMTN and the average value (450 mm). Because of sufficient rainfall during 2015, annual ET at MMTN was comparable to the average water consumption of winter wheat. Based on the difference between annual ET and annual precipitation at MMTN, more than 40% of annual rainfall amount was either stored in the soil or lost via surface runoff. According to the field measurements during 2013–2015, the average runoff was typically <10% of the precipitation and the year of 2015 had 71 mm (9%) surface runoff.

Due to the water stress at LIND, T/ET was significantly lower compared to other studies on winter wheat water use efficiency, where annual T typically accounts for 60–75% of annual ET (Gregory et al., 1992; Liu et al., 2002; Sun et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2010; Aouade et al., 2016). More than 60% of ET was estimated to be lost directly into the atmosphere, which was likely due to the less dense crop coverage at LIND compared to MMTN (seen in the biomass measurements and the timelapse camera), as E typically increases with the winter wheat row spacing (Sun et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2010). T/ET at MMTN was within the average water use efficiency range (0.60–0.75), with the majority of evaporation occurring during the early MGS (March and April). Therefore, the seasonal rainfall distribution also greatly affected the annual water budget and water use efficiency.

CONCLUSIONS

Compared to the eddy covariance measurements, the CropSyst model performed well in simulating NEE and ET at all sites with an overall r of 0.78 and 0.80 and a RMSE of 1.82 g C m⁻² d⁻¹ and 0.84 mm d⁻¹, respectively. Overall, the model slightly underestimated the carbon sink strength and the total water consumption by 0.51 g C m⁻² d⁻¹ and 0.09 mm d⁻¹, respectively. Carbon budget simulations showed that the winter wheat fields in the iPNW region were either net carbon sinks or near carbon neutral (NECB, 92 to -17 g C m⁻²), while the fallow site and the spring crop fields were net carbon sources or neutral (NECB, -327 to -3 g C m⁻²) over an annual basis. Annual water budget simulations indicated that water use efficiency (*T*/ET) was significantly lower over the spring crop fields and the low-rainfall winter wheat fields (0.61–0.62).

The seasonal and inter-annual variability of carbon and water budgets also agreed well with the eddy covariance measurements. The inter-annual variations of each flux component were greatly affected by crop rotations and meteorological conditions, with winter wheat and high-rainfall sites typically having larger magnitudes of carbon and water fluxes, compared to the spring and the low-rainfall site.

CropSyst output was used to assess the impacts of tillage practices and rainfall on agricultural carbon and water

REFERENCES

- AgWeatherNet (2016). Washington State University's AgWeatherNet Network, (Pullman, WA), Available online at: http://weather.wsu.edu/
- Amthor, J. S. (2000). The McCree-de Wit-Penning de Vries-Thornley respiration paradigms: 30 years later. Ann. Bot. 86, 1–20. doi: 10.1006/anbo.2000.1175
- Aouade, G., Ezzahar, J., Amenzou, N., Er-Raki, S., Benkaddour, A., Khabba, S., et al. (2016). Combining stable isotopes, eddy covariance system and meteorological measurements for partitioning evapotranspiration, of winter wheat, into soil evaporation and plant transpiration in a semi-arid region. *Agric. Water Manage*. 177, 181–192. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2016.07.021

budgets in the iPNW region. The modeled results suggested that no-till practice resulted in lower carbon losses from the winter wheat and spring garbanzo fields but higher CO_2 emissions from the spring canola field compared to the conventional tillage. Tillage practices showed varied effects on crop yields, strongly depending on crop species. Therefore, more studies will be needed to further investigate the tillage effects on different crop species. Water budget simulations did not differ significantly between the two tillage systems. Compared to the low-rainfall winter wheat field, the high-rainfall site obtained greater winter wheat crop yield and higher water use efficiency but had higher CO_2 emissions.

In summary, the CropSyst model can be used as a practical tool to assess the field-scale carbon and water budgets. Future work associated with improving the model performance for site-specific simulations includes using more detailed management practices as model input, calibrating the model with measurements over various crop species, obtaining adequate model initial conditions for each site-year.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PO, SW, JC, and EB contributed to the field data collection. JC, SW, SP, and BL contributed to eddy covariance data processing. FM and CS provided the modeling results. JC and FM prepared the figures and tables. JC, FM, SW, SP, CS, BL, WP, DH, and EB conducted the data analysis and interpretation. All authors contributed to the writing of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research is supported by the Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture (REACCH-PNA) project which is funded through award #2011-68002-30191 from the National Institute of Food and Agriculture. We would like to acknowledge the rest of the REACCH Objective 2 and 3 team members and thank Mike Dymkoski for providing the detailed farming activities at the CAF-NT site.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fevo. 2017.00050/full#supplementary-material

- Aubinet, M., Moureaux, C., Bodson, B., Dufranne, D., Heinesch, B., Suleau, M., et al. (2009). Carbon sequestration by a crop over a 4-year sugar beet/winter wheat/seed potato/winter wheat rotation cycle. Agric. For. Meteorol. 149, 407–418. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2008.09.003
- Aziz, I., Mahmood, T., and Islam, K. R. (2013). Effect of long term no-till and conventional tillage practices on soil quality. *Soil Tillage Res.* 131, 28–35. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2013.03.002
- Baldocchi, D. D. (2003). Assessing the eddy covariance technique for evaluating carbon dioxide exchange rates of ecosystems: past, present and future. *Global Change Biol.* 9, 479–492. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2003. 00629.x

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

15

- Ball, B. C., Scott, A., and Parker, J. P. (1999). Field N₂O, CO₂ and CH₄ fluxes in relation to tillage, compaction and soil quality in Scotland. *Soil Tillage Res.* 53, 29–39. doi: 10.1016/S0167-1987(99)00074-4
- Bater, C. W., Coops, N. C., Wulder, M. A., Hilker, T., Nielsen, S. E., McDermid, G., et al. (2011). Using digital time-lapse cameras to monitor species-specific understorey and overstorey phenology in support of wildlife habitat assessment. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 180, 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s10661-010-1768-x
- Benli, B., Pala, M., Stockle, C., and Oweis, T. (2007). Assessment of winter wheat production under early sowing with supplemental irrigation in a cold highland environment using CropSyst simulation model. *Agric. Water Manage.* 93, 45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2007.06.014
- Ben Moussa-Machraoui, S., Errouissi, F., Ben-Hammouda, M., and Nouira, S. (2010). Comparative effects of conventional and no-tillage management on some soil properties under Mediterranean semi-arid conditions in northwestern Tunisia. *Soil Tillage Res.* 106, 247–253. doi: 10.1016/j.still. 2009.10.009
- Bernacchi, C. J., Hollinger, S. E., and Meyers, T. (2005). The conversion of the corn/soybean ecosystem to no-till agriculture may result in a carbon sink. *Global Change Biol.* 11, 1867–1872. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005. 01050.x
- Béziat, P., Ceschia, E., and Dedieu, G. (2009). Carbon balance of a three crop succession over two cropland sites in South West France. Agric. For. Meteorol. 149, 1628–1645. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2009.05.004
- Birch, H. F. (1958). Pattern of humus decomposition in East African soils. Nature 181, 788–788. doi: 10.1038/181788a0
- Bondeau, A., Smith, P. C., Zaehle, S., Schaphoff, S., Lucht, W., Cramer, W., et al. (2007). Modelling the role of agriculture for the 20th century global terrestrial carbon balance. *Global Change Biol.* 13, 679–706. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486. 2006.01305.x
- Bond-Lamberty, B., and Thomson, A. (2010). Temperature-associated increases in the global soil respiration record. *Nature* 464, 579–582. doi: 10.1038/nature08930
- Borstlap, S., and Entz, M. H. (1994). Zero-tillage influence on canola, field pea and wheat in a dry subhumid region: agronomic and physiological response. *Can. J. Plant. Sci.* 74, 411–420. doi: 10.4141/cjps94-078
- Calderon, F. J., and Jackson, L. E. (2002). Rototillage, disking, and subsequent irrigation: effects on soil nitrogen dynamics, microbial biomass, and carbon dioxide efflux. J. Environ. Qual. 31, 752–758. doi: 10.2134/jeq2002.0752
- Campos, B. H. C., Amado, T. J. C., Tornquist, C. G., Nicoloso, R. D., and Fiorin, J. E. (2011). Long-term C-CO₂ emissions and carbon crop residue mineralization in an oxisol under different tillage and crop rotation systems. *Rev. Bras. Ciênc. Solo* 35, 819–832. doi: 10.1590/S0100-06832011000300017
- Cannell, M. G. R., and Thornley, J. H. M. (2000). Modelling the components of plant respiration: some guiding principles. *Ann. Bot.* 85, 45–54. doi: 10.1006/ anbo.1999.0996
- Chang, K. H., Warland, J., Voroney, P., Bartlett, P., and Wagner-Riddle, C. (2013). Using DayCENT to simulate carbon dynamics in conventional and no-till agriculture. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 77, 941–950. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2012.0354
- Chapin, F. S. III, Woodwell, G. M., Randerson, J. T., Rastetter, E. B., Lovett, G. M., Baldocchi, D. D., et al. (2006). Reconciling carbon-cycle concepts, terminology, and methods. *Ecosystems* 9, 1041–1050. doi: 10.1007/s10021-005-0105-7
- Chen, M., Griffis, T. J., Baker, J., Wood, J. D., and Xiao, K. (2015). Simulating crop phenology in the community land model and its impact on energy and carbon fluxes. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosci. 120, 310–325. doi: 10.1002/2014JG002780
- Chen, S. Y., Zhang, X. Y., Sun, H. Y., Ren, T. S., and Wang, Y. M. (2010). Effects of winter wheat row spacing on evapotranpsiration, grain yield and water use efficiency. *Agric. Water Manage*. 97, 1126–1132. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2009.09.005
- Chi, J., Waldo, S., Pressley, S., O'Keeffe, P., Huggins, D., Stöckle, C., et al. (2016). Assessing carbon and water dynamics of no-till and conventional tillage cropping systems in the inland Pacific Northwest US using the eddy covariance method. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 218–219, 37–49. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.11.019
- Chu, H., Chen, J., Gottgens, J. F., Desai, A. R., Ouyang, Z., and Qian, S. S. (2016). Response and biophysical regulation of carbon dioxide fluxes to climate variability and anomaly in contrasting ecosystems in northwestern Ohio, USA. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 220, 50–68. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2016.01.008

- Confalonieri, R., Acutis, M., Bellocchi, G., and Donatelli, M. (2009). Multi-metric evaluation of the models WARM, CropSyst, and WOFOST for rice. *Ecol. Modell*. 220, 1395–1410. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2009.02.017
- Confalonieri, R., and Bechini, L. (2004). A preliminary evaluation of the simulation model CropSyst for alfalfa. *Eur. J. Agron.* 21, 223–237. doi: 10.1016/j.eja. 2003.08.003
- Dalrymple, A. W., Miller, S. D., and Fornstrom, K. J. (1993). Soil-water conservation and winter-wheat yield in 3 fallow systems. J. Soil Water Conserv. 48, 53–57.
- Derpsch, R., Friedrich, T., Kassam, A., and Li, H. (2010). Current status of adoption of no-till farming in the world and some of its main benefits. *Int. J. Agric. Biol. Eng.* 3, 1–25. doi: 10.3965/j.issn.1934-6344.2010.01.0-0
- Donatelli, M., Stöckle, C., Ceotto, E., and Rinaldi, M. (1997). Evaluation of CropSyst for cropping systems at two locations of northern and southern Italy. *Eur. J. Agron.* 6, 35–45. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(96)02029-1
- Dong, W., Hu, C., Chen, S., and Zhang, Y. (2008). Tillage and residue management effects on soil carbon and CO₂ emission in a wheat-corn double-cropping system. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.* 83:27. doi: 10.1007/s10705-008-9195-x
- Douglas, C. L., Rickman, R. W., Klepper, B. L., Zuzel, J. F., and Wysocki, D. J. (1992). Agroclimatic zones for dryland winter-wheat producing areas of Idaho, Washington, and Oregon. *Northwest Sci.* 66, 26–34.
- Dwyer, L. M., Ma, B. L., Hayhoe, H. N., and Culley, J. L. B. (1995). Tillage effects on soil temperature, shoot dry matter accumulation and corn grain yield. J. Sustainable Agric. 5, 85–99. doi: 10.1300/J064v05n01_07
- Dwyer, L. M., Ma, B. L., Stewart, D. W., Hayhoe, H. N., Balchin, D., Culley, J. L. B., et al. (1996). Root mass distribution under conventional and conservation tillage. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 76, 23–28. doi: 10.4141/cjss96-004
- Estévez, J., Gavilán, P., and Giráldez, J. V. (2011). Guidelines on validation procedures for meteorological data from automatic weather stations. *J. Hydrol.* 402, 144–154. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.02.031
- Fierer, N., and Schimel, J. P. (2003). A proposed mechanism for the pulse in carbon dioxide production commonly observed following the rapid rewetting of a dry soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 67, 798–805. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2003.0798
- Gollany, H. (2016). "CQESTR simulation of dryland agroecosystem soil organic carbon changes under climate change Scenarios," in Synthesis and Modeling of Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Carbon Storage in Agricultural and Forest Systems to Guide Mitigation and Adaptation, eds S. J. DelGrosso, L. R. Ahuja and W. J. Parton (Madison, WI: American Society of Agronomy, Inc.; Crop Science Society of America, Inc.; Fitchburg, WI: Soil Science Society of America, Inc.), 59–87.
- Gong, J., Xu, S., Wang, Y., Luo, Q., Liu, M., and Zhang, W. (2015). Effect of irrigation on the soil respiration of constructed grasslands in Inner Mongolia, China. *Plant Soil* 395, 159–172. doi: 10.1007/s11104-015-2534-1
- Gregory, P. J., Tennant, D., and Belford, R. K. (1992). Root and shoot growth, and water and light use efficiency of barley and wheat crops grown on a shallow duplex soil in a Mediterranean-type environment. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 43, 555–573. doi: 10.1071/AR9920555
- Guan, D. H., Zhang, Y. S., Al-Kaisi, M. M., Wang, Q. Y., Zhang, M. C., and Li, Z. H. (2015). Tillage practices effect on root distribution and water use efficiency of winter wheat under rain-fed condition in the North China Plain. *Soil Tillage Res.* 146, 286–295. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2014.09.016
- Holzworth, D. P., Snow, V., Janssen, S., Athanasiadis, I. N., Donatelli, M., Hoogenboom, G., et al. (2015). Agricultural production systems modelling and software: current status and future prospects. *Environ. Modell. Software* 72, 276–286. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2014.12.013
- Hu, F. L., Gan, Y. T., Cui, H. Y., Zhao, C., Feng, F. X., Yin, W., et al. (2016). Intercropping maize and wheat with conservation agriculture principles improves water harvesting and reduces carbon emissions in dry areas. *Eur. J. Agron.* 74, 9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.eja.2015.11.019
- Huggins, D., Rupp, R., Gessler, P., Pan, W. L., Brown, D., Machado, S., et al. (2011). "Dynamic agroecological zones for the inland Pacific Northwest, USA," in Proceedings of American Geophysical Union Fall *Meeting* (San Francisco, CA).
- Jalota, S. K., Kaur, H., Ray, S. S., Tripathi, R., Vashisht, B. B., and Bal, S. K. (2012). Mitigating future climate change effects by shifting planting dates of crops in rice-wheat cropping system. *Reg. Environ. Change* 12, 913–922. doi: 10.1007/s10113-012-0300-y

- Jarvis, P., Rey, A., Petsikos, C., Wingate, L., Rayment, M., Pereira, J., et al. (2007). Drying and wetting of Mediterranean soils stimulates decomposition and carbon dioxide emission: the "Birch effect." *Tree Physiol.* 27, 929–940. doi: 10.1093/treephys/27.7.929
- Jiang, H., Deng, Q., Zhou, G., Hui, D., Zhang, D., Liu, S., et al. (2013). Responses of soil respiration and its temperature/moisture sensitivity to precipitation in three subtropical forests in southern China. *Biogeosciences* 10, 3963–3982. doi: 10.5194/bg-10-3963-2013
- Kemanian, A. R., and Stöckle, C. O. (2010). C-Farm: a simple model to evaluate the carbon balance of soil profiles. *Eur. J. Agron.* 32, 22–29. doi: 10.1016/j.eja.2009.08.003
- Kessavalou, A., Mosier, A. R., Doran, J. W., Drijber, R. A., Lyon, D. J., and Heinemeyer, O. (1998). Fluxes of carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, and methane in grass sod and winter wheat-fallow tillage management. J. Environ. Qual. 27, 1094–1104. doi: 10.2134/jeq1998.00472425002700050015x
- Kettler, T. A., Lyon, D. J., Doran, J. W., Powers, W. L., and Stroup, W. W. (2000). Soil quality assessment after weed-control tillage in a no-till wheatfallow cropping system. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 64, 339–346. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2000. 641339x
- Koga, N., Tsuruta, H., Tsuji, H., and Nakano, H. (2003). Fuel consumptionderived CO₂ emissions under conventional and reduced tillage cropping systems in northern Japan. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 99, 213–219. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8809(03)00132-4
- Lasslop, G., Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Richardson, A. D., Arneth, A., Barr, A., et al. (2010). Separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and respiration using a light response curve approach: critical issues and global evaluation. *Global Change Biol.* 16, 187–208. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009. 02041.x
- Law, B. E., Arkebauer, T. J., Campbell, J. L., Chen, J., Sun, O., Schwartz, M., et al. (2008). Terrestrial Carbon Observations: Protocols for Vegetation Sampling and Data Submission. Rome, Italy: Global Terrestrial Observing System.
- Law, B. E., Falge, E., Gu, L., Baldocchi, D. D., Bakwin, P., Berbigier, P., et al. (2002). Environmental controls over carbon dioxide and water vapor exchange of terrestrial vegetation. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 113, 97–120. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1923(02)00104-1
- Lehmann, N., Finger, R., Klein, T., Calanca, P., and Walter, A. (2013). Adapting crop management practices to climate change: modeling optimal solutions at the field scale. *Agric. Syst.* 117, 55–65. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2012.12.011
- Li, H., Qiu, J., Wang, L., Tang, H., Li, C., and Van Ranst, E. (2010). Modelling impacts of alternative farming management practices on greenhouse gas emissions from a winter wheat-maize rotation system in China. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 135, 24–33. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.08.003
- Lindwall, C. W., Larney, F. J., and Carefoot, J. M. (1995). Rotation, tillage and seeder effects on winter-wheat performance and soil-moisture regime. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 75, 109–116. doi: 10.4141/cjss95-014
- Liu, C., Zhang, X., and Zhang, Y. (2002). Determination of daily evaporation and evapotranspiration of winter wheat and maize by large-scale weighing lysimeter and micro-lysimeter. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 111, 109–120. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1923(02) 00015-1
- Liu, S., Zhang, X.-Y., Yang, J., and Drury, C. F. (2013). Effect of conservation and conventional tillage on soil water storage, water use efficiency and productivity of corn and soybean in Northeast China. Acta Agric. Scand. B Soil Plant Sci. 63, 383–394. doi: 10.1080/09064710.2012.762803
- Lloyd, J., and Taylor, J. A. (1994). On the temperature dependence of soil respiration. *Funct. Ecol.* 8, 315–323. doi: 10.2307/2389824
- Lopez-Bellido, L., Lopez-Bellido, R. J., Castillo, J. E., and Lopez-Bellido, F. J. (2000). Effects of tillage, crop rotation, and nitrogen fertilization on wheat under rainfed Mediterranean conditions. *Agron. J.* 92, 1054–1063. doi: 10.2134/agronj2000.9261054x
- Lu, X. L., Lu, X. N., and Liao, Y. C. (2016). Soil CO₂ emission and its relationship to soil properties under different tillage systems. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 62, 1021–1032. doi: 10.1080/03650340.2015.1115838
- Ma, S. Y., Baldocchi, D. D., Hatala, J. A., Detto, M., and Yuste, J. C. (2012). Are rain-induced ecosystem respiration pulses enhanced by legacies of antecedent photodegradation in semi-arid environments? *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 154, 203–213. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2011.11.007

- Marsal, J., and Stockle, C. O. (2012). Use of CropSyst as a decision support system for scheduling regulated deficit irrigation in a pear orchard. *Irrig. Sci.* 30, 139–147. doi: 10.1007/s00271-011-0273-5
- Monteith, J. L. (1965). "Evaporation and environment," in 19th Symposia of the Society for Experimental Biology. (Cambridge: University Press).
- Monteith, J. L. (1977). Climate and the efficiency of crop production in Britain. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 281, 277–294. doi: 10.1098/rstb. 1977.0140
- Musick, J. T., Jones, O. R., Stewart, B. A., and Dusek, D. A. (1994). Water-yield relationships for irrigated and dryland wheat in the U.S. Southern Plains. *Agron. J.* 86, 980–986. doi: 10.2134/agronj1994.00021962008600060010x
- Ogle, S. M., Swan, A., and Paustian, K. (2012). No-till management impacts on crop productivity, carbon input and soil carbon sequestration. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 149, 37–49. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2011.12.010
- Omonode, R. A., Vyn, T. J., Smith, D. R., Hegymegi, P., and Gál, A. (2007). Soil carbon dioxide and methane fluxes from long-term tillage systems in continuous corn and corn-soybean rotations. *Soil Tillage Res.* 95, 182–195. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2006.12.004
- Penning de Vries, F. W. T. (1974). Substrate utilization and respiration in higher plants. Neth. J. Agric. Sci. 22, 40–44.
- Penning de Vries, F. W. T., Jansen, D. M., ten Berge, H. F. M., and Bakema, A. (1989). Simulation of Ecophysiological Processes of Growth in Several Annual Crops. Wageningen: Pudoc.
- Purakayastha, T. J., Huggins, D. R., and Smith, J. L. (2008). Carbon sequestration in native prairie, perennial grass, no-till, and cultivated Palouse silt loam. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 72, 534–540. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2005.0369
- Rabinowitch, E. (1951). *Photosynthesis and Related Processes*. New York, NY: Interscience Publishers.
- Rasmussen, P. E., Rickman, R. W., and Klepper, B. L. (1997). Residue and fertility effects on yield of no-till wheat. *Agron. J.* 89, 563–567. doi: 10.2134/agronj1997.00021962008900040005x
- Regina, K., and Alakukku, L. (2010). Greenhouse gas fluxes in varying soils types under conventional and no-tillage practices. *Soil Tillage Res.* 109, 144–152. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2010.05.009
- Reichstein, M., Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Papale, D., Aubinet, M., Berbigier, P., et al. (2005). On the separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and ecosystem respiration: review and improved algorithm. *Global Change Biol.* 11, 1424–1439. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001002.x
- Richardson, A. D., and Hollinger, D. Y. (2007). A method to estimate the additional uncertainty in gap-filled NEE resulting from long gaps in the CO₂ flux record. Agric. For. Meteorol. 147, 199–208. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2007. 06.004
- Rieger, S., Richner, W., Streit, B., Frossard, E., and Liedgens, M. (2008). Growth, yield, and yield components of winter wheat and the effects of tillage intensity, preceding crops, and N fertilisation. *Eur. J. Agron.* 28, 405–411. doi: 10.1016/j.eja.2007.11.006
- Rotter, R. P., Palosuo, T., Kersebaum, K. C., Angulo, C., Bindi, M., Ewert, F., et al. (2012). Simulation of spring barley yield in different climatic zones of Northern and Central Europe: a comparison of nine crop models. *Field Crop. Res.* 133, 23–36. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2012.03.016
- Running, S. W. (2012). A measurable planetary boundary for the biosphere. *Science* 337, 1458–1459. doi: 10.1126/science.1227620
- Salado-Navarro, L. R., and Sinclair, T. R. (2009). Crop rotations in Argentina: analysis of water balance and yield using crop models. *Agric. Syst.* 102, 11–16. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2009.06.004
- Sauerbeck, D. R. (2001). CO₂ emissions and C sequestration by agricultureperspectives and limitations. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.* 60, 253–266. doi: 10.1023/A:1012617516477
- Schillinger, W. F. (2001). Minimum and delayed conservation tillage for wheatfallow farming. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 65, 1203–1209. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2001. 6541203x
- Schmidt, M., Reichenau, T. G., Fiener, P., and Schneider, K. (2012). The carbon budget of a winter wheat field: an eddy covariance analysis of seasonal and inter-annual variability. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 165, 114–126. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.05.012
- Sinclair, T. R., Tanner, C. B., and Bennett, J. M. (1984). Water-use efficiency in crop production. *Bioscience* 34, 36–40. doi: 10.2307/1309424

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

17

- Singh, A. K., Goyal, V., Mishra, A. K., and Parihar, S. S. (2013). Validation of CropSyst simulation model for direct seeded rice-wheat cropping system. *Curr. Sci.* 104, 1324–1331. Available online at: http://www.currentscience.ac.in/ Volumes/104/10/1324.pdf
- Soil Survey Staff (1999). "Soil taxonomy: A basic system of soil classification for making and interpreting soil surveys," in *Natural Resources Conservation Service. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 436.* 2nd Edn. (Washington, DC: USDA).
- Stöckle, C., Higgins, S., Kemanian, A., Nelson, R., Huggins, D., Marcos, J., et al. (2012). Carbon storage and nitrous oxide emissions of cropping systems in eastern Washington: a simulation study. J. Soil Water Conserv. 67, 365–377. doi: 10.2489/jswc.67.5.365
- Stöckle, C. O., Donatelli, M., and Nelson, R. (2003). CropSyst, a cropping systems simulation model. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 289–307. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00109-0
- Stöckle, C. O., Kemanian, A. R., Nelson, R. L., Adam, J. C., Sommer, R., and Carlson, B. (2014). CropSyst model evolution: from field to regional to global scales and from research to decision support systems. *Environ. Modell. Software* 62, 361–369. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2014.09.006
- Stöckle, C. O., Martin, S. A., and Campbell, G. S. (1994). CropSyst, a cropping systems simulation model: water/nitrogen budgets and crop yield. *Agric. Syst.* 46, 335–359. doi: 10.1016/0308-521X(94)90006-2
- Sun, H. Y., Liu, C. M., Zhang, X. Y., Shen, Y. J., and Zhang, Y. Q. (2006). Effects of irrigation on water balance, yield and WUE of winter wheat in the North China Plain. Agric. Water Manage. 85, 211–218. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2006.04.008
- Tan, C. S., Drury, C. F., Gaynor, J. D., Welacky, T. W., and Reynolds, W. D. (2002).
 Effect of tillage and water table control on evapotranspiration, surface runoff, tile drainage and soil water content under maize on a clay loam soil. Agric. Water Manage. 54, 173–188. doi: 10.1016/S0378-3774(01)00178-0
- Thornley, J. H. M. (1970). Respiration, growth and maintenance in plants. *Nature* 227, 304–305. doi: 10.1038/227304b0
- Tubiello, F. N., Donatelli, M., Rosenzweig, C., and Stockle, C. O. (2000). Effects of climate change and elevated CO₂ on cropping systems: model predictions at two Italian locations. *Eur. J. Agron.* 13, 179–189. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(00)00073-3
- Unger, S., Máguas, C., Pereira, J. S., David, T. S., and Werner, C. (2010). The influence of precipitation pulses on soil respiration-Assessing the "Birch effect" by stable carbon isotopes. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 42, 1800–1810. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.06.019
- USDA-NRCS (2002). Guide to Using the Soil Conditioning Index, (Lincoln, NB). Available online at: http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/ nrcs144p2_025093.pdf
- van Donk, S. J., and Klocke, N. L. (2012). "Tillage and crop residue removal effects on evaporation, irrigation requirements, and yield," in Proceedings of the 24th Annual Central Plains Irrigation Conference. (Colby, KS).
- van Donk, S. J., Martin, D. L., Irmak, S., Melvin, S. R., Petersen, J. L., and Davison, D. R. (2010). Crop residue cover effects on evaporation, soil water content, and yield of deficit-irrigated corn in west-Central Nebraska. *Trans. ASABE* 53, 1787–1797. doi: 10.13031/2013.35805

- van Iersel, M. W., and Seymour, L. (2000). Growth respiration, maintenance respiration, and carbon fixation of vinca: a time series analysis. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci. 125, 702–706. Available online at: http://journal.ashspublications. org/content/125/6/702.abstract
- Vuichard, N., Ciais, P., Viovy, N., Li, L., Ceschia, E., Wattenbach, M., et al. (2016). Simulating the net ecosystem CO₂ exchange and its components over winter wheat cultivation sites across a large climate gradient in Europe using the ORCHIDEE-STICS generic model. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 226, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2016.04.017
- Waldo, S., Chi, J., Pressley, S. N., O'Keeffe, P., Pan, W. L., Brooks, E. S., et al. (2016). Assessing carbon dynamics at high and low rainfall agricultural sites in the inland Pacific Northwest US using the eddy covariance method. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 218–219, 25–36. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015. 11.018
- Wang, X., Jia, Z., and Liang, L. (2014). Effect of straw incorporation on soil moisture, evapotranspiration, and rainfall-use efficiency of maize under dryland farming. J. Soil Water Conserv. 69, 449–455. doi: 10.2489/jswc.69.5.449
- Web Soil Survey (2013). Available online at: http://websoilsurvey.sc.egov.usda.gov/ App/HomePage.htm
- West, T. O., and Post, W. M. (2002). Soil organic carbon sequestration rates by tillage and crop rotation: a global data analysis. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 66, 1930–1946. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2002.1930
- Willmott, C. J. (1982). Some comments on the evaluation of model performance. *Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc.* 63, 1309–1313. doi: 10.1175/1520-0477(1982) 063<1309:SCOTEO>2.0.CO;2
- Zhang, S., Sadras, V., Chen, X., and Zhang, F. (2013). Water use efficiency of dryland wheat in the Loess Plateau in response to soil and crop management. *Field Crop. Res.* 151, 9–18. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2013. 07.005
- Zhou, X., Sherry, R. A., An, Y., Wallace, L. L., and Luo, Y. (2006). Main and interactive effects of warming, clipping, and doubled precipitation on soil CO₂ efflux in a grassland ecosystem. *Global Biogeochem. Cycles* 20, 1–12. doi: 10.1029/2005GB002526

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer BB and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Chi, Maureira, Waldo, Pressley, Stöckle, O'Keeffe, Pan, Brooks, Huggins and Lamb. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Agroclimatology and Wheat Production: Coping with Climate Change

Jerry L. Hatfield* and Christian Dold

Supervisory Plant Physiologist and Research Associate, National Laboratory for Agriculture and the Environment, Agricultural Research Service, United States Department of Agriculture, Ames, IA, United States

Cereal production around the world is critical to the food supply for the human population. Crop productivity is primarily determined by a combination of temperature and precipitation because temperatures have to be in the range for plant growth and precipitation has to supply crop water requirements for a given environment. The question is often asked about the changes in productivity and what we can expect in the future and we evaluated the causes for variation in historical annual statewide wheat grain yields in Oklahoma, Kansas, and North Dakota across the Great Plains of United States. Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) is adapted to this area and we focused on production in these states from 1950 to 2016. This analysis used a framework for annual yields using yield gaps between attainable and actual yields and found the primary cause of the variation among years were attributable to inadequate precipitation during the grain-filling period. In Oklahoma, wheat yields were reduced when April and May precipitation was limited ($r^2 = 0.70$), while in Kansas, May precipitation was the dominant factor ($r^2 = 0.78$), and in North Dakota June–July precipitation was the factor explaining yield variation ($r^2 = 0.65$). Temperature varied among seasons and at the statewide level did not explain a significant portion of the yield variation. The pattern of increased variation in precipitation will cause further variation in wheat production across the Great Plains. Reducing yield variation among years will require adaptation practices that increase water availability to the crop coupled with the positive impact derived from other management practices, e.g., cultivars, fertilizer management, etc.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Erin Brooks, University of Idaho, United States

Reviewed by:

llias Travlos, Agricultural University of Athens, Greece Tabitha Therisa Brown, Washington State University, United States

> *Correspondence: Jerry L. Hatfield jerry.hatfield@ars.usda.gov

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Plant Science

> Received: 27 February 2017 Accepted: 06 February 2018 Published: 20 February 2018

Citation:

Hatfield JL and Dold C (2018) Agroclimatology and Wheat Production: Coping with Climate Change. Front. Plant Sci. 9:224. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2018.00224 Keywords: temperature, precipitation, yield gaps, agroclimatic indices, historical yields

INTRODUCTION

Agricultural ecosystems convert light, water, carbon dioxide, and nutrients into a variety of diverse plant products, e.g., carbohydrates, proteins, starch, etc. However, the changing climate, affects water availability, temperature, and atmospheric CO_2 concentrations which in turn directly influences the plant growth processes and ultimately the ability of plants to efficiently produce the protein, starch, and other plant products that the human race requires as food. These effects are especially critical in cereal crops because of the importance in the human food supply. It is important to understand the role climate has on crop productivity and on individual plants and plant communities as part of agroecosystems.

Production variability in cereal crops in Queensland, Australia has been related to availability of precipitation and temperatures during the growing season (Yu et al., 2014). They found precipitation during the vegetative stage was the positive factor and most beneficial in determining grain yield, while exposure to high maximum temperatures depressed grain yields. Assessments of the future impacts of climate on agricultural productivity have been the subject of several recent summaries (Hatfield et al., 2011). These summaries have fostered extensive efforts to model the effects of future climate and have revealed that the continual increase in temperatures will depress wheat yields by 6% per °C increase (Asseng et al., 2015). Increasing carbon dioxide levels will increase growth; however, the positive effects are often offset by exposure to high temperatures and reduced precipitation (Hatfield et al., 2011). The Great Plains of the United States represent one of the most extensive areas of wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) production. Historical yields across the Great Plains provide an opportunity to evaluate the change in production relative to climate trends and to determine the effect of a changing climate on grain yields. One potential avenue to evaluate yield response is to examine the change in the yield gap, defined as the difference between the potential and actual vield. Licker et al. (2010) and van Brussel et al. (2015) have shown the value of yield gaps in being able to assess productivity in crops across the globe. Hatfield et al. (2017) utilized yield gap analysis across the Midwest for corn (Zea mays L.) and soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merr.] to determine the relationship between yield gaps and the meteorological conditions during the growing season. They found that July maximum, August minimum, and July-August precipitation totals were the dominant factors explaining yield gaps in these two crops across the Midwest. They utilized these relationships to estimate the potential impact of a changing climate across the Midwest and found with increasing temperatures and more variable summer precipitation there would be significant decreases in corn and soybean production.

Yield gap analysis was applied to the Great Plains of the United States using Kansas, Oklahoma, and North Dakota statewide yield data as examples of the changes in wheat productivity. These states were selected because Kansas and Oklahoma wheat yields at the state-wide production have shown a decline since 2000 with a recovery in yields in 2016 to near record levels (**Figure 1**). These trends are in contrast to wheat yields in in North Dakota that have continued to exhibit a yield increase with the typical annual variation due to variable weather during the growing season (**Figure 1**). Our goal was to evaluate the yield gaps in these three states and relate these yield gaps to the meteorological conditions during the growing season.

YIELD GAPS IN CEREALS

Throughout the history of agriculture, there has been the development of indices that describe how crops respond to the weather or how climate affects the distribution of crops around the world. Temperature and precipitation have been the two primary variables used in the development of these indices because of the availability of these data from public



sources; however, the relationship of these indices to yield gaps has not been conducted. A recent study by Holzkämper et al. (2013) incorporated six factors into a crop suitability index that included average daily minimum temperatures below 0°C for frost impacts, daily mean temperature to determine plant growth, average daily maximum temperature above 35°C for heat stress, average daily soil water availability (precipitation– reference evapotranspiration), and length of the phenological period (days) to account for the effects of changing phenological development on biomass accumulation and crop yield. They were able to relate their index to maize yields for a number

Wheat and Climate in the Great Plains

of locations around the world with a positive relationship between productivity and the suitability index. This approach is a refinement of the original approach by Neild and Richman (1981) to add more factors into their index to more closely match crop physiological responses.

Temperature impacts crop phenology and each species has a specific lower temperature value or base temperature, an optimum temperature value, and an upper temperature limit (Hatfield et al., 2011). Increases in temperature above the optimum have shown a negative impact on wheat yield with a projected 5.3% (Innes et al., 2015), and 6% (Asseng et al., 2015) yield reduction per 1°C rise. In wheat, exposure to frost or high temperatures during pollination has a significant effect on yield (Prasad and Djanaguiraman, 2014; Rezaei et al., 2015).

Adequate soil water supplies to the crop can offset the impacts of temperature extremes that are projected to increase during the growing season (Hansen et al., 2012; Collins et al., 2013; Walsh et al., 2014). These are difficult concepts to evaluate; however, understanding the linkage between historical yields and climate provides a foundation for future management scenarios.

To evaluate this framework, we computed the yield gaps for wheat production in Kansas, Oklahoma, and North Dakota following the approach of Egli and Hatfield (2014a) and Hatfield et al. (2017) using state level yield data since 1950. We selected 1950 as the beginning point in these analyses because this represents the agricultural era with modern technology. Yield gaps are computed as the difference between attainable yield, defined as the highest yields observed over the period of record, and the actual yield. Attainable yields are assumed to represent wheat yields under conditions that are non-limiting during the production year and a regression line is fit through these yields to obtain an attainable yield for each year. In this case study we used statewide yields rather than county yields to show the impact of climate variables at a large scale. It is evident for these three states that the attainable yield varies among states. For example, in Oklahoma, state level yields have shown only a modest increase since 1980 while Kansas and North Dakota have shown significant increases in grain production (Figure 1). Yield gaps for all three states showed variation from 1950 to 2016 and a statistical analysis of the yield gap with monthly maximum and minimum temperatures and precipitation observations was conducted. Regression analysis of monthly statewide average maximum and minimum temperatures and precipitation (data obtained from the Regional Climate Center) for the months of October, November, April, May, and June for Oklahoma and Kansas and April, May, June, and July for North Dakota against vield gaps for these three states revealed that precipitation was the only consistent and significant factor explaining yield gaps. For Oklahoma, the yield gap was explained by total April and May precipitation with a $r^2 = 0.7$ and in Kansas the yield gap was due to May precipitation ($r^2 = 0.78$). In North Dakota, with the later maturing crop, June and July precipitation was the dominant factor explaining 0.65 of the yield gap. Temperature for these three states showed no significant relationship to the variation in yield gap, even though there were years with temperatures that deviated from normal, these





deviations were not sufficient to cause a change in statewide yields. Precipitation amounts below normal increased the yield gap and while low precipitation events are often associated with high temperatures, the phenology of the wheat crop with the grain-filling period earlier in the year reduces the potential for high temperature events. Although there were years in which the temperatures were above normal, these were not above the maximum temperature range for wheat for a significant period of time to become a significant factor reducing yield. Evaluating the effect of increasing temperatures has to account for the temperature increase relative to the temperature ranges of the crop. For example, Ahmed et al. (2017) showed an

3

increase in wheat yields in the Pacific Northwest; however, these temperature increases are still within temperature ranges for the crop. We evaluated temperature effects using different temperature parameters for these data and found no consistent and significant relationships. This could be related to the fact that high temperature events or frost occur over short time periods, e.g., less than 5 days, and in more localized areas that are not detectable in monthly average data at the statewide scale, but can have significant impacts on local productivity (Prasad and Djanaguiraman, 2014; Rezaei et al., 2015). This does raise a caution about the scale being used in analysis of climate impacts on agriculture.

The primary inability to close the yield gap in the Great Plains was the lack of soil water to meet the water requirements of the wheat crop and insufficient precipitation amounts to recharge the soil profile during the grain-filling period. Egli and Hatfield (2014a,b) demonstrated that maize and soybean productivity were directly related to the ability of the soil to supply water during the grain-filling period. The dynamics of this response has been described by Hatfield (2012) to show the largest effect on maize yields in the central United States was the lack of sufficient water availability during the grain-filling period to meet the evaporative demand. The increase in precipitation variability with climate change will increase variation in crop yield (Hatfield et al., 2011). Soil water becomes the dominant factor affecting vegetative productivity in both cultivated and natural systems and the ability of the soil to infiltrate and store precipitation will become a critical factor to offset the impact of increasing variability in the changing precipitation regime. Increases in soil organic matter and the resultant impact on soil water holding capacity will increase the ability of a soil to store water and increase the infiltration rate. Both of these factors will increase the efficiency of a soil to offset variation in precipitation due to climate change.

The magnitude of the yield gaps creates a large loss in wheat production across the Great Plains (Figure 2) and average about 20% of the attainable yield. The largest lost production in a given year was over 3 million Mg in Oklahoma, 6 million Mg in Kansas, and 4 million Mg in North Dakota during this period. This is a significant economic factor in each of these state economies. Since 1950, the production lost in these three states exceeds 65 million Mg in Oklahoma, 180 million Mg in Kansas, and 91 million Mg in North Dakota. These represent extremely large losses across the Great Plains and can be partially offset by management practices to increase climate resilience in our cropping systems. These management practices encompass how we manage the soil for water and nutrients, along with cultivar selection, and agronomic practices related to crop management for weeds, pests, and diseases.

COPING WITH CLIMATE CHANGE

Variation in cereal production is directly linked with variations in precipitation and temperature and evident in the historical yield

records. Projections of future changes in climate with warming temperatures and more variable precipitation will have impacts on crop productivity (Tao et al., 2009; Hao et al., 2013) and the recent analysis by Hatfield et al. (2017) for maize and soybean revealed that a combination of July maximum temperatures, August minimum temperatures, and July-August precipitation explained yield gaps across the Corn Belt. In this research study, we found for wheat in the Great Plains of the United States that precipitation was the dominant factor, with amounts during the grain-filling period the most critical in terms of affecting yield. Projections of precipitation for the critical months for wheat production in the Midwest obtained from https://climatetoolbox. org/tool/future-climate show that amounts will increase coupled with increased variation. We could expect yield variation among years to increase; however, the tendency to increase total amounts would suggest years with low yields may decrease leading to an overall increase in wheat productivity across the Great Plains until temperature increases become the dominant factor affecting grain yields. The projection that precipitation will become more variable during the spring months creates a situation in which management of soil water for the crop will be a necessary adaptation strategy to cope with climate change (Melillo et al., 2014). Protection of the soil resource to ensure available soil water will be critical to overcoming these impacts.

There is evidence in the literature to suggest that increasing temperatures will become more significant in affecting wheat productivity; however, some of this impact can be offset by ensuring these crops have an adequate soil water supply. Although, precipitation was a dominant factor in historical yields for these states, the recent results by Prasad and Djanaguiraman (2014), Tack et al. (2015), Karimi et al. (2017), and Kaur et al. (2017) suggest that we need to devote more attention to the effects of temperature on wheat productivity and suggest analyses and simulation models be utilized to evaluate the potential growing regions and productivity for wheat under future climate scenarios. To ensure continual advances in wheat productivity will require an integrated approach combining genetic improvement along with management practices and the approach we have outlined in the paper provides a framework for evaluating how we are progressing toward reducing the gap between genetic potential and actual yield.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

This paper is a contribution from United States Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service. JH wrote the paper and conducted the analysis. CD reviewed the materials and offered insights on the dynamics of environmental interactions.

FUNDING

This manuscript is a contribution from Project 5030-11610-003-00D.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, M., Stöckle, C. O., Nelson, R., and Higgins, S. (2017). Assessment of climate change and atmospheric CO₂impact on winter wheat in the Pacific Northwest using a multimodel ensemble. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:51. doi: 10.3389/ fevo.2017.00051
- Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Martre, P., Rötter, R. P., Lobell, D. B., Cammarao, D., et al. (2015). Rising temperatures reduce global wheat production. *Nature Clim. Change* 5, 143–147. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2470
- Collins, M., Knutti, R., Arblaster, J., Dufresne, J.-L., Fichefet, T., Friedlingstein, P., et al. (eds). (2013). Climate Change: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 108.
- Egli, D. B., and Hatfield, J. L. (2014a). Yield gaps and yield relationships in central U.S. soybean production systems. *Agron. J.* 106, 560–566. doi: 10.2134/ agronj2013.0364
- Egli, D. B., and Hatfield, J. L. (2014b). Yield gaps and yield relationships in central U.S. maize production systems. *Agron. J.* 106, 2248–2256. doi: 10.2134/ agronj14.0348
- Hansen, J., Sato, M., and Ruedy, R. (2012). Perception of climate change. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, E2415–E2423. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1205276109
- Hao, Z., AghaKouchak, A., and Phillips, T. J. (2013). Changes in concurrent monthly precipitation and temperature extremes. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 8:034014. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/8/3/034014
- Hatfield, J. L. (2012). "Spatial patterns of water and nitrogen response within corn production fields," in *Agricultural Science*, ed. G. Aflakpui (Rijeka: Intech Publishers), 73–96.
- Hatfield, J. L., Boote, K. J., Kimball, B. A., Ziska, L. H., Izaurralde, R. C., Ort, D., et al. (2011). Climate impacts on agriculture: implications for crop production. *Agron. J.* 103, 351–370. doi: 10.2134/agronj2010.0303
- Hatfield, J. L., Wright-Morton, L., and Hall, B. (2017). Vulnerability of grain crops and croplands in the Midwest to climatic variability and adaptation strategies. *Clim. Change* 146, 263–275. doi: 10.1007/s10584-017-1997-x
- Holzkämper, A., Calanca, P., and Fuhrer, J. (2013). Identifying climatic limitations to grain maize yield potentials using a suitability evaluation approach. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 168, 149–159. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.09.004
- Innes, P. J., Tan, D. K. Y., Van Ogtrop, F., and Amthor, J. S. (2015). Effects of hightemperature episodes on wheat yields in New South Wales, Australia. Agric. For. Meteorol. 208, 95–107. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.03.018
- Karimi, T., Stöckle, C. O., Higgins, S. S., Nelson, T. L., and Huggins, D. (2017). Projected dryland cropping system shifts in the Pacific Northwest in response to climate change. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00020
- Kaur, H., Huggins, D. R., Rupp, R. A., Abatzoglou, J. T., Stöckle, C. O., and Reganold, J. P. (2017). Agro-ecological class stability decreases in response to climate change projections for the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:51. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00051

- Licker, R., Johnston, M., Foley, J. A., Barford, C., Kucharik, C. J., Monfreda, C., et al. (2010). Mind the gap: how do climate and agricultural management explain the 'yield gap' of croplands around the world? *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* 19, 769–782. doi: 10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00563.x
- Melillo, J. M., Richmond, T. C., and Yohe, G. W. (eds). (2014). Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment. Washington, DC: US Global Change Research Program, 462–486.
- Neild, R. E., and Richman, N. H. (1981). Agroclimatic normals for maize. Agric. Meteorol. 24, 83–95. doi: 10.1016/0002-1571(81)90035-2
- Prasad, P. V. V., and Djanaguiraman, M. (2014)). Response of floret fertility and individual grain weight of wheat to high temperature stress: sensitive stages and thresholds for temperature and duration. *Funct. Plant Biol.* 41, 1261–1269. doi: 10.1071/FP14061
- Rezaei, E. E., Siebert, S., and Ewert, F. (2015). Intensity of heat stress in winter wheat-phenology compensates for the adverse effect of global warming. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 10:024012. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/2/024012
- Tack, J., Barkley, A., and Nalley, N. N. (2015). Effect of warming temperatures on US wheat yields. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 112, 6931–6936. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1415181112
- Tao, F., Yokozawa, M., Liu, J., and Zhang, Z. (2009). Climate change, land use change, and China's food security in the twenty-first century: an integrated perspective. *Clim. Change* 93, 433–445. doi: 10.1007/s10584-008-9491-0
- van Brussel, L. G. J., Grassini, P., Van Wart, J., Wolf, J., Claessens, L., Yang, H., et al. (2015). From field to atlas: upscaling of location-specific yield gap estimates. *Field Crops Res.* 177, 98–108. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2015. 03.005
- Walsh, J., Wuebbles, D., Hayhoe, K., Kossin, J., Kunkel, K., Stephens, G., et al. (2014). "Ch. 2: Our Changing Climate," in *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*, eds J. M. Melillo, T. C. Richmond, and G. W. Yohe (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program), 19–67. doi: 10.7930/J0KW5CXT
- Yu, Q., Li, L., Luo, Q., Eamus, D., Xu, S., Chen, C., et al. (2014). Year patterns of climate impact on wheat yields. *Int. J. Climatol.* 34, 518–528. doi: 10.1002/joc. 3704

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Hatfield and Dold. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Estimating the Impacts of Climate **Change and Potential Adaptation Strategies on Cereal Grains in the United States**

Chengcheng J. Fei[†], Bruce A. McCarl^{*†} and Anastasia W. Thayer[†]

Department of Agricultural Economics, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States

Climate change induced alterations from historical patterns of precipitation, temperature, and atmospheric gases as well as increases in the frequency of extreme events is leading to alterations in global cereal production and its spatial distribution. Using a US agricultural sector model, we examine effects and acreage adaptation with an emphasis on wheat and the Pacific Northwest region. Use of a national sector model allows for analysis at the national as well as regional level. Generally, under climate change we find that the incidence of wheat production shifts northward in the Southern Great Plains, westward in Northern Great Plains and eastward in Oregon and Washington, all of which are moves to cooler conditions. Total wheat acreage in the Pacific Northwest is expected to decline from 6 million acres under no climate change to 5.4-5.7 million acres over the study period. Additionally, we consider impacts on price, production, and consumer, producer, and foreign welfare finding losses to consumer welfare and gains to producer welfare with overall losses in surplus. Recommendations are made for future research and alternative ways that adaptation strategies can be integrated into models to predict long-term impacts.

*Correspondence:

Mukhtar Ahmed,

University, Pakistan

Bruce A. McCarl mccarl@tamu.edu

OPEN ACCESS

University of Idaho, United States

Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa.

Pir Mehr Ali Shah Arid Agriculture

Fernando José Cebola Lidon,

Edited by: Erin Brooks,

Reviewed by:

Portugal

[†]Seniority of Authorship is Equally Shared.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 07 March 2017 Accepted: 31 May 2017 Published: 15 June 2017

Citation:

Fei CJ, McCarl BA and Thayer AW (2017) Estimating the Impacts of Climate Change and Potential Adaptation Strategies on Cereal Grains in the United States. Front, Ecol. Evol. 5:62. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00062

Keywords: climate change, adaptation, agriculture production, ASM, Pacific Northwest, cereal crops

INTRODUCTION

Crop production is sensitive to climate and weather patterns. According to the 2016 NOAA State of the Climate report (NOAA, 2017), (1) globally 2016 was the warmest year on record, and (2) Every one of the 5 warmest years in the climate record have occurred since 2010. Further, the observed pace of temperature increase since 1970 is 2.5 times greater than the pace since 1880. Such increases in temperature have affected agriculture and society in general (IPCC, 2014a). Lobell and Field (2007) estimate the magnitude of the yield loss due to increased temperatures between 1981 and 2002 finding that for barley, wheat and maize production was decreased by 2-3% with market losses of about \$5 billion per year. Additionally Cho and McCarl (2017) examine historical data showing that this is stimulating farmers to change crop mix with many crops moving northward and up in elevation while Mu et al. (2013) show land moving from cropland to pasture.

Climate change is expected to continue to evolve further affecting agriculture. The Inter-Governmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) projects even greater future effects including: increased surface temperatures, changes from historical precipitation patterns, loss of soil moisture in select regions and an increase in the frequency of extreme events among other items (IPCC, 2013). This will impact future global crop production.

The production effects will also manifest in altered prices and demand levels (Adams et al., 1995). In turn, climate change will affect agricultural income and general economic conditions.

Here we simulate the impacts that projected climate change will have on United States agriculture including examining changes in the spatial incidence of crops along with the agricultural, income, production and market effects. In doing this we will place particular emphasis on wheat and the US Pacific Northwest.

The United States (US) is one of the top wheat producing countries. Its production is only surpassed by China, the European Union, India, and Russia (USDA ERS, 2016). States that produced the most wheat in 2015 were: North Dakota (370 million bushels), Kansas (321 million bushels), Montana (185 million bushels) and Washington (112 million bushels) (USDA NASS, 2016).

There is a long history of wheat production in the Pacific Northwest (PNW)—Washington, Oregon, and Idaho (Schillinger and Papendick, 2008). Sales from wheat production in Washington for 2012 were \$1.1 billion (USDA NASS, 2015) and \$786 million in Idaho in 2011 (IFBF, 2017). Further, three of the top 10 wheat selling counties in the US were in Washington and one in Oregon (USDA NASS, 2015).

Many studies indicate that warmer temperatures, shifts in water availability, and increased atmospheric carbon dioxide have impacted wheat yields with different effects spatially (Chen et al., 2004; Lobell and Field, 2007; McCarl et al., 2008; Attavanich and McCarl, 2014). In particular, warmer temperatures in hotter areas stress plants and lead to reduced yields (Asseng et al., 2011). But in higher latitudes or at higher elevations, warmer temperatures increase frost free days and growing degree days thereby lengthening the growing season (Kane et al., 1992). However, increased variability of temperatures has been shown to reduce wheat yields (Wheeler et al., 2000). Also, for nonirrigated crops, climate change alters precipitation patterns which will affect yields. Finally, Chen and McCarl (2001) show that climate change has increased pesticide usage and production costs. Additionally increased carbon dioxide concentrations stimulate wheat yields (Attavanich and McCarl, 2014). Overall there are both yield decreasing and increasing forces under climate change depending on location, crop and CO2 sensitivity.

Farmers' reactions to climate change is and will continue to shift land allocation between crops and other uses plus the incidence of crops spatially. The land may shift to other crops, pasture or forest. Mu et al. (2013) projected cropland in the US (especially in the central and southern region of US) would shift to pasture under the four General Circulation Models (GCMs) they tested while many studies have projected latitude and elevation shifts in crop incidence (Adams et al., 1990; Reilly et al., 2001, 2002; Cho and McCarl, 2017).

This paper will explore the impact of projected global climate change on the US with a focus on wheat production and the Pacific Northwest (PNW) taking into account the total US agricultural market. Additionally, since the magnitude of future climate change and related emissions control is uncertain, this study will use multiple climate projections across multiple mitigation scenarios to generate results on the range of possible impacts.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In order to carry out our study, we need estimates on the effect of varying degrees of climate change on crop yields. This information will then be used to see what these changes do to economically driven land allocation, production and markets.

Due to the expertise of this study team we did not generate our own simulation based crop yield estimates; rather choosing to use ones from the peer reviewed literature. Specifically, yield responses from Beach et al. (2015) were used because they were available for all FASOM regions across the entirety of the continental US and were reflective of the climate models used in the most recent IPCC Report (2013).

The study used crop yield sensitivity estimates obtained from Beach et al. (2015) who estimated crop yield changes using the Environmental Policy Integrated Climate (EPIC) crop simulation model nationwide for nine crops under alternative climate projections¹. The climate projections arose from two GCMs (MIROC and IGSM-CAM hereafter called IGSM). Each run included two greenhouse gas mitigation scenarios (aggressive mitigation—hereafter called the policy scenario and no mitigation—hereafter called the reference scenario). The specific GCMs used were selected by Beach et al. (2015) because of their varying characteristics in terms of precipitation. In particular, the MIROC projections show a relatively drier future and the IGSM projections show a wetter one, particularly for the Eastern and Central US (Beach et al., 2015).

Yield estimates from Beach et al. (2015) are comparable to yield projections obtained from other cropping studies conducted specifically in the PNW. Stockle et al. (2017) showed wheat productivity increasing under climate change in the inland PNW until approximately 2050 and then declining to current levels by the end of the twenty-first century with increased carbon dioxide positively impacting yields. Karimi et al. (2017) simulated grain yields in the inland PNW suggests that grain yields will increase under climate change projections. Specifically, Karimi et al. (2017) included cropping practices and showed that yields in 2070 are projected to increase 18–48% under representative concentration pathway (RCP) 4.5 and 30–65% under RCP 8.5. Results from these regional studies support the results from the EPIC projections by Beach et al. (2015) suggesting that the EPIC projections are suitable for use in this assessment.

In terms of mitigation, the threat of climate change has caused the international community to dialog and in cases addresses emissions reductions. Since the future extent of mitigation is uncertain, Beach et al. (2015) utilized two scenarios reflecting different levels of GHG mitigation. In the no mitigation or business as usual, reference scenario, global GHG emissions are not greatly reduced and by year 2100 total radiative forcing is 10 Wm^{-2} (Beach et al., 2015). This corresponds most closely to the IPCC RCP 8.5 scenario which predicts temperature change

¹The crops included in Beach et al. (2015) are barley, corn, cotton, hay, potatoes, rice, sorghum, soybeans, and wheat.

TABLE 1 | Average change in percentage yield for top field crops in the US and PNW.

Climate Change Impact on Cereals

		IGSM-Pol		IGSI	M-Ref	MIROC-Pol		MIROC-Ref	
		Dryland	Irrigated	Dryland	Irrigated	Dryland	Irrigated	Dryland	Irrigated
National	Soybean	8.5	4.6	3.4	-5.3	-7.1	-0.2	-15.7	-8.3
	Corn	24.2	12	16.1	1.4	5.4	7.9	-6.9	-0.9
	Wheat	18.2	9.2	11.4	-0.7	6.2	7.2	-8.1	-4.7
	Hay	-37.8	17.2	-34.1	17.1	-44.8	17.5	-46.1	17.7
	Cotton	25.8	12.8	19.8	1.6	-2.3	9.0	-18.0	-3.7
PNW	Wheat	13.2	2.7	6.1	-5.9	13.8	5	10.7	-0.5
	Hay	-28.2	20.1	-23.3	25.8	-33.5	21.0	-29.5	24.9
	Barley	41.6	19.1	31.7	0.6	18.8	18.3	24.9	12.1
	Potatoes	28.3	11	13.4	-10.1	11.5	11.3	10.4	2.8
	Corn	47.5	15.2	42.9	5.9	25.1	16.6	32.1	14.7

These are calculated by the authors over the data from Beach et al. (2015).

 TABLE 2 | Percentage change in crop yield standard deviations across climate

 projections relative to MIROC-Ref.

		Dryland			Irrigated			
	MIROC	IG	SM	MIROC	IG	SM		
	Pol	Ref	Pol	Pol	Ref	Pol		
Barley	-49.947	-5.478	-34.743	-44.088	-22.886	-58.337		
Corn	-41.726	13.834	-29.526	-49.408	-26.064	-67.842		
Cotton	-27.830	18.402	-28.196	-41.745	-19.940	-61.318		
Hay	31.763	119.933	112.333	-60.467	-15.983	-66.586		
Potato	-26.268	-10.115	-26.211	-26.076	-23.076	-35.441		
Rice	15.532	31.441	54.350	-22.971	-41.626	-33.694		
Sorghum	-33.814	18.133	-33.268	-37.207	-15.083	-55.801		
Soybean	36.211	102.785	8.644	-43.044	-26.154	-66.336		
Wheat	118.682	158.126	94.555	-55.447	-48.737	-71.968		
Average	2.511	49.674	13.104	-42.272	-26.617	-57.480		

of about 3.7° C by 2100 (IPCC, 2014b). Conversely, the aggressive mitigation, policy strategy, assumes GHG emissions are reduced to levels that lower total radiative forcing to 3.7 Wm^{-2} . This case corresponds most closely to the IPCC RCP 4.5 which results in about a 1.8° C temperature change (IPCC, 2014b). These two mitigation strategies were applied to the GCMs resulting in four combinations of climate/mitigation scenarios (IGSM-Ref, IGSM-Pol, MIROC-Ref, MIROC-Pol) which Beach et al fed into EPIC to simulate crop yield effects.

The Beach et al. (2015) yield results predict increased yields for many crops. In particular: (1) the yields under the MIROC simulations are lower than those arising from the IGSM projection; (2) Generally, the MIROC reference scenario projected a national decline in yields but positive yields in the PNW (**Table 1**). Nationally, corn and cotton showed the largest percentage increase under IGSM projects with wheat yields showing a slightly lower increase. Under the MIROC scenarios, corn and wheat were the best performing crops; (3) Hay showed different responses to climate change in comparison with the



other crops. Increasing temperature under climate change caused dryland hay yields to decrease under all scenarios but irrigated hay yields increased; (4) The yield change for dryland and irrigated crops was negative under the drier MIROC scenarios but positive under the IGSM scenarios; and (5) In the PNW, corn and barley yields showed dramatic increases under all climate scenarios. However, the PNW average corn yield in 1980-2009 was much lower than the national average. Also barley, hay, and potatoes had a higher yield response to climate change than the national average.

Further, we investigated the variability present in the data set across the GCM and mitigation scenarios. To do this, we analyzed the relative variation in yields between scenarios by computing a relative percentage change. For each scenario we computed the standard deviation of yields for each crop and irrigation status across all the subregions. Then we computed a percentage change between each scenario and MIROC-Ref. The resultant data are given in **Table 2**.

TABLE 3 Average cropland and	wheat land us	se in US and PNW	under climate
change (2010-2100).			

Scenarios	Total cropl (Million a	and use acres)	Wheat land use (Million acres)		
	National	PNW	National	PNW	
No climate change	283.0	12.2	56.8	6.0	
IGSM-Pol	252.3	10.9	52.6	5.4	
IGSM-Ref	266.8	12.1	55.3	5.7	
MIROC-Pol	283.2	11.7	56.7	5.5	
MIROC-Ref	299.7	12.6	58.2	5.7	

TABLE 4 | National top 5 field crops average harvested acreage as percentage of total harvested cropland acreage (2010-2100).

Corn (%)	Soybeaı (%)	ns Wheat (%)	Hay (%)	Cotton (%)
22.20	23.18	20.06	17.20	3.99
20.65	23.97	20.84	16.36	3.57
21.12	23.50	20.73	16.68	3.48
21.24	23.69	20.00	16.93	3.31
22.02	23.63	19.43	17.38	3.38
	Corn (%) 22.20 20.65 21.12 21.24 22.02	Corn (%) Soybean (%) 22.20 23.18 20.65 23.97 21.12 23.50 21.24 23.69 22.02 23.63	Corn (%)Soybeans (%)Wheat (%)22.2023.1820.0620.6523.9720.8421.1223.5020.7321.2423.6920.0022.0223.6319.43	Corn (%)Soybeans (%)Wheat (%)Hay (%)22.2023.1820.0617.2020.6523.9720.8416.3621.1223.5020.7316.6821.2423.6920.0016.9322.0223.6319.4317.38

TABLE 5 | PNW top 5 field crops average harvested acreage as percentage of total harvested cropland acreage (2010-2100).

Scenarios	Wheat (%)	Hay (%)	Barley (%)	Potatoes (%)	Corn (%)
No climate change	49.29	27.14	10.39	5.75	1.94
IGSM-Pol	49.48	27.38	9.55	6.02	2.04
IGSM-Ref	46.95	29.25	10.21	6.08	2.02
MIROC-Pol	46.91	31.09	8.74	5.44	2.19
MIROC-Ref	45.41	32.26	9.32	5.40	2.10

We found that for the dryland yields, the relative yield variation in the IGSM climate projections compared to MIROC are mixed in sign but are substantially larger for hay, wheat, soybeans and the overall average. We also found that the relative yield variation was smaller for most crop with strong mitigation (Pol) as opposed to little mitigation (Ref) but with a slightly larger overall average largely due to wheat. For irrigated yields, MIROC-Ref had the highest amount of variability with IGSM generally having less variation than MIROC and the policy scenarios having less than the reference (limited mitigation) ones. Further, percentage change in standard deviation are mostly stable and relatively constant across crops showing irrigation is reducing the variability and making the crops closer in behavior.

In turn, to address land allocation, production and market effects, the agricultural part (ASM) of the Forestry and Agricultural Sector Optimization Model (FASOM), a US agriculture sector model, was used. ASM is a non-linear programming model that simulates production, processing, transporting and marketing in the US agricultural sector in an equilibrium year (Baumes and McCarl, 1978; Adams et al., 1996,

2005). ASM simulates a perfectly competitive agricultural market in equilibrium by maximizing the total social welfare subject to resource constraints. The model simulated the maximum social welfare constrained by scarce resources, such as land, water, labor, capital and others. ASM simulates the optimal land allocation among crops, livestock and forests plus results on crop and livestock mix, total production, processing activity, bioenergy production, exports, domestic consumption and commodity prices. Figure 1 illustrates the geographic scope of the FASOM model where ASM has all components portrayed but the forestry related ones. Note ASM does not in this form treat uncertainty in the crop yield projections under a given GCM/mitigation scenario. Also, it does not simulate CO₂ effects, rather that is manifest in the crop simulation results as discussed in Beach et al. (2015). Use of ASM allows us to examine impacts of the alternative climate projections on the US agricultural sector and related markets. ASM has been widely used in climate change related studies as discussed in Beach et al. (2010). For example previous studies have looked at the impact of climate change on crop yields, livestock productivity, transportation, land conversion and greenhouse gas net emission reductions (Adams et al., 1990, 1995; Reilly et al., 2001, 2002; Murray et al., 2005; Attavanich et al., 2013).

ASM encompasses the entire US with production broken up into 63 smaller production regions (subregions) and 11 market regions. The trade of commodities can occur between US regions, or into the international market the representation of which contains supply and demand curves for 27 countries or foreign regions (Adams et al., 1996, 2005; Beach et al., 2010). Additionally, ASM simulates production of 30 crops. To capture the effect of climate change on the crops not simulated with EPIC, we used expert opinion to assign the yield sensitivities of the simulated crops to the other crops that were not simulated. For example, silage is proxied by corn. Also, we assumed all five types of wheat face the same regional yield changes although geographic incidence varied by type.

Predicting future population, technology, economic and market conditions for the next 100 years based on current economic and social structure information is difficult at best. Also, variations in projected future conditions may enlarge or offset the effects of climate change. Therefore, following many other similar studies, ASM was run as a static model for each climate scenario with the scenario climate change effects applied to current year (2015) economic and market conditions.

We also simulated the effects of adaptation strategies including: increasing irrigation or managing water allocation in response to drier environments (Howden et al., 2007), changing crop mixes (Adams et al., 1999; Barros et al., 2014), shifting crop production and varieties to higher latitudes or elevations (Reilly et al., 2002; Cho and McCarl, 2017), shifting land between cropping and grasslands to support livestock (Mu et al., 2013), changing livestock species (Seo et al., 2010) and reducing livestock stocking rates (Mu et al., 2013). In ASM, all available adaption strategies are allowed but are constrained by resources and cropping pattern. For example, irrigation and water management is limited by water availability. Crop mixes are constrained to be a convex combination of regional historical

4



crop mix ratios blended with crop mixes for regions 200 miles south following Adams et al. (1999). For subregions on the southern border of the US (southern California, Arizona, New Mexico, the Gulf coast, southern Texas, and Florida), we allow the share of heat-tolerant crops currently produced in hot regions (such as oranges and grapefruit) to double. Adaptation behaviors are selected by maximizing total social welfare in ASM, and cannot be fully isolated. So in this study, the model chooses the optimal set of adaptation strategies and we only report overall effects of the scenarios plus narrow in on crop mix and land use adaptation.

ASM output yields national, subregional and foreign welfare estimates, prices, production and land use. For simplicity, Fisher price and production index numbers were used to capture the multi commodity price and production changes in the nation and the PNW states. We also downscaled the results to the county level for graphic displays utilizing the approach developed in Attwood et al. (2000) and Pattanayak et al. (2005).

RESULTS

Land Reallocation

Compared to the no climate change scenario, total cropland acreage in the United States shrank under the IGSM climate projections and increased under the MIROC climate projections. Total cropland used in the US is lower under aggressive mitigation and higher without it. Results showed land moving into pasture or idled under IGSM scenarios principally because of the relatively high yield increase rate and consequent low commodity prices. The higher cropped acreage under the



Scenario, (C) MIROC policy scenario, and (D) MIROC reference scenario. Wheat acres are the sum of acres in hard red winter wheat, hard red spring wheat, soft red winter wheat, white wheat and durum wheat.

MIROC scenarios is explained by the lower crop yields under that scenario. In the PNW, total wheat acreage declined under all the climate change and mitigation scenarios. Similarly, national wheat acreage declined under all climate/mitigation scenarios except for MIROC-Ref (no mitigation) (**Table 3**). Declining wheat acreage occurred again because of the increasing yields and resultant lower prices.

Total cropped land was smallest under the more optimistic IGSM climate projections with aggressive mitigation. This occurs because increased production causes decreased prices and net returns causing land to move out of cropping into pasture. Nationally, corn, soybeans, wheat, hay and cotton dominate land use (Table 4). The percentage of harvested acreage by crop was relatively stable across the climate and mitigation projections. Soybean acreage increased under all climate change scenarios. Since soybeans and corn partially compete for acreage, the land share of corn decreased. The price for soybeans was higher than its historical level, but the price of corn dropped, which in turn led to the shift between two crops. Wheat occupied slightly more land (as a percent of total acreage) under the IGSM scenarios, but its acreage share decreased under the MIROC scenarios. The land share of hay and cotton decreased under most scenarios, except for hay under MIROC-Ref.

Land use shares changed more in the PNW than occurred they did nationally. Wheat, hay, barley, potatoes and corn were the most important regional crops and occupied over 94% of the cropland (**Table 5**). Compared to a no climate change case, wheat and barley lost PNW land share under most scenarios, except for wheat under IGSM-Pol. Conversely, the land share occupied by hay and corn increased under all the scenarios. Regionally the crop shares were relatively stable under the IGSM scenarios, while the PNW land reallocations under the MIROC scenarios were slightly larger than the national ones, but still stable compared to the no climate change scenario.

Generally, the results showed adjustments in total area in crops with northward movements, especially at the national level. This is because while adaptation allows crop mix to change, the effects of market demand and natural resource endowments mediate the effects.

Wheat Acreage and Production

As shown in **Figures 2**, **3**, wheat harvested acreage exhibited some shifts within regions.

Under the IGSM-Pol scenario, there were a number of counties where wheat declined due to the substantial yield increases and resultant low market prices. In particular, the Beach et al. (2015) EPIC estimates show an increase in the national average wheat yield of 18% under dryland conditions. Yield changes for wheat and other crops coupled with relatively inelastic demand, led to a decline in prices and in turn in national and PNW wheat acreage as well as that of other crops. In the major production regions for hard red winter wheat (Southern Great Plain), a northward shift in harvested acreage from Texas and Colorado to Nebraska occurred. This is an adaptation



FIGURE 4 | Index numbers for US national agricultural production and prices across four GCM and mitigation extent cases. (A) Production indices for volume of US wheat harvested, cereal and soybean crops harvested, and livestock, (B) Price indices for US wheat harvested, cereal and soybean crops harvested, and livestock. Each panel shows production and price indices for the climate projections and mitigation extent scenarios IGSM Policy (IGSM-Pol), IGSM Reference (IGSM-Ref), MIROC-Policy (MIROC-Pol), and MIROC-Reference (MIROC-Ref). Index values are relative to a baseline with no climate change impacts.

response to move the wheat production to lower temperature regions. Also in the Northern Great Plains, hard red soft wheat shifted from east to west in South and North Dakota and marginally into Montana to take advantage of lower temperatures at higher elevations. Similarly, in the Mississippi River basin in Missouri and Arkansas wheat land shifted northward. In the PNW, the wheat production area moved eastward again to higher and cooler elevations.

Under the IGSM-Ref scenario, wheat acreage showed similar regional pattern shifts to those under the IGSM-Pol scenario but with smaller declines in harvested acreage. Hard red winter wheat in the Southern Great Plains moved northward to Nebraska and into higher elevation areas in Colorado and Wyoming. In North Dakota, wheat areas shifted from east to west and marginally into Montana with a decrease of total wheat harvested acres. Also, more than 1.5 million North Dakota acres switched from hard red spring wheat to hard red winter wheat and durum wheat as an adaptation to the higher temperatures. A northward shift in wheat acreage also occurred in the Mississippi River basin. In the PNW, we found more wheat was grown in the higher elevation regions in Idaho. Spring barley acreage in the PNW was generally stable across the climate projections. Coupled with the higher rate of yield increases than national average, the PNW gained in market share of barley under the climate change projections relative to the no climate change case.

The acreage and geographic distribution of wheat under the MIROC projections differed mainly due to smaller estimated yield changes. Under the MIROC-Pol scenario, national wheat acreage was the same as if no climate change occurred. The largest shift was observed from the east to the west in the Dakotas. Declines in hard red spring wheat production in North Dakota were offset by increases in hard red winter wheat in Montana. Also a shift in hard red winter wheat from the Texas High Plains to Nebraska was observed. Cooler temperatures in Nebraska and increased soil moisture made dryland production more viable. In the PNW, the wheat and barley acreage fell and shifted from irrigated to dryland production. Under this scenario, irrigated hay replaced irrigated wheat, because irrigated hay yields increased and the crops compete for land and water.

Nationally, the MIROC-Ref scenario showed harvested wheat acreage increased due to dramatic increases in cultivation in Montana which was driven by lower overall yields and a higher wheat price. In the dry MIROC-Ref scenario, we find: (a) Texas wheat moving northward, (b) more wheat grown in Nebraska, and (c) some of the PNW production shifting out of Washington and Oregon into Idaho. In general, the wheat cultivation areas shifted northward in the southern regions of the Great Plains and to higher elevation areas in the northern Great Plains. Moreover, the substitution out of spring wheat to winter wheat is another adaptation strategy to the higher temperatures under climate change.

Effects on Agricultural Production and Prices

Index numbers were used to summarize production and price changes (Figures 4, 5). They were computed for several classes of products. The cereal and soybean crop indices incorporate results for corn, soybeans, durum wheat, hard red spring wheat, hard red winter wheat, soft red winter wheat, soft white wheat, sorghum, rice, oats, spring barley, and winter barley define others briefly. The indices show smaller levels of PNW wheat production under all climate scenarios along with lower levels for PNW cereal and soybean production under all climate scenarios but MIROC-Ref scenario with the PNW exhibiting greater adjustments relative to the national results (Figures 4, 5). PNW livestock production increased under the IGSM climate projections and were smaller under the MIROC projections. The IGSM projections stimulated more national wheat production than occurred under the MIROC projections. Conversely, wheat production in the PNW was lower under IGSM than MIROC as their US market share (Table 6). Under all climate scenarios



PNW states (Idaho, Oregon, Washington) and the index for the region.

PNW wheat production is lower as it is in Washington and Oregon, but it is higher in cooler Idaho. This is consistent with the wheat in PNW shifting toward Idaho. Production in Idaho increases more under IGSM than under MIROC. It also increases under aggressive mitigation (policy scenario).

Similar results were found for cereal and soybean production. The national combined cereal and soybean production indices were highest under the IGSM-Pol scenario with lower results when mitigation is not pursued (IGSM-Ref). National production indices were even lower under the MIROC climate projection. The smallest level of national production was projected in the MIROC-Ref scenario where production declined the most. This is in response to the EPIC projections of national yields increasing under IGSM and decreasing under MIROC-Ref. As a consequence of the increased barley production and small wheat reductions in the PNW, aggregate cereal production achieved its highest values under MIROC-Ref. In the other three scenarios, the PNW showed less production than under

June 2017 | Volume 5 | Article 62

TABLE 6 | PNW market share as percentage of production (2010-2100).

Scenarios	Wheat (%)	Barley (%)	Hay (%)	Potatoes (%)	Corn (%)
No climate change	13.30	24.53	11.07	58.91	0.46
IGSM-Pol	10.58	29.65	19.15	63.91	0.53
IGSM-Ref	10.13	30.19	18.23	62.59	0.54
MIROC-Pol	11.91	24.50	22.37	63.63	0.61
MIROC-Ref	13.79	30.49	23.84	68.61	0.64

no climate change. Within the PNW, average cereal and soybean production indices under all climate scenarios were lower for Oregon and Washington than for Idaho which projects an increase in production compared to the no climate change case.

Generally, the change in wheat, cereal and soybean production levels in PNW is opposite of the changes found nationally. In the MIROC-Ref scenario, the PNW produced more than under the no climate change case, but the US total national production was lower. In the IGSM scenarios, national production increased, but PNW production decreased. This is consistent with the scenario dependent projected yields. Coupled with inelastic demand, drier and hotter conditions in eastern part of US projected by MIROC shifted production to the cooler west. Conversely, in the wetter IGSM scenarios, the east gains competitive advantage and, in turn, increases production.

The livestock production indices at the national and PNW level did not show large differences compared to the no climate change scenario, perhaps because we did not model climate change induced shifts in production. The livestock production index nationally and in the PNW showed a range of about 4%, caused by the feed cost and land use variation.

Price indices were also computed with the results shown for wheat, cereal and soybeans and all livestock in **Figures 4**, **5**. Free trade across regions and the law of one price force PNW prices to follow nationwide trends. Wheat and cereal prices were higher under the drier MIROC climate projections compared to the IGSM projections and comparatively lower when aggressive mitigation policies were pursued.

Nationally, wheat prices fell more than did the cereal and soybean price index for all climate projections relative excepting under MIROC-Ref. But in the PNW, the relative wheat price change is less than that for the cereal and soybean price index.

Similar to the production results, livestock prices at the national and regional level showed little change. Prices were 5% higher than under the no climate change case for the PNW across all climate projections. Nationally, prices were lower under the IGSM climate projections compared to results under the MIROC climate projections although total range across all four climate scenarios was small being approximately 5%.

Producer and Consumers' Welfare

Welfare change estimates for consumers', producers', international trade, and global society are shown in **Figure 6**. Consumers' welfare generally decreased with the smallest change occurring under the IGSM-Pol and the largest under MIROC-Ref. This is consistent with the changes of price and production index of final product production (**Figure 7**). Higher levels of consumers' welfare occurs when aggressive mitigation



FIGURE 6 | Changes in consumers', producers', foreign and total social welfare relative to no climate change under four climate projections from GCM/ mitigation extent cases (IGSM-Pol, IGSM Policy; IGSM-Ref, IGSM Reference; MIROC-Pol, MIROC-Policy; and MIROC-Ref, MIROC-Reference).



is pursued and lower when mitigation is minimal. Such a result was not unexpected as those scenarios had relatively higher production and lower prices at the national level which benefited consumers.

The results for producers' welfare or net income (measured as producers' surplus) are the opposite of the consumers' results. Average producers' welfare is larger the less is produced so with the more severe MIROC cases and under less aggressive mitigation. We also found that foreign welfare changes due to international trade, are greatest under the less severe IGSM climate projections compared to the more severe MIROC climate projections.

Across these results we found consumers' surplus loss was larger than the producers' surplus gain leading to lower total societal welfare for all climate projections except for IGSM-Pol. Smaller losses were shown under aggressive mitigation (policy scenario) compared to the reference scenario. Further, there was also income redistribution as seen by the opposite signs of producers' and consumers' welfare in each climate scenario.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we found that overall crop mix shares did not change much but total acres harvested did. Acres in wheat production shifted north and west to cooler conditions in the Great Plains and east out of Oregon and Washington to higher altitudes and cooler temperatures in Idaho as also projected in the econometric based analysis of Cho and McCarl (2017). More winter wheat is planted along the northern border of the US, instead of spring wheat as an adaptation to higher temperatures under climate change. Overall this study showed, the PNW showed declining production of wheat in the PNW, mainly in Washington and Oregon but with increasing production in Idaho. Under all but the MIROC-Ref climate projection, the PNW lost wheat market share. Our results show increases in market share for the PNW for barley, hay, and potatoes.

Wheat production and prices were found to be sensitive to the climate projection and the extent of mitigation which illustrated that climate change severity and adaptations greatly impact vulnerability. Predicted wheat yield changes generally lead to national wheat production increases in all scenarios but the MIROC-Ref case. Similarly, national cereal and soybean production was higher under the wetter IGSM projection compared to the drier MIROC projection. Consequently, national wheat, and combined cereal and soybean crop prices were lower in the IGSM climate projection than under the MIROC climate projections.

This study showed total social welfare is projected to be higher under the wetter IGSM climate projection relative to the drier MIROC climate projection. Total social welfare is relatively higher if aggressive mitigation is pursued compared to less aggressive action. Nationally, an inverse relationship was found both between price and production, and between consumers' and producers' welfare when comparing the results of the four climate/mitigation projections. This was present across the results with the relationship generally being production reductions relatively benefited producers and disadvantaged consumers with the converse happening when production increased. Similarly, the relatively lower production changes under no mitigation benefitted producers and disadvantaged consumers relative to aggressive mitigation. This reflects the importance of considering demand curves and price adjustments rather than solely looking at yield and total production impacts.

These findings are potentially contradictory to Lobell and Field (2007) which asserted declining global wheat production, although they had a caveat about the United States. Here, the findings suggest increasing US wheat production under all climate situations except for the MIROC climate projection coupled with limited mitigation effort.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE STUDY

As in all other studies, this research has limitations and areas where it could be extended. First, as discussed above, the future economic and market structure is hard to predict so we imposed the projected climate change on the current, 2015, economy. This allows for an analysis of just the climate change effects. However, this arguably could influence the results as the economic and market conditions will change in the next 100 years. An alternative base year could be used in future work.

Second, ASM fails to account for all the transactions cost that would occur with switching land use, such as building altered commodity movement and processing infrastructure, or carrying out education programs to teach farmers new production techniques. Estimates could be gathered for these transaction costs and built into the model.

Third, the analysis did not account for climate change induced alterations in the supply and demand conditions within the rest of world and only focused on changes in the United States. Incorporation of information on global market effects would be a significant addition.

Fourth, the underlying EPIC data on climate projection effect on yields were only available for 9 crops in the United States and only for the climate model and mitigation cases used herein. EPIC also assumed unconstrained water use for irrigated crops. Although ASM took water reductions into account, further work could be done to improve these projections. Adding simulations for more minor crops and climate/mitigation cases across an ensemble of climate models would be a useful extension.

Despite the above limitations, we believe this study clearly demonstrates that climate change will impact wheat production in the United States nationally plus have different impacts across regions. This study suggested that PNW wheat distribution and total acreage is likely to change with shifts in comparative advantage. Finally, climate change is projected to cause an income distribution alteration between producers and consumers with total societal welfare higher if aggressive mitigation is pursued.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AT and CF led the analysis and constructed the initial paper draft. BM conceptualized the scenarios to be used and guided the others thorough ASM use plus did editing on the paper draft.

FUNDING

This research was supported by long term grants and financial support from the Environmental Protection Agency, Texas A&M AgriLife and USDA plus an ongoing NSF FEW Nexus grant entitled "A Modeling Framework to Couple Food, Energy, and Water in the Teleconnected Corn and Cotton Belts."

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the conversations and opportunities to participate in this issue that were arose from the Transitioning Cereal Systems to Adapt to Climate Change Conference in 2015.

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

REFERENCES

- Adams, D. M., Alig, R. J., Callaway, J. M., Winnett, S. M., and McCarl, B. A. (1996). The forest and agricultural sector optimization model (FASOM): model description. USDA Forest Service Report PNW-RP-495.
- Adams, D., Alig, R., McCarl, B. A., Murray, B. C., Bair, L., Depro, B., et al. (2005). FASOMGHG Conceptual Structure, and Specification: Documentation. Available online at: http://agecon2.tamu.edu/people/faculty/mccarl-bruce/ papers/1212FASOMGHG_doc.pdf
- Adams, R. M., Fleming, R. A., Chang, C. C., McCarl, B. A., and Rosenzweig, C. (1995). A reassessment of the economic effects of global climate change on US agriculture. *Clim. Change* 30, 147–167. doi: 10.1007/BF010 91839
- Adams, R. M., McCarl, B. A., Segerson, K., Rosenzweig, C., Bryant, K., Dixon, B., et al. (1999). "Economic effects of climate change on US agriculture," in *The Impact of Climate Change on the US Economy*, eds R. Mendelsohn and J. E. Neumann (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 18.
- Adams, R. M., Rosenzweig, C., Peart, R. M., Ritchie, J. T., McCarl, B. A., Glyer, J. D., et al. (1990). Global climate change and US agriculture. *Nature* 345, 219–224.
- Asseng, S., Foster, I., and Turner, N. C. (2011). The impact of temperature variability on wheat yields. *Global Change Biol.* 17, 997–1012. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02262.x
- Attavanich, W., and McCarl, B. A. (2014). How is CO₂ affecting yields and technological progress? A statistical analysis. *Clim. Change* 124, 1–16. doi: 10.1007/s10584-014-1128-x
- Attavanich, W., McCarl, B. A., Ahmedov, Z., Fuller, S. W., and Vedenov, D. V. (2013). Climate change and infrastructure: effects of climate change on U.S. grain transport. *Nat. Clim. Change* 3, 638–643. doi: 10.1038/ nclimate1892
- Attwood, J., McCarl, B., Chen, C., Eddleman, B., Nayda, B., and Srinivasan, R. (2000). Assessing regional impacts of change: linking economic and environmental models. *Agricul. Syst.* 63, 147–159. doi: 10.1016/S0308-521X(99)00077-3
- Barros, V., Field, C., Dokke, D., Mastrandrea, M., Mach, K., Bilir, T., et al. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Baumes, H., and McCarl, B. A. (1978). Linear programming and social welfare: model formulation and objective function alternatives. *Can. J. Agric. Econ.* 26, 53–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-7976.1978.tb02919.x
- Beach, R. H., Cai, Y., Thomson, A., Zhang, X., Jones, R., McCarl, B. A., et al. (2015). Climate change impacts on US agriculture and forestry: benefits of global climate stabilization. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 10:095004. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/10/9/095004
- Beach, R. H., Adams, D. M., Alig, R. J., Baker, J. S., Latta, G. S., McCarl, B. A., et al. (2010). Model documentation for the forest and agricultural sector optimization model with greenhouse gases (FASOMGHG). Report Prepared for Sara Bushey Ohrel, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Climate Change Division 1200 Pennsylvania Avenue. Washington, DC.
- Chen, C. C., and McCarl, B. A. (2001). Pesticide usage as influenced by climate: a statistical investigation. *Clim. Change* 50, 475–487. doi: 10.1023/A:1010655503471
- Chen, C. C., McCarl, B. A., and Schimmelpfennig, D. E. (2004). Yield variability as influenced by climate: a statistical investigation. *Clim. Change* 66, 239–261. doi: 10.1023/B:CLIM.0000043159.33816.e5
- Cho, S. J., and McCarl, B. A. (2017). Climate change influences on crop mix shifts in the United States. *Scientific Reports 7*.
- Howden, S. M., Soussana, J. F., Tubiello, F. N., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., and Meinke, H. (2007). Adapting agriculture to climate change. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 19691–19696. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0701 890104
- IFBF (2017). Idaho Farm Bureau Federation (IFBF). Idaho Wheat. Availabe online at: http://www.idahofb.org/index.php?action=commodities.wheat.
- IPCC (2013). Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel

on Climate Change, eds T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, G. K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K.Allen, J. Boschung, et al. Cambridge; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

- IPCC (2014a). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds C. B. Field, V.R. Barros, D. J. Dokken, K. J. Mach, M. D. Mastrandrea, T. E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K. L. Ebi, Y. O. Estrada, R. C. Genova, B. Girma, E. S. Kissel, A. N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P. R. Mastrandrea, and L. L. White. Cambridge; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC (2014b). Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups, I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds Core Writing Team, R. K. Pachauri, and L. A. Meyer. Geneva: IPCC.
- Kane, S., Reilly, J., and Tobey, J. (1992). An empirical study of the economic effects of climate change on world agriculture. *Clim. Change* 21, 17–35. doi: 10.1007/BF00143251
- Karimi, T., Stockle, C. O., Higgins, S. S., Nelson, R. L., and Huggins, D. (2017). Projected dryland cropping system shifts in the pacific northwest in response to climate change. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00020
- Lobell, D. B., and Field, C. B. (2007). Global scale climate-crop yield relationships and the impacts of recent warming. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 2:011002. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/2/1/014002
- McCarl, B. A., Villavicencio, X., and Wu, X. M. (2008). Climate change and future analysis: is stationarity dying. Am. J. Agric. Econ. 90, 1242–1247. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8276.2008.01211.x
- Mu, J. E., McCarl, B. A., and Wein, A. M. (2013). Adaptation to climate change: changes in farmland use and stocking rate in the US. *Mitig. Adapt. Strat. Global Change* 18, 713–730. doi: 10.1007/s11027-012-9384-4
- Murray, B. C., Sommer, A. J., Depro, B., Sohngen, B. L., McCarl, B. A., Gillig, D., et al. (2005). Greenhouse Gas Mitigation Potential in US Forestry and Agriculture. EPA Report 430-R-05-006.
- NOAA (2017). NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information, State of the Climate: Global Analysis for December 2016, published online January 2017. Accessed on January 29, 2017. Availabe online at: http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/sotc/global/201612.
- Pattanayak, S. K., McCarl, B. A., Sommer, A. J., Murray, B. C., Bondelid, T., Gillig, D., et al. (2005). Water quality co-effects of greenhouse gas mitigation in US agriculture. *Clim. Change* 71:341. doi: 10.1007/s10584-005-5925-0
- Reilly, J. M., Hrubovcak, J., Graham, J., Abler, D. G., Darwin, R., Hollinger, S. E., et al. (2002). *Changing Climate and Changing Agriculture: Report of the Agricultural Sector Assessment Team, US National Assessment.* Prepared as part of USGCRP National Assessment of Climate Variability. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Reilly, J. M., Tubiello, F., McCarl, B. A., and Melillo, J. (2001). "Climate change and agriculture in the United States," in *Climate Change Impacts* on the United States-Foundation Report: The Potential Consequences of Climate Variability and Change. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 379–403.
- Schillinger, W. F., and Papendick, R. I. (2008). Then and now: 125 years of dryland wheat farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest. Agron. J. 100(Suppl. 3), S166–S182. doi: 10.2134/agronj2007.0027c
- Seo, S. N., McCarl, B. A., and Mendelsohn, R. (2010). From beef cattle to sheep under global warming? An analysis of adaptation by livestock species choice in South America. *Ecol. Econ.* 69, 2486–2494. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2010. 07.025
- Stockle, C. O., Higgins, S., Nelson, R., Abatzoglou, J., Huggins, D., Pan, W., et al. (2017). Evaluating opportunities for an increased role of winter crops as adaptation to climate change in dryland cropping systems of the U.S. Inland Pacific Northwest. *Clim. Change.* 33, 1–15. doi: 10.1007/s10584-017-1950-z
- USDA ERS (2016). United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service (USDA ERS). Wheat: Background. Availabe online at: https://www.ers. usda.gov/topics/crops/wheat/background.aspx.
- USDA NASS (2015). United States Department of Agriculture National Agricultural Statistics Service (USDA NASS). 2012 Census of Agriculture Highlights: Wheat Farming. Availabe online at:

 $https://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Online_Resources/Highlights/Wheat%20Farming/Wheat_Farming.pdf.$

- USDA NASS (2016). United States Department of Agriculture National Agricultural Statistics Service (USDA NASS). Crop Production 2015 Summary. Availabe online at: https://www.usda.gov/nass/PUBS/TODAYRPT/ cropan16.pdf.
- Wheeler, T. R., Craufurd, P. Q., Ellis, R. H., Porter, J. R., and Prasad, P. V. (2000). Temperature variability and the yield of annual crops. *Agric. Ecosyst. Envir.* 82, 159–167. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8809(00) 00224-3

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Fei, McCarl and Thayer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Design and Use of Representative Agricultural Pathways for Integrated Assessment of Climate Change in U.S. Pacific Northwest Cereal-Based Systems

John M. Antle^{1*}, Jianhong E. Mu¹, Hongliang Zhang¹, Susan M. Capalbo¹, Penelope L. Diebel¹, Sanford D. Eigenbrode², Chad E. Kruger³, Claudio O. Stöckle⁴, J. D. Wulfhorst⁵ and John T. Abatzoglou⁶

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Urs Feller, University of Bern, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Fernando José Cebola Lidon, Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Portugal Carmen De Jong, University of Strasbourg, France David Parsons, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden

> *Correspondence: John M. Antle john.antle@oregonstate.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 22 January 2017 Accepted: 07 August 2017 Published: 14 September 2017

Citation:

Antle JM, Mu JE, Zhang H, Capalbo SM, Diebel PL, Eigenbrode SD, Kruger CE, Stöckle CO, Wulfhorst JD and Abatzoglou JT (2017) Design and Use of Representative Agricultural Pathways for Integrated Assessment of Climate Change in U.S. Pacific Northwest Cereal-Based Systems. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5:99. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00099 ¹ Department of Applied Economics, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR, United States, ² Department of Plant, Soil and Entomological Sciences, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States, ³ Center for Sustaining Agriculture and Natural Resources, Washington State University, Mount Vernon, WA, United States, ⁴ Department of Biological Systems Engineering, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States, ⁵ Department of Agricultural Economics and Rural Sociology, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States, ⁶ Department of Geography, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States

This paper presents the design and use of Representative Agricultural Pathways (RAPs) in regional integrated assessment of climate impacts. In the first part of the paper, we describe the role of pathways and scenarios in regional integrated assessment as well as the three RAPs developed for a study of dryland wheat-based systems in the U.S. Pacific Northwest. We use this example to illustrate the challenges associated with the development and implementation of RAPs, including the engagement of research team and stakeholders, the dimensionality problem in integrated assessment, incorporation of economic data, and quantification of uncertainties. In the second part, we illustrate the use of RAPs in the study of climate impacts on dryland wheat-based systems. Results show that the direct impacts of future climate projections through crop yields provide the largest source of uncertainty in the climate impact and vulnerability analysis, but the indirect impacts of climate change through price projections embedded in RAPs also play an important role in the analysis. We conclude that in addition to being an essential element in designing an integrated assessment at the regional level, the RAPs development process can facilitate stakeholder engagement and improve communication of climate impact assessments.

Keywords: representative agricultural pathways, regional integrated assessment, climate change, wheat production, U.S. Pacific Northwest

Abbreviations: AgMIP, Agricultural Model Inter-comparison and Improvement Project; GCM, Global Climate Model; RAP, Representative Agricultural Pathway; RCP, Representative Concentration Pathway; SSP, Shared Socio-economic Pathway; REACCH, Regional Approaches to Climate Change – Pacific Northwest Agriculture; RIA, Regional Integrated Assessment; TOA-MD, Tradeoff Analysis Model for Multi-dimensional Impact Assessment; WWA, Annual Rotation of Winter Wheat and Spring Wheat with Summer Crops; WWF, Winter Wheat-fallow System; WWT, Transitional Wheat System.

INTRODUCTION

Future scenarios play a key role in climate impact assessments based on computer simulation. In the current research methods widely in use, these scenarios (defined as a complete characterization of the model inputs and outputs to represent a future state of the world) are constructed using "pathways" that provide narrative descriptions and quantification of variables for the disciplinary components of an integrated assessment. At the global scale, Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs; Van Vuuren et al., 2011) and Shared Socio-economic Pathways (SSPs; O'Neill et al., 2014) are now being used to construct scenarios for simulation studies.¹ In addition to its use for global integrated assessment modeling, an aim of the SSP framework is to provide the basis for more detailed sector and regional (national or sub-national) analysis. The Agricultural Model Inter-comparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP) developed the concept of Representative Agricultural Pathways (RAPs) to provide the additional agricultural detail needed to implement global and regional agricultural assessments (Rosenzweig et al., 2013; Rosenzweig and Hillel, 2015; Antle et al., 2017a). RAPs are projections of plausible future biophysical and socioeconomic conditions used to carry out climate impact assessments for agriculture (Claessens et al., 2012; Valdivia et al., 2015).

A coordinated agricultural project funded by the United States Department of Agriculture, named Regional Approaches to Climate Change—Pacific Northwest Agriculture (REACCH), was initiated in 2011 to investigate climate change impacts, adaptation, and mitigation in a contiguous region including northern Idaho, central Washington, and northern Oregon (see REACCHpna.org). The goal of the modeling team in the REACCH project was to assess climate impacts, adaptation, mitigation, and vulnerability of dryland wheat systems for the mid-twenty first century in the U.S. Pacific Northwest region. The REACCH project adopted the AgMIP methods for regional integrated assessment, including the development of RAPs (Figure 1) (Antle et al., 2015). The REACCH project utilized results from global modeling studies represented in the upper part of Figure 1 to generate projections of future prices and crop productivity to be used as inputs into the regional analysis, represented in the lower part of Figure 1.

To implement the regional assessments, REACCH researchers carried out climate downscaling, crop model simulations, and economic modeling. Climate data included 14 global climate models $(GCMs)^2$ of the Coupled Model Inter-Comparison

Project 5 that were evaluated for simulating credible climate characteristics across the region (Rupp et al., 2013) for two RCPs, RCP 4.5 and 8.5. The Multivariate Adaptive Constructed Analogs statistical downscaling approach was used to translate climate model outputs from their native coarse resolution to finer spatial resolution required for impact modeling (Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012)³. These data were combined with soil, crop, and management data to implement the cropping systems simulation model (CropSyst) developed at Washington State University. CropSyst was used to simulate crop yields for the principal cropping systems in the region (described further below), under projected climate conditions (Stöckle et al., 2003, 2017). Outputs from CropSyst were combined with data from the U.S. Census of Agriculture in the region, and used to parameterize an economic impact assessment model (Tradeoff Analysis Model for Multidimensional Impact Assessment, TOA-MD) (Antle et al., 2014). In particular, crop yields were simulated at each grid cell with a 4-km spatial resolution, and linked to individual farms through zip-code. This economic model was used to simulate economic impact, adaptation, and vulnerability of farm households to climate change under current and possible future conditions defined by climate and socio-economic scenarios.⁴

In implementing RAPs, the REACCH team addressed several key elements in developing and using RAPs: the process used to create RAPs, including the engagement of the research team and stakeholders; how to deal with the "dimensionality" problem (i.e., the large number of possible scenarios) that occurs in experimental designs with multi-disciplinary and multi-scale analysis; how to incorporate available economic data, including price and productivity projections from global models and regional projections of production costs, into regional scenarios; and how to quantify model and scenario uncertainties and incorporate them in the analysis and communication of results.

This article discusses how the REACCH team addressed these elements of pathway design and use, and illustrates them with climate impact and vulnerability analysis carried out in the REACCH project for wheat-based agricultural systems in the U.S. Pacific Northwest. To illustrate the development and use of RAPs we focus on climate impact and vulnerability, but note that RAPs are equally relevant to adaptation and mitigation analysis. In the next section, we discuss how the RAPs methodology described in Valdivia et al. (2015) was implemented and elaborated to address various methodological challenges in RAPs design and implementation. We then describe the RAPs developed for

¹The Representative Concentration Pathways (RCPs) describe four possible climate futures using radiative forcing values in the year 2100 relative to preindustrial values, depending on how much greenhouse gases are emitted in the future. These values are used to initiate climate model simulations. The Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSPs) describe five possible socio-economic futures using a set of variables describing socio-economic conditions, including demographic and economic trends. The RCPs and SSPs are used together in integrated assessments of future climate impact, vulnerability, adaptation, and mitigation.

²The names of these 14 global climate models are bcc-csm1-1, BNU-ESM, CanESM2, CNRM-CM5, CSIRO-Mk3-6-0, GFDL-ESM2G, GFDL-ESM2M, inmcm4, MIROC-ESM-CHEM, MIROC-ESM, MIROC5, MRI-CGCM3, HadGEM2-CC, HadGEM2-ES.

³The Multivariate Adaptive Constructed Analogs (MACA) method is a statistical downscaling approach that translates the coarse resolution of daily output from global climate models into local weather data at the time and spatial scale needed for regional impact assessment. The MACA method is advantageous due to the use of constructed analogs to avoid interpolation from reanalysis and the use of multivariate approach that improves the physical relationships between weather variables (see the detailed discussion in Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012). The MACA method, as a statistical downscaling approach, requires a long-term high-quality data that include a representative sample of observations.

⁴A variety of farm-level characteristics can be taken into account in households to simulate the economic and social consequences of climate change and adaptation, but typically key factors, including farm size, agricultural production costs and revenues, non-farm income, and household size, are used to characterize farm households.

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org



the REACCH project, and present results illustrating their use, including in an uncertainty analysis. In the concluding section, we reflect on implications of the analysis for further development and implementation of regional integrated assessment methods, including AgMIP's efforts to develop coordinated global and regional integrated assessments.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design and Development of RAPs The RAPs Design Process in the REACCH Project

Following the logical structure of RCPs and SSPs for global assessments, RAPs are intended to provide a logically consistent set of bio-physical and socio-economic drivers to be used with the climate data generated by downscaling outputs from global climate models to the regional level (Valdivia et al., 2015). When the global models used to generate data of bio-physical and socio-economic drivers as inputs to regional analysis are implemented with the RCP and SSP framework, the RAPs are logically linked to these pathways, as illustrated in Figure 1. To implement RAPs, scientists and other experts with knowledge of agricultural systems, including extension specialists and experts from the agricultural industry, work together through a stepwise process to develop narratives describing plausible future world conditions and to then construct quantitative values for model parameters. An Excel spreadsheet tool called DevRAP is used to develop and document the RAPs (Valdivia et al., 2015). The DevRAP tool includes information related to global as well as regional pathways and scenarios being developed, the time horizon of the analysis, the title, and narrative description of the pathway, and a matrix to document the assumed direction and magnitude of changes in variables and the rationale for those changes. Elements of RAPs can include any factor considered relevant by the research team and stakeholders, but typically include bio-physical, institutional, policy, socio-economic, and technological factors.

The first part of the process is to define the basic elements of the analysis, including the time horizon, the number of RAPs, and linkages to global pathways and scenarios. Following the AgMIP regional integrated assessment method, the REACCH project selected a set of global socio-economic pathways that were used by global modeling teams, and linked their regional RAPs and economic data to these global pathways. The REACCH project utilized prices and crop productivity trends from global models, together with regional projections of production costs (discussed below) as inputs for the regional economic analysis. In the study below we chose the time horizon of medium future, i.e., 2050, because prices and crop productivity trends from global models are only available in 2050. More importantly, stakeholders, especially farmers, show great interests in the next 30 years, rather than distant future.

The second part of the process involves the identification of the specific variables to be included in the RAPs, and a process for quantification of their changes over the time horizon of the analysis. AgMIP devised a series of steps for this purpose involving members of the research team, and possibly other experts and stakeholders who have expertise relevant to the variables included in the RAPs. Within the REACCH project, a team of researchers was identified with expertise in the relevant disciplines required for a comprehensive RAP assessment. The team first met for an all-day workshop to learn about the RAPs concepts and process, and started with a "Business as Usual" RAP and a short narrative description consistent with the global pathways that had been identified. The team members identified key parameters and drafted short narratives for them. Team members were assigned variables for further research and quantification using a template for documentation. At a second meeting, team members reported findings and discussed storylines for each variable and reached consensus on quantification, including direction, relative magnitude, and the percent change, a short narrative explaining the rationale for the change, references to literature used, and an assessment of confidence in the quantitative values. The team also reviewed variables for internal consistency. Next, additional RAPs were identified, and the development process was repeated. The RAPs were presented to the entire research project team and stakeholders at project meetings and through reports. The RAPs were revised based on feedback from these meetings and reports.

REACCH RAP Narratives

The REACCH RAPs development team evaluated the number of RAPs that would be feasible to use in the modeling studies and concluded that three would be adequate to capture the range of plausible conditions relevant to the wheat systems in the Pacific Northwest region. In addition to the Business as Usual case, the team identified a relatively optimistic Sustainable Development pathway and a more pessimistic Dysfunctional World pathway.

RAP 1: Sustainable development

This RAP is linked to SSP1 (Sustainable Development). Under this pathway, rural development continues with moderate increases in population in regional centers, with larger and more diversified regional economies having a positive impact on community and social well-being. Traditional commodity subsidies are replaced by a carbon tax and an expansion of conservation and environmental programs, which slow the consolidation of land into larger farms and support some expansion of mid- and small-scale farms. Recent trends in mechanical, chemical, and biological technology continue, but in response to the carbon tax, there is more innovation in technology that helps reduce fossil fuel intensity. Global commodity prices rise moderately along with the increases in fossil fuel prices due to the carbon tax.

RAP 2: Business as usual

This RAP is linked to SSP2 (Middle of the Road) and SSP5 (Conventional Development). Under this pathway, rural development continues with moderate increases in population in regional centers, larger, and more diversified regional economies, and trends toward mechanical, chemical, and biological technology continue. Trends toward environmental regulation to protect air and water quality continue, but fiscal pressures lead to real reductions in traditional commodity subsidies and other agriculture-specific conservation programs making conservation more individualized. Agricultural prices increase in real terms due to continued growth in demand, especially for feed grains and for politically mandated production of biofuels. Some rural farm-based communities continue to sustain infrastructure and social cohesion, while others continue to experience net out-migration.

RAP 3: Dysfunctional world

This RAP is linked to SSP3 (Fragmented World) and SSP4 (Inequality World). Under this pathway, an unbalanced rural development occurs, with the continued loss of "agriculture in the middle" and consolidation of most commodity production into large corporate entities with contract arrangements for farm management and related impacts on rural farm-based communities. Suburban development continues largely unregulated in peri-urban areas and rural areas. Traditional farm subsidy programs are largely eliminated, and conservation and environmental programs are limited due to budget constraints. Advances in large-scale mechanical, chemical, and biological technology continue, but disruptions to global agricultural research and development and agricultural trade result in substantially higher and volatile agricultural commodity prices.

Our pathway narrative descriptions are consistent with global RAPs. In both RAP 1 (sustainable development) and RAP 2 (business as usual), trends toward environmental regulation continue, with a major difference in carbon tax.

RAP Variables, Trends, and Ranges

Each RAP includes a set of variables to represent plausible future bio-physical, institutional, policy, socio-economic, and technological conditions. The focus is on variables in the simulation models that will be used, but the RAPs can also include other variables to provide context for interpretation of results. As shown in **Table 1**, likely trends are drawn for each key variable under each RAP based on global or regional economic model projections, historical data and/or experts' opinions. In **Table 1**, rising arrows indicate increasing trends and falling arrows indicate declining trends. Angles of arrows represent magnitudes of relative changes. **Table 2** shows the range of each trend. The crop simulation and economic modeling teams use these trends to assign values to model parameters. The range of each trend was used to design sensitivity and uncertainty analysis.

There are both similarities and differences between the variables in each RAP. Generally, likely trends for key variables in RAP3 differ in direction and magnitude from those in RAP1 and RAP2, while likely trends of key variables in RAP1 and RAP2 have similar direction but differ in magnitude. A key difference between RAP3 and the other two is the assumption of trade barriers and disruptions to global agricultural research and development, limiting production, and leading to higher commodity prices projected by global economic models in RAP3. It is also notable that all three RAPs have commodity subsidies decreasing, but the rationales differ according to the RAP narratives. In RAP1, commodity subsidies decrease because they are replaced by conservation subsidies, whereas in RAP3 commodity subsidies decrease due to overall reduction in public support.

Incorporating Output Price and Production Cost Projections

In collaboration with AgMIP and the Inter-sectoral Impact Model Inter-comparison Project, a group of 9 major modeling teams completed the first global agricultural economic model inter-comparison of climate change impacts in which all of

TABLE 1 | Likely trends of variables for REACCH RAPs.

Category	Variable/Indicator	RAP1 (Sustainable development)	RAP2 (Business as usual)	RAP3 (Dysfunctional world)
Bio-physical conditions	Soil erosion reduction	\longrightarrow	\longrightarrow	\rightarrow
	Irrigation Pests, weeds, and diseases control	\rightarrow		\rightarrow
Institutional and policy conditions	Commodity subsidies		1	
	Crop insurance subsidies			
	Conservation and environment programs			
Socio-economic conditions	Commercial farm size	7	1	
	Gross domestic product			
	Population			
Technology conditions	Improvements in conservation technologies			\longrightarrow
	Pest management effectiveness			\rightarrow
Prices from global/national models (relative to 2005 baseline, without climate change)	Wheat	\longrightarrow	\rightarrow	
	Corn	\longrightarrow		
	Oilseed	\longrightarrow		
	Cattle	\rightarrow	\longrightarrow	
	Chemicals			
	Fertilizer			
Prices from global/national models (relative to 2005 baseline, with climate change)	Wheat			1
	Corn			1

TABLE 1 | Continued

Category	Variable/Indicator	RAP1 (Sustainable development)	RAP2 (Business as usual)	RAP3 (Dysfunctional world)
		7	7	1
	Oilseed			1
	Cattle			
	Chemicals		\rightarrow	
	Fertilizer			

Directions of arrows indicate an increasing or decreasing trend. Angles of arrows indicate relative magnitude of changes.

TABLE 2 | Ranges of variable changes for REACH RAPs (%).

Category	Variable/Indicator	RAP1 (Sustainable development)	RAP2 (Business-as-usual)	RAP3 (Dysfunctional world)
Bio-physical conditions	Soil erosion reduction	-10 to 0	-10 to 0	-10 to 0
	Irrigation	+10 to 20	-5 to 0	-10 to -5
	Pests, weeds, and diseases control	20 to 40	-10 to +10	-10 to +10
Institutional/policy conditions	Commodity subsidies	-100 to -80	-30 to -50	-80 to -50
	Crop insurance subsidies	-100 to -80	+50 to 100	-80 to -50
	Conservation and environment programs	+50 to 100	+20 to 40	-80 to -40
Socio-economic conditions	Gross domestic product	+100 to 130	+130 to 150	+50 to 80
	Population	+20 to 40	+20 to 40	+20 to 40
	Commercial farm size	+10 to 30	+40 to 60	+60 to 80
Technology conditions	Improvements in conservation technologies	+60 to 100	+20 to 40	No change
	Pest management effectiveness	+60 to 100	+20 to 40	No change
Prices from global/national models (change relative to 2005 baseline, without climate change)	Wheat	-10 to +20	-5 to +35	+10 to +50
	Corn	-15 to +15	-5 to +30	+10 to +40
	Oilseed	-5 to +20	0 to +35	0 to +60
	Cattle	-15 to +15	-5 to +30	+10 to +40
	Chemicals	+10 to +40	-5 to +30	0 to +40
	Fertilizer	+10 to +40	-5 to +30	0 to +40
Prices from global/national models (change relative to 2005 baseline, with climate change)	Wheat	-5 to +25	0 to +50	+30 to +100
	Corn	-5 to +25	0 to +40	+30 to +90
	Oilseed	+5 to +35	+10 to +50	+10 to +100
	Cattle	-5 to +25	0 to +40	+30 to +90
	Chemicals	+20 to +70	+0 to +40	+10 to +70
	Fertilizers	+20 to +70	+0 to +40	+10 to +70

the models used a standard set of scenarios linked to one emissions scenario and two socio-economic scenarios (Nelson et al., 2014; von Lampe et al., 2014). These scenarios did not embody effects of increasing carbon dioxide concentrations on crop yields so in this sense they can be viewed as relatively pessimistic. However, these scenarios did incorporate a relatively

6

optimistic set of projected crop yield growth rates to represent the impacts of ongoing productivity improvements, ranging from 1 to 2.5 percent annually for major crops (wheat, coarse grains, rice, sugar, and oilseed) across the major regions of the world (von Lampe et al., 2014), so in this respect the scenarios can be viewed as somewhat optimistic.

These global economic model projections show that, without climate change, price changes to 2050 could range from -30to +40 percent relative to 2005 baseline values, due to factors such as income growth, population growth, and increases in agricultural productivity. In contrast, the effects of climate change on prices in 2050, all else held constant, range from 0 to 60 percent increases relative to 2005 baseline values. Thus, combining the economic model uncertainty and climate uncertainty, there is a wide range of uncertainty in future price projections. We know that historically, agricultural commodity prices have declined in "real" terms for the past century or more, reflecting the fact that global agricultural production has increased at a faster rate than global demand, despite population growth (USDA, 2016). A major question for the twenty-first century is whether this long-term trend in prices is being reversed by the combined effects of demand growth, environmental degradation, reductions in productivity growth, and climate change. These model projections show that the continuation of this trend is very uncertain, but it is also not apparent that there will be substantially higher prices-the result will depend on the relative importance of factors shifting supply and demand.

Projected crop yields are generally lower in most parts of the world in response to climate change, particularly in the latter half of this century, in the tropics, and under high emissions scenarios (Porter et al., 2014). The 9 global economic models in the AgMIP inter-comparison study show lower yields on average, ranging from -40 to +10 percent in yield changes averaged across major commodities. Most models project some increases in land area under production, but little impact on trade or consumption.

As discussed above, socio-economic variables in RAPs such as population, gross domestic product (GDP), commodity prices, and input prices can be derived from the global economic models or from extrapolations of historical price trends. All of the economic models discussed above project prices for wheat and oilseed crops with or without climate change for the U.S. (Nelson et al., 2014). Since the wheat and oilseed markets are global and the REACCH region produces and exports these crops, the global prices will largely determine prices received by farmers in this region. Some production input prices (e.g., cost of diesel fuels and fertilizers) are also determined to a large degree by global fossil fuel prices, but other input prices such as electricity and labor wages are region-specific and can be estimated based on historical trends and other factors, such as national policy, incorporated in the RAPs.

To represent plausible future trends of input and output prices for the REACCH region, we observe that farm net returns are calculated as the difference between revenue and cost. For farms to earn a positive real rate of return, this difference must be positive, or the ratio of cost to revenue must be less than one. Following this idea, we use the assumption of a stable longterm relationship between revenue and cost to project future cost by projecting the cost-over-revenue ratio (CRR), which is defined as the ratio of production costs over production sales.⁵ The CRR is useful because it allows us to predict the future production costs using the future revenues that are predicted by the global and regional economic models. Using historical county-level panel data, we estimate an econometric model of CRR and use it to predict future values. Variables used in the CRR model include crop yields and price indexes for livestock products, crops, energy, fertilizer, and chemicals.

To address the dimensionality problem caused by the combination of a large number of scenario elements, we assume three plausible future input and output prices under each RAP: low, "L," medium, "M," and high "H" input and output prices. Each RAP has output price projections with or without climate change from global and regional economic models, giving a total of 18 scenarios. **Table 3** shows details of the three price scenarios and the CRR under each RAP. All of the estimates for potential yields, prices, costs, and predicted CRR were also used to parameterize the regional economic simulation model.

Stakeholders Engagement

A stakeholder advisory committee (38 members) was formed since the initial of the REACCH project. Relevant stakeholders were identified and invited to join the stakeholder advisory committee, which includes representatives of growers, agricultural industry, commodities, citizen groups as well as state and federal agencies. The REACCH project prioritized engaging stakeholders to integrate local and scientific knowledge in research, education, and extension. The level of engagement and associated participatory approach and method were dependent on specific research teams and objectives within the REACCH project.

The RAPs team engaged stakeholders in the design process after the preliminary business-as-usual RAP short narrative description was formed. Stakeholders in the advisory committee participated in the designing process of the RAPs through workshops held by the RAPs team at annual project meetings. There are three major steps in engaging stakeholders. First, the RAPs team trained stakeholders with researchers and other experts on the concepts and process. Second, the RAPs team divided all participants including stakeholders into small groups and facilitated their discussion on additional RAPs and scenarios and elements that should be included in the business-as-usual RAP. In the REACCH project, the stakeholder advisory committee was only formally consulted after the initial RAPs development had been completed. Third, the RAPs team

⁵We assume that production costs are proportional to revenues that are the product of prices and yields. When predicting the future cost-over-revenue ratio, we use projected prices and yields according to the RAPs and crop simulations. Also, the assumption of a stable cost-over-revenue ratio in the long term is plausible, given the fact that farming business is competitive. If there was a decoupling due to price shocks, the cost-over-revenue ratio would vary in the short term (e.g., a year) but eventually stabilize in the long term, which is appropriate for climate change impact assessment. Moreover, our observed county-level data shows that the cost-over-revenue ratio is stable from 1974 to 2004.

сс	RAP	Price scenario	Yield potentials	Crop price		Chemical price	Fertilizer price	Fossil fuel price	Predicted CRR
				Wheat	Oilseed				
N	1	L	30	-10	-5	10	10	20	12.7
		Μ	30	5	7.5	25	25	35	-5.3
		Н	30	20	20	40	40	50	-17.6
	2	L	30	-5	0	-5	-5	0	-2.9
		Μ	30	15	17.5	13	13	15	-12.7
		Н	30	35	35	30	30	30	-14.2
	3	L	10	10	0	0	0	10	-6.9
		Μ	10	30	30	20	20	30	-10.2
		Н	10	50	60	40	40	50	-11.1
Y	1	L	30	-5	5	20	20	50	0.3
		Μ	30	10	20	45	45	70	-19.5
		Н	30	25	15	70	70	90	-37.6
	2	L	30	0	10	0	0	30	-3.6
		Μ	30	25	30	20	20	45	-16.9
		Н	30	50	50	40	40	60	-19.0
	3	L	10	30	10	10	10	40	-6.8
		Μ	10	65	55	40	40	65	11.2
		Н	10	100	100	70	70	90	53.8

TABLE 3 Assumptions of changes in yield potentials and input and output prices for cost-over-revenue ratio (CRR) prediction and economic impact simulation (%).

CC, climate conditions; N, without climate change; Y, with climate change; L, low input and output prices; M, medium input and output prices; H, high input and output prices.

presented the finalized RAPs to stakeholders at project meetings and through reports. The REACCH project held six annual project meetings, which enabled the RAPs team to engage stakeholders in this three-step approach.

This process of stakeholder engagement was used due to the features of the REACCH project, including a stakeholder advisory committee and several project meetings. Also, within the REACCH project, two survey teams collected social and economic information on farmers. The team member could already have interactions with farmers based on their research for the REACCH project. In addition, the majority of the design and implementation of RAPs involves quantifying parameters in the future, so researchers rather than stakeholders are appropriate to be fully engaged in the process. It would be more useful to fully engage stakeholders in the process when considering the implementation of adaptation strategies.

Issues and Challenges in RAP Development

The REACCH modeling team identified several practical and methodological challenges in designing and implementing RAPs, including training participants, engaging stakeholders, and linking global and regional pathways and scenarios.

Training Participants

A first challenge is to train all of the participants, including research team members, outside experts, and stakeholders, about the scenario design framework and the RAPs methodology. Research team members as well as outside experts and stakeholders often find it difficult to quantify key variables and may feel that values used are subjective. For example, government policies on crop insurance and conservation vary periodically and have effects on federal subsidies, and conservation technology to protect the environment depends on future technology innovation with substantial uncertainty. Also, the RAPs can contain many elements that do not enter into the models being used. This raises several issues. One is that researchers and stakeholders may expend substantial time on features that are not used in the modeling (e.g., variables included in Tables 1, 2 but not in Table 3), and some of the REACCH stakeholders questioned the usefulness of developing elements that could not be quantified in the models, even though they were justified by the research team as providing context to interpret model results. To address these issues, the developers and facilitators of RAPs development explained that the goal is to produce a consistent plausible future, not a prediction of the future. It is important for the participants to understand the overall assessment framework (Figure 1) and the role of pathways and scenarios in the experimental design aspect of simulation modeling. As for elements representing aspects of a future world that stakeholders consider and are relevant to research questions, we need to include additional researchers and experts with knowledge of these specific questions of interest and capacities to quantify parameters used for modeling. This may involve additional literature review, survey of expert opinions, collection of data, and improvement of existing models.

Engaging Stakeholders

A second challenge in RAPs development is when and how to engage stakeholders. Engaging stakeholders is now widely

promoted in research community and has partly been driven by increasing demand from decision-makers in the private and public sectors for an action-oriented interdisciplinary approach to solving complex economic, environmental, and social issues. A growing body of literature in engaging stakeholders focuses on how to improve the performance of stakeholder engagement and prescribed best practices to engage them (see a detailed review by Reed, 2008). While it is recommended to participate as early as possible, however, the time of participation is dependent on the objective, knowledge, and skills of researchers as well as capacities of stakeholders.

In the REACCH project, the stakeholder advisory committee was only formally consulted after the initial RAPs development had been completed. In contrast, some AgMIP teams incorporated stakeholders from the beginning of the process (Valdivia et al., 2015). It is not yet clear whether either of these approaches performs better. An AgMIP team in Southern Africa used a process similar to REACCH that did not include stakeholders in the initial RAPs development. In that case, the stakeholders found the RAPs to be too conservative, and encouraged the research team to develop new RAPs with more aggressive assumptions about possible technological and policy changes. For the REACCH project, however, this approach proved to be effective, in part because stakeholders participated in a project meeting where the preliminary RAPs were presented and recommendations from the project team members and stakeholders could be incorporated. Also, the role of stakeholders engagement depends on specific research, knowledge of research team, and capabilities of stakeholders. The design and development of RAPs requires scientific knowledge of modeling agricultural systems; thus, our approach of engaging stakeholders is appropriate for the study region to design and implement the RAPs and performs better for scientists rather than stakeholders to improve knowledge on climate change impacts. If it is action related, e.g., implementing adaptations to reduce negative or increase positive impacts from climate change, additional stakeholder engagement would be appropriate.

RAP Scope and Differentiation

A related issue that was identified through stakeholder engagement is the appropriate scope of RAPs. There is a tendency among stakeholder participants to feel the need to address many aspects of a future world that they may consider relevant, but these aspects may not correspond to the variables in the models being used. An example that arose in the context of the REACCH project is the type of contractual arrangements used between producers and grain marketing intermediaries. While this consideration is relevant in actual farm operations, there are no data available to allow this level of financial detail to be incorporated into the simulation analyses that were carried out by the project. In this type of situation, the result can be the use of a large amount of time discussing variables that are not used in models.

Another related issue is how different the RAPs are in terms of key variables impacting the analysis. As we will see in the discussion below, the quantitative analysis shows a similarity between RAP1 and RAP2 which reflects the range of feasible expectations held by the research team. For a number of variables, similar trends in the "Business as Usual" and "Sustainable Development" world were considered plausible. As noted above, one of the AgMIP teams developed RAPs that were considered by their stakeholders to be too similar to current world conditions. One of the qualitative judgments that RAPs developers must make is how distinct "plausible" scenarios can be from "expected" or "Business as Usual" scenarios. Many scenario design experts encourage researchers to consider future scenarios that are "wildcard" or that contain substantial "surprises" not considered likely under current conditions. But it has to be acknowledged that there is no "scientific" basis for such assumptions—there will always be a subjective element in the "art" in pathway and scenario development.

Linking Global and Regional Pathways and Scenarios

A third methodological challenge is to link global and regional pathways and scenarios, an important element in the design illustrated in **Figure 1**. **Figure 1** shows that the regional RAPs are linked to and depend on outputs from global models that in turn depend on global emissions pathways (i.e., RCPs) and global socio-economic pathways (i.e., SSPs). The REACCH team encountered several methodological issues in making these linkages, as discussed below in more detail. Two aspects of the linkage from global to regional pathways and scenarios were addressed in the REACCH project, building on the AgMIP methods discussed in Valdivia et al. (2015).

A first aspect of linkage is to do so consistently across global and regional scales. SSPs are intended to represent elements of the future that are not climate-dependent, thus allowing them to be combined with more than one RCP in the design of global integrated assessment scenarios in a "matrix" that represents the possible combinations of RCPs and SSPs (O'Neill et al., 2014). Thus, as Figure 1 shows, the RCPs are inputs into global climate models, but do not directly affect elements of SSPs (as indicated by the solid arrows in Figure 1). However, this "matrix" design does not work logically for some elements of management that enter into bio-physical models (e.g., water management) and that cannot be defined independently of climate (represented in Figure 1 by the dashed line from RCPs to global socioeconomic scenarios). In addition, agricultural commodity prices are outcomes from global economic models and are also inputs or drivers on the regional or local scale (Figure 1). Thus, at the regional scale a RAP that includes global prices from a particular global economic model run is necessarily linked to the particular combination of RCP and SSP that was used to generate the global analysis.

The second aspect of linkage concerns the uncertainty associated with global models, including AgMIP global economic modeling and price uncertainty and methods to incorporate price uncertainty into regional RAPs. **Figure 1** and **Tables 1, 2** show that prices from global economic models are important components of regional RAPs. **Tables 1, 2** also show that these values span a wide range. In principle, this model uncertainty could be incorporated through Monte Carlo simulation, but distributions for most parameters are unknown and there are too many parameters to make this approach practicable. Therefore, as we discuss in the next section, a simpler sensitivity analysis approach is taken in which selected key parameters are varied, although the number of parameters still creates dimensionality challenges.

Wheat-Based Systems in the REACCH Study Region

Winter wheat is a major crop in the Pacific Northwest region, occupying 3.11 million acres as of 2014 (USDA, 2015). Most of this crop is grown across the Columbia Plateau between the Cascades and Northern Rocky Mountains. Using data from the U.S. Census of Agriculture and the National Land Cover Database, we characterized three rain-fed cereal-cropping systems in the region that are the focus of this study presented here, based on Huggins et al. (2015): the annual rotation of winter wheat and spring wheat with summer crops (WWA); the winter wheat-fallow system (WWF); and the transitional wheat system (WWT) that combines winter and spring wheat in a fallow rotation. In the eastern region with an average of 580 mm precipitation per year, farms use the WWA system in which

TABLE 4 | Summary statistics from 2007 U.S.

winter wheat is rotated with spring wheat and summer crops over a 3–4 year cycle and fallow is typically not used. In areas with lower rainfall, farmers use the WWT system that includes winter and spring wheat in a 3-year rotation with fallow every third year. In the lowest rainfall areas (average 310 mm), the WWF system is used with winter wheat grown every other year with fallow used to restore soil moisture.

Table 4 summarizes the socio-economic characteristics of small (below the median cropped acres) and large (above the median cropped acres) farms within each dryland system using 2007 Census of Agriculture data. The census data were used in the analysis because they provide detailed information about virtually every farm in the region, and thus provide the best available data to characterize the farm population in terms of yields and economic variables that are the foundation of the economic modeling approach described below. The data show that WWF farms are the largest and have the lowest yields, but yields are similar between small and large farms of each system. The data also show that large commercial WWA farm sales of wheat are about 78 percent of total crop sales, whereas the WWF

Variables	Unit	AWW		WWF		wwt	
		Large farms	Small farms	Large farms	Small farms	Large farms	Small farms
Winter wheat yield	bushel/acre	66	62	51	53	55	62
		(19.2)	(21.1)	(15.5)	(18.3)	(19.3)	(18.9)
Spring wheat yield	bushel/acre	45	45	33	33	36	43
		(14.7)	(16.3)	(17.3)	(13.7)	(15.6)	(15.9)
Winter wheat revenue	\$/acre	379	363	290	296	324	361
		(148.6)	(162.6)	(114.5)	(144.7)	(108.6)	(116.7)
Spring wheat revenue	\$/acre	260	271	187	206	215	249
		(141.9)	(127.3)	(114.2)	(144.6)	(108.6)	(116.7)
Winter wheat revenue (% of total crop revenue)	%	62	63	91	79	78	58
		(24.9)	(34.6)	(17.6)	(35.5)	(22.5)	(31.9)
Spring wheat revenue (% of total crop revenue)	%	16	18	5	6	11	12
		(22.2)	(30.6)	(12.7)	(19.2)	(15.2)	(21.1)
Non-farming income (% of total household income)	%	71	42	71	37	69	49
		(30.1)	(32.7)	(30.4)	(34.1)	(29.2)	(34.5)
Total crop sales	\$/acre	265	273	128	86	148	172
		(126.0)	(141.6)	(63.6)	(85.7)	(91.6)	(115.5)
Total production cost	\$/acre	163	164	68	73	86	112
		(87.6)	(117.9)	(37.4)	(63.5)	(55.9)	(67.2)
Total farmnet return	\$/acre	85	89	53	9	53	54
		(98.3)	(129.8)	(55.5)	(83.7)	(66.7)	(95.7)
Total government payment	\$/acre	18	22	14	17	18	19
		(12.3)	(29.1)	(10.0)	(23.5)	(10.7)	(18.3)
Farm size	acre	2,654	486	4169	717	3,936	852
		(1422.4)	(334.8)	(2400.1)	(497.4)	(2331.6)	(533.1)
Fallow (% of cropland acreage)	%	0.8	0.3	50	65	27	25
		(2.2)	(1.4)	(9.9)	(22.9)	(8.2)	(8.3)
Number of farms		449	442	335	326	333	340

Census of Agriculture data for REACCH wheat systems Standard deviations are in parentheses. Data are for farms with more than 50 acres. WWF, winter wheat-fallow system; WWT, winter wheat transitional system; WWA, winter wheat annual cropping system. Small and large farms within each dryland system are defined as farms with farm land acreage below the median cropped acres and above the median cropped acres farms, respectively.

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org
earn almost all of their income from wheat production and WWT farms are somewhat less specialized. These yields and sales data are the basis for the economic analysis reported below.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION: USING RAPS IN THE REACCH PROJECT

In this section, we illustrate the use of RAPs in regional integrated assessment as implemented in the REACCH project. The study incorporated RAPs into climate impact analysis to investigate the impacts of climate change on current production systems under current socio-economic conditions relative to the current noclimate baseline, as well as impacts of climate change on future production systems under future socio-economic conditions related to the future no-climate baseline. In addition, the REACCH analysis investigated the contribution of each source of uncertainty in the climate impact assessment.

Impacts of Climate Change on Dryland Wheat-Based Systems

Here we present results using climate projections based on RCP 4.5 for the 14 global climate models used in this study. **Figure 2** shows the distributions of changes in simulated crop yields for winter wheat, spring wheat and spring peas, averaged over the study region for each of the 14 climate model projections for 2050 relative to baseline values from 1981 to 2010. Despite these differences across climate models and locations, the average yield changes are generally positive for wheat, but are negative in some cases for spring peas. These results reflect the fact that the climate



FIGURE 2 Percent change in simulated yields in 2050 due to climate change, averaged over the REACCH study area, based on downscaled CMIP5 data from 14 global climate models under RCP 4.5. WWF, winter wheat-fallow system; WWT, winter wheat transitional system; WWA, winter wheat annual cropping system.

models generally project warmer and wetter winters, but hotter and drier summer weather. The wheat and pea yield changes also incorporate the effects of higher CO_2 concentrations that are predicted to have a positive effect on yields according to the CropSyst model.

For each climate model projection, yields are simulated at each gridded cell and linked to individual farms through zip codes.⁶ **Figure 3** shows one of the resulting distributions of simulated *relative yields* for one climate projection, where the variation is across gridded cells. A relative yield is defined as the average simulated yield under future climate at a site divided by the average simulated yield under current climate at the same site (thus a relative yield of 1 indicates no yield change due to climate change).⁷ This figure demonstrates that there is substantial heterogeneity in projected yield changes across farms in the region, with yield increases at many locations (relative yield greater than 1), but with yield decreases at some locations (relative yield less than 1) due to spatial variation in projected weather patterns.

Table 5 presents results from the economic impact analysis. These results are impacts of climate change using the current cropping systems without adaptations such as changes in crop varieties, fertilizer application rates, or types of crops. The economic model TOA-MD utilizes the simulated relative yields, together with the agricultural census data in Table 4 to define current economic conditions, and the RAPs data to define future economic conditions, to simulate economic impacts of climate change. Each scenario represents the combined effects of a particular global climate model output to project future prices, and a socio-economic scenario which includes projected changes in production costs, changes in policy (i.e., crop and conservation subsidies) and other parameters in the TOA-MD model. Seven measures of economic impact were simulated: vulnerability to loss (percent of farms that could experience a loss in farm income); total average gains, total average losses, and total average net gains in farm returns; total average gains, total average losses, and total average net gains in household income (which includes both farm and non-farm income).

Table 5 shows that the average economic impact of climate change on current production systems under current conditions (indicated in the table as "No RAP") is positive, consistent with the crop model simulations that show a positive impact on crop productivity, on average (Figure 2). However, due to the fact that there are some individual farms projected to experience higher yields, and some farms projected to have negative yield changes (as illustrated in Figure 3), the economic analysis show that on average about one-third of farms are vulnerable to economic losses from climate change (indicated as percent vulnerable

⁶The agricultural census provides detailed information on individual farms such as farm size, observed yields, agricultural production costs and revenues, government payments, and non-farm income. However, the exact location of an individual farm is not available in the agricultural census due to confidentiality, and zip code is the finest geographical information that is available. Yields are simulated at each gridded cell with a 4-km spatial resolution.

⁷A relative yield was used to correct biases from crop simulation models, and in combination with observed yields, calculate projected yiel with climate change (see a detailed description in Antle et al., 2017b).



farms in the REACCH study area using the annual cropping system in 2050, based on downscaled CMIP5 data from one global climate model and RCP4.5. Relative yield is defined as the yield simulated with future climate divided by the yield simulated with current climate at the same site for the same crop species.

in the table). These figures also show that small farms tend to be more vulnerable to loss than large farms under current world, presumably due to their different locations and economic conditions. The analysis also shows that impacts on small farms are less as a percentage of household income, due to the fact that small farms earn more of their income from non-farm sources.

Table 5 shows that when the analysis is carried out under the three RAPs, the impacts of climate change tend to be more positive, due to the fact that crop prices are projected to be higher in the future with climate change. Crop prices are the highest for RAP 3 which also shows the most positive impacts. However, it should be noted that the differences between the three RAPs is relatively small. This is due to two factors. First, as Table 3 shows, the production cost is projected to be higher as crop prices and input prices increase, and the RAPs also embody the assumption that both output and input prices will increase in the future with climate change. Second, the other variables in the RAPs that affect economic returns, government subsidy payments, are assumed not to change with climate change. As a result, as the analysis presented in the next section will show more clearly, the interactions between climate and biophysical and socioeconomic factors in this analysis play a relatively small role in determining the outcomes.

Table 5 also shows some important differences in impact across the three cropping systems, with the WWF system generally showing higher vulnerability to climate change, with some notable differences across farm sizes. It is important to keep in mind that the WWF system is used in the driest area in the study region. Finally, we observe that the impacts measured relative to household income are generally smaller than when measured relative to farm income which is a component of household income. We emphasize here that our analysis focuses on climate change impacts without adaptation or mitigation. If adaptation or mitigation were included, farm household income would be likely to increase due to gains from adaptation and compensation for provision of mitigation services.

Quantifying Sources of Uncertainty

Uncertainty is associated with each component of integrated assessment, including the climate model projections of changes in temperature and precipitation, price projections from global economic models, crop model simulations, the regional economic impact assessment model, and the socio-economic conditions defined in the RAPs. In the REACCH study it was not feasible to utilize more than one crop model and one regional economic impact model, so the uncertainty analysis was constructed with respect to climate projections, global economic model projections of prices, regional projections of production costs, and other elements of the RAPs. For each uncertainty source, the variance-decomposition approach in Wallach et al. (2015) was used to construct the share of total variation associated with each factor as $S_i = \frac{\text{var}[E(Y|X_i)]}{\text{var}(Y)}$, where S_i is the contribution of the i th source of uncertainty (i.e., percent of total variation), Y is an outcome variable, X_i is the *i* th source of uncertainty, $E(\cdot)$ is the expectation operator, and $Var(\cdot)$ is the total variance.8

Using this approach, the contribution of each uncertainty source to the variation in climate change impacts was quantified by using the first-order sensitivity coefficient to measure the share of total variation of outcome variables from 14 climate models through their direct impacts on crop yields, three RAPs, and the indirect impacts of climate change through three levels of future prices and associated production costs. Thus, in this analysis, we separate the effects of climate on future prices and production costs from the other variables contained in the RAPs.

Table 6 shows that the direct impacts of future climate projections through crop yields provide the largest source of uncertainty in the climate impact and vulnerability analysis, but the indirect impacts of climate change through price projections also play an important role in the analysis. Importantly, the analysis shows that the relative importance of direct climate impacts on yields varies substantially with the type of system. The results show that the WWA system outcomes are generally more sensitive to price changes in relative terms. The contribution of the RAPs, apart from price effects, is very small. These results demonstrate that both global climate and global economic model uncertainty may dominate the effects of other socio-ecomic variables contained in the RAPs. However, it is important to recognize that uncertainty in the crop model and the regional economic impact model are not incorporated here, and could also represent an important source of uncertainty.

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

⁸For simplicity, we assume no interactions between factors or uncertainty sources, i.e., second-order coefficients. If factors interact, the sum of shares across factors is not equal to one. Our results in **Table 6** show that the sum of first-order coefficients across variables is almost equal to one for each outcome. This indicates that interactions play a small role; otherwise, the sum of first-order coefficients would be much less than one.

TABLE 5 | Climate change impacts in 2050 without adaptation, REACCH study region.

					Impact on total farm net returns (%))	Impact on total household income (%)						
System	Farm size	RAP	Vulnerability (%)		Gains		Losses		Net gains		Gains		Losses		Net gains		
WWF	Large	None	32.0	(7.19)	26.4	(5.05)	8.1	(2.63)	18.3	(7.65)	17.0	(3.63)	5.2	(1.53)	11.9	(5.13)	
		1	25.6	(6.15)	30.6	(5.35)	5.8	(1.84)	24.8	(7.15)	22.9	(4.21)	4.3	(1.35)	18.6	(5.48)	
		2	25.5	(6.17)	30.2	(5.29)	5.7	(1.82)	24.5	(7.07)	22.6	(4.18)	4.2	(1.34)	18.4	(5.44)	
		3	24.6	(6.26)	32.8	(5.87)	5.7	(1.93)	27.1	(7.75)	23.9	(4.51)	4.2	(1.38)	19.8	(5.79)	
	Small	None	35.2	(6.11)	25.0	(4.08)	9.6	(2.47)	15.4	(6.53)	12.1	(2.27)	4.6	(1.03)	7.5	(3.29)	
		1	31.1	(7.10)	28.5	(5.15)	8.3	(2.78)	20.2	(7.85)	17.0	(3.11)	5.0	(1.78)	12.0	(4.64)	
		2	30.9	(7.19)	28.1	(5.12)	8.1	(2.76)	20.1	(7.79)	16.8	(3.10)	4.9	(1.77)	12.0	(4.62)	
		3	29.8	(7.59)	30.9	(5.94)	8.2	(3.04)	22.7	(8.88)	17.6	(3.38)	4.7	(1.88)	12.9	(4.95)	
WWT	Large	None	32.7	(5.73)	24.8	(3.59)	8.1	(2.09)	16.7	(5.67)	16.6	(2.62)	5.4	(1.29)	11.3	(3.90)	
		1	27.1	(5.39)	29.8	(4.25)	6.4	(1.76)	23.5	(5.99)	22.9	(3.20)	4.9	(1.38)	18.0	(4.52)	
		2	26.4	(5.52)	28.2	(4.05)	5.7	(1.66)	22.4	(5.69)	21.8	(3.12)	4.4	(1.32)	17.4	(4.36)	
		3	26.1	(5.59)	32.0	(4.79)	6.3	(1.87)	25.7	(6.61)	24.0	(3.46)	4.8	(1.44)	19.2	(4.83)	
	Small	None	35.6	(5.00)	24.5	(3.16)	9.7	(2.06)	14.8	(5.21)	14.1	(2.02)	5.6	(1.06)	8.6	(3.08)	
		1	30.3	(5.31)	28.5	(3.98)	7.8	(1.93)	20.7	(5.89)	19.6	(2.65)	5.4	(1.41)	14.2	(3.94)	
		2	29.7	(5.45)	28.0	(3.97)	7.3	(1.91)	20.7	(5.86)	19.3	(2.66)	5.1	(1.40)	14.2	(3.92)	
		3	29.3	(5.57)	30.5	(4.51)	7.7	(2.07)	22.8	(6.54)	20.3	(2.85)	5.2	(1.47)	15.2	(4.20)	
WWA	Large	None	28.8	(4.48)	26.9	(3.22)	6.5	(1.44)	20.4	(4.64)	18.5	(2.44)	4.5	(0.91)	14.0	(3.34)	
		1	22.5	(4.43)	32.3	(3.83)	4.8	(1.28)	27.5	(5.07)	25.4	(2.90)	3.8	(1.07)	21.7	(3.86)	
		2	21.9	(4.51)	31.8	(3.79)	4.4	(1.26)	27.3	(5.01)	25.1	(2.90)	3.5	(1.05)	21.5	(3.83)	
		3	21.4	(4.59)	34.2	(4.26)	4.6	(1.33)	29.6	(5.55)	26.5	(3.11)	3.6	(1.10)	22.9	(4.10)	
	Small	None	35.1	(3.26)	26.0	(2.40)	10.0	(1.30)	16.1	(3.70)	10.4	(1.15)	4.0	(0.44)	6.5	(1.58)	
		1	29.6	(4.35)	32.3	(3.15)	8.4	(1.97)	23.9	(5.01)	17.1	(1.73)	4.5	(1.29)	12.6	(2.45)	
		2	29.3	(4.42)	31.9	(3.11)	8.1	(1.97)	23.8	(4.96)	17.0	(1.73)	4.4	(1.29)	12.6	(2.44)	
		3	28.5	(4.67)	34.4	(3.58)	8.3	(2.14)	26.1	(5.61)	17.5	(1.83)	4.3	(1.37)	13.2	(2.56)	

Standard deviations are in parentheses. Vulnerability = % of farms losing from climate change. Without RAPs, for each row there are 14 scenarios, including 1 RCP and 14 GCMs. With RAPs, for each row there are 1,134 scenarios, including 1 RCP, 14 GCMs, 3 price levels, and 27 policy levels (government payments, crop insurance payments, and conservation payments). WWF, winter wheat-fallow system; WWT, winter wheat transitional system; WWA, winter wheat annual cropping system.

Strengths and Limitations

The experience with the RAPs for the REACCH project demonstrated the value of pathway and scenario development to the creation of a trans-disciplinary research effort, by facilitating communication within the research team and between the research team and stakeholders. As we discussed in this paper, RAPs implementation poses a number of challenges, including the engagement of research team and stakeholders, the dimensionality problem in integrated assessment, incorporation of economic data and quantification of uncertainties. Further systematic research on pathway and scenario development will be needed to evaluate alternative methods to address these challenges.

While systematic development of pathways and scenarios is essential for climate impact research, it is essential to recognize the limitations and areas for further improvement in methods. First, the design and implementation of RAPs assumes that both input and output prices will move in the same direction regardless of climate change. As a result, the projected cost of production offsets the effect of climate change on revenues and reduces the differences between the dysfunctional world pathway and the other two. Second, some variables in the RAPs that affect economic returns are assumed unaffected by climate change, e.g., government subsidy payments. Moreover, a lack of climate-related conservation policies in the RAPs diminishes the difference between sustainable development and business-asusual pathways. Third, some important elements in the RAPs are not included in our analysis, e.g., crop pests and diseases. This is due to the fact that existing crop simulation models are incapable to handle these elements. Our analysis can include these elements in the future when crop simulation models are improved, and thus increase the accuracy of assessment results.

CONCLUSIONS

This paper presents the design and use of RAPs to construct plausible future agriculture-related pathways and scenarios for regional integrated assessment (RIA) of climate change impacts. We describe how the REACCH team uses the AgMIP RIA methodology to design three regional RAPs and discusses challenges associated with RAPs development and implementation, including the engagement of research team and stakeholders, the dimensionality problem in integrated

Economic outcome	Cropping system	Farm size	Direct climate impact through crop yields	RAPs			
				Climate impacts on prices and cost of production	Non-price factors		
Vulnerability (% of farms losing from climate change)	WWF	Large	86.3	12.7	0.5		
		Small	52.5	46.5	0.6		
	WWT	Large	70.7	28.3	0.6		
		Small	61.0	38.1	0.6		
	WWA	Large	49.5	49.1	1.0		
		Small	27.6	70.9	1.0		
Impact on total farm net return (%)	WWF	Large	84.4	12.7	2.4		
		Small	57.0	40.1	2.2		
	WWT	Large	66.8	27.7	4.6		
		Small	60.6	36.4	2.5		
	WWA	Large	54.5	41.0	3.9		
		Small	37.6	57.4	4.1		
Impact on total farm income (%)	WWF	Large	91.4	7.0	1.2		
		Small	68.7	30.1	0.7		
	WWT	Large	77.1	19.6	2.8		
		Small	72.0	26.4	1.2		
	WWA	Large	67.8	29.3	2.5		
		Small	58.4	39.7	1.3		

TABLE 6 | Decomposition of sources of uncertainty in climate vulnerability and impact (%).

For each row, there are 126 scenarios including 14 GCMs, 3 RAPs, 1 RCP, 3 output and input price levels, and 27 policy level (i.e., commodity, conservation, and crop insurance payments). WWF, winter wheat-fallow system; WWT, winter wheat transitional system; WWA, winter wheat annual cropping system.

assessment, incorporation of economic data, and quantification of uncertainties. We illustrate the use of the three RAPs in a study of climate change impacts on dryland wheat-based systems in the U.S. Pacific Northwest region.

We find that under future socio-economic conditions characterized in RAPs the average economic impact of climate change without adaptation is more positive than no RAP scenarios, although the differences between the three RAPs are relatively small. Results show some important differences in impact across the three cropping systems, with the winter wheatfallow system generally showing higher vulnerability to climate change compared to the annually cropped system. These findings imply that without accounting for changes in socio-economic conditions represented in RAPs, the economic impact of climate change on dryland wheat-based production systems would be over-estimated in the study region. The economic analysis also shows heterogeneous climate impacts among wheat farms due to the fact that, with climate change, some farms are likely to gain whereas other are vulnerable to loss.

To further evaluate the relative importance of climate modeling uncertainty and RAPs uncertainty, we evaluated the contributions of uncertainty sources to the variation in climate change impacts. Results show that the direct impacts of future climate projections through crop yields provide the largest source of uncertainty in the climate impact and vulnerability analysis, but the indirect impacts of climate change through price projections embedded in RAPs also play an important role in the analysis. These results demonstrate that the use of RAPs is an essential element in an integrated assessment of climate change impacts at the regional level.

Finally, we emphasize the critical role that a transparent, protocol-based approach to pathway and scenario development plays in improving the science base for integrated assessment. A protocol-based approach is needed to facilitate the ongoing improvement of climate impact assessment through coordinated global and regional assessments (Rosenzweig et al., 2013; Antle et al., 2017a).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JA: Led research team, lead contribution to design, and implementation of research, conceived and drafted paper, led revisions. JM and HZ: assisted design of research, contributed to research implementation, drafted some sections of paper, assisted in revisions. SC: assisted design of research, contributed to research implementation, assisted in revisions. PD, SE, CK, CS, JD, and JAb: contributed to research implementation, assisted in revisions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by USDA-NIFA award #2011-68002-30191.

REFERENCES

- Abatzoglou, J. T., and Brown, T. J. (2012). A comparison of statistical downscaling methods suited for wildfire applications. *Int. J. Climatol.* 32, 772–780. doi: 10.1002/joc.2312
- Antle, J. M., Jones, J. W., and Rosenzweig, C. (2017a). Next Generation agricultural system models and knowledge products: synthesis and strategy. *Agric. Syst.* 155, 179–185. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2017.05.006
- Antle, J. M., Mu, J., Zhang, H., Abatzoglou, J., and Stockle, C. (2017b). Methods to assess cropping system adaptations to climate change: dryland wheat systems in the Pacific Northwest United States. *Agricul. Ecosyst. Environ.* doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.03.017. [Epub ahead of print].
- Antle, J. M., Stoorvogel, J. J., and Valdivia, R. O. (2014). New parsimonious simulation methods and tools to assess future food and environmental security of farm populations. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 369:20120280. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2012.0280
- Antle, J. M., Valdivia, R. O., Boote, K. J., Janssen, S., Jones, J. W., Porter, C. H., et al. (2015). "AgMIP's transdisciplinary agricultural systems approach to regional integrated assessment of climate impacts, vulnerability, and adaptation," in Handbook of Climate Change and Agroecosystems: The Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP) Integrated Crop and Economic Assessments—Joint Publication with American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America (In 2 Parts) (London).
- Claessens, L., Antle, J., Stoorvogel, J., Valdivia, R., Thornton, P., and Herrero, M. (2012). A method for evaluating climate change adaptation strategies for smallscale farmers using survey, experimental and modeled data. *Agric. Syst.* 111, 85–95. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2012.05.003
- Huggins, D., Pan, B., Schillinger, W., Young, F., Machado, S., and Painter, K. (2015). Crop Diversity and Intensity in Pacific Northwest Dryland Cropping Systems. REACCH Annual Report.
- Nelson, G. C., Valin, H., Sands, R. D., Havlík, P., Ahammad, H., Deryng, D., et al. (2014). Climate change effects on agriculture: Economic responses to biophysical shocks. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 3274–3279. doi:10.1073/pnas.1222465110
- O'Neill, B., Kriegler, E., Riahi, K., Ebi, K., Hallegatte, S., Carter, T., et al. (2014). A new scenario framework for climate change research: the concept of shared socioeconomic pathways. *Clim. Change* 122, 387–400. doi: 10.1007/s10584-013-0905-2
- Porter, J. R., Xie, L., Challinor, A. J., Cochrane, K., Howden, S. M., Iqbal, M., et al. (2014). "Food security and food production systems," in *Climate Change* 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds C. B. Field, V. R. Barros, D. J. Dokken, K. J. Mach, M. D. Mastrandrea, T. E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K. L. Ebi, Y. O. Estrada, R. C. Genova, B. Girma, E. S. Kissel, A. N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P. R. Mastrandrea, and L. L. White (Cambridge, UK; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 485–533.
- Reed, M. S. (2008). Stakeholder participation for environmental management: a literature review. *Biol. Conserv.* 141, 2417–2431 doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2008.07.014
- Rosenzweig, C., and Hillel, D. (2015). Handbook of Climate Change and Agroecosystems: The Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP) Integrated Crop and Economic Assessments—Joint Publication

with American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America (In 2 Parts). London: World Scientific.

- Rosenzweig, C., Jones, J. W., Hatfield, J. L., Ruane, A. C., Boote, K. J., Thorburn, P., et al. (2013). The Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP): protocols and pilot studies. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 170, 166–182. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.09.011
- Rupp, D. E., Abatzoglou, J. T., Hegewisch, K. C., and Mote, P. W. (2013). Evaluation of CMIP5 20th century climate simulations for the Pacific Northwest USA. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 118, 10884–10906. doi: 10.1002/jgrd.50843
- Stöckle, C. O., Donatelli, M., and Nelson, R. (2003). CropSyst, a cropping systems simulation model. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 289–307. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00109-0
- Stöckle, C. O., Higgins, S., Nelson, R., Abatzoglou, J., Huggins, D., Pan, W., et al. (2017). Evaluating opportunities for an increased role of winter crops as adaptation to climate change in dryland cropping systems of the U.S. Inland Pacific Northwest. *Clim. Change.* doi: 10.1007/s10584-017-1950-z
- USDA (2015). Crop Production 2014 Summary. Available online at: https://www.census.gov/history/pdf/cropan15.pdf.
- USDA (2016). USDA Agricultural Projections to 2025. Available online at: http:// www.usda.gov/oce/commodity/projections/USDA_Agricultural_Projections_ to_2025.pdf
- Valdivia, R. O., Antle, J. M., Rosenzweig, C., Ruane, A. C., Vervoot, J., Ashfaq, M., et al. (2015). "Representative agricultural pathways and scenarios for regional integrated assessment of climate change impacts, vulnerability, and adaptation," in *Handbook of Climate Change and Agroecosystems: The Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP)*, eds C. Rosenzweig and D. Hillel (London: Imperial College Press), 101–145.
- Van Vuuren, D. P., Edmonds, J., Kainuma, M., Riahi, K., Thomson, A., Hibbard, K., et al. (2011). The representative concentration pathways: an overview. *Clim. Change* 109, 5–31. doi: 10.1007/s10584-011-0148-z
- von Lampe, M., Willenbockel, D., Ahammad, H., Blanc, E., Cai, Y., Calvin, K., et al. (2014). Why do global long term scenarios for agriculture differ? An overview of the AgMIP Global Economic Model Intercomparison. *Agric. Econ.* 45, 3–20. doi: 10.1111/agec.12086
- Wallach, D., Mearns, L. O., Rivington, M., Antle, J. M., and Ruane, A. C. (2015). "Uncertainty in agricultural impact assessment," in *Handbook of Climate Change and Agroecosystems: The Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP) Integrated Crop and Economic Assessments, Part 1*, eds C. Rosenzweig and D. Hillel (London: ICP Series on Climate Change Impacts, Adaptation, and Mitigation Imperial College Press), 223–260.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Antle, Mu, Zhang, Capalbo, Diebel, Eigenbrode, Kruger, Stöckle, Wulfhorst and Abatzoglou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Confronting Climate Change Challenges to Dryland Cereal Production: A Call for Collaborative, Transdisciplinary Research, and Producer Engagement

Sanford D. Eigenbrode^{1*}, W. Patrick Binns² and David R. Huggins³

¹ Entomology, Plant Pathology and Nematology, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID, United States, ² Westbrook Associates LLC, Seattle, WA, United States, ³ United States Department of Agriculture-Agricultural Research Service, Washington State University, Pullman, WA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Luuk Fleskens, Wageningen University and Research, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Richard James Thomas, International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas, Syria Anthony Michael Whitbread, International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), India

*Correspondence:

Sanford D. Eigenbrode sanforde@uidaho.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Agroecology and Land Use Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution

> Received: 25 August 2017 Accepted: 05 December 2017 Published: 04 January 2018

Citation:

Eigenbrode SD, Binns WP and Huggins DR (2018) Confronting Climate Change Challenges to Dryland Cereal Production: A Call for Collaborative, Transdisciplinary Research, and Producer Engagement. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5:164. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00164

Semi-arid cereal systems face challenges worldwide that are driven by ongoing and projected climate change. These challenges include ensuring cropping system resilience and productivity under changing water and temperature regimes while reversing soil degradation, reducing crop susceptibility to pests, pathogens and weed competition, and exploiting genetic resources to develop cultivars with resilience to climate stresses and improved compatibility with cropping system innovations. Meeting these interdependent challenges requires transdisciplinary efforts that integrate knowledge across many scientific domains. The USDA-NIFA-funded coordinated agricultural project, "Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture" (REACCH), employed this transdisciplinary approach to address climate change and sustainability challenges for rain-fed cereal-based systems in the semi-arid intermountain Pacific Northwest. To engage with and contribute to similar efforts globally, REACCH sponsored a workshop "Transitioning Cereal Systems to Adapt to Climate Change" (TCSACC) in November 2015. Participants from 17 countries and five continents with expertise in agronomy, crop physiology, crop modeling, crop protection, breeding and genetics, sociology and economics shared their perspectives, successes, and challenges to achieving transdisciplinary research integration for semi-arid cereal systems under changing climates. Conference goals were to: (1) strengthen the global network of researchers addressing climate change effects on semi-arid cereal-based systems, (2) share the approaches to achieving transdisciplinary collaboration to advance climate change resilience in cereal systems, and (3) identify the elements of a collaborative research agenda that are needed to advance global food security in the twenty-first century. This paper distills the conference themes and summarizes the calls to action that were discussed: Establish coordinated, large scale, transdisciplinary efforts; Consider Genetic × Environment × Management × Social system (G × E \times M \times S) interactions; Integrate social, economic, and biophysical science, and

1

engineering; Improve integration among knowledge communities; Consider global context of production systems; Develop more inclusive cropping system models; Enable comprehensive data management and data sharing; Include landscape and ecosystem services perspectives; Establish and support existing global collaboration networks.

Keywords: climate, resilient, cereals, transdisciplinary, research, collaboration, farmers, agroecology

INTRODUCTION

The challenges to achieving sustainable food security in the coming decades are daunting. The convergence of a rapidly growing global population, increasing consumption behaviors, and turbulent social, economic and geopolitical issues will impose difficult conditions for farmers everywhere. Additionally, increasing global land and ocean temperatures and increased frequency of extreme weather events are contributing to changing agroclimatic conditions throughout the world (Fuhrer, 2003; Kalra et al., 2007; FAO, 2011; Walthall et al., 2012; Collins et al., 2013; Mayer, 2013; Lobell and Tebaldi, 2014). The severity of these challenges has troubling implications for health and prosperity at household, community, regional, national and global scales.

Among the most vulnerable systems are cereal systems in semi-arid regions, which account for much of global food production. These include regions dominated by large scale industrial agriculture and others where small-holder production predominates (Lowder et al., 2016). These regions share vulnerability to fluctuations in precipitation and periods of elevated temperature that will present increasing challenges under climate change (Asseng et al., 2014; Challinor et al., 2014; Wilcox and Makowski, 2014). Some of the challenges are common to all systems, inviting collaboration to address them, while others are specific to regions, farming systems, and the social, economic, and ecological systems that support them. Identifying the common and unique challenges and finding solutions for local and regional conditions is a high priority to ensure global food security.

Cereal systems in semi-arid regions, like all food production systems, are social-ecological systems (SES), as such it is widely recognized that they can be productively studied within a broad framework that encompasses genetics, environment, management and social dimensions and their interactions (G \times E × M × S) (Figure 1; Hatfield and Walthall, 2015; Tonnang et al., 2017). Hence, efforts to improve them must be transdisciplinary [Wickson et al., 2006; Francis et al., 2008; National Science Foundation (USA), 2015; Wigboldus et al., 2016], bridging traditional agricultural and related ecological, biogeochemical, hydrological, meteorological, social, and economic disciplines (Howden et al., 2007; Francis et al., 2008; Hatt et al., 2016). In addition, these efforts must engage food system stakeholders to incorporate their understanding of the opportunities, constraints, and risks involved in implementing adaptive farming practices. Stakeholder participation helps research arrive at tenable "best management practices" (BMP's), including "climate friendly BMPs" (cfBMP's) (Pan et al., 2017) that are more readily adopted (Schaap et al., 2013). These collaborations must

encompass the temporal and spatial scales relevant to agricultural landscapes undergoing climate change to encompass the extent of these systems and the processes that affect them. Efforts to do so are underway in different parts of the world and their effectiveness could be improved by cross-project communication or coordination.

"Regional Approaches to Climate Change for Pacific Northwest Agriculture" (REACCH), was a seven-year collaborative effort by the University of Idaho, Washington State University, Oregon State University, and the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Agricultural Research Service, funded by the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture (NIFA). The project conducted trans-disciplinary research, education, and outreach focused on the cereal based systems of the inland Pacific Northwest (iPNW) under projected climate change. It aimed to improve knowledge of the production systems, identify opportunities to improve their efficiency and sustainability, promote farmer participation, provide decision support tools, educate producers and citizens at all levels. The conceptual framework, outputs and outcomes of the REACCH project can be accessed through its web site: https://www.reacchpna.org, and in publications, including some appearing in this special issue of Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution: (1) Develop a theoretical framework integrating cropping system, economic and climate modeling (Abatzoglou et al., 2014; Antle et al., 2017; Stöckle et al., 2017), (2) Monitor greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and nitrogen and carbon dynamics in the production systems (Chi et al., 2016, 2017; Waldo et al., 2016; Kostyanovsky et al., 2017), (3) Compare current and aspirational production systems for productivity and GHG emission potential under current and projected climate (Pan et al., 2016, 2017; Brown et al., 2017; Maaz T. et al., 2017; Maaz T. M. et al., 2017; Stöckle et al., 2017), (4) Address the environmental, social, and economic factors influencing agriculture and technology adoption (Antle et al., 2017; Karimi et al., 2017; Kaur et al., 2017), (5) Anticipate climate change related changes in crop protection requirements (Davis et al., 2015a,b, 2017; Eigenbrode et al., 2015; Foote et al., 2017), (6) Work closely with producers to develop and guide project activities (Kruger and Yorgey, 2017; Yorgey et al., 2017), (7) Educate students from elementary through graduate levels to prepare coming generations for challenges related to climate change in agriculture (White et al., 2014), (8) Ensure data from the project and related projects are managed to facilitate detecting trends and interdisciplinary collaboration (Flathers et al., 2017), and (9) Coordinate all these activities under an integrated, transdisciplinary framework (Eigenbrode et al., 2014, 2017; Morton et al., 2015).

REACCH is a regional effort, but it is part of the global response to climate change effects on semi-arid cereal



production systems. Similar coordinated efforts are under way or needed everywhere and could benefit from communication, coordination, and collaboration. To help address this need, REACCH sponsored a workshop-style international conference, "Transitioning Cereal Systems to Adapt to Climate Change" (TCSACC), which preceded the 2015 combined annual meetings of the USA Tri-Societies (American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America) and Entomological Society of America (Minneapolis, MN, Nov. 13-15). TCSACC convened 120 scientists from 17 countries on five continents, representing the major semiarid regions where cereals are produced. Participants included scientists from major universities and national research entities (CSIRO and Department of Environmental and Primary Industries, Australia, USDA-ARS, and NIFA, USA), CGIAR centers including CIMYYT, ICARDA, ICRISAT, ICIPE, and scientists within the CGIAR Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security Research Program, the Chinese Academy of Sciences, and others. Conference goals were to: (1) strengthen the global network of researchers addressing climate change effects on semi-arid cereal-based systems, (2) share the approaches to achieving transdisciplinary collaboration to advance climate change resilience in cereal systems, and (3) identify the elements of a collaborative research agenda that is needed to advance global food security in the twenty-first century. Keynote addresses reviewed conditions and research efforts in semi-arid systems in North America, South America, Australia, Africa, India, and China. Concurrent breakout sessions addressed specific

themes: Water resources and crop production, Cropping system improvements and innovation, Crop protection: pests, weeds, and pathogens, Genetic improvement and integration, Identifying and assessing adaptation strategies, Greenhouse gases: Monitoring and approaches to mitigation, Cropping system models as platforms for integration, Collaborative translational science to address climate change in semiarid systems, and Data management to enable regional and global efforts. Closing discussions sought to identify needs or continuing effort and opportunities for collaboration. Slide presentations, videos of keynotes, and notes from discussions, and short bios of all conference attendees can be accessed on the conference web site: https://aridcereals.nkn. uidaho.edu. This paper provides highlights of the conference and summarizes its conclusions and suggested action steps.

RESEARCH THEMES TO ADDRESS CLIMATE CHANGE EFFECTS ON CEREAL SYSTEMS

Cropping System Improvements and Innovation to Address Water Scarcity

Cereal production systems in semi-arid habitats are limited primarily by available water, which is projected to be exacerbated by climate change in many of regions where these systems occur (Hijmans et al., 2005; Fraser et al., 2013; IPCC, 2014). Agronomic adaptations to cope with water scarcity and drought have been utilized for millennia (e.g., Sandor et al., 1990). In some regions, alternating years of fallow allows cropping on limited precipitation. This has been the predominant practice, for example, for much of iPNW wheatbased dryland farming where nearly 25% of cereal systems are in annual fallow (NASS, 2015). However, reliance on annual fallow has significant limitations. If the fallow cycle does not provide adequate ground cover protection by residue mulch or standing stubble, it leaves the topsoil vulnerable to wind and water erosion (Singh et al., 2012), also annual fallow is extremely inefficient with respect to water conservation and results in poor overall water use efficiency (Hatfield et al., 2001). Another limitation of alternating fallow is that it is effectively a monoculture that restricts the use of non-cereal crops (e.g., legumes, "green manure" cover crops, oil seeds) and limits cropping system diversification and intensification important for breaking disease and pest cycles, improving soil properties, enhancing weed management, and helping with nutrient management through introduction of biological nitrogen-fixing species (Tilman, 1999; Kirkegaard et al., 2008; Maaz T. et al., 2017).

Contemporary practices such as prudent use of tillage and residue management (Kirkegaard et al., 2014), novel rotations (Whitbread et al., 2015), or "response farming" (Stewart and Faught, 1984) can help conserve water and increase water use efficiency on farms to help with current and anticipated chronic and episodic water limitation. In the REACCH project, for example, experimentation and modeling have examined viability of winter canola, winter legumes, and triticale as rotational crops in the lower rainfall regions of the iPNW (Maaz T. M. et al., 2017; Pan et al., 2017; Stöckle et al., 2017). Water conserving technologies examined have included use of alternative wheat harvesting equipment (e.g., stripper headers) that maximize post-harvest residue height, thereby trapping additional winter moisture, have also been included in this modeling analysis. In some settings, in situ or ex situ rainwater catchment during wet seasons may be improved to help bridge over dry periods (Kumar et al., 2016). Additionally, flex or opportunity cropping systems are in development as fallow replacement options when pre-plant precipitation and soil water storage are sufficient (Kaur et al., 2017).

Achieving sustainability will require farming methods that efficiently utilize non-renewable resources and leverage and contribute to ecosystem services that impart greater crop adaptive capacity and resilience to changing climates and environmental stress including water limitations (Reynolds and Langridge, 2016). Additional research is needed everywhere to identify and evaluate additional alternative rotational crops and agronomic practices to improve the efficiency of water use. Mid-term climate projections or forecasts are notoriously difficult, but if these are reliable, they can be used to allow farmers to make decisions about which crops to plant depending upon anticipated available water (Meinke and Stone, 2005; Doblas-Reyes et al., 2013). Availability of more economically viable crops or methods will enable this sort of adaptive management, or "flex cropping" (e.g., Kaur et al., 2017).

Genetic Improvement and Integration

Genetic resources are a foundation of successful production systems (Figure 1). Advances in breeding and genetics coupled with greatly increased application of chemical inputs (primarily synthetic nitrogen fertilizer), have significantly forestalled the global food security crises that had been envisioned in the late twentieth century. Ongoing population growth will require continued progress in increasing yields, but yield improvements must be coupled with improved tolerance to the abiotic and biotic stresses- related to climate change (e.g., Kole et al., 2015). New genomic tools for better understanding the physiological bases of plant responses to stress, responsiveness to CO₂ fertilization, greater water and nitrogen use efficiencies, and especially heat and drought stress will enable this. In wheat, the USDA NIFAsponsored Triticeae Coordinated Agriculture Project (T-CAP) has organized and funded 56 participants in 28 institutions and 21 states and includes efforts to adapt wheat and barley for improved water use efficiency (WUE), nutrient use efficiency (NUE), and drought resistance. International efforts include the USAID Climate Change Resilient Development programfunded Climate Resilient Wheat (CRW) projects in Kazakhstan and India, the latter partnering with the Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR)-Directorate of Wheat. These are multi-million-dollar efforts that promise rapid improvements in cereal grain adaptation to climate related stress.

In addition to these approaches to improving yield potential, there is wide recognition that improved global coordination and broader integration involving breeders, crop modelers and agronomists is needed to promote progress. Yield and quality performance results from the interactions of genetics, environment, and management (G×E×M; Hatfield and Walthall, 2015), while approaches that are based on a single technological innovation in one of these areas can only provide partial success (Anderson et al., 2016). Since both breeding and agronomy were instrumental in the achievements of the green revolution, continued innovation will be required to meet these ongoing challenges (summarized in Anderson et al., 2005; in their review of ongoing work on yield gaps in Australia). Furthermore, ongoing yield advances must be accompanied by improved sustainability of the yield over many years and the ability to deliver multiple ecosystem services. For example, the CRW project in Kazakhstan adopted this integrating approach by investigating experimental plantings of drought resilient crops; alternative crop rotations; shifting from monoculture to diversified planting strategies; use of low-till and no-till farming methods; and accessing information from new weather forecasting technology.

Research gaps and needs identified in discussions at TCSACC and outcomes of the 2013 workshop sponsored by USAID and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (Reynolds and Langridge, 2016) include improved technology to enable genomic and highthroughput phenomic selection, emphasizing yield stability, and quality to complement yield targets, including more defined environmental effects in experimental designs, universal data sharing between projects, access to knowledge repositories including those from private companies, improving utilization of cropping system models in impact assessments and cultivar selection decision-making. Such cooperation would advance the accurate identification and focus on phenotypical traits that are most compatible with current and alternative production systems and crop rotations.

Cropping System Models: Platforms for Integration and Data Harmonization

Progress in developing cereal cultivars and designing and implementing cropping systems adapted to climate variability and extreme events will require integration of empirical and modeling approaches. This is because of the impracticality of conducting sufficient numbers of extensive empirical studies replicated across production landscapes that are variable in space and in time. Instead, improved approaches to develop virtual cropping system models coupled with more accurate and affordable sensors and field data acquisition systems to parameterize them is required, and it is achievable (Jones et al., 2016). The primary effort to compare and improve cropping systems modeling has been through the Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP) (http:// www.agmip.org). Building on foundations laid by Heady (1957), Duncan et al. (1967), and Dent and Blackie (1979), the CERES crop models in the mid-1980's eventually were incorporated into widely used DSSAT (Hoogenboom et al., 2012) and APSIM (Holzworth et al., 2014). The cropping system model, CropSyst (Stöckle et al., 2003), also had its genesis in the early 1990's. With AgMIP's influence, continued improvement of cropping models has involved many disciplines to incorporate more factors and their variability with time and location. Cross-disciplinary improvements to agricultural modeling would greatly contribute to reducing the degree of uncertainty that confronts decision makers at all levels of the food production sector (Asseng et al., 2013). Significant gaps remain to be resolved (Jones et al., 2016), including incorporating pests, weeds, diseases, rotational effects, soil and nutrient variables, genetic variability, and episodic abiotic stresses. To enable this, support is needed for archiving research data and model outputs, with attention to interoperability, and common meta-tagging conventions for cross-validation, sharing, and creatively synthesizing modeling outputs, and supporting next generation modeling efforts (see www.agmip.org).

Data Management to Enable Regional and Global Efforts

Achieving the potential of crop modeling and collaborations that draw upon results of research underway globally will require improved access to data, including results from agronomic trials, effects of biotic and abiotic stresses, gridded output from simulation models, and data from social and economic surveys. Efforts to address cereal production systems worldwide are currently diminished by the inadequate capacity and capability of existing data repositories to host and support enhanced accessibility to these diverse data sets. In other words, the capacity for mobilizing "Big Data" for agriculture is sorely needed.

Work at the forefront to meet this need includes efforts by AgMIP, the USDA's Greenhouse Gas Reduction through

Agricultural Carbon Enhancement network (GRACEnet, https:// www.ars.usda.gov/anrds/gracenet/gracenet-home/; Jawson et al., 2005), the Global Research Alliance on Agricultural Greenhouse Gases (GRA) (with 46 participating countries; http://globalresearchalliance.org), the CGIAR, through its Data Management System within its Open Access Open Data initiative (http://www.cgiar.org/resources/open-access/), and the Global Wheat Initiative (http://www.wheatinitiative.org/). The consensus of TCSACC participants was that approaches are needed to acquire and manage diverse sorts of data pertinent to entire production systems and to share and compare these across semiarid systems and regions.

Crop Protection: Pests, Weeds, and Pathogens

Projections for cereal production systems under climate change typically are constructed without considering associated changes in pressure from insect pests, weeds and diseases (Coakley et al., 1999; Garrett et al., 2006, 2014; Juroszek and Von Tiedemann, 2013; Eigenbrode and Macfadyen, 2017). Attempts to incorporate disease and insect effects into model projections presents challenges because responses by individual pests, weeds, and diseases can arise from direct effects on agent physiology, behavior, and phenology that influence geographic range, reproduction and mortality impacts (Juroszek and Von Tiedemann, 2015). Drivers include seasonal warming and increasing atmospheric [CO₂] on pest fecundity and population dynamics (Dyer et al., 2013), shifts in geographic or elevational ranges of pests (Bebber et al., 2013; Bebber, 2015), expression of plant resistance factors affecting pests (Tyler and Hatchett, 1983; Currie et al., 2014), acceleration of pest resistance to pesticides and Bt (Bacillus thuringiensis) genetically engineered crops (Venugopal and Dively, 2017), changes to feeding behavior, phenology, and voltinism (Ziter et al., 2012), and alterations to trophic interactions and biological control mechanisms (Gillespie et al., 2013; Romo and Tylianakis, 2013; Eigenbrode et al., 2015).

A review of worldwide research on insect pests of wheat and climate change (Eigenbrode and Macfadyen, 2017) found research addressing only a dozen species, most of which had only been studied using a particular approach such as niche modeling, chamber studies, empirical study, and population modeling. For pathogens, the incidence, effectiveness of resistance genes and multispecies interactions are all liable to change in response to climate induced stress. The cumulative impact of these factors can affect disease severity (Garrett et al., 2006, 2014). For weeds, which are less well-studied (Juroszek and Von Tiedemann, 2013), drivers include accelerated C_3 weed invasiveness and competition under higher atmospheric [CO₂] (Ziska, 2016), and increased incidence of weed resistance to herbicides (Peters et al., 2014; Ramesh et al., 2017).

Needs for research and action to address knowledge gaps concerning pests and climate change in cereal systems include obtaining additional long-term records of pest abundance or pest injury and coupling these with historical climate records, incorporating pests and natural enemies into niche overlap and phenological models, and focusing on mechanisms that employ complementary, comprehensive approaches for understanding the aggregate impact of individual pest, weed, and disease species on future crop productivity (Eigenbrode and Macfadyen, 2017). Although the importance of incorporating plant protection into whole system management is evident, achieving increased integration remains a significant challenge. Often agronomic goals take priority, with pest management issues considered as an afterthought. Agronomic practices such as alternative tillage or more diverse rotational or nutrient management schemes are anticipated to influence pests, weeds, and disease risks. Monitoring insect community responses to various adaptive cropping practices should be studied at experimental field scale in order to avoid unintended consequences and to understand and capitalize on the most effective opportunities to improve pest, weed, and disease management.

Greenhouse Gases: Monitoring and Approaches to Mitigation

Along with the needs for adaptation to changing climates, it will be important to minimize the negative impacts of agriculture on the climate system. The agricultural sector produces slightly <10% of GHG emissions (CO2eq.) in the USA (Snyder et al., 2009) and about 11% worldwide (FAO, 2014). Approximately 65% of this total in CO2eq. is N2O emissions from agricultural soils (FAO, 2014); on a per gram basis N2O has a Global Warming Potential that is 310 times greater than CO₂ (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). Poorly performing agricultural practices contribute to increased GHG emissions associated with deforestation and grassland land use conversion. The magnitude of N₂O soil emissions, and related emissions from agricultural nitrate runoff in surface waters (e.g., Turner et al., 2015) presents opportunities for innovative agricultural practices (e.g., fertilizers with nitrification inhibitors and precision application of fertilizers) to reduce GHG emissions and benefit producers in the short term. Although the mitigation of agricultural GHG emissions generally does not provide a monetized return to farmers and is not currently encouraged by direct public policy incentives or regulations (Brown et al., 2017); effective adaptation practices could achieve "win-win" benefits in which cropping system profitability is increased through more efficient use of applied nitrogen, resulting in both improved farm productivity and reduced N2O emissions (Millar et al., 2010). Roughly 1% of the nitrogen applied results in N2O production, but emissions are variable, influenced by climate, soil organic carbon (SOC), soil texture, soil drainage, soil pH, crop management practices, soil nutrient conditions, and soil O2 status (IFA/FAO, 2001; McSwiney and Robertson, 2005; Del Grosso et al., 2010; Lehuger et al., 2011; Chi et al., 2016, 2017; Waldo et al., 2016).

Improved monitoring of GHG emissions under different cereal production and nutrient management practices is needed for ascertaining the effects of various cropping strategies on GHG emissions and to identify how these emissions could be minimized (e.g., Chirinda et al., 2010; Liebig et al., 2010; Millar et al., 2010; Dendooven et al., 2012; Kostyanovsky et al., 2017). Increased technical accuracy and more extensive field monitoring of these emissions can be combined with modeling to improve the evidence-base for public policy decisions that affect agricultural productivity and sustainability (Moore et al., 2014; Officer et al., 2015).

Needs are evident for increased GHG monitoring as a component of efforts to improve cereal system resilience to climate change. Data are lacking, particularly fine temporal and spatial scale flux data, on GHG emissions from production systems. This situation should be improved through development of better, less expensive sensors. Accompanying this are needs to understand soil microbial processes and the effects of environmental conditions on their emissions. Precision fertilization practices in large mechanized farming systems and, where appropriate, in small-holder systems, can increase returns to farmers by more efficiently using fertilizer; and also contribute to reduced emissions, thus resulting in so-called win-win scenarios.

Social and Economic Dimensions

This $G \times E \times M \times S$ framework (CGIAR, 2012; Figure 1) incorporates the understanding that agricultural systems are social-ecological systems. Adaptation to climate change depends upon technological capabilities, market economic costs and returns of adopting new production practices, and the sociological factors and public policies that govern producer behavior. For example, vulnerability to drought in wheat producing regions varies not only with projected impacts of drought on production, but also with the levels and types of inputs, crop residue retention practice, and other agricultural investments that are made to impart resilience (Challinor et al., 2010; Simelton et al., 2012; Fraser et al., 2013). In addition, actions taken by farmers are influenced by perceptions of climate and climate change patterns, which can differ from measured trends (Kibue et al., 2016) and by other factors (e.g., cultural and individual attitudes) that influence openness to change versus inclination to maintain traditions (e.g., Kok et al., 2009).

In many parts of the world, particularly in north temperate regions, farmers have often been reluctant to accept the validity of climate change, and this perspective reduces their likelihood of adopting new practices (Arbuckle et al., 2013; Jorgensen and Termansen, 2016). Their perceptions of risk, which are essential to motivate adoption (Nigg and Mileti, 2002) can significantly vary, and are influenced by farmers' levels of indebtedness, awareness of alternative practices, age, and other attributes. Farmers' willingness to extend and diversify their crop rotation strategies can also be significantly affected by public and private crop insurance policies that encourage and cover the adoption of new crops and inter-cropping acreages. Thus, integrated research responses to climate change in agriculture should strive to understand these sociological forces and incorporate them into transdisciplinary assessment and strategy recommendation efforts (Maaz T. et al., 2017).

The socio-economic challenges facing small-holder farmers in developing nations are significantly shaped by the constraints and opportunities associated with farming on small parcels of land, fragmented landscapes, and limited access to water, inputs and productivity technologies. It must also be recognized that women led small-holder households are a significant segment of the developing world's farming sector; and are often subject to gender discrimination and lack of support from agricultural public institutions and private sector supply chains (Chan, 2010; Doss, 2017). These challenges are compounded by the limited health and education infrastructures and services that are characteristic of poor, rural small-holder communities (Lowder et al., 2016). Small-holders often have more vulnerability to warming environments, particularly in tropical and sub-tropical areas where cereal crops are already cultivated under conditions that are close to their temperature tolerance thresholds (Hossain et al., 2016). This vulnerability is exacerbated by extreme weather events (e.g., droughts, flooding, hurricanes, etc.) that can overwhelm small-holder household resources and the capacities of domestic and international social and public support and disaster recovery institutions and organizations (Hallegatte et al., 2016; Adiku et al., 2017).

Adaptation solutions must be relevant to the local conditions facing the farmer. For example, the "Push-Pull" farming system in East Africa is proving to be a promising integrated crop and livestock strategy for small-holders (Pickett et al., 2014). This practice is suited for the scale of their farm operations and employs traditional elements including intercropping of maize and a fodder to maximize benefits to farmers through suppression of weeds and cereal stem borer pests, providing nitrogen fixation and forage for cattle. This farming practice shows great promise to improve small-holders' total farm productivity and revenues, and reduce their exposure to risks. Whether and how the principles working in east African pushpull systems can be adopted for larger scale systems remains to be examined.

Regardless of a farm's scale, the socioeconomic environment of private sector supply chains and market access, public taxation and regulation policies, agricultural research and extension outreach efforts, and other factors will establish the context within which each farmer operates. Identification of "actionable" agricultural adaptation strategies will require an assessment of both agronomic and socioeconomic forces to determine which practices and technologies would be most effective for farmers in specific circumstances and locations. Development of cfBPM's should include local farmer engagement in the planning and conduct of field research trials that leverage farmer knowledge and experience. Inclusive producer involvement can help identify implementation issues that must be resolved in order to encourage farmers' adoption of innovative practices (Sayre and Govaerts, 2011; Hellin et al., 2014). For example, farming system groups or Communities of Practice, comprised of farmers who work with agricultural industry, ensure that research better serves the needs of farmers in Western Australia (Anil et al., 2015). In the iPNW, proactive farming organizations like Shepherds Grain (https:// www.shepherdsgrain.com) and the Pacific Northwest Direct Seed Association (http://www.directseed.org) help inform and research directions to promote sustainable production in the region.

Decision support tools based on agrometeorological models have been developed or are in development for various semiarid regions to serve large-scale mechanized agriculture or smallholder systems (Sadras et al., 2003; Hochman et al., 2009; McCown et al., 2009; Chen, 2017; Prokopy et al., 2017; http:// climateengine.org, https://www.agbizlogic.com). The increasing accessibility of data, continuing innovation, and improvement of user interfaces, and improvement of climate models is certain to accelerate development and deployment of these tools into the future. There is a great need to support the community of private and public entities working to deliver and improve these tools. Success requires appropriately downscaled climate models, coupled with next generation, regionally relevant cropping system models, presented through interfaces that based on economic and social contexts of their intended user populations (Kibue et al., 2016; Marshall et al., 2016; Nguyen et al., 2016; Panda, 2016).

Ecosystem Services Issues: Landscape Scale and Watershed Management for Sustainability

Most efforts to improve the productivity, resilience and sustainability of cereal cropping systems primarily focus on practices that impact farm-level yields and their economic viability across a range of operational scales and degrees of technological mechanization (Robertson and Swinton, 2005; Lobell et al., 2009). However, the quality and quantity of agricultural products and their associated financial returns to farmers are not the only outcomes of significance to humanity. The additional challenges of coping with the disruptive forces of climate change and minimizing environmental degradation require that society's strategies for agricultural innovation and development must also address the long-term impacts of farming practices on local and regional ecosystem services (Elbehri et al., 2017).

When impacts of individual on-farm practices are aggregated at a landscape scale to encompass local watershed and regional river basin geographies, the cumulative benefits, and costs of "ecosystem services" can begin to be recognized and valued (Daily, 1997). Ecosystem services are dynamic and complex natural processes that significantly determine water quality, surface water flows, groundwater replenishment, soil formation, soil fertility, and erosion control, habitats for pollinators, pests and pest predator biodiversity, and other environmental conditions (Daily, 1997, 1999; Kremen, 2005; Palmer et al., 2005). Identifying and measuring how agricultural practices impact ecosystem services is challenging because farm operations tend to generate "non-point source" changes to the environment that are often subtle and only discernable over longer time frames than that of seasonal crop harvests and annual returns on investment (Pradhan et al., 2015).

Ecosystem services have an immediate impact locally, by effecting production performance on the individual farm. These services also propagate across landscapes and geographies beyond the "farm gate" (Schellhorn et al., 2008). The beneficial effects of ecosystem services at the farm level, in terms of improved soil structure and organic matter, and moisture retention can be recognized and valued for their contributions to building and conserving healthy soils (Lal, 2014). These outcomes enhance the future productivity of the land, one of the fundamental "natural capital" assets of farmers (Pearce and Turner, 1990; Voora and Venema, 2008). The economic returns on farmer investments and practices that promote and contribute to local ecosystem services may be realized over longer periods of time (e.g., from several years to the next generation). Farmers, especially those that own their land, can privately capture some of these benefits in terms of reduced expenses for agrochemical inputs, increased water use efficiencies, biological pest control, and other operational cost savings. They may also benefit from future appreciation of land values due to improved soil tilth and fertility.

Determining the value of agriculture's impact on ecosystem services beyond farm property boundaries is challenging because cumulative "downstream" benefits or adverse effects are determined by combined effects of decisions made by many farmers concerning their cropping system practices (Herrero et al., 2013; Lindborg et al., 2017). These impacts can result in positive outcomes such as cleaner and more abundant fresh water supplies, biological nitrogen fixation nutrient inputs, or improved biodiversity habitats (Dale and Polasky, 2007; Scherr and McNeely, 2008; Power, 2010). They can also result in negative outcomes such as nitrate and phosphorus water pollution or sedimentation of waterways, all accumulating and accruing in the public domain (Rabotyagov et al., 2014; Garnache et al., 2015).

It is difficult and costly to monitor, measure and quantify the extended impacts of ecosystem services on other private parties; economic sectors (e.g., fisheries); and the broader public (e.g., "public health, goods and services"; Jacobs et al., 2016). Accurately attributing water quality conditions to local and regional agricultural practices is challenging. An example of such difficulties can be seen in the USDA's multi-year Conservation Effects Assessment Project (CEAP) that studied several watersheds for water quality impacts of minimum tillage and cover cropping practices. To date, CEAP's field studies have not yet been able to determine how river basin water quality variations can be attributed to specific conservation farming practices within the studied watersheds (Tomer and Locke, 2011). On the other hand, CEAP projects have made significant progress in understanding and demonstrating how agricultural practices could be managed to reduce nitrate and phosphorus water pollution in environmentally sensitive rivers and estuaries (e.g., Mississippi River Basin and Chesapeake Bay; Lund et al., 2011; Osmond et al., 2015). The USDA's continued support of CEAP's field research, farmer education and encouragement of innovation (e.g., the NRCS Environmental Quality Incentives Program assistance to farmer investments in improved practices) is needed to build a better, more accurate knowledge base of how watershed ecosystem services function; and how they could be better protected, managed and valued.

An improved ability to understand and measure regionally scaled ecosystem service impacts is critically needed to inform federal and state regulatory frameworks that guide and govern fertilizer and other agrichemical input application intensities, timing, and cropping system integration. Success in stabilizing and restoring the health of major watersheds and aquatic fisheries will significantly depend on identifying and promoting improved agricultural practices management. An excellent resource that discusses leading efforts and decision support models for assessing ecosystem services valuations and their utility in determining values within a specific regional river basin can be found in a "Case Study of the San Pedro River Watershed, Arizona" published in 2012 by the USGS with cooperation of the Bureau of Land Management (Bagstad et al., 2012).

Semi-arid cereal cultivation significantly benefits from wellfunctioning ecosystem services, and depending upon adopted practices can either positively or adversely impact the continued performance of these natural processes. As an example of these interrelationships, crop residue and ground cover management strategies that reduce soil erosion and weed establishment and return organic nutrients and carbon to the soil are important contributing factors for healthy soil biomes and enhanced water use efficiencies across multiple crop rotations. When individual farmer's best management practices are replicated at landscape scales, local water resources are both qualitatively and quantitatively improved. Similarly, maintenance of riparian buffers, contoured terrain, and natural vegetation habitats can reduce agrichemical runoff to surface waters; and supports biological pest control and pollination services. Leveraging these environmental services are especially significant for non-cereal rotation crops that benefit from insect pollination (e.g., canola). A comprehensive discussion of the opportunities, constraints, and challenges of semi-arid crop production is provided by (Wani et al., 2009).

Inattention to the need to balance these mutually interdependent relationships between cropping systems and their local and extended environment can lead to unintended consequences that impair the productivity of ecosystems that are distant from agricultural areas. An example of the disruptive effect of poorly managed farming practices can be seen in the large hypoxic zone that has formed in the Gulf of Mexico. The excessive levels of nutrients that have leached or runoff from the Upper Midwest agricultural regions are a significant contributing factor to the adverse impacts of the Mississippi River's discharges into the Gulf (García et al., 2016).

Integration

Agricultural production systems are dynamic, involving interacting technical, social, and ecological factors (**Figure 1**). A premise of REACCH and TCSACC, which it sponsored, is that correctly addressing the multifaceted challenges to cereal system sustainability requires that these various factors and their interrelationships are considered together, rather than piecemeal. Transdisciplinary efforts that involve scientists and the direct participation of farmers to facilitate field trials are able to benefit from local farmer knowledge and may also catalyze farmers' willingness to collaborate in testing and implementing adaptive, more resilient cropping system practices that are relevant to their local area (Tress et al., 2004).

GOING FORWARD

Based on discussions within TCSACC and this perspective paper, progress to achieving more integrated and effective approaches for addressing the challenges of climate change in semi-arid systems will be accelerated by improved interdisciplinary and inter-sectoral integration that can address production at a comprehensive systems level. This is necessary to remediate the typical "siloed" efforts within individual disciplines that can fail to generate actionable knowledge that is urgently needed to improve agriculture systems.

Establish Coordinated, Large-Scale, Transdisciplinary Efforts

There is a growing body of literature concerned with interdisciplinarity and transdisciplinarity (e.g., Frodeman et al., 2017), but the challenges pertaining to comprehensively addressing large scale production system sustainability are unique (Morton et al., 2015). Participants in REACCH and TCSACC were committed to this view and to identifying the needed linkages across disciplines and sectors. Successfully responding to these challenges will require resources. The term "transdisciplinary" as used here refers to integration across sectors, including scientists and other stakeholders. There is a need for more projects structured like REACCH to support this type of integration across disciplines, geographies, and temporal scales; and to complement such research with outreach and education components.

The REACCH project facilitated a cross-fertilization of ideas and integrated research approaches and results produced by diverse disciplinary teams. Although the REACCH project has concluded, further development and application of multidisciplinary "platforms" will continue in the recently established USDA Long Term Agroecological Research network (LTAR). LTAR is comprised of 18 agricultural research sites managed by selected US land grant universities; and is building collaborative research and data sharing capabilities that address entire production systems and that are supported by field data acquired over lengthy periods of time (http://www.tucson.ars.ag. gov/ltar/). Future success of such large-scale, long term projects will depend upon initiatives that:

Consider $G \times E \times M \times S$ Interactions

Genetic improvement and farming systems were historically developed separately. Currently and more so in the future, synergies must be studied so that traits can be developed for compatibility with agronomic systems to maximize potential yield and sustainability. Conceptual, structural, cultural, and statistical and institutional innovation are needed to coordinate the agronomic and genetic efforts. This entails at minimum considering not only the Genotype × Environment interactions that are requisite for improving crop varieties, but in addition the role of management in achieving the greatest potential on the ground, leading to the $G \times E \times M$ concepts (Hatfield and Walthall, 2015). Discussion at TCSACC embraced the recognized need to extend these efforts to include socioeconomic aspects; deliberately integrating social, scientific, and engineering disciplines to consider the holistic food sector, and to adopt the integrating principles of agroecology (Francis et al., 2008; Hatt et al., 2016) (Figure 1).

Improve Integration among Knowledge Communities

Knowledge assets, including archived data relevant to sustainable use of resources, modeling and scenario building, must be accessible to deliver high-quality, relevant information to support decisions about landscape management (Cash et al., 2003), and to facilitate knowledge communication across boundaries (Tàbara and Chabay, 2013). This is related to a participatory research paradigm. Facilitating scientific, evidence-based data that informs and supports decision makers' promulgation of public policies that motivate and assist farmer implementation of Best Management Practices (BMP's) for successfully adapting to climate change challenges. Some advocate for the "upside down" or network focused extension models rather than the traditional model in which scientists provide knowledge to farmers.

Consider Global Context of Production Systems

In a globalizing world, many production systems are as strongly influenced by extra-regional factors such as global markets and trade, movements of pests and diseases and the quarantines that attempt to mitigate them, as they are by local biophysical and social conditions. The CGIAR's Research Program on "Climate Change and Food Security" (CCAFS) is an important internationally supported effort to develop and promote increased awareness and implementation of "climate smart" agricultural practices throughout the world and to inform decision makers in national and global forums and multi-lateral initiatives. CCAFS has particularly focused on identifying and advocating best practices that could be adopted by small-holder farmers throughout the developing world (Campbell and Dinesh, 2017).

It will also be important to understand how adaptive cropping system strategies can enable the agriculture sector to achieve improved productivity levels with reduced GHG emissions. International efforts to identify, verify, and encourage farming practices that reduce GHG emissions are making gradual progress in gaining inclusion in many countries' "nationally determined contributions" to reduce emissions (i.e., UNFCCC: COP21 Paris Agreement; Richards et al., 2015). In addition, a related initiative by the French Ministry of Agriculture and civil society NGO's seeks to promote farming practices that sequester organic carbon in soils: www.4p1000.org (Minasny et al., 2017), effectively drawing down atmospheric CO₂ levels while simultaneously improving soil health at landscape scales (FAO, 2017).

Develop More Inclusive Cropping System Models

With the leadership of AGMIP, cropping system model development seeks to involve more disciplines to inform models that incorporate more of the suite of factors that influence cropping system performance. Gaps remain, notably the need to incorporate pests, weeds, diseases, rotational effects, soil and nutrient variables, and episodic abiotic stresses into these models.

Pursuit of this goal supports large projects and the community of large projects seeking to conduct research that integrates these multiple factors. Crop models can support systems thinking and provide system modeling and linked models that can be used by scientists and by policy makers. For example, cropping system models can be components in regional hydrological modeling approaches that include cropping system models, such as BioEarth at Washington State University (http://bioearth.wsu. edu).

Enable Comprehensive Data Management and Data Sharing

Large, integrated projects require systems to store, access, manipulate and visualize data. Global modeling efforts, like AGMIP, depend upon agronomic and other data from multiple systems that can be accessed for model improvement and system comparisons. The existing systems for achieving this must be maintained. Comparative and collaborative efforts for innovation in the rapidly changing field of data management for large projects and regional collaborations will be essential.

Include Landscape and Ecosystem Services Perspectives

Cropping systems exist within landscapes that include diverse other land uses. Pests and the natural enemies potentially move among land uses influencing if not ensuring the sustained performance of the production elements. Hydrological resources are also shared within these landscapes. Thus, successful agriculture requires attention to sustaining these services while minimizing the disservices that can occur at the landscape level from inappropriate, intensive production technology (Schellhorn et al., 2008; Power, 2010; Veres et al., 2013).

Establish and Support Existing Global Networks

TCSACC participants endorsed the importance of nurturing existing networks of scientists working to help cereal systems in semi-arid regions transition in response to changing climates and other global and local challenges. Momentum from the conference has contributed to two activities: (1) The International Wheat Initiative's Expert Working Group on Wheat Agronomy (Agronomy EWG), which is premised on the requirement for interdisciplinary approaches to improving cereal-based cropping systems, was established in 2016 (http:// www.wheatinitiative.org/activities/expert-working-groups/ wheat-agronomy); (2) in support of this, a "Wheat Initiative Agronomists Community" (WIAC) within the Agronomy Society of America has been formed to facilitate a global community of researchers dedicated to reducing yield gaps by considering these systems holistically (https://www.agronomy. org/membership/communities/wheat-initiative-agronomists-

REFERENCES

Abatzoglou, J. T., Rupp, D. E., and Mote, P. W. (2014). Seasonal climate variability and change in the Pacific Northwest of the United States. J. Clim. 27, 2125–2142. doi: 10.1175/JCLI-D-13-00218.1 community). The WIAC is undertaking an international inventory of research underway to address wheat system agronomy with a longer term aim to identify research priorities within and among countries and regions.

CONCLUSION

TCSACC, the Agronomy EWG, and other gatherings and initiatives have recognized the importance of coordinated, collaborative efforts to support adaptation of vitally important cereal production systems of the world, especially those located in the already vulnerable semi-arid regions that are critical for food security. As the TCSACC title indicates, many of these systems must transition to new agronomic practices to achieve sustainability. Inherently, this entails efforts that must consider these systems in their entirety from crop genetics; to agronomic practices that conserve water and soil resources; and innovative responses to changing pest, disease and weed pressures. These efforts will require better tools and models to more clearly anticipate specific climate-change related challenges in the near, middle, and long term. All of this must occur through partnerships that consider the social and economic constraints and opportunities available at the local, regional, continental, and global scale. The need is acute. Going forward, resource allocation to research and policy to support successful transitions for semi-arid cereal systems should be guided by this inclusive perspective. One successful model for doing so is provided by the REACCH project in which a large team of scientists and educators is funded and charged with achieving the requisite transdisciplinary integration at regional and, ideally decadal scales. We urge the adoption of this and similar models without delay.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SE: convened the TCSACC conference that provides the basis and impetus for this article, organized the author team and writing process, conducted research, and composed and edited the text; WB: participated in the TCSACC conference and author team meetings, conducted research, and composed and edited the text; DH: participated in the TCSACC conference and author team meetings, conducted research, and composed and edited the text.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This is a publication of the Idaho Agricultural Experiment Station. Its preparation was supported by Award #2011-680020-30191 from the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture.

Adiku, S. G. K., Debrah-Afanyede, E., Greatrex, H., Zougmore, R., and Maccarthy, D. S. (2017). WeatherIndex Based Crop Insurance as a Social Adaptation to Climate Change and Variability in the Upper West Region of Ghana: Developing a Participatory Approach, CCAFS Working Paper no. 189. Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS). Available online at: https://ccafs.cgiar.org

- Anderson, W., Hamza, M., Sharma, D., D'antuono, M., Hoyle, F., Hill, N., et al. (2005). The role of management in yield improvement of the wheat crop—a review with special emphasis on Western Australia. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 56, 1137–1149. doi: 10.1071/AR 05077
- Anderson, W., Johansen, C., and Siddique, K. H. M. (2016). Addressing the yield gap in rainfed crops: a review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 36:18. doi: 10.1007/s13593-015-0341-y
- Anil, B., Tonts, M., and Siddique, K. H. M. (2015). Strengthening the performance of farming system groups: perspectives from a Communities of Practice framework application. *Int. J. Sustain. Dev. World Ecol.* 22, 219–230. doi: 10.1080/13504509.2014.1003153
- Antle, J. M., Mu, J. E., Zhang, H., Capalbo, S. M., Diebel, P. L., Eigenbrode, S. D., et al. (2017). Design and ue of representative agricultural pathways for integrated assessment of climate change in U.S. Pacific Northwest cereal-based systems. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:99. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00099
- Arbuckle, J., Morton, L. W., and Hobbs, J. (2013). Trust, beliefs, and perceived risk as determinants of farmer support for adaptive and mitigative responses to climate change. *Environ. Behav.* 47, 205–234. doi: 10.1177/0013916513503832
- Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Martre, P., Rötter, R. P., Lobell, D. B., Cammarano, D., et al. (2014). Rising temperatures reduce global wheat production. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 5, 143–147. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2470
- Asseng, S., Ewert, F., Rosenzweig, C., Jones, J. W., Hatfield, J. L., Ruane, A. C., et al. (2013). Uncertainty in simulating wheat yields under climate change. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 3, 827–832. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1916
- Bagstad, K. J., Semmens, D., Winthrop, R., Jaworski, D., and Larson, J. (2012). Ecosystem Services Valuation to Support Decisionmaking on Public Lands—A Case Study of the San Pedro River Watershed, Arizona. Scientific Investigations Report 2012–5251. U.S. Geological Survey.
- Bebber, D. P. (2015). Range-expanding pests and pathogens in a warming World. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 53, 335–356. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-080614-120207
- Bebber, D. P., Ramotowski, M. A. T., and Gurr, S. J. (2013). Crop pests and pathogens move polewards in a warming world. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 3, 985–988. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1990
- Brown, T. T., Lee, C. M., Kruger, C. E., Reganold, J. P., and Huggins, D. R. (2017). Comparison of greenhouse gas offset quantification protocols for nitrogen management in dryland wheat cropping systems of the Pacific Northwest. *Front. Environ. Sci.* 5:72. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00072
- Campbell, B., and Dinesh, D. (eds.) (2017). Special Issue on Climate-Smart Agriculture (CSA). Agriculture for Development no. 30.
- Cash, D. W., Clark, W. C., and Alcock, F. (2003). Knowledge systems for sustainable development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 8086–8091. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1231332100
- CGIAR (2012). "A stripe review of natural resources management research in the CGIAR," in *Natural Resources Management* (Rome: CGIAR).
- Challinor, A. J., Simelton, E. S., Fraser, E. D. G., Hemming, D., and Collins, M. (2010). Increased crop failure due to climate change: assessing adaptation options using models and socio-economic data for wheat in China. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 5:034012. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/5/3/034012
- Challinor, A. J., Watson, J., Lobell, D. B., Howden, S. M., Smith, D. R., and Chhetri, N. (2014). A meta-analysis of crop yield under climate change and adaptation. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* 4, 287–291. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2153
- Chan, M.-K. (2010). Improving Opportunities for Women in Small-Holder-Based Supply Chain. Seattle, WA: The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.
- Chen, A. (2017). Spatially explicit modelling of agricultural dynamics in semi-arid environments. *Ecol. Modell*. 363, 31–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2017.08.025
- Chi, J., Maureira, F., Waldo, S., Pressley, S. N., Stöckle, C. O., O'keeffe, P. T., et al. (2017). Carbon and water budgets in multiple wheat-based cropping systems in the Inland Pacific Northwest US: comparison of cropsyst simulations with eddy covariance measurements. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:50. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00050
- Chi, J., Waldo, S., Pressley, S., O'keeffe, P., Huggins, D., Stöckle, C., et al. (2016). Assessing carbon and water dynamics of no-till and conventional tillage cropping systems in the inland Pacific Northwest US using the eddy covariance method. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 218–219, 37–49. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.11.019
- Chirinda, N., Olesen, J. E., Porter, J. R., and Schjonning, P. (2010). Soil properties, crop production and greenhouse gas emissions from organic and inorganic

fertilizer-based arable cropping systems. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 139, 584–594. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2010.10.001

- Coakley, S. M., Scherm, H., and Chakraborty, S. (1999). Climate change and plant disease management. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 37, 399–426. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.37.1.399
- Collins, M., Knutti, R., Arblaster, J., Dufresne, J.-L., Fichefet, T., Friedlingstein, P., et al. (2013). "Long-term climate change: projections, commitments and irreversibility," in *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution* of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex, and P. M. Midgley (Cambridge, UK; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 1029–1136.
- Currie, Y., Moch, J., Underwood, J., Kharabsheh, H., Quesenberry, A., Miyagi, R., et al. (2014). Transient heat stress compromises the resistance of wheat (Poales: Poaceae) weedlings to Hessian fly (Diptera: Cecidomyiidae) infestation. *J. Econ. Entomol.* 107, 389–395. doi: 10.1603/EC13261
- Daily, G. C. (ed.) (1997). Nature's Services. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.
- Daily, G. C. (1999). Developing a scientific basis for managing earth's life support systems. Conserv. Ecol. 3:14.
- Dale, V., and Polasky, S. (2007). Measures of the effects of agricultural practices on ecosystem services. *Ecol. Econ.* 64, 286–296. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.05.009
- Davis, T. S., Bosque-Pérez, N. A., Foote, N. E., Magney, T., and Eigenbrode, S. D. (2015a). Environmentally dependent host-pathogen and vector-pathogen interactions in the Barley yellow dwarf virus pathosystem. J. Appl. Ecol. 52, 1392–1401. doi: 10.1111/1365-2664.12484
- Davis, T. S., Bosque-Pérez, N. A., Popova, I., and Eigenbrode, S. D. (2015b). Evidence for additive effects of virus infection and water availability on phytohormone induction in a staple crop. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 3:114. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2015.00114
- Davis, T. S., Wu, Y., and Eigenbrode, S. D. (2017). The effects of Bean leafroll virus on life history traits and host selection behavior of specialized pea aphid (Acyrthosiphon pisum, Hemiptera: Aphididae) genotypes. *Environ. Entomol.* 46, 68–74. doi: 10.1093/ee/nvw150
- Del Grosso, S. J., Ogle, S. M., Parton, W. J., and Breidt, F. J. (2010). Estimating uncertainty in N₂O emissions from US cropland soils. *Global Biogeochem. Cycles*, 24:GB1009. doi: 10.1029/2009GB003544
- Dendooven, L., Gutiérrez-Oliva, V. F., Patiño-Zúñiga, L., Ramírez-Villanueva, D. A., Verhulst, N., Luna-Guido, M., et al. (2012). Greenhouse gas emissions under conservation agriculture compared to traditional cultivation of maize in the central highlands of Mexico. *Sci. Tot. Environ.* 431, 237–244. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.05.029
- Dent, J. B., and Blackie, M. J. (1979). Systems Simulation in Agriculture. London: Applied Science Publishers.
- Doblas-Reyes, F. J., García-Serrano, J., Lienert, F., Biescas, A. P., and Rodrigues, L. R. L. (2013). Seasonal climate predictability and forecasting: status and prospects. *Wiley Interdisc. Rev.* 4, 245–268. doi: 10.1002/wcc.217
- Doss, C. (2017). Women and agricultural productivity: reframing the Issues. *Dev. Policy Rev.* 36, 35–50. doi: 10.1111/dpr.12243
- Duncan, W. G., Loomis, R. S., Williams, W. A., and Hanau, R. (1967). A model for simulating photosynthesis in plant communities. *Hilgardia* 38, 181–205. doi: 10.3733/hilg.v38n04p181
- Dyer, L. A., Richards, L. A., Short, S. A., and Dodson, C. D. (2013). Effects of CO₂ and temperature on tritrophic interactions. *PLoS ONE* 8:e62528. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062528
- Eigenbrode, S. D., Davis, T. S., and Crowder, D. W. (2015). "Climate change and biological control in agricultural systems: principles and examples from North America," in *Climate Change and Insect Pests*, eds C. Bjorkman and P. Niemela (Oxon: CABI), 119–135.
- Eigenbrode, S. D., and Macfadyen, S. (2017). "The impact of climate change on wheat insect pests: current knowledge and future trends," in Achieving Sustainable Cultivation of Wheat, Volume 1: Breeding, Quality Traits, Pests and Diseases, ed P. Langridge (Cambridge, UK: Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing), 545–567.
- Eigenbrode, S. D., Martin, T., Wright Morton, L., Colletti, J., Goodwin, P., Gustafson, R., et al. (2017). *Leading Large Transdisciplinary Projects Addressing Social-Ecological Systems: A Primer for Project Directors*. Available online at: https://nifa.usda.gov/leading-transdisciplinary-projects

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

- Eigenbrode, S. D., Morton, L. W., and Martin, T. A. (2014). Big interdisciplinarity to address climate change and agriculture: lessons from three USDA Coordinated Agricultural Projects. J. Soil Water Conserv. 69, 170A–175A. doi: 10.2489/jswc.69.6.170A
- Elbehri, A., Challinor, A., Verchot, L., Angelsen, A., Hess, T., Ouled Belgacem, A., et al. (2017). *FAO-IPCC Expert Meeting on Climate Change, Land Use and Food Security: Final Meeting Report.* Rome: FAO and IPCC.
- FAO (2011). Organic Agriculture and Climate Change Mitigation: A Report of the Round Table on Organic Agriculture and Climate Change. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) Natural Resources Management and Environment Department.
- FAO (2014). FAOSTAT: Emissions—land Use. Available online at: http://faostat3. fao.org/faostat-gateway/go/to/download/G2/*/E (Accessed January 15, 2017).
- FAO (2017). *Soil Organic Carbon: the Hidden Potential.* Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Flathers, E., Kenyon, J., and Gessler, P. E. (2017). A service-based framework for the OAIS model for earth science data management. *Earth Sci. Inform.* 10, 383–393. doi: 10.1007/s12145-017-0297-3
- Foote, N. E., Davis, T. S., Crowder, D. W., Bosque-Pérez, N. A., and Eigenbrode, S. D. (2017). Plant water stress affects interactions between an invasive and a naturalized aphid species on cereal crops. *Environ. Entomol.* 46, 609–616. doi: 10.1093/ee/nvx071
- Francis, C. A., Lieblein, G., Breland, T. A., Salomonsson, L., Geber, U., Sriskandarajah, N., et al. (2008). Transdisciplinary research for a sustainable agriculture and food sector. *Agron. J.* 100, 771–776. doi: 10.2134/agronj2007.0073
- Fraser, E. D. G., Simelton, E., Termansen, M., Gosling, S. N., and South, A. (2013). "Vulnerability hotspots": integrating socio-economic and hydrological models to identify where cereal production may decline in the future due to climate change induced drought. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 170, 195–205. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2012.04.008
- Frodeman, R., Klein, J. T., and Pacheco, R. (2017). *The Oxford Handbook of Interdisciplinarity, 2nd Edn*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Fuhrer, J. (2003). Agroecosystern responses to combinations of elevated CO₂, ozone, and global climate change. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 97, 1–20.doi: 10.1016/S0167-8809(03)00125-7
- García, A. M., Alexander, R. B., Arnold, J. G., Norfleet, L., White, M. J., Robertson, D. M., et al. (2016). Regional effects of agricultural conservation practices on nutrient transport in the upper Mississippi River Basin. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 50, 6991–7000. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.5b03543
- Garnache, C., Swinton, S. M., Herriges, J. A., Lupia, F., and Stevenson, R. J. (2015). "Solving the phosphorus pollution puzzle: synthesis and directions for future research," in *Invited Paper for 2016 Allied Social Science Associations Meeting* (San Franscisco, CA).
- Garrett, K. A., Dendy, S. P., Frank, E. E., Rouse, M. N., and Travers, S. E. (2006). Climate change effects on plant disease: genomes to ecosystems. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 44, 489–509. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.44.070505.143420
- Garrett, K. A., Thomas-Sharma, S., Forbes, G. A., and Nopsa, J. H. (2014). "Climate change and plant pathogen invasions," in *Invasive Species and Global Climate Change, Vol. 4*, eds L. H. Ziska and J. S. Dukes (Wallingford: CABI), 22–44.
- Gillespie, D. R., Olfert, O., and Cock, J. W. (2013). "Climate change and biological control in Canada," in *Biological Control Programmes in Canada, 2001-2012*, eds P. G. Mason and D. R. Gillespie (Oxfordshire: CABI), 12–22.
- Hallegatte, S., Bangalore, M., Bonzanigo, L., Fay, M., Kane, T., Narloch, U., et al. (2016). Shock Waves: Managing the Impacts of Climate Change on Poverty. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Hatfield, J. L., Sauer, T. J., and Prueger, J. H. (2001). Managing soils to achieve greater water use efficiency. *Agron. J.* 93, 271–280. doi: 10.2134/agronj2001.932271x
- Hatfield, J. L., and Walthall, C. L. (2015). Meeting global food needs: realizing the potential via genetics × environment × management interactions. *Agron. J.* 107, 1215–1226. doi: 10.2134/agronj15.0076
- Hatt, S., Artru, S., Brédart, D., Lassois, L., Francis, F., Haubruge, E., et al. (2016). Towards sustainable food systems: the concept of agroecology and how it questions current research practices. A review. *Biotechnol. Agron. Soc. Environ.* 20, 215–224. Available online at: http://popups.ulg.ac.be/1780-4507/index.php? id=12997

- Heady, E. O. (1957). An econometric investigation of agricultural production functions. *Econometrica* 25, 249–268. doi: 10.2307/1910253
- Hellin, T., Beuchelt, T., Camacho, C., Badstue, L., Govaerts, B., Donnet, L., et al. (2014). An Innovation Systems Approach to Enhanced Farmer Adoption of Climate-Ready Germplasm and Agronomic Practices. CAPRi Working Paper No. 116. Washington, DC. International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Herrero, J., Millares, A., Aguilar, C., Bonet, F. J., and Polo, M. J. (2013). "Assimilation of remotely sensed data into hydrologic modeling for ecosystem services assessment," in *Earth Observation of Ecosystem Services*, eds D. Alcaraz-Segura, C. M. Di Bella, and J. V. Straschnoy (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press), 261–282.
- Hijmans, R. J., Cameron, S. E., Parra, J. L., Jones, P. G., and Jarvis, A. (2005). Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. *Int. J. Climatol.* 25, 1965–1978. doi: 10.1002/joc.1276
- Hochman, Z., Van Rees, H., Carberry, P. S., Hunt, J. R., Mccown, R. L., Gartmann, A., et al. (2009). Re-inventing model-based decision support with Australian dryland farmers. 4. Yield Prophet (R) helps farmers monitor and manage crops in a variable climate. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 60, 1057–1070. doi: 10.1071/CP 09020
- Holzworth, D. P., Huth, N. I., Devoil, P. G., Zurcher, E. J., Herrmann, N. I., Mclean, G., et al. (2014). APSIM Evolution towards a new generation of agricultural systems simulation. *Environ. Model. Softw.* 62, 327–350. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2014.07.009
- Hoogenboom, G., Jones, J. W., Wilkens, P. W., Porter, C. H., Boote, K. J., Hunt, L. A., et al. (2012). Decision Support System for Agrotechnology Transfer (DSSAT) Version 4.5 [CD-ROM]. Honolulu, HI: University of Hawaii.
- Hossain, K., Quaik, S., Ismail, N., Rafatullah, M., Ali, I., Hatta, Z. A., et al. (2016). Climate change-perceived impacts on agriculture, vulnerability and response strategies for improving adaptation practice in developing countries (South Asian Region). Int. J. Agric. Res. 11, 1–12. doi: 10.3923/ijar.2016.1.12
- Howden, S. M., Soussana, J. F., Tubiello, F. N., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., and Meinke, H. (2007). Adapting agriculture to climate change. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 19691–19696. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0701890104
- IFA/FAO (2001). Global Estimates of Gaseous Emissions of NH₃, NO, and N₂O from Agricultural Land. Rome: International Fertilizer Association (IFA) and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- IPCC (2014). "Climate change 2014: synthesis report," in Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds Core Writing Team, R. K. Pachauri and L. A. Meyer (Geneva: IPCC).
- Jacobs, S., Dendoncker, N., Martín-López, B., Barton, D., Gomez-Baggethun, E., Boeraeve, F., et al. (2016). A new valuation school: integrating diverse values of nature in resource and land use decisions. *Ecosyst. Serv.* 22, 213–220. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoser.2016.11.007
- Jawson, M. D., Shafer, S. R., Franzluebbers, A. J., Parkin, T. B., and Follett, R. F. (2005). GRACEnet: greenhouse gas reduction through agricultural carbon enhancement network. *Soil Tillage Res.* 83, 167–172. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2005.02.015
- Jones, J. W., Antle, J. M., Basso, B., Boote, K. J., Conant, R. T., Foster, I., et al. (2016). Brief history of agricultural systems modeling. *Agric. Syst.* 155, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2016.05.014
- Jorgensen, S. L., and Termansen, M. (2016). Linking climate change perceptions to adaptation and mitigation action. *Clim. Change* 138, 283–296. doi: 10.1007/s10584-016-1718-x
- Juroszek, P., and Von Tiedemann, A. (2013). Plant pathogens, insect pests and weeds in a changing global climate: a review of approaches, challenges, research gaps, key studies and concepts. J. Agric. Sci. 151, 163–188. doi: 10.1017/S0021859612000500
- Juroszek, P., and Von Tiedemann, A. (2015). Linking plant disease models to climate change scenarios to project future risks of crop diseases: a review. J. Plant Dis. Protect. 122, 3–15. doi: 10.1007/BF033 56525
- Kalra, N., Chander, S., Pathak, H., Aggarwal, P. K., Gupta, N. C., Sehgal, M., et al. (2007). Impacts of climate change on agriculture. *Outlook Agric*. 36, 109–118. doi: 10.5367/00000007781159903
- Karimi, T., Stöckle, C. O., Higgins, S. S., Nelson, R. L., and Huggins, D. (2017). Projected dryland cropping system shifts in the Pacific Northwest in

response to climate change. Front. Ecol. Evol. 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017. 00020

- Kaur, H., Huggins, D. R., Rupp, R. A., Abatzoglou, J. T., Stöckle, C. O., and Reganold, J. P. (2017). Agro-ecological class stability decreases in response to climate change projections for the Pacific Northwest, USA. *Front. Ecol. Evol.* 5:74. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2017.00074
- Kibue, G., Liu, X., Zheng, J., Zhang, X., Pan, G., Li, L., et al. (2016). Farmers' perceptions of climate variability and factors influencing adaptation: evidence from Anhui and Jiangsu, China. *Environ. Manage.* 57, 976–986. doi: 10.1007/s00267-016-0661-y
- Kirkegaard, J., Christen, O., Krupinsky, J., and Layzell, D. (2008). Break crop benefits in temperate wheat production. *Field Crops Res.* 107, 185–195. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2008.02.010
- Kirkegaard, J. A., Hunt, J. R., Mcbeath, T. M., Lille, Y., J. M., Moore, A., Verburg, K., et al. (2014). Improving water productivity in the Australian grains industry—a nationally coordinated approach. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 65, 583–601. doi: 10.1071/CP14019
- Kok, H., Papendick, R., and Saxton, K. (2009). STEEP: impact of long-term conservation farming research and education in Pacific Northwest wheatland. J. Soil Water Conserv. 64, 253–264. doi: 10.2489/jswc.64.4.253
- Kole, C., Muthamilarasan, M., Henry, R., Edwards, D., Sharma, R., Abberton, M., et al. (2015). Application of genomics-assisted breeding for generation of climate resilient crops: progress and prospects. *Front. Plant Sci.* 6:563. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2015.00563
- Kostyanovsky, K., Huggins, D. R., Stöckle, C., Waldo, S. R., and Lamb, B. K. (2017). Developing a flow through chamber system for automated measurements of soil N₂O and CO₂ emissions. *Measurement* 113, 172–180. doi: 10.1016/j.measurement.2017.05.040
- Kremen, C. (2005). Managing ecosystem services: what do we need to know about their ecology? *Ecol. Lett.* 8, 468–479. doi: 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005. 00751.x
- Kruger, C., and Yorgey, G. (2017). Advances in Dryland Farming in the Inland Pacific Northwest. Pullman, WA: Washington State University Extension EM108.
- Kumar, S., Ramilan, T., Ramarao, C. A., Rao, C. S., and Whitbread, A. (2016). Farm level rainwater harvesting across different agro climatic regions of India: assessing performance and its determinants. *Agric. Water Manage.* 176, 55–66. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2016.05.013
- Lal, R. (2014). Soil conservation and ecosystem services. International Soil and Water Conservation Research 2, 36–47. doi: 10.1016/S2095-6339(15)30021-6
- Lehuger, S., Gabrielle, B., Laville, P., Lamboni, M., Loubet, B., and Cellier, P. (2011). Predicting and mitigating the net greenhouse gas emissions of crop rotations in Western Europe. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 151, 1654–1671. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2011.07.002
- Liebig, M. A., Tanaka, D. L., and Gross, J. R. (2010). Fallow Effects on Soil Carbon and Greenhouse Gas Flux in Central North Dakota. Soil Science Society of America Journal 74, 358–365. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2008.0368
- Lindborg, R., Gordon, L. J., Malinga, R., Bengtsson, J., Peterson, G., Bommarco, R., et al. (2017). How spatial scale shapes the generation and management of multiple ecosystem services. *Ecosphere* 8:e01741. doi: 10.1002/ecs2.1741
- Lobell, D., Cassman, K., and Field, C. (2009). Crop yield gaps: their importance, magnitudes and causes. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 34, 179–204. doi: 10.1146/annurev.environ.041008.093740
- Lobell, D. B., and Tebaldi, C. (2014). Getting caught with our plants down: the risks of a global crop yield slowdown from climate trends in the next two decades. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 9:074003. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/9/7/074003
- Lowder, S. K., Skoet, J., and Raney, T. (2016). The number, size, and distribution of farms, small-holder farms, and family farms worldwide. *World Dev.* 87, 16–29. doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.10.041
- Lund, D., Jay, D., Atwood Bagdon, J. K., Goebel, J., Kevin, I., Kellogg, R. L., et al. (2011). Assessment of the Effects of Conservation Practices on Cultivated Cropland in the Chesapeake Bay Region. USDA-NRCS.
- Maaz, T., Wulfhorst, J. D., McCracken, V., Kirkegaard, J., Huggins, D. R., Roth, I., et al. (2017). Economic, policy, and social trends and challenges of introducing oilseed and pulse crops into dryland wheat rotations. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 253, 177–194. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.03.018
- Maaz, T. M., Schillinger, W. F., Machado, S., Brooks, E., Johnson-Maynard, J. L., Young, L. E., et al. (2017). Impact of climate change adaptation strategies

on winter wheat and cropping system performance across precipitation gradients in the Inland Pacific Northwest, USA. *Front. Environ. Sci.* 5:23. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00023

- Marshall, N. A., Crimp, S., Curnock, M., Greenhill, M., Kuehne, G., Leviston, Z., et al. (2016). Some primary producers are more likely to transform their agricultural practices in response to climate change than others. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 222, 38–47. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2016.02.004
- Mayer, A. (2013). Climate change already challenging agriculture. *Bioscience* 63, 781–787. doi: 10.1525/bio.2013.63.10.2
- McCown, R. L., Carberry, P. S., Hochman, Z., Dalgliesh, N. P., and Foale, M. A. (2009). Re-inventing model-based decision support with Australian dryland farmers. 1. Changing intervention concepts during 17 years of action research. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 60, 1017–1030. doi: 10.1071/CP08455
- McSwiney, C. P., and Robertson, G. P. (2005). Nonlinear response of N₂O flux to incre- mental fertilizer addition in a continuous maize (*Zea mays* L.) cropping system. *Glob. Change Biol.* 11, 1712–1719. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.01040.x
- Meinke, H., and Stone, R. C. (2005). Seasonal and inter-annual climate forecasting: the new tool for increasing preparedness to climate variability and change in agricultural planning and operations. *Clim. Change* 70, 221–253. doi: 10.1007/s10584-005-5948-6
- Millar, N., Robertson, G. P., Grace, P., Gehl, R., and Hoben, J. P. (2010). Nitrogen fertilizer management for nitrous oxide (N₂O) mitigation in intensive corn (Maize) production: an emissions reduction protocol for US Midwest agriculture. *Mitig. Adapt. Strategies Glob. Chang.* 15, 185–204. doi: 10.1007/s11027-010-9212-7
- Minasny, B., Malone, B., Mcbratney, A., Angers, D., Arrouays, D., Chambers, A., et al. (2017). Soil carbon, 4 per mile. *Geoderma* 292, 59–86. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.01.002
- Moore, A. D., Eckard, R. J., Thorburn, P. J., Grace, P. R., Wang, E. L., and Chen, D. L. (2014). Mathematical modeling for improved greenhouse gas balances, agroecosystems, and policy development: lessons from the Australian experience. *Wiley Interdisc. Rev.* 5, 735–752. doi: 10.1002/wcc.304
- Morton, L. W., Eigenbrode, S. D., and Martin, T. A. (2015). Architectures of adaptive integration in large collaborative projects. *Ecol. Soc.* 20, 5. doi: 10.5751/ES-07788-200405
- National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS) (2015). *Agricultural Statistics 2015*. Washington, DC: United States Government Printing Office.
- National Science Foundation (USA) (2015). America's Future: Environmental Research and Education for a Thriving Century. A Report by the NSF Advisory Committee for Environmental Research and Education. Washington, DC: National Science Foundation.
- Nguyen, T. P. L., Mula, L., Cortignani, R., Seddaiu, G., Dono, G., Virdis, S. G. P., et al. (2016). Perceptions of present and future climate change impacts on water availability for agricultural systems in the Western Mediterranean region. *Water* 8:523. doi: 10.3390/w8110523
- Nigg, J. M., and Mileti, D. (2002). "Natural hazards and disasters," in *Handbook of Environmental Sociology*, eds R. E. Dunlap and W. Michelson (Westport, CT: Greenwood Press), 272–294.
- Officer, S. J., Phillips, F., Kearney, G., Armstrong, R., Graham, J., and Partington, D. (2015). Response of soil nitrous oxide flux to nitrogen fertiliser application and legume rotation in a semi-arid climate, identified by smoothing spline models. *Soil Res.* 53, 227–241. doi: 10.1071/SR12049
- Osmond, D. L., Hoag, D. L., Luloff, A. E., Meals, D. W., and Neas, K. (2015). Farmers' use of nutrient management: lessons from watershed case studies. J. Environ. Qual. 44, 382–390. doi: 10.2134/jeq2014.02.0091
- Palmer, M. A., Bernhardt, E. S., Chornesky, E. A., Collins, S. L., Dobson, A. P., Duke, C. S., et al. (2005). Ecological science and sustainability for the 21st century. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 3, 4–11. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0004:ESASFT]2.0.CO;2
- Pan, W. L., Schillinger, W. F., Young, F. L., Kirby, E. M., Yorgey, G. G., Borrelli, K. A., et al. (2017). Integrating historic agronomic and policy lessons with new technologies to drive farmer decisions for farm and climate: the case of inland Pacific Northwestern U.S. *Front. Environ. Sci.* 5:76. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00076
- Pan, W. L., Young, F. L., Hulbert, S. C., Huggins, D. R., and Maaz, T. M. (2016). Canola integration into semi-arid wheat cropping systems of the inland Pacific Northwestern USA. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 67, 253–265. doi: 10.1071/CP15217

Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution | www.frontiersin.org

- Panda, A. (2016). Exploring climate change perceptions, rainfall trends and perceived barriers to adaptation in a drought affected region in India. *Nat. Hazards* 84, 777–796. doi: 10.1007/s11069-016-2456-0
- Pearce, D. W., and Turner, R. K. (1990). *Economics of Natural Resources and the Environment*. London: Harvester Wheatsheaf.
- Peters, K., Breitsameter, L., and Gerowitt, B. (2014). Impact of climate change on weeds in agriculture: a review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 34, 707–721. doi: 10.1007/s13593-014-0245-2
- Pickett, J. A., Woodcock, C. M., Midega, C. A., and Khan, Z. R. (2014). Push-pull farming systems. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 26, 125–132. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2013.12.006
- Power, A. G. (2010). Ecosystem services and agriculture: tradeoffs and synergies. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 365, 2959–2971. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2010.0143
- Pradhan, P., Fischer, G., Velthuizen, H. V., Reusser, D. E., and Kropp, J. P. (2015). Closing yield gaps: how sustainable can we be? *PLoS ONE* 10:e0129487. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129487
- Prokopy, L. S., Carlton, J. S., Haigh, T., Lemos, M. C., Mase, A. S., and Widhalm, M. (2017). Useful to usable: developing usable climate science for agriculture. *Clim. Risk Manage.* 15, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2016.10.004
- Rabotyagov, S., Kling, C. L., Gassman, P. W., Rabalais, N. N., and Turner, R. E. (2014). The economics of dead zones: causes, impacts, policy challenges, and a model of the Gulf of Mexico hypoxic zone. *Rev. Environ. Econ. Policy* 8, 58–79. doi: 10.1093/reep/ret024
- Ramesh, K., Matloob, A., Aslam, F., Florentine, S. K., and Chauhan, B. S. (2017). Weeds in a changing climate: vulnerabilities, consequences, and implications for future weed management. *Front. Plant Sci.* 8:95. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.00095
- Reynolds, M., and Langridge, P. (2016). Physiological breeding. Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 31, 162–171. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2016.04.005
- Richards, M., Bruun, T., Campbell, B., Gregersen, L., Huyer, S., Kuntze, V., et al. (2015). "How countries plan to address agricultural adaptation and mitigation," in CCAFS Info Note. CGIAR.
- Robertson, G. P., and Swinton, S. M. (2005). Reconciling agricultural productivity and environmental integrity: a grand challenge for agriculture. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* 3, 38–46. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0038:RAPAEI]2.0.CO;2
- Romo, C. M., and Tylianakis, J. M. (2013). Elevated temperature and drought interact to reduce parasitoid effectiveness in suppressing hosts. *PLoS ONE* 8:e58136. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058136
- Sadras, V., Roget, D., and Krause, M. (2003). Dynamic cropping strategies for risk management in dry-land farming systems. *Agric. Syst.* 76, 929–948. doi: 10.1016/S0308-521X(02)00010-0
- Sandor, J. A., Gersper, P. L., and Hawley, J. W. (1990). Prehistoric agricultural terraces and soils in the Mimbres area, New Mexico. World Archaeol. 22, 70–86. doi: 10.1080/00438243.1990.9980130
- Sayre, K., and Govaerts, B. (2011). "Use of conservation agriculture to improve farming systems in developing countries," in *Rainfed Farming Systems*, eds P. Tow, I. Cooper, I. Partridge, and C. Birch (Dordrecht: Springer), 861–873.
- Schaap, B. F., Reidsma, P., Verhagen, J., Wolf, J., and Van Ittersum, M. K. (2013). Participatory design of farm level adaptation to climate risks in an arable region in The Netherlands. *Eur. J. Agron.* 48, 30–42. doi: 10.1016/j.eja.2013.02.004
- Schellhorn, N. A., MacFadyen, S., Bianchi, F., Williams, D. G., and Zalucki, M. P. (2008). Managing ecosystem services in broadacre landscapes: what are the appropriate spatial scales? *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.* 48, 1549–1559. doi: 10.1071/EA08112
- Scherr, S. J., and McNeely, J. A. (2008). Biodiversity conservation and agricultural sustainability: towards a new paradigm of 'ecoagriculture' landscapes. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 363, 477–494. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2165
- Simelton, E., Fraser, E. D. G., Termansen, M., Benton, T. G., Gosling, S. N., South, A., et al. (2012). The socioeconomics of food crop production and climate change vulnerability: a global scale quantitative analysis of how grain crops are sensitive to drought. *Food Sec.* 4, 163–179. doi: 10.1007/s12571-012-0173-4
- Singh, P., Sharratt, B., and Schillinger, W. F. (2012). Wind erosion and PM10 emission affected by tillage systems in the world's driest rainfed wheat region. *Soil Tillage Res.* 124, 219–225. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2012.06.009
- Snyder, C. S., Bruulsema, T. W., Jensen, T. L., and Fixen, P. E. (2009). Review of greenhouse gas emissions from crop production systems and fertilizer management effects. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 133, 247–266. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.04.021

- Stewart, J., and Faught, W. (1984). Response farming of maize and beans at Kaahumanu, Machos Traditional, Kenya: recommendations, yield expectations, and economic benefits. *East Afr. Agric. For. J.* 44, 29–56.
- Stöckle, C. O., Donatelli, M., and Nelson, R. (2003). CropSyst, a cropping systems simulation model. *Eur. J. Agron.* 18, 289–307. doi: 10.1016/S1161-0301(02)00109-0
- Stöckle, C. O, Higgins, S., Nelson, R., Abatzoglou, J., Huggins, D., Pan, W., et al. (2017). Evaluating opportunities for an increased role of winter crops as adaptation to climate change in dryland cropping systems of the U.S. Inland Pacific Northwest. *Clim. Change.* doi: 10.1007/s10584-017-1950-z. [Epub ahead of print].
- Tàbara, J. D., and Chabay, I. (2013). Coupling human information and knowledge systems with social–ecological systems change: reframing research, education, and policy for sustainability. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 28, 71–81. doi: 10.1016/j.envsci.2012.11.005
- Tilman, D. (1999). Global environmental impacts of agricultural expansion: the need for sustainable and efficient practices. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 5995–6000. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.11.5995
- Tomer, M. D., and Locke, M. A. (2011). The challenge of documenting water quality benefits of conservation practices: a review of USDA-ARS's conservation effects assessment project watershed studies. *Water Sci. Technol.* 64, 300–311. doi: 10.2166/wst.2011.555
- Tonnang, H. E. Z., Herve, B. D. B., Biber-Freudenberger, L., Salifu, D., Subramanian, S., Ngowi, V. B., et al. (2017). Advances in crop insect modelling methods-Towards a whole system approach. *Ecol. Modell.* 354, 88–103. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2017.03.015
- Tress, G., Tress, B., and Fry, G. (2004). Clarifying integrative research concepts in landscape ecology. *Landsc. Ecol.* 20, 479–493. doi: 10.1007/s10980-004-3290-4
- Turner, P. A., Griffis, T. J., Lee, X., Baker, J. M., Venterea, R. T., and Wood, J. D. (2015). Indirect nitrous oxide emissions from streams within the US Corn Belt scale with stream order. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 9839–9843. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1503598112
- Tyler, J. M., and Hatchett, J. H. (1983). Temperature influence on expression of resistance to Hessian fly - (Diptera, Cecidomyiidae) in wheat derived from *Triticum tauschii*. J. Econ. Entomol. 76, 323–326. doi: 10.1093/jee/76.2.323
- Venugopal, P. D., and Dively, G. P. (2017). Climate change, transgenic corn adoption and field-evolved resistance in corn earworm. *R. Soc. Open Sci.* 4:170210. doi: 10.1098/rsos.170210
- Veres, A., Petit, S., Conord, C., and Lavigne, C. (2013). Does landscape composition affect pest abundance and their control by natural enemies? A review. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 166, 110–117. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2011.05.027
- Voora, V. A., and Venema, H. D. (2008). The Natural Capital Approach: A Concept Paper. International Institute for Sustainable Development.
- Waldo, S., Chi, J., Pressley, S. N., O'keeffe, P., Pan, W. L., Brooks, E. S., et al. (2016). Assessing carbon dynamics at high and low rainfall agricultural sites in the inland Pacific Northwest US using the eddy covariance method. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 218–219, 25–36. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.11.018
- Walthall, C. L., Hatfield, J., Backlund, P., Lengnick, L., Marshall, E., Walsh, M., et al. (2012). Climate Change and Agriculture in the United States: Effects and Adaptation. USDA Technical Bulletin 1935. Washington, DC.
- Wani, S. P., Rockstrom, J., and Oweis, T. Y. (2009). Rainfed Agriculture: Unlocking the Potential. Wallingford Oxfordshire: CABI.
- Whitbread, A. M., Davoren, C., Gupta, V. V. S. R., Llewellyn, R., and Roget, D. (2015). Long-term cropping system studies support intensive and responsive cropping systems in the low rainfall Australian Mallee. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 66, 553–565. doi: 10.1071/CP14136
- White, P. T., Wolf, K. J., Johnson-Maynard, J. L., Velez, J. J., and Eigenbrode, S. D. (2014). Secondary climate change education in the Pacific Northwest. *Nat. Sci. Educ.* 43, 85–93. doi: 10.4195/nse2014.01.0001
- Wickson, F., Carew, A. L., and Russell, A. W. (2006). Transdisciplinary research: characteristics, quandaries and quality. *Futures* 38, 1046–1059. doi: 10.1016/j.futures.2006.02.011
- Wigboldus, S., Klerkx, L., Leeuwis, C., Schut, M., Muilerman, S., and Jochemsen, H. (2016). Systemic perspectives on scaling agricultural innovations. A review. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 36:46. doi: 10.1007/s13593-016-0380-z
- Wilcox, J., and Makowski, D. (2014). A meta-analysis of the predicted effects of climate change on wheat yields using simulation studies. *Field Crops Res.* 156, 180–190. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2013.11.008

- Yorgey, G. G., Hall, S. A., Allen, E. R., Whitefield, E. M., Embertson, N. M., Jones, V. P., et al. (2017). Northwest U.S. agriculture in a changing climate: collaboratively defined research and extension priorities. *Front. Environ. Sci.* 5:52. doi: 10.3389/fenvs.2017.00052
- Ziska, L. H. (2016). The role of climate change and increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide on weed management: herbicide efficacy. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 231, 304–309. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2016.07.014
- Ziter, C., Robinson, E. A., and Newman, J. A. (2012). Climate change and voltinism in Californian insect pest species: sensitivity to location, scenario and climate model choice. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 18, 2771–2780. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02748.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Eigenbrode, Binns and Huggins. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The REACCH project is designed to enhance the sustainability of cereal production systems in the inland Pacific Northwest under ongoing and projected climate change, while contributing to climate change mitigation by reducing emissions of greenhouse gases.



University of Idaho





United States Department of Agriculture

Agricultural Research Service

National Institute of Food and Agriculture